
Document Number: 2190489 V1 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN 
THE COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM 
CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, 
ON MONDAY, JUNE 20, 2022 AT 6:00 PM 

 
 

“Live” Broadcast via City Website www.cnv.org/LiveStreaming 
Complete Agenda Package available at www.cnv.org/CouncilMeetings 

 
The City of North Vancouver acknowledges that this Council meeting is held on the 

traditional territories of the Squamish and Tsleil-Waututh Nations. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 20, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 8, 2022 
 
3. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 13, 2022 
 
PROCLAMATION 
 

National Indigenous Peoples Day – June 21, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *4, *5, *6 and *7 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered 
separately or in one motion. 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” (Farid 

Sayari / Royal Palace Construction and Design, 322 West 14th Street, CD-739) 
 
*5. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” 

(Update to Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”) 

 
*6. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” 
 
*7. “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” 

(Security Alarm Systems) 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 2 
 
PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING – 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th 
Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, 231 East 15th Street, 
and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue 
Recessed from June 13, 2022 
 
BYLAW – THIRD READING 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 

(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) 

 
 Deferred from June 13, 2022 
 
MOTION 
 
9. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street and 

1337 St. Andrews Avenue) 
 
 Deferred from June 13, 2022 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” 

(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) 
 

Application considered by Council on May 30, 2022; notice published on June 8 
and June 15, 2022.  
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
MOTION 
 
11. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (1357 Jones Avenue) 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
12. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” 

(Ardeshir Behmerdi / 2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 2357 Western Avenue, CD-742) 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions – Parks Planner 1 
 
REPORT 
 
13. Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 3 
 
PUBLIC MEETING – 2021 Annual Municipal Report 
 
REPORTS 
 
14. 2021 Annual Municipal Report 
 
15. 2022 Appropriations #2 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
16. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
17. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 
REPORTS 
 
18. 2022-2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and 

Contract Award for Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre 

 
19. Lonsdale Energy Corp. – 2022 Annual General Meeting 
 
20. North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
21. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) 
 
REPORT 
 
22. General Local Election 2022 – Bylaw Amendments 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
23. “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” 
 
24. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A) 
 
25. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8946” 
 
REPORTS 
 
26. Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North 

Vancouver Townhome Ltd.) 
 
27. Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application – 328 West 14th Street (Scott 

Mitchell / METRIC Architecture) 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 4 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
28. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” 

(Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) 
 
29. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 

Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) 
 
REPORT 
 
30. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises / 

Ankenman Marchand Architects) 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
31. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes 
 
32. Culturally Accessible Cemeteries in the City of North Vancouver 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD  
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 5 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
1. Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 20, 2022 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
2. Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 8, 2022 
 
3. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, June 13, 2022 
 
PROCLAMATION 
 

National Indigenous Peoples Day – June 21, 2022 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 
The Public Input Period is addressed in sections 12.20 to 12.28 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, 
No. 8500.”  The time allotted for each speaker addressing Council during the Public Input Period is 
2 minutes, with the number of speakers set at 5 persons.  Speakers’ comments will be audio 
recorded, as well as live-streamed on the City’s website, and will form part of the public record. 
 
Speakers during the Public Input Period are permitted to join the meeting electronically via Webex 
or in person in the Council Chamber.  
 
There are 2 ways to sign up to speak during the Public Input Period. 

1) Speakers who choose to participate electronically must pre-register by 12:00 noon on the day 
of the Council meeting by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicInputPeriod, or by 
phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact information.  Pre-registrants will receive instructions 
via email or phone on the afternoon of the Council meeting, including a request to connect to 
the meeting 15-30 minutes before the meeting start time. 

2) Speakers who choose to participate in person must sign the speaker list located outside the 
Council Chamber between 5:30 and 5:55 pm on the day of the Council meeting. 

 
If a speaker has written material to accompany their comments, the material must be sent to the 
Corporate Officer at clerks@cnv.org no later than 12:00 noon on the day of the Council Meeting. 
 
The Public Input Period offers an opportunity to express comments only; Council is there to listen 
only and questions will not be responded to.  Speakers must comply with the General Rules of 
Conduct set out in section 5.1 of “Council Procedure Bylaw, 2015, No. 8500” and may not speak 
with respect to items listed in section 12.25(2). 
 
Speakers are not to address matters that refer to items from a concluded Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  When a Public Hearing or Public Meeting is scheduled on the same evening’s agenda, 
speakers are asked to only provide input when that matter comes forward for discussion on the 
agenda in order for the comments to be considered as part of the particular Public Hearing or Public 
Meeting.  Otherwise the input cannot be considered or form part of the official record. 
 
Please address the Mayor as “Your Worship” or “Mayor, followed by his/her surname”.   
Councillors should be addressed as “Councillor, followed by their surname”.  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 6 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Items *4, *5, *6 and *7 are listed in the Consent Agenda and may be considered 
separately or in one motion. 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 
START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” (Farid 

Sayari / Royal Palace Construction and Design, 322 West 14th Street, CD-739) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” 
(Farid Sayari / Royal Palace Construction and Design, 322 West 14th Street, 
CD-739) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with 
the corporate seal. 

 
*5. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” 

(Update to Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” 
(Update to Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer 
and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*6. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” be adopted, signed by 
the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
*7. “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” 

(Security Alarm Systems) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8933” (Security Alarm Systems) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and 
Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 7 
 
PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING – 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th 
Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, 231 East 15th Street 
and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue 
Recessed from June 13, 2022 
 
“Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver 
Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 
East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to 
CD-551) and the DVP No. PLN2021-00016 would support a variance for the Acute Care 
Facility at Lions Gate Hospital related to site coverage and bicycle parking requirements 
and an associated zoning amendment to permit vehicle parking off-site. 
 
Bylaw No. 8930 and DVP No. PLN2021-00016 to be considered under Items 8 and 9. 
 

AGENDA 
 
Staff presentation – presented on June 13, 2022 
Applicant presentation – presented on June 13, 2022 
Representations from the public – received and concluded on June 13, 2022 
Additional information presented by applicant – June 20, 2022 
Questions of Council – to be continued from June 13, 2022 
Motion to conclude the Public Hearing 

 
BYLAW – THIRD READING 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 

(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 
(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) be given third reading. 

 
 Deferred from June 13, 2022 
 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 8 
 
MOTION 
 
9. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street and 

1337 St. Andrews Avenue) – File: 08-3400-20-0061/1 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street 
and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue) be issued to Vancouver Coastal Health Authority, 
in accordance with Section 490 of the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign Development 
Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016, following adoption of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, 
No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 
313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to CD-551). 
 

 Deferred from June 13, 2022 
 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
10. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” 

(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” 
(Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2) be given 
first, second and third readings. 

 
Application considered by Council on May 30, 2022; notice published on June 8 
and June 15, 2022.  
 
No Public Hearing held. 

 
MOTION 
 
11. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (1357 Jones Avenue) 

– File: 08-3400-20-0049/1 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (1357 Jones Avenue) 
be issued to 2376495 Alberta Inc., Inc. No. 2023764950), in accordance with 
Section 490 of the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign Development 
Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005, following adoption of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, 
No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular 
Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue, RS-2). 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 9 
 
BYLAW – ADOPTION 
 
12. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” 

(Ardeshir Behmerdi / 2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 2357 Western Avenue, CD-742) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” 
(Ardeshir Behmerdi / 2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 2357 Western Avenue, 
CD-742) be adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with 
the corporate seal. 

 
PRESENTATION 
 

Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions – Parks Planner 1 
 
 Item 13 refers. 
 
REPORTS 
 
13. Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions – File: 12-6120-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Parks Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Parks Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
“Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions”: 
 
THAT the Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions be endorsed;  
 
AND THAT a scope of work and funding request for Phase 2 be included for 
consideration as part of the 2023-2032 Capital Plan. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 10 
 
PUBLIC MEETING – 2021 Annual Municipal Report 
 
Chair: Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 
Purpose: To provide an opportunity for Council and the public to make comments 

on the 2021 Annual Municipal Report. 
 

AGENDA 
 
Verbal presentation by staff 
Public comments – 5 minutes per speaker 
Questions and comments from Council  
Motion to conclude the Public Meeting 

 
REPORTS 
 
14. 2021 Annual Municipal Report – File: 01-0640-20-0001/2021 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled “2021 Annual Municipal Report”: 
 
THAT the 2021 Annual Municipal Report be approved.  

 
15. 2022 Appropriations #2 – File: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 
 

Report: Chief Financial Officer, June 10, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled “2022 Appropriations #2”: 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2213) an amount of $3,584,453 be appropriated 
from the General Capital Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital 
Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2214) an amount of $1,361,600 be appropriated 
from the Civic Amenity Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2215) an amount of $2,396,000 be appropriated 
from the Carbon Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan;  
 

Continued… 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 11 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
15. 2022 Appropriations #2 – File: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 – Continued  
 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2216) an amount of $135,507 be appropriated 
from the Sustainable Transportation Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 
Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2217) an amount of $85,000 be appropriated 
from the Public Art Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2218) an amount of $507,915 be appropriated 
from the Parking Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2219) an amount of $150,163,125 be 
appropriated from the Civic Amenity Reserve-HJ for the purpose of funding the 
2022 Capital Plan; 
 
THAT (Funding Appropriation #2220) an amount of $300,000 be appropriated 
from the Cemetery Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

  
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 
(2022 Capital Plan Funding), a bylaw to appropriate an amount of $123,750 from 
DCC (Parks) Reserve Fund to fund the 2022 Capital Plan, be considered; 
 
THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding), a bylaw to appropriate an amount of 
$34,650 from DCC (Transportation) Reserve Fund to fund the 2022 Capital Plan, 
be considered; 
 
AND THAT should any of the amounts remain unexpended as at December 31, 
2025, the unexpended balances shall be returned to the credit of the respective 
fund. 

 
Items 16 and 17 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
16. “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” 
(2022 Capital Plan Funding) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 12 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
17. “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” 

(2022 Capital Plan Funding) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
REPORTS 
 
18. 2022-2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and 

Contract Award for Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre – File: 02-0800-30-0028/1 

 
Report: Senior Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives, June 3, 2022 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
PURSUANT to the report of the Senior Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives, 
dated June 3, 2022, entitled “2022-2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: 
Funding Appropriation and Contract Award for Harry Jerome Community 
Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre”: 
 
THAT the necessary contracts be awarded to proceed with the Harry Jerome 
Community Recreation Centre construction within the $205M approved budget. 

 
19. Lonsdale Energy Corp. – 2022 Annual General Meeting – File: 11-5500-06-0001/1 
 

Report: Chief Executive Officer, Lonsdale Energy Corp., May 25, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Executive Officer, Lonsdale Energy Corp., 
dated May 25, 2022, entitled “2022 Annual General Meeting”: 
 
THAT the 2021 Financial Statements be received and filed; 
 
THAT the proposed Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the Shareholder of 
Lonsdale Energy Corp. be endorsed; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute the 
necessary documents to give effect to his motion. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 13 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
20. North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update – File: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Section Manager, Park Operations, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Section Manager, Park Operations, dated June 
8, 2022, entitled “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update”: 
 
THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be considered. 
 
Item 21 refers. 

 
BYLAW – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
21. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be given first, second 
and third readings. 

 
REPORT 
 
22. General Local Election 2022 – Bylaw Amendments – File: 09-4200-20-0065/1 
 

Report: Deputy Corporate Officer / Deputy Chief Election Officer, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Corporate Officer / Deputy Chief Election 
Officer, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “General Local Election 2022 – Bylaw 
Amendments”: 
 
THAT the following bylaws be considered: 

 
 “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943”;  
 “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A); and 
 “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8946”. 
 
Items 23, 24 and 25 refer. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 14 
 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
23. “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943” be given first, second and 
third readings. 

 
24. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 

(Schedule A) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” 
(Schedule A) be given first, second and third readings. 

 
25. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8946” 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8946” be given first, second and third readings. 

 
REPORTS 
 
26. Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North 

Vancouver Townhome Ltd.) – File: 08-3400-20-0085/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
“Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North 
Vancouver Townhome Ltd.)”: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 (Wall North Vancouver 
Townhome Ltd., Inc. No. BC1138119)  be considered for issuance under Section 
498 of the Local Government Act and the Public Meeting be waived; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 15 
 
REPORTS – Continued  
 
27. Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application – 328 West 14th Street (Scott 

Mitchell / METRIC Architecture) – File: 08-3400-20-0067/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
“Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application – 328 West 14th Street (Scott 
Mitchell / METRIC Architecture)”: 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” 
(Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) be considered and referred to the same 
Public Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits” be secured, through agreements at the applicant’s 
expense, and to the satisfaction of staff. 
 
Items 28 and 29 refer. 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
28. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” 

(Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” 
(Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) be given 
first and second readings. 

 
29. “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 

Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

THAT “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) be given first and second readings. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 16 
 
REPORT 
 
30. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises / 

Ankenman Marchand Architects) – File: 08-3400-20-0079/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, June 8, 2022 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 8, 2022, entitled “Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises / Ankenman 
Marchand Architects)”: 
 
THAT the application submitted by Confide Enterprises / Ankenman Marchand 
Architects, to rezone the property located at 144 West 21st Street from an 
Apartment Residential (RM-1) Zone to a Comprehensive Development 758 
(CD-758) Zone, be considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance 
with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits outlined in the report be secured through 
agreements at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 
 

NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
31. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver Council vision is to be the healthiest 
small city with five key priorities, including a City for People; 
 
WHEREAS a City for People is welcoming and inclusive of all families; 
 
WHEREAS pets are considered family by their owners, and provide great 
companionship to people of all ages, abilities and backgrounds; 
 
WHEREAS engagement on the City’s forthcoming Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 
Actions has received record-breaking levels of feedback from the community; 
 
WHEREAS, over the course of the pandemic, pet ownership has spiked 
dramatically; 
 
AND WHEREAS approximately 80% of City residents live in multi-family 
buildings and about 50% of residents are renters; 

Continued… 
  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 17 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION – Continued  
 
31. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 – Continued  

 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the tools available to work with applicants early in the redevelopment process to 
ensure the homes being delivered will be pet-friendly; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to consult with 
community-based pet advocacy groups, such as the BC SPCA, on how cities 
can adopt more pet-friendly housing policies; 
 
AND BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED THAT Mayor Buchanan, on behalf of Council, 
write to the Honourable David Eby, BC Government Minister of Housing, 
advocating for changes to the Residential Tenancy Act to end pet restriction in 
purpose-built rental buildings. 

 
32. Culturally Accessible Cemeteries in the City of North Vancouver 

– File: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is committed to being a people-
oriented community that is safe, welcoming, accessible, inclusive and equitable; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is an ethnically diverse community and 
home to people from many faiths and cultures; 
 
WHEREAS many faiths and cultures adhere to specific burial practices upon 
the passing of a loved one; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver maintains a public cemetery; 
 
AND WHEREAS the BC Human Rights Code protects against discrimination in 
access to services, facilities and accommodations in BC; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the feasibility for faith-based communities to have a dedicated section within the 
City cemetery based on religious and cultural practice, so that this public space 
be more accessible to the people within our community. 

  



THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
Regular Council Meeting Agenda – June 20, 2022 Page 18 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
The Public Clarification Period is limited to 10 minutes in total and is an opportunity for 
the public to ask a question regarding process or clarification on an item on the Regular 
Council Agenda. The Public Clarification Period concludes after 10 minutes and the 
Regular Council Meeting reconvenes. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 

THAT Council recess to the Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, pursuant 
to the Community Charter, Sections 90(1)(e) [land matter], 90(1)(i) [legal advice] 
and 90(1)(k) [contract negotiations]. 

 
REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
ADJOURN 
 



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v3 

PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES 
 
The purpose of Public Hearings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
make representations to Council regarding proposed changes to zoning bylaws, 
heritage designations or the Official Community Plan.  Public Hearings are included as 
part of a Regular Council agenda and governed by the provisions of the Local 
Government Act.   
 
The purpose of Public Meetings is to provide members of the public an opportunity to 
make representations to Council regarding various issues and/or proposed changes 
that do not require a Public Hearing, such as a Development Variance Permit or 
Temporary Use Permit. North Vancouver residents can participate in the civic process 
of a Public Meeting that may affect their community, property and interests. 
 
All persons who believe their interest in property is affected by a proposed bylaw or 
permit are afforded a reasonable opportunity to be heard, voice concerns or present 
written submissions regarding matters contained within the bylaw/permit. 
 
All written submissions and representations made at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting 
will form part of the official public record.  Minutes of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting 
and a video recording of the proceedings will be posted on the City’s website at cnv.org. 
 
To provide written input:  All written submissions must include your name and address.  
If this information is not provided, it cannot be included as part of the public record.  
Email submissions sent to the Corporate Officer at input@cnv.org are preferred, and 
hand-delivered or mailed submissions will also be accepted.  The deadline to submit 
written submissions is 12:00 noon on the day of the Public Hearing/Public 
Meeting. 
 
To speak at a Public Hearing or Public Meeting: 
 
In person at City Hall: On the day of the meeting, a sign-up sheet will be available in the 
lobby, outside the Council Chamber, from 5:30pm.  Enter City Hall through the doors at 
the southwest corner of the building (off 13th Street) after 5:30pm. 
 
Via Webex/phone: Pre-register by completing the online form at cnv.org/PublicHearings, 
or by phoning 604-990-4230 to provide contact details, so call-in instructions can be 
forwarded to you. All Webex/phone pre-registration must be submitted no later 
than 12:00 noon on the day of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting. 
 
Non-registered speakers: Speakers who have not pre-registered will also have an 
opportunity to provide input. Once all registered speakers have spoken, the Mayor will 
call for a recess to allow time for additional speakers to phone in or speak in person.  
Call-in details will be displayed on-screen during the livestream at cnv.org/ 
LiveStreaming. 

Continued… 

mailto:input@cnv.org


 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 
 

Document Number: 1914910 v3 

PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING GUIDELINES – Continued 
 
Comments from the public must specifically relate to the proposed bylaw/permit or 
subject of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting.  Speakers are asked to avoid repetitive 
comments and not to divert to other matters. 
 
Speakers will be asked to confirm their name and address for the record and will be 
provided one 5-minute opportunity to present their comments.  Everyone will be given a 
reasonable opportunity to be heard and no one should feel discouraged or prevented 
from making their views known. 
 
Procedural rules for the conduct of a Public Hearing/Public Meeting are set at the call of 
the Chair.  Council’s main function is to listen to the views of the public regarding the 
change of land use in the proposed bylaw/permit.  It is not the function of Council to 
debate the merits of an application with speakers.  Questions from members of the 
public and Council must be addressed through the Chair. 
 
Once the Public Hearing/Public Meeting concludes, no further information or 
submissions can be considered by Council. 
 
Following adjournment of the Public Hearing/Public Meeting, the Regular meeting 
reconvenes and the bylaw/permit is discussed and debated by members of Council, 
followed by consideration of third reading of the bylaw or approval of the permit. 
 



 

Document Number: 2179273 V1 

 
MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD 
ELECTRONICALLY FROM CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON WEDNESDAY, JUNE 8, 2022 

 
 
PRESENT 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 
STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard 
  (joined at 5:01 pm) 
Councillor T. Hu 
  (joined at 4:36 pm) 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, Corporate Officer 
B. Pearce, Deputy CAO / Director, Strategic and 

Corporate Services 
D. Foldi, Senior Project Manager  
M. Friesen, Manager, Strategic Initiatives 
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 
 
GUESTS 
  
A. Nicholson, Principal, MAKE Projects Ltd. 
G. Scott, Project Director, MAKE Projects Ltd. 

 
The meeting was called to order at 4:32 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 
1. Special Regular Council Meeting Agenda, June 8, 2022 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 

 
THAT Council recess to the Special Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, 
pursuant to the Community Charter, Section 90(1)(k) [contract negotiations]. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Special Committee of the Whole, Closed Session, at 4:33 pm 
and reconvened at 5:13 pm. 
 
  



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Special Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 8, 2022  

REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE (CLOSED SESSION) 
 
2. Contract Negotiations Matter – File: 02-0800-30-0028/1 
 

Report:  Deputy CAO, June 6, 2022  
 

Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy CAO, dated June 6, 2022, regarding contract 
negotiations: 

 
THAT the action taken by the Committee of the Whole (Closed Session) be ratified; 

 
AND THAT the wording of the recommendation and the report of the Deputy CAO, 
dated June 6, 2022, remain in the Closed session. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting adjourned at 5:14 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
__________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Document Number: 2189582 

 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE 
COUNCIL CHAMBER AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY 
HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC, ON 
MONDAY, JUNE 13, 2022 

 
 

PRESENT 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

 
 

STAFF MEMBERS 
 

Mayor L. Buchanan 
Councillor H. Back 
Councillor D. Bell 
Councillor A. Girard* 
Councillor T. Hu* 
Councillor J. McIlroy 
Councillor T. Valente 
 
*participated electronically 
 
 
 

L. McCarthy, CAO 
K. Graham, Corporate Officer 
C. Baird, Deputy Corporate Officer 
J. Peters, Assistant City Clerk 
H. Granger, City Solicitor 
L. Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 
M. Epp, Director, Planning and Development 
J. Draper, Deputy Director, Planning and Development  
R. Basi, Manager, Development Planning 
T. Ryce. Chief Building Official 
D. Johnson, Development Planner 
M. Menzel, Planner 
E. Chow, Planner 
L. Maultsaid-Blair, Planner 
K. Magnusson, Acting Director, Engineering, Parks and 

Environment 
M. Hunter, Deputy Director, Engineering, Parks and 

Environment  
R. Skene, Director, Community and Partner 

Engagement 
G. Schalk, Public Safety Director and Fire Chief 
W. Yee, Superintendent, RCMP 
K. Hennigar, Manager, Police Support Services, RCMP 
D. Hutchison Koep, Chief Librarian, North Vancouver 

City Library 
 
GUEST 
 
B. Harvey, Board Chair, North Vancouver City Library 

 
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 pm. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Moved by Mayor Buchanan, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
1. THAT the Regular Agenda of June 13, 2022 be amended by removing the “Draft 

Climate and Environment Strategy” presentation and Item 10 – Draft Climate and 
Environment Strategy Report; 

 
AND THAT the Agenda, as amended, be approved.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 2 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 
2. Regular Council Meeting Minutes, May 30, 2022  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Mayor Buchanan declared the following proclamations: 
 

World Elder Abuse Prevention Day – June 15, 2022 – read by Councillor Bell 
 
PUBLIC INPUT PERIOD 
 

• Laurie Parkinson, 634 East 4th Street, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 13 – 
Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street and the Draft Climate and Environment 
Strategy. 

 
• Anna Hardy, 1805 Westview Drive, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 14 – 

Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive. 
 

• Judith Brook, 2000 block Lauralynn Drive, North Vancouver, spoke regarding Item 
13 – Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street. 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard  
 

THAT the recommendations listed within the “Consent Agenda” be approved. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

START OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION 
 
*3. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8903” (Polygon 229 

Development Ltd. / Yamamoto Architecture, 1712 Lonsdale Avenue, CD-749), and 
Text Amendment to Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 116 East 23rd 
Street, and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-165) 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard  
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8903” (Polygon 
229 Development Ltd. / Yamamoto Architecture, 1712 Lonsdale Avenue, CD-749), 
and Text Amendment to Centennial Theatre, 2300 Lonsdale Avenue, 116 East 23rd 
Street, and Norseman Park (Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands, CD-165) be 
adopted, signed by the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate 
seal. 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 3 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

CONSENT AGENDA – Continued  
 
BYLAWS – ADOPTION – Continued  
 
*4. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8917” (Krzysztof Szuk 

/ Shenpai Ha, 639 East 4th Street, CD-751) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard  
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8917” 
(Krzysztof Szuk / Shenpai Ha, 639 East 4th Street, CD-751) be adopted, signed by 
the Mayor and Corporate Officer and affixed with the corporate seal. 

 
(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 

 
CORRESPONDENCE 
 
*5. Board in Brief, Metro Vancouver Regional District, May 27, 2022 

– File: 01-0400-60-0006/2022 
 
 Re: Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Girard  
 

THAT the correspondence from Metro Vancouver, dated May 27, 2022, regarding 
the “Metro Vancouver – Board in Brief”, be received and filed. 
 

(CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY) 
 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC HEARING / PUBLIC MEETING – 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th 
Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, 231 East 15th Street and 
1337 St. Andrews Avenue 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 

 
THAT the meeting recess to the Public Hearing regarding “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 
6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 
East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) and the 
Public Meeting regarding Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 
East 15th Street and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue). 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
The meeting recessed to the Public Hearing / Public Meeting at 6:10 pm and reconvened at 
8:05 pm. The Public Hearing was then recessed and will reconvene on Monday, June 20, 
2022 at 6:00 pm. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 4 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Bell 
 
 THAT Item 6 and Item 7 be removed from the agenda. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

BYLAW – THIRD READING 
 
6. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver 

Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-
332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, 
Amendment to CD-551) 

 
Item 6 was removed from the agenda. 
 
MOTION 
 
7. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 (231 East 15th Street and 1337 

St. Andrews Avenue) – File: 08-3400-20-0061/1 
 

Item 7 was removed from the agenda. 
 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
8. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8929” (Bill Curtis / 

Kuntjoro Architect Inc., 407 West 16th Street, CD-754) 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8929” (Bill 
Curtis / Kuntjoro Architect Inc., 407 West 16th Street, CD-754) be given first and 
second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8929” (Bill 
Curtis / Kuntjoro Architect Inc., 407 West 16th Street, CD-754) be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
9. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update to 

Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8888”) 

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update 
to Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8888”) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 5 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
9. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update to 

Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8888”) – Continued  

 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update 
to Development Permit Guidelines to harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8888”) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Report to Our Community – Chair, Library Board, and Chief Librarian 
 
The Board Chair, North Vancouver City Library and the Chief Librarian provided a 
PowerPoint presentation regarding the “Report to Our Community” and responded to 
questions of Council. 
 
PRESENTATION 
 

Draft Climate and Environment Strategy – Deputy Director, Planning and 
Development, and Planner 2, Environmental Sustainability  

 
The “Draft Climate and Environment Strategy” presentation was removed from the agenda. 
 
REPORTS 
 
10. Draft Climate and Environment Strategy – File: 11-5280-20-0008/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, June 1, 2022 
 
Item 10 was removed from the agenda. 
 
11. Termination of Land Use Contracts – File: 06-2210-10-0004/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 1, 2022, entitled “Termination 
of Land Use Contracts”: 
 
THAT staff be directed to bring forward a zoning amendment bylaw to rezone the 
lands identified in Table 1 of the report to existing zones that are most similar to the 
provisions of the respective Land Use Contracts. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 6 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

REPORTS – Continued  
 
12. Stratification Application for 837 West 3rd Street and 160 Donaghy Avenue 

– File: 08-3300-20-0014/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 1, 2022, entitled “Stratification 
Application for 837 West 3rd Street and 160 Donaghy Avenue”: 
 
THAT, pursuant to Section 242(3)(a) of the Strata Property Act, the proposed strata 
plan for the conversion of previously occupied industrial and commercial buildings at 
837 West 3rd Street and 160 Donaghy Avenue be approved, subject to issuance of 
the building permit and completion of the work contemplated therein; 

 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to approve the plan, 
subject to fulfillment of the conditions of building permit issuance and completion of 
the work contemplated therein, and sign the necessary documentation to give effect 
to this motion. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
13. Rezoning Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular 

Development Corp.) – File: 08-3400-20-0069/1 
 

Report: Planner 1, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 1, 2022, entitled “Rezoning 
Application: 646 East 4th Street (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development Corp.)”: 
 
THAT the application submitted by Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Development 
Corp., to rezone the property located at 646 East 4th Street from a One-Unit 
Residential 1 (RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone, be considered 
and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits outlined in the report be secured, through 
agreements at the applicant’s expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 7 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

REPORTS – Continued  
 
14. Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development)  

– File: 08-3400-20-0065/1 
 

Report: Planner 2, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Valente, seconded by Councillor McIlroy 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 1, 2022, entitled “Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment for 800 Marine Drive (Cascadia Green Development)”: 
 
THAT the application submitted by Cascadia Green Development Company / WA 
Architects Ltd., to rezone the property located at 800 Marine Drive from Special 
Commercial (CS-3) Zone to Comprehensive Development (CD-755) Zone, be 
considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local Government 
Act; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured, through agreements at the applicant’s expense 
and to the satisfaction of staff. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
15. Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. 

BC1081725 / RLA Architects) – File: 08-3400-20-0048/1 
 

Report: Development Planner, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Development Planner, dated June 1, 2022, entitled 
“Rezoning Application: 124 West 20th Street (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. 
BC1081725 / RLA Architects)”:  
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th 
Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-
746) and “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. 
Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act;  
 
THAT the community benefits listed in the report section “Density Bonus and 
Community Benefits” be secured through agreements at the applicant’s expense and 
to the satisfaction of staff; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to the motion.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 8 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
16. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th Street 

Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. 1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746) 
 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8898” (124 20th 
Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. 1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-
746) be given first and second readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
17. “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. Inc. No. 

BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) 

 
Moved by Councillor McIlroy, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8899” (124 20th Street Holdings Ltd. 
Inc. No. BC1081725 / RLA Architects, 124 West 20th Street, CD-746, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
REPORT 
 
18. Security Alarm Systems Bylaw – File: 14-7400-01-0001/2022 
 

Report: Manager, Police Support Services, RCMP, June 1, 2022 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Manager, Police Support Services, RCMP, dated 
June 1, 2022, entitled “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw”: 

 
THAT the following bylaws be considered: 
 
• “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931”; and 
• “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933”. 

 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 

 
BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS 
 
19. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” be given first and second 
readings. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 9 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

BYLAWS – FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD READINGS – Continued  
 
19. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931” be given third reading. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
20. “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” 

(Security Alarm Systems) 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8933” (Security Alarm Systems) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
Moved by Councillor Bell, seconded by Councillor Back 
 

THAT “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8933” (Security Alarm Systems) be given third reading. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
PUBLIC CLARIFICATION PERIOD 
 
Nil. 
 
COUNCIL INQUIRIES / REPORTS 
 
Nil. 
 
NEW ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Nil. 
 
NOTICES OF MOTION 
 
Nil. 
 
ADJOURN 
 
Moved by Councillor Back, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 
 THAT the meeting adjourn. 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver  Page 10 Regular Council Meeting Minutes of June 13, 2022 

The meeting adjourned at 9:10 pm. 
 
 
“Certified Correct by the Corporate Officer” 
____________________________________ 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 
 
 
 
 
 

Office of the Mayor 
  

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BRITISH COLUMBIA 
 

cÜÉvÄtÅtà|ÉÇ 
 

NATIONAL INDIGENOUS PEOPLES DAY 
 

j{xÜxtá 

j{xÜxtá 

the City of North Vancouver recognizes that it is located on the 

traditional lands of the Squamish and Tsleil‐Waututh First Nations; 

and 

the City of North Vancouver is grateful to have the opportunity to live, 

work and play on these lands and is committed to learning about the 

unique heritage, diverse cultures and immeasurable contributions of 

Indigenous peoples; and 

j{xÜxtá First Nations, Inuit, and Metis people across Canada continue to 

demonstrate remarkable leadership and resilience; and 

j{xÜxtá  every year the Government of Canada commemorates National 

Indigenous History Month and National Indigenous Peoples Day in 

June; and 

j{xÜxtá  the City of North Vancouver on its path towards Truth and 

Reconciliation is committed to building reflexive, equitable and 

reciprocal relationships and partnerships with Indigenous peoples;  

aÉã g{xÜxyÉÜx  I, Linda Buchanan, Mayor of the City of North Vancouver, do hereby 

proclaim June 21, 2022 as National Indigenous Peoples Day in the 

City of North Vancouver, the traditional territories of the Squamish 

and Tsleil‐Waututh Nations. 

 
So proclaimed on Monday, June 20, 2022 

 

__________________________________ 

Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873 Document: 2093806-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8873 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873” (Farid Sayari / Royal Palace Construction and 
Design, 322 West 14th Street, CD-739). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-739 (Comprehensive Development 739 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 18 47 271 and 548 1658 from RT-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-738 
Comprehensive Development 738 Zone”: 

 
“CD-739 Comprehensive Development 739 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-738 Comprehensive 

Development 738 Zone”: 
 

“CD-739 Comprehensive Development 739 Zone” 
 

In the CD-739 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RT-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) Two Principal Buildings shall be permitted on one Lot; 

 
(2) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Two Principal Dwelling Units in the southernmost duplex building; 
(b) One Principal Dwelling Unit in the northernmost infill building; 

 
(3) Gross Floor Area (One-Unit and Two-Unit Residential) combined and in total, 

shall not exceed 0.5 FSR: 
 

(a) Attached parking garage and carport shall be excluded; 
 

(4) Lot Coverage shall not exceed 41%, which shall include the parking garage and 
carport; 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2021, No. 8873 Document: 2093806-v1 

 
(5) Siting shall be as in the RT-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(a) The northernmost Principal Building shall be sited not less than: 

 
i. 1.22 metres (4.0 feet) from the Rear Lot Line; 
ii. 0.91 metres (3.0 feet) from the west Interior Side Lot Line; 

 
(b) Siting of the Accessory Building bike storage use shall be in front of, and 

not less than 1 metre (3.3 feet) from, the northernmost Principal Building; 
 

(6) The garbage and recycling Accessory Structure shall be screened and may be 
covered by a trellis without a waterproof roof up to 2.44 metres (8 feet) in height. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 18th day of October, 
2021. 

READ a second time on the 18th day of 
October, 2021. 

READ a third time on the 15th day of November, 
2021. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2021. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8928 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928” (Update to Development Permit Guidelines to 
harmonize language with “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”). 

 
2. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is amended as follows: 
 

A. In Division VII – Development Permit Guidelines, by amending the “Streamside 
Protection and Enhancement Development Permit Area Guidelines”, “Harbourside 
Waterfront Development Permit Area Guidelines”, “Moodyville Development Permit 
Area Guidelines” and “Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands Development Permit Area 
Guidelines” as follows: 

 
(1) Streamside Protection & Enhancement Development Permit Guidelines: 
 

(a) In Section 3.0 Exemptions, by deleting: 
 

v. Emergency works, including tree cutting, necessary to remove an 
immediate danger or hazard; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
v. Emergency works, including tree cutting, necessary to remove an 

immediate danger or hazard, but will still need to follow reporting 
requirements in accordance with the hazardous removal process 
outlined in the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 
(b) In Section 3.0 Exemptions, by deleting: 
 

viii. The alteration or removal of high to extreme risk trees assessed by a 
Certified Tree Risk Assessor who provides the risk rating, and 
replanting plan consistent with the current Ministry of Environment 
Tree Replacement Criteria; 

 
and replacing with the following:  
 
viii. The alteration or removal of high to extreme risk trees assessed by a 

Qualified Tree Risk Assessor who provides the risk rating, and 
replanting plan consistent with the Ministry of Environment Tree 
Replacement Criteria or consistent with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8888”, whichever has a greater replacement ratio. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

(c) In Section 4.0 Definitions, by deleting: 
 

 “tree” means a woody perennial plant usually having a single stem 
which has a diameter of at least 5 centimeters when measures from 
a height of 15 centimeters above the natural grade of the land; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
 “tree” means a woody perennial plant having one or more stems, with 

at least one stem having a diameter of 10 centimetres or more, 
measured at 1.3 metres above the natural grade on the uphill side of 
the tree, and includes the Critical Root Zone. 

 
(d) In Section 5.0 Basic Information Requirements, 5.1, by deleting: 
 

g. All trees within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge 
of wetland OR within 10 metres of top of ravine bank, highlighting 
those that will be affected/removed by proposed development; 

 
and replacing with the following:  
 
g. An arborist report written by a certified arborist showcasing all trees 

within 15 metres of the top of the watercourse bank or edge of 
wetland OR within 10 metres of top of ravine bank, highlighting those 
that will be affected/removed by proposed development. 

 
(e) In Section 5.0 Basic Information Requirements, by deleting: 
 

5.5 Provide a written assessment by a Certified Tree Risk Assessor, 
confirming the condition of any trees proposed for removal, including 
recommended replacement species and size in compliance with the 
current Ministry of Environment’s Tree Replacement Criteria; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
5.5.  Provide written assessment by a Qualified Tree Risk Assessor, 

confirming the condition of any trees proposed for removal, including 
recommended replacement species and size in compliance with 
current Ministry of Environment's Tree Replacement Criteria or the 
City's Tree Bylaw, whichever has a greater replacement ratio. 

 
(f) In Section 7.0 Development Permit Process, Exemptions, by deleting: 

 
v. Emergency works, including tree cutting, necessary to remove an 

immediate danger or hazard; 
 
and replacing with the following: 
 
v. Emergency works, including tree cutting, necessary to remove an 

immediate danger or hazard, but will still need to follow reporting 
requirements in accordance with the hazardous removal process 
outlined in the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

(g) In Section 7.0 Development Permit Process, Exemptions, by deleting: 
 

viii. The alteration or removal of high to extreme risk trees assessed by a 
Certified Tree Risk Assessor who provides the risk rating, and 
replanting plan consistent with the current Ministry of Environment 
Tree Replacement Criteria; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
viii. The alteration or removal of high to extreme risk trees assessed by a 

Qualified Tree Risk Assessor who provides the risk rating, and 
replanting plan consistent with the Ministry of Environment Tree 
Replacement Criteria or consistent with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8888”, whichever has a greater replacement ratio. 

 
(2) Harbourside Waterfront Development Permit Area Guidelines: 

 
(a) In Section 1.1 Introduction 1), by deleting: 
 

c. The extent and nature of existing and proposed landscaping, 
including details of trees to be maintained or proposed to be planted; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
c. The extent and nature of existing and proposed landscaping. 

 
(b) In Section 1.1 Introduction 1), by adding the following: 

 
f. A certified arborist report if any protected trees are planned to be 

removed detailing, trees retained, proposed to planted, and reasons 
for removal to comply with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 
(3) Moodyville Development Permit Area Guidelines: 
 

(a) In Section 2.3 Submission Requirements 1), by deleting: 
 

 Landscaping and the extent and nature of existing landscaping, 
including details of trees to be maintained or proposed to be planted; 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
 Landscaping and the extent and nature of existing landscaping. 
 

(b) In Section 2.3 Submission Requirements 1), by adding the following as a 
bullet point: 

 
 A certified arborist report if any protected trees are planned to be 

removed, detailing trees retained, proposed to planted, and reasons 
for removal to comply with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

(c) In Section 9.3 Landscaping, Guideline 9.3.1, by deleting:  
 

(a) conflict with utilities and services; 
(b) inability to be reasonably accommodated within the building 

envelope; or 
(c) confirmation of disease provided by a certified arborist; 

 
and, if trees must be removed, designs should include 
landscaping that will replace the urban forest over time; 

 
and replacing with the following: 

 
(a) Located within the Permitted Building Envelope; 
(b) Located such that the retention of the tree would place 

unreasonable constraints on development of the parcel to its 
permitted density, in accordance with any approved site plans; 

(c) Within an area required to provide access during the 
construction of a proposed building or structure; 

(d) Dead, dying, or hazardous, as confirmed in writing by a Certified 
Arborist; 

(e) Directly interfering with utility wires, and not amenable to 
pruning to address the interference without compromising the 
health of the tree, as confirmed in writing by a Certified arborist; 
or, 

(f) Directly blocking or interfering with sewer or drainage systems, 
as certified by an accredited plumber or civil engineer; 

  
and, if trees must be removed, designs should include 
landscaping that will replace the urban forest over time with 
replacement ratios consistent with or exceeding the “Tree 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 
(4) Harry Jerome Neighbourhood Lands Development Permit Area Guidelines: 
 

(a) In Section 1.2 Submission Requirements 1), by deleting: 
 

c. The extent and nature of existing and proposed landscaping, 
including details of trees to be maintained or proposed to be planted; 

 
and replacing with the following: 

 
c.  The extent and nature of existing and proposed landscaping; 
 

(b) In Section 1.2 Submission Requirements 1), by adding the following: 
 

h. A certified arborist report if any protected trees are planned to be 
removed, detailing trees retained, proposed to planted, and reasons 
for removal to comply with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

(c) In Section 2.3 Water Conservation 4), by deleting: 
 

 Retain as many existing healthy trees as practical on site; 
 
and replacing with the following: 
 
 Retain existing healthy trees on the site wherever possible. A Tree 

Removal Permit must first be issued for any protected tree removal, 
and removal must comply with the City's “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8888”. 

 
(d) In Section 3.2 Site Planning, Guideline 3.2.9, by deleting: 
 

 Retain as many existing, healthy trees as practical across the entire 
site. Where mature existing trees are required to be removed, indicate 
where replanting will occur, providing space within the development 
for new significant trees. Retain all healthy trees on the west side of 
the site. Provide a tree retention plan, identifying trees that will be 
retained. 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
 Retain existing healthy trees on the site wherever possible and retain 

all healthy trees on the west side of the site. Where mature, protected 
trees are required to be removed as per permitted reasons under the 
City's Tree Bylaw, provide a certified arborist report detailing the trees 
to be removed, indicate where planting will occur, providing space 
within the development for new replacement trees. Provide a tree 
protection plan to identify trees that will be retained and a tree 
replacement plan. 

 
(e) In Section 3.2 Site Planning, Guideline 3.2.10, by deleting: 
 

 Refer to the City’s arborist’s report on recommendations for removal 
of large trees. Trees shall be replaced at a replacement ratio of 3:1. 
New tree planting regime should be of sufficient standard to ensure 
that new trees will grow. This includes minimum standards for caliper 
size, soil volume, etc. 

 
and replacing with the following: 
 
 Refer to the City's arborist report on recommendations for removal of 

large trees. Trees shall be replaced at a minimum replacement ratio 
of 3:1, and will require the payment of an ecological compensation 
fee as per the “Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. New tree planting 
regime should be of sufficient standard to ensure that replacement 
trees will grow and have healthy establishment. This includes 
minimum standards for caliper, size, soil, volume, etc. that can be 
referred to in the ANSI A300 Standard Guidelines and in the City's 
“Tree Bylaw, 2022, No. 8888”. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8928 Document: 2172175-v1 

C. This bylaw comes into force and effect upon final adoption by Council, except that the 
provisions in this bylaw will not apply to any complete development applications 
submitted to and received by the City prior to final adoption of this bylaw. 

 
 

READ a first time on the 13th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931 Document: 2179634-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8931 

A Bylaw to regulate the use of security alarm systems 

The Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, enacts 
as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8931”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this Bylaw: 
 

“Alarm Coordinator” means the person appointed by the RCMP to administer the 
provisions of this bylaw; 

 
“Alarm Incident” means the activation of an Alarm System; 

 
“Alarm Monitoring Service” means a person, partnership, company or other legal entity 
engaged in the business of monitoring the Alarm System installed at a Property and 
reporting Alarm Incidents to the RCMP; 

 
“Alarm System” means any assembly of mechanical, electrical or electronic devices, 
including but not limited to, systems interconnected with a radio frequency method such as 
cellular or private radio signals, which emit or transmit a remote or local audible, visual or 
electronic signal, including a Hold Up Alarm, indicating an alarm condition and intended to 
summon a response from the Alarm Monitoring Service, but does not include: 

 
(a) an alarm that is installed in a “motor vehicle” or “motor home” as those terms are 

defined in the Motor Vehicle Act, R.S.B.C 1996, c. 318; 
(b) an alarm provided by the RCMP to a domestic violence victim for personal use; and 
(c) a fire alarm as the term defined in the “Fire Bylaw, 2021, No. 8852”; 

 
“City” means The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver; 

 
“Contact Person” means a person designated by the Owner or Occupier of a Property at 
which an Alarm System has been installed who is available to attend the Property when an 
Alarm Incident occurs; 

 
“False Alarm” means an Alarm Incident resulting in the attendance of the RCMP at the 
Property where there is no apparent or actual evidence that an unauthorized entry or 
unlawful act has been attempted or made into, on or respecting the Property. False Alarms 
include but are not limited to Alarm Incidents arising from: 

 
(a) installation, maintenance, testing or removal of an Alarm System; 
(b) user error, atmospheric conditions, excessive vibrations or power failure; 
(c) mechanical or electrical failure of an Alarm System; or 
(d) misuse or improper operation of an Alarm System; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931 Document: 2179634-v1 

“False Alarm Fee” means the fee payable pursuant to section 12 of this Bylaw, as set out 
in the “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383”, as amended; 

 
“Hold Up Alarm” means a silent alarm signal received from the Alarm System that is 
manually activated from the Property that signals a robbery is in progress; 

 
“Occupier” means any person who has the right of access to, and responsibility for, a 
Property, including, without limitation, an Owner, tenant, or licensee of such Property; 

 
“Owner” has the meaning defined in the Community Charter, SBC 2003, c. 26; 

 
“Property” means any real property as defined in the Community Charter, SBC 2003, c. 26, 
including, without limitation, residential, commercial, agricultural and industrial property; and 

 
“RCMP” means the North Vancouver detachment of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.  

 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF OWNERS AND OCCUPIERS 
 
3. The Owner and all other Occupiers of a Property shall each be responsible for the proper 

use, installation, maintenance and operation of an Alarm System installed on or in the 
Property in order to prevent a False Alarm, and each shall be responsible for any False 
Alarm. 

 
4. The Owner or Occupier of the Property at which an Alarm System is installed shall notify 

the Alarm Monitoring Service at least 30 minutes before testing or repairing the Alarm 
System. 

 
5. The Owner or Occupier of a Property at which an Alarm System is installed shall provide to 

the Alarm Monitoring Service, in writing, the names, addresses and telephone numbers of 
at least three Contact Persons.  

 
6. The Contact Persons whose names are provided pursuant to Section 5 of this Bylaw, must 

be persons who are: 
 

(a) available to receive telephone calls from the Alarm Monitoring Service or the RCMP 
in the event of an Alarm Incident; 

 
(b) able to attend the Property at which the Alarm Incident occurred within 30 minutes 

upon the request of the Alarm Monitoring Service; 
 

(c) capable of providing the RCMP with access to the Property where the Alarm Incident 
occurred;  

 
(d) capable of operating the Alarm System; and 

 
(e) able to safeguard the Property. 

 
7. The Owner or Occupier of the Property or a Contact Person shall attend the Property within 

30 minutes upon the request of the Alarm Monitoring Service or the RCMP. 
 
8. No person shall operate or use an Alarm System that, when activated, generates an audible 

continuous or intermittent sound for a period greater than five minutes after activation. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931 Document: 2179634-v1 

9. No person shall continue to operate or use an Alarm System that activates three or more 
False Alarms unless the Alarm System is repaired, altered or replaced and the RCMP is 
satisfied that the Alarm System is repaired and is in good working order. 

 
ALARM MONITORING SERVICES 
 
10. Prior to reporting an Alarm Incident received from an Alarm System monitored by the Alarm 

Monitoring Service to the RCMP, the Alarm Monitoring Service shall first attempt to verify 
that the Alarm Incident is not a False Alarm by attempting to contact the Owner or Occupier 
of the Property by telephone or other electronic means. If verification cannot be made with 
the Owner or Occupier, the Alarm Monitoring Service shall attempt to contact two additional 
Contact Persons. The Alarm Monitoring Service shall advise the RCMP of the person they 
have made contact with, or that they were not successful in reaching the Owner, Occupier 
or Contact Person. 

 
11. Section 10 of this Bylaw does not apply to a Hold Up Alarm signal of an Alarm System. 
 
FALSE ALARMS FEES 
 
12. If the RCMP responds to a False Alarm, the Owner or Occupier of the Property on which 

the False Alarm occurred shall pay to the City the applicable fee prescribed in the “Fees 
and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No.  6383”: 

 
INVOICING 
 
13. If a False Alarm Fee is payable by the Owner or Occupier of the Property, the City shall 

deliver an invoice to the Owner or Occupier of the Property within 60 days following the 
False Alarm. The Owner or Occupier of the Property shall pay the False Alarm Fee within 
30 days of the date of the invoice. 

 
14. The City may deliver an invoice personally, by registered mail, or by regular mail to a 

person’s home address or, in the case of the Owner, to the Owner’s address as recorded 
on the City’s property assessment roll. 

 
COST RECOVERY 
 
15. Fees may be collected as property taxes as per section 258(1) of the Community Charter. 

If the Owner does not pay the False Alarm Fee on or before December 31st in the year in 
which the False Alarm Fee was incurred, the cost shall be added to, and form part of, the 
taxes payable on the parcel as taxes in arrears. 

 
SEVERABILITY 
 
16. If any section, subsection, or phrase of this Bylaw is for any reason declared by a court of 

competent jurisdiction to be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of this Bylaw as a 
whole or any part thereof other than the section, subsection, or phrase so declared to be 
invalid and it is hereby declared to be the intention of the Council of the Corporation of the 
City of North Vancouver that all remaining sections, subsection, or phrase of this Bylaw shall 
remain in full force and effect until repealed, notwithstanding that one or more provisions 
thereof may have been declared invalid. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8931 Document: 2179634-v1 

REPEAL 
 
17. “Security Alarm Systems Bylaw, 2005, No. 7639” and all amendments shall be repealed, 

effective as of the 1st day of July, 2022. 
 
EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
18. This bylaw shall be effective as of the 1st day of July, 2022. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 13th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933 Document: 2182008-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8933 

A Bylaw to amend “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, 

No. 6383, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933” (Security Alarm Systems). 
 
2. “Fees and Charges Bylaw, 1993, No. 6383” is amended as follows: 
 

A. By deleting the following on page 2:   
 
“A Bylaw to impose fees for providing information pursuant to sections 71, 235, 244, 
433, 447, 689 of the Municipal Act (RSBC 1979, C290) 
 
WHEREAS Council may, pursuant to Sections 71, 235, 244, 433, 447, and 689 of the 
Municipal Act (R.S.BC 1979, c-290) provide for the establishment of fees to be 
collected for the provision of copies of list of electors, minutes, bylaws, tax demand 
notices, certificate of tax status and for the fee per seat at an exhibition to raise money 
for an athletic commission;” 
 
and replacing it with the following: 
 
“A bylaw to impose fees for providing information pursuant to Section 194 of the 
Community Charter [SBC 2003] Chapter 26 

 
WHEREAS section 194 of the Community Charter authorizes municipalities, by bylaw, 
to impose fees in respect of services or for the provision of information; 
 
AND WHEREAS Council deems it necessary and desirable to exercise the authority 
provided by the Community Charter to cover costs of providing services and 
information where appropriate;” 

 
B. By adding the following fees at the end of “Schedule B – Schedule of Fees for Police 

Services”: 
 

SECURITY SYSTEMS FALSE ALARMS FEE BASED ON CALENDAR YEAR 

First False Alarm $0.00 

Second False Alarm $150.00 

Third False Alarm $250.00 

Fourth False Alarm $400.00 

Fifth False Alarm $600.00 

Subsequent to Fifth False Alarms $900.00 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8933 Document: 2182008-v1 

3. This bylaw shall be effective as of the 1st day of July, 2022. 
 
 

READ a first time on the 13th day of June, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the 13th day of June, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER 
AND ELECTRONICALLY (HYBRID) FROM CITY HALL, 141 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH 
VANCOUVER, BC, ON MONDAY, MAY 16, 2022 
 
REPORT 
 
11. Development Variance Permit Application for 231 East 15th Street and Zoning Text 

Amendment for 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th 
Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors 
Westcoast Inc.) – File: 08-3400-20-0061/1 

 
Report: Development Planner, May 4, 2022 

 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

PURSUANT to the report of the Development Planner, dated May 4, 2022, entitled 
“Development Variance Permit Application for 231 East 15th Street and Zoning Text 
Amendment for 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th 
Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors 
Westcoast Inc.)”: 
 
THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 be considered for issuance 
under Section 498 of the Local Government Act and a Public Meeting be held; 
 
THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Text Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 
(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 
 
THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 
 
THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to execute the relevant 
covenants for off-site parking, secure bicycle parking and short-term bicycle parking 
for the property located at 231 East 15th Street, at the applicant’s expense; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign any other 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion.  

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
BYLAW – FIRST AND SECOND READINGS 
 
12. “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Text Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 

(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) 

 
Moved by Councillor Girard, seconded by Councillor Valente 
 

THAT “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Text Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” 
(Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 
Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) be given first and second readings. 
 

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 



To: 

From: 

£ ~ VJ-
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

David Johnson, Development Planner 

REPORT 

Subject: DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION FOR 231 EAST 
15TH ST. AND ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT FOR 319-333 EAST 14TH 
ST., 318-332 EAST 13TH ST., 313 EAST 14TH ST., 1304-1324 ST. 
ANDREWS AVENUE (VANCOUVER COASTAL HEAL TH/ PCL 
CONSTRUCTORS WESTCOAST INC.) 

Date: May 4, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0061/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Development Planner, dated May 4, 2022, 
entitled "Development Variance Permit Application for 231 East 15th St. and 
Zoning Text Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 318-332 East 13th St., 313 
East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.)": 

THAT Development Variance Permit PLN2021-00016 be considered for issuance 
under Section 498 of the Local Government Act and no Public Meeting be held; 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No 6700, Text Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930 
(Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 

Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) be considered under Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act and no Public Hearing be held; 

THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to secure the relevant covenants 
for off-site parking, secure bicycle parking and short-term bicycle parking for the 
property at 231 East 15th Street at the applicant's expense and as described in 
this report; 

Document Number: 2158513 V3 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St. , 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

AND THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government 
Act. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2173346) 
2. Architectural and Landscape Plans, dated June 14, 2021 (CityDocs #2175071 ) 

3. "Development Variance Permit PLN2021-00016" (CityDocs 2158508) 
4. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8930" 

( CityDocs 217 4993) 

SUMMARY 

Vancouver Coastal Health is seeking amendments to parking and lot coverage to 
facilitate a new six-storey Acute Care Facility (ACF) at the Lions Gate Hospital campus. 
The City has received a Development Variance Permit application to vary zoning 
requirements for lot coverage, secure and short-term bicycle storage and a Zoning Text 
Amendment application to fulfill a portion of required vehicle parking spaces off-site. 
The new ACF would accommodate 108 patient rooms, eight universal operating rooms, 
a mixture of amenities, including an outdoor courtyard on the fourth level , as well as 
multi-purpose hall and retail services. 

This new facility has long been contemplated as part of the hospital's vision of the 
campus, serving residents of the Vancouver region's north shore and beyond. 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The proposed development is located at the southern end of the hospital campus, which 
is surrounded by East 15th Street to the north , East 13th Street to the south, St. Andrews 
Avenue to the east and St. Georges Avenue to the west. The subject site is located 
fronting East 13th Street, between the HOpe Centre to the east, and the Paul Myers 
Tower to the west. The portion of East 13th Street fronting the subject site is considered 
a major pedestrian corridor and has good connections to public transit. 

The subject site consists of two separate properties, both owned by Vancouver Coastal 
Health Authority (Attachment #1 ). Property lines divide the campus into two, separate 
parcels located in the south east quadrant of the campus. A "single site" covenant is 
registered on both titles that prohibits the sale or disposal of one property without the 
other and without the consent of the City. This covenant allows the City to treat the 
properties as one for the purposes of zoning and other regulations. A single, 
comprehensive development zone (CD-551) establishes regulatory requirements for the 
campus. 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the subject site are described in Table 
1 below. 

Page 2 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St., 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

Table 1. Acute Care Facility Surrounding Uses 

Direction Address Description Zoning 

North 
Lions Gate Hospital 
campus 

3 storey Evergreen House P-1 

South Three storey residential apartment 
(across East Various 

buildings. 
RM-1 

13th Street) 

East 
Lions Gate Hospital 
campus 

4 storey HOpe Centre P-1 

West 
Lions Gate Hospital 

7 storey Paul Myers Tower P-1 
campus 

The new ACF is proposed on the site of the hospital's first building (the Activation 
Building) constructed in 1929 and demolished in 2017. Many of the original materials 
were retained with the intent they be integrated into the ACF project. 

Project Description 

The new 108 room Acute Care facility is the next stage in the expansion of the 
Lionsgate Hospital campus to provide critical services for the growing region. The 
Lionsgate Hospital is the fourth busiest in the Vancouver region. The facility is proposed 
within a six-storey building with the main entrance off East 13th Street and a secondary 
entrance off East 15th Street, adjacent to the main entrance to the Paul Myers Tower 
and expansion building. 

A new entrance and drive-aisle from East 13th Street, that features a drop-off and pick 
up and short-term parking area, fronts the building and provides the main access point. 
This drive-aisle extends to the west fronting the existing Paul Myers Tower where the 
existing short term parking area will be reconfigured to provide additional drop-off and 
pick-up spaces fronting the tower before exiting back onto East 13th Street. 

Upon entering the new facility, a check-in area, food service and gift shop services are 
on the main level with elevators to the upper floors of the facility accessing the new 
patient and operating rooms. For the benefit of patients, the fourth floor includes 
outdoor space with paths, gardens and some covered elements. 

A portion of the required parking is proposed off-site on properties owned by VCH at the 
north east corner of St. Andrews Avenue and East 13th Street. A Covenant as well as a 
minor text amendment to the CD-551 Zone, would allow and secure off-site parking 
(Attachment #2). 

Page 3 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St. , 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

POLICY CONTEXT 

This application seeks to vary lot coverage, secure bicycle parking and short-term 
bicycle parking from the permitted amount regulated through the Zoning Bylaw. A 
portion of parking is proposed off-site. The following section describes the policy context 
and planning implications of the proposed variances and regulatory changes and 
provides background on previous lot coverage variances on the campus. 

Official Community Plan 

The subject site is located in the School and Institutional land use designation of the 
OCP where the purpose is to provide for a range of services to the community, including 
public care facilities. Schedule A land use designation within the OCP does not 
stipulate a maximum building height. The project fully conforms with the Official 
Community Plan. 

Zoning Bylaw 

The subject site is zoned Public Use and Assembly 1 (P-1) where Civic Use is listed as 
a primary use and includes public hospitals as one of the allowable uses. The 
requested variance to the permitted lot coverage of 40% in the P-1 Zone includes all 
buildings and structures on the Lions Gate Hospital campus. 

The Acute Care Facility would increase lot coverage by 8%; however, the HOpe Centre 
development resulted in an increase of lot coverage by 12%. Combined, the campus 
would have a total lot coverage of 60%, prompting a variance to be considered by 
Council. The total lot coverage after the construction of the new facility is not 
substantially different from the lot coverage prior to the demolition of the Activation 
Building . The proposed lot coverage variance primarily harmonizes the requirements 
with development on the site - the intensity of the site's development and lot coverage 
would not materially change. Stormwater management measures are required as part 
of the new development. 

Planning Analysis 

Off-street vehicle parking requirements are calculated at the campus level. The new 
Acute Care Facility, when added to the existing gross floor area for existing buildings, 
triggers a requirement of 702 off-street parking stalls for the campus structures as a 
whole. Once construction of the ACF is complete, 641 stalls will be available on 
campus. The remainder of the parking will be secured through a covenant to be 
registered on sites owned by VCH in the 300 block of 13th Street East. Should VCH 
contemplate future plans on the surface parking sites, Staff would review parking 
requirements at that time and work with VCH to determine replacement locations, if 
required. 

The bicycle storage being proposed for the new facility will fall short of the minimum 
requirements by 112 short-term stalls and 71 secure stalls. Staff understand that future 

Page 4 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St., 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

phases of development on the LGH campus are envisioning vehicle and secure bicycle 
parking to address current shortfalls . As an interim measure, VCH has committed to 
two measures that will help mitigate the shortfall in secure bicycle parking. The first is 
provision of 10 'lids' to short-term bicycle parking stalls that enable safer locking and 
longer term storage, and sized to accommodate e-bikes, that is convenient to staff at 
the ACF. The second is a renovation of the HOpe Centre secure bicycle parking area 
currently housing 56 secure spaces. Occupancies have been low due to the 
inaccessibility of the wall-mounted infrastructure for hanging bicycles. Replacement 
racks that meet current VCH accessibility guidelines are to be provided prior to 
occupancy of the ACF. Both of these bicycle parking measures will be secured through 
covenants. 

A review of bicycle parking requirements, particularly for larger institutional sites is 
forthcoming as the current requirements may generate excessive short term parking for 
this use class . This effort will be completed as part of a broader review of off-street 
parking requirements for all transportation modes, including vehicles, bicycles, and 
other devices, as outlined in the Mobility Strategy (adopted by Council in April 2022). 

Vancouver Coastal Health has a strategic campus plan dependant on priority and 
available financing for implementation. Any further redevelopment on the campus 
would be reviewed by City staff and will be brought to Council should any amendments 
to Bylaws or Polices be required. 

Tree Bylaw 

With the reconfiguration of the drop-off I pick-up and short-term parking area fronting 
East 13th Street, some existing trees have been removed to facilitate the new access 
point adjacent to the existing ramp for ambulances that park underneath the HOpe 
Centre. This location is required to service the new drop-off and pick-up area to ensure 
it is large enough to meet the needs of the hospital. 

Staff are continuing to work with the applicant on modifications to this area with the 
intent of retaining as many existing trees as possible. This application was advanced in 
its review prior the introduction of the current tree bylaw and any changes to meet the 
bylaw would require substantive changes to the project at this stage. Staff is working 
with the applicant to find locations for replacement trees on both the subject site and 
frontage along East 13th Street as compensation to the trees that have already been 
removed. The recently approved tree bylaw grants a one year exemption for in-process 
applications, and it is projected that a full Building Permit will be made within that period 
to meet the exemption criteria. 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

Integrated Transportation Committee 

The application was received by the Integrated Transportation Committee on 
September 1, 2021 . 

Page 5 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St. , 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

The Committee unanimously endorsed the following resolution: 

THAT the Integrated Transportation Committee has reviewed the Development 
Variance Permit application for the Lions gate Hospital site at 231 East 15th Street and 
supports the project. The Committee makes the following additional comments: 

• The Committee likes that the proposed main entrance drive-aisle configuration 
along East 13th Street provides for one-way traffic flow only; and 

• Suggests having no left-turns when exiting the driveway onto East 13th Street. 

The applicant has stated that no left turns was the initial intent of the exit and would 
adjust the plans accordingly. 

Advisory Design Panel 

The application was received by the Advisory Design Panel on August 11, 2021. 

The Panel unanimously endorsed the following resolution: 

THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Development Permit for 231 East 
15th Street and recommends approval of the project subject to addressing the following 
issues to the satisfaction of the Development Planner: 

• Further design development of the scale of the massing, materiality and 
proportion of glazing that faces East 13th Street; 

• Encouraged to explore additional covered space and potential for heating at the 
fourth-floor garden amenity; and 

• Encouraged to provide additional covered bike parking . 

Staff has been working with the applicant on the panel's resolution and is satisfied with 
the massing fronting East 13th Street. The applicant is looking at opportunities to 
provide some cover to allow for additional heating to the fourth-floor outdoor amenity 
area as well as investigating more covered areas for short term bike parking, which can 
be resolved at the campus level. 

Heritage Advisory Commission 

The application was received by the Heritage Advisory Commission on October 21, 
2021. 

The Committee unanimously endorsed the following resolution : 

THAT the Heritage Advisory Commission, having reviewed the presentation from PCL 
Construction on behalf of Vancouver Coastal Health for the commemoration of the 
Original 1929 North Vancouver General Hospital (more recently known as the Lions 
Gate Hospital Activation Building) through the integration of salvaged building elements 

Page 6 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St., 
318-332 East 13th St., 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

within the construction of a new Acute Care Facility on the Lions gate Hospital Campus, 
supports the project subject to the resolution of the following items to the satisfaction of 
City Staff: 

• Presentation and location of documentation explaining the commemorative 
significance of the preserved elements; 

• That the elements of both the eyebrow and granite blocks be revisited to 
determine if there is a more prominent presentation available on site; 

• And that the possibility of an overall site information board close to the 13th Street 
entrance be investigated to commemorate the entire site . 

In response to the resolution, Staff has been working on a commemoration location for 
the preserved components of the Activation Building .. The eyebrow and granite blocks 
are currently located on the fourth-floor outdoor area and Staff is working with the 
applicant on a more prominent location. Staff are encouraging VCH to consult with 
local First Nations on the interpretive elements of site commemoration to ensure pre
colonial history is respectfully and accurately acknowledged. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

The applicant held their Virtual Developer Information Session on December 14, 2021 
where twelve members of the public attended. Most favored the project and the 
variance request, where others had concerns over the number of existing on-site trees 
that would need to be removed to accommodate the building and the new entrance that 
features a new short term parking arrangement and accompanying drive aisle. Staff 
have been working with the applicant on the design of the drive aisle and short term 
parking area to retain as many of existing trees as possible. 

As the requested variance is limited to permitting a building permit similar to what has 
been on the site historically, staff are recommending Council consider approval of the 
lot coverage variance and that staff continue to work with the applicant on tree retention 
and final drive aisle configuration. 

Should Council wish to hold a Public Hearing, the following active clauses of the 
resolution should be substituted: 

THAT Development Variance Permit PLN2021-00016 be considered for issuance 
under Section 498 of the Local Government Act and the Public Meeting be 
scheduled; 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No 6700, Text Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930 
(Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL Constructors Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th 

Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 1304-1324 St. Andrews 
Avenue, Amendment to CD-551) be considered under Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act and the Public Hearing be held; 

Page 7 of 8 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit for 231 East 15t St. and Zoning Amendment for 319-333 East 14th St. , 
318-332 East 13th St., 313 East 14th St., 1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue (Vancouver Coastal Health/ PCL 
Constructors Westcoast Inc.) 
Date: May 4, 2022 

CONCLUSION 

The approval of the development variance permit and accompanying minor text 
amendment to CD-551would bring into compliance lot coverage, off-street vehicle 
parking, secure and short-term bicycle parking variances for the Acute Care Facility. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

David Johnson 
Development Planner 

Page 8 of 8 



E 14th St

St
. A

n d
re

ws
Av

e

St
.G

eo
rg

e s
Av

e

E 13th St E 13th St

E 15th St E 15th St

E 14th St

3
2

2

1 4 4 1

1 5 2

1 3 0 4

1
3

5
0

1 4 0

1 4 7

1 4 8 0

3
2

0

3
1

6

1 3 0 8

2
5

0

3
0

7

1 4 1 5

2 3 1

1 5 0 4

1 3 2 4

3
1

3

1 3 1 6

3
1

8

3 1 9

1
3

5
0

1 3 3 7

Context Map: Lionsgate Hospital Campus Subject Site

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



06-14-2021

LIONS GATE HOSPITAL
Phase 03 I Acute Care Facility

*
y

'{U, FM li
I 'y.

y

- I,o

l 4

O + + HAPA
Development Variance Permit

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



PURPOSE OF REPORT

HDR Architecture Associates, Inc., in 
collaboration with PCL Constructors 
Westcoast Inc., is applying to the 
City of North Vancouver for a 
development variance permit for 
Lions Gate Hospital at 231 15th Street 
East, North Vancouver.
 
Lions Gate Hospital provides a full range of general and many 
specialized acute care services. A recognized trauma centre, 
the hospital has 268 beds, seven operating rooms, and various 
diagnostic services and equipment. It is the fourth busiest 
hospital in Vancouver and one of only five neurosurgery centres 
in British Columbia. 
 
The hospital is part of Vancouver Coastal Health (VCH), the 
governing authority for several coastal communities, including 
Vancouver and North and West Vancouver. VCH is responsible 
for delivering $4.1 billion in community, hospital and long-term 
care services to more than one million people in communities 
including Richmond, Vancouver, the North Shore, Sunshine Coast, 
Sea to Sky corridor, Powell River, Bella Bella and Bella Coola. VCH 
also provides specialized care and services for people throughout 
BC and is the province's healthcare education and research 
hub. They serve over 1.25 million people --nearly 25% of BC's 
population. VCH provides a full range of health care services 
ranging from hospital treatment to community-based residential, 
home health, mental health and public health services. The 
proposal for this new build will maintain and enhance the current 
environment for Lions Gate Hospital through architecture.



At PCL, we have our clients covered, from small 
renovations to complex billion-dollar projects. 
PCL redefines full-service and brings expertise 
across all project types, at all scales and under 
all procurement models. As innovative solution 
providers and construction specialists, we 
have leveraged our expertise to customize the 
right approach for your project to exceed your 
expectations. Collaborative, driven and creative, 
PCL focuses on finding the best way forward and 
elevating your vision of success. As industry leaders, 
we model the highest corporate social responsibility 
standards with an uncompromising commitment to 
diversity, inclusion, sustainability, and innovation. 
We collaborate with our clients, partners and 
communities to build a better future together.

We believe that the way we work can add meaning 
and value to the world. Ideas inspire positive 
change. Colouring outside the lines can illuminate 
fresh perspectives. Small details yield important 
realizations. Above all, we believe that collaboration 
is the best way forward. While we are most 
well-known for adding beauty and structure to 
communities through high-performance buildings 
and innovative infrastructure, we provide much more 
than that. We create an unshakable foundation for 
progress because our multidisciplinary teams also 
include scientists, economists, builders, analysts 
and artists. Our values are embracing our network, 
listening first, holding ourselves accountable, 
pushing boundaries, and designing smart.

Hapa Collaborative is a landscape architecture and 
urban design practice established with placemaking, 
attentiveness and collaboration in mind. We see each 
project as an opportunity to partner, dream big and 
synthesize ideas wrought from many often opposing 
influences. Hapa’s goal is to evoke the poetry of the 
place and reveal something delightful but perhaps 
previously unseen. Our experiences in designing 
vibrant and accessible outdoor spaces for projects 
such as Hamilton Senior’s Housing and the gardens 
at Holy Family Hospital amplify our understanding 
of the work’s scope to create a welcoming and 
engaging landscape for the project. We explore new 
methods and materials, forge new relationships and 
ultimately create places that people remember. 

0.1

PROJECT TEAM

INTRODUCTION

1 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

INTRODUCTION0.1



0.1

3 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

INTRODUCTION0.2



DESIGN INTENTION
Our design intention is to create a facility that will form an integral part of the community by connecting to the Lions Gate Hospital 
Campus and surrounding urban context. The quality of the massing, composition, elevations and image work together to contribute 
to the overall vision of a healthcare function integrated within an urban setting. The proposed design has a contemporary architectural 
expression. The materiality and form create ease in locating significant destinations, such as department entrances, along primary 
circulation paths. The landscape that surrounds the built structures takes on a restful, welcoming, hopeful, and refreshing ambiance. An 
oasis of healing and calm, this design creates a destination public space, providing a social hub for the community. The use of transparency 
in the façade breaks down the scale of the building, utilizing components such as glazing, canopies, shading systems, and exposed 
structural elements. The use of natural daylighting, views, fenestration, courtyards, terraces and rooftop gardens expresses a beautiful and 
strategic articulation. Through these design moves, the architecture creates a cohesive relationship between inside and outside.  
 
We’ve used warm, inviting, durable, and well-ageing materials on both the interior and exterior. The wood from the trees on-site will be 
used in the architecture, reflecting the project team’s commitment to inclusiveness, equity and accessibility for a multicultural and diverse 
patient population and their families. Reinforcing these values, accessible and intuitive wayfinding was a crucial indicator in the design 
process. The proposed architecture connects to the existing buildings at a critical hinge point, informing the primary circulation path—the 
main concourse functions to aid wayfinding by providing a visual connection between the two main entrances. Simple and straightforward 
signage and design strategies, including colour, artwork and lighting, all create this intuitive wayfinding. A variety of lighting –soft ambient 
lighting, accent lighting mixed with the basic lighting for functions and operational tasks- enhances the interior spaces’ visual experience. 
The chosen material palette provides warmth and conveys a non-institutional atmosphere. Each design decision made reinforces the idea 
of a building that serves the community.

0.2

4DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

INTRODUCTION 0.2



CONTEXTUAL COLLABORATIONINTENTIONAL MATERIALITYINTERSECTION BETWEEN 
TECHNOLOGY & MEDICINE

The proposed design has a 
contemporary architectural expression. 
The materiality and form create ease 
in locating significant destinations. 
The mixing of contemporary design 
elements with medically functional 
integrations cultivates a healing 
space. Materiality form and spatial 
organization all workplace this 
design at the intersection of modern 
technological and medical practices.

On both the interior and exterior, warm, 
inviting, durable, and well-ageing materials 
are used. The wood from the trees on-
site will be used in the architecture, 
reflecting the project team’s commitment 
to inclusiveness, equity and accessibility 
for a multicultural and diverse patient 
population and their families. Reinforcing 
these values, clear, accessible and intuitive 
wayfinding was an essential indicator in 
the design process.

Our design intention is to create a facility 
that will form an integral part of the 
community by connecting to the Lions 
Gate Hospital Campus and surrounding 
urban context. The quality of the massing, 
composition, elevations and image work 
together to contribute to the overall vision 
of a healthcare function integrated within 
an urban setting. Each design decision 
made reinforces the idea of a building that 
serves the community it is in.

0.3

CONCEPTUAL DRIVERS
0.1

5 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

INTRODUCTION0.3



NATURAL LIGHTING PUBLIC SPACEBRIDGING PAST & PRESENT

The Activation Building was the 
first healthcare building on the 
Lions Gate Hospital Campus. 
The design incorporates artifacts 
from this past building into the 
facility exterior and interior to 
commemorate the history of 
Lions Gate Hospital and foster the 
connection of the hospital to the 
community, such that they become 
a purposeful part of the facility.

A variety of soft ambient lighting and 
accent lighting mixed with basic lighting 
for functions and operational tasks 
enhance the visual experience throughout 
the interior spaces. The chosen material 
palette provides warmth and conveys 
a non-institutional atmosphere. By 
recognizing the widely known evidence of 
the healing effects of ample natural light, 
the design offers access to direct quality 
daylight for all users of the facility.

The landscape that surrounds the built 
forms takes on a restful, welcoming, 
hopeful, and refreshing ambiance. 
An oasis of healing and calm, this 
design creates a destination public 
space, providing a social hub for the 
community. The use of transparency in 
the façade breaks down the scale of the 
building, utilizing components such as 
glazing, canopies, shading systems, and 
exposed structural elements. 

6DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

INTRODUCTION 0.3



Future Rapid Transit Corridor

Canada No.1 Highway

Low/Transitional Density

Medium Density

Major Focal Node

Frequent Transit Development

Heritage Conservation Area

Heritage Character Area

Current Frequent Transit

10DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DESIGN ANALYSIS 1.1

SITE CONTEXT



800M CONTEXT

LONSDALE KEY
The City of North Vancouver 
is home to more than 52,000 
citizens. With many major 
development projects underway 
(including the Lions Gate 
Hospital) the population is 
expected to multiply as more 
people choose to reside within 
the city's unique neighbourhoods.

With a multitude of amenities, 
arts and entertainment, shopping, 
dining, and public open spaces, 
residents currently enjoy a 
unique lifestyle that balances 
a rich community history with 
cultural diversity and natural 
beauty. During this exciting time 
of growth, the city continues 
to evolve, delivering economic 
development to the community.

With our design, we'd like to 
partner with a support the 
growth of North Vancouver. 
Through studying the surrounding 
community, we have been able to 
create a design that will activate 
the pocket of Lonsdale that the 
building is sited on.

13 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DESIGN ANALYSIS1.3



1. Longsdale Community Park                                                            2.  RCMP SQAURE                                                                              3.  Lions Gate Hospital Landscape                                                  4.  E. 14th St. Community Part

5. Noth Vancouver City Hall                                                             6.  City Library                                                                                         7. Fire Station 1                                                                                   8.  HOpe Power Station Chimney

11. Whole market                                                                                 10  Blue Shore Center                                                                             11. Highest Condo Tower                                                               12.  161 15th St E and Parking Connor of Lions Gate Hospital 

5. North Vancouver City Hall

9. Whole Foods

6. City Library

10. Blue Shore Centre

7. Fire Station 1

11. Highest Condo Tower

8. HOpe Power Station Chimney

12. 161 15th Street East and Parking Corner for LGH

15 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DESIGN ANALYSIS1.7



CHARACTER, CONNECTIVITY 
& LANDMARKS

16DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DESIGN ANALYSIS 1.7



1.2

EXISTING SITE TOPOGRAPHY PROPOSED SITE TOPOGRAPHY

17 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DESIGN ANALYSIS1.5



OVERRUN

18DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DESIGN ANALYSIS 1.6

HEIGHT ANALYSIS



13TH STREET EAST 13TH STREET & ST ANDREWS AVENUE

15TH STREET & ST ANDREWS AVENUE 15TH STREET & ST GEORGES AVENUE

20DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DESIGN ANALYSIS 1.8



1.8

St. George Avenue

St. George AvenueEvergreen House

HOpe Centre

21 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DESIGN ANALYSIS

STREET ELEVATIONS
1.9



Evergreen HouseHOpe Centre

22DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DESIGN ANALYSIS 1.9



2626DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.1

MASTER PLAN DIAGRAM



2.6

27 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

MARCH 21 SUN STUDY
2.2



2.6

28DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

JUNE 21 SUN STUDY
2.2



2.62.6

29 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

SEPTEMBER 21 SUN STUDY
2.2



2.62.6

30DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

DECEMBER 21 SUN STUDY
2.2



Clinical Program

Back of House

Public Services

Primary Circulation

Rooftop Garden

Basement Level 1

Level 2 Level 3

Level 5-6Level 4 Roof

2.62.6

31 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION

BUILDING PROGRAM
2.3



WOOD FIRST STRATEGY

39

EXISTING TREES MILLED TIMBER PLANKS AND BATTENS

The design shall reflect the Owner's 
commitment to inclusiveness and 
accesibility for a multicultural and 
diverse patient population and 
their families, and to equity for all 
patients and staff.

37 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.5



38

North Reception

NORTH | SKY | FOREST MIX SOUTH | SEA | URBAN FOREST

Concourse South Reception

38DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.5



Donor recognition will be an important element of 
the Main Lobbies.  The donor recognition and shall 
be well integrated into the overall design of the entry 
lobbies and well executed in tasteful way with high 
quality materials.

The Facility shall address the needs of seniors 
and First Nations communities as patients and as 
visitors to the Facility, ensuring that architectural 
composition and Design addresses their unique 
needs and aspirations for a welcoming, culturally safe 
and positive healing environment.

Entrances and outside spaces shall be respectful 
to the First Nations culture and support elderly or 
vulnerable patients and visitors by providing seating, 
warming, cooling, water stations, and appropriate 
signage, and public art.

39 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.5



CONCOURSE ARTWORK

Level 1 Concourse Artwork

5.1.7.3. The Healing Power of Art program will inspire,
and will enrich the contemporary architecture of the 

Facility to deepen the comforting experience of this 
state-of-the-art Facility, to create a sense of awe and 

wonder, and to create moments of stillness and 
reflection. 

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeevvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeelllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll 1111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111111 CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCoooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooonnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccoooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooouuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuurrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAArrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwoooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooorrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkk

55.5.555.5.55..555.55.555555.55.55555555555555555.5555555555555555.555555555555555555555555555555555555555.5555555555555.55555..5.55555555555555555555 11.1.11111.1.11...1.111.1111.1.11111.1.1.1.111.1.1.1.1111111.1.11.1.1111111.1111111.111 77777.7.777777777777777777777777777.77.7.7.77777.77..77.77 3333333.3.3333333333333333333333333333333.3333.3333..33.3..333333.33 TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTheheheeeeeeeeheheheeheeeeeeheehehhhhhhheehhhhhhhhhehehhehehehhhhhhehhehehehhhehhhhhhhehhhhhheeehehhhheheheheehhhheheehheheeeeehhhehehhheeeehhhheeeeeeeeeehhhheheeeeeeeeeehhhhhheeeeeehhhhhheeeeeee HHHHHHHHHHHHHeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaaaaaaaaaaaaeaaaaaaaaaaaaeaeaaeaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaeaaaaaeaaaaaaaaaaalllllliiliilllilillllillliilllllllillilillllliliiilllilliiiliilililiilllllilllliillllllilililllllllilililiillilililiilillliiillllliliilliilliiiiilliiiiiliiinnnnngnngngnngngngngngngngngnggngnngnnnnnnnnnnnngnggngngggngnggggngnnnnnnnnnnnnnggnggngggngngnngnnnnnnngnngnggggnngnnnnnnnnngggggggggnnnnnnnnnnngnggngggggnnnnnnnnnnnnnngggggggnnnnnnnnngngngggggggnnnnnnnnnngngnggggngnnnnnnngngngggggnnnngnnngngngnggnnnnnnnngggnggnnnnnngnnggggnggnnnggnnnngnggnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnngnnnnnnnngnnnnnnnnngggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggg PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPowoooooooooowowowowooooooooooooowowowoooooooooooooowwooooooooooowooooooooowoooooowooooooooowooooooooooowwooowowwooooowoooowoooooooowoooooooowwoooooowwwooowwwwoooowooowowwowowwooowwo
aaaaaaaananannnnnanaannnaaannnnnaaananaannnnaaaanaanaaaanaaaa ddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddd wwwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiiwiwwwwiwiwwwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwwiwwiwwiwwiwiwwiiiwiiiiwwwwwwwwwwiiwwwwiwwwwwwwwiwiwiiwwwwwiwwwwwwwwwwwwww lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenrnrnrnrnrrrrrrrrnrnrrrnrrnrnrnnrrnrrnrnnrrrrnrn iiicicicicciiicciicicicciccciciiiciciiccicicicicccicciciiciiciicciciiiciccicciciciciciciciicchhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh tttthhhththththhhthhhhttththhththhthtttttthhhhhhthhhththhthhththththtttthththttttthttththtttttthttttthttttthhhththttthththtttttttthtthththththththtttthththttthtttththtthtttthththtttthhhhthttthtthhhtthttthhhhhhtthhhhhhtthttththtthhhhhhhhttttttthhtthhthhttththhhhthhhhhhhhhhhhtthhhhhttttt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ccccccococoocoocococococcocococococococcooocooccocoooccooocooooococococococoooocooococoooococcccoooooooccccooccococoocccoccoococcoocoooooccoooccoonnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

FFFaFaFFFFFaFFaFaFaFaFaFFaFaFaFaFaFaFaFaFaFaFFaaFFaFaFFaFaFaaFaaFaFaFFFFaFFaFFFaFFFaFaFFFaFFFFFFFFaFFaFFFaFFaFaFaFaFaFaFaaaaFFFFFaFaFaaFFaFFFFFaaaFFFFaFFFaFFFaFFFaFFaFaFaaaFFFaFaFFaFaaaaFaFFFFaFaFaaaaaFFaFaFaFaaaaFaaFaaFaFFFFaFFFFFFFFFFFFaaciciicciiiiicicicciiicciciicicicicicicciccicciciciicciciciccccccicicicicciciciiiccicciciicicciiicicccciccciciiciiciccicccccccccccc lilllililiiliilililiililliliilliiilliliiilililililllillilllllilliililillliliilililll tytytttyyyyyyytyttytytytyyyytttttyttyyyytyyytytttyyyytyyytytyyyyyyyyytyyyyyyyyyytytyyyyyyyyytytyttttytytytyyytyttytyttytyyytytyyyyytytytyyyytyytyyytytyttytyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy ttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttoooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooo dededededededdeddeddddededededdedededededddededddeddedededededededededdeddeeedededededeeeededeeeeeedeeeeeeeddeeeddeeeedddeeddeeeeddeeeeeeeddeeeeeddddedddededdedddddddddeepepepepepepeeeepeppppppppepepeepepepepeepeepepepeepepppepeepepepeepepeepeepeepepepeppeepeepeepeeepepepepepeepepeeepeepepeepepepepeeeppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppppenenenenenenennnnnnnenenenneneneeenennneeeenneneeneneeeenennn ttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthehehehhhhhhheheheheheheheheeehhhehehehheehhhhhheeehheheheheheeheheheehheeheeeeeeehhehhhhheehhhhheee
sttttttttttttttttttstttttssststssttsssssssssssstttsssssssstsstttstttssstssststststttssssssstststtttttsssssssttstttsssssstttttssssstttttssssssssttstttsssststssttsstssssstttssssssssssstttttssssssssssstttttsssssssssttttttttssssssssssssttttttttssssstttttttsssssssssttttttsttsssssttaaaaaaaatataatataaaaatatataataaaatataatataaattttaatataaatataaaataaaaaaatatataatttattaaatatataatattaaataatatttaaaaaaatttttttataaaataaatttaaaattttaaaaattttttttaaaaaaatattttttteeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee------------ooooofofoffffffofffffffoffffffoooofofffffffffffffffffofffffffffffffffffffofffffffffffooofffffffffoffffffooooooffffffffoooooofffffffooooooofffffoooofffffffffoooooofffffooffffffffoooooffoooffffffffffffoofffffooffffoooffffofffoofffoffffoffff-----------------ththhththhththhthththhththhthththhhhthtthththththttththhhththtttththhhhtttttthtthhhhththtttttttththtttthhhththhtttttttttttthtththttttttthhththttttththhthtthhhhtthhhtthhhhtthhhtththtthhhttthtttthtttthtthhhhhtththhhhttthttthtttttthttttthhhhttthttttttthtthhhtttttththhhhttttttttththhhhhhtttttthhhhtttthhhhttttttthhttthhhhheeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee---------------aararararararaaarararraararaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaraaaaarrraaaaarraraaaaaaaraararrrrrrararaaaaaaaarraaaaaaararrrrrrrarraaaaaaaaararararrrrrrrraaaaaarrrrrrraaaaaaaaarrrrraaaaaaaaarrrrraaaaaraaaaarrraaaaaaaaaaaaarraraaaaaaaarrttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt FFaFaFFFFFaFaFaFFFaFaFFFFaFaFaaaFaFaFFFaFaFaFaaaFaaFaFFFaFaFaFaFaFaFFFFFaFaaFFFFFFFaFaFFaccicicicicicicccciccciiccccciccccccciccccccccccciicciiiiciiililliliililillilillililililiiililllillillilililliiiliitttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt

wowowwwowwowowwwwwowowoowoooowoowoowowowwwwwwowooooooowwwwwwwwwwwwwooowowwwwwwwwwwwwwooooowowwwwwwwwwwwwwwowwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwooowwwwwwwwwwwwwowwwwwwwwwwwwowwwwwwwwwwoowwwwwwwwwwwwwwwoowwwwwwwwwwwowwwowwwwwwwwwwwwwoooowwowowwwwwwwwwoooooooowwwwwwwwwwwwwoooowwwwowwwwwwwwwwwwwwooowowwowwowowowwwwwwwwowwwowwowowwowwowwwwwwwoooooooowwwwowwwwwowoooooooowwwwwwwowwwwoooooooooowwwwwwwoooooooooooooowwwwwwwwooooooooooowwwwwwwwwwoooooooooowwwwoooonndnddnddndndndddndnddnddndnddndndndnnddndnnddndndndndnddndnddndndnddnddndnndddnddddnnndnddndndnndndndddnndndnnnndnnndnnnndnnnnndnnddnnnnndnnnndnnnnnnnnnnnnnnndnnnnnnnnnnnnnnndddnnnnnnnnnnnnndnnnnndnnnndnnnnnnnnnnnnnndnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnndddeererererereererererererereerererererererereeererereeeerrererererrerereeerererrereeeererereereereererrerereeererererereereeerrrrereeeeeerrerereeeeereereeeeeeeeeeeerereeeeeererereerereerreee , ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,, ,,,,, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, anaaanananananaaanananannnaaaaaanannnnnnaaannnnnnaaananannnnnnnaaannnnnaannnaaananannanananaannnnananannnananananananananananannanaananananaaaanaannnananaannannnannnnnnnnnaaaanannnanaanannnnnannnndddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddd totottttotootototototototototototototooototototottttttttottooootottttttttototootooototottototttoottotttttoottttotttttoooottotttttoootototttotoooottottotttttooooottooototoootottoootooootoooooottoootttttoooootttooooottttttttoooootototoooooottttttotooooooootooootootttttotttoootooooootottttttoooootototototooototototo cccrcrccccrcrcrcccccccccrcccccrcrccccccccrrcccccrcccccccrrccccrrcccccccccrcrccccccccrcrccccrcccccccccrcccrcrccccccccccccccrcrcccccccccc

wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwererereeererererereerererrererrererererererrererereeererereeeerererererrererrrreeerereerereereeeeeee ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffffff fffff f ffffff fffffffffff ffff ff f ff ArArArAArArAAArArAArAArArArArArArArArArArArArAAArAArArArArArArAAAArArArArArArArArArAAAAAArArAAArArArArAAAAAArAArArrAAAAArAArAArArArArArAAAAArAAArAAArrArArArAAArrArrrAAArArrrrrrArAAArAArrArrrrrtttttt ttttttt tt ttt t tttttttttttttt tttttttttttttttttttttt pppppppprrprprrpprppprprprpppprprrprpppppprprpppprprprprprpprrpprpprprppppppp ogoogogoogoogogogogogogoooooooogooogogogogogooogoooogo rararararararararararaaararaaaraaraaaaaaar mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm wiwiwwiwiwiiiwiwiwiwiiwiiiwiwiwiiiwiwiwiwiiwwiwiwiwiwwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiwiiwiwiwwwwiwwiwwwwwiwiwwwiwiwiwiwiwiwwiwiiiwwiwwiwiwwiwiwwiwiwwwwwwillllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnsnsnsnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnnnnnnnsnnnnnn ppippipipipipipippppp rererererererereeee,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
nnnnntnntntntntnttttttntntnntntnntntnttnnnntntttttntntnnttttnntnnttntntnnttttnnnnntntnnnntnnnnnnnntnnnnnntnnnnnnnntnnntnnttteeeeememememeeeeeeememememememmememememmemeeeeememeememmemeememememmmmeeeemmmemeemmemmememeeemmeeemememmmmmmmmmmmmemmmmmmeme popopopopopoppopoopopopopopooooopopooopooopopopopooooooopooopopopopoopopopopoopopoppopooopopopopooppooorararrararaaararaaaarararaaaraaaaaarraaaaararaaaararraarraarraraarrraraaaaraaaarararaaaraaraaarrararaaararaararaararraryryryryrryryryryrryryryryryryryryyryryyryryryryrrryyyyyryryrrrrrryryrrrryryrryrryyrrrryryyyrrryryryyyyryryryryyyryyryrrryyyryryyyyyyyyyyyyyyyyy aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaarcrcrrrcrcrcrcrcrcrcrrcrcrrcrcrcrccrrrrccrchhhhhhhhhhhihihihihhhihihihhhihihhhhhihihihhhhhhhihihihihhhhihihihihhihihihhihhhhihhhhhhhihhiihihhihihh tetteteteteteteteeteteteteteeteteteteteteeetetetetettetetteteteeetettteteteteteteetett ctctctctcttctttctcctctctctctcccctctccttctctcctctcctctctccccccttctccc uruuuurururururururrruuururuurururururuuururuuuuururuuuuuuuuurruuuuuururrruurrrurrrrrurrrrrrrrrurrrrrrururruuurrruuuuruururrrru eeeeeee eeee eeeee eee eeee ee e eeeeeeeee eeeeeeeee ee ee eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeee eeeeeeee eeeee oofofofoofofooofofofofofofofofofofoffofofoofooofofooofofoooofooooofooooofoofoooooooooooooooofofooooooooofooo tttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthehehehehehehehhehehehhhhehhhhheheheeheeheeheeeheheeheeeeheheeeeeheheeeeeehheeeeeeeeeeeehhhheheeeehhhheeheeeeeeeeeeeee 
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccoooooooomomomomomomommmmommmomommmmmmmmmoomomommmmommmoommmoommooommmoommooommmommoooooooooooo fofofffffoffofofofofofofofofofffofofoffffoffofofffofofoofooofoofofofoofoffff rrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrrtrtrtrtrrtrtrtrttrtrrtrtrtttrttttrtrtrtrttrtttrttttrrttttrtrttrttrrttrtrtrtrtrtrtrtrrtrrr iniininininininnnninininninninnininininnininninininniniininnniniinnnnniniininiiiininnninnnnnnnnninniiiniiiiingggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggggg eeeeexexeeexeeeeeexexexexxexexexxexeeeeeexexexexxxexexxexexexexeeexexexexxexexxxxeeeeeeeexexexxexexxexeexeeexexeeexeeeeexeexxxpppepepeeeeepepepepepepepepepepepepepppeepepeepeeeeppeppeepeeppepeeppep riiiiriririririrririririririrririirrirriririiiirrririrririririrrirriieneeneeneeennnnnnnnnnnnnnnneneennnnnnnneeeennennnnnenenenenenennnnennnenneenenennnnnnnneennnnennneenenncececececececeececeeececececeececceeeeccccececececccecececeececceccececceccecccccceccecccccccceeceeeee ofooofofofofofofofofofofofoofoffoofofoffffffffofffofofoffffofofoofofofof tttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthhhhihhhihhhhihhhiihhhhhhihihhhhhihihihihhihihhhihhhhhhihhhhhhhhhihihhhhhihihihhhhhhhhihihihhhihhhiihhhhhhihhihiihhihhhihihhhhhhhhhhihihihiihihiissssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss
tytyttytyytytyytyyytytyytttyyytyttyyyyytyyyyytyytyytyyytyytyyyyyyyytyyyyy, ,,,, , , ,,,,, totototototototoooooooottooototoooooooottt cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccrrrrrrererreerererrrrrrererrerrerrrererererererreeeeerererrerrrrrrrrrrrrreeerrerrrrerrrrrrrerrrrr aaaataaatatatttattatatattaaatatttataatttaataataaattttttttttttte e eee eeeee eeeeeeeeeeeeeee eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee aaaaaaaaaaa aaaaaaaaaa aaaaaaa aaa aaaaaa aaaaaaaaaaaaaa sesesesesesesesesesesesesesesseeseseseseseseseseeesseeeseeeeseeeeeseeseseeeeseees nnnsnsnsnnsnsnnnsnnssnsnsnsnssnsnssnsssnsn eee eeeeeeeeeeeee eee eeeeeeee oofofofofofofofofofofofofofofooofofofofofoffofofoffofoffofofffffffffffffffffffofofofofoffoofofff aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaawewewewewewwewwewewewewewewewwwewewwewewewewewewewewwewwweewewewweweweweweweewewewewewewwweweeewewwwwweeeewwweweewwwwwweewweweweewwewwwwwwewweewwewwewweeewwwwwwweeewweewwweewweewwwwwewee aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaa dnnnnnndndndndndnnndndndnndnddnddddndddnddndnddddddddddnddddddddddddddddddddddddddndndddndddddnddddndnnddndddndnddddndndnndnddnddndnnddddndndndddnddndnndddddndddndnddnndndndnddddndnnddnndndndndndndnddddnndddddnnnddddnddddnnnddndnnddnddnddddddnddndddddddnnddddnddddddddnddddndndddddnddnddddndndddddnnnnnnnddddddddddddnnnnnnnnddddddddddndnnndndddddnnndddddddnndndddddddddd  
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrreaeaeaeaeaeaeaeaaeaeaaaaeaeaeaeaeaeeaeeeeaeaeeeeeaeeaeaeeeaaaeaeaeeeaaaeaaeaeaeeeaeaaeaeaeaeeaaaeaeaaeaeeaeaeaaaaeaeeeeeeaeeeeaaaaeaeaeeeeeaaaaeaaeeeeaeeaaaaeeeeeaeaeaeaeaaaaaaaeeeaeeaeaeaaeaaaaeeeeeaeeeaeaeaeeaaeaaaaaaaeeeaeeeaeeeaeeaaaeaeeaeeeeeeeeaeaaaeaeaaaaeeaeeeaeaaaeaaeaeeaeaaeaeaeeeeaaaeeeeeaaaaaaaeeeeeeeeeeeeeaaaaaatteteteteteetettttetteettttetettetettttetettettettettettetetetetetetetetettetettteteeetetetetttteteeeetettteteeettteetetetteetetttttttteeetettttttttttettttttttteteteteteeeettttttttteeeteeetttteeeettetttttteeeeeeeeetetttttteeeteeettteeeeeeeeee mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmoomomomoomoomomoomomomommmmmmmoomomomommommmmomomomomoomomomomomoomooommmomomomomoomommomoooomoooomommoooomoommoooooooooooomooomoooomooooomooomooooomomomoooomoooooomoooooooooomomommmoooooommmmmmmooooooooommommomommmmoooommmmooomomooooommmmmmmmooooomooommmmmmmmmooooooommmmmmmmmmmmmmmeeeeennenenenennenenennneeeenenenenennnenneeenenennnnennneenennnenenennnnnennnnnnnenennennennnneeenenennnnnnnnnnnennneenneneeeeeneneneneeenennnenenenenennneeenennnneenneneeeeeennneeeeeeeeeeenennneeenenneeneneneeeeeeeeennnnnneennnneeeennnttsttstststststststsssssstttstsssststststtstttstsssstststtstttststssststsssttstssssssttststsssttstttsssssssssststtssstsssssttsssttssssssssssssssttstssstttstttsstttttttsttstttttttsttttttstttttttttttssttssttttttttssss ooooooooooooooooooooooooooooooffffffffffffffffff fff f f fff ststststststststststststsststststssstililillililillilliillllliliillilliliilliiililiiillilllllllliillllnlnlnllnlnlnlnnnnlnlnnnlnnlnlnlnlnlnnnlnnlnnlnlnlnlnllnnlnlnnlnlnlnnlnlnlnnlnlnnnnnnnlnnlnnlnlnlnnlnnnnnnnlnnnnnlnlnnnnnnlnnlnlnlnnnlnnllnlnlnnnnnlnllnlnlnnnlnnnlnlnlllllnnnlnnnnnnnnnnlnllnlnllnnnnnnlnnnnnlnllnnnnnnnnnnnnnnlnnnlnnllnnnnnnnnnnnnnlllnnnnnnnnllnllnnnnnnnnlllnnnneeeeesesesesesseseeeeeesesesseseseseseeeeessesesesesseseeeeeeesesesessssseseseseeeeeeesesesssesesesesseeeeeesssessesssseeeesssesesessseesssessesessessseeeeeeesesssesesessssssseeeeesssesesessssesseeessesessssessssseeeeeeseessessssesseeeeeeeeesessssssssssssseeeeeeeesessessssssseeeeeesssssseeeeeessessssssseeeeeeeeeessssssessseeeeeessesseeeeessseeessssseeeessssseeeeeeessssssss sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssss ssssssssssss sssssss sssssssss anananaanananaaaanaaaanannnnnnnanannnanananaaaaannannnnnnanaaaaannnnannnnnnnanaaaaaaaannnnnannnnnaanaaaaaaaannnnanannnnanaaaaaanannnnnnnnnanananaaannnnnanananannnnnnnannaaaanannnanaaaannnnanannaaaannnaannnnannannannannnnnnnnnaannnnaannnnnnnnannnnnnnnaannnnnnannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddddd

rererererererrerereeeeerererrerereerererererererererrrerererereeeeererererrrerrrerererereeereeeeererreerererereerrreeeeeeerrrrrrrrreeeeerrrrrrrererrrrereeeerrrrrrrereerrrreeeeerrrrrrrreerrrrrrrreerrrrrrrrrerrrrreeerrrrerreeerrrreeeeefflflfflflfflffflffflflflflllflflfflflflflffflflflffllfflfllfffflflllflfflflflflfffflflflfllffffffffflffflflflfflfllflfffflffflleeeececeecececececececeececcececececcccececcecececeeececececcceeceeececcceceeeecececececeeeccceccccecccceecccccccccceeceeeeecccccccceeeccccccccccccecccccctitittitiititiiititiiitititiititttiittiiiittiiiiiititiiiitttttitititititttttititiittttitttiitittttiittttttiiiiitiittttitiiiiiiitttttitiiiiittitttttttiitttttttititiiitttttittitiiiiitttttiiiittititiiittttttttiiiiitttttittiiiiitttttttiiiiiittttttttiiiitttttttttiiiiitttttttiiittttttttttttiiiiiooooooooooooonononononnonnooooooonononnnnoooooooonnnoooonooooooooooooonnnooooooooooooooonnoooooonnoooooooooooonnnoooooonnoooooooooonnnooooooooonnnnnoooooonnooooooonnooooooooooonnnooooooooooonnnnnooooooooonnnnooooooooooonnnooooooonoooooonnoooooooonoooooooooooooooonnnonnnoooooooonoonnnnnoooooo .......................

wwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwwww
nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn
eeeeeeeeeee
ttttttttttttttttttttttt
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr

The Healing Power of Art program will inspire, and 
will enrich the contemporary architecture of the 
Facility to deepen the comforting experience of this 
state-of-the-art Facility, to create a sense of awe 
and wonder, and to create moments of stillness and 
reflection.

40DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.6



SeaSky

LEVEL 1 - PUBLIC CONCOURSE | HEALING POWER 
OF ART PROGRAM

The corridor Design should incorporate small and 
informal seating spaces to encourage for respite and 
spontaneous meetings between patients and staff. 

41 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.6



LEVEL 1 - PUBLIC CONCOURSE | HEALING POWER 
OF ART PROGRAM

The corridor Design should incorporate small and 
informal seating spaces to encourage for respite and 
spontaneous meetings between patients and staff. 
These spaces should preferably be located in areas 
with access to daylight and feature natural materials 
such as wood.

42DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.6



LEVEL 1 - NORTH ENTRANCE

The atriums at the north and south entrances should 
be welcoming to the public, open and filled with 
daylight, in keeping with the image of a modern ‘state 
of the art’ healthcare facility. 

43 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.6



LEVEL 1 - NORTH ENTRANCE - INFORMATION

Wood Design features and elements where 
appropriate in the wall and ceiling design

44DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.6



THE ACTIVATION BUIDING ARTIFACTS

• The Activation Building was the first healthcare 
building on the LGH Campus built in 1929.  The 
Owner has retained several artifacts from the 
Activation Building prior to its demolition to make 
way for the Facility. 

• The Design shall incorporate these artifacts into 
the Facility, exterior or interior, with the intent to 
commemorate the history of Lions Gate Hospital 
and to foster the connection of the Facility to the 
community.

• It is preferred to integrate these artifacts at the 
main Facility entries and main circulation routes of 
the entry level in a functional way, such that they 
become a purposeful part of the Facility and not 
an unrelated object of display

• The locations for the incorporation of the artifacts 
shall be well planned and executed in way that 
allows visitor to contemplate the displays without 
Blocking circulation routes.

45 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.7



• The Activation Building was the first healthcare building 
on the LGH Campus built in 1929.  The Owner has retained 
several artifacts from the Activation Building prior to its 
demolition to make way for the Facility. 

• The Design shall incorporate these artifacts into the Facility, 
exterior or interior, with the intent to commemorate the 
history of Lions Gate Hospital and to foster the connection 
of the Facility to the community.

• It is preferred to integrate these artifacts at the main Facility 
entries and main circulation routes of the entry level in a 
functional way, such that they become a purposeful part of 
the Facility and not an unrelated object of display

• The locations for the incorporation of the artifacts shall 
be well planned and executed in way that allows visitor to 
contemplate the displays without Blocking circulation routes.

Brick Downspout

46DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.7



Granite Steps

• The Activation Building was the first healthcare building 
on the LGH Campus built in 1929.  The Owner has retained 
several artifacts from the Activation Building prior to its 
demolition to make way for the Facility. 

• The Design shall incorporate these artifacts into the Facility, 
exterior or interior, with the intent to commemorate the 
history of Lions Gate Hospital and to foster the connection 
of the Facility to the community.

• It is preferred to integrate these artifacts at the main Facility 
entries and main circulation routes of the entry level in a 
functional way, such that they become a purposeful part of 
the Facility and not an unrelated object of display

• The locations for the incorporation of the artifacts shall 
be well planned and executed in way that allows visitor 
to contemplate the displays without Blocking circulation 
routes.

47 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT DESCRIPTION2.7



Cartouche

• The Activation Building was the first healthcare building on the 
LGH Campus built in 1929.  The Owner has retained several 
artifacts from the Activation Building prior to its demolition to 
make way for the Facility. 

• The Design shall incorporate these artifacts into the Facility, 
exterior or interior, with the intent to commemorate the history 
of Lions Gate Hospital and to foster the connection of the 
Facility to the community.

• It is preferred to integrate these artifacts at the main Facility 
entries and main circulation routes of the entry level in a 
functional way, such that they become a purposeful part of the 
Facility and not an unrelated object of display

• The locations for the incorporation of the artifacts shall be well 
planned and executed in way that allows visitor to contemplate 
the displays without Blocking circulation routes.

48DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 2.7



2.2

CONNECTIVITY TO SURROUNDINGS
The architecture created opportunities for staff, patients, and visitors to have increased connection to natural 
environments to foster improved physical activity and socialization and promote better physical and mental 
health. We have achieved this connectivity through intentionality in allowing for beautiful view cones throughout 
the design. 
 
The building form will be massed and composed to maximize the penetration of daylight and sunlight into the 
facility's interior. Adjacent buildings and programmatic needs were core drivers of the massing strategy in the 
proposed design.

53 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1



54DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

NORTH ENTRANCE FROM 15TH AVENUE



NORTH ENTRANCE

55 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1



56DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

SOUTH ENTRANCE



57 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1

SOUTH ENTRANCE



58DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

SOUTH ENTRANCE LANDSCAPE DETAILS



59 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL

INTERIOR MATERIALITY
Incorporated into the interior design is local artwork and woods from the North 
Shore. These materials are warm, inviting, durable, and well-ageing. The wood 
from the trees on-site will be used in the architecture, reflecting the project 
team’s commitment t inclusiveness, equity and accessibility for a multicultural 
and diverse patient population and their families. The design elements are 
not only beautiful but function as wayfinding elements. Clear, accessible and 
intuitive wayfinding was a paramount indicator in the design process.

59 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1



60DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

MAIN LOBBY SECTION



61 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1

NORTH ENTRANCE RECEPTION



62DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

NORTH ENTRANCE RECEPTION



63 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1

LEVEL 1 PUBLIC CONCOURSE | SEATING ALCOVE



64DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

LEVEL 5 PATIENT UNIT



65 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1



66DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

LEVEL 4 ROOFTOP GARDEN



67 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1

LEVEL 4 ROOFTOP GARDEN



68DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

ARIEL VIEW FROM NORTHWEST



69 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1

ARIEL VIEW FROM SOUTHWEST



70DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

ARIEL VIEW FROM WEST



71 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

PROJECT IMAGES3.1



72DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

PROJECT IMAGES 3.1

LEVEL 1 COURTYARD OFF MULTIPURPOSE ROOM



4.

95 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DRAWINGS4.6

LANDSCAPE PLANS



96DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DRAWINGS 4.6



4.

97 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DRAWINGS4.6

SOUTH EAST PLAZA



98DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION

DRAWINGS 4.6



99 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL

3.1

99 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DRAWINGS4.6

WELL
MONITORING

NORTHERN
EXPANSION
BUILDING

A1

A1

L-301
4

match line - LM101A

match line - LM101B

match line - LM101A

match line - LM101B

10
L-501 PAVING TYPE G - UNIT PAVERS IN GRAVEL

REFER TO CIVIL FOR EXTENT OF DROP-OFF AREA

EXISTING PAVING AND SAW CUTS,
REMOVE UP TO NEW PAVING, RETAIN

PATH OF TRAVEL AT ALL TIMES AT
EXISTING EXIT DOOR

REFER TO CIVIL FOR ROAD REALIGNMENT AND EXTENT OF WORKS

LINE OF BUILDING
OVERHEAD. REFER TO ARCH

OXYGEN FARM

SCREEN AND GATE

EXISTING N/S PEDESTRIAN ACCESS ROUTE TO BE RETAINED

DOOR FOR SERVICE
ACCESS ONLY

REFER CIVIL CURB AND
SIDEWALK

REFER TO CIVIL FOR CURB

REFER TO CIVIL FOR CURB

LINE OF OVERHEAD CANOPY, REFER TO ARCH

6
L-507 BIKE RACKS, TYP.

1
L-508 OWNER SUPPLIED FURNISHINGS

1
L-501 PAVING TYPE A1 - CIP CONCRETE

1
L-501 PAVING TYPE A1 - CIP CONCRETE 5

L-502 TYPE A1 TO PLANTING TRANSITION

1
L-501PAVING TYPE A1 - CIP CONCRETE

4
L-507 LANDSCAPE BOULDERS, TYP.

BA C D E F G H

6
L-505 SLOPED METAL PLANTER, TYP.

CHEMOTHERAPY COURTYARD

NORTH SIDE DROP OFF

L301
5

1

2

3

4

5

PCL Project Number
Original Issue Date

Sheet Number

Sheet Name

Project Status

Project Manager
Project Architect
Landscape Architect
Civil Engineer
Structural Engineer
Electrical Engineer

Interior Designer

Drawn By

Scale

1

A

B

C

D

2345

12345

A

B

C

D

Mechanical Engineer

LIONS GATE HOSPITAL
ACUTE CARE FACILITY

231 15th St E,
NORTH VANCOUVER BC, V7L 2L7
CANADA

HDR

INTEGRAL GROUP

MICHELLE PENN

HAPA COLLABORATIVE
KERR WOOD LEIDAL
RJC ENGINEERS

INTEGRAL GROUP
HDR

Technology IBI GROUP

VANCOUVER COASTAL
HEALTH AUTHORITY

2220061

VCH Project Number A849-03

Site Code 700

Building Code 1451

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

B. MITCHELL | P.WONG

100% CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS DRAFT SUBMITTAL

A 2021/05/17 ISSUED FOR SD DRAFT
B 2021/07/07 ISSUED FOR SD FORMAL

07/07/2021

1:100

MATERIAL PLAN
LEVEL ONE NORTH

LM101A

C 2021/08/19 ISSUED FOR DD DRAFT

B

A

D

C

KEY PLAN

Paul Myers Tower

Lions Gate Hospital

D 2021/10/15 ISSUED FOR DD FORMAL

LINETYPE LEGEND

MATCH LINE

LIMIT OF WORK

DECORATIVE GRAVEL PERIMETER AT BLDG EDGE

PLANTING AREA

LAWN PLANTING

PA

LANDSCAPE MATERIAL LEGEND

TREE LEGEND

PROPOSED TREES

DECIDUOUS CONIFEROUS

MULTI-STEM MULTI-STEM

SYMBOL LEGEND

BIKE RACK

RAINGARDEN PLANTING AREA

OWNER SUPPLIED FURNISHING

FIXED BOLLARD

POTENTIAL FOR FUTURE ARTWORK

BOULDER

BLDG EDGE
REFER TO ARCH.
BLDG EDGE
REFER TO ARCH.

CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE PAVING
BROOM FINISH, SAWCUT JOINTS

E 2022/01/25 ISSUED FOR 75% CD FORMAL
F 2022/01/28 ISSUED FOR BUILDING PERMIT
G 2022/03/09 ISSUED FOR 100% CD DRAFT



99 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL

3.1

99 LIONS GATE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT | PHASE 3 | ACUTE FACILITY

DRAWINGS4.6

WELL
MONITORING

SL

ACUTE CARE FACILITY

OFFSITE

ONSITE

OFFSITE

ONSITE

OFFSITE

ONSITE

A
�

A
�

A�

A�

A�

A
�

A
�

A
�

** **

(
(

A
�

A
�

A�

A�

A
�

A
�

A
�

A
�

SGZIN ROTK � L3���A

SGZIN ROTK � L3���(

SGZIN ROTK � L3���A

SGZIN ROTK � L3���(

S
G
Z
I
N
 
R
O
T
K
 
�
 
L
3

�
�

�
*

S
G
Z
I
N
 
R
O
T
K
 
�
 
L
3

�
�

�
(

L����

�

L����

�

�� �

L����

O=NER SU66LIE* FURNIS.IN-S

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A� � CI6 CONCRETE

�

L����

TY6E A��* TRANSITION

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E C� � *ECORATI<E STONE

�

L����

LAN*SCA6E (OUL*ERS� TY6�

�

L����

O=NER SU66LIE* FURNIS.IN-S

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E C� � *ECORATI<E STONE

�

L����

LAN*SCA6E (OUL*ER =ALL

�

L����

=ATER FEATURE

�

L����

LAN*SCA6E (OUL*ERS� TY6�

�

L����

LAN*SCA6E (OUL*ERS� TY6�

�

L����

(I1E RAC1S� TY6�

�� �

L����

O=NER SU66LIE* FURNIS.IN-S

�

L����

(I1E RAC1S� TY6�

�

L����

O=NER SU66LIE* FURNIS.IN-S

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A�

.EALT. CONNECTIONS LOC1A(LE STORA-E

E>ISTIN- .AR*SCA6E TO (E RETAINE*

LINE OF O<ER.EA* CANO6Y� REFER TO ARC.

RAISE* CONCRETE 6O*IU3� REFER TO

-RA*IN- 6LAN

SCREEN =ALL

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A� � CI6 CONCRETE

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E * � -RA<EL 6A<IN-

E>ISTIN- N�S 6E*ESTRIAN ACCESS ROUTE

TO (E RETAINE*

-ENERATOR AIR INTA1E� SEE 3EC.ANICAL

LINE OF O<ER.EA* CANO6Y

TY6�� REFER TO ARC.

�

L����

-UAR*RAIL� TY6�

REFER TO CI<IL FOR CUR( AN*

SI*E=AL1

REFER TO CI<IL FOR CUR(

CROSS=AL1�

REFER TO CI<IL

=AL1=AY REFER TO CI<IL

OFFSITE (OULE<AR* 6LANTIN-

RAIN-AR*EN

REFER TO CI<IL

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A�

RETAININ- =ALL� REFER TO

STRUCTURAL

REFER TO CI<IL FOR CUR(

�

L����

(OLLAR*S� TY6�

*ETENTION TAN1 (ELO=

-RA*E� REFER TO CI<IL

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A�

�

L����

STAIR .AN*RAIL

�

L����

CI6 CONCRETE STAIRS =IT. (I1E RA36

�

L����

TACTILE =ARNIN-

�

L����

STAIR .AN*RAIL

�

L����

CI6 CONCRETE STAIRS

�

L����

TACTILE =ARNIN-

STAIR� REFER TO STRUCTURAL

CITY OF NORT. <ANCOU<ER SI*E=AL1

CI6 CONCRETE =ALL AN* STAIR�

REFER TO STRUCTURAL

�

L����

TACTILE =ARNIN-

LOCATION FOR IN*I-ENOUS

=ELCO3E FI-URE INSTALLATION

(Y OT.ERS

*I3ENSIONS TO (E CONFIR3E*�

.EI-.T RESTRICTE* (Y (L*-

O<ER.EA* AT ������

�

L����

FEATURE =ALL =IT.

.ERITA-E NARRATI<E

�

L����

6A<IN- TY6E A�

L����

�

6AINTE* LINE�

REFER TO CI<IL

REFER TO CI<IL

FOR CUR(

.AN*RAILS

BA C D E F G H

7

9

10

12

13

11

6

8

LINETY6E LE-EN*

3ATC. LINE

LI3IT OF =OR1

*ECORATI<E -RA<EL 6ERI3ETER AT (L*- E*-E

6LANTIN- AREA

LA=N 6LANTIN-

6A

LAN*SCA6E 3ATERIAL LE-EN*

TREE LE-EN*

6RO6OSE* TREES

*ECI*UOUS

CONIFEROUS

3ULTI�STE3 3ULTI�STE3

SY3(OL LE-EN*

(I1E RAC1

RAIN-AR*EN 6LANTIN- AREA

O=NER SU66LIE* FURNIS.IN-

FI>E* (OLLAR*

6OTENTIAL FOR FUTURE ART=OR1

(OUL*ER

(L*- E*-E

REFER TO ARC.�

(L*- E*-E

REFER TO ARC.�

CAST�IN�6LACE CONCRETE 6A<IN-

(ROO3 FINIS.� SA=CUT 0OINTS

07/07/2021
PCL Project Number
Original Issue Date

Sheet Number

Sheet Name

Project Status

Project Manager
Project Architect
Landscape Architect
Civil Engineer
Structural Engineer
Electrical Engineer

Interior Designer

Drawn By

Scale

1

A

B

C

D

2345

12345

A

B

C

D

Mechanical Engineer

LIONS GATE HOSPITAL
ACUTE CARE FACILITY

231 15th St E,
NORTH VANCOUVER BC, V7L 2L7
CANADA

HDR

INTEGRAL GROUP

MICHELLE PENN

HAPA COLLABORATIVE
KERR WOOD LEIDAL
RJC ENGINEERS

INTEGRAL GROUP
HDR

Technology IBI GROUP

VANCOUVER COASTAL
HEALTH AUTHORITY

2220061

VCH Project Number A849-03

Site Code 700

Building Code 1451

MARK DATE DESCRIPTION

B. MITCHELL | P.WONG

100% CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS DRAFT SUBMITTAL

1:100

MATERIAL PLAN
LEVEL ONE SOUTH

LM101B

A 2021/05/17 ISSUED FOR SD DRAFT
B 2021/07/07 ISSUED FOR SD FORMAL
C 2021/08/19 ISSUED FOR DD DRAFT

B

A

D

C

KEY PLAN

Paul Myers Tower

Lions Gate Hospital

D 2021/10/15 ISSUED FOR DD FORMAL
E 2022/01/25 ISSUED FOR 75% CD FORMAL
F 2022/01/28 ISSUED FOR BUILDING PERMIT
G 2022/03/09 ISSUED FOR 100% CD DRAFT

(I1E 





























































1

From: Alex Jamieson 
Sent: June-11-22 3:14 PM
To: Submissions
Cc: Linda Buchanan (Mayor); Holly Back (Councillor); Jessica McIlroy; Angela Girard (Councillor); 

Tony Valente (Councillor); Tina Hu (Councillor); Don Bell (Councillor); Miles Megumi; 
Therese Reinsch; Travis Prystai; Michael Epp; Justin Hall

Subject: Comments on Lions Gate Hospital Acute Care tower, Zoning Bylaw amendments, and 
Development Variance Permits - Public Hearing and bylaw readings on June 13, 2022

Comments  re. Acute Care Hospital expansion, Zoning Amendments and Development Variance Permit, 
231 - East E. 13th Street and adjacent lots, June 11, 2022. 

Summary:     I have no objection to the new acute care 6- story tower per se, in fact the footings for the building 
are well under way (?). However, I have a vision of our hospital as buildings surrounded by beautiful, 
healing trees and plants, whereas the Coastal Health Redevelopment team (VCHRT) have a vision of 
buildings surrounded by parking and access roads. All of the 4 street frontages are currently paved, except 
for this one. 

This is our last chance to have a beautiful landscape in front of the existing Paul Meyers tower. There are 3 issues 
which I believe need to be addressed before the permits are issued.  These are site planning, access, and tree 
preservation, which will affect all those who travel past the building or spend time in the Paul Meyers tower :  

1. Access interfering with the Class AAA “mobility lane”. Coastal Health (VCHRD) proposes to change
the access to Paul Meyers tower by adding another vehicle exit ramp to East 13th Street in front of the
existing building entrance and lengthening the current sloped ramp for more parking/ drop-off.   This will
require a very steep exit ramp, curving onto 13th Street, and interfering with the Class AAA “mobility
lane”.  This issue is not even mentioned in the supporting material. This is both dangerous and
unnecessary,  because the present ramp is perfectly adequate, and in fact the current and future main
entrance for admissions and ambulatory patients is on 15th Street. The ramp should be eliminated. In fact,
I do not think the ramp will be physically possible because of the steep slope. Perhaps this issue should be
referred to HUB for comment.  See photo below.
Alex Jamieson photo.  Note Steep slope and Mobility lane.

Received June 13, 2022
LGH Campus 231 E 15



2

2. Existing mature Deodar Cedar in front of The Paul Meyers tower is about 7 storeys high, 
provides shade during “heat domes”, is a huge carbon sink,  and is visible from many of 
the hospital rooms; a source of healing energy. It could easily be retained, if item 1 is 
addressed by eliminating the changes to the ramp. Alternatively, The ramp could be 
narrowed and most of the parking could be eliminated, thus saving the tree.  In fact, the 
proposed Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow for more parking offsite, so parking on the 
ramp is unnecessary. The staff refers to “working with the VCH to retain as many trees on 
the site as possible and to look for places to plant replacement trees…”. This is not an 
acceptable solution; instead I recommend that Council request an actual plan showing 
the Cedar retained, and the replacement trees for the 6 large Cedars already removed 
without any public input from the front of the proposed Acute Care Facility.  The 4th level 
landscaping does not add to the public amenity of our streets. Finally, I note that it is an 
offence under the BC Wildlife Act, Section 34, to interfere with a bird or its egg during the 
nesting season. 

 
3. Off-site parking lot:  The Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow off-site parking on 4 lots 

on the corner of 13th Street and St. Andrews Street.  I have two concerns with that;  there 
is no physical plan for how the parking will be laid out, accessed, paved and landscaped, 
and also it would be a better idea to change the parking requirements instead, because we
need to start reducing vehicle use to offset global warming. This amendment seems to be 
new, - after the adoption of the Tree Bylaw - therefore I think the bylaw should apply.   I am 
concerned that the existing large Cedar trees on the parking lot site will be cut down to, 
once again: “pave paradise to put up a parking lot”…  

 
Conclusions: I recommend that Council instruct VCH to eliminate the new crossing of the 
“mobility lane” and/ or drastically reduce the parking in front of the Paul Meyers tower, and that 
VCH provide complete plans showing the parking lots, and all the trees being retained as 
described above. 

 
Alex jamieson, B. Arch, MPIBC (retired), Member of The Force of Nature, North shore Community 
Action Team. 
419 East 11th Street 
North Vancouver 
 
Alex jamieson photo.  There are many people who will be sorry to see this tree gone. It cannot be 
replaced by any number of saplings.  I remind Council that VCH is in charge of building hospitals, but 
COUNCIL is in charge of land use, form and character, and now, trees. 
 

 



1

From: Sam Cobden 
Sent: June-12-22 5:41 PM
To: Submissions
Cc: Angela Girard (Councillor)
Subject: Zoning Amendment Bylaw 8930

I object to the proposed zoning amendment as I believe living next to a surface public parking lot with 
degrade the value of my property. This is based on the following points which the council should address: 

1. The lack of required parking should have been included in the proposal for the Acute Care facility and
included in the original plan. This deficiency should not be rectified at the expense of the residents of the 300
block of 13th and 14th East streets.

2. The stated intention of North Van city council is to encourage employees working in north shore
businesses to take public transportation to work or use alternative forms of transportation. Providing a zoning
variance for a surface parking lot of VCH employees is counter to this intention and encourages employees
to drive to work; therefore, adding to congestion and environmental pollution.

3. These lots are currently being used for surface parking for construction, yet they are not zoned for this.
Rezoning these lots seems to be an attempt to rectify this zoning violation. Why are the lots currently
permitted to be surface parking without a zoning amendment?

4. In the OCP, these lots are zoned for institutional/ school.  The North Vancouver School District has
stated it is looking for a location for a new elementary school in the Central Lonsdale area by 2025. As the
elementary schools in this area are at capacity, why are you amending zoning to reduce the amount of
school/institutional space?

5. Recent amendments to the OCP have sought density within the core areas of central Lonsdale.
Rezoning these lots to surface parking is at odds with other zoning amendments.  Moreover, objection to lack
of surface parking in residential zoning amendment requests have been rejected by Council on the basis that
residents should take transit.  Why is VCH being treated differently?

As a result of the Hospice at 319 14th Street East, traffic in the lane between the 300 block of 13th and 14th 
East streets, we have experienced heightened vehicle traffic as cars seek to park at the Hospice (an ongoing 
issue).  Lane traffic has increased exponentially since the lots were converted to surface parking as 
construction workers and VCH employees seek access to these parking lots, frequently at high 
speed.  There are many children who play in this lane their safety should be important to the council. Making 
these lots permanent surface parking will increase the volume of speeding cars posing a greater risk to the 
children who are playing outside their house.  

If Council approves the zoning variance, we request the following concessions: 
• Speed bumps down the lane
• Explicit signage at the entrance to the lane
• Sound barriers at the end of the lane to reduce road noise to the residents, and landscaping to deter

potential parkers from entering the lane to access the parking.

Regards, 
Sam Cobden 
348 East 13th street 
North Vancouver 

Received June 13, 2022
LGH Campus 231 E 15



1

From: Jay MacArthur 
Sent: June-14-22 5:25 PM
To: Alex Jamieson; Submissions
Cc: Linda Buchanan (Mayor); Holly Back (Councillor); Jessica McIlroy; Angela Girard (Councillor); 

Tony Valente (Councillor); Tina Hu (Councillor); Don Bell (Councillor); Miles Megumi; 
Therese Reinsch; Travis Prystai; Michael Epp; Justin Hall

Subject: Re: Comments on Lions Gate Hospital Acute Care tower, Zoning Bylaw amendments, and 
Development Variance Permits - Public Hearing and bylaw readings on June 13, 2022

You might be interested in this: 

https://www.nsnews.com/local-news/north-van-district-to-increase-tree-cutting-permit-fees-5467959 

From: Alex Jamieson 
Date: Saturday, June 11, 2022 at 3:13 PM 
To: <input@cnv.org> 
Cc: "Linda Buchanan (Councillor)", "Holly Back (Councillor)", Jessica McIlroy, "agirard@cnv.org", Tony Valente, 
Tina Hu, "Don Bell (Councillor)", Miles Megumi, Therese Reinsch, Travis Prystai, "mepp@cnv.org", 
<jhall@cnv.org> 
Subject: Comments on Lions Gate Hospital Acute Care tower, Zoning Bylaw amendments, and Development 
Variance Permits - Public Hearing and bylaw readings on June 13, 2022 

Comments  re. Acute Care Hospital expansion, Zoning Amendments and Development Variance Permit, 231 - East E. 
13th Street and adjacent lots, June 11, 2022. 

Summary:     I have no objection to the new acute care 6- story tower per se, in fact the footings for the building are well 
under way (?). However, I have a vision of our hospital as buildings surrounded by beautiful, healing trees and plants, 
whereas the Coastal Health Redevelopment team (VCHRT) have a vision of buildings surrounded by parking and 
access roads. All of the 4 street frontages are currently paved, except for this one. 

This is our last chance to have a beautiful landscape in front of the existing Paul Meyers tower. There are 3 issues which I 
believe need to be addressed before the permits are issued.  These are site planning, access, and tree preservation, which will 
affect all those who travel past the building or spend time in the Paul Meyers tower :  

1. Access interfering with the Class AAA “mobility lane”. Coastal Health (VCHRD) proposes to change the access
to Paul Meyers tower by adding another vehicle exit ramp to East 13th Street in front of the existing building
entrance and lengthening the current sloped ramp for more parking/ drop-off.   This will require a very steep exit
ramp, curving onto 13th Street, and interfering with the Class AAA “mobility lane”.  This issue is not even
mentioned in the supporting material. This is both dangerous and unnecessary,  because the present ramp is perfectly
adequate, and in fact the current and future main entrance for admissions and ambulatory patients is on 15th Street.
The ramp should be eliminated. In fact, I do not think the ramp will be physically possible because of the steep slope.
Perhaps this issue should be referred to HUB for comment.  See photo below.

Alex Jamieson photo.  Note Steep slope and Mobility lane.

Received June 15, 2022 
LGH Campus 231 E 15



2

 
2. Existing mature Deodar Cedar in front of The Paul Meyers tower is about 7 storeys high, provides shade 

during “heat domes”, is a huge carbon sink,  and is visible from many of the hospital rooms; a source of 
healing energy. It could easily be retained, if item 1 is addressed by eliminating the changes to the 
ramp.                                                              Alternatively, The ramp could be narrowed and most of the parking 
could be eliminated, thus saving the tree.  In fact, the proposed Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow for 
more parking offsite, so parking on the ramp is unnecessary.   The staff refers to “working with the VCH to 
retain as many trees on the site as possible and to look for places to plant replacement trees…”. This is not an 
acceptable solution; instead I recommend that Council request an actual plan showing the Cedar 
retained, and the replacement trees for the 6 large Cedars already removed without any public input from the 
front of the proposed Acute Care Facility.  The 4th level landscaping does not add to the public amenity of 
our streets. Finally, I note that it is an offence under the BC Wildlife Act, Section 34, to interfere with a bird 
or its egg during the nesting season.                                                                                                       

3. Off-site parking lot:  The Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow off-site parking on 4 lots on the corner of 
13th Street and St. Andrews Street.  I have two concerns with that;  there is no physical plan for how the 
parking will be laid out, accessed, paved and landscaped, and also it would be a better idea to change the 
parking requirements instead, because we need to start reducing vehicle use to offset global warming. This 
amendment seems to be new, - after the adoption of the Tree Bylaw - therefore I think the bylaw should 
apply.   I am concerned that the existing large Cedar trees on the parking lot site will be cut down to, once 
again: “pave paradise to put up a parking lot”…  

 
Conclusions: I recommend that Council instruct VCH to eliminate the new crossing of the “mobility lane” and/ or 
drastically reduce the parking in front of the Paul Meyers tower, and that VCH provide complete plans showing the 
parking lots, and all the trees being retained as described above.  

 
Alex jamieson, B. Arch, MPIBC (retired), Member of The Force of Nature, North shore Community Action Team. 
419 East 11th Street, North Vancouver 
 
Alex jamieson photo.  There are many people who will be sorry to see this tree gone. It cannot be replaced by any number of 
saplings.  I remind Council that VCH is in charge of building hospitals, but COUNCIL is in charge of land use, form and 
character, and now, trees. 

 



1

From: Alex Jamieson 
Sent: June-15-22 3:48 PM
To: Linda Buchanan (Mayor)
Cc: Submissions; Holly Back (Councillor); Jessica McIlroy; Angela Girard (Councillor); Tony 

Valente (Councillor); Tina Hu (Councillor); Don Bell (Councillor); Travis Prystai; Michael Epp; 
Justin Hall

Subject: Adjourned public hearing on Lions Gate Hospital Acute Care tower, Zoning Bylaw 
amendments, and Development Variance Permits - Public Hearing and bylaw readings on 
June 13, 2022

Dear Mayor Buchanan: 

I want to thank you for the way you handled the hospital expansion application, and I agree with your 
suggestions, namely to issue a variance for 61 parking spaces, and to expand the vehicle drop-off 
capacity on the north side of the building instead of the proposed new drop-off/ parking areas on 13th 
Street.   I appreciate how you listened to the Councillors concerns and the public support for retaining 
trees.   You did not allow the applicants to get away with incomplete plans and mumbo-jumbo excuses. 

I have attached my original comments, because there are some ideas which might help.  If anyone 
wants to meet me on-site I would be pleased to offer my expertise on how to achieve the hospital’s 
objectives without compromising the trees and the Class AAA mobility lane.  If Council can quickly 
resolve the issue with a variance (and NOT allowing a new access ramp,) it will save VCH money and 
delays in the short term. 

In the long term, it seems obvious that VCH needs to do some comprehensive site planning for the 
“campus”, and this should include environment and green space objectives. 

Yours truly, 
Alex Jamieson 
419 East 11th Street, North Vancouver 

Comments  re. Acute Care Hospital expansion, Zoning Amendments and Development Variance 
Permit, 231 - East E. 13th Street and adjacent lots, June 11, 2022. 

Summary:     I have no objection to the new acute care 6- story tower per se, in fact the footings for the 
building are well under way (?). However, I have a vision of our hospital as buildings surrounded by 
beautiful, healing trees and plants, whereas the Coastal Health Redevelopment team (VCHRT) have a 
vision of buildings surrounded by parking and access roads. All of the 4 street frontages are currently 
paved, except for this one. 

This is our last chance to have a beautiful landscape in front of the existing Paul Meyers tower. There are 3 
issues which I believe need to be addressed before the permits are issued.  These are site planning, access, 
and tree preservation, which will affect all those who travel past the building or spend time in the Paul 
Meyers tower :  

1. Access interfering with the Class AAA “mobility lane”. Coastal Health (VCHRD) proposes to
change the access to Paul Meyers tower by adding another vehicle exit ramp to East 13th Street in
front of the existing building entrance and lengthening the current sloped ramp for more parking/
drop-off.   This will require a very steep exit ramp, curving onto 13th Street, and interfering with the
Class AAA “mobility lane”.  This issue is not even mentioned in the supporting material. This is both

Received June 15, 2022 
LGH Campus 231 E 15



2

dangerous and unnecessary,  because the present ramp is perfectly adequate, and in fact the current 
and future main entrance for admissions and ambulatory patients is on 15th Street. The ramp should 
be eliminated. In fact, I do not think the ramp will be physically possible because of the steep slope. 
Perhaps this issue should be referred to HUB for comment.  See photo below. 

            Alex Jamieson photo.  Note Steep slope and Mobility lane. 
<image001.jpg> 

2. Existing mature Deodar Cedar in front of The Paul Meyers tower is about 7 storeys high, 
provides shade during “heat domes”, is a huge carbon sink,  and is visible from many of the 
hospital rooms; a source of healing energy. It could easily be retained, if item 1 is addressed 
by eliminating the changes to the ramp.                                                              Alternatively, The 
ramp could be narrowed and most of the parking could be eliminated, thus saving the 
tree.  In fact, the proposed Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow for more parking offsite, 
so parking on the ramp is unnecessary.   The staff refers to “working with the VCH to retain 
as many trees on the site as possible and to look for places to plant replacement trees…”. 
This is not an acceptable solution; instead I recommend that Council request an actual 
plan showing the Cedar retained, and the replacement trees for the 6 large Cedars already 
removed without any public input from the front of the proposed Acute Care Facility.  The 
4th level landscaping does not add to the public amenity of our streets. Finally, I note that it 
is an offence under the BC Wildlife Act, Section 34, to interfere with a bird or its egg during 
the nesting season.                                                                                                      

3. Off-site parking lot:  The Zoning Bylaw amendment would allow off-site parking on 4 lots 
on the corner of 13th Street and St. Andrews Street.  I have two concerns with that;  there is 
no physical plan for how the parking will be laid out, accessed, paved and landscaped, and 
also it would be a better idea to change the parking requirements instead, because we need to 
start reducing vehicle use to offset global warming. This amendment seems to be new, - after 
the adoption of the Tree Bylaw - therefore I think the bylaw should apply.   I am concerned 
that the existing large Cedar trees on the parking lot site will be cut down to, once again: 
“pave paradise to put up a parking lot”…  

  
Conclusions: I recommend that Council instruct VCH to eliminate the new crossing of the “mobility 
lane” and/ or drastically reduce the parking in front of the Paul Meyers tower, and that VCH provide 
complete plans showing the parking lots, and all the trees being retained as described above.  

  
Alex jamieson, B. Arch, MPIBC (retired), Member of The Force of Nature, North shore Community Action 
Team. 
419 East 11th Street, North Vancouver 
  
Alex jamieson photo.  There are many people who will be sorry to see this tree gone. It cannot be replaced by 
any number of saplings.  I remind Council that VCH is in charge of building hospitals, but COUNCIL is in 
charge of land use, form and character, and now, trees. 

<image002.jpg> 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930 Document: 2174993-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8930 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8930” (Vancouver Coastal Health / PCL Constructors 
Westcoast Inc., 319-333 East 14th Street, 318-332 East 13th Street, 313 East 14th Street, 
1304-1324 St. Andrews Avenue, Amendment to CD-551). 

 
2. Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 

1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by the following changes to the CD-551 
(Comprehensive Development 551 Zone): 

 
A. Part “(2) The Principle Uses Shall be limited to:” is deleted and replaced with the 

following:  
 

(2) The Principal Use shall be limited to: 
   

On All Sites:  
a) Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
b) Accessory Off-Street Loading Use; 
 
On Site 1:  
a) Civic Use; 

 
On Site 2:  
a)  One Unit Residential Use, subject to Section 506(1); 
b) Civic Use; 
c) Off-Site Parking Use; 

 
READ a first time on the 16th day of May, 2022. 

READ a second time on the 16th day of May, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 
 
 

 
Permit No. PLN2021-00016 File: 08-3400-20-0061/1 
 
Issued to owner(s): Vancouver Coastal Health Authority 
 
 
Respecting the lands located at 231 East 15th Street and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue, 
North Vancouver, BC, legally described as: 
 
LOT 1 BLOCK 60 DL 549 PLAN EPP19487 PID: 028-878-094 
LOT REM 2 BLOCK 60 DL 549 PLAN 10091 PID: 009-507-167 
 
(the “Lands”) 
 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
Schedule “A”:  List of Plans 
 
 
Authority to Issue: 
 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued pursuant to Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
 
Bylaws Supplemented or Varied: 
 

2. The provisions of the City of North Vancouver “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” are 
hereby varied as follows: 

 
A. Section 804(2)(a) to increase the overall Lot Coverage for the Lions Gate 

Hospital campus to 60%. 
 

B. Section 10A06(4) to decrease the number of bike parking requirements for 
short term to 18 stalls and the number of secure stalls to 16. 

 
 
 
  

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

Special Terms and Conditions of Use: 
 

3. The Buildings and Structures shall be developed in accordance with the plans 
dated and listed on the attached Schedule A “List of Plans” and filed in the offices 
of the City and approved by Council.  
  

4. No variances other than those specifically set out in this permit are implied or to 
be construed. 

 
5. All plans attached to this Permit and specifications referred to above are subject 

to any changes required by the Building Inspector or other officials of the City 
where such plans and specifications do not comply with any bylaw or statute, and 
such non-compliance is not specifically permitted by this Development Variance 
Permit.  The Lands may be subject to additional regulations, restrictive covenants 
and agreements which may affect their use, development and amenities, if any 
section or lesser portion of this Development Variance Permit is held invalid for 
any reason the invalid portion shall be severed from this Development Variance 
Permit and the validity of the remainder of the Development Variance Permit shall 
not be affected. 

 
 
General Terms and Conditions: 
 

6. Pursuant to Section 504 of the Local Government Act, this Permit lapses if the 
work authorized herein is not commenced within 24 months following issuance of 
this Development Variance Permit. In the event the Owner is delayed or interrupted 
or prevented from commencing or continuing the construction on or about the 
subdivision by reason of any Act of God, labour unrest (including strike and 
lockouts), weather conditions or any similar cause reasonably beyond the control 
of the Owner, the time for the completion of the works shall be extended for a 
period equal to the duration of the contingency that occasioned the delay, 
interruption or prevention, provided that the commercial or financial circumstances 
of the Owner shall not be viewed as a cause beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
7. This Development Variance Permit shall not vary the permitted uses or densities 

of land use in the applicable zoning bylaw nor a flood plain specification designated 
under Section 524(3) of the Local Government Act. 

 
8. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve Land Owner/Developers obligation 

to ensure that the development proposal complies in every way with the statutes, 
regulations, requirements, covenants and licences applicable to the undertaking. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

9. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve the Land Owner/Developers 
obligation to comply with all setback regulations for construction of structures or 
provision of on-site services pursuant to the Health Act, the Fire Services Act, the 
Electrical Energy Inspection Act, and any other provincial statutes. 

 
 
 
Authorized by Council: ______________________ 
    Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Linda C. Buchanan, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karla Graham, City Clerk 
 
Date Signed: __________________________ 
   Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
Note: As required by Section 503 of the Local Government Act, the City of North 

Vancouver shall file a notice of this permit in the Land Title Office stating that the 
land described in this Permit is subject to Development Variance Permit No. 
PLN2021-00016. 

 
 Notice filed the ____________day of __________________, 20______. 
 
 
 

THIS IS NOT A BUILDING PERMIT 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

Schedule A 
List of Plans – 231 East 15th Street and 1337 St. Andrews Avenue 

 

Designer 
Project 
Name 

Sheet 
Description 

Sheet 
No. 

Sheet 
Date 

CityDocs 
File Number 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Cover  June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Purpose  June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Project Team 1 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Rendering  June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Design 
Intention 4 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Conceptual 
Drivers 5 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Conceptual 
Drivers 6 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Site Context 10 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

800m Context 13 June 14, 
2021 2175071 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Design Anaysis 15 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Character 
Connectivity & 
Landmarks 

16 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Existing and 
Proposed Site 
Topography 

17 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Height Analysis 18 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Design Analysis 20 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Street 
Elevations 21 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Street 
Elevations 22 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Master Plan 
Diagram 26 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

March 21 Sun 
Study 27 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

June 21 Sun 
Study 28 June 14, 

2021 2175071 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

September 21 
Sun Study 29 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

December 21 
Sun Study 30 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Building 
Diagram 31 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Wood First 
Strategy 37 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Wood First 
Strategy 38 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Wood First 
Strategy 39 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Concourse 
Artwork 40 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Concourse 
Artwork 41 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Concourse 
Artwork 42 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Concourse 
Artwork 43 June 14, 

2021 2175071 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Concourse 
Artwork 44 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

The Activation 
Building 
Artifacts 

45 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

The Activation 
Building 
Artifacts 

46 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

The Activation 
Building 
Artifacts 

47 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

The Activation 
Building 
Artifacts 

48 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Connectivity to 
Surroundings 53 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

North Entrance 
From 15th 
Avenue 

54 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

North Entrance 55 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

South Entrance 56 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

South Entrance 57 June 14, 
2021 2175071 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

South Entrance 
Landscape 
Details 

58 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Interior 
Materiality 59 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Main Lobby 
Section 60 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

North Entrance 
Reception 61 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

North entrance 
Reception 62 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

 PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 1 Public 
Concourse – 
Seating Alcove 

63 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 5 Patient 
Unit 64 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Project Images 65 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 4 Rooftop 
Garden 66 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 4 Rooftop 
Garden 67 June 14, 

2021 2175071 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00016 Document: 2158508-v1 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Ariel View From 
Northwest 68 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Ariel View From 
Southwest 69 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Ariel View From 
West 70 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Project Images 71 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 1 
Courtyard Off 
Multipurpose 
Room 

72 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Landscape 
Plans 95 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Drawings 96 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 1 97 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Level 4 98 June 14, 
2021 2175071 

PCLConstructors 
WestCoast Inc. 
HDR Architecture 
Associates Inc. 
HAPA Collective 

Lions Gate 
Hospital 
Acute Care 
Facility 

Landscape 
Materials Plan 99 June 14, 

2021 2175071 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

J12 ~ (A 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Huy Dang, Planner 1 

REPORT 

Subject: REZONING APPLICATION: 1357 JONES AVENUE (MEHRDAD 
RAHBAR / VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.) 

Date: May 18, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0056/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated May 18, 2022, entitled 
"Rezoning Application: 1357 Jones Avenue (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular 
Studio Inc.)": 

THAT the application submitted by Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc. to 
rezone the property located-at 1357 Jones Avenue from a One-Unit Residential 1 
(RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone be considered and no 
Public Hearing be held, in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (rv,ehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue) be considered for issuance under 
Section 498 of the Local Government Act and the Public Meeting be waived; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

THAT the community benefits outlined in the report be secured at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff; 

AND THAT the Mayor and the Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the 
necessary documentation to give effect to this motion . 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2142590) 

2. Site Plan and Right-of-Way depiction (CityDocs 2180250) 

Document Number: 2142548 

.. 



REPORT: Rezoning and Development Variance Application: 1357 Jones Avenue (Mehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc.) 
Date: May 18, 2022 

3. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2177540) 

4. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021 -00005 (CityDocs 2179355) 
5. Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912 (Mehrdad 

Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue) (CityDocs 2177543) 

SUMMARY 

This report presents an application to rezone 1357 Jones Avenue from One-Unit 
Residential 1 (RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone to allow for future 
subdivision of the existing one lot into two lots. The intent is to develop a single-family 
dwelling with a secondary suite and detached garage on each subdivided lot. A 
Development Variance Permit (DVP) is required to reduce the parking requirements 
from two to one space for the north lot, as well as to vary the siting and height 
requirements to the garage to support a rear right-of-way and garage decks. 

BACKGROUND 

On February 28, 2022, Council directed staff to continue to process privately initiated 
RS-2 (small lot) rezoning applications on a case-by-case basis. Council also approved a 
simplified process for these applications, where at rezoning stage there would be a 
focus review on zoning, subdivision and servicing requirements only. No design review 
would be conducted. This is to set clear expectation that under the Local Government 
Act, the City does not have design control over single-family homes. 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context 

The site is located on the southwest corner of West 14th Street and Jones Avenue in the 
Mahon neighbourhood. Public transit and bike lanes are available along Jones Avenue 
and one block south along West Keith Road. The property is designated Residential 
Level 1 in the City's Official Community Plan which borders Residential Level 2 and 3 
properties immediately to the blocks east and south. 

The surrounding area consists of single-family homes on lots ranging in width from 11 
metres (36 feet) to 18.3 metres (60 feet). The buildings immediately surrounding the 
subject site are described in Table 1 below. 

Table 1. Surrounding uses 
Direction Address Description Zoning 

North - across the 
408 West 14th Street Single family home RS-1 street 

South 1339 Jones Avenue Single family home 
CD-663 (based 
off RS-2) 

East 357 West 14th Street Single family home RS-1 

West 417 West 14th Street Single family home RS-1 

Page 2 of 5 



REPORT: Rezoning and Development Variance Application: 1357 Jones Avenue (Mehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc.) 
Date: May 18, 2022 

Zoning Analysis & Proposed Variances 

The requested changes to the Zoning Bylaw to permit this development are identified in 
Table 2 below. The proposal would comply with all requirements of the One-Unit 
Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone with the exception of a parking variance for the north lot as 
well as siting and height variances on both lots for detached garages with decks. 

Table 2. Requested Changes to the Zoning Bylaw 
Current RS-1 Zone Proposed RS-2 Zone + DVP 

Buildings One Principal Building per lot One Principal Building per lot 

Use One-Unit Residential Use One-Unit Residential Use 

Units 3 Units (One Principal Dwelling Unit, 2 Units per lot (one Principal 
one Accessory Secondary Suite, one Dwelling Unit, one Accessory 
Coach House) Secondary Suite) 

GFA Lesser of 0.3 FSR + 92.9 sq. m Lesser of 0.3 FSR + 92.9 sq. m 
(1 ,000 sq . ft) , or 0.5 FSR. (1,000 sq. ft), or 0.5 FSR. 

For the subject site, the maximum For both proposed sites, combined 
GFA is 0.3 FSR + 92.9 sq . m (1,000 maximum GFA is: 
sq. ft)= 326.7 sq. m (3516.7 sq. ft) - 0.5 FSR for the north lot = 200.1 

sq. m (2154.0 sq. ft); and 
- 0.5 FSR for the south lot= 189.5 

sq. m (2040.0 sq. ft) 

Lot Coverage 30 % for Principal Building 30 % per Principal Building 

Minimum Lot 1 O m (32.8 ft) 7.5 m (24.6 ft) 
Frontage 

Minimum on- 2 parking stalls 1 parking stall for north lot, per DVP 
site parking 2 parking stalls for south lot 

Accessory To be sited in the rear 25% of the To be sited in the rear 35% of the 
Building (i.e. Lot depth Lot depth, per DVP 
garage} Siting 

Accessory Not to exceed 12 ft in height for a Not to exceed 14 ft in height for a 
Building (i.e. flat-pitched roof, or 15 ft in height for flat-pitched roof (which will be 
garage} Height a roof slope exceeding a 4 in 12 measured to the garage deck 

pitch railings) , per DVP 

Density and Form 

The policy framework supports the proposed single-family and suite uses, and the two 
developments remain within the OCP-maximum density permitted for the existing lot. 
The proposed development will result in a total of 4 residential units; a net increase of 
one additional residential unit compared with what is permitted in the current (RS-1) 
zoning. 

Overall, the development aligns with the character and scale of the surrounding 
neighbourhood. 

Page 3 of 5 



REPORT: Rezoning and Development Variance Application: 1357 Jones Avenue (Mehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc.) 
Date: May 18, 2022 

Parking and Accessory Building Variances 

The proposal includes an extension of a rear right-of-way that begins on the adjacent 
properties immediately south at 1337 and 1339 Jones Avenue (refer to attachment #2) 
which were redeveloped in 2017. The right-of-way was envisioned to provide access to 
the subject property though a future extension. With this proposal, the right-of-way will 
continue along the west property lines for the subject sites. An existing mature city tree 
is required to be maintained at the northwest corner of the proposed north lot, which will 
limit the buildable area for that particular portion. 

As such, a parking variance has been proposed for the north lot to remove the suite 
parking requirement. This will allow the north lot, which is more constrained due to the 
tree protection area and exterior setback requirements, to retain more rear yard space 
where it would otherwise be occupied by a second parking stall. This variance is 
supported by staff, given the close proximity to public transit and bike lanes along Jones 
Avenue and West Keith Road . 

A variance to the Accessory Building siting requirements is proposed to allow for the 
detached garages to be sited deeper into the lot to accommodate the rear right-of-way. 
A variance to the Accessory Building height requirements will allow for roof decks on top 
of the garages. The particular garage deck configurations present a further reduced and 
refined version of the deck configuration on the properties to the south, and are also 
supported by staff to accommodate a more continuous outdoor amenity space given the 
lot constraints. 

Proposed landscaping includes four new on-site trees in addition to the retention of the 
mature cedar located at the northwest corner. Landscaping and privacy screening will 
be provided on the garage decks to mitigate overlook and ensure adequate privacy. 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

Following neighbourhood notification on December 20th , 2021, the City received no 
correspondence from neighbours. 

Given the conformity of the proposal with the Official Community Plan and existing 
character of the area, staff is recommending that no Public Hearing be held for the 
rezoning application and no Public Meeting be held for the DVP application. Should 
Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing and include a Public Meeting, 
the first active clause in the resolution should be amended to read: 

"THAT the application submitted by Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc. to 
rezone the property located at 1357 Jones Avenue from a One-Unit Residential 1 
(RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone be considered and referred 
to a Public Hearing, in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

Page 4 of 5 



REPORT: Rezoning and Development Variance Application: 1357 Jones Avenue (Mehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc.) 
Date: May 18, 2022 

THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 (Mehrdad Rahbar / 
Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 Jones Avenue) be considered for issuance under 
Section 498 of the Local Government Act and the Public Meeting be held.;" 

COMMUNITY BENEFITS 

Standard servicing requirements will apply, including securing the extension of a 6.0 
metres (19.7 feet) right-of-way northward along the west portion of the site. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Huy Dang 
Planner 1 

Page 5 of 5 



Jo
ne

s A
ve

W 14th St W 14th St

1 3 3 7

4
3

0

4
1

7

4
5

2

3
4

5

4
2

7

4
3

2

4
4

2

4
1

8

3
6

2

4
3

9

4
4

7

4
3

8

3 5 7

3
5

1

4
1

4
1 3 4 4

4
2

0

4
3

0

4
2

2

3
4

2

1 3 4 4

4
4

4

3
5

4

3
4

6

3
3

9

1 4 1 7

4
5

3

3
5

0

4
1

0

4
4

8
4

5
0

3
4

0

4
2

1

4
0

8

4
2

6

4
4

1
4

3
8

1 4 3 1

4
2

6

4
3

3

1 3 5 7

4 0 8

4
0

2

3
5

8

3
3

6

3
6

4

3 5 7

3
5

2

1 3 3 9

Context Map: 1357 Jones Avenue Subject Site
Legal_Parcels

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



epiction of proposed right-of-way extension

^
N

Existing right-of-way

Proposed right-of-way

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



NO PEDESTRIAN
ACCESS

1 M. WIDE
PERMEABLE
WALKWAY BTWN.
SIDEWALK AND
STREE: PREFAC.
CONCRETE SLABS
IN-LAID IN GRASS

1 M. WIDE
PERMEABLE
WALKWAY BTWN.
SIDEWALK AND
STREE: PREFAC.
CONCRETE SLABS
IN-LAID IN GRASS

KEEP

R. 1

R. 2

R. 3



  VVVVernacularernacularernacularernacular    SSSStudiotudiotudiotudio    iiiinc.nc.nc.nc.    

Vernacular Studio Inc.   
120 Lonsdale Ave.  I   North Vancouver  I  BC  I  V7M 2E8 

604-990 6662   I   mrahbar@vernaculardev.com   I   vernaculardev.com 

P
a
g
e
 
1
 
o
f

 1
 

SUMMARY REPORT OF VERTUAL  DEVELOPMENT INFORMATION SESSION 

 

 

May 9, 2022 

Huy Dang, Planner 1 

City of North Vancouver 

141 West 14th Street 

North Vancouver, BC, V7M 1H9 
 

Re: 1357 Jones Ave., Subdivision and Rezoning 

Location: DIS Meeting was waived 

Host: None 

 

Development Team: 

Dario rahbar, Vernacular Group 

Mehrdad Rahbar, Vernacular Group 

1357 Jones Development Ltd., Owner 

 

CNV Representative 

Huy Dang, City of North Vancouver 

 

 

On December 20th, 2021, we installed DIS signage, and on December 18th, 2021 we distributed the 

Public Information Notification Mail-Drops and the Comment Sheets to the addresses shown on the 

attached Notification Addresses map. We can confirm that to date there has not been any 

inquiries or feedback from the community regarding this application. 

 

It is important to note that DIS sign is still erected on the subject property and has not been taken 

down. 

 

 

 

VERNACULAR GROUP 

 

 

 

Mehrdad Rahbar 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



141 WEST 14TH STREET / NORTH VANCOUVER / BC / V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761 / F 604 985 9417 / CNV.ORG                  

Proposal:  To rezone the subject property from a 
One-Unit Residential 1 (RS-1) Zone to a One-Unit 
Residential 2 (RS-2) Zone for a future subdivision 
of the property, and a variance to reduce parking 
from two spaces to one on the north lot.  The 
RS-2 Zone allows for a single-family dwelling and 
secondary suite on each lot.
To provide written input:  All persons who 

an opportunity to be heard by written or email 
submission.  All submissions must include your name and address and 

delivered to City Hall, no later than 12:00 noon on Monday, June 20, 2022, 
to ensure their availability to Council at the meeting.  No Public Hearing will 
be held.
To view the meeting online:  Visit cnv.org/LiveStreaming
To attend the meeting in person:  Enter City Hall through the doors at the 
southwest corner of the building after 5:30pm.
To view the documents:  The proposed bylaw, permit and background 
material can be viewed online at cnv.org/PublicHearings and at City Hall.
Questions?

1337

43
0

1445 14
50

41
7

34
5

35
9

42
7

43
2

44
2

41
8

36
2

43
9

44
7

43
8

357

35
1

41
4

1344

42
0

43
0

42
2

34
2

42
3

1344

44
4

35
4

33
7

34
6

33
9

1417

407

35
0

43
9

33
2

41
0

34
944

1

42
9

41
7

34
0

42
1

34
3

40
8

42
6

44
1

43
8

1431

42
6

43
3

1357

35
3

408

40
2

35
8

33
6

36
4

357

35
2

44
3

1339 Jo
ne

s 
Av

e

W Keith Rd W 13th St

W 14th St

1357 Jones Ave

Zoning Amendment Bylaw No. 8912 and Development 
Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 for 1357 Jones Avenue
View the meeting online at cnv.org/LiveStreaming
Or attend in person at City Hall, 141 West 14th Street

PUBLIC NOTICE
Regular Council Meeting

Monday, June 20, 2022 at 6:00pm



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912 Document: 2177543-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8912 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8912” (Mehrdad Rahbar / Vernacular Studio Inc., 1357 
Jones Avenue, RS-2). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of RS-2 (One-Unit Residential 2 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 B 65 271 750 from RS-1 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 Document: 2178956-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 
 
 

 
Permit No. PLN2021-00005 File: 08-3400-20-0049/1 
 
Issued to owner(s): 2376495 Alberta Inc., Inc. No. 2023764950 
 
 
Respecting the lands located at 1357 Jones Avenue, North Vancouver, BC, legally 
described as: 
 
LOT B BLOCK 65 DL 271 PLAN 750 PID: 007-943-784 
 
(the “Lands”) 
 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
Schedule “A”:  List of Plans 
 
 
Authority to Issue: 
 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued pursuant to Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
 
Bylaws Supplemented or Varied: 
 

2. The provisions of the City of North Vancouver “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” are 
hereby varied as follows: 

 
A. Section 908(8) shall be varied such that no parking spaces are required 

for an accessory secondary suite use for the Northern Lot. 
 

B. Section 514(4); shall be varied to permit Accessory Buildings to be sited 
within the rear 35% of the Lot depth, measured from the Rear Lot Line. 

 
C. Section 514(2); shall be varied to permit the Accessory Building heights to 

not exceed a maximum height of 3.7 m (12 ft) with a 1.1 m (3.5 ft) 
guardrail projection. 

 
 
 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 Document: 2178956-v1 

Special Terms and Conditions of Use: 
 

3. The Buildings and Structures shall be developed in accordance with the plans 
dated and listed on the attached Schedule A “List of Plans” and filed in the offices 
of the City, approved by Council, and in compliance with the regulations and 
conditions listed hereunder. 

 
4. No variances other than those specifically set out in this permit are implied or to 

be construed. 
 
5. All plans attached to this Permit and specifications referred to above are subject 

to any changes required by the Building Inspector or other officials of the City 
where such plans and specifications do not comply with any bylaw or statute, and 
such non-compliance is not specifically permitted by this Development Variance 
Permit.  The Lands may be subject to additional regulations, restrictive covenants 
and agreements which may affect their use, development and amenities, if any 
section or lesser portion of this Development Variance Permit is held invalid for 
any reason the invalid portion shall be severed from this Development Variance 
Permit and the validity of the remainder of the Development Variance Permit shall 
not be affected. 

 
 
General Terms and Conditions: 
 

6. Pursuant to Section 504 of the Local Government Act, this Permit lapses if the 
work authorized herein is not commenced within 24 months following issuance of 
this Development Variance Permit. In the event the Owner is delayed or interrupted 
or prevented from commencing or continuing the construction on or about the 
subdivision by reason of any Act of God, labour unrest (including strike and 
lockouts), weather conditions or any similar cause reasonably beyond the control 
of the Owner, the time for the completion of the works shall be extended for a 
period equal to the duration of the contingency that occasioned the delay, 
interruption or prevention, provided that the commercial or financial circumstances 
of the Owner shall not be viewed as a cause beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
7. This Development Variance Permit shall not vary the permitted uses or densities 

of land use in the applicable zoning bylaw nor a flood plain specification designated 
under Section 524(3) of the Local Government Act. 

 
8. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve Land Owner/Developers obligation 

to ensure that the development proposal complies in every way with the statutes, 
regulations, requirements, covenants and licences applicable to the undertaking. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 Document: 2178956-v1 

9. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve the Land Owner/Developers 
obligation to comply with all setback regulations for construction of structures or 
provision of on-site services pursuant to the Health Act, the Fire Services Act, the 
Electrical Energy Inspection Act, and any other provincial statutes. 

 
 
 
Authorized by Council: ______________________ 
    Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Linda C. Buchanan, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karla D. Graham, Corporate Officer 
 
Date Signed: __________________________ 
   Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
Note: As required by Section 503 of the Local Government Act, the City of North 

Vancouver shall file a notice of this permit in the Land Title Office stating that the 
land described in this Permit is subject to Development Variance Permit No. 
PLN2021-00005. 

 
 Notice filed the ____________day of __________________, 20______. 
 
 
 

THIS IS NOT A BUILDING PERMIT 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2021-00005 Document: 2178956-v1 

Schedule A 
List of Plans – 1357 Jones Avenue 

 
 

Designer Project Name Sheet 
Description 

Sheet 
No. 

Sheet 
Date 

CityDocs 
File Number 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Site Plan A-01 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Basement Floor 
Plans A-02 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Main Floor Plans A-03 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Upper Floor Plans A-04 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Roof Plan 
Diagram A-05 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House A Front & 
Rear Elevations A-06 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House B Front & 
Rear Elevations A-07 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House A North & 
South Elevations A-08 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House B North & 
South Elevations A-09 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House A Sections A-10 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave House B Sections A-11 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave GFA Overlays ANX-01 May 2022 2179355 

Mehrdad Rahbar 1357 Jones Ave Landscape Plan L-01 May 2022 2179355 

 



DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

DRAWING NO. :

MAY 2014

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/8 = 1 ft

LANDSCAPE  PLAN

s     t     u     d     i    o

DRAWING NO. :COPYRIGHT:
THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 GENERAL NOTES:
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

MAY 2014

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

LEGEND:

F: (FINISHED GRADE)

FINISHED ELEVATION

LEGEND:

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM

LEGEND:

E: (EXISTING GRADE)

SUBDIV/REZ.(SITE) FEB. 16,2021

SUBDIV/REZ.(SITE) SEP 08,2021

A-01
SUBDIV/REZ. MAY 12,2022

SITE PLAN

D
E

C
K

1
3

5
2

D
E

C
K

S
IN

G
L

E
 F

A
M

I L
Y

 H
O

U
S

E

6M. WIDE  STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY

ELEV=194.7
BOTTOM SILL

LOT 9

PLAN 750

(SEE EXPLANATORY PLAN 10075RX)

#417 BUILDING

B.G.188.00 (57.30 M.)

B.G.189.0'  (57.88 M.)

PORCH

199.50

D
N

193.0

HOUSE A

  MAIN FLOOR :      200.0'(60.96m.)

198.00'
190.50

   F.D.

W
A

L
L
 A

B
O

V
E

W
A

L
L
 R

O
O

F
 A

B
O

V
E

TOW: 196.50
BOW: 192.50BOW: 190.50

TOW: 194.00

6"X8" LANDSCAPE TIE

3/4" GRAVEL BED

BASEMENT :           191.0'(58.21m.)

1
'-6

"( 0
. 4

6
M

.)

B.G.:198.36' (60.46 M.)

UPPER ROOF

1
3

5
2

D
E

C
K

S
IN

G
L

E
 F

A
M

I L
Y

 H
O

U
S

E

RIM ELEV=201.2
MH 'C' STORM

INVERT 183.81(56.02m.)

E:189.4'(57.72 m.)
F:188.20'(57.36m.)

F: 188.50'(57.45M.)

POURED - IN CONC. WALKWAY

PREFAB CONC. SLAB 2'X2'

GRAVEL BED 3/4"  THK.

LEGEND: 

NOTES: 

1- PROVIDE ELECTRICAL DEDICATED PLUGS FOR 

ELECTRIC CARS FOR CARPAD AND GARAGE

(60.80 m.)

(60.35 m.) (60.50 m.)

TREE #1 TO REMOVE

NOTE:

- ANY WORK IN THE TPZ(S)

OF TREES REQUIRES ARBORIST SUPERVISION. 

-PROVIDE TREE PROTECTION 

FENCE AS PER ARBORIST REPORT.

WV

LANDSCAPED AREA

198.50'

C
O

N
C

. P
L

A
N

T
E

R

U
P

P
E

R
 R

O
O

F

MH  'B' SANITARY
RIM ELEV = 200.4'(61.08m.)

199.0'(60.65m.)

E: 194.7' (59.34 m.)

G
U

T
T

E
R

19
7.

5

B.G.: 198.68'(60.55 M.)
F: 198.68'(60.55M.)

PP / LS
E: 195.4'(59.55M.)

19
8.

5

19
8.

0

198.00'(60.35m.)

199.50'
(60.80 m.)

1
9

8
.9

3
' (6

0
.6

3
 m

.)

E
X

IS
T

I N
G

 T
R

E
E

 T
O

 K
E

E
P

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
. 9

m

WV

WV

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

PORCH

SLOPE:2.5%

200.00
(60.96 m.)

1
9

9
.5

0
'

F: 189.25'(57.68M.)

E: 189.25'(57.68M.)

HEDGE #1 TO REMOVE 

TREE #4 TO RETAIN

TREE #5 TO RETAIN

TREE #6 TO RETAIN

CRITICAL ROOT ZONE.

-NO DISTURBANCE WITHIN THIS ZONE. 

-NO MACHINERY WORK IN THIS AREA.

-KEEP EXISTING GRADE.

ANY MINOR GRADING UNDER ARBORIST SUPERVISION

BUILD1'-6" HT. CURB. WITH

SLAVAGED ROCKS FROM EXCAVATION.

LANDSCAPED AREA

W RIM ELEV

POURED-IN CONC.

C
U

R
B

C
U

R
B

G
R

E
E

N
 S

T
R

IP

S
ID

E
 W

A
L

K

G
R

E
E

N
 S

T
R

IP

S
ID

E
 W

A
L

K

1
9

9
.8

9
'

(6
0

.9
2

 m
.)

W    1 4 T H    S T R E E T

375 CONC STORM @ 8.8m

PORCH

F: 192.00'(58.52 m.)

199.50'

197.00'

   191.00'(58.21m.)

E: 191.40'(58.33 m.)

LANDSCAPED AREA

197.00'

LANDSCAPED AREA

1 2 0 ' - 0 "  ( 3 6 . 5 7  M . )

1
9

' -9
" ( 6

.0
m

. )

TREE #2 TO REMOVE

TREE #10 TO RETAIN

TREE #9 TO RETAIN

TREE #3 TO REMOVE

TREE #8 TO RETAIN

TREE #7 TO RETAIN

WV

LANDSCAPED AREA

SIGN FOR 2ND SUITE

KEEP EXISTING ELEV:

          190.50'

1
9

'- 8
"
(5

. 9
9

m
. )

E:196.30'(59.83')
F:200.24'(61.03M.)

WV

19
9.

4
19

9.
3B.G.: 200.24' (61.03 M.)

5'-11" 15'-1 1/2"6'-8"

2% SLOPE

5
'-
1

 1
/4

"

UP

REAR YARD

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

PATIO:

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

5'
-0
"

MECH RM.
&STORAGE

DN.

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

REAR YARD

189.50'

REAR YARD

REAR YARD

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

188.50'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

188.50'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS
UP

BIKERM.

188.50'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS
UP

BIKERM.

188.50'

3%SLOPE

GARAGE A (MAIN HOUSE )
189.0'188.25'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

PERMEABLE  PAV.

CARPAD (FOR SUITE)

10'-0 1/2"(3.04M.)

15'-0"

15'-0"

2'-0 1/2"

HOUSE B

  
UPPER FLOOR :     209.50'(63.85m.)

MAIN FLOOR :      200.50'(61.11m.)

BASEMENT FLOOR :     191.50'(58.36m.)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

BOW: 190.0
TOW: 194.00

189.50' 1
9
0

.0
0

'

1
9

0
.0

'

F: 188.75'(57.53M.)

E: 188.75'(57.53M.)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

189.0'

2.5' CUB.

2
.5

' C
U

B
.

1.5' CUB.

1.5' CUB.

E:187.75'(57.22 m.)
F:187.75'(57.22 m.)

B.OW:192.0

T.OW:194.50

PATIO

F: 188.0'(57.3M.)
E: 188.0'(57.3M.)

2
.5

' C
U

R
B

.

196.25'193.40'191.40'
188.50'

198.50 (65.50 m.)

TOW: 197.50
BOW: 193.50 BOW: 194.36

TOW: 198.36

199.50'
(60.80 m.)197.50'194.50'

192.50'

193.50 196.50

POURED-IN CONC.

B.OW:193.0

T.OW:195.0

B.OW:194.0

T.OW:196.0

B.OW:195.0

T.OW:197.0

B.OW:196.0

T.OW:198.0

B.OW:198.0

T.OW:200.0

15'-0"(4.57M.)

7'-1 1/2"(2.17M.)
75'-10 1/2"

FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

15'-0"(4.57M.)

6'-0"
20'-0"(2' FENCE ON 1' CONC. WALL.)

57'-1"

(TOP OF FENCE INCLD
 RETWALL:5')

17'-1"
23'-2 1/4"

DN.
DN.

LINE OF BALC.OVER.

LINE OF BALC.OVER.

L
IN

E
 O

F
 B

A
L

C
.O

V
E

R
.

ACCESS TO LEGAL SUITE
COVERED PORCH

COVERED PORCH

1' CURB.

SIGN FOR 2ND SUITE

A
C

C
E

S
S

 T
O

 
L

E
G

A
L

 S
U

IT
E

U
P

P
E

R
 W

A
L

L

U
P

P
E

R
 B

A
L
C

.

1
'-
6

"(
0

.4
6

M
.)

  
O

V
R

.H
N

G
.

4
'-
0

"

BASEMENT FLOOR :     191.50'(58.36m.)

191.0'
199.50'

200.0'

HOUSE A, PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE : SEE ANEX-01

HOUSE B , PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE : SEE ANEX -01

57.45

57.53

57.68

E: 188.50'(57.45M.)

2'-0"47' 3 1/2"3'-6 1/2"10'-3"(3.04M.)20'-0"20'-0"

52'-2 1/2" (Rear set back-15.91 m.)

52'-1 1/2" (REAR SET BACK)

52'-10"( 16.11 M.building depth.)

5
'-
0

"(
1

.5
M

.)
2

3
'-
1
0

 1
/2

"(
7
.2

7
M

.)
5

'-
1

 1
/2

"(
1

.5
6

M
.)

3
5
'-
1
1

"(
1
0

.9
5

M
.)

3
4
'-
0
"(

1
0
.3

6
M

.)

4
'-
0

"(
1

.2
1

M
.)

7
'-
2

"(
2

.2
M

.)

6
9
'-
1
1

"(
2
1

.3
1

M
.)

3
4

'-
0

"(
1

0
.3

6
M

.)
3

5
'-
1
1

" 
(1

0
.9

5
 M

.)

5
'-
2

 3
/4

"
1

1
'-
0
 1

/4
"(

3
.3

5
M

.)

3
'-
5

 1
/2

"
4

'-
7

"

4
'-
4

"
1

9
'-
0
 3

/4
"(

5
.7

9
M

.)

20'-0 1/2"(6.09M.)22'-0 1/4"(6.7.M.)

120'-0 1/8"(36.57 , LOT DEPTH.)

B.G.189.0'  (57.88 M.)

(1
.5

9
M

.)

11'-10 3/4"

GARARAGE B. (MAIN HOUSE )

188.75'

E
:1

9
5.

50
'

F
:1

99
.5

0'

E
:1

9
3.

50
'

F
:1

91
.0

'

E
:1

9
2.

90
'

F
:1

89
.5

0'

E
:1

9
4.

40
'

F
:1

99
.5

0'

E
:1

9
4.

10
'

F
:1

98
.0

'

E
:1

9
3.

70
'

F
:1

98
.5

0'

E
:1

9
8.

40
'

F
:1

88
.5

0'

E
:1

9
2.

50
'

F
:1

90
.5

0'

INVERT 189.6(57.79 m.)

UPPER FLOOR :     210.00'(64.00m.)

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

J
 O

 N
 E

 S
  

  
  

  
  

A
 V

 E
 N

 U
 E

4'HT. FENCE ON 1'-0" CONC./WOOD RET. WALL4'HT. FENCE ON 1'-0" CONC./WOOD RET. WALL

4'-0" (1.21m.)

63'-0" Cedar Fence : 5' A.F. Grade

15' LENGHT. (TOP OF FENCE INCLD
 RETWALL:3')

15' LENGHT. (TOP OF FENCE INCLD
 RETWALL:3')

15' LENGHT. (TOP OF FENCE INCLD

 RETWALL:3')

63'-0" Cedar Fence : 5' A.F.Grade20'-0"(2' FENCE ON 1' CONC. WALL.)

2'-0"

ARC
H
 LEN

G
H
T:21.5'

R
AD

IU
S 20'

3
'-
0

"
2

'-
3

"

2
'-
0

"
2

'-
1

 1
/2

"

53'-0"(16.15M.)

R
O

O
F

 O
V

E
R

8'-1 1/2" 2'-0"(0.6m.)

6'-2" 7'-7 1/2"

2'-0"(0.6m.)

4'-0"(1.21 m.)

2
'-
0

"(
0

.6
0
m

.)

ROOF OVER

ROOF OVER

2
'-
0

"

R
O

O
F

 O
V

E
R

4'-0"(1.21m.)

7
'-
2

"(
2

.2
M

.)

1' CURB.
4

4

4

FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

2
4

'-
8

"(
7

.5
2

m
.)

E:192.3'(58.61m.)

E:191.0'(58.21M.)
189.50'

F:188.0'(57.30M.)

E:189.9'(57.88M.)

192.66'(58.72m.)

1
9

9
. 5

0
'

1
9

8
. 5

4
'

192.77'(58.75m.)

192.89'(58.79m.)

193.00'(58.82m.)

B.G:193.06'(58.84M.)

189.50'

191.50'(58.36m.)

190.00'(57.91m.)

1
8
9

.2
5

'

FG: 191.50'

F:189.0'  (57.88 M.)

E:189.72'(57.82 m.)
F:188.75'(57.53m.)

B.O.W:189.75'(57.8m.)
T.O.W:191.50'(58.36m.)

N
E

W
4

' H
T

.  F
E

N
C

E
 O

N
 1

' C
U

R
B

.

F: 190.50' (58.36 m.)

E: 190.0'(57.91 m.)

F: 190.0' (57.91 m.)

E: 190.0'(57.91 m.)

F: 189.50'(57.75 m.)

E: 189.50'(57.75 m.)

9
'-
8

"(
3

.0
M

.)
8

'-
0

 3
/4

"(
2

.4
5

M
.)

1
2
'-
6
 1

/2
"(

3
.8

2
M

.)
(1

.3
M

.)

9'-9"

9'-9 1/2"

7'-4 1/2"5'-11 1/4"

1
9

9
. 6

4
'

1
9

9
. 7

6
'

6'-10 3/4"

1
9

8
. 6

8
'

1
9

8
. 8

0
'

F.:198.0' (60.35 M.)

1
9

9
. 8

5
'

1
9

9
. 9

9
'

2
0

0
. 1

1
'

WV

WV

WV

WV

PP / LS

FH

S
IG

N

RIM ELEV=190.9

MH  'A' SANITARY

RIM ELEV=201.2

MH 'C' STORM

1
9
4
.7

ELEV=197.1

TOP WALL

S
T

O
P

 L
IN

E
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

I N
E

 =
 6

9
.9

1

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 =

 6
9

.9
0

G
R

A
S

S

GRASS

GRASS

IRON POST

IRON POST

200 VIT SAN @ 9.1m

350 DI Watermain @ 8 m
6

0
 D

P
 G

A
S

 M
A

I N

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
.9

m

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

E INV. EL. 182.1
10"Ø

W INV. ELEV

= 191.8

WV

9.5 FT

5
7
.7

6

G
R

A
S

S

G
U

T
T

E
R

/C
U

R
B

 M
M

C
D

 C
5

BY CITY

BY OWNER

6" SD

A
S

P
H

A
L

T
 D

R
IV

E
W

A
Y

9'-10"

STOP LINE

S
L

O
P

E
 2

%
 

2%

WV

IC

1.8M

2.4M

1.8M

1.8M

2.4M
G

R
A

S
S

10m 6" SD @ 1%

8
" P

V
C

 S
D

R
3

5

6
"  S

A
N

SUMP

MH SD1

IC

SUMP

1.8M

MH A1

WV

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Line

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
NO PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
1 M. WIDE PERMEABLE WALKWAY BTWN. SIDEWALK AND STREE: PREFAC. CONCRETE SLABS IN-LAID IN GRASS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
1 M. WIDE PERMEABLE WALKWAY BTWN. SIDEWALK AND STREE: PREFAC. CONCRETE SLABS IN-LAID IN GRASS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
KEEP

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
R. 1

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
R. 2

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
R. 3



S
L

O
P

E

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-02

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

BASEMENT

 FLOOR PLANS

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

BASEMENT  ( SOUTH UNIT, HOUSE A)

UP
HOUSE B

  

BD.RM.#2

KITCHEN

BATH.RM.

W

D

14'0"X11'0"

s
.

FLEX RAEA

F.

4020

3026

2060

3
0

7
0

11'0"X12'0"

8'0"X5'0"

UP

1040.SQ FT(INCLD. LEGAL SUITE & MECH.RM.)

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

3
'-
0

"

2040

LEGAL SUITE :626.0 SQ.FT

LEGAL SUITE :772.0 SQ.FT

A

B

A-11

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

REAR YARD

REAR YARD

190.50'

GREEN ZONE - SEE SITE PLAN 

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

3
'-
7

" 
C

L
R

.

6'10"X2.5'

ISLAND

3'-1"

3
'-
6

"

BD.RM.#1

12'0"X8'6"

5
0

4
0

8
0

4
0

6066

 C
O

A
T

 C
L

S
T

.

GREATRM.

15'0"X11'2"

F
L

O
O

R
 T

O
 C

E
IL

IN
G

 
W

A
L

L
 C

A
B

IN
A

T
R

Y

B A

A

A-11 B A

A

A-11

MECH RM.
5'9X5'

6
' 
C

L
S

T
.

G
R

E
E

N
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 

S
Y

S
T

E
M

 W
/H

D
 

9
8

%
 E

F
F

.F
U

R
N

A
C

E
 

&
 H

R
V

.

BA

A

A-10

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

1140.0 SQ FT(INCLD. LEGAL SUITE & MCH.RM.)BASEMENT  ( NORTH UNIT, HOUSE B)

BD.RM.#1

12'X10'

SUNKEN PATIO

200.0 SQ.FT

HOUSE A

  FLEX. RM.

MECH RM.
&STORAGE

W&D

3'6"X2'0"

2'x2'

UP

KITCHEN & LIVING
  14'-0"X14'8"

3'6"X3'6"3'6"X2'

LINE OF BALC. ABOVE

3
'-
0

"

UP

23'-2 1/4"
17'-1"

S
.

BATH.RM.

12'X15'

LEGAL SUITE :876.0 SQ.FT
BA

A

A-10

A

B

A-10

A

B

A-10

BA

A

A-10

GREEN BUILDING 
SYSTEM W/HD 
98% EFF.FURNACE 
& HRV.

4
0

6
6

 F
IX

 W
IN

D
.

5'0" X8'

IS
L

A
N

D

T
V

. 
W

A
L

L
 U

N
IT

6
'X

2
.5

'

F.

KITCHEN
 8'-0"X10'2"

CLST.

5
'-
0

"

5
'-
1

 1
/2

"

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

REAR YARD

REAR YARD

8
0

4
0

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

4
'-
0

"

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

2% SLOPE

CONC.  CARPAD
        10'X19'

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS
UP

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

2% SLOPE

188.50'

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

UP

16'x2'4"

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

188.50'

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

UP

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

C
L

S
T

.

LEGAL SUITE :772.0 SQ.FT

F: 188.50'(57.45M.)

F: 189.25'(57.68M.)

E: 189.25'(57.68M.)
189.50'

REAR YARD

190.0'

188.50'1
8

9
.0

'

1
8

8
.2

5
'

1
8

9
.5

0
'

1
9

0
.0

0
'

1
9
0

.0
'

189.0'

PATIO

F: 188.0'(57.3M.)

E: 188.0'(57.3M.)

E: 188.50'(57.45M.)

1
8

8
.7

5
'

REAR YARD

PERMEABLE  PAV.

CARPAD

2.5' CUB.

2
.5

' 
C

U
B

.

1.5' CUB.

1.5' CUB.

B.G.189.0'  (57.88 M.)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

16'8"X11'7"

4'-6 1/2"

2
' 
C

U
B

.

15'-0"

2'-0"

10'-2"20'-0"
20'-0"

1
5
'-
1
1

"
6

'-
7

"

2
3
'-
1
0

 1
/2

"

3
5
'-
1
1

"

3
4
'-
0
"

5
'-
2

 3
/4

"
1

1
'-
0
 1

/4
"

8
'-
0

 3
/4

"
4

'-
4

"
1

9
'-
0
 3

/4
"

1
2
'-
6
 1

/2
"

10'-0 1/2" 15'-0"
52'-11 1/2"20'-0 1/2"22'-0 1/4"

2
4

'-
8

"

9
'-
8

"

3
5
'-
1
1

"

3
4
'-
0
"

7'-0"

24'-10"19'-9 1/2"8'-4"

5066 S/D

CLST./STORAGE

4
0

2
0

4
0

2
0

1
.5

' 
C

U
B

.

3'-6 1/2"

52'-10"

1
2
'-
6
"

8
'-
1

1
"

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:
THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

HEAT PUMP
 UNITS

HEAT PUMP
 UNITS

2'-0"

16'-0" 4'-0"

2
'-
4

"

3
'-
0

"

   191.00'(58.21m.)

PATIO

190.50

2
'-
0

"
2

'-
0

"

16'x2'0"

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022

47'-3 1/2"

200.0 SF.

A

B

A-11

4

4

4



s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:
THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

4020

3
4

'-
0

"

DECK:    199.50'

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

ENTRANCE

GREAT RM.

HOUSE A

DINING ROOM

DN UP

KITCHEN

9
0

7
0

8
0

7
6

3040 7040

2'-0"

ARCH. FEATURE WALL. SEE ELEV.

PWDR.RM.

17'-0"X15'-0"11'-0"X11'-0"

19'-0"X15'-0"

DN

992.0 SQ FT

MAIN ( SOUTH UNIT, HOUSE A)

7'-7"X7'-10"
PORCH

2
0

4
0

8'-0"X5'-0"

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-03

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ftMAIN  FLOOR PLANS

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

W
A

L
L

 A
B

O
V

E

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

A

B

A-10

BA

A

A-10BA

A

A-10

A

B

A-10

23'-2 3/4"

CARPAD
     

CLST. / STORAGE

ISLAND
9'8"X3'9"

3076

6
' 
 C

O
A

T
 C

L
S

T
.

28'-0"

1
5

'-
0

"

F
.

F
.

W
.O

.

DW

9'-2 1/2"

2
'-
0

"

1
7

'-
1

1
"

s
.

G
A

R
D

E
N

 B
E

L
O

W
 

G
A

R
D

E
N

 B
E

L
O

W
 

6'-0"X6'-3"

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

1
8

9
.7

5
'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS DN

BIKERM.

ROOF TOP
 20'X11'

BIKE RM. BELOW.

199.50'

MAIN ( NORTH UNIT, HOUSE B)

1083.0 SQ FT

S
L

O
P

E

F R O N T  S E T B A C K -  S E E  S I T E

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

S
L

O
P

E

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

7'
-2

"
4'

-0
"

HOUSE B

DN

PORCH
ENTRANCE

UPDN

FAMILY ROOM

    
KITCHEN

PORCH

4 4 ' - 7  1 / 2 "

DECK:      200.0'

DN

3'
-6
"

 KITCHEN

DINING ROOM

G
A

R
U

R
A

D
R

A
IL

S

5040

4040

7030

9
0

7
0

8
0

7
6

5
0

7
6

LIVING ROOM

17'-4"X16'-9"

6'-0"X7'-0"

11'-0"X10'-0"16'-3"X11'-6"

19'-0"X10'-9"

PWDR.

5'-0"X6'-0"

2
0

4
0

5 3 ' - 0  3 / 4 "

DN

4
'-
2

"

ARCH. FEATURE WALL.W/OPENING SEE ELEV.

W
A

L
L

 O
V

E
R

B
A

L
C

. 
O

V
E

R

A

B

A-11

B A

A

A-11 B A

A

A-11

A

B

A-11
1 2 ' - 4  3 / 4 "

1
9

0
.2

5
'

190.50'

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS
DN

BIKERM.

4' COAT CLST.

ISLAND 9'4"X3'

ROOF TOP
 20'X12.5'

BIKE RM. BELOW.

 200.0'

POTENTIAL STORAGE

GARDEN BELOW 

GARDEN BELOW 

17'-4 1/2"

1
6
'-
9
"

5'-10 1/2"

3
'-
0

"

4'-0"

D W F. Frz.W.O.

W
A

L
L

 C
A

B
IN

A
T

R
Y

9
'-
5

"1
1
'-
6
"

5
'-
0

"C
L

R
.

47'-3 1/2"3'-6"

10'-3"20'-0"22'-0"
52'-9 1/2"

5
'-
0

"
5

' 1
 1

/2
"

10'-0 1/2" 15'-0"
52'-11 1/2"20'-0 1/2"22'-0 1/4"

24'-10"19'-9 1/2"

8'-4"

3
5
'-
1
1

"

2'-0"

15'-0"

7'-0"

1
6
'-
1
"

6
'-
3

 1
/2

"

1
2
'-
6
"

8
'-
1

1
"

2
3
'-
1
0

 1
/2

"

GARDEN BELOW 

10'-4 1/2"
14'-9 3/4"

MAIN FLOOR :      

200.0'(60.96m.)

MAIN FLOOR :     

   200.50'(61.11m.)

7'-6"X7'-0"

1
1

'-
0

"

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY 12 ,2022

13
'-
6"

17'-1"

R
O

O
F

. 
O

V
E

R

ROOF. OVER

5'-0" CEDAR PANEL SCREEN

20'-0" 2'-0"

2
4
'-
8
"

2
4

'-
8

"

7
'-
0

"

3680

2
0

8
0

3680

2
0

8
02680

4080

4

4

4

4



R
O

O
F

 B
E

L
O

W

UPPER FLOOR PLAN , HOUSE A (SOUTH)

A

B

A-11

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-04

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

UPPER  FLOOR

 PLANS

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CHSUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

P
L

.

UPPER FLOOR PLAN , HOUSE B (NORTH)

24
'-
0"

BD.RM.#1

MBDRM

HOUSE A
  

ENSUITE

W.I.C

BATH1

S
.

2
6

5
0

2
6

5
0

8
6

5
0

8
0

5
0

30503020

12'x11.5'

BD.RM.#2

11'8"x11'

5'6" CLST.

5040

4020

13' X12'10"

8'0"x8'3"

11'0"x8'3"

DN

S
.

3'
-7

"

W

D

BATH2

3020

3'6" G.RAIL

5'x8'

8'x5'

4 4 ' - 8 "

12
'-
7 

1/
2"

11
'-
4 

1/
2"

5'
-0

"

W
A

L
L

 B
E

L
O

W

WALL BELOW

W
A

L
L

 B
E

L
O

W

WALL BELOW

6
'-
0

" 
C

L
S

T
.

P
A

R
A

P
E

T
 R

O
O

F
 A

B
O

V
E

27'-7" 18'-4"

W
A

L
L

 R
O

O
F

 O
V

E
R

 

A

B

A-10

BA

A

A-10BA

A

A-10

A

B

A-10

BALC. 
5'0" X 22'2"

11'-8"

1
0

'-
9

"

19'-11"

17'-3"

1
1

'-
8

"

12'-0"

R
O

O
F

  
B

E
L

O
W

1040.SQ FT

20402040 4070

1070.0 SQ FT

WALL ROOF OVER 

8030

2 2 ' - 1  1 / 2 "

7'
-2

"

6 ' - 1 "

ENSUITE
W.I.C

DN

HOUSE B

14'9''X8'0"

MBDRM L
A

U
N

D
.

BD#2

S
.

W
.

D
.

BD#1

W.P. FIN

7'3" CLS.

8
0

3
0

9
0

6
0

8
0

7
0

2
6

2
6

13' X11.5'

14' X10.5'

11' X11'-3"

1
1

'-
2

"

2
1

'-
1

 1
/2

"
3

'-
5

"

3
'-4

"

S.S.S.

S.

3'6" G.RAIL

13
'-
6"

10'0''X8'8"
BATH# 2

5'x8'

BATH#1

8'x5'

W
A

L
L

 B
E

L
O

W

WALL BELOW

W
A

L
L

 B
E

L
O

W

W
A

L
L

 B
E

L
O

W

C
L

S
T

.

CLST.

23'-4 1/8"

W
A

L
L

 R
O

O
F

 O
V

E
R

 

2030

2030

A

B

A-11

7
'3

" 
X

7
'4

"

B
A

L
C

. 
6

'4
" 

X
 2

1
'1

 1
/2

"

11'-0"

1
1

'-
3

"

1
0

'-
9

"

14'-0"

7'-5"

7
'-
4

"

9'-2 1/2"

5
'-
4

 1
/2

"

4
'-
0

 7
/8

"

B A

A

A-11 B A

A

A-11

24
'-
8"

45'-6"

51'-6 1/2"

9'-1"

9'-1"

55'-0"

ROOF OVER 

R
O

O
F

 O
V

E
R

 

ROOF OVER 

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:
THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

5'-0" CEDAR PANEL SCREEN

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY 12,2022

1 ' - 6 "

53'-0 1/2"

5'-0" CEDAR PANEL SCREEN

20'-0 1/2"22'-0 1/2" 9'-11 1/2"

7'-3 1/2"20'-0"22'-0"

2
'-
0

"

2'-0"

3
'-
3

 1
/4

"

4



5'-0"
24' 8"

7'-2"
4'-0"

24'-0"

FLAT ROOF
PARAPET ROOF

FLAT ROOF

BUTTERFLY ROOF

FLAT FEATURED ROOF

4'-0" OVERHANG4'-0" OVERHANG

2
'-0

" O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G2

'-6
"

1
'-6

" O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

27'-9" 18'-4"

F
IR

S
T

 F
L
O

O
R

 R
O

O
F

 B
E

L
O

W

ROOF BELOW

47'-0"

2 3 ' - 6  1 / 2 "2 2 ' - 0  1 / 2 "

4'-0"OVRHNG

ROOF PLAN

DIAGRAM

A

B

A-10

A

B

A-11

BA

A

A-10BA

A

A-10

BA

A

A-11
BA

A

A-11

A

B

A-11

A

B

A-10

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-05

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

DRAWING NO. :
LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CHSUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

BALC. 
5'0" X 22'2"

1
'-
6

"
1

'-
6

"

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

1
'-
6

"

4 4 ' - 1 0  1 / 2 "
8'-10 1/2"

45'-6"

5 2 ' - 7  1 / 2 " 2'-0"OVRHNG.

2'-0"OVRHNG.

1
'-
6

"O
V

R
H

N
G

.

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY 12,2022

R
O

O
F

 B
E

L
O

W

F
IR

S
T

 F
L
O

O
R

 R
O

O
F

 B
E

L
O

W

1
1

'-
2

"
13

'-
6"

24
'-
8"

24
'-
8"

5
' 
1

 1
/2

"



9070

8650
11050

5'-0"
5'-0"

8650

19
8.

36
'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

EAST ELEVATION

19
8.

68
'

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-06

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH
ELEVATIONS

FRONT & REAR

HOUSE A
s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

2640

1'-5"

2'-4 1/2" 5'-0"

1
0
'-
0

"
8

'-
0

 1
/4

"

UPPER FLOOR : 210.0'

TOP PLATE #1 : 218.0'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

4
'-
8

 1
/2

"

PROPOSED RIDGE : 222.70'

1
1

'-
0

"

GARAGE : 189.0'

WEST ELEVATION

TOP PLATE #2 : 220.0'

2
'-
0

"

3
3
'-
8
"

 1
88

.2
0'

 1
90

.0
'

6070
S/D

2
6

7
0

2
0

4
0

12080

6
"

80763
0

7
6

3
'-
6

"

3
'-
6

"

E
:1

93
.7

0'

F:1
98

.5
0'

E
:1

94
.1

0'

F:1
98

.0
0'

E
:1

92
.5

0'

F:1
90

.5
0'

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022



DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-07

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

ELEVATIONS

FRONT & REAR

HOUSE B

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

SUBDIV/REZ. SEP. 08, 2021

2626
8070

80805080

WEST ELEVATION

UPPER FLOOR : 210.50'

TOP PLATE #1 : 218.50'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.50'

PROPOSED RIDGE : 223.0'

1
0

'-
3

"

GARAGE : 190.25'

1
0

'-
0

"
8

'-
0

"
3

'-
3

"

TOP PLATE #2 : 221.87'

3
2

'-
5

 7
/8

"

19
1.

0'

19
1.

0'

5040

2
0
4

0

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

1'-6"

11'-2"

9060

9070

7'-2"

EAST ELEVATION

2'-0"

1'-6"

8030

20
0.

0'

19
8.

68
'

4'-0"

3
'-
6

"

E:1
94.4

0'

F:1
99.5

0'

E:1
93.5

0'

F:1
91.0

'(M
AIN

 H
OUSE)

E:1
93.5

0'

2
1

'-
8

"

MAIN:200.50

TOP PLATE #2 : 219.78'

E:1
95.5

0'

F:1
99.5

0'

6
'-
1

1
"

2
6

'-
2

 1
/2

"P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 T
O

P
 P

L
A

T
E

:

2
'-
2

"

1
'-
0

"

4

4

1
' 
1

 1
/2

REFFRENCE P
OIN

T

193.58'

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022



DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft
A-08

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3
4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3
4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

HOUSE A

NORTH & SOUTH ELEVATIONSUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

198.50' 19
8.

49

189.1

22'-0"

70403040

UNPROTECTED OPENINGS

SOUTH ELEVATION

WALL AREA=1248.0 sq.ft
LIMITING DISTANCE=5'0"   (1.52 M)
PERMITTED U.P.O.( 7%)=87.36 sq.ft
PROPOSED=80.25 SQ. FT.

362040203620

ALLOWABLE RIDGE : 227.77'

1
0
'-
0

"
8

'-
0

"

UPPER FLOOR : 210.0'

TOP PLATE #1 : 218.0'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

4
'-
8

 1
/2

"

PROPOSED RIDGE : 222.70'

27'-7 1/2"

2
5
'-

8
"
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 T

O
P

 P
L

A
T

E

3
3

'-
0

" 
A

L
L

O
W

A
B

L
E

 R
ID

G
E

SOUTH  ELEVATION

40404020

3636

40403020

ALLOWABLE TOP PLATE  : 220.5'
PROPOSED TOP PLATE  : 220.0'

2
8
'-
6
" 

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 H
E

IG
H

T

9
'-
0

"

20'-0" 15'-0"

120'-0"

10'-0"

4'-0"

53'-0 7/8"

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

1
0
'-
0
"

1
1
'-
3
"

188.25'

1
0
'-
0
"

BACK YARD: 188.50'

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022

6
"

B
IK

E
 R

M
.

B
IK

E
 R

M
.

3
'-
6

"

3
'-
6

"

3050

2020

UNPROTECTED OPENINGS

NORTH ELEVATION

WALL AREA=1106.0 sq.ft
LIMITING DISTANCE=5'0"   (1.52 M)
PERMITTED U.P.O.( 7%)=77.42 SQ.FT
PROPOSED=71.50 SQ. FT.

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

PATIO: 190.50'

9
'-
6

"

GARAGE ENTRY: 188.25'

3020

5030 30204020

8
'-
0

"

NORTH  ELEVATION

5040

5066

22'-0"

120'-0"

15'-0"

BACK YARD: 188.50'

8
'-
0

" 1
0
'-
0
"

8
'-
7

 1
/2

"

G
A

R
B

A
G

E
 

G
A

R
B

A
G

E
 

C
M

P
S

T
.

G
A

R
. 

C
M

P
S

T
. 

ROOF. TOP : 199.50'

3
'-
6

"

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

R
E

C
.

R
E

C
.

S
T

R
G

.

R
E

C
. 

R
E

C
. 

E
:1

93
.7

0'

F:1
98

.5
0'

E
:1

98
.4

0'

F
:1

88
.5

0'

E
:1

94
.1

0'

F:1
98

.0
0'

E
:1

92
.5

0'

F:1
90

.5
0'

5'-0"- 6' HT. CEDAR PANEL SCREEN

19
4.

77
'

2
6
'-

2
 1

/2
"
 A

L
L

O
W

A
B

L
E

 T
O

P
 P

L
A

T
E

R
E

FFR
E

R
E

N
C

E
 P

O
IN

T

ROOF. TOP : 199.50'

RIDGE : 203.0'

RIDGE : 203.0'

1
1

'-
3

"
3

'-
6

"

1
5

'-
0

"

1
5

'-
0

"

FG : 188.0'

FG: 188.0'



DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-09

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH
ELEVATIONS

SOUTH AND NORTH

HOUSE B

4'-0"

8030

5040 4040

3026

1
9
9
.3

4

200.50'

199.50'

NORTH  ELEVATION

2
0
3

0

2
0
3

0

190.5
0

189.50'

4'-0"

2'-0"

S
T

O
R

A
G

E

1
9
0
.5

0

UNPROTECTED OPENINGS

SOUTH ELEVATION

WALL AREA=1298.0 sq.ft
LIMITING DISTANCE=4'0"   (1.2 M)
PERMITTED U.P.O.( 7%)=90.86 sq.ft
PROPOSED=81.0 SQ. FT.

ROOF GARDEN : 200.00'

6
"

190.00'

3
'-
6

"

Patio :191.00'

G
A

R
B

A
G

E
 

G
A

R
B

A
G

E
 

G
A

R
. 

C
M

P
S

T
. 

R
E

C
.

R
E

C
.

R
E

C
. 

R
E

C
. 

R
E

C
.

R
E

C
.

R
E

C
. 

R
E

C
. 

BACK YARD: 189.50'

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

42 sf.

1
9
9
.3

4

7030

2040

7030

2040

2040

R
E
F
FR

E
N

C
E
 P

O
IN

T

19
3.

58
'

4020

SOUTH  ELEVATION

70304070

200.50'

PROPOSED RIDGE : 223.00'

3
3

'-
0

" 
A

L
L

O
W

A
B

L
E

 R
ID

G
E

ALLOWABLE RIDGE : 228.76'

3
'-
1

0
 1

/2
" 4'-0"

4'-0"

MAIN : 200.50'

1
0

'-
0

"

UPPER : 200.50'

189.50' BACK YARD: 189.50'

ROOF GARDEN : 200.00'

1
0
'-
6
"

B
IK

E
 R

M
.

B
IK

E
 R

M
.

3
'-
6

"

2'-0"

E:1
94.4

0'

F:1
99.5

0'

F:1
91.0

'

E:1
93.5

0'

E:1
92.9

0'

F:1
89.5

0'

E:1
95.5

0'

F:1
99.5

0'

5'-0"- 6' HT. CEDAR PANEL SCREEN

RIDGE : 203.50'

ROOF GARDEN : 203.50'

2
'-
2

"

2
6

'-
2

 1
/2

"P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 &
 a

llo
w

a
b

le
 T

O
P

 P
L

A
T

E

2060 3070

3
'-
6

"

1
4

'-
0

"

1
0

'-
6

"

1
4

'-
0

"

4

6
'-
1

1
"

PROPOSED & ALLOWABLE  TOP PLATE :219.78'

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022



RIDGE : 203.0'

SECTION AA

SECTION BB

HEIGHT CALCULATION IN HOUSE:    A

FRONT AVERAGE :        198.68'+193.36' / 2 = 198.49'

REAR  AVERAGE :          190.0'+188.20 / 2 = 189.1'

REFFRENCE POINT:         198.49'+(189.1-198.0') x0.4= 194.77'

ALLOWABLE TOP PLATE  :194.77' +26.2' =  220.97'

ALLOWABLE RIDGE           :194.77' +33'   = 227.77'

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-10

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER
SCALE: 

G.A.
CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

SECTIONS

HOUSE A

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

FLEX. RM.BATH.RM.

M.BD.RM.

BD.RM.#1

BATH

8
'-
0

"

MAIN FLOOR :200.0'

UPPER FLOOR :209.50'

8
'-
0

 1
/4

"

GARAGE : 189.0

PORCH

ENTRANCE

HALLWAY

22'-0"

9
'-
0

"

8
'-
0

"

UPPER FLOOR : 210.0'

TOP PLATE #1 : 218.0'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

PROPOSED RIDGE : 222.70'

9
'-
0

"

BASEMENT : 191.0'

188.25'

1
0

'-
0

"
4

'-
9

 1
/2

"

P
L

.

CLS.

BACK YARD : 188.50'

BASEMENT PATIO:190.50

FG : 196.0'

1
0
'-
0
"

9
'-
0

"

22'-6"

M.BD.RM.

8
'-
0

"

DINING.RM.

1
'-
6

"

1
'-
6

"
4

'-
8

 1
/2

"

8
'-
0

" 
c
lr
.

9
'-
0

" 
c
lr
.

3
1
'-
8
 1

/2
"

MAIN FLOOR : 200.0'

UPPER FLOOR : 210.0'

BASEMENT : 191.0'

FG : 196.0'

ROOF. TOP : 199.50'

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 08,2021

3
'-
6

"

1
'-
6

"

3
'-
6

"

1
'-
6

"

B.O.FTNG : 189.50'

1
1
'-
3
"

BASEMENT FLOOR : 191.0'

18
8.

75
'

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022



RIDGE : 203.50'

ROOF GARDEN : 200.00'

SECTION BB

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft A-11

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

LEGEND:

FINISH ELEV.

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM
1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

SECTIONS

HOUSE B

70304070

ENSUITE W.I.CBD.RM#2

FAMILY
DINING RM.

LIVING RM.

FLEX. RM. LIVING RM.

4'-0"

70307030

BACK YARD: 189.50'

BASEMENT 191.50'

2040

8
'-
0

"
9

'-
0

"
8

'-
0

 1
/8

"

GARAGE :189.50'

4'-0"

UPPER : 210.50'

19
0'

2040

KITCHEN

B
A

T
H

.R
M

.

SECTION AA

1
0
'-
6
"

1
'-
0

"

1'-5 7/8"

1'-6"

W
/D

KITCHEN PWDR.RM.

BATH.RM.CLST.HALLWAY

S
T

A
IR

W
E

L
L

9
'-
0

"

8
'-
0

"

8
'-
0

"

9
'-
2

"
UPPER FLOOR : 210.50'

TOP PLATE #1 : 218.50'

MAIN FLOOR : 200.50'

PROPOSED RIDGE : 223.0'

9
'-
0

"

BASEMENT : 191.50'

1
0

'-
0

"
8

'-
0

 3
/4

"
1

'-
3

 1
/2

" TOP PLATE #2 : 219.87'

2'-0"

3
1

'-
4

 1
/2

"

FG : 193.0'

FG : 196.0'
FLEX.RM.

s     t      u     d      i     o COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

22'-0"

200.50'

3
'-
6

"

9
'-
0

"

1
'-
6

"

1
'-
6

"

3
'-
6

"

GARAGE :190.0'

BATH.RM.

1
4
'-
0
"

PL.PL.

PL.

PREFABRICATED 

TRUSS TOP PLATE #2 : 219.87'3
'-
2

 1
/2

"

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY. 12,2022



BASEMENT PATIO , 
UNCOVERED : 152.0 SF. 

MAIN
 FLOOR 1084 S

F.

s     t      u     d      i     o

COPYRIGHT:

THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 
GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

3
4

'-
0

"

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

ENTRANCE

GREAT RM.

HOUSE A

DINING ROOM

DN UP

KITCHEN

ARCH. FEATURE
 WALL. SEE ELEV.

PWDR.RM.

17'-0"X15'-0"11'-0"X11'-0"

19'-0"X15'-0"

7'-7"X7'-10"
PORCH8'-0"X5'-0"

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft ANX-01

DRAWING NO. :

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.

NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:

M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft

DRAWING NO. :

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

W
A

L
L

 A
B

O
V

E

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

BA

A

A-10

23'-2 3/4"

CARPAD
     

CLST. / STORAGE

ISLAND
9'8"X3'9"

6
' 
 C

O
A

T
 C

L
S

T
.

28'-0"

F
.

F
.

W
.O

.

9'-2 1/2"

2
'-
0

"

1
7

'-
1

1
"

G
A

R
D

E
N

6'-0"X6'-3"

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE ) 1
8

9
.7

5
'

ROOF TOP
 20'X11'

199.50'

S
L

O
P

E

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

S
L

O
P

E

D
R

IV
E

 W
A

Y

7'
-2

"

HOUSE B

UPDN

PORCH
ENTRANCE

UPDN

FAMILY ROOM

    
KITCHEN

PORCH

4 4 ' - 7  1 / 2 "

DECK:      200.0'

3'
-6
"

 KITCHEN

DINING ROOM

G
A

R
U

R
A

D
R

A
IL

S

LIVING ROOM

17'-4"X16'-9"

6'-0"X7'-0"

11'-0"X10'-0"16'-3"X11'-6"

19'-0"X10'-9"

PWDR.

5'-0"X6'-0"

5 3 ' - 0  3 / 4 "

1 9 ' - 9  3 / 4 " 2 4 ' - 9  1 / 2 "

ARCH. FEATURE WALL.W/OPENING SEE ELEV.

W
A

L
L

 O
V

E
R

1 2 ' - 4  3 / 4 "

1
9

0
.2

5
'

190.50'

SLOPE

GAR #2 (MAIN HOUSE )

BIKERM.

4' COAT CLST.

ISLAND 9'4"X3'

ROOF TOP
 20'X12.5'

BIKE RM. BELOW.

 200.0'

POTENTIAL STORAGE

GARDEN BELOW 

GARDEN BELOW 

17'-4 1/2"

1
6
'-
9
"

5'-10 1/2"

3
'-
0

"

4'-0"

D W F. Frz.W.O.

W
A

L
L

 C
A

B
IN

A
T

R
Y

9
'-
5

"1
1
'-
6
"

5
'-
0

"C
L

R
.

3'-6 1/2"

10'-2"20'-0"22'-0"
52'-10 1/2"

5
'-
0

"

15'-0"52'-11 1/2"20'-0 1/2"
22'-0 1/4"

24
'-
8"

24'-10"19'-9 1/2"

4
'-
0

"

15'-0"

7'-7 1/2"

6
'-
3

 1
/2

"

1
2
'-
6
"

2
3
'-
1
0

 1
/2

"

GARDEN BELOW 

4'-0"

MAIN FLOOR :      

200.0'(60.96m.)

MAIN FLOOR :     

   200.50'(61.11m.)

7'-6"X7'-0"

SUBDIV/REZ. May 12,2022

26'-0"

26'-1"

3
'-
4

 1
/2

"

8'-5"

5
'-
6

"

3
4
'-
0
"

3
5
'-
1
1

"

1'-5 1/2"

7
'-
1

"

6'-1"M
E
C

H
 R

M
.E

X
C

L
U

D
E
D

 I
N

 G
F
A
.

42
 S

F
.2'-4"

8
'-
1

1
"

4
'-
2

"
13

'-
6"

1
6
'-
1
"

1
0

'-
1

1
"

1
2
'-
1
1

 1
/2

"

s
.

G
A

R
D

E
N

 

14'-9 1/2"

4'-0"

4'-4 1/2"

7
'-
0

"

LEGEND:

MAIN FLOOR:

UPPER FLOOR:

EXEMPTED MECH.RM.

COVER PORCH

BRIDGE , BALCONY 

 (CALCULATED TOWARDS LOT COVERAGE)

 ROOF GARDEN

CAR PAD 

BIKE RM.

WALKWAY

BASEMENT PATIO 

3
5

'-
1

1
"

120'-0"

u
p

p
e

r 
w

a
ll

u
p

p
e

r 
w

a
ll

47'-3 1/2" 2'-0"

1'-3"

EXHEMPTED 

MECH. R
M. 

48.S
F.

BIKERM. :37.62 sf.

GARAGE .ROOF TOP

GARAGE .ROOF TOP

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS + STORAGE & GARBAGE UNDER

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS + STORAGE & GARBAGE UNDER

17'-1"

U
P

P
E

R
 :

 1
5

.6
5

 S
F

.

U
P

P
E

R
 :

 2
8

.3
6

 S
F

.

BALC. & BRIDGE CALCULATED
 TOWARDS LOT COVERAGE: 159.0 SF.

EXEMPTED FROM LOT COVERAGE
224.0 sf.

EXEMPTED FROM LOT COVERAGE

BIKERM. :37.62 sf.

EXEMPTED FROM LOT COVERAGE

BALC. & BRIDGE CALCULATED
 TOWARDS LOT COVERAGE: 143.50 SF.

U
P

P
E

R
 :

 2
0

.8
7

 S
F

.

10'-0 1/2"

6'-0"

3
'-
5

"

GARDEN BELOW 

MAIN FLOOR : 992.0 SF.

MAIN FLOOR : 1083.0 SF.

UPPER FLOOR : 1040.0 SF. SF.

UPPER FLOOR : 1069.0 SF.

BASEMENT: 1083.0 SF.

MECH.RM. EXEMPTED FROM G.F.A: 42.00 SF.

BASEMENT: 992.0 SF.

MECH.RM. EXEMPTED FROM G.F.A: 48.00 SF.

R
O

O
F

 L
IN

E

3'-6"

3'-6"

R
O

O
F

. 
B

E
L

O
W

LINE OF ROOF. BELOW & ABOVE

BASEMENT PATIO , UNCOVERED : 200.0 SF. 

NORTH HOUSE LOT AREA: 4310 SF.

SOUTH HOUSE LOT AREA: 4080 SF.

ALLOWABE FSR= 0.5%=2155.0SF.

FSR. PROPOSED= 992+1040=2032 SF. 

ALLOWABE FSR= 0.5%= 2040.0 SF. 

LOT COVERAGE= 30%= 1224.0 SF. 
LOT COVERAGE PROPOSED=  159.0 + 992.0 + 28.36+48.0 + 16.0 = 1243.01 SF. = (30.47 %)

FSR. PROPOSED=  1083+1069=2152.0 SF. 

U
P

P
E

R
 B

A
L
C

.

LOT COVERAGE PROPOSED=  143.50 +1083 +42.0+ 15.0 SF.= 1283.50 SF. = (29.77 % ~30 %)

EXEMPTED FROM LOT COVERAGE
253.20 sf.

C
O

V
E

R
E

D
 P

O
R

C
H

 :
 1

5
.0

 S
F

.

LOT COVERAGE= 30%= 1293.0 SF. 

C
O

V
E

R
E

D
 P

O
R

C
H

: 
1

6
.0

 S
F

.



DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/4 = 1 ft L-01

DRAWING NO. :

MAY 2014

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

1357 JONES AVE.
NORTH VANCOUVER

DRAWN BY :

SCALE: 

G.A.

DATE:

CHECKED BY:
M.R.

1/8 = 1 ft

LANDSCAPE  PLAN

s     t     u     d     i    o

DRAWING NO. :COPYRIGHT:
THIS PLAN AND DESIGN ARE AND AT ALL TIMES 
THE EXCLUSIVE PROPERTY OF VERNACULAR 
STUDIO INC. AND MAY NOT BE REUSED, 
REPRODUCED, AND REVISED WITHOUT
 PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

 GENERAL NOTES:
THIS DRAWING MUST NOT BE SCALED. THE 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL 
DIMENSIONS AND LEVELS PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF WORK. ALL
ERRORS AND OMISSIONS SHALL BE REPORTED
IMMEDIATELY TO VERNACULAR STUDIO INC.

MAY 2014

1

No. ISSUE FOR DATE

REVISION:

2

3

4

PRE APP SUB. MAY 01,2020

6

5

7

8

R.CH

200 - 120 LONSDALE AVE,
NORTH VANCOUVER, B.C

V7M 2E8

PHONE: (604)990-6662

 VERNACULARDEV.COM

SUBDIV/REZ. FEB. 05,2021

LEGEND:

F: (FINISHED GRADE)

FINISHED ELEVATION

LEGEND:

POWER VENT

FLOOR DRAIN

SMOKE ALARM

LEGEND:

E: (EXISTING GRADE)

SUBDIV/REZ.(SITE) FEB. 16,2021

SUBDIV/REZ.(SITE) SEP 08,2021

LANDSCAPE PLAN

SUBDIV/REZ. MAY 12,2022

D
E

C
K

6
M

.  W
ID

E
  S

T
A

T
U

T
O

R
Y

 R
IG

H
T

 O
F

 W
A

Y

ELEV=194.7
BOTTOM SILL

LOT 9

PLAN 750

(SEE EXPLANATORY PLAN 10075RX)

#417 BUILDING

B.G.188.38 (57.41 M.)

PORCH

199.50

D
N

HOUSE A

  MAIN FLOOR :      200.0'(60.96m.)

198.00'

190.50

   F.D.

W
A

L
L
 A

B
O

V
E

BOW: 190.50
TOW: 194.00

6"X8" LANDSCAPE TIE

3/4" GRAVEL BED

BASEMENT :           191.0'(58.21m.)

N
E

W
4

' H
T

.  F
E

N
C

E
 O

N
 1

' C
U

R
B

.

RIM ELEV=201.2
MH 'C' STORM

INVERT 183.81(56.02m.)

F: 190.0'

E: 190.0'

(60.80 m.)

(60.35 m.) (60.50 m.)

TREE #1 TO REMOVE

NOTE:

- ANY WORK IN THE TPZ(S)

OF TREES REQUIRES ARBORIST SUPERVISION. 

-PROVIDE TREE PROTECTION 

FENCE AS PER ARBORIST REPORT.

WV

198.50'

C
O

N
C

. P
L

A
N

T
E

R

MH  'B' SANITARY
RIM ELEV = 200.4'(61.08m.)

199.0'(60.65m.)

G
U

T
T

E
R

19
7.

5

PP / LS

19
8.

5

19
8.

0

198.00'(60.35m.)

1
9

8
.5

0
' (6

0
.5

0
 m

.)

E
X

IS
T

I N
G

 T
R

E
E

 T
O

 K
E

E
P

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
. 9

m

WV

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

PORCH

SLOPE:2.5%

200.00
(60.96 m.)

1
9

9
.5

0
'

HEDGE #1 TO REMOVE 

TREE #4 TO RETAIN

TREE #5 TO RETAIN

TREE #6 TO RETAIN

CRITICAL ROOT ZONE.

-NO DISTURBANCE WITHIN THIS ZONE. 

-NO MACHINERY WORK IN THIS AREA.

-KEEP EXISTING GRADE.

ANY MINOR GRADING UNDER ARBORIST SUPERVISION

BUILD1'-6" HT. CURB. WITH

SLAVAGED ROCKS FROM EXCAVATION.

W RIM ELEV

POURED-IN CONC.

C
U

R
B

C
U

R
B

G
R

E
E

N
 S

T
R

IP

S
ID

E
 W

A
L

K

G
R

E
E

N
 S

T
R

IP

S
ID

E
 W

A
L

K

1
9

9
.6

5
'

(6
0

.8
5

 m
.)

RIM ELEV=190.9'(57.96m.)

MH  'A' SANITARY

W    1 4 T H    S T R E E T

375 CONC STORM @ 8.8m

10"Ø

PORCH

B.G.: 189.75' (57.83 M.)

199.50'

197.00'

   191.00'(58.21m.)

197.00'

1 2 0 ' - 0 "  ( 3 6 . 5 7  M . )

F: 190.50'(58.06 m.)
E: 190.50'(58.06m.)

TREE #2 TO REMOVE

TREE #10 TO RETAIN

TREE #9 TO RETAIN

TREE #3 TO REMOVE

TREE #8 TO RETAIN

TREE #7 TO RETAIN

WV

SIGN FOR 2ND SUITE

KEEP EXISTING ELEV:
          190.50'

1
9

' -8
"(5

. 9
9

m
. )

WV

5'-11" 15'-1 1/2"6'-8"

2% SLOPE

5
'-
1

 1
/4

"

UP

REAR YARD

REAR YARD

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

PATIO:

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

MECH RM.
&STORAGE

DN.

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

REAR YARD

189.50'

REAR YARD

REAR YARD

LINE OF BRIDGE OVER

188.50'

3
4

'-
0

"

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

UP

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS
UP

BIKERM.

3%SLOPE

GARAGE A (MAIN HOUSE ) 1
8
9

.0
'

1
8
8

.2
5

'

PREFAB. METAL STAIRS

BIKERM.

GARBAGE & STORAGE RM. 
UNDER THE STAIRS

PERMEABLE  PAV.

CARPAD (FOR SUITE)

10'-0 1/2"(3.04M.)

15'-0"

HOUSE B

  
UPPER FLOOR :     209.50'(63.85m.)

MAIN FLOOR :      200.50'(61.11m.)

BASEMENT FLOOR :     191.50'(58.36m.)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

1
8
9

.5
0

'

1
9
0

.0
0

'

1
9

0
.0

'

189.0'

2.5' CUB.

2
.5

' C
U

B
.

1.5' CUB.

B.OW:192.0

T.OW:194.50

PATIO

1
8

9
.7

5
'( 5

7
.8

3
m

. )

196.25'
193.40'191.40'

188.50'
198.50 (65.50 m.)TOW: 197.50

199.50'
(60.80 m.)192.50'

193.50 196.50

POURED-IN CONC.

B.OW:193.0

T.OW:195.0

B.OW:194.0

T.OW:196.0

B.OW:195.0

T.OW:197.0

B.OW:196.0

T.OW:198.0

B.OW:198.0

T.OW:200.0

(TOP OF FENCE INCLD
 RETWALL:4')

75'-10 1/2"

(TOP OF FENCE INCLD
 RETWALL:4')

15'-0"(4.57M.)

20'-0"(2' FENCE ON 1' CONC. WALL.)
57'-1"

DN.
DN.

LINE OF BALC.OVER.

L
IN

E
 O

F
 B

A
L

C
.O

V
E

R
.

ACCESS TO LEGAL SUITE
COVERED PORCH

COVERED PORCH

1' CUB.

SIGN FOR 2ND SUITE

A
C

C
E

S
S

 T
O

 
L

E
G

A
L

 S
U

IT
E

BASEMENT FLOOR :     191.50'(58.36m.)

191.0'
199.50'

200.0'

HOUSE A, PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE : 1017 Sf.= ~30%

HOUSE B , PROPOSED LOT COVERAGE : 1338.0 SF. =31.04 %

57.45

57.53

57.68

2'-0"20'-0"22'-0"

52'-1 1/2" (REAR SET BACK)

5
'-
0

"(
1

.5
M

.)
2

3
'-
1
0

 1
/2

"(
7
.2

7
M

.)
5

'-
1

 1
/2

"(
1

.5
6

M
.)

3
5
'-
1
1

"(
1
0

.9
5

M
.)

3
4
'-
0
"(

1
0
.3

6
M

.)

4
'-
0

"(
1

.2
1

M
.)

2
4
'-
8
"(

7
.5

2
M

.)
7

'-
2

"(
2

.2
M

.)

6
9
'-
1
1

"(
2
1

.3
1

M
.)

3
4
'-
0
"(

1
0
.3

6
M

.)
3

5
'-
1
1

" 
(1

0
.9

5
 M

.)

5
'-
2

 3
/4

"
1

1
'-
0
 1

/4
"(

3
.3

5
M

.)

3
'-
5

 1
/2

"
4

'-
7

"

9
'-
8

"(
3

.0
M

.)
8

'-
0

 3
/4

"(
2

.4
5

M
.)

4
'-
4

"
1

9
'-
0
 3

/4
"(

5
.7

9
M

.)

22'-0 1/4"(6.7.M.)

120'-0" (36.57M. =LOT WIDTH)

120'-0 1/8"(36.57 , LOT WIDTH.)

1
2
'-
6
 1

/2
"(

3
.8

2
M

.)
(1

.5
9

M
.)

(1
.3

M
.)

9'-9"

9'-9"

11'-10 3/4"

GARARAGE B. (MAIN HOUSE )

1
8
8

.7
5

'

INVERT 189.6(57.79 m.)

UPPER FLOOR :     210.00'(64.00m.)

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

J
 O

 N
 E

 S
  

  
  

  
  

A
 V

 E
 N

 U
 E

POURED - IN CONC. WALKWAY

PREFAB CONC. SLAB 2'X2'

GRAVEL BED 3/4"  THK.

LEGEND: 

LIGHTING LEGEND:

STEP LIGHT

PATH LIGHT

UPLIGHT

MOTION SENSOR LIGHT

LIGHTING LEGEND:

STEP LIGHT

PATH LIGHT

UPLIGHT

MOTION SENSOR LIGHT

NOTES: 

1- PROVIDE ELECTRICAL DEDICATED PLUGS FOR 
ELECTRIC CARS FOR CARPAD AND GARAGE

6
0

22
5

0

B.G.189.0'  (57.88 M.)

W
A

L
L
 A

B
O

V
E

3/4" GRAVEL BED

1.5' CUB.

197.50'
194.50'

(TOP OF FENCE INCLD

 RETWALL:5')

B.G.189.0'

199.0'

C
O

N
C

.  P
L

A
N

T
E

R

199.50'

1
8

9
. 7

5
'

   F.D.

TOW: 196.50
BOW: 193.00

cb cb

ey x6 

EXISTING 5' HT. FENCE

cb cb cb cb cb

DETENTION TANK -SEE CIVIL 

ey

sf

el

vd

sc

ey  

sf

hb

sa

3/4" GRAVEL BED

js
m

x
7

sc

vdx5

cm

cm

hb
sa

sfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsf

sfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsf

dfx 10

dfx 10

sf

sf

st

st

sc

sc

sf

dfsfst df df df df df df dfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfststst sfsfsfsfsfsfsf

og

hb

el

el

el

el

el
hb

hb

hb

hb

sa

vd

sa
sa

sa

sa

sa

sa sa sa

sa

sa sa

sa

sc
sc sc

cm
vd

vd

js
m

js
m

js
m

js
m

sc

cm

sc sc sc

sc

sc
sc sc

cm
cm cm cm

scscscsc

JMG

sfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfdfsf df df df df df df dfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfsfst stststsfsf
sf

cb cbey cb cb cb cb
cbey ey  

sc

vd

vd

vd vd vd vd

sf

sf
sf

sf

sc

sc

sc sc sc sc

el

el

el

el

ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  

scscsc

js
m

vd
sa

sc

js
m

js
m

js
m

js
m

js
m

sc
sc

sc sc sc

sc sc
sc

cm cm cm cm
cm

sa

sa

sa

sa

sa

sa

sa
sa

sa

vd

vd

vd

hb

hb

hb

hb

hb

hb

el

el

el

el

el

el

el
sf

ogvd og og og og og

ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  ey  

el

el

el

el

el

el

el

el

el

el

js
m

sa sa sa sa sa

sa
sa

sa sa sa

sa

sa

sa

sa sa

sa

sa sa

sa
sa

df

df

df

df
df

df

df

df

df

df

POURED-IN CONC.

ELECT.CAR CHRG.OUTLET (LEVEL2)

199.0'

ey x 6

sc

vdx5
cm

hb
sa

ogx6

ey 

sf

sf
hb

og

og

og og og

sf sf sf sf sf sf

vd

ey ey ey ey ey ey ey 

hb

el

el

el

el

el

el

el

hb

hb

hb

hb

hb

hb

sa

vd

sa
sa

sa

sa

sa

sa sa sa

sa

sa sa

sa

sc
sc sc

cm
vd

vd

vd

js
m

js
m

js
m

sc

cm

sc sc sc

sc

sc
sc sc

cm
cm cm cm

scscsc

JMG

el

el

el
POURED-IN CONC.

fgx5

vd

sf

el

sc

kd
vd

el

sc

vd

vd

vd vd vd vd

sf

sf
sf

sf

fg fg fg

fg

fg

st st st st st

sc

sc

sc

scscsc

sc

sc sc sc sc

el

el

el

el

el

elscscsc

7'-1 1/2"(2.17M.)

7'-1 1/2"(2.17M.)
15'-0"(4.57M.)

1
9

' -8
"(5

. 9
9

m
. ) 20'-0 1/2"(6.09M.) 53'-0"(16.15M.)10'-0 1/2"(3.04M.)

ey  

sc
1

9
' -9

" ( 6
.0

m
. )

S
I G

N

ey 
BOW: 193.50

TOW: 196.50

BOW: 192.50

4'HT. FENCE ON 1'-0" CONC./WOOD RET. WALL
4'HT. FENCE ON 1'-0" CONC./WOOD RET. WALL

4'HT. FENCE ON 1'-0" CONC./WOOD RET. WALL

199.50'
(60.80 m.)
JMG

el
sc

ey  

frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn.frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn. frn.

ARC
H
 LEN

G
H
T:21.5'

R
AD

IU
S 20'

52'-2 1/2" (Rear set back-15.91 m.) 52'-10"( 16.11 M.building depth.)

47' 3 1/2"3'-6 1/2"10'-3"(3.04M.)

WV

WV

WV

WV

PP / LS

FH

S
IG

N

RIM ELEV=201.2

MH 'C' STORM

1
9
4
.7

ELEV=197.1

TOP WALL

S
T

O
P

 L
IN

E
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

I N
E

 =
 6

9
.9

1

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 =

 6
9

.9
0

G
R

A
S

S

GRASS

GRASS

IRON POST

IRON POST

200 VIT SAN @ 9.1m

350 DI Watermain @ 8 m

6
0
 D

P
 G

A
S

 M
A

IN

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
.9

m

375 CONC STORM @ 8.8m

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

W INV. ELEV

= 191.8

WV

9.5 FT

5
7
.7

6

G
R

A
S

S

G
U

T
T

E
R

/C
U

R
B

 M
M

C
D

 C
5

BY CITY

BY OWNER

6" SD

A
S

P
H

A
L

T
 D

R
IV

E
W

A
Y

9'-10"

STOP LINE

S
L

O
P

E
 2

%
 

2%

WV

IC

1.8M

2.4M

1.8M

1.8M

2.4M

G
R

A
S

S

10m 6" SD @ 1%

8
" P

V
C

 S
D

R
3

5

6
"  S

A
N

SUMP

MH SD1

IC

SUMP

1.8M

MH A1

WV

6M. WIDE  STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

FOR ROAD PAVEMENT SEE CIVIL.

B.G.:198.36' (60.46 M.)

E: 194.7' (59.34 m.)

B.G.: 198.68'(60.55 M.)

1
9

8
.9

3
' (6

0
.6

3
 m

.)

1
9

9
.8

9
'

(6
0

.9
2

 m
.)

E:196.30'(59.83')
F:200.24'(61.03M.)

B.G.: 200.24' (61.03 M.)

1
9

9
. 5

0
'

1
9

8
. 5

4
'

1
9

9
. 6

4
'

1
9

9
. 7

6
'

1
9

8
. 6

8
'

1
9

8
. 8

0
'

F.:198.0' (60.35 M.)

1
9

9
. 8

5
'

1
9

9
. 9

9
'

2
0

0
. 1

1
'

E:189.4'(57.72 m.)
F:188.20'(57.36m.)

F: 192.00'(58.52 m.)
E: 191.40'(58.33 m.)

192.66'(58.72m.)

192.77'(58.75m.)

192.89'(58.79m.)

1
9

8
. 6

8
'

1
9

9
. 5

0
'

1
9

9
. 6

4
'

WV

WV

WV

WV

PP / LS

FH

S
I G

N

RIM ELEV=190.9

MH  'A' SANITARY

RIM ELEV=201.2

MH 'C' STORM

1
9
4
.7

ELEV=197.1

TOP WALL

S
T

O
P

 L
IN

E
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

I N
E

 =
 6

9
.9

1

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 =

 6
9

.9
0

G
R

A
S

S

GRASS

GRASS

IRON POST

IRON POST

200 VIT SAN @ 9.1m

350 DI Watermain @ 8 m

6
0

 D
P

 G
A

S
 M

A
I N

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
.9

m

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

E INV. EL. 182.1
10"Ø

W INV. ELEV

= 191.8

WV

9.5 FT

5
7
.7

6

G
R

A
S

S

G
U

T
T

E
R

/C
U

R
B

 M
M

C
D

 C
5

BY CITY

BY OWNER

6" SD

A
S

P
H

A
L

T
 D

R
IV

E
W

A
Y

9'-10"

STOP LINE

S
L

O
P

E
 2

%
 

2%

WV

IC

1.8M

2.4M

1.8M

1.8M

2.4M

G
R

A
S

S

10m 6" SD @ 1%

8
" P

V
C

 S
D

R
3

5

6
"  S

A
N

SUMP

MH SD1

IC

SUMP

1.8M

MH A1

WV

189.50'

FG: 191.50'

2
.5

' C
U

R
B

.

1' CURB.

WV

WV

WV

WV

PP / LS

FH

S
I G

N

RIM ELEV=190.9

MH  'A' SANITARY

RIM ELEV=201.2

MH 'C' STORM

1
9
4
.7

ELEV=197.1

TOP WALL

S
T

O
P

 L
IN

E
P

R
O

P
E

R
T

Y
 L

I N
E

 =
 6

9
.9

1

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E
 =

 6
9

.9
0

G
R

A
S

S

GRASS

GRASS

IRON POST

IRON POST

200 VIT SAN @ 9.1m

350 DI Watermain @ 8 m

6
0

 D
P

 G
A

S
 M

A
I N

1
5
0

 C
I  W

A
T

E
R

M
A

IN
 @

6
.9

m

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

E INV. EL. 182.1
10"Ø

W INV. ELEV

= 191.8

WV

9.5 FT

5
7
.7

6

G
R

A
S

S

G
U

T
T

E
R

/C
U

R
B

 M
M

C
D

 C
5

BY CITY

BY OWNER

6" SD

A
S

P
H

A
L

T
 D

R
IV

E
W

A
Y

9'-10"

STOP LINE

S
L

O
P

E
 2

%
 

2%

WV

IC

1.8M

2.4M

1.8M

1.8M

2.4M

G
R

A
S

S

10m 6" SD @ 1%

8
" P

V
C

 S
D

R
3

5

6
"  S

A
N

SUMP

MH SD1

IC

SUMP

1.8M

MH A1

WV

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Line

Mehrdad Rahbar
Line

Mehrdad Rahbar
Line

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
ADD MORE SOIL C/W CEDAR BARK MULCH

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
BUILD .30 M. DRY SET ROCK WALL WITH RECLAIMED NATIVE ROCKS FROM EXCAVATION

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
LAWN

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
LAWN

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
LAWN

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
LAWN

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
BUILD 0.60 HT.  WALL W/ 150x150 MM. LANDSCAPING TIES ALONG THE PROPERTY LINE 

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
NO PEDESTRIAN ACCESS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Rectangle

Mehrdad Rahbar
Line

Mehrdad Rahbar
Typewritten Text
KEEP

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
1 M. WIDE PERMEABLE WALKWAY BTWN. SIDEWALK AND STREE: PREFAC. CONCRETE SLABS IN-LAID IN GRASS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Callout
1 M. WIDE PERMEABLE WALKWAY BTWN. SIDEWALK AND STREE: PREFAC. CONCRETE SLABS IN-LAID IN GRASS

Mehrdad Rahbar
Cloud



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884 Document: 2109908-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8884 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884” (Ardeshir Behmerdi / 2357 Western Holdings Ltd., 
2357 Western Avenue, CD-742). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-742 (Comprehensive Development 742 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 C of Lot A 215 545 15993 from RS-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-741 
Comprehensive Development 741 Zone”: 

 
“CD-742 Comprehensive Development 742 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-741 Comprehensive 

Development 741 Zone”: 
 

“CD-742 Comprehensive Development 742 Zone” 
 

In the CD-742 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RG-2 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) Section 562(1) Purpose and (5) Density shall not apply and are replaced with the 

following: 
 

Gross Floor Area shall not exceed 0.75 FSR; 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2021, No. 8884 Document: 2109908-v1 

(2) Siting shall be as in the RG-2 Zone, except that: 
 

(a) Principal Buildings shall not be sited less than 1.2 metres (4.0 feet) from 
the Interior Side Lot Line; 

 
(b) Accessory Buildings shall be sited not less than 0.6 metres (2.0 feet) from 

the Rear Lot Line. 
 

 
READ a first time on the 22nd day of November, 
2021. 

READ a second time on the 22nd day of 
November, 2021. 

READ a third time on the 13th day of December, 
2021. 

APPROVED pursuant to section 52(3)(a) of the 
Transportation Act on the 13th day of January, 
2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

















 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Mf ~ ~ 
Deputy Director CAO 
Director 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Margaret Shipley, Parks Planner 1 

DOG FRIENDLY CITY: PHASE 1 ACTIONS 

REPORT 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 12-6120-01-0001/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled "Dog 
Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions": 

THAT the Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions be endorsed; 

AND THAT a scope of work and funding request for Phase 2 be included for 
consideration as part of the 2023-2032 Capital Plan . 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions (CD#2185297) 

2. City GIS Map - Dog Licenses Issued 2021 (CD#2184970) 

3. People+ Pups in the City: What We Heard (CD#21aa22a) 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Council's endorsement of the Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions. The 
action items (Attachment 1 ), are based on a study of existing data, best practice research, 
findings from resident engagement, and an interdepartmental City staff workshop. The 
actions will guide the planning, design and maintenance of spaces shared by people and 
dogs. 

BACKGROUND 

As the population of our City grows, so do the number of dogs. With an urban fabric of 
predominantly multi-family housing and people living in smaller, denser spaces, it is 
important to develop a citywide plan for integrating dogs into the community. Looking 

Document Number: 2184851-v3 



REPORT: Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
Date: June 8, 2022 

beyond the limited areas of parks and opens spaces, a citywide approach will address 
matters of sharing public and private spaces responsibly, for people and dogs in order to 
meet the needs of all residents. 

In winter 2021, a consultant team, Lees and Associates, was retained to assist City staff 
in developing the first phase of the plan. The purpose of Phase 1 was to gain an 
understanding of the existing challenges, successes and opportunities and develop a 
comprehensive set of recommendations. The recommendations provide a framework to 
guide the City of North Vancouver's decisions over the next ten years to improve facilities 
and services for people and dogs. 

DISCUSSION 

The Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions are a result of bringing together multiple sources 
of information including: 

• Analysis of existing City services, facilities, programs and policies; 
• An interdepartmental workshop and discussion with City staff; engagement with 

broad participation from the public; 
• On site evaluations of dog amenities, streetscapes, and City parks with an animal 

behaviour and welfare scientist; and 
• A review of policies and initiatives from other jurisdictions, and current best 

practice research. 

Analysis of Existing Services and Facilities 

City staff developed maps of existing City services and facilities using the most recent 
City GIS data (including Attachment 2). Key findings are described below. 

• There is a lack of dog-friendly public spaces in the Lower Lonsdale neighbourhood. 
• The overall number of licensed dogs in the City is increasing, and Lower Lonsdale 

has the greatest density of licensed dogs. 
• There are many parks and public spaces where dogs are currently prohibited. 
• Dog complaints are highest in areas without off-leash areas. 
• Dog waste diversion rates are increasing. 

These key findings, in addition to site visits with an animal behaviour and welfare scientist, 
helped the project team to understand trends as well as the challenges and opportunities 
of people and dogs sharing spaces in the City of North Vancouver. 

Public Engagement and Findings 

In order to gather community feedback, an online public engagement campaign, titled 
"People + Pups in the City" was initiated from February 9, 2022 to February 28, 2022. 
The intent was to reach a broad group of residents with and without dogs to gather 
comments on what is working well and what can be improved when sharing public spaces 
with dogs. While the COVID-19 pandemic prevented in-person engagement events, on
site information boards, postcards and posters were distributed in parks, plazas and on 

Page 2 of 5 



REPORT: Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
Date: June 8, 2022 

trails throughout the City to maximize awareness and promote opportunities for people to 
provide input. A total of 1,366 digital surveys were completed with 72.2% identified as 
dog owners and 27.8% as non-dog owners. Attachment 3, titled "People + Pups in the 
City: What We Heard" provides a summary of the on line campaign results. 

What We Heard: Dog Owners and Non-Dog Owners 

The top challenges of dogs in open spaces was managing dog waste and keeping off
leash activity to designated off-leash (leash optional) areas. Safety concerns for humans 
was a top challenge for non-dog owners while dog owners expressed concerns for their 
pet's safety. 

Both non-dog owners and dog owners strongly agreed that dogs are a welcome part of 
the community and that off-leash areas should be separated from other park activities. 
with a clear boundary such as fencing. They agreed that dog off-leash areas help reduce 
conflicts between park visitors with and without dogs. Non-dog owners felt there should 
be more enforcement of dog activity while dog owners thought there should be more 
places for dogs to be off-leash . Participants also expressed a desire for more education 
and/or signage for dog owners. 

What We Heard: Dog Owners 

Most dog owners are willing to walk 10-20 minutes to get to an off-leash dog area. The 
most important factors in deciding to use a designated dog off-leash include: 

• Availability of open areas for dogs to run; 
• Availability of dog waste bins and its proximity to their residence; and 
• Area/size of the park. 

The most important factors in deciding not to use a designated off-leash area were: 

• Other dogs' behaviour; 
• Park being too busy; and 
• Areas not large enough for running and fetching. 

When asked the reasons why owners let their dogs off-leash outside of designated off
leash areas, the top responses were that they needed more space for their dog to 
exercise, the existing off-leash areas are too crowded, and because it is more convenient. 

It is important to note that over 50% of dog owner respondents live in multi-family 
residences with over 75% indicating there were no private dog-friendly amenities provided 
by the residential building exclusively for building occupants. As a result, these dogs are 
typically taken to City property, sidewalks, and trees to relieve themselves. 

While almost 90% of owners responded that their dog is licensed, the top reasons for 
owners not having a license for their dogs was that they either did not know it was required 
or that they did not feel it was necessary. 

Page 3 of 5 



REPORT: Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
Date: June 8, 2022 

What We Heard: Non Dog Owners 

When non-dog owners were asked which dog-friendly open spaces caused them the 
most concern, the top responses were the trails in Mosquito Creek, Lynnmouth and 
Mahon Park. When considering the rise in dog ownership, almost half of non-dog owners 
feel the City should increase investment in planning, designing, and maintaining spaces 
in the community for people and dogs to co-exist and enjoy. Enforcement was indicated 
as the top priority for investment. 

Phase 1: Action Item Framework 

The results of the public engagement, staff workshop, research and analysis revealed 
challenges and opportunities for people and dogs. The priority ratings of the Dog Friendly 
City: Phase 1 Actions (Attachment 1) take into account these key findings and the Action 
Items are summarized into recommendations under four main themes: 

• People covers the importance of communicating and educating the public on how 
people and dogs can share parks, trails, streets and open spaces. Under the two 
topics of expectations and involvement, the Actions recommend development of a 
comprehensive communication plan for dog related information including signage, 
responsible dog ownership expectations, and public feedback opportunities. 

• Management covers the City's role in managing the safety of people and dogs in 
the City. Under the topics of regulations, enforcement, maintenance and mitigation, 
the Action Items cover major items including the bylaw enforcement, licensing 
compliance, 'Education First' approach, waste management, and the impact of dogs 
on wildlife and the environment. 

• Planning covers how the City can best plan to meet the pressures of a growing 
urban dog population, together with other municipalities and organizations. Under 
the topics of access and connectivity, the Actions include providing new off-leash 
areas, dog amenities on private property and contribute to a North Shore network of 
dog friendly spaces including equal distribution of relief opportunities in high-density 
neighbourhoods. 

• Design covers the elements and features of dog amenities for the safety of both 
people and dogs with and without dogs. The Actions cover major items including 
boulevard and off-leash area typologies, amenities and features, and accessibility 
considerations. 

NEXT STEPS 

Phase 2: Implementation 

Phase 2 will build upon the Actions framework and further develop a plan for 
implementation to: 

• Identify and action quick wins; 

Page 4 of 5 



REPORT: Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions 
Date: June 8, 2022 

• Determine priority timelines and resources; 
• Work together with the District of North Vancouver to look at a regional approach; 
• Focused engagement with the public and stakeholders on the implementation of 

priority recommendations including: 
o Education campaigns to promote responsible dog ownership; 
o Identifying new opportunities for off-leash and/or dog relief zones in 

underserved areas; 
o Design typologies, management and access; and 

• Compile phase 1 and phase 2 into the final Dog Friendly City plan for 
endorsement by Council. The plan will guide the City of North Vancouver's 
decisions over the next 10 years for developing safe and active spaces for 
people and dogs and improve facilities and services. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

As part of the City's COVID-19 Safe Restart Phase 2 grants, Council approved a $50,000 
budget to prepare the first phase of a Dog Friendly City plan. This budget was used to 
fund project consultant support, staff time, and engagement costs. 

Should Council support the Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions, staff will prepare a scope 
of work and funding request for phase 2 for consideration in the 2023-2032 Capital Plan. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions will have cross-organizational implications and 
future work may involve coordination with the District of North Vancouver. The proposed 
actions has been reviewed by the City's Policy and Projects Team and Leadership Team. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 Actions are intended to support recommendations in the 
City's Parks Masterplan (2010) regarding off-leash dog areas and the City's Official 
Community Plan (2014) Goa/ 5.1: Expand the integrated system of parks and greenways 
throughout the City as articulated in the Parks Master Plan. These Action Items also 
support current work on the City's Community Wellbeing Strategy to "connect people with 
each other and with day-to-day needs closer to where we live." and the Climate & 
Environment Strategy's goals to "live in reciprocity with nature" and "We are influential 
and accountable together". 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Parks Planner 1 

Page 5 of 5 



ACTIONS

Dog Friendly City:
Phase 1 Actions
June 2022

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



PEOPLE: Covers the importance of communicating and 
educating the public on how people and dogs can share 
parks, trails, streets and open spaces. Under the two topics of 
expectations and involvement, the Actions include signage, 
responsible dog ownership expectations, and public feedback 
opportunities.

PEOPLE

EXPECTATIONS

INVOLVEMENT

PRIORITY

PRIORITY

1  f Develop a comprehensive City-wide communication plan for dog-related 
information. 

1

2  f Establish clear, consistent, and easy to read signage standards and ensure 
signage is located at all main access points to parks, sports fields, trails, and 
leash-optional areas.  

1

3  f Continue to develop the ‘Responsible Dog Ownership’ as a guide for people and 
dogs in the city. 

1

4  f Provide educational programming and opportunities to the public to improve 
safety and mitigate conflict. 

3

5  f Continue to engage the public on site specific projects to understand local 
opportunities and challenges.

2

6  f Provide a range of opportunities for the public to provide feedback on dog-
related programs, amenities, and facilities.  

3

7  f Consider developing a dog owner stewardship program for leash-optional areas. 3



MANAGEMENT: covers the City’s role in managing the safety 
of people and dogs in the City. Under the topics of regulations, 
enforcement, maintenance and mitigation, the Actions 
cover major items including the bylaw, licensing compliance, 
‘Education First’ approach, waste management, and the impact 
of dogs on wildlife and the environment.

MANAGEMENT

REGULATIONS

ENFORCEMENT

MAINTENANCE

MITIGATION

PRIORITY
8  f Continue to ensure the bylaw is consistent, enforceable, and relevant. 1

9  f Work with the District of North Vancouver to align dog related bylaws to the 
greatest extent possible.

2

10  f Implement strategies to increase dog licensing compliance. 1

11  f Develop bylaw and licensing requirements for commercial dog walkers. 2

12  f Continue to educate the public on the benefits of licensing for dog safety and 
how the fees support City services for dogs.

2

13  f Continue to develop and promote the ‘Education First’ approach in mitigating 
issues with the public.

1

14  f Provide more resources and specialized training for enforcement. 1

15  f Continue to expand the red bin and ‘Poo Fairy’ program. 2

16  f Develop maintenance standards for leash-optional areas for the safety of dogs 
and people.

2

17  f Continue to minimize impacts on wildlife and the environment. 1

18  f Continue to increase public knowledge about the impacts of dogs on wildlife and 
the environment.

1



PLANNING

ACCESS 

CONNECTIVITY 

PLANNING: Covers how the City can best plan to meet the 
pressures of a growing urban dog population in the City, 
together with other municipalities and organizations. Under 
the topics of access and connectivity, the Actions include 
providing new leash-optional areas, dog amenities on private 
property and contribute to a North Shore network of dog 
friendly spaces.

PRIORITY

19  f Ensure the increasing dog population is considered in all future planning and 
policies across all relevant City departments

1

20  f Continue to identify new opportunities for leash-optional areas in underserved 
areas.

1

21  f Consider allowing leash-optional uses during designated hours in underutilized 
open spaces.

1

22  f Continue to use pop-up dog parks and temporary installations in key areas until 
permanent solutions can be provided.

2

23  f Encourage private developers to provide dog amenities on private property. 1

24  f Increase connectivity by developing a continuous on-leash network that links to 
leash-optional areas.

1

25  f Consider developing a coordinated dog network with the District of North 
Vancouver.

3



DESIGN

DESIGN: Covers the elements and features of dog 
amenities, including leash-optional areas, for the safety 
of both people and dogs. The Actions cover major items 
including a leash-optional area typology, amenities and 
features, accessibility considerations, and dog friendly 
boulevard typologies. 

PRIORITY

26  f Provide a range of leash-optional types that work within the City’s limited parks 
and open spaces.

1

27  f Design leash-optional areas to follow best practices for the safety of both people 
and dogs.

1

28  f Include universally accessible features where possible given space constraints. 1

29  f Design, prototype and evaluate a set of boulevard typologies to find a more dog 
friendly and maintenance efficient boulevard.

1



Se
aB

us
 F

er
ry

 C
on

ne
cti

on

Heywood
Park

Kings
Mill Walk Park

MacLeod
Park

Hyak
Park

Westview
Park

Mosquito
Creek Park

Chris
Zuehlke

Park

Larson
Park

Mahon
Park

Wagg Creek
Park

W 19th St /
Mahon Ave

Norseman
Park

Skatepark

Eastview
Park

Greenwood
Park

St. Andrews
Ave / E
28th St

Grand
Boulevard

Grand
Boulevard

Ray
Perrault

Park

Sutherland
Ave / E
19th St

Cloverley
Park

Lynnmouth
Park

Chief Dan
George Park

High Place
Park

Derek
Inman Park

Emerald
Park

Chief Mathias
Joe Park

Hamersley
Park

14th St
Civic
Plaza

Victoria
Park

Stella Jo
Dean Plaza

Sam Walker
Park

St Andrews
Park

Ottawa
Gardens

McEvoy
Park

Jack Loucks
Court

Shipbuilders
Square

Chief August
Jack ParkSemisch

Park

Waterfront
Park

Rodger
Burnes
Green

Crickmay
Park

McDougall
Park

Moodyville
Park

Rogers
Plaza

Squamish
Nation

Larson Rd

Bo
ule

va
rd

Cres

E Keith Rd

W Keith Rd

Marine Dr

W 13th St

Lo
ns

da
le

Av
e

W
es

tvi
ew

D
r

E 3rd St

G
ra

n d
B

lv d
E

W Esplanade

Fe
ll 

Av
e

E 29th St

E Esplanade

W 16th St

W 2n
d St

W 1st St

Cotton Rd

E 13th St

Low Level Rd

City of North Vancouver

Dog Licenses
Issued 2021

PUBLISHED: January 18, 2022 

PATH: H:\GISStaff\CNV_Projects\Engineering\Dog_Strategy\
COORDINATE SYSTEM: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 10N

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 100 200 300 400
Meters

FILE: DogLicenseDistribution_2021_with_DogParks_11x17

Legend
Stream

City Boundary

Park

Dog Regulations
Leash Optional

On Leash Only

Prohibited

Concentration of Dog
Licenses Issued in 2021
(2125 Total)

High

Low

** Dogs on-leash only in all:
Greenways and Sidewalks

**Dogs prohibited in areas with:
Creeks, Streams, Ponds, Playgrounds,
Picnic Areas, and Sports Fields

Dog Plaza

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



IN THE CITY

65% 
negative experience  
with a dog or dog owner 

+ 4 paper surveys submitted

1,366  
survey  
submissions

14
story  
contributions

what we heard  
The City engaged with pet owners and residents in February 2022 to obtain feedback  
on dogs, dog-friendly spaces, and dog amenities in the City.
respondents engaged with us on the city’s let’s talk engagement platform:

non-dog owners & dog owners agreed:

top issues:

72.2%
dog  

owners

 27.8% 
non-dog  
owners

183 pins
indicating places of interest 

who we heard

what we heard from non-dog owners 

what we heard

Off-leash areas  
help reduce conflict  
for park visitors 

Managing dog  
waste was  
a top issue

Off-leash  
dogs in leash  
required areas

Top benefits of designated dog off-leash areas:
Off-leash areas should 
be separated from 
other park activities 

BUT overall agree they are  
comfortable and feel safe  
with dogs and have mainly 
positive experiences with  
dogs and dog owners in the City.

AREAS OF CONCERN

•  Mosquito Creek 
•  Lynnmouth area 
•  Mahon Park Trails 

TOP PRIORITY

More investment  
in enforcement 

2.8k
visits to the project page

62  
documents
downloaded

most respondents  
agreed that 

respondents 
report a  

dogs are a welcome  
part of the community

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



1   location      2   size         3   dog amenities

?

IN THE CITY
Learn more at letstalk.cnv.org/pups

dog owners:  
New Designated Off-Leash Areas 
Top 3 important factors:

what we heard from dog owners 

90%90% 
responded that
their dog  
is licensed

75% 
have no dog friendly amenities  
in their building

multi-family living 
respondents 

55% 
live in multi-family  
residences

of dog owner 
respondents 

Almost

Reasons dog owners have NOT  
licenced their dog:

These owners take their dogs  
to City property, sidewalk, tree, 
boulevard, to relieve themselves.

90%+ 
dogs have 
training

dog owners:  
Socializing and Exercising 

dog owners: Home Space

dog owners:  
Existing Off-Leash Areas 
Most popular designated areas to exercise dogs 
were off-leash areas outside of the City, including:

Top 3 issues:

knowledgeable/ 
experienced with 
dog ownership  
when they got their dog

Daily exercise: 
 on-leash on sidewalk

 residential landscapes

 on-leash at local park

Weekly exercise: 

  
on-leash & off-leash  
at in natural areas

   
designated off-leash 
dog trails

Top 3 reasons for 
letting dogs off-leash 
in on-leash areas:
•  Need more space  

for exercise

•  Off-leash areas  
are too crowded

• Convenience

district of  
north vancouver

district of  
west vancouver

city of  
vancouver

MOST POPULAR  
IN THE CITY:

Mosquito Creek Park 
designated trail

Owners not 
cleaning up  
dog waste

Areas too  
far away  
from home

Lack of  
water  
for dogs

2 31

• Didn’t know it’s legally required                    
• Didn’t feel it was necessary

Other reasons:  
Young puppies, difficulty with the  
licensing process, forgot, concerned  
with how licensing fees would be used.

Top 3 factors impacting use of off-leash areas:

• Other dogs’ behaviour
• Too busy
•  Not large enough for  

running/fetching

http://letstalk.cnv.org/pups


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



<? (A 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 

REPORT 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 01-0640-20-0001 /2021 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled "2021 Annual Municipal Report" : 

THAT the 2021 Annual Municipal Report be approved. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. 2021 Annual Municipal Report (CityDoc#2189251 ) 

BACKGROUND 

The Community Charter requires that municipalities prepare an Annual Municipal Report 
("AMR") prior to June 30 of each year. Section 98(2) of the Community Charter states the 
content to be included in the AMR, including: 

• Audited annual financial statements for the previous year; 
• Permissive tax exemptions provided by Council; 
• Information on municipal services and operations for the previous year; 
• Any declarations of Council disqualifications made in the previous year, and 
• A statement of future municipal objectives/measures. 

The City's draft 2021 AMR also includes information to provide readers with additional 
insight and transparency into the City's activities and performance. 

Document Number: 2188763 Vl 



REPORT: 2021 Annual Municipal Report 
Date: June 8, 2022 

DISCUSSION 

The City's 2021 AMR builds upon its 2020 AMR, with the following additions: 
• A Letter from the Chief Administrative Officer that highlights key successes from 

2021; 
• A Summary of Council's Strategic Plan and progress measures in select areas, 

including awards the City received in the previous year; 
• 2022 Corporate Business Plan Outcomes and Initiatives; 
• Financial grants received from outside agencies that support City priorities; 
• Letter of Transmittal from the CFO providing a high level overview of the City's 

financial statements; and 
• Select financial trends over the past 5 years 

The City's 2021 AMR was posted on the City website on June 3, 2022 with an on-line 
form to capture public comments. Public Notice for the 2021 AMR was published in the 
North Shore News on June 8 and 15, 2022. As at the date of this report, the City has not 
received any comments from the public. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Production of the 2021 AMR is funded within the City's operating budget. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The AMR is prepared by the City's Finance and Community & Partner Engagement 
Departments in collaboration with all City departments and shared services agencies. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The City's AMR supports the 2022 Corporate Business Plan Corporate Outcome to be 
"An Open & Engaged Organization". 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 2 of 2 



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
CNV.ORG

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



* ^

.

*

u■ '"it

L



Message from the Mayor 2

Message from the CAO 3

Organizational Chart 4

City Council 5

City Councils’ Strategic Plan 6

2021 Corporate Business Plan Outcomes 7-9

2021 Awards and Grants 10

2022 Corporate Business Plan Initiatives 11-12

DEPARTMENTAL OVERVIEWS
Offices of the Chief Administrative Officer,
City Clerk’s and Mayor 13

Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative
Officer/Strategic & Corporate Services 13

Community and Partner Engagement 14

Engineering, Parks and Environment 15

Finance 15

Planning and Development 16

City of North Vancouver Fire Department 16

RCMP 17

City of North Vancouver Library 17

North Van Recreation & Culture Commission 18

North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission 18

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 19
Letter of Transmittal 20-23

Assessed Values – General Taxable Values 24

Surplus, Accumulated Surplus & Net Financial Assets 24

Taxes, Major Levies & Other Government Collections 25

Revenues by Source 25

Capital Expense by Function 26

Expense by Object 26

Statement of Management Responsibility 27

Auditor’s Report 28

Statement of Net Financial Assets 29

Statement of Financial Position 30

Statement of Operations 31

Statement of Change In Net Financial Assets 32

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 33

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 34-50

Schedule A Covid-19 Safe Restart Grant 51

2021 Permissive Tax Exemptions 52

Declaration of Disqualifications 53

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 1



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER2

Cities are about the people. That’s why the people who live, work, and play in our community are 
at the heart of our decision-making. 

I am proud that the City has always been a place that anyone can call home. We are delivering new 
child care spaces, a range of new housing options, park enhancements, and more that will make 
our community a people-friendly place. 

2021 was another busy year and much was accomplished to advance us as an inclusive, vibrant, 
prosperous, connected, sustainable, and healthy community for all. 

When people think of the City they imagine the SeaBus, the Quay and now, the Shipyards. Over 
the past year there was not a single day where this space wasn’t animated and lively. We’re happy 
to welcome markets, concerts, festivals, art installations, the return of ice skating, the summer 
splash park, and more. There is truly something for everyone at our waterfront. Lower Lonsdale 
has become our arts and culture precinct in the City as we also celebrated the opening of the new 
North Vancouver Museum.

The City made history in 2021 by launching the first ever electric bike share program in B.C. 
Expanding transportation options has long been a priority for the City as it will enhance the 
movement of all goods and people. The City, in partnership with other municipalities and First 
Nations governments, launched North Shore Connects to advance Burrard Inlet Rapid Transit as 
well as other key upgrades to the transportation network. We’ve also invested in new mobility 
lanes, expanded our sidewalk network, and completed key safety upgrades for all road users.

In 2021 we eased the process of doing business in the City by launching Gateway, a client service 
centre that makes it easy to access information and services related to licences, planning and 
permits. Further, we’ve renewed the Lower Lonsdale Business Improvement Area for another eight 
years and grew the Lower Lonsdale Brewery District. We are working hard to ensure that the City is 
supporting local business and is the clear choice for future investment.

Extreme weather events of the past year have made it clear climate change is a problem we cannot 
ignore. That’s why the City has expanded our urban tree canopy and supported energy-efficient 
home retrofits. We are committed to making the City a liveable and sustainable community for 
generations.

There is much more I could highlight. Our success is thanks to those who work tirelessly each 
and every day to make the City an even better place. This includes staff, volunteers, businesses, 
community groups, and government partners. This Annual Report details our work over the past 
year and I hope you join me in celebrating our progress.

Sincerely,

A MESSAGE FROM OUR MAYOR

Mayor, Linda Buchanan

Linda Buchanan, Mayor



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 3

The City’s Annual Report gives us a chance each year to reflect and report on our progress. As 
one of Metro Vancouver’s most sustainable municipalities, our team is committed to supporting 
our vision of being the Healthiest City in the World. We strive to meet that vision every day with 
innovative, creative and strategic solutions and initiatives. 

One of our most exciting projects in 2021 was planning for the construction of the City’s largest-
ever infrastructure project – the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre. Now under way, 
the project will include an array of amenities that will deliver exceptional experiences, services and 
programs to all community members. To reduce community impact, we’ve planned for continuous 
services in existing buildings until we can welcome residents and visitors to the new facility, 
anticipated in 2025.

We also continued the strategic transformation of the City’s Waterfront area, which has become a 
great source of pride in our community. The foot of Lonsdale is now complete and offers inviting 
public spaces, integration of the North Shore Spirit Trail, and improved pedestrian, cycling and road 
access. Our award-winning Shipyards is now an interactive, year-round tourist destination offering 
scenic views, an outdoor skating rink in the winter, a splash park in the summer, and event space 
supported by surrounding businesses and public amenities. 

A number of our 2021 projects supported health and well-being in our community. For example, 
during the height of the pandemic, we addressed challenges faced by local businesses and 
encouraged community connection.

We also launched our first e-bike share system, celebrated the opening of the new Museum of 
North Vancouver, and continued to deliver unique community-centred programs such as PLAY 
CNV, a place-making program that encourages social connection through the creative use of parks, 
squares, streets and plazas. 

At the same time, the City continued to deliver critical public infrastructure projects including the 
Esplanade Complete Street project, the All Ages & Abilities Mobility bike network, and the Marine 
Drive RapidBus service. Substantial progress was also made on our Housing Action Plan. 

The City of North Vancouver owes its success to the hard work of our staff and Council members. 
We’re proud of the way our team responded throughout the pandemic by being flexible and 
responsive to adjusting how we work and deliver services to our community. Looking ahead, we’ll 
continue to deliver on the City’s priorities and the exciting future that lies ahead for our community.

A MESSAGE FROM OUR CAO

CAO, Leanne McCarthy

Leanne McCarthy, Chief Administrative Officer



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER4

MAYOR &
COUNCIL

CHIEF
ADMINISTRATIVE

OFFICER

City
Library

North Shore
Emergency
Management

Finance

Accounting & Reporting

Administration

Financial Planning

Payroll

Purchasing

Revenue

Internal Control 
& Performance

COUNCILCOUNCIL
MAYOR &
COUNCIL
MAYOR &
COUNCIL

ADMINISTRATIVEADMINISTRATIVEADMINISTRATIVEADMINISTRATIVEADMINISTRATIVE
OFFICER

ADMINISTRATIVE

City
Clerks

Election Services

Records
Management,

Access & Privacy

Engineering,
Parks &
Environment

Administration

Engineering, Planning,
Design & Project

Delivery

Operations

Parks & Environment

Development
Services

Community
& Partner
Engagement

Central Waterfront

Communications

Business &
Community
Partnerships

Administration

North
Vancouver
Museum
& Archives

NV Recreation
& Culture
Commission

RCMP

NV RecreationNV RecreationNV RecreationNV RecreationNV Recreation

Vancouver

Management

Planning &
Development

Transportation

Planning

Building

Administration

Environmental
Sustainability

Strategic
Initiatives

Strategic & Corporate
Planning

Real Estate

Civic Facilities

Project Delivery

Public
Safety

Fire Services

Emergency Planning

Bylaws

Police Support
Services

Information
Technology

Human
Resources

Legal
Services

DEPUTY CHIEF
ADMINISTRATIVE

OFFICER

CITY ORGANIZATIONAL CHART



Council members (left to right): Councillor Tony Valente, Mayor Linda Buchanan, Councillor Tina Hu, Councillor Jessica McIlroy , Councillor Holly Back, 
Councillor Angela Girard, Councillor Don Bell.

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 5

CITY COUNCIL
The City of North Vancouver Council is comprised of mayor and six councillors. The 
current Council members were elected on October 18, 2018 to serve for a four-year 
term. The next General Local Election will take place in October 2022.

Council’s main responsibilities include establishing policies, bylaws, and strategic priorities that benefit the city, and prioritizing 
the establishment of programs and services that are fiscally responsible and maximize overall value for community members.

The day-to-day administration and operation of the City is delegated to the City Chief Administrative Officer and City staff.



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER6

A CITY FOR PEOPLE is 
welcoming, inclusive, safe, 
accessible and supports the 
health and well-being of all.

A CONNECTED CITY
provides active and 
sustainable ways for 
people and goods to 

move to, from and within the 
A LIVEABLE CITY leads the way 

in climate action and acts as a 
steward of the environment for 
future generations.

A VIBRANT CITY is 
where dynamic public 
spaces and places 
provide opportunities 

for connection and enable 
residents to engage with their 
community and celebrate 
their culture and history.

A PROSPEROUS CITY
supports a diverse economy 
by creating an environment 

where new and existing businesses 
can grow and thrive.

COUNCILS’ STRATEGIC PLAN

Council’s Vision is to be “The Healthiest Small City in the World” and they’ve 
identified five key priorities to support this vision and guide their work:

2016 2021

52,898 58,120

population

The City’s population grew by 

5,222 people or 9.9%
from 2016 to 2021. 

population growth

5.2% Metro Vancouver’s
population grew 
slightly slower than 
the provincial average 

The North Shore
grew by

with the City having the largest 
share of population growth

private dwellings

The number of private dwellings in the City increased 

by 2,595 or 9.8% from 2016 to 2021.

26,426

2016

29,021

2021

DID YOU KNOW?



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 7

Each year the City tracks priority 
corporate outcomes and 
initiatives as part of the Corporate 
Business Plan process.

A Functional
Community

An
 Environmentally

-Responsible
Community

A Vibrant
Community

A Healthy &
Welcoming
Community

A Safe & Secure
Community

Healthiest Small City

A Connected
& Accessible
Community

A Prosperous
Community

COUNCIL STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

A
Co

nnected City A Liveable City
A

VibrantCity

ACityforPeople

A
Pr

os
pe

ro
us

Ci
ty

V ISION

A
FI

SC
AL

LY
-R

ES
PO

NSIB
LE ORGANIZATION AN OPEN & ENGAGED

ORGAN
IZATIO

N
A

D
YN

AM
IC

ORGANIZATION

ACOOPERATIVE&COLLABORATIV
E

ORG
AN

IZ
AT

IO
N

The HealthiestThe Healthiest
A SAFE & SECURE COMMUNITY
We provide a safe and secure 
community where homes and 
business are well protected, personal 
information is secured and the City is 
prepared to respond to and recover 

from emergencies and disasters.

• Complete a Fire Services Master Plan

• Collaborate with NSEM and the other North Shore communities to renew the North Shore Emergency 
Management Strategy

A HEALTHY & WELCOMING COMMUNITY
We provide an inclusive environment where diversity is respected and celebrated, and community 
members are supported and connected.
• Commence Phase 2 of the Community Recreation Strategy

• Advance the Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre Redevelopment

• Participate in the North Shore Homelessness Action Project

A CONNECTED & ACCESSIBLE COMMUNITY 
We build and maintain roads, streets, sidewalks and pathways that are well-connected and 
integrated to enable the safe and efficient movement of people and goods by a variety of modes 
throughout the City and beyond.

• Continue to expand active transportation in the City

• Launch the E-bike share pilot program

• Complete Economic Impact Assessment for Burrard Inlet Rapid Transit

2021 CORPORATE BUSINESS PLAN 
OUTCOMES



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER8

A FUNCTIONAL COMMUNITY
We provide plans, policies, bylaws and the organizational capacity to protect and enhance the 
look, feel and utility of the community.

• Complete the Community Well-Being, Mobility and Environment Strategies

• Initiate development process review including targeted bylaw changes

• Update transportation requirements for new development

A VIBRANT COMMUNITY
We create public spaces that are vibrant and exciting, and give people the opportunity to gather, 
grow and connect through positive experiences.

• Support the opening of the new Museum of North Vancouver

• Expand and improve the Open Streets Initiative and Place-Making Activations

• Initiate the Waterfront Park Master Plan 

AN ENVIRONMENTALLY RESPONSIBLE COMMUNITY
We protect our environmental assets, address climate change through policies and action, and 
steadily reduce the impact of municipal operations on the natural environment.

• Collaborate on a plan to migrate Lonsdale Energy Corporation to renewable energy sources

• Expedite the implementation of the Electric Vehicle Strategy

• Support and promote the Park Stewards Program

• Update the Green Building Policy for Civic facilities  

A PROSPEROUS COMMUNITY
We encourage a prosperous and thriving economy by attracting new business and supporting 
existing businesses.
• Review and update the City’s Economic (Investment) Strategy

• Support and participate in economic partnerships in the region  

A FISCALLY RESPONSIBLE ORGANIZATION
We are a leader in promoting transparent fiscal sustainability and accountability.

• Implement a new Asset Management Strategy

• Review the City’s Long-Term Property Tax Strategy

• Improve the integration of the City’s business and financial planning processes 



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 9

AN OPEN & ENGAGED ORGANIZATION
We are actively and consistently engaging our residents and stakeholders using a variety of 
platforms on City projects, programs, services and infrastructure.

• Implement a public engagement framework for all programs and projects

• Explore new initiatives for public input related to Council meetings

A COOPERATIVE & COLLABORATIVE ORGANIZATION
We work with a wide range of partners to continually improve the delivery of programs, services 
and infrastructure within the City.

• Support Metro Vancouver Board’s regional management and action plans

• Support the NXSTPP Steering Committee and implement 2021 priorities

• Support the implementation of the RCMP, NSEM, NVCL and NVRC Strategic and Corporate Plans

• Strengthen relationships with local Indigenous communities and our urban Indigenous population

A DYNAMIC ORGANIZATION
We are recognized as a top, innovative employer where there is a well-established culture of 
learning and continuous improvement.

• Review and update City’s Human Resources Policies and Strategies

• Expand online City services including CityServe, CityFix and CityView

• Review and update City’s Training, Education and Development Programion

An update on 2021 Outcomes was provided in a report to Council on March 8, 2022. Visit cnv.org/BusinessPlan2021Outcomes.



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER10

2021 AWARDS
The City is consistently recognized for demonstrating our innovation and leadership 
in the areas of sustainability, climate action and planning excellence.

Climate and Energy Action Award – Climate Adaptation - North Shore Sea Level Rise Risk Assessment and Adaptive 
Management Strategy (with municipal and partner agencies, and Squamish First Nation) | Community Energy Association

Award for Excellence in Policy Planning (Silver) – Safe Mobility Strategy | Planning Institute of British Columbia

Community Project Award – The Shipyards | British Columbia Economic Development Association

Excellence on the Waterfront Awards – Top Honours - The Shipyards | The Waterfront Center

Ecclesiastical Insurance Cornerstone Award – Transformative Projects - The Shipyards | National Trust for Canada

2021 GRANTS
The City applies for grants to support a variety of programs and services that 
benefit the community and take the financial burden off of taxpayers.

GRANT PROJECT AMOUNT FROM

2021 Traffic Signal Safety Upgrades $35,000.00 ICBC

2021 – Traffic Calming Implementation $20,000.00 ICBC

2021 – New Traffic Signal Construction: Moody at 3rd St $50,000.00 ICBC

2021 – St Andrews Safety Upgrades $20,000.00 ICBC

2021 – UPS Upgrades at 13 Traffic Signals $32,500.00 ICBC

W1st St Mobility Corridor $35,000.00 ICBC

Transit Corridor Traffic Signal Detection Upgrades $32,880.00 Translink

Esplanade Complete Street $476,000.00 Translink

Esplanade Complete Street $235,000.00 Translink

Esplanade Complete Street $600,000.00 Translink

Esplanade Complete Street $84,000.00 Translink

Esplanade Complete Street $400,000.00 Translink

2021 – E Grand Blvd & E 13th St – Installation of
new wheelchair loading pad $2,500.00 Translink (Coast Mountain Bus Company)

2021 – E Grand Blvd & E 15th St – Installation of
new wheelchair loading pad $2,500.00 Translink (Coast Mountain Bus Company)

Fuel Management Prescriptions, Treatment
and Training $50,000.00 UBCM – Comm. Resiliency Investment Prog. 2021

Service delivery focused grant for homeless population
(Lead applicant – partnered with North Shore municipalities) $1,900,000.00 UBCM

Improving Permits Processing $470,000.00 UBCM



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 11

CITY DEPARTMENTS (LEAD)

Clerks

Community & Partner Engagement

Engineering, Parks & Environment

Finance

Fire

Planning & Development

Strategy & Corporate Services

We provide a safe and 
secure community where 
homes and business are 
well protected, personal 
information is secured 
and the City is prepared to 
respond to and recover from 
emergencies and disasters.

We provide an inclusive 
environment where diversity 
is respected and celebrated, 
and community members are 
supported and connected.

We build and maintain roads, 
streets, sidewalks and pathways 
that are well-connected and 
integrated to enable the 

of people and goods by a 
variety of modes throughout 
the City and beyond.

A Safe & Secure
Community

A Healthy & Welcoming 
Community

A Connected & 
Accessible Community

We provide plans, policies, 
bylaws and the organizational 
capacity to protect and 
enhance the look, feel and 
utility of the community.

A Functional 
Community

■ Implement the Community 

■ Implement NVCFD Service 
Priority Plan outcomes

■ Establish Joint Rescue 
Task Force with RCMP 
and DNV Fire

■ Advance the development 
of the overall Harry 
Jerome program 

■ Deliver a North Shore 
Poverty Reduction Strategy 

■ Support expanded 
child care options 

■ Complete the Community 
Wellbeing Strategy

■ Complete the construction 
of the Esplanade 
Complete Street project

■ Complete public 
engagement and 
design of the Upper 
Levels Greenway 

■ Improve the comfort 
and safety of all roadway 
users in priority locations 
throughout the City 

■ Complete the 
Mobility Strategy

■ Facilitate the 2022 
General Local Election 

■ Continue to update 
transportation and 
mobility requirements 
for new developments

■ Complete development 
process review including 
targeted bylaw change

■ Advance policy actions 
to support and deliver 

community amenities

2022 CORPORATE BUSINESS PLAN INITIATIVES



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER12

We create public spaces that 
are vibrant and exciting, and 
give people the opportunity 
to gather, grow and connect 
through positive experiences.

We protect our environmental 
assets, address climate change 
through policies and action, 
and steadily reduce the impact 
of municipal operations on 
the natural environment.

We encourage a prosperous 
and thriving economy by 
attracting new business and 
supporting existing businesses.

A Vibrant
Community

An Environmentally-
Responsible Community

A Prosperous 
Community

We are a leader in promoting 

and accountability.

A Fiscally-Responsible 
Organization

■ 
initiative and place-
making activations 

■ Support the North Shore 
Neighbourhood House 
Hub partners to deliver 
health services and 

■ Implement new park 
recreation shelters 

■ Complete Phase 1 of 
the Dog Strategy

We are actively and 
consistently engaging our 
residents and stakeholders 
using a variety of platforms 
on City projects, programs, 
services and infrastructure.

We work with a wide range 
of partners to continually 
improve the delivery of 
programs, services and 
infrastructure within the City.

We are recognized as a top, 
innovative employer where 
there is a well-established 
culture of learning and 
continuous improvement.

An Open & Engaged 
Organization

A Cooperative 
& Collaborative 

Organization
A Dynamic 

Organization

■ Implement a public 
engagement framework 
for all programs 
and projects

■ Continue the 
modernization of 
development applications

CITY DEPARTMENTS 
(LEAD)

Chief Administrative 

Clerks

Community & Partner 
Engagement

Engineering, Parks 
& Environment

Finance

Fire

Planning & 
Development

Strategy & Corporate 
Services

■ Support and expand the 
City’s urban forest canopy 

■ Continue actions to reduce 
the City’s carbon footprint

■ Foster community-
based environmental 
stewardship

■ Complete the Envionment 
& Climate Strategy

■ Complete and 
implement the City’s 
Economic Strategy

■ Support and participate 
in economic partnerships 
in the region

■ Advance the Shipyards 
vision and plan

■ Advance development of a 

■ Establish team to 
provide Business 
Partnership support 
to the organization

■ Implement Asset 
Management Strategy

■ Support the North 
Shore Connects 
Steering Committee and 
implement priorities

■ Expand the work 
of the CNV Public 
Safety Committee

■ Collaborate on the North 
Shore Homelessness 
Action Initiative

■ Strengthen relationships 
with local Indigenous 
communities and urban 
Indigenous population

■ Expand online City services 
including CityServe, CityFix 
and parking permits

■ Expand the Gateway 
desk towards a City-wide 
client service model

■ Develop an Equity, 
Diversity & Inclusion 
Framework 



13

:\T,
IVmi *T

m'
' v#*l

a , j ^

■■•, vj'

Hig
. -tlf

-• “
[?•-ft

^;\3iil
1 .1*

v"
' -- AJ

■i-

iM* r5
' ; ’

NF>£
-■;

**.' ~ 
v '

^Sv

^T-
r_

■jJ- -.: . VEtUSK
■■‘‘v-1-

r.i
v

r . §lW
aBrs'-'-'fe

:
«»

' W;
■ •' •;ts&Z*.ms 1^b

ii
^ r

,>-j■' -.
/] \

»r:7 ..vtK

(cra-.f^
r”.'!

s'f f ■*?*^1 :'- :•"

■WjS^&rm3*
■-

5 ^7 [‘

II

t"*'

i-J
?T^

*.
■r

W\&^'4 ■'>• f^■'- ' «i

rS

■ •’""

*»'■R-

•:i

k ■ ■-

**

m 'immm
Ti?» Xf

>
"•-Y3. < •;'

mmm,a^i r*-

gs

■V

P
■> v

-.!»-••
-j |*rAi ■

x<
<■W^i grfe

K-11-
-;■

b.,"..-H«.''

Strio;-'

s.
I

i.

l i.jjj
a-*'

k*

JSBBSSFV^'fr '..............:v' - ■ '“-:-^:-f=^;WmBfeiabl7;

s m
f-li'i'-K

B51^1K*', ' HS^.? J
5?^i!

-. v>-:
L.WsS£?-

?. ' ' >;< •
BS

_ 
■ -■»

-•Wivft ••••-:.. ' :DB.. U 'K^Ci -.mzm?-'-
Vi. 'S9'*Zx:

*v sJm •' ^ • * jz?*T



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER14

DEPARTMENTAL OVERVIEWS

OFFICES OF THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER, CITY CLERK’S AND MAYOR
The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is appointed by and reports to City Council, and oversees the overall administration 
of the City and ensures the strategic direction for the City’s short and long-term corporate objectives are achieved. The CAO 
executes the policy decisions of City Council, leads senior staff and 
ensures all departments adhere to the highest standards of service 
and accountability.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• The Mayor’s Office provides administrative, communications and 
research support to the Mayor

• The City Clerk’s office prepares Council and Committee meeting 
agendas and minutes, administers City bylaws, interprets legislation, 
administers local elections and manages corporate records, 
coordinates Committees of Council, protects privacy and access for 
information requests

OFFICE OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER/
STRATEGIC & CORPORATE SERVICES
The Office of the Deputy Chief Administrative Officer/Strategic & Corporate Services Department creates and maintains 
critical support services for the organization, and delivers vibrant public facilities. 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Lead large scale public development projects 

• Provide a complete range of real estate, facilities management services for City-owned and City-leased properties and
building assets

• Provide legal advice to Council, staff and prepare legal agreements

 • Provide progressive, client-focused Human Resources services 

• Support Council and Corporation with strategic and business
   planning services

• Deliver customer-focused technology services for solutions

DIVISIONS

• Strategic Initiatives

• Civic Facilities

• Real Estate

• Legal Services 

• Human Resources

• Information Technology



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 15

COMMUNITY AND PARTNER ENGAGEMENT
Community and Partner Engagement takes direction from Mayor and Council, the Official Community Plan, the Economic 
Development Strategy, and other civic policies provide excellent customer service.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Communications and Public Engagement

• Economic Development and Tourism

• Film and Special Events

• Business Licensing and Compliance

• Shipyards Skate Plaza and Splash Park

• Shipyards/Waterfront Programming 

• Community partnerships

• Youth and Family Community Development

• Place-making and Public Realm Activation

DIVISIONS

• Communications and Engagement

• Economic Development and Business Services

• Shipyards and Waterfront 

• Administration



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER16

ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT
The Engineering, Parks and Environment Department provides and maintains essential municipal services, public spaces and 
infrastructure.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Planning, design, implementation, operation and maintenance of the transportation network, water distribution, storm 
water, sewage systems, and the collection of garbage and green waste. 

• Community stewardship and environmental programs to enhance our natural assets. 

• Development and maintenance of parks, trails and greenways, and landscaping within the public realm. 

• Engineering servicing related to new development in the City including processing of subdivision applications and 
regulating City right of way use and access.

DIVISIONS

• Engineering Planning and Design 

• Public Realm Infrastructure and Project Delivery

• Operations 

• Development Services

• Parks and Environment

• Administration

FINANCE
The Finance Department provides financial information, advice and direction to Council, City departments and agencies, as 
well as the general public. 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Accounting and Reporting

• Financial Planning

• Taxation

• Internal Control and Performance

• Payroll Administration

• Investments and Purchasing



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 17

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Planning and Development assists Mayor and Council in setting community goals and objectives, creating plans, and 
implementing these plans through policies, regulations and development.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Long range and land use planning

• Community and social planning

• Transportation planning

• Environmental planning and sustainability

• Development planning

• Building permits

• Zoning administration

• Code interpretation and regulation

• Construction approvals

DIVISIONS

• Building

• Planning

• Transportation 

• Environmental Sustainability

• Administration

PUBLIC SAFETY

FIRE DEPARTMENT
The North Vancouver City Fire Department (NVCFD) is committed to protecting life, property, and the environment and 
works to ensure the safety of all who work and live in the community through emergency response and public education and 
outreach.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Administration 

• Operations and Support

• Fire Prevention and Public Education

• Emergency Management and Planning

• Public Safety and Community Service



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER18

RCMP
The North Vancouver RCMP serves and
protects citizens of the City.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Municipal Traffic Enforcement

• Investigative Services

• Crime Reduction and Prevention

• Community Policing

• Youth Intervention

• Mental Health Integrated Outreach Team

• Integrated First Nations Unit

BYLAW SERVICES
• Educate the community about bylaws

• Enforce fairly and consistently

• Resolve any conflicts in a collaborative way

NORTH VANCOUVER CITY LIBRARY
The Library supports lifelong learning and community development 
with free and equitable access to information and ideas.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Programming and resources to support literacy development and 
lifelong learning

• Robust physical and digital collections 

• Access to technology, public technology support and digital 
literacy

• Provision of spaces for study, collaboration, creation and discovery



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 19

NORTH VANCOUVER RECREATION AND CULTURE COMMISSION
The Recreation & Culture Commission is an entity established through a partnership between the City of North Vancouver 
and the District of North Vancouver. Its mission is to improve the health and well-being of all North Vancouver individuals, 
families and communities, and inspire residents through quality recreation and arts opportunities.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• Plan and deliver engaging, welcoming and inclusive community 
recreation and arts services, programs and events

• Reduce barriers for participation, and develop and promote 
opportunities to reach underserved populations 

• Operate and maintain community recreation, culture and sport 
facilities, plan for future facility needs and make recommendations 
to the applicable municipality

• Manage public art programs

• Administer, adjudicate and allocate funds through community arts 
grants program and sport and recreation grant programs

• Handle rentals of community recreation and culture facilities, athletic fields, parks and plazas

• Collaborate with and support arts and culture, recreation, sport and community organizations

NORTH VANCOUVER MUSEUM AND ARCHIVES 
COMMISSION
MONOVA (Museum of North Vancouver) oversees the City’s 
cultural, archival and museum collections. 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

• MONOVA operates both the museum at The Shipyards and the Archives of North Vancouver located in Lynn Valley

• Manage and preserve artifacts and records of municipal, historical and cultural significance to the community

• Develop and deliver engaging and compelling interpretative, educational programs and exhibits

• Work with the local community to identify, document and preserve local history and bring it to life 



20

£ V

I

V
i i n

9m w v -a
p

r .
[

1 ' _ri: z l *' ;
H,T. J -
St v 4L_

3

\
'S.T- Zm-

i irufe



The Corporation of the
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For year ending December, 2021

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 21



May 3, 2022

Mayor and Council
The City of North Vancouver

Your Worship and Members of Council,

I am pleased to submit the City of North Vancouver’s Annual Municipal Report for the year 
ended December 31, 2021, as required by Section 98 of the Community Charter.  The purpose 
of the report is to provide readers with a clear understanding of the operations and financial 
position of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver (“the City”).  The report includes the 
City’s annual audited financial statements, a listing of permissive tax exemptions, reporting 
respecting municipal services and operations, and other supplementary information for the 
organization.

The City is a member of the Metro Vancouver Regional District.  Metro Vancouver is the main 
political forum for regional issues, regional planning and the provision of regional scale core 
services.  Metro Vancouver provides potable water, liquid waste treatment and solid waste 
transfer services to the City.

The City has agreements with the District of North Vancouver for the operation of the North 
Vancouver Recreation Commission and the North Vancouver Museum & Archives as well as a 
cost sharing agreement for the North Vancouver RCMP detachment.  The City’s proportionate 
shares of these services are included in the City’s consolidated financial statements.

The City’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 were 
prepared by staff in accordance with Public Sector Accounting Standards as prescribed by the 
Public Sector Account Board (“PSAB”) and were audited by BDO Canada, the City’s appointed 
auditors.  

Financial Overview

1. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

This statement reports the City’s financial assets, non-financial assets and liabilities.  The 
difference between these financial assets and liabilities is the City’s net financial assets.  The 
City’s net financial assets at the end of 2021 are $169.7M an increase of $1.6 million from 2020.  
This figure provides an indicator of the City’s strong financial flexibility.  

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER22

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL



The difference between the City’s total assets and the liabilities is its accumulated surplus,
which provides an indicator of the resources available for future use.  The majority of this
number is made up of equity in capital assets and does not represent a source of funding for
future operations. Accumulated surplus at the end of 2021 is significant, at $633.1M.

Financial Assets

Financial assets decreased $15.2M in 2021 as they were needed to support the City’s capital
plan.

Liabilities

Overall liabilities decreased by $16.8M in 2021, driven by changes in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. School Tax remittance dates returned to normal in 2021 after being delayed
in 2020 due to COVID. By making the School Tax remittance earlier in 2021 than 2020, the
City’s year-end liabilities have been reduced.

Non-financial Assets

Non-financial assets are comprised of the net-book value of tangible capital assets, inventories 
and prepaid expenses. In 2021 non-financial assets increased by $15.2M, primarily due to the
City’s capital spending program.

2. Consolidated Statement of Operations

This statement reports the changes in economic resources and accumulated surplus compared
to budget and prior year.  Annual revenues exceeded annual expenses for the year resulting in
a modest annual surplus of $16.8M, increasing the accumulated surplus to $633.1M.

Revenue

Compared to 2020
Revenues were less than 2020 by $15.4M primarily due to $5.4M in one-time revenues received
in 2020 for the Provincial Safe Restart Grant; and $13.8M less developer delivered tangible
capital assets, the receipt of which fluctuates as large projects are completed.

Compared to Budget
Revenues exceeded budget by $19.0M. Grants realized by the City were $5.1M greater than
plan as the City continues to see success in its pursuit of funding from other governments and
agencies where interests align. Developer contributions and other transfers, an area where the
City is very prudent in its financial planning, was also over budget by $7.9M.

Expenses

Compared to 2020
Consolidated expenses includes the purchase of goods and services, costs for labour, and the
annual costs recognized for the use of tangible capital assets (depreciation) . Expenses in 2021
exceed expenses in 2020 by $8.8M, however, they are consistent with a normalized expense

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 23

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL



pattern. 2020 expenses were lower than typical due to COVID-19 related spending restrictions
that were implemented in response to the uncertainty associated with the pandemic.

Compared to Budget
The consolidated expenses for 2021 are consistent with budgeted expenses.

3. Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

This statement is a measure of whether the revenues raised were sufficient to cover spending
for the year.  The statement begins with the annual surplus from the consolidated statement of
operations and adjusts for transactions relating to the acquisition of tangible capital assets and
non-cash transactions such as depreciation, as well as the acquisition and use of inventories
and prepaid expenses.

The City’s net financial assets increased by modestly in 2021, by $1.6M.

4. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

This statement identifies where cash came from, shows how cash was used, and provides 
details on changes in cash and cash equivalents since the last reporting period. The statement
reports cash flows classified as operating transactions, capital transactions, investing
transactions and financing transactions.

Overall, the City’s cash position decreased by $42.1M in 2021, from $116.7M to $74.6M. Cash
was primarily used to finance the City’s capital investment program ($32.5M) and was needed
to make School Tax remittances earlier than in 2020 and according to previously normal
timelines.

Financial Planning Process

The City’s financial planning process is comprised of several components:
• General Operating Budget
• Capital Plan
• Water, Sewerage & Drainage and Solid Waste Utility Budgets
• Cemetery Operating Budget

The City’s Financial Plans are a reflection of the policies of the City, and the work plans of all
City departments. These Plans are consistent with the requirements of the Community Charter,
support several of the objectives of the City’s 2014 Official Community Plan, and was prepared
with consideration of the 2018-2022 Council Strategic Plan and the City’s Corporate Business Plan. 

Conclusion

The financial results for 2021 continue to reflect Council and staff’s commitment to sound financial
management and provide ongoing support of Council’s Objectives. These results also reflect
Community Charter requirements to manage within a balanced budget framework.

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER24

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL



The City’s favourable financial position is based on a commitment to these goals,
department’s cooperation and participation in financial management.

Sincerely,

Larry Sawrenko
Chief Financial Officer

and reflects each

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 25

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL



26

.1
•>0

__
'• 

I.

m
w

t
%

*>
/
 ■

■H
>

ia
a

:
m

m
am

Si
%>
 

k.
 

m

c%
V

f-

ljnn
\w<

■1
14 ml ii »<

;
]?
 

ill
]3

ir
-

M
l

/
>l.

/ k
.,v

i
\v

 ^
^ 

V
*\

|
+
 

’
1

■

'l
l*

'
 ■ 

Lr
A

y.
I- 

;
rk 

l
:
■

\
'
|

\ 
}

r
1

d
I

H
vm

f
 \

4
 V 

,

m
;p

ti
-.

i
'tl

TO
i I

L'
.'T

-#
.A

M
xm

mm
M

m 
M

 
’/i
 
-1

‘
V

iii
5

■ 
I

199
!

T1
ww

m.
^

;
 

*

M
l
\

 A
W

BM

n
i

ii
a

li
a
i'
t 

■•
 -

2K
ii.

;
B

i
P

I: 
m

 

is 
m km

.
61

-m
i

15
^

| A.

-
f

Iil
I; 
-

m
■

> \
s

M
r

l 
t

i
il
/

1 
?

r 
' A '

j )
M

! «
. 

-!
«4

|
(■

i-
- 

==
 

-I-
P

P
'im

S
j

' I 
'M

M j

IM
YJ

 ,,
tV

il



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 27

Assessed Values – General Taxable Values

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

in
 b

ill
io

ns
 $

$4,966,144,714

$5,476,272,091

$5,159,021,490
$5,476,272,091

$21,346,574,714

$24,317,262,546

$26,525,459,197

$25,437,241,454

$30,291,273,363

TOTALS

2017

2017

2018
2019
2020
2021

SOURCE: City of North
Vancouver Finance
Department

$16,380,430,000 $19,019,259,446 $21,366,437,707 $19,960,969,363 $24,072,132,192

$6,219,141,171

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

LAND

IMPROVEMENTS

(in millions $)
0 100 200 300

$41,134,000

$515,268,000

$131,156,000

$47,458,000

$562,726,000

$157,911,000

$12,628,000

$575,354,000

$158,885,000

$40,971,000

$616,325,000

$168,169,000

$16,784,000

$633,109,000
$169,732,000

400 500 600 700 800

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

SURPLUS ACCUMULATED SURPLUS NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

$56,218,000 $58,775,000 $62,521,000 $65,928,000 $69,056,000

$10,922,000 $10,845,000 $11,694,000 $11,495,000 $12,804,000

$7,318,000 $8,260,000 $9,232,000 $9,668,000 $10,790,000

$3,648,000 $3,331,000 $2,946,000 $2,185,000 $1,787,000

$44,904,000 $47,229,000 $51,453,000 $41,380,000 $55,968,000

PROPERTY TAX

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

WATER
UTILITY FEES

SEWER
UTILITY FEES

SOLID WASTE
UTILITY FEES

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

COLLECTIONS
FOR OTHER
GOVERNMENTS

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

Surplus, Accumulated Surplus and Net Financial Assets



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER28

Taxes, Major Levies and Other Government Collections

(in millions $)
0 100 200 300

$41,134,000

$515,268,000

$131,156,000

$47,458,000

$562,726,000

$157,911,000

$12,628,000

$575,354,000

$158,885,000

$40,971,000

$616,325,000

$168,169,000

$16,784,000

$633,109,000
$169,732,000

400 500 600 700 800

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

SURPLUS ACCUMULATED SURPLUS NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

$56,218,000 $58,775,000 $62,521,000 $65,928,000 $69,056,000

$10,922,000 $10,845,000 $11,694,000 $11,495,000 $12,804,000

$7,318,000 $8,260,000 $9,232,000 $9,668,000 $10,790,000

$3,648,000 $3,331,000 $2,946,000 $2,185,000 $1,787,000

$44,904,000 $47,229,000 $51,453,000 $41,380,000 $55,968,000

PROPERTY TAX

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

WATER
UTILITY FEES

SEWER
UTILITY FEES

SOLID WASTE
UTILITY FEES

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

COLLECTIONS
FOR OTHER
GOVERNMENTS

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

$56,218,000 $58,775,000 $62,521,000 $65,928,000 $69,056,000PROPERTY VALUE TAX

GENERAL GOVERNMENT

$5,797,000 $6,493,000 $4,856,000 $4,949,000 $6,441,000LICENSES + PERMITS

$2,811,000 $2,940,000 $3,204,000 $3,571,000 $3,814,000PARCEL TAXES

$2,100,000 $2,213,000 $2,191,000 $1,874,000 $3,368,000RENT

$5,102,000 $6,418,000 $5,157,000 $4,799,000 $4,678,000FINES + FEES

$26,996,000 $27,767,000 $29,896,000 $26,331,000 $29,672,000SALES OF SERVICES

$5,315,000 $5,924,000 $6,477,000 $6,059,000 $5,589,000INTEREST, DIVIDENDS +
PENALTIES

$9,261,000

$9,862,000

$4,327,000

$1,489,000

$1,742,000

$30,750,000 $31,852,000

$2,292,000

$11,006,000

$32,000

$8,184,000

$4,755,000

$261,000

$2,050,000

$2,888,000

$13,714,000

$0

$26,315,000

$6,421,000

$4,583,000

$241,000

$4,899,000

$3,513,000

$6,609,000

$49,000

$34,303,000

$6,522,000

$14,960,000

$182,000

$3,407,000

$2,890,000

$6,391,000

($49,000)

$32,751,000

$4,484,000

$11,555,000

$2,940,000

$1,321,000

$2,425,000

$9,992,000

$34,000

$10,850,000 $11,276,000 $19,430,000 $12,729,000GRANTS + OTHER

$118,000 $62,000 $58,000 $638,000 $185,000REBATE + RECOVERIES

DEVELOPER
CONTRIBUTIONS + OTHER
TRANSFERS

$28,692,000 $34,856,000 $5,203,000 $25,063,000 $8,200,000

$3,304,000 $1,626,000 ($427,000) (823,000) ($714,000)

$800,000 $580,000 $595,000 $1,238,000 $666,000

$146,514,000 $158,504,000 $131,007,000 $159,057,000TOTAL $143,684,000

LOSS ON DISPOSITION
OF ASSETS

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

LONSDALE ENERGY
CORPORATION INCOME

TRANSPORTATION + TRANSIT

HEALTH, SOCIAL SERVICES + HOUSING

PROTECTIVE SERVICES

PARKS, RECREATION + CULTURE

WATER UTILITIES

SEWER UTILITIES

TOTAL

Revenues by Source



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 29

$56,218,000 $58,775,000 $62,521,000 $65,928,000 $69,056,000PROPERTY VALUE TAX

GENERAL GOVERNMENT

$5,797,000 $6,493,000 $4,856,000 $4,949,000 $6,441,000LICENSES + PERMITS

$2,811,000 $2,940,000 $3,204,000 $3,571,000 $3,814,000PARCEL TAXES

$2,100,000 $2,213,000 $2,191,000 $1,874,000 $3,368,000RENT

$5,102,000 $6,418,000 $5,157,000 $4,799,000 $4,678,000FINES + FEES

$26,996,000 $27,767,000 $29,896,000 $26,331,000 $29,672,000SALES OF SERVICES

$5,315,000 $5,924,000 $6,477,000 $6,059,000 $5,589,000INTEREST, DIVIDENDS +
PENALTIES

$9,261,000

$9,862,000

$4,327,000

$1,489,000

$1,742,000

$30,750,000 $31,852,000

$2,292,000

$11,006,000

$32,000

$8,184,000

$4,755,000

$261,000

$2,050,000

$2,888,000

$13,714,000

$0

$26,315,000

$6,421,000

$4,583,000

$241,000

$4,899,000

$3,513,000

$6,609,000

$49,000

$34,303,000

$6,522,000

$14,960,000

$182,000

$3,407,000

$2,890,000

$6,391,000

($49,000)

$32,751,000

$4,484,000

$11,555,000

$2,940,000

$1,321,000

$2,425,000

$9,992,000

$34,000

$10,850,000 $11,276,000 $19,430,000 $12,729,000GRANTS + OTHER

$118,000 $62,000 $58,000 $638,000 $185,000REBATE + RECOVERIES

DEVELOPER
CONTRIBUTIONS + OTHER
TRANSFERS

$28,692,000 $34,856,000 $5,203,000 $25,063,000 $8,200,000

$3,304,000 $1,626,000 ($427,000) (823,000) ($714,000)

$800,000 $580,000 $595,000 $1,238,000 $666,000

$146,514,000 $158,504,000 $131,007,000 $159,057,000TOTAL $143,684,000

LOSS ON DISPOSITION
OF ASSETS

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

LONSDALE ENERGY
CORPORATION INCOME

TRANSPORTATION + TRANSIT

HEALTH, SOCIAL SERVICES + HOUSING

PROTECTIVE SERVICES

PARKS, RECREATION + CULTURE

WATER UTILITIES

SEWER UTILITIES

TOTAL

Capital Expense by Function

GENERAL GOVERNMENT $16,821,000

$7,161,000

$5,216,000

$8,404,000

$3,945,000

$10,009,000

$26,489,000

$2,718,000

$3,163,000

$23,211,000

$8,866,000

$7,494,000

$11,767,000

$10,871,000

$30,665,000

$2,724,000

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

SOURCE: City of North Vancouver Finance Department

2017

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2018 2019 2020 2021

TRANSPORTATION + TRANSIT

HEALTH, SOCIAL SERVICES + HOUSING

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES

PARKS, RECREATION + CULTURE

WATER UTILITIES

SEWER UTILITIES

SOLID WASTE

$105,380,000 $118,379,000 $126,900,000TOTAL

$24,617,000

$19,293,000

$7,173,000

$5,926,000

$9,139,000

$4,151,000

$9,618,000

$27,790,000

$2,637,000

$111,046,000

$25,319,000

$19,818,000

$8,279,000

$6,340,000

$9,598,000

$4,226,000

$9,964,000

$30,210,000

$2,685,000

$27,259,000

$118,086,000

$22,078,000

$8,317,000

$5,406,000

$10,538,000

$3,951,000

$9,719,000

$28,084,000

$2,764,000

$27,229,000 $28,139,000PROTECTIVE SERVICES

$0M 30 60 90 120 150

Wages + Benefits
Goods +
Supplies Services Depreciation Total

$105,380,000

$111,046,000

$118,379,000

$118,086,000

$126,900,000

Expense by Object



Statement of Management Responsibility

The Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver (“City”) has delegated the responsibility 
for the integrity and objectivity of the financial information contained in the consolidated financial 
statements to the management of the City. The consolidated financial statements which, in part, are 
based on informed judgments and estimates, have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards, which have been applied on a basis consistent with that of 
the preceding year.

To assist in carrying out their responsibility, management maintains an accounting system and internal 
controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with 
authorization, and that financial records are reliable for preparation of financial statements.

The Mayor and Council oversee management's responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal 
control systems. Council annually reviews and approves the consolidated financial statements.

The City’s independent auditors, BDO Canada LLP, are engaged to express an opinion as to whether the 
City's consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial position of 
the City as at December 31, 2021, and the results of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.

The consolidated financial statements have, in management's opinion, been properly prepared within 
reasonable limits of materiality and in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Chief Financial Officer

Larry Sawrenko

May 3, 2022

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER30

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY



Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Mayor and Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
and its controlled entities (the “City”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2021 and the consolidated statement of operations, the consolidated statement of 
changes in net financial assets and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its consolidated 
results of operations, its changes in consolidated net financial assets, its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the City in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Unaudited Information

We have not audited, reviewed, or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
Schedule A of the City's consolidated financial statements.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the City’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the City or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

BDO Canada LLP, a Canadian limited liability partnership, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, and forms part of the 
international BDO network of independent member firms. 

Tel: (604) 688-5421
Fax: (604) 688-5132 
www.bdo.ca 

BDO Canada LLP
Unit 1100 Royal Centre 
1055 West Georgia Street, P.O. Box 11101 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
V6E 3P3

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 31

AUDITOR’S REPORT



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the City’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the City to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the City to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the City audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vancouver, British Columbia
May 3, 2022

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER32

STATEMENT OF NET FINANCIAL ASSETS



2021 2020

FINANCIAL ASSETS
  Cash 74,571$                 116,691$               
  Temporary investments (note 3(a)) 103,526 55,589
  Portfolio investments (note 3(b)) 83,466 102,501
  Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 4) 4,613 3,947
  Due from other governments 3,962 3,872
  Accounts receivable 11,471 11,053
  Loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (note 5) 27,043 26,518
  Interest receivable 8,720 12,418

317,372 332,589

LIABILITIES
  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,680 39,355
  Deferred revenue 34,258 32,132
  Deferred lease revenue (note 13) 49,930 51,925
  Deferred development cost charges 22,072 21,963
  Debt (note 6) 237 465
  Employee future benefits (note 7) 8,386 8,229
  Advances and other liabilities 10,077 10,351

147,640 164,420

NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 169,732 168,169

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
  Tangible capital assets (note 8) 461,087 445,625
  Inventories 746 703
  Prepaid expenses 1,544 1,828

463,377 448,156

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (note 9) 633,109$               616,325$               

Commitments and contingencies (note 10)

Chief Financial Officer
Larry Sawrenko

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statementse accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 33

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION



2021            
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

REVENUE
Property value tax (Note 10 (a)) 68,974$               69,056$               65,928$               
Parcel taxes 3,746 3,814 3,571
Licences and permits 4,203 6,441 4,949
Fines and fees 4,748 4,678 4,799
Rent 2,544 3,368 1,874
Interest, dividends and penalties 2,148 5,589 6,059
Sale of services 30,331 29,672 26,331
Rebate and recoveries 85 185 638
Grants and other 7,591 12,729 19,430
Developer contributions and other transfers 314 8,200 25,063
Loss on disposition of assets - (714) (823)
Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (note 4) - 666 1,238

124,684 143,684 159,057

EXPENSES
General government 21,625 23,211 22,078
Transportation and transit 7,194 8,866 8,317
Health, social services and housing 2,749 2,724 2,764
Development services 7,127 7,494 5,406
Protective services 28,781 28,139 27,229
Parks, recreation and culture 33,051 30,665 28,084
Water utilities 10,795 10,871 9,719
Sewer utilities 11,090 11,767 10,538
Solid waste 3,535 3,163 3,951

Total expenses (note 12) 125,947 126,900 118,086

Annual surplus (1,263) 16,784 40,971

Accumulated surplus beginning of year 616,325 616,325 575,354

Accumulated surplus end of year 615,062$             633,109$             616,325$             

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER34

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS



2021
Budget 2021 2020

(notes 2(i) and 14)

     Annual surplus (1,263)$ 16,784$ 40,971$

     Acquisition of tangible capital assets (69,827) (32,751) (34,303)
     Non-cash developer contributed assets - (737) (14,499)
     Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 213 34
     Depreciation of tangible capital assets 16,800 17,099 16,413
     Loss on disposition of tangible capital assets - 714 823

(53,027) (15,462) (31,532)

     Acquisition of inventories (1,182) (1,156)
     Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (1,591) (1,807)
     Use of inventories - 1,140 1,083
     Use of prepaid expenses - 1,874 1,725

- 241 (155)

     Increase (decrease) in net financial assets (54,290) 1,563 9,284

     Net financial assets, beginning of year 168,169 168,169 158,885

     Net financial assets, end of year 113,879$ 169,732$ 168,169$

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 35

STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver

2021 2020

Cash provided by (used for):

Operating Transactions
     Annual surplus 16,784$ 40,971$

     Items not involving cash:
          Depreciation expense 17,099 16,413
          Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 714 823
          Non-cash developer contributed assets (737) (14,499)
          Lonsdale Energy Corp. income (666) (1,238)
     Changes in non-cash operating items:
          (Increase) decrease in due from other governments (90) 689
          Increase in accounts receivable (418) (2,688)
          Increase in loan to Lonsdale Energy Corp. (525) (895)
          Decrease in interest receivable 3,698 727
          (Decrease) increase  in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (16,675) 14,467
          Increase in deferred revenue 2,126 1,914
          (Decrease) increase in deferred lease revenue (1,995) 51,925
          Increase (decrease) in deferred development cost charges 109 (1,360)
          Increase in accrued employee future benefits 157 79
          Decrease in advances and other liabilities (274) (96)
          Increase in inventories (43) (72)
          Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 284 (83)

19,548 107,077
Capital Transactions
          Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (32,751) (34,303)
          Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 213 34

(32,538) (34,269)
Investing Transactions
          Increase in temporary investments (47,937) (2,595)
          Decrease in portfolio investments 19,035 36,768

(28,902) 34,173

Financing Transactions
          Repayment of long-term debt (228) (219)

(Decrease) increase in cash (42,120) 106,762

Cash, beginning of year 116,691 9,929

Cash, end of year 74,571$ 116,691$

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2021 with comparative figures for 2020
(in thousands of dollars)

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER36

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

1. OPERATIONS

The City of North Vancouver (the “City”) was incorporated in 1907 and operates under the provisions of the Community Charter 
and the Local Government Act of British Columbia. The City’s principal activity is the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation, environmental, recreational, water
and sanitary services.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards, as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”). The significant accounting policies are summarized 
below:

(a) Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all the funds of the City, the accounts of the North Vancouver City 
Library, which is controlled by the City, the City’s 33.94% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City’s 50% proportionate share of the operations of the North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The City’s investment in Lonsdale Energy Corporation (“LEC”), a wholly owned government business enterprise,
is accounted for using the modified equity method.

The City has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Recreation Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. The current 
agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 33.94% (2020 – 33.94%) by the City and 66.06% (2020 – 66.06%)
by the District of North Vancouver.  Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs 
relating to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment.

The City also has an agreement with the District of North Vancouver in the operation and management of the North Vancouver 
Museum and Archives Commission, and the City includes its proportionate share in the City’s consolidated financial statements. 
The current agreement specifies that the operating costs shall be paid 50% (2020 – 50%) by the City and 50% (2020 – 50%) by 
the District of North Vancouver. Each municipality is responsible for its own facilities and pays 100% of all capital costs relating 
to improvement, expansion and replacement of buildings or facility equipment. 

(b) Basis of Accounting

Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis and recognized when earned.  Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and 
measurable as a result of the receipt of goods and services.

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 37

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(c) Revenue Recognition 

Taxes are recognized as revenue in the year that the taxes are authorized, the taxable event occurs and they are considered 
collectible. Through the British Columbia Assessments appeal process, taxes may be adjusted by way of supplementary roll 
adjustments. The effects of these adjustments on taxes are recognized at the time they are awarded.  Levies imposed for 
Regional District services and other taxing authorities are not included. Lease revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

Charges for sewer, water and solid waste usage are recorded as user fees. Connection fees revenues are recognized when the 
connection has been established.

Sale of service and other revenue are recognized on an accrual basis.

(d) Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue consists of prepaid property taxes, prepaid business licenses, and fees paid in advance for services yet to be
provided.

(e) Deferred Lease Revenue

Deferred lease revenue consists of funds collected in advance of rental periods for Long-Term Prepaid Leases, which will be 
recognized as revenue, on a straight line basis, over the term of the lease. 

(f) Deferred Development Cost Charges

Deferred development cost charges collected to pay for future capital projects are deferred upon receipt and recognized as 
revenue when the capital costs for which they were collected are incurred.

(g) Temporary Investments

Temporary investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing in the subsequent 
year and are valued at the lower of cost or market value.

(h)  Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments include bank issued notes and bonds and provincial bonds and debentures maturing after the subsequent 
year end. Securities are recorded at their cost and written down to reflect losses in value that are other than temporary.

(i) Budget Figures

The budget figures are based on the ten year financial plan adopted on April 12th, 2021.

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER38

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 39

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(j)  Government Transfers

Unrestricted government transfers are recognized as revenue in the year that the transfer is authorized by the issuing 
government and any eligibility criteria have been met.  Restricted government transfers, in the way of grants or other transfers, 
are recognized as revenue in the year in which any stipulations that create liabilities are met.

(k)  Employee Future Benefits

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan.  As this plan is a multi-employer plan, contributions 
are expensed as incurred.

Sick leave and post-employment benefits also accrue to the City’s employees.  The liabilities related to these benefits are 
actuarially determined based on services and best estimates of retirement ages and expected future salary and wage increases.
The liabilities under these benefits plans are accrued based on projected benefits as the employees render services necessary 
to earn the future benefits.

(l)  Long-term Debt

Long-term debt is recorded in the consolidated financial statements net of sinking fund payments and adjustments.

(m) Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in the provision of services.  They may 
have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of business.

(i) Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly attributable to acquisition, 
construction, development or betterment of the asset.  The cost less residual value of the tangible capital assets, 
excluding land, is amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land improvements Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years
Parks Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 75 years
Buildings Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 10 – 100 years
Machinery & equipment Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 3 – 25 years
Vehicles Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 6 – 25 years
Infrastructure Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 7 – 100 years
Library materials Straight line over useful life of each asset unit 2 – 5 years
Work in progress Not depreciated until put into use

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER40

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

(m) Non-Financial Assets (cont’d)

(ii)  Contributions of Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets received as contributions or transfers from developers are recorded at their estimated fair value 
at the date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii)  Works of Art and Historic Assets

The City and the Museum and Archives Commission manages and controls various works of art and non-operational 
historic assets including buildings, artifacts, paintings and sculptures located at City sites and public display areas.

Works of art and historic assets are not recorded as assets in these consolidated financial statements.

(iv)  Natural Resources

Horticultural assets such as treed areas, grassy areas and gardens are not recognized as assets in the consolidated 
financial statements.

(v)  Interest Capitalization

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible capital asset.

(vi) Leased Tangible Capital Assets

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of property are accounted for as 
leased tangible capital assets.  All other leases are accounted for as operating leases and the payments are charged 
to expenses as incurred.

(vii)  Inventories

Inventories held for consumption are recorded at the lower of weighted average cost and replacement cost.

(n) Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Areas requiring 
significant estimation are post-employment benefits, compensated absences and termination benefits and estimated useful life 
of tangible capital assets. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

(o) Segment Disclosure

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is appropriate to separately 
report financial information related to expenses. See note 12.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (con’t)

(p) Contaminated Sites

A liability for contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive use or an unexpected event has occurred and the 
following criteria are met:

i) An environmental standard exists;
ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard;
iii) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility;
iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and
v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of post-remediation including operation, maintenance and 
monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy for a contaminated site.

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 41

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER42

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

3.  INVESTMENTS

(a) Temporary Investments

The fair value of temporary investments at December 31, 2021 was $106,252,156 (2020 - $60,316,506). Financial instruments 
included in temporary investments range in maturity date from January 7, 2022 to December 30, 2022, and range in yield from 
0.50% to 5.35%. Included in temporary investments is $50,351,077 in High Interest Savings Accounts.

(b) Portfolio Investments

The fair value of portfolio investments at December 31, 2021 was $91,472,860 (2020 - $116,309,955). These investments range 
in maturity from January 31, 2023 to May 15, 2031, and range in yield from 1.30% to 7.52%.

4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The City owns all the issued and outstanding shares of LEC, which was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) on July 7, 2003. LEC operates a district energy system providing hydronic energy to residential, institutional
and commercial buildings in the City of North Vancouver.

Summarized financial information relating to LEC is as follows:
2021 2020

Cash and accounts receivable $           2,956 $           3,316
Plant and equipment            37,381            36,179
Other assets                 711                 653
Total assets $          41,048 $         40,148

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $           2,173 $           1,878
Deferred contributions              7,322              7,340
Debt            26,940            26,983
Total Liabilities $         36,435 $         36,201

Shareholder’s equity $           4,613 $           3,947

Total revenue $           8,277 $           7,282
Total expenses              7,611              6,044
Net income $              666 $           1,238

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 43

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

4. INVESTMENT IN LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”) (con’t)

Included in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position is “Investment in Lonsdale Energy Corp.” in the amount of 
$4,613,000 (2020 - $3,947,000) and a loan receivable in the amount of $27,043,000 (note 5) (2020 – 26,518,000). Also, included 
in accounts receivable in the City’s consolidated statement of financial position are receivables from LEC in the amount of 
$668,000 (2020 - $524,000).

5. LOAN TO LONSDALE ENERGY CORPORATION (“LEC”)

The loan receivable balance of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000) consists of the following interest bearing promissory notes:

On August 1, 2018, the City converted amounts due from LEC whereby LEC issued a 5 year promissory note to the City in the 
amount of $33,661,966. The loan matures on August 1, 2023 and bears interest at 2.65% per annum. On July 15, 2019 and 
November 17, 2021, the City’s Council authorized LEC to borrow an additional $1,681,000 and $290,000 respectively. These 
Promissory notes carry the same terms. The promissory notes to the City have been partially drawn upon with a balance owing 
at December 31, 2021 of $27,043,000 (2020 - $26,518,000).

All loans are due with a 12 month notice period and bear interest at 2.65% (2020 – 2.65%). Interest revenue of $709,000 (2020
- $693,000) and Dividend revenue of $33,000 (2020 - $34,000) has been included in the consolidated statement of operations.

At the maturity date of the loan to LEC, the City may, at its discretion, extend the terms of the loan in whole or in part or LEC 
may repay the loan in whole or in part using either internal or external financing.

6. DEBT

The City has financed the expansion of LEC by assuming debt on behalf of LEC through the Municipal Finance Authority in 
accordance with the Community Charter. Debt principal is reported net of repayments and actuarial adjustments. The City 
carries no other long-term debt. The total debt issued, including future principal re-payments and actuarial adjustments on the 
net outstanding debt outstanding as at December 31, 2021 was $237,098 (2020 - $465,077).

Interest expense of $6,000 (2020 - $6,000) has been included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The interest rate 
on long-term debt is 0.3% per annum.

(a) The City has a revenue anticipation borrowing bylaw, 2020, No 8749 authorized to borrow up to $35M to ensure the City is 
able to continue providing essential services to its citizens. There has been no drawdown on the facility (2020 - $nil)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER44

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

7. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS

(a) Sick and Severance

Employees of the City are entitled to payments related to unused sick leave and severance upon retirement or resignation after
ten years of service. The amount recorded for these benefits is based on an actuarial valuation done by an independent firm of 
actuaries using a projected benefit actuarial valuation method pro-rated on services. The most recent actuarial valuation of the 
City’s future benefits was completed as at December 31, 2021.

Information regarding the City’s obligations for these benefits, including 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and its 
proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission,
is as follows:

2021 2020

Benefit obligation - beginning of the year $         8,505 $       7,815
Add:    Current service costs 789 793
            Interest on accrued benefit obligation 186 222
Less: Actuarial (gain) loss (778) 598
            Benefits paid (796) (923)

Benefit obligation - end of the year $         7,906 $       8,505
Add:    Unamortized actuarial gain 480 (276)

Accrued benefit liability - end of the year $         8,386 $       8,229

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the City’s accrued benefit liability are as follows:

2021 2020

Discount rates 2.50% 2.10%

Expected future inflation rates 2.00% 2.50%

Expected wage and salary increases 2.58% to 4.63% 2.58% to 4.63%

The unamortized actuarial gain is amortized over a period equal to the employees’ average remaining service lifetime of eleven
years for the City.

(b) Council Retirement Stipend

Starting 2005, Council Members are entitled to a retirement stipend based on 9.98% of the individual’s total indemnity received 
subsequent to 2002. These amounts are accrued as earned and recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 45

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

8. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

(a)  Work in Progress

Work in progress having a cost of $71,357,000 (2020 - $57,677,000) has not been amortized.  Amortization of these assets will 
commence when the asset is in service.

(b)  Developer Contributed Tangible Capital Assets and Other Transfers

Developer contributed tangible capital assets and other transfers of $737,000 (2020 - $14,499,000) have been recognized during 
the year.

2021 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$   82,357$             55,508$   141,793$    23,382$             11,867$    244,320$                929$         57,677$           661,742$     

Additions 1,000        11                       149           7,897           1,134                 1,391         7,990                       236            71,357             91,165          
Disposals -                 -                          -                 -                    498                     673            1,548                       223            57,677             60,619          

Balance as at December 31, 2021 44,909$   82,368$             55,657$   149,690$    24,018$             12,585$    250,762$                942$         71,357$           692,288$     

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$               16,655$             17,365$   66,996$       17,091$             6,491$      91,042$                  477$         -$                      216,117$     

Depreciation expense -                 2,428                 1,916        5,479           1,541                 692            4,830                       213            -                        17,099          
Disposals -                 -                          -                 -                    498                     572            722                          223            -                        2,015            

Balance as at December 31, 2021 -$               19,083$             19,281$   72,475$       18,134$             6,611$      95,150$                  467$         -$                      231,201$     

Net Book Value
December 31, 2021 44,909$   63,285$             36,376$   77,215$       5,884$               5,974$      155,612$                475$         71,357$           461,087$     

2020 Land Land 
Improvements Parks Buildings Machinery & 

 Equipment Vehicles Infrastructure Library 
Materials

Work
 in Progress Total

Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2019 38,909$   76,101$             50,357$   126,685$    21,584$             11,327$    239,874$                952$         49,339$           615,128$     

Additions 5,000        6,256                 5,469        15,108         2,007                 810            5,634                       180            57,677             98,141          
Disposals -                 -                          318           -                    209                     270            1,188                       203            49,339             51,527          

Balance as at December 31, 2020 43,909$   82,357$             55,508$   141,793$    23,382$             11,867$    244,320$                929$         57,677$           661,742$     

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2019 -$               14,322$             15,829$   61,812$       15,771$             6,088$      86,748$                  465$         -$                      201,035       

Depreciation expense -                 2,333                 1,786        5,184           1,529                 620            4,746                       215            -                        16,413          
Disposals -                 -                          250           -                    209                     217            452                          203            -                        1,331            

Balance as at December 31, 2020 -$               16,655$             17,365$   66,996$       17,091$             6,491$      91,042$                  477$         -$                      216,117$     

Net Book Value
December 31, 2020 43,909$   65,702$             38,143$   74,797$       6,291$               5,376$      153,278$                452$         57,677$           445,625$     

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER46

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS
2021 2020

Current Funds – general, water and sewer $           51,719           $           46,081           
Reserve fund            100,376            107,826
Capital fund            481,014            462,418
Accumulated surplus, end of year $         633,109         $         616,325         

(a) Current Funds – general, water and sewer

2021 2020
Appropriated:

General funds $      17,408 $      14,247
General funds – COVID-19 Grant 4,118 5,359
Water fund 2,547 1,975
Sewer fund 11,508 9,825

Unappropriated:
General funds 14,002 13,270
Water funds 1,446 715
Sewer fund 690 690

$     51,719 $ 46,081

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
9. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS (con’t)

(b) Reserve Funds

(c) Capital Fund

2021 2020

Capital fund

Invested in tangible capital assets $              461,087 $              445,625

Appropriated Capital funds                   19,927                   16,793

$              481,014 $              462,418

Balance Contributions Earnings  Less Balance
December 31, 2020 & Transfers Expenditures December 31, 2021

Machinery and Equipment
    Engineering 3,550$                       477$                           266$                           998$                           3,295$                       
    Fire 730                             2,137                          9                                  2,608                          268                             
    General 63                               -                                   8                                  6                                  65                               
    Computer 117                             38                               2                                  50                               107                             
Building 277                             -                                   5                                  46                               236                             
Local Improvements 794                             3                                  19                               36                               780                             
Affordable Housing 6,305                          670                             117                             108                             6,984                          
Tax Sale Lands 35,636                       -                                   649                             1,709                          34,576                       
Waterworks 4,691                          -                                   83                               -                                   4,774                          
Parking -                                   219                             130                             8                                  341                             
Civic Amenity 51,701                       5,281                          2,834                          14,855                       44,961                       
Justice Administration Accommodation 126                             -                                   2                                  48                               80                               
Streets DCC -                                   1,173                          -                                   1,173                          -                                   
Parks DCC -                                   1,569                          -                                   1,569                          -                                   
Lower Lonsdale Amenity 70                               -                                   -                                   62                               8                                  
Lower Lonsdale Legacy 2,662                          -                                   47                               78                               2,631                          
Infrastructure 166                             -                                   755                             652                             269                             
Public Art 504                             85                               10                               -                                   599                             
Marine Drive Community Amenity -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   
Sustainable Transportation 187                             88                               3                                  114                             164                             
Carbon Fund 247                             90                               4                                  103                             238                             
Water DCC -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   
Sanitary DCC -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   
Drainage DCC -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   -                                   
Total 107,826$                   11,830$                     4,943$                       24,223$                     100,376$                   

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 47

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER48

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Property Taxes

The City is obliged to levy, collect and remit property taxes on behalf of, and to finance the arrears of property taxes of, other 
bodies as follows:

2021 2020

Total tax collected $    125,024 $     107,308

Less Collections for and remittances to other bodies
Provincial Government - Schools $        41,917 $        28,135
Greater Vancouver Regional District 1,935 1,719
Greater Vancouver Transportation Authority 10,033 9,499
British Columbia Assessment Authority 1,565 1,525
Municipal Finance Authority 7 7
BIA Lower Lonsdale Society 511 495

$        55,968 $        41,380

Property Value Tax $        69,056 $        65,928

(b)  Pension Liability

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension plan). The board of trustees, 

representing plan members and employers, is responsible for administering the plan, including investment of assets and 

administration of benefits. The plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a 

formula. As at December 31, 2020, the plan has about 220,000 active members and approximately 112,000 retired members. 

Active members include approximately 42,000 contributors from local governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and adequacy of plan funding. 

The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s 

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry- age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and 

employer contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the 

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.  

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866 million funding

surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.  

The City paid $4,521,000 (2020 - $4,385,000) for employer contributions to the plan in fiscal 2021.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 49

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.

(b)  Pension Liability (con’t)

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions made during the fiscal

year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for 

the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to individual 

employers participating in the plan.  

(c)  Contingent Liabilities

The City is currently engaged in or party to certain legal actions, assessment appeals and other existing conditions involving 
uncertainty which may result in material loss. A reasonable estimate of these future liabilities has been made where possible 
and is recorded in the financial statements as a liability. Where the outcomes or amounts or losses are uncertain management 
has determined that there are no potential material amounts involved.

(d) E-Comm

The City is a member of Emergency Communications for British Columbia, Incorporated (“E-Comm”), an organization comprised 
predominately of member municipalities, for the purpose of providing emergency dispatch services.  The City is represented on 
the board and as a class “A” shareholder has voting rights should the organization want to incur additional debt.

The E-Comm facility was constructed using debt as a financing mechanism and members are liable for a proportionate share of 
that debt. This debt is repaid by members through annual fees charged by E-Comm.  Should E-Comm dissolve, the members 
would be liable for a proportionate share of any residual debt.  Alternatively, should members choose to opt out of E-Comm they 
would be liable for a proportionate share of debt at the time of withdrawal.  

The City holds 2 class “A” shares and one class “B” share.

(e) Contractual Obligations

As at December 31, 2021 the City had entered into various construction contracts for a total outstanding value of $10.7M.

(f) Construction Loan Guarantee

On February 14, 2017 the City entered an agreement as a loan guarantor for the British Columbia Photography and Media 
Society for a demand construction bridge loan to a maximum of $5M not to exceed five years.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER50

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

11.  TRUST FUNDS

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by an agreement or statute. The City 
holds the assets for the benefit of, and stands in a fiduciary relationship to, the beneficiary. The Cemetery Trust Fund, totaling 
$3,437,000 (2020 - $3,201,000), which is administered by the City, has not been included with the City’s accounts.

12. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The City is a diversified municipal government entity in the Province of British Columbia that provides a wide range of services 
to its citizens.  Certain functional areas have been combined and separately disclosed in the segmented information.  The 
segments and the services they provide are as follows:

General Government
General Government provides the administrative and legislative services that support the various sectors of the City.  Functions 
include financial planning and reporting, economic development and legislative services.

Transportation and Transit
The Transportation division aims to provide enhanced access to public transit, safe pedestrian and cyclist routes, enable 
accessible transportation for people with limited mobility and maintain existing infrastructure.  These goals are achieved through 
street design, traffic signals and signs, street lighting and road maintenance activities.

Health, Social Services and Housing
Health, Social Services and Housing encompasses a wide variety of City funded initiatives aimed at supporting the social 
structure and sustainability of the community.  Included are cemetery operations, youth and family support services, seniors 
programs and homeless prevention initiatives.

Development Services
Development Services’ focus is community planning, which includes land use guidelines, the management of City owned lands, 
heritage planning and development of the City’s official community plan.

Protective Services
Protective Services is comprised of the North Vancouver RCMP detachment, the North Vancouver City Fire Department and 
bylaw enforcement.  The North Vancouver RCMP detachment plays an integral role in the protection of North Vancouver 
residents and their property through crime prevention and detection, emergency response and victim services.  The North 
Vancouver City Fire Department is responsible to provide fire suppression service, fire prevention services and fire safety 
education.  

Parks, Recreation and Culture
Parks, Recreation and Culture provides access to recreation facilities, the operation and maintenance of the City’s many parks 
and trails, the North Vancouver City Library and the City’s participation in the North Vancouver Museum and Archives and the 
North Vancouver Recreation and Culture Commission.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 51

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

12.  SEGMENTED INFORMATION (con’t)

Water Utilities
The Water Utility, in conjunction with Metro Vancouver, provides safe, clean, reliable water to the residents and businesses of 
the City of North Vancouver.  

Sewer Utilities
The Sewer Utility collects waste water and transports it to trunk water mains and wastewater treatment plants operated by Metro 
Vancouver.  In addition to the collection of wastewater, the Sewer Utility also manages the City’s 150km storm sewerage system 
which diverts rainfall runoff from private property with an emphasis on flood prevention.

Solid Waste
The Solid Waste department provides curbside garbage, recycling and yard trimmings collection to the residents of the City of
North Vancouver.

13.  DEFERRED LEASE REVENUE

In 2020 the City entered into an agreement for the Harry Jerome Neighborhood Lands for a lease term of 99 years and 
included in Deferred Revenue is $49.9M (2020 - $51.9M).

Revenues
Wages & 
Benefits

Goods & 
Supplies Services Depreciation Capitalized Total

Annual 
Surplus(Deficit)

General government 88,129$          16,482$         4,949$           1,123$           5,141$           (4,484)$             23,211$         64,918$             
Transportation and transit 4,401              3,096             1,095             12,831           3,399             (11,555)             8,866             (4,465)                
Health, social services and housing 662                 420                118                2,220             -                 (34)                    2,724             (2,062)                
Development services 8,978              5,379             36                  2,079             -                 -                    7,494             1,484                 
Protective services 1,590              18,809           3,469             8,127             674                (2,940)               28,139           (26,549)              
Parks, recreation and culture 9,039              14,632           1,552             18,234           6,239             (9,992)               30,665           (21,626)              
Water utilities 13,579            2,076             8,026             2,343             851                (2,425)               10,871           2,708                 
Sewer utilities 14,225            1,784             281                10,228           795                (1,321)               11,767           2,458                 
Solid waste 3,081              1,478             79                  1,606             -                 -                    3,163             (82)                     
2021 143,684$        64,156$         19,605$         58,791$         17,099$         (32,751)$           126,900$       16,784$             

2020 159,057$        59,158$         16,139$         60,679$         16,413$         (34,303)$           118,086$       40,971$             

Expenses

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER52

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

14.  BUDGET FIGURES

The budget figures presented in these consolidated financial statements include 100% of the North Vancouver City Library and 
its proportionate share of the North Vancouver Recreation Commission, and North Vancouver Museum and Archives 
Commission. The financial plan was approved by Council as the Financial Plan for the Years 2021 to 2030 Bylaw, 2020, No. 
8822 April 12th, 2021. The table below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported.

Financial 
Plan Bylaw

Revenue per Statement of Operations 124,684$     

Less:
Budget Adjustments for Consolidation (2,648)$        
Transfers from Reserve (1,908)           
Interagency Funds (5,451)           (10,007)        

Revenue per financial plan bylaw 8822 114,677       

Expenses per Statement of Operations 125,947       

Add:

Capital Expenditures (5,195)           
Reserves for Non-Capital Projects 1,694            
Transfer to other funds (3,501)          

Less:
Budget Adjustments for consolidation (21)                
Interagency payments (5,451)           (5,472)          

Expenses per financial plan bylaw 8822 116,974       

Deficit for the year (2,298)          

Reserves and capital:

Capital expenditures (69,827)        
Depreciation 16,800         
Equity (17,407)        
Transfers from reserves 52,281         
External contributions 20,451         

Annual budgeted Surplus per financial plan bylaw -$              

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 53

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2021
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

15.  COVID-19 IMPACT

Subsequent to the previous year end, the impact of COVID-19 in Canada and on the global economy increased significantly.   
As the impacts of COVID-19 continue, there could be specific impact on the City, its citizens, employees, suppliers and other 
third party business associates that could impact the timing and amounts realized on the City’s assets and future ability to deliver 
services and projects. The full potential impact of COVID-19 on the City is unknown and cannot be reasonably estimated at this 
time.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)

General Funds - Covid-19 Safe Restart Grant 2021

2020 Grant Funding Balance $ 5,359
   GRANT EXPENDITURE:
 Business Continuity (300)
 Community Resiliency & Recovery (226)
 City Services (567)
 Response & Emerging Issues (148)

2021 Grand Funding Balance $ 4,118

SCHEDULE A: COVID-19 SAFE RESTART GRANT

2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER54

SCHEDULE A – UNAUDITED - YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER | 2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT 55

2021 PERMISSIVE TAX EXEMPTIONS

Organization Address
 Municipal Taxes 
Exempt Portion 

Anavets Senior Citizens Housing Society 245 East 3rd Street 49,052                     
Army, Navy and Airforce Veterans in Canada, Unit 45 119 East 3rd Street 22,178                     
The Auxilary to the Lions Gate Hospital 128 West 15th Street 12,919                     
BC Photography and Media Arts Society 101 Carrie Cates Court 68,930                     
Canadian Mental Health Association 300-1835 Lonsdale Aveneue 4,089                      
Cascadia Society for Social Working 325 West 19th Street 3,856                      
Cascadia Society for Social Working 351 West 19th Street 3,388                      
Cascadia Society for Social Working 348 West 19th Street 3,517                      
Community Living Society East Keith Road House 3,684                      
Community Living Society 1003 - 555 West 28th St 1,317                      
Corporation of City of North Vancouver (Pipe Shop) 115 Victory Ship Way 36,928                     
Corporation of City of North Vancouver (Shipyard Commons) 125 - 135 Victory Ship Way 54,324                     
Family Services North Shore 203 & 206 1111 Lonsdale Avenue 18,315                     
Fraternal Order of Eagles Northwest Aerie 2638 162,164,166,168 & 170 West 3rd Street 15,618                     
Girl Guides of Canada 107,108,109,207,208 & 209 - 252 Esplanade W 65,359                     

Hollyburn Family Services Society
Unit 104,106,107,205,206,& 207-210 West 13th
Street 6,271                      

HYAD Housing for Young Adults with Disabilities 2130 Chesterfield Avenue 2,979                      
Kiwanis North Shore Housing Society 170 West 2nd Street 53,205                     
Kiwanis North Shore Housing Society 1480 St. Andrew’s Avenue 3,723                      
Lighthouse Harbour Ministries #1 - 260 East Esplanade 5,598                      
Lonsdale Creek Daycare Centre Society 230 West 21st Street 12,945                     
Lookout Housing & Health Society 705 West 2nd Street 19,880                     
Chesterfield House Society 1415 Chesterfield Avenue 3,802                      
Marineview Housing Society 1053 Grand Blvd 4,723                      
Marineview Housing Society 1057 Cloverley Street 2,540                      
Navy League of Canada 1555 Forbes Ave 15,277                     
North Shore Connexions Society 1924 Jones Avenue 2,599                      
North Shore Disability Resource Centre 2412 Wilding Way 2,857                      

North Shore Multicultural Society
124 East 15th Street  (units 100, 207, 
202,203,204,204A,205,302,303,305) 65,437                     

North Shore Neighbourhood House 225 East 2nd Street 29,566                     
North Shore Neighbourhood House (Centre view childcare) 143 East 14th Street 3,070                      
North Shore Neighbourhood House (Community Garden)  207 East 2nd Street 3,170                      
North Shore Neighbourhood House 113 East 3rd Street 495                         
North Vancouver Chamber of Commerce 102 – 124 West 1st Street 7,710                      
The North Vancouver Masonic Temple Association Ltd. 1140 - 1144 Lonsdale 8,999                      
North Vancouver Museum and Archives Commission 131 - 115 W Esplanade 92,606                     
Presentation House Cultural Society 333 Chesterfield Avenue 81,979                     
Royal Canadian Legion, Branch 118 121/123 West 15th 20,271                     
Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity Centre 144 East 22nd Street 78,161                     
St. Edmund’s Parish 613 Mahon Avenue 4,547                      
St. Leonard’s Society of North Vancouver 312 Bewicke Avenue 2,443                      

Vancouver Coastal Health Authority 
Magnolia House Residential Mental Health 
Facility, 720 E. 17th 3,068                      

Vancouver Coastal Health Authority Margaret Fulton ADC, 1601 Forbes Avenue 21,915                     
Young Women's Christian Association 125 14TH St E 2,343                      
North Shore Bethel Christian Mennonite Brethern Church 185 East Keith Road 2,730                      
Holy Trinity Catholic Church 2725 Lonsdale Avenue 3,031                      
North Shore Alliance Church 201 & 241 East 23rd Street 17,498                     
Kings Temple Missionary Society North Shore Christian Centre, 1400 Sutherland 1,641                      
Parish of St. Agnes Anglican Church of Canada 530 East 12th Street 622                         
St. John the Evangelist Anglican Church 209 West 13th Street 14,433                     
Salvation Army, North Vancouver 105 West 12th Street 11,418                     
St. Andrew’s & St. Stephen’s Presbyterian Church 2641 Chesterfield Avenue 3,994                      

St. Andrew’s United Church Units #100, 200 & 300- 1046 St. Georges Avenue 855                         
St. Andrew’s United Church 1044 St. Georges Avenue 1,656                      
Sutherland Church 630 East 19th Street 3,618                      
Total 987,149                   



2021 ANNUAL MUNICIPAL REPORT | CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER56

No Councillors were disqualified from holding office in 2021 under the provisions set out in the Community Charter.

DECLARATION OF DISQUALIFICATIONS

Karla Graham – City Clerks
Corporate Officer



1

L' \ \

'•r U^ vt '%f ^r'-Sw

— —



CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER
141 WEST 14TH STREET

NORTH VANCOUVER BC /  V7M 1H9
T 604 985 7761

INFO@CNV.ORG

JUNE 2022





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Larry Sawrenko, Chief Financial Officer 

REPORT 

Subject: 2022 APPROPRIATIONS #2 

Date: June 10, 2022 File No: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Financial Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled "2022 Appropriations #2": 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2213) an amount of $3,584,453 be appropriated 
from the General Capital Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital 
Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2214) an amount of $1,361,600 be appropriated 
from the Civic Amenity Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2215) an amount of $2,396,000 be appropriated 
from the Carbon Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2216) an amount of $135,507 be appropriated 
from the Sustainable Transportation Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 
Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2217) an amount of $85,000 be appropriated 
from the Public Art Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2218) an amount of $507,915 be appropriated 
from the Parking Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

Document Number: 2187086 



REPORT: 2022 Appropriations #2 
Date: June 8, 2022 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2219) an amount of $150,163,125 be 
appropriated from the Civic Amenity Reserve-HJ for the purpose of funding the 
2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT (Funding Appropriation #2220) an amount of $300,000 be appropriated 
from the Cemetery Reserve for the purpose of funding the 2022 Capital Plan; 

THAT "Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941" 
(2022 Capital Plan Funding) a Bylaw to appropriate an amount of $123,750 from 
DCC (Parks) Reserve Fund to fund 2022 Capital Plan, be considered; 

THAT "Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, 
No. 8942" (2022 Capital Plan Funding) a Bylaw to appropriate an amount of 
$34,650 from DCC (Transportation) Reserve Fund to fund 2022 Capital Plan, be 
considered; 

AND THAT should any of the above amounts remain unexpended as at December 
31, 2025, the unexpended balances shall be returned to the credit of the respective 
fund . 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations (CityDoc 2187980 ) 
2. Information Report - New Traffic Signals (CityDoc 2177139) 
3. Information Report - The HUB Redevelopment Site (CityDoc 2177005) 
4. Information Report - Upper Level Greenway (CityDoc 2183573) 
5. Proposed Bylaw 8941 Development Cost Charge Parks Reserve Fund (CityDoc 

2186990) 
6. Proposed Bylaw 8942 Development Cost Charge Transportation Reserve Fund 

(CityDoc 2186988) 

SUMMARY 

This report follows adoption of the 2022-2026 Financial Plan, and provides details of 
projects where appropriations are recommended. 

DISCUSSION 

This report recommends that funds be appropriated so work can begin on some of the 
projects included in the 2022-2026 Financial Plan. Project teams are ready to deliver 
these projects, and funds are needed before Appropriation #3, which is currently 
planned for September. Staff have also reviewed the need for the projects since the 
approval of the 2022-2026 Financial Plan and continue to support proceeding. 
Appropriation is the final step in the funding of these projects and, if approved, will allow 
funds to be expended. 

Page 2 of 3 



REPORT: 2022 Appropriations #2 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Attachment 1 provides additional information regarding each project. Attachments 2-
4 provide more detailed background on projects with planned appropriations greater 
than $500,000 over the Financial Plan period, which are not part of ongoing capital 
replacement programs. Attachments 5-6 are proposed Bylaws for Council 
consideration that, if approved, will enable use of Development Cost Charge funding to 
support a park (Upper Levels Greenway Development) and a transportation (Priority 
Mobility Network Improvements) project. In addition, a separate report from the Sr. 
Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated June 3rd, 2022, entitled "2022-2031 Capital 
Plan - Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and Contract Awards - Harry 
Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity" has also 
been provided to Council and provides additional information on those two projects 
(CityDoc 2186869). 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Funding is included in the current 2022-2026 Financial Plan as approved by Council and 
is available for appropriation . 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

The 2022-2026 Financial Plan is a reflection of the policies of the City and the work plans 
of all City departments. Finance staff rely on their close working relationships with staff in 
other departments and the City's shared-cost agencies in developing this Plan. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

The preparation and approval of a Financial Plan is consistent with the requirements of 
the Community Charter and several of the objectives of the City's 2014 Official 
Community Plan. The Plan was also prepared taking into consideration the 2018-2022 
Council Strategic Plan. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Larry Sawrenko 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 3 of 3 



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

2 ‐ 11 Centennial Theatre NVR&CC Howard Kiang 200,000 115,000                 85,000 
This project will address planned major components replacement and renovation at 
Centennial Theatre.

2 ‐ 13 John Braithwaite Community Centre NVR&CC Howard Kiang 55,000 0 55,000 
This project will deliver functional upgrades and planned major components replacement to 
the John Braithwaite Community Centre.

2 ‐ 15 Harry Jerome ‐ Major Repairs NVR&CC Howard Kiang 300,000 0 150,000 
Replace or repair building systems that fail due to unforseen circumstances.  All projects will 
be assessed for cost/benefit before work proceeds.

2 ‐ 19 Provision ‐ HJCRC Outside Consulting Finance Larry Sawrenko 160,000 0 160,000 

The requested funds will be appropriated as needed to fund the use of external consultants 
to facilitate the marketing, disposition and other land transaction related costs of the Harry 
Jerome Neighbourhood Lands (HJNL).

2 ‐ 22 City Library Middle Years Space NVC Library Deb Hutchison Koep 108,160 0 108,160 

Create a distinct, age‐appropriate space in the library for school‐aged children, uniquely 
designed to meet the needs of children in the "middle years". Working creatively within 
existing space constraints, the project incorporates relocation of functions and library 
shelving, and addition of lighting, computing, and new furnishings to create space suitable for 
study, collaboration, self‐directed learning and reading.

2 ‐ 26
Shipyards Destination Infrastructure Upgrades 
Project

Community & 
Partner Engagement

Magda Kwaterska / 
Robert Skene 200,000 0 200,000 

Site Infrastructure to support mobile vending, improvements to site electrical, site plumbing 
upgrades, demountable overhead structures for rain protection, crowd control infrastructure 
that includes railings, directional pathways, wayfinding and interpretive signage. This project 
also includes replacement of Heritage Crane lighting and Burrard Dry Dock infrastructure 
upgrades to support and attract larger commercial vessels.

3 ‐ 5 Traffic Signal System Upgrades
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 370,000 0 370,000 

Upgrade of traffic signal poles, underground wiring, signal communication systems, and 
controllers in the City.  Locations and project details to be determined per results from various 
traffic engineering analysis and based on needs for upgrading traffic signal equipment.

3 ‐ 7 City‐Wide LED Streetlight Upgrade
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 250,000 0 250,000 

City‐wide replacement of the existing, inefficient High Pressure Sodium (HPS) streetlights with 
efficient Light Emitting Diodes (LED).  This is estimated to reduce electricity consumption by 
40%. The upgrade is estimated to result in annual cost savings in electricity.

3 ‐ 11
Traffic Signal Pre‐Emption for Fire Emergency 
Vehicles

Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 80,000 0 80,000 

Traffic signal pre‐emption allows a fire truck to communicate with downstream traffic signals 
increasing its likelihood of receiving a green light.  It can also communicate with traffic signals 
further ahead to get traffic flowing before the truck arrives in order to decrease response 
times.

3 ‐ 23 Public Realm Improvements  Engineering: Streets Christel Lindgren 50,000 15,000  35,000 

Provides streetscape elements to enhance the experience of the public realm. Elements may 
include, but are not limited to benches, water fountains, garbage cans, bike racks and holiday 
lighting. 

3 ‐ 25 Living City Tree Program  Engineering: Streets Christel Lindgren 120,000 0 120,000 

The program will plant trees on streets that currently have few or no street trees, and include 
a three year project along City high streets replacing dead and dying trees and improving 
conditions for existing street trees to counter challenging urban growing conditions with 
supportive infrastructure to promote long‐term tree health.   

3 ‐ 28 Public Realm Accessibility Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 20,000 0 20,000 

Retrofit existing infrastructure throughout the City to continue to provide access to all, aligned 
with regional, national and international best practices. Works may include, but not be limited 
to the application of tactile walking surface indicators, braille signage, automatic door openers 
and ramps. The program will also support the provision of equipment for assistive devices to 
enable all residents and visitors to enjoy the City’s parks, trails and green spaces.  

3 ‐ 29 Transit Improvement Program Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 64,493 0 64,493 

This program will support technical study, design and implementation of transit priority 
interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulbs as well as accessibility upgrades 
to improve access to transit. 

4 ‐ 10 Public School Playground Funding
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Mike Hunter 150,000 0 150,000 

Council approved the Public Elementary School Playground Enhancements Revised Policy on 
October 7, 2019. This policy provides funding to specific schools to a maximum of $75,000 
each over a 10 year period.

4 ‐ 25 Play Equipment Replacement 
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Derek Priestley 35,000 0 35,000  The ongoing play equipment renewal and replacement program in 19 City parks. 

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

Appropriation 2213 – General Capital Reserve

1



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

4 ‐ 26 Streetscape Renovations
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Derek Priestley 25,000 0 25,000 

The City's existing volunteer traffic circle adoption program has experienced declining 
enrollment from community members resulting in a number of unmanaged overgrown and 
unsightly circles. This project will enable a proactive approach to renovating existing traffic 
circles to address sightline hazards caused by overgrowth and reduce the long‐term 
maintenance cost while tracking what our actual maintenance costs would be in advance of 
applying for an ongoing 2023 operating budget.   

4 ‐ 27 Wooden Bridge and Stair Replacement
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Derek Priestley 25,000 0 25,000 

This project consists of the replacement of aging wooden structures, such as stairs, bridges 
and boardwalks, throughout the City's park system.  

4 ‐ 28 Grass Sports Field Renovations
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Mike Hunter 75,000 0 75,000 

The City's sand‐based grass fields are more than 20 years old and are in need of renovation.   
The drainage and irrigation systems need to be updated in order to keep the fields playable 
through the year. Loutet #2 field was completed in 2016, Loutet #1 in 2019, and Ray Perrault 
field is the next priority for 2022. Remaining fields to be completed are Loutet Field #3 in 2024 
and Kinsmen Stadium Field in 2026  

6 ‐ 8 NVRC Maintenance Vehicles NVR&CC Howard Kiang 115,000 0 115,000 

Replacement of NVRC maintenance vehicles from 2022 to 2031. The City’s portion of the cost 
share is 33.94%. In 2022, one Full size pick up, one mid size van and one full size van are 
scheduled to be replaced.

6 ‐ 10 NVRC Recreation Program Equipment NVR&CC Howard Kiang 130,000 0 130,000 

Program equipment such as weight room, sports & activities equipment, activity room 
furnishings & equipment, theatre performance equipment for Centennial Theatre and 
John Braithwaite Community Centre needs to be replaced periodically. The City’s portion 
of the cost share is 33.94% 

6 ‐ 14 Pool Car Replacement  Finance Sabine Zander 50,000 0 50,000 
Replacement of Pool Vehicles / Bikes. Vehicles are replaced every 10 years, bikes are replaced 
every 5 years. In 2022, one Chevy Volt is being replaced.

6 ‐ 17 Library shelving replacement NVC Library Monique Liddle 40,800 0 40,800  Replacement of end‐of‐life library shelving

7 ‐ 10 Website Renewal NVC Library Deb Hutchison Koep 5,000  0 5,000

Design City Library website to incorporate new technology and security updates, refresh 
information architecture and design, integrate new library services into the digital space, and 
provide a seamless user experience for library patrons. 

7 ‐ 20 Facility desktop hardware refresh NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 21,000 0 21,000 
Regular scheduled maintenance and replacement of desktop computer hardware including 
PC's, monitors, peripherals, printers etc.

7 ‐ 21 Document Management System Replacement NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 20,000 0 20,000 

NVRC currently uses the eDocs system for document management at a licensing cost of 
approximatley $15,000 per year.  In 2021 NVRC migrated to Office 365 which includes 
Sharepoint licenses.  This project would fund the migration from eDocs to Sharepoint and 
result in annual operating savings of $15,000 in eDocs licenses.  

2



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

7 ‐ 22 Perfect Mind Development and Integration NVR&CC Preston Corrigan 10,000                       0 10,000                             

North Vancouver Recreation and Culture is currently implenting Perfect Mind to replace the 
CLASS recreation management system.  The core Perfect Mind system went live in May, 2019.  
This project will allow us to fund integration of Perfect Mind with existing NVRC systems and 
processes to meet business needs and improve operational efficiency.

10 ‐ 15 Block Funding ‐ Planning and Development
Planning & 
Development Tim Ryce 10,000                       0 10,000                             

Construction regulations (building codes, referenced standards, etc.) are considered living 
documents, constantly evolving in response to ‐ for example ‐ new technologies, 
environmental sustainability efforts, and new opportunities for the support of healthy, 
accessible built environments.The provision of the block funding requested below supports 
the Building Division's efforts to remain leaders in innovative construction administration.

10 ‐ 16 Block Funding ‐ NVRC NVR&CC Howard Kiang 50,000                       0 30,000                             
Block funding for minor capital projects. The City is responsible for 100% of the capital costs 
for City owned recreation facilities.

10 ‐ 18 Block Funding ‐ Shipyards 
Community & 
Partner Engagement Magda Kwaterska 35,000                       0 35,000                             

Block Funding to acquire capital items under $10,000 for The Shipyards (Shipyard Commons, 
Cates Deck, Shipbuilders' Square, St Roch Dock and Burrard Dry Dock Pier.

10 ‐ 21
NVRC ‐ Recreation and sport facility/venue plan 
update NVR&CC Heather Turner 51,000                       0 51,000                             

This project involves a consultant led process of stakeholder and staff consultation, 
demographic and participation anaylsis, needs assessments to supplement the 2018 NVRC 
data and indoor and outdoor recreation and sport facility/venue recommendations in 
accordance with the decision‐making matrix in the CNV Community Recreation Strategy. NVRC 
staff are working with City parks staff and others as appropriate to ensure this work is aligned 
with City needs.  The City’s portion of the cost share is 33.94%.

10 ‐ 22 Open Streets, Parklets and Placemaking
Planning & 
Development Leah Herman 275,000                     0 125,000                           

This project will (1) focus on improving the accessibility, functionality, durability and aesthetic 
appeal of Open Streets Central Lonsdale infrastructure long‐term (2) enhance the experience 
of the public realm in Central Lonsdale and other pockets of the City through placemaking 
initiatives that include but are not limited to parklets, street seats, cultural interventions and 
programming year round.

10 ‐ 23 City Studio CapU Parntership
Community & 
Partner Engagement Lisa Stirling 48,000                       0 48,000                             

Year two of three ‐ City Studio provides an opportunity for CapU students to work on City 
issues and opportunities gaining work experience while providing research and student 
motivation to provide ideas for City projects that staff are working on or would like to 
undertake but don't have the time.  14 projects were showcased in Spring 2021.  The funding 
has allowed the project to move from a pilot to a three year term partnership with CapU.  The 
project is administered by CapU and CNV contributions are 50% of the cost.

10 ‐ 24 Community Engagement Strategy 
Community & 
Partner Engagement Pardeep Purewal 60,000                       0 60,000                             

Develop a community engagement program that includes the planning, design and 
implementation of a multi‐medium community engagement strategy, including training and 
guiding all departments and staff on enhanced and tailored engagement practices. The 
program will also include a equity, diversity, inclusion and reconciliation lens to ensure the 
City's engagement efforts are inclusive, respectful and meaningful to diverse community 
members.

10 ‐ 25 Community Recreation Strategy
Strategic & 
Corporate Services  Mike Friesen 61,000                       0 61,000                             

Funding for the second phase of the Community Recreation Strategy which will review, assess 
and prioritize cultural amenities. 

3



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

10 ‐ 27 Amenity and Public Benefit Strategy Review
Planning & 
Development Renee de St. Croix 125,000                     0 125,000                           

Review and enhance the Community Amenity Contribution (CAC) and Density Bonusing policy. 
Consider new opportunities and/or enhancements for commercial use, inclusionary housing, 
incentives, land value capture (transit and "pre‐capture"), inkind amenities, and cash 
contributions. Social needs assessment(s) / asset mapping will be undertaken to establish 
priority needs for social infrastructure investments, in partnership with relevant stakeholders 
(City departments, other authorities, service providers, community groups, etc).

10 ‐ 28 Child Care and Social Amenity Design Guidelines 
Planning & 
Development Renee de St. Croix 25,000                       0 25,000                             

Develop design guidelines for child care and other social amenities to ensure quality design, 
care, and operational needs are met. The guidelines are intended to ensure the  social 
considerations such as amenity spaces, accessibility, public art, active design, age‐friendly, 
dementia‐friendly, green spaces, etc. are considered and a criteria or principles are applied 
throughout public and private projects in the City. 

10 ‐ 31 Land Use and Long Range Studies
Planning & 
Development Renee de St. Croix 40,000                       0 40,000                             

Land use studies as identified in the OCP or at Council direction. Long range planning studies 
that integrate land use and long range planning to support community growth and 
development, including data, public consultation, and other evidence based studies (social, 
environmental, economic, etc) identified or required to support long range city building 
objectives.

10 ‐ 32 Zoning Bylaw Update
Planning & 
Development Renee de St. Croix                      375,000  0                            375,000 

Update the zoning bylaw to provide a better framework for development in the City. This will 
include focused review of regulations concerning employment lands and missing middle 
housing regulations to advance strategic economic development and housing initiatives. 

10 ‐ 33 Climate and Environment Strategy Implementation
Planning & 
Development Jennifer Draper 135,000                     0 75,000                             

The Climate and Environment Strategy (CES) Implementation project will consist of high 
priority actions to reduce carbon pollution, improve resiliency, protect and enhance our 
natural systems and demonstrate leadership in corporate facilities and operations. Guided by 
the CES, this project will include actions to reduce carbon pollution corporate buildings and 
fleet, accelerate the transition to electric vehicles in the City, address consumption‐based 
emissions and embodied carbon, and increase the health and biodiversity of our natural areas.

10 ‐ 37 INSTPP Implementation
Planning & 
Development Jennifer Draper 100,000                     0 100,000                           

In support of the Council endorsed INSTPP (Integrated North Shore Transportation Planning 
Project) transportation planning priorities, staff on an annual basis lead and project manage 
studies, undertake inter‐governmental liaison and stakeholder engagement, collect North 
Shore wide transportation data and participate in regional transportation planning processes 
to advance interests on behalf of the North Shore local and FIrst Nations governments.

10 ‐ 42 Micro‐Mobility Services Planning and Coordination
Planning & 
Development Andrew Devlin 25,000                       0 25,000                             

This project will support dedicated staff resources and supplementary consultant services to 
develop and deliver guidelines, regulations and pilots for new and emerging personal, shared, 
or commercial mobility services and devices (e.g., e‐scooters, e‐bikes, ridehailing, micro cargo 
delivery vehicles, driverless vehicles) in the City in coordination with the Districts of West 
Vancouver and North Vancouver.

 $                     3,584,453 

3 ‐ 3 New Traffic Signals
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 865,000                     0 865,000                           

Existing pedestrian and vehicular traffic volume warrants installation of a full traffic signal at 
these intersections. The requested funds are needed for design and construction of new traffic 
signals. See Attachment #2 to this report

3 ‐ 15 Installation of Accessible Pedestrian Units
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 35,000                       0 35,000                             

Installation of Accessible Pedestrian Signal (APS) devices at various signalized intersections 
within the City (audible signals).

Appropriation 2214 – Civic Amenity Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2213

4



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

3 ‐ 17 Pedestrian and Roadway Lighting Implementation
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Kliment Kuzmanovski 300,000 0 300,000 

Design and construction of new roadway and pedestrian level lighting throughout the City as 
per the street lighting implementation plan completed in 2019. A certain amount of the funds 
requested  in 2022 will be used for engaging a profesisonal engineering consultant and a legal 
consultant to assist creating a new policy document related to municipal street lighting 
requirements, plans, programs, commitments, addressing liability risk and expectations.

3 ‐ 20 Upper Levels Greenway
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Mo Bot 126,250 0 126,250 

This project will complete alternatives assessment, design, community engagement and 
construction of a new All Ages and Abilities mobility route that is identified for delivery in 
Phase 2 of the Priority Mobility Network Project as approved by Council in the Priority Mobility 
Network Strategy (2019). The project will engage closely with the local residents and other 
stakeholders to assess needs and navigate trade‐offs to deliver a route that aligns with the 
WalkCNV and Safe Mobility Strategy goals and objectives. See Attachment #4 to this report

3 ‐ 30 Priority Mobility Network Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 35,350 0 35,350 

This project will execute on the consultation, design and construction of priority corridors 
identified in the Council approved Priority Mobility Network Strategy (2019) and continue to 
prioritize future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This work will result in 
infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a broad range of human 
and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and scooters with users of All Ages and Abilities 
(AAA). The project is being delivered with support from Transportation Planning. 

 $ 1,361,600 

2 ‐ 32 NSNH Site Preparation
Strategic & 
Corporate Services  Mike Friesen 3,021,000                  700,000                 2,321,000

Funds to prepare the NSNH / Derek Inman Park Site for development. See Attachment #3 to 
this report.

10 ‐ 30 Supporting Affordable Housing Supply and Delivery
Planning & 
Development Renee de St. Croix 75,000 0 75,000 

Housing Initiatives to improve the supply and delivery of affordable housing in the City.  This 
may include part two of the duplex special study area, post occupancy surveys, short term 
rental policy review, MMR criteria, family units inclusionary policy review, homeless protocols, 
Affordable Housing Reserve Fund Terms of Reference Update,  Non‐Profit Housing 
Regeneration Policy, Homelessness Action Initiative, and/or other housing initiatives.

 $ 2,396,000 

3 ‐ 29 Transit Improvement Program Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 135,507 0 135,507 

This program will support technical study, design and implementation of transit priority 
interventions like bus lanes, signal priority and bus bulbs as well as accessibility upgrades 
to improve access to transit. 

 $ 135,507 

5 ‐ 2 Public Art Civic Program  NVR&CC Lori Phillips  85,000 0 85,000 

The annual Civic Public Art Program provides for the inclusion of public art projects in 
coordination with civic engineering and parks capital projects each year. The resulting public 
artwork builds upon the City owned art inventory in parks, municipal buildings, streets, plaza 
or other civic areas.  Since inception the Civic Public Art Program has commissioned and 
completed 50 municipality public art projects. Projects in 2022 include the a Lonsdale Dog 
Park Plaza ($60k) and an enhancement to the walls of the Spirit Trail underpass near Mosquito 
Creek ($25k).    

 $ 85,000 

Subtotal Appropriation #2214

Appropriation 2215 – Affordable Housing Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2215

Appropriation 2217 – Public Art

Subtotal Appropriation #2217

Appropriation 2216 – Sustainable Transportation Fund

Subtotal Appropriation #2216

5



 2022 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations Attachment 1

Ref # Project Name Dept Lead

2022 City Funded 
Amount as 

approved in the 
2022‐2026 

Financian Plan

Previously 
Appropriated Appropriation #2 Description

2 ‐ 18 Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre
Strategic & 
Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 507,915                     0 507,915                           

Tendering, Construction and commissioning of below grade structure, main building, on and 
off‐site works for the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre (HJCRC). For further 
information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated 
June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding 
Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity. (CityDocs2186869)

 $                        507,915 

2 ‐ 18 Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre
Strategic & 
Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 148,439,234             14,450,000            133,989,234                   

Tendering, Construction and commissioning of below grade structure, main building, on and 
off‐site works for the new Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre (HJCRC). For further 
information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated 
June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – Projects Over $500,000: Funding 
Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and Silver 
Harbour Seniors’ Activity (CityDocs2186869)

2 ‐ 21 Silver Harbour Seniors Activity Centre
Strategic & 
Corporate Services  Dianna Foldi 18,723,891                2,550,000              16,173,891                     

The Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity Centre will be a stand‐alone facility located on the north 
side of 23rd Street / Lonsdale and integrated with the overall infrastructure and services of the 
new HJCRC facility. For further information please refer to the report of the Sr. Project 
Manager, Strategic Initiatives dated June 3rd, 2022, entitled “2022‐2031 Capital Plan – 
Projects Over $500,000: Funding Appropriation and Contract Awards ‐ Harry Jerome 
Community Recreation Centre and Silver Harbour Seniors’ Activity (CityDocs2186869)

 $                150,163,125 

1 ‐ 5 City Cemetery Program
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Derek Priestley  300,000                     0 300,000                           

Dedicated funding from the Cemetery Reserve to finance the replacement of existing 
cemetery infrastructure as well as the provision of new cemetery services to meet community 
needs.

 $                        300,000 

3 ‐ 20 Upper Levels Greenway
Engineering: Parks & 
Environment Mo Bot 123,750                     0 123,750                           

This project will complete alternatives assessment, design, community engagement and 
construction of a new All Ages and Abilities mobility route that is identified for delivery in 
Phase 2 of the Priority Mobility Network Project as approved by Council in the Priority Mobility 
Network Strategy (2019). The project will engage closely with the local residents and other 
stakeholders to assess needs and navigate trade‐offs to deliver a route that aligns with the 
WalkCNV and Safe Mobility Strategy goals and objectives.

 $                        123,750 

3 ‐ 30 Priority Mobility Network Improvements Engineering: Streets Justin Hall 34,650                       0 34,650                             

This project will execute on the consultation, design and construction of priority corridors 
identified in the Council approved Priority Mobility Network Strategy (2019) and continue to 
prioritize future work based on approved evaluation criteria. This work will result in 
infrastructure tailored to the unique street context and suitable for a broad range of human 
and electrified mobility devices like bicycles and scooters with users of All Ages and Abilities 
(AAA). The project is being delivered with support from Transportation Planning. 

 $                          34,650 

 $                158,692,000 

Appropriation 2220 ‐ Cemetery Reserve

Subtotal Appropriation #2220

Total  Appropriations #2

Bylaw 8942 – DCC Transportation

Subtotal Bylaw #8942

Bylaw 8941 – DCC Parks

Subtotal Bylaw #8941

Appropriation 2218 – Parking

Subtotal Appropriation #2218

Appropriation 2219 – Civic Amenity HJ

Subtotal Appropriation #2219

6



To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Date: 

ATTACHMENT #2 

Director CAO 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS & ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 

INFORMATION REPORT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Kliment Kuzmanovski, Section Manager - Traffic Engineering 

2022-2031 CAPITAL PLAN - PROJECT OVER $500,000: 
NEW TRAFFIC SIGNALS - FUNDING APPROPRIATION (PROJECT 3-3) 

June 8, 2022 File No: 05-1705-30-0019/2022 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027-2031 Total 
City Including DCC $865,000 $950,000 $1 ,010,000 $1,000,000 $1 ,000,000 $5,000,000 $9,825,000 
External Contrib. $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 
Total $865,000 $950,000 $1,010,000 $1 ,000,000 $1,000,000 $5,000,000 $9,825,000 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to present the rationale for appropriation of $865,000 to fund 
the design and construction of new traffic signals, as included in the 2022 to 2031 Capital 
Plan. 

DISCUSSION 

Roadway safety is a primary goal of the City's traffic projects and programs. Intersections 
are the locations where the highest number of motor vehicle collisions and collisions 
involving vulnerable road users (pedestrian and cyclists) occur. The installation of new 
traffic signals at intersections where warranted is necessary to enhance safe pedestrian 
and cyclist movement through these intersections. A lack of signals makes crossing at 
main streets very difficult for pedestrians and cyclists. The scope of the project includes 
all civil and electrical design and construction related to the new traffic signals. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Included within the 2022-2031 Capital Plan, a total of $9,825,000 has been identified for 
detailed engineering design, tendering, and construction. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: -4~ 
-~-;----------------

KI i m tf mt Kuzmanovski, P.Eng. 
Section Manager - Traffic Engineering 

Document Number: 2177139-v1 



ATTACHMENT #3 

)/v1 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
STRATEGIC & CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Mike Friesen - Manager, Strategic Initiatives 

INFORMATION REPORT 

Subject: THE HUB REDEVELOPMENT SITE - PHASE 1 UPDATE 

Date: May 11, 2022 File No: 02-0800-30-0022/1 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. ADP Resolution Letter (Doc# 2177151 ) 

2. DIS Summary (Doc# 2177152) 
3. Consolidated Review Package (Doc# 2177156) 

PURPOSE 

To update Council on the progress to date and next steps for the first of three phases of 
the "Hub" redevelopment site located at 200-236 East 1st Street and 207-225 East 2nd 

Street. This site has previously been referred to as the "North Shore Neighbourhood 
House site" and includes the current North Shore Neighbourhood House (NSNH) 
facility, Derek Inman Park, and several other uses on City-owned property. 

DISCUSSION 

Since its public hearing in October of 2021 - during which Council considered a shell 
rezoning - the first phase of the "Hub" redevelopment has been progressing towards 
initiation . The first phase will include a respite facility operated by CareBC for individuals 
with cognitive impairment and physical frailties as well as 89 affordable rental units 
operated by Catalyst Community Developments (Catalyst). The second and third 
phases - which includes a new and expanded NSNH facility and additional affordable 
rental housing as well as a new and expanded park, respectively - will be completed at 
a later date. 

With the broad strokes of the development enshrined by the shell rezoning, Catalyst 
and CareBC have refined their proposal through detailed design process. That process 
included three steps: presentation to the City's Advisory Design Panel (ADP); a 

Document Number: 2177005 Vl 



INFORMATION REPORT: The Hub Redevelopment Site - Phase 1 Update 
Date: May 11, 2022 

Developer Information Session (DIS) to present the refined project to the public; and a 
staff review. 

Catalyst and their design team presented to ADP on January 19th , 2022 and received 
the panel's endorsement subject to several minor design changes to be addressed to 
the planner's satisfaction (see Attachment 1 -ADP Resolution Letter). On February 8th , 

2022 the proponents hosted a virtual DIS to share their proposed design with the 
interested stakeholders and to hear feedback to support further refinement of their 
proposal (see Attachment 2 - DIS Summary). Additionally, staff reviewed the proposed 
design (see Attachment 3 - Consolidated Review Package) for consistency with City 
bylaws and the conditions of rezoning. The three steps described above have 
contributed to further refinement of the design and will be integrated to the satisfaction 
of staff for the applicant's building permit application . 

In addition to refinement of the design undertaken by the Catalyst and CareBC, staff 
have prepared required agreements and works to support the redevelopment. An offer 
to lease has been prepared, and designs to permit removal of utilities from the site -
and subdivision to create final parcels - are forthcoming. 

NEXT STEPS 

Catalyst and CareBC will submit a building permit application that reflects the outcome 
of the ADP, DIS and staff review processes. During the review period, staff will 
undertake the utility relocation and ancillary works (i .e. community garden relocation, 
interim outdoor childcare facility) and work with the City's Engineering Department to 
subdivide the site. After finalizing the design and undertaking a thorough cost estimate, 
staff will next engage with Council to appropriate required funds to complete the utility 
relocation, childcare outdoor area, and community garden construction; staff anticipate 
appropriation to occur in September. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Mike Fri en 
Manag r, Strategic Initiatives 

Page 2 of 2 



ATTACHMENT #4 

f.!.nt ~ )lv1 
Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation. of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS & ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 

INFORMATION REPORT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Mo Bot, Project Manager - Public Realm Infrastructure 

2022-2031 CAPITAL PLAN - PROJECTS OVER $500,000: 
UPPER LEVELS GREENWAY- FUNDING APPROPRIATION 
(PROJECT 3-20) 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 16-8350-20-0039/1 

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027-2031 Total 
City Including DCC $250,000 $1,950,000 $2,750,000 $0 $0 $0 $4,950,000 
External Contrib. $0 $970,000 $745,000 $0 $0 $0 $1,715,000 
Total $250,000 $2,920,0000 $3,495,000 $0 $0 $0 $6,665,000 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to present the rationale for funding the ongoing Upper Levels 
Greenway route development, design and public engagement. 

BACKGROUND 

The Upper Levels Greenway is being developed as part of the City's commitment to 
provide active transportation and recreation options that support and enhance the health 
and well-being of all community members. The Upper Levels Greenway will stretch from 
Lynn Valley Road to Westview Drive and will be approximately three kilometres long. 
Once complete, it will give people more choice in how they move around the City by 
enhancing access to parks, recreation spaces, community amenities and destinations. 

The Upper Levels Greenway was originally endorsed in the City's Parks and Greenways 
Strategic Plan (2002). In 2019, it was confirmed as a Priority Mobility Network Project 
identified for delivery in Phase 2. The Upper Levels Greenway has also been prioritized 
in the current Council Strategic Plan and supports the strategic goal of a Connected City 
- providing active and sustainable ways for people to move to, from and within the city 
safely and efficiently. This project also aligns with and advances key principles of the Safe 
Mobility Strategy and WalkCNV. 

Document Number: 2183573 vl 



INFORMATION REPORT: Upper Levels Greenway 
Date: June 8, 2022 

DESIGN PROCESS 

The project team is currently engaging the community to establish a preferred route and 
design features. This will ensure the project reflects desired neighbourhood active travel 
patterns and addresses concerns about safety on residential streets and public requests 
for traffic calming. Integration into the City's broader pedestrian and cycling network is 
also a focus of the project to create greater permeability above and below the highway 
via the Jones Avenue and the Casano-Loutet Overpasses. 

Infrastructure types to be used for the project will be determined through consultation and 
designed to suit the context and needs of users. This could include a range of mobility 
options including on-street protected AAA mobility lanes, improved sidewalks and infill 
pedestrian links, as well as the potential for off-street segments to connect 
neighbourhoods efficiently and safely. 

ENGAGEMENT PROCESS 

Without an established preferred corridor, this project presents many opportunities to 
work with the community to understand their needs and collaborate on delivering a 
responsive design that addresses issues and leverages opportunities. The engagement 
process is currently proceeding with considerable uptake from the community. Feedback 
received thus far have helped inform possible routes and tradeoffs to consider. Work 
continues to identify a preferred route through summer 2022. 

Initiation 

Q4 2021-
Ql 2022 

Concept 
Design 

Q2 2022 

Detailed 
Design 

Q3-Q4 2022 

Construction 

2023 (TBC) 

Engagement activities for future phases will be refined to respond to any gaps in outreach, 
leverage approaches that the community responds positively to and to respect any 
COVI D-19 related restrictions. 

INTER-DEPARTMENT AL IMPLICATIONS 

As the Upper Levels Greenway Project will involve a variety of technical components 
including parks design, transportation planning, and overal l road works coordination, the 
project will be delivered through the Public Realm Infrastructure group with a multi
department team from Parks, Environment, Engineering Design, Development Planning , 
Transportation Planning, Communications, and Finance contributing throughout the 
process. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The total estimated cost for design and construction of the Upper Levels Greenway 
Project is $6,665,000 - subject to Council approval. However, it should be noted that 

Page 2 of 3 



INFORMATION REPORT: Upper Levels Greenway 
Date: June 8, 2022 

these are preliminary cost estimates and actual project costs and delivery approach will 
be refined through the ongoing planning and design process. 

As with past active mobility projects, the project costs shown for the years 2022-2023 are 
based on the potential availability of external funding from senior government 
infrastructure grants. The City has been successful in accessing these grants for similar 
projects in the past, and staff will continue to pursue all external funding opportunities. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

This project supports a Connected City, provides active and sustainable ways for people 
to move to, from and within the City safely and efficiently and will result in the increase of 
active transportation mode share, while also supporting the health and well-being of all. 

In addition, the development and implementation of the City's Priority Mobility Network 
Project aligns with and advances key principles of the Safe Mobility Strategy, WalkCNV, 
and established City goals and objectives. Specific OCP objectives include: 

• Objective 2.1: Prioritize walking, cycling, transit and goods movement over single
occupancy vehicles; 

• Objective 3.1: Enhance well-being and quality of life for all community members; 
and 

• Objective 5.2: Support, enhance and maintain recreation as a vital aspect of a 
healthy community. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Mo Bot 
Project Manager - Public Realm Infrastructure 

Page 3 of 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941 Document: 2186990-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8941 

A Bylaw to authorize the expenditure of monies from the 
Development Cost Charge (Parks) Reserve Fund 

for the 2022 Capital Plan Appropriations. 

WHEREAS the entire City is listed in “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” as an 
area where development cost charges for parks will be levied; 
 
AND WHEREAS the development of park land is a capital cost permitted to be paid using 
Development Cost Charge funds under Section 566 of the Local Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Parks) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8941” (2022 Capital Plan Funding). 
 
2. The following amount is hereby appropriated from the Development Cost Charge (Parks) 

Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding: 
  

A. $123,750 for the “Upper Levels Greenways” project. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942 Document: 2186988-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8942 

A Bylaw to authorize the expenditure of monies from the 
Development Cost Charge (Transportation) Reserve Fund 

for the 2022 Capital Plan Appropriations. 

WHEREAS the entire City is listed in “Development Cost Charges Bylaw, 2016, No. 8471” as an 
area where development cost charges for transportation will be levied; 
 
AND WHEREAS the development of highway facilities, other than off street parking, is a capital 
cost permitted to be paid using Development Cost Charge funds under Section 566 of the Local 
Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund Bylaw, 2022, No. 8942” (2022 Capital Plan Funding). 
 
2. The following amount is hereby appropriated from the Development Cost Charge 

(Transportation) Reserve Fund for the purpose of funding: 
 

A. $34,650 for the “Priority Mobility Network Improvements” project. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



./"' t Ur 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
STRATEGIC & CORPORATE SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Dianna Foldi, Sr. Project Manager, Strategic Initiatives 

2022-2031 CAPITAL PLAN - PROJECTS OVER $500,000: 
FUNDING APPROPRIATION AND CONTRACT AWARD 
Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre and 
Silver Harbour Seniors' Activity Centre 

REPORT 

Date: June 3rd, 2022 File No: 02-0800-30-0028/1 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Sr. Project Manager, dated Jurie 3rd, 2022, 
entitled "2022-2031 Capital Plan - Projects Over $500,000: Funding 
Appropriation and Contract Awards": 

THAT staff award the necessary contracts to. proceed with the HJCRC 
construction within the $205M approved budget. 

SUMMARY 

The below tables represent the required funding amounts as shown in the 2022-2031 
Capital Plan, needed to advance the project construction: 

HJCRC: 
2022 - Feb 2022 - June 2023 2024 2025-31 Total 

Civic Amenity Reserve - HJ $14,450,000 $134,497,149 $10,059,881 $1,489,022 $ $160,496,052 
Total $14,450,000 $134,497,149 $10,059,881 $1,489,022 $ $160,496,052 

Silver Harbour Seniors Centre: 
2022 - Feb 2022 - June 2023 2024 2025-31 Total 

Civic Amenity Reserve- HJ $2,550,000 $16,173,891 $1,379,053 $254,415 $ $20,357,359 
Total $2,550,000 $16,173,891 $1,379,053 $254,415 $ $20,357,359 

Document Number: 2186869 V2 



INFORMATION REPORT: 2022-2031 Capital Plan - Project Over $500,000 - Harry Jerome Community 
Recreation Centre 
Date: June 3, 2022 

BACKGROUND: 

The purpose of this report is to provide rationale for the appropriation of the remaining 
funds indicated for the year 2022, in the amount of $150,671,040 and to allow staff to 
proceed with award of contracts within the approved $205M budget, in order to fund the 
Harry Jerome Community Recreation Centre ("HJCRC") and Silver Harbour Seniors' 
Activity Centre ("SH") projects, as per the 2022-2031 Capital Plan. 

DISCUSSION: 

A provision of $160,496,052 for HJCRC and $20,357,359 for SH has been included in the 
2022-2031 Capital Plan to allow for the project oversight, tendering, site servicing and 
construction works. The funding provision is based on the October 2021 - Class B 
estimate that informs the overall HJCRC and SH combined target project budget of $205 
million. Previously in February 2022, Council approved an early appropriation request in 
the amount of $17,000,000 for purposes of funding the Civil and Foundation works, to be 
awarded in advance of the full building construction. The balance of the required 2022 
funding, $150,671,040 as identified in the Capital Plan 2022 - 2031 is now being 
requested to be appropriated to advance the remaining building construction works. With 
the funding appropriation approval the remaining construction contracts will be awarded 
and the project will remain on schedule. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATONS: 

The $150,671,040 appropriation enables award of the remaining building construction 
and associated project oversight contracts for HJCRC and SH. The scope of work 
includes structural, mechanical and electrical works, envelope and elevator, finishes, 
specialties and exterior works. The final tendered amounts and overall project costs will 
be presented to Council in July 2022. The $150,671 ,040 funding appropriation is split 
85% ($134,497,149) and 15% ($16,173,891) respectively, between the two projects. The 
outstanding financing has recently been approved by the Municipal Finance Authority in 
the amount of $109,000,000. 

To date, an amount of $40,777,080 has been appropriated for HJCRC as per the below 
breakout. 

2014 - 2015: 

2016 - 2017: 

2018 - 2019: 

2020 - 2021: 

2022 - Feb: 

$ 350,000 HJCRC - Planning and Feasibility Studies 

$ 2,000,000 HJCRC - Schematic Design 

$ 4,125,000 HJCRC Detailed Design 
$ 6,125,000 HJCRC Detailed Design 

$ 6,083,680 Project Oversight, CM Fee and Civil Works on 23rd 
$ 7,643,400 Tendering of Early Enabling Works 

$14,450,000 Tendering of Civil and Foundation Works 

Page 2 of 3 



INFORMATION REPORT: 2022-2031 Capital Plan - Project Over $500,000 - Harry Jerome Community 
Recreation Centre 
Date: June 3, 2022 

To date, an amount of $5,930,000 has been appropriated for Silver Harbour as per the 
below breakout. 

2018 - 2019: 

2020 - 2021: 

2022 - Feb: 

$ 3,000,000 Silver Harbour (Temp) - Design and Construction 

$ 380,000 Silver Harbour Detailed Design 

$ 2,550,000 Tendering of Civil and Foundation Works 

Total combined funding appropriation to date is $46,707,080. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report has been developed in consultation with the Finance Department. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

After serving the community of North Vancouver for more than 55 years , the existing 
centre, built in 1966 is quickly approaching the end of its useful life. The new Harry 
Jerome Community Recreation centre embraces the City's vision of A Healthy City for 
All by creating a welcoming, vibrant, and social heart of the community. Future 
generations of North Shore residents will enjoy the rejuvenation of this important 
amenity. This state of the art facility will help our citizens maintain or improve health and 
wellness within our community, and inspire residents to be active and connected 
throughout their lives. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 
Dianna Foldi, Sr. Project Manager, 
Strategic Initiatives 

Page 3 of 3 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



CEO President 

c..nergy. r 604.983.7312 , 604.985.9417 t inloOLonsdaleEnergy.ca 

141 West 14th Streal , North Vancouver BC V7M 1H9 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Karsten Veng, Chief Executive Officer, LEC 

SUBJECT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Date: May 25, 2022 

RECOMMENDATION: 

PURSUANT to the report of the Chief Executive Officer of Lonsdale Energy 
Corp., dated May 25, 2022, entitled, "2022 Annual General Meeting": 

THAT the 2021 Financial Statements be received and filed; 

THAT the attached proposed Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the 
Shareholder of Lonsdale Energy Corp. (Attachment 2) be endorsed; 

AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to sign and seal the said 
resolution. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Financial Statements of Lonsdale Energy Corp. for the period ended December 31 , 
2021, made up of the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Net and 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows 

2. Proposed Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the Shareholder of Lonsdale Energy 
Corp. (in lieu of the annual general meeting) 

3. Historical Income Statements for Years of Operation - 2004 - 2021 
4. Summary of Lonsdale Energy Corp. Statistics as of December 31, 2021 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 1 OF 10 



PURPOSE: 

This report provides information concerning Lonsdale Energy Corp.'s (LEC) 2021 
activities and presents the audited Financial Statements for that year (Attachment 1). 
The statements comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The 
report recommends that a resolution be adopted by the City of North Vancouver (the City), 
the sole shareholder of LEC, in lieu of holding an Annual General Meeting. 

DISCUSSION: 

Review of 2021 Activity 
LEC was incorporated on July 7, 2003 and by November of that year, the company started 
to provide hydronic space heating and domestic hot water service to buildings within the 
City. Since then LEC has grown to provide reliable and reasonably priced thermal energy 
and cooling services to customers in four interconnected service areas within the City of 
North Vancouver. 

With the addition of four accounts in 2021 to LEC's distribution network, the Company 
has 105 energy transfer stations delivering heating and cooling services to 99 buildings 
in the City. LEC services approximately 7.67 million square feet of property which includes 
6,765 households as well as numerous commercial and institutional premises. 
Attachment 4 provides additional statistics on the LEC District Energy System (DES). 
The following customers were added to the LEC District Energy System in 2021 : 

Connection Name Service Area Address 
Mar. 2021 Victoria by Domus Homes Central Lonsdale 129 E 12th Street 
Apr. 2021 The Grand Lion Lower Lonsdale 311 W 1st Street 
May 2021 Avesta at 181 W 6th St. Lower Lonsdale 181 W 6th Street 
Jun.2021 OriQin Central Lonsdale 143 E 17th Street 

During 2021 LEC added approximately 640 meters of distribution pIpIng worth 
approximately $2.34 million to the DES. The most significant of these projects was a 
stretch of 460 meters on Chesterfield Avenue from W 3rd Street to Keith Road. This 
second interconnection between the Lower Lonsdale Service Area (LLSA) and Central 
Lonsdale Service Area (CLSA) is farther west than the previous interconnection and 
meets with the CLSA and Harbourside Service Area (HSSA) interconnection. This 
centralizes and harmonizes the flows between the LLSA and HSSA by allowing a more 
direct and efficient pathway to transfer heat (in either direction) than the existing 
interconnection on St. Georges Avenue. Conversely, in the cooling season , th is allows 
the low-carbon heat recovered from the cooling of the Shipyards Precinct to more 
efficiently reach the HSSA. Furthermore, the interconnection increases the capacity of 
thermal energy that can be transferred between LEC's largest service area, Lower 
Lonsdale, and the other service areas, allowing LEC to maximize future low-carbon 
energy sources. Lastly, this interconnection increases the redundancy and reliability of 
the DES by creating another significant pathway for the transfer of thermal energy in the 
case of a plant failure or natural disaster. The remaining distribution piping construction 
during the year was purposed to connect the above noted and future customers to the 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 2 OF 10 



DES. New connections during the year added heating services to 387 new residential 
units. 

LEC added approximately $700,000 in new plant and equipment infrastructure. The most 
significant project was the $327,000 addition of two boilers at Mini-Plant 2 (151 W 2nd 

Street) to service the demand of a growing customer base. The remaining additions to 
plant and equipment primarily consist of construction of energy transfer stations to service 
new customer buildings. The substantial upgrade and migration to a new controls system 
was completed from 2017-2019, and therefore software additions have been less 
significant in the past two years. However, during 2021 LEC continued to improve and 
integrate new customers into its controls and automation system. In addition to saving the 
company money by eliminating the need for 24-hour human supervision of the system, 
LEC's control system provides an abundance of valuable performance data to better 
serve customers, improve system efficiency, and manage the utilization of energy 
sources. 

Although the COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect operating procedures and the 
global economy during 2021, LEC continued to adapt operations to safeguard staff and 
stakeholders' health and maintained its strong financial performance. LEC's revenues 
continued to grow and the Company met all of its interest and principal payment 
obligations. LEC experienced a slowing of development within the City with only four 
connections during 2021. This is the lowest number of connections in the past five years, 
however, management has identified this as a temporary slowdown and LEC's current 
construction schedule expects ten connections in 2022. Despite a return toward normalcy 
in 2022, given the dynamic circumstances and uncertainty around COVID-19, 
management continue to monitor, assess, and strategize around the risks and impacts of 
COVID-19. 

The 2019 Notice of Motion passed by Council setting targets to reduce carbon emissions 
by 80% below 2007 levels by 2040 and by 100% (net zero) by 2050 have prioritized LEC 
efforts towards a transition away from natural gas. Sustainability is a key value for LEC 
and is a part of the vision of the company, and these targets have shifted focus and 
accelerated activity around decarbonization. In 2021 the organization investigated the 
feasibility of several innovative opportunities for sustainable and low-carbon energy such 
as renewable natural gas; digital boilers; sewer heat recovery facilities; ocean source 
heating; and thermal energy storage. The viability of projects is being assessed by staff, 
as well as the implications of additional capital and operating costs on rate payers. 

Review of Financial Performance 
The following table provides a brief summary and timeline of the company's financial 
performance: 

2004-2008 LEC incurred losses which created a deficit during its startup years 
while it constructed infrastructure and established a customer base. 

2009-2014 The company entered a growth phase and began earning a modest 
income and decreasinq its deficit. 

2015 Non-recurring expenses resulting from obligations under a finance 
lease with Corix Utilities Inc. caused an increase in the deficit. 

2016 LEC once again earned a modest income. 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 3 OF 10 



2017-2020 The company matured and experienced rapid growth while eliminating 
the deficit and provided retained earninqs to its shareholder. 

2021-forward The company continues to grow and increases focus on reducing 
carbon emissions of the DES. 

For more details on the historical performance of the company, a summary of LEC's 
financial results is provided in Attachment 3. The financial statements provide the 
financial information of the business for the benefit of the sole shareholder, the City, and 
other stakeholders. LEC is reporting a net income of approximately $700,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2021. This is less than last year's profit of $1,172,000 and is the 
fifth year in a row that LEC has earned a significant profit. A decrease in net income was 
expected, and communicated in last year's Annual General Meeting report, as a result of 
increased operating costs due to the need for additional staff to operate an increasingly 
complex system and serve a customer base that has grown significantly in the past five 
years (energy sales have increased by approximately 103%). In addition to hiring a CEO 
at the end of 2020, LEC added three staff members during 2021 including an Automation 
and Controls Specialist, an additional Project Engineer, and an Accounting and Office 
Administrator. Additionally, a lag in customer connections due to less development 
applications (likely a response to the COVID-19 pandemic) resulted in less than expected 
revenue growth. With ten building connections scheduled for 2022 LEC expects to return 
to a pre-pandemic level of growth . Despite these challenges, LEC earned a net income 
on par with 2017-2019 levels ($581,000-$800,000) and continues to provide a return on 
investment to the shareholder by increasing equity with a Retained Earnings balance of 
$2.5 million. LEC also issued dividends of $33,000 to the shareholder in 2021. 

Statement of Financial Position 
Plant and equipment (consisting primarily of the plant/energy generation equipment, 
distribution system piping and energy transfer stations) continue to make up the majority 
of the LEC's assets . An asset and debt intensive balance sheet is common for a utility 
company which is based on an infrastructure network. Additions of $3.0 million to assets 
was driven by the need to meet new customer demand. Compared to the previous year, 
LEC saw a 31 .7% decrease in its cash balance. LEC's cash balance frequently fluctuates 
as a result of the timing and magnitude of loan draws for capital projects and the timing 
of payments for related projects. The 2020 cash balance was noticeably higher than 2021 
due to a $730,000 loan draw at the end of 2020 to meet the construction schedule. 
Supplies for distribution system and general equipment decreased by $180,675 from 
2020. This inventory is made up of pipes and ancillary materials towards the construction 
of DES infrastructure and therefore, similar to the cash balance, the inventory value on 
hand is subject to construction schedules and shipping time from vendors. 

Accounts receivables grew by approximately 3.5%, however this is related to system 
growth. As seen in Note 5 of the financial statements , the profile of LEC's aging 
receivables improved from 2020 as most receivables in 2021 are classified as current 
receivables. This improvement was driven by the hiring of an additional accounting staff 
member during the year. Greater than 90 days past due balances are minimal, however, 
in the cases of application fees (Note 5(b)) or other fees (Note 5(c)), collection is impacted 
by the fluid nature of construction schedules, construction progress and permitting 
issuance, all of which led to longer collection periods. LEC is confident in the collectability 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 4 OF 10 



of its receivables based on its historical track record of collection and the procedures 
available to the company to ensure collection under Bylaw No. 7575. 

Prepaid expenses are made up of the Company's prepaid insurance. Premiums for 
insurance increased annually on a proportional basis to the growth of LEC's asset base. 
Additionally, premiums have increased based on the influence of global market pressures 
and increased uncertainty in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. LEC continues to 
consult with its insurance broker to limit premium increases wherever possible. 

LEC's Current Ratio (Current Assets/ Current Liabilities) dropped to 0.83 (2020 - 1.03). 
This ratio measures the liquidity of the company and its ability to meet current obligations 
with cash/liquid assets. Generally, maintaining a current ratio of at least 1.0 is 
recommended, to ensure cash/cash equivalents are on hand to cover current obligations, 
however with the frequent cash fluctuations already discussed, this ratio can vary month
to-month for LEC. LEC's management team generates monthly 18-month cash flow 
projections to monitor its cash balance and is confident in the organization's ability to 
meet its short-term obligations. 

LEC continued to use loans from the City as a primary source of funding for the 
construction of new assets in 2021 and therefore these loans make up the majority of the 
Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity of the Company. After netting the loan draws and 
principal payments during 2021 the balance of the loans due to the City increased slightly 
to $26,061,065 in 2021, however the proportion that the lo~n balance makes up of total 
Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity decreased from 64.8% to 63.5%. This is a result of 
LEC continuing to meet and exceed the repayment schedule while also increasing 
retained earnings to the shareholder through profits. These results are also supported by 
a decrease in the Debt-to-Equity Ratio (Total Liabilities / Shareholders' Equity) from 
approximately 9:1 (9.17) in 2020 to 8:1 (7.90) in 2021 which represents the company 
funding less of its assets through debt. Although this ratio seems high, it needs to be 
considered in the context of the capital intensive utility industry and the need to rapidly 
expand the DES to meet the boom of developments within the City during LEC's 
existence. The company needed to rapidly construct infrastructure to connect new 
buildings within the City in order to maximize current and future potential carbon emission 
reductions in the community. 

Statement of Net and Comprehensive Income 
Financial results on the Statement of Net and Comprehensive Income indicate strong 
financial performance despite increases in Costs of Sales and Operating Expenses for 
the Company. Revenues increased by 17.4% from 2020 as the system grew and LEC 
received revenues from new customers, however Cost of Sales have increased at a 
greater rate (36.9%) resulting in the Gross Margin ([Revenue - Cost of Sales]/ Revenue) 
decreasing to 56.3% (2020 - 62.5%). Cost of Sales are the direct cost toward generating 
thermal energy and currently comprise of energy purchases from FortisBC. FortisBC 
significantly increased rates over the past few years due to the economic fallout of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, a pipe rupture outside of Prince George in October 
2018 has had long term impacts on the natural gas market and rate increases from 
FortisBC. Generally, the risk of changes in energy purchase costs having an impact on 
LEC's gross margin has been mitigated by the Company's Bylaw provision to adjust 
Commodity rates on a monthly basis to match changes in the price of FortisBC's Rate 3. 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 5 OF 10 



However, Fortis BC rate changes in 2021 included increases to their fixed Demand 
Charges, which are not considered under Bylaw No. 7575's rate structure, and as such, 
these additional costs have not been passed on to LEC's customers. Management is 
aware of this issue and is reviewing the rate structure provided in the bylaw, and has 
engaged with a consultant to review the possibility of using longer term fixed price 
contracts with FortisBC. However, current natural gas costs, as well as future carbon tax 
increases, are further motivation for the Company to diversify its energy purchases with 
more low carbon energy sources. 

Operating expenses increased by 22.9% ($665,000) from 2020 to 2021. Operations 
remained largely unchanged year-over-year and this is reflected in minimal changes to 
the Plant Operation and Maintenance costs. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line 
basis in consideration of the useful lives of LEC's assets as outlined in Note 4(a)(iii). 
Therefore, increases in depreciation are proportional to the recent asset additions. The 
majority of the increase in Operating Expenses is within the General and Administrative 
expenses which are detailed in Note 13. The increase in these expenses is primarily 
driven by an increase in salaries resulting from the hiring of a CEO, an Automation and 
Controls Specialist, a Project Engineer, and an Accounting and Office Administrator. As 
mentioned in last year's Annual General Meeting report, LEC's profits had benefited from 
a lag in operating costs due to lean staffing, however management identified numerous 
staffing needs to advance LEC's low-carbon energy objectives, properly operate the 
current DES, and meet the service needs of a larger customer base (an approximate 50% 
increase in buildings over the past five years). 

LEC's Net Income dropped to $699,529 in 2021 (2020 - $1,171,917) and its Profit Margin 
(Net Income / Revenue) decreased to 9.3% (2020 - 18.2%). This is a result of the 
previously mentioned increases to Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses, and the impact 
of these increased expenses was amplified by only four building connections in the year. 
Management views this as a temporary slowdown with 10 connections scheduled for 
2022 and 26 in the following four years (2023-26). The Net Income earned in 2021 still 
represents a significant return for the shareholder and is on par with earnings from 2017-
2019 indicating continued strong financial performance from LEC. 

Amount Due to the City of North Vancouver 
On June 29, 2012 the City received a loan of $2,000,000 under the Green Municipal 
Investment Fund Project Loan through the Municipal Finance Authority ("MFA") to finance 
eligible capital costs. Funding was transferred to LEC who is responsible for principal and 
interest payments. As of December 31, 2021, the loan had an outstanding balance of 
approximately $237,098 (2020 - $465,077). The final principal payment which will retire 
this loan is scheduled for June 2022. 

On August 1, 2018, the City authorized a five-year demand term loan maturing on August 
1, 2023, and bearing an interest rate of 2.65% per annum. The total authorized amount 
of this loan $33,661,966. This replaced and consolidated funding previously approved by 
Council for various capital projects authorized from 2013 to 2018. As of December 31, 
2021, the amount owed to the City against the loan was $25,098,086 (2020 -
$25, 173,086). Under the terms of the agreement additional funding of $5,955,000 may 
be drawn by LEC for future construction. 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 6 OF 10 



On July 15, 2019, the company was authorized to borrow an additional $1,681,000 from 
the City bearing the same interest rate and terms as the above loan for additional capital 
projects scheduled into 2021. This increases the total funding available to the Company 
from the City to $35,342,966. As of December 31, 2021, the amount owed to the City 
against this loan was $1,605,000 (2020 - $1,345,000). Under the terms of the agreement 
additional funding of $76,000 may be drawn by LEC for future construction. 

In a report to Council dated June 6, 2017, titled "2017-2018 LEC Construction Program 
Financing", the company informed Council of its intention to cease using its operating 
revenue for the purpose of funding capital expansions and major upgrades. This practice 
enhances transparency as LEC would borrow funding for future capital projects making 
Council aware of significant capital projects for the company. Concurrently operating 
revenue could then be targeted toward the principal payment of older loans. Based on 
the loan repayment schedule provided and approved by Council the company was 
designated to allocate $1,464,000 of Capacity Revenue for this purpose in 2021. This 
was achieved and exceeded through payment of $708,798 of interest and $850,000 of 
principal payments in 2021 totaling $1,558,798 towards LEC's debt obligations. This 
exceeds the scheduled amount by approximately $95,000. In addition to these payments, 
administrative services and operations activities provided by the City are reimbursed on 
a quarterly basis. 

At year-end, LEC had a cash balance of approximately $921,000. Approximately 
$225,000 of this cash balance was made up of drawn funds relating to the above noted 
loans. As many of LEC's capital projects are constructed over extended periods of time, 
management often makes progress draws to minimize interest costs resulting in frequent 
fluctuations of its cash balance. Loan dollars are solely used on the capital projects 
specified in the loan agreements. The remaining balance reflects LEC's available working 
capital as of December 31, 2021. 

The loans provided by the City have facilitated the significant growth of LEC's 
infrastructure and connection to 99 buildings by the end of 2021 . This investment will 
allow the DES to maximize carbon reductions within the community as new low-carbon 
energy sources are connected. Additionally, the City continues to earn a competitive 
return on the loans in the form of a 2.65% interest rate resulting in $708,798 in interest 
revenue for the City in 2021. This is comparable to the 2.48% yielded from the City's fixed 
income investment portfolio in 2021 . Lastly, a Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Earnings 
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization [EBITDA] / Total Debt Service) of 
approximately 2.0 provides the City with confidence that LEC can meet its debt 
obligations. This means that based on 2021 earnings LEC could adequately cover all of 
its debt obligations for the year twice. 

Annual General Meeting 
Legislation requires that each year the company hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
so that its shareholders can approve the Company's financial statements; appoint the 
Directors and Auditors; and conduct any other business as required. Alternatively, the 
shareholders may consent in writing to the business required to be transacted at the AGM. 
Accordingly, a Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the Shareholder (Attachment 2) has 
been submitted so that the shareholder may consent to the resolutions to be passed at 
an AGM. 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 7 OF 10 



The consent resolution names BOO Canada LLP as auditors of the Company until the 
next annual reference date or until a successor is appointed. The City and LEC issued a 
Request for Proposal of Professional Audit Services for the audit of the 2021 to 2025 
Financial Statements and BOO was the successful proponent. 

Nomination of the Directors 
Article 18.1 of the Articles of the company specifies the officers that must be appointed to 
the company as follows: a Chair of the Board, a Vice-Chair, a President and a Secretary
Treasurer. 

A Unanimous Consent Resolution of the Shareholder dated December 21, 2018 
appointed Leanne McCarthy and Jessica Mcilroy to the LEC Board . Additionally, a 
Unanimous Consent Resolution of the Shareholder dated December 7, 2020 appointed 
Karsten Veng to the Board. The proposed Unanimous Consent Resolutions of the 
Shareholder has been prepared on the same basis as previous years and references 
LEC's Officers as follows: 

Name 

Leanne McCarthy 

Jessica Mcilroy 

Karsten Veng 

Office 

Chair of the Board and President 

Vice-Chair and Director At Large 

Secretary-Treasurer 

Karsten Veng also acts as the Chief Executive Officer of the company and is therefore 
involved in the day-to-day management and operations of the company. The title Director 
at Large recognizes the fact that while not being specifically involved in the company's 
operations, the appointee represents the communities' broader interests. 

Low-Carbon and Sustainable Energy Sources 
In addition to achieving a return on investment for its shareholder, LEC aligns with the 
City's goal of reducing carbon emissions within the community and LEC is continuously 
exploring new ways to innovate and enhance the sustainability of its DES. Currently, 
LEC's renewable energy sources include a solar panel array on the roof of the Library, a 
geo-exchange field under the School District 44 head office, as well as recovery of 
rejected heat from the cooling process used in cooling services at the School District 44 
head office, the Shipyard Commons and the newly constructed ice rink. These energy 
sources are used in priority and directly offset energy that would otherwise be provided 
by natural gas fired boilers in LEC's system. The structure and layout of the DES, with 
centralized energy plants, enables seamless integration of a wide variety of low carbon 
energy sources. 

On October 5, 2017, LEC entered into a Thermal Energy Sale and Purchase Agreement 
with the Greater Vancouver Sewerage & Drainage District (GVS&DD). Under the 
agreement, GVS&DD is to recover heat energy from the treated sewerage effluent which 
will then be distributed throughout LEC's DES. The GHG reduction resulting from this 
heat recovery will allow LEC to supply a considerably large amount of low-carbon energy 
to customers (20,000-30,000 MWh). This would represent approximately 26-39% of the 
76,600 MWh of energy LEC delivered in 2021. LEC received Council's approval on July 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 8 OF 10 



24, 2017, for a loan of $3.6 million to fund the capital cost of the distribution system linking 
the NSWWTP with the Harbourside service area. Upon completion, GVS&DD will be 
responsible for the operation and maintenance of the heat recovery facility. Due to 
construction delays, there is uncertainty on when LEC will receive heat energy from this 
project. 

Decarbonization of the system is a key objective for LEC and it is increasingly exploring 
the feasibility of technologies that will result in significant emissions reductions for the 
buildings sector. Technologies currently being investigated by staff include digital boilers; 
server/data centre heat recovery; sewer heat recovery; ocean source heating; and 
thermal storage to maximize low carbon energy sources. In 2021 LEC engaged 
consultants to conduct feasibility studies on a number of these projects, as well as opened 
up conversations with other stakeholders such as the City, BC Hydro and Metro 
Vancouver, on potential projects viability. At the end of 2021, LEC agreed with FortisBC 
to purchase Renewable Natural Gas (RNG) at two of its plants for the 2022 calendar year. 
Management also identified a significant funding opportunity through the CleanBC 
Community Fund Intake 3 to proceed with a renewable energy project with a grant 
deadline of May 25, 2022. 

Management continues to develop a decarbonization plan to map and project GHG 
emission reductions based on existing renewable energy sources, the NSWWTP Plant, 
a Sewer Heat Recovery Facility with grant support, and future implementation of the other 
technologies. Considering the large capital investment necessary for these renewable 
energy sources, as well as higher operating costs, all of these opportunities need to be 
considered for financial viability and impact on rate payers. · LEC will complete rigorous 
financial analysis on these projects before making any investment decisions or 
recommendations. 

Outlook for 2022 
2022 will be a busy year for LEC as construction schedules return to pre COVID-19 levels 
and the company continues its carbon reduction journey. With the continued aging of the 
DES, LEC has implemented a new and more robust preventative and corrective 
maintenance contract for its plant and equipment in 2022. It is expected the contract will 
increase maintenance and repairs costs for 2022, however it will help LEC avoid 
significant repair costs and reduce the possibility of plant failures and/or significant 
replacement in the future. The ten scheduled customer connections in 2022 is a return to 
the level of connections seen in 2019 (13) and 2020 (8) as opposed to the slowdown 
experienced in 2021 (4). All of the distribution system construction activity in 2022 is 
purposed towards connecting these new buildings, as opposed to previous years where 
significant projects were undertaken to interconnect service areas. In addition to building 
energy distribution infrastructure, LEC will need to increase capacity at MP8 by 
approximately 4.5 MW with the addition of three high efficiency natural gas boilers to meet 
the customer demand for the coming winter. LEC continues to seek renewable energy 
sources, as well as a thermal storage solution, to add capacity not dep'endent on natural 
gas, however no sustainable energy projects will reach an implementation stage before 
winter 2022/2023. Fortunately, the commencement of RNG purchases will roughly offsets 
the added natural gas capacity at MP8. This added capacity will also provide the DES 
with redundancy in the future when more low-carbon energy sources are utilized, 
increasing the resiliency of the system. 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING PAGE 9 OF 10 



In 2022 LEC will continue to increase focus on the decarbonization of the DES. LEC 
began purchasing RNG in January and is committed to purchasing the equivalent of 
13,889 MWh of energy. Based on energy projections for 2022, it is expected this will 
replace approximately 14% of natural gas purchases in the year. LEC and the City 
continue to progress towards a renewable energy project with the possibility of the project 
being co-funded through a grant from the CleanBC Communities Fund. Considering the 
significance of the grant funds available (73% of eligible project costs), the selected 
project would be large in scope and provide significant reductions to system-wide carbon 
emissions. LEC is at various stages of investigation, assessment, and progression of its 
other sustainable energy projects. In relation to an increased focus on sustainability and 
community engagement LEC hired a Communications Officer in May 2022, and intends 
to hire another position focused on sustainable energy development before the end of the 
year. These positions are needed to increase the ability of the Company to seek and 
implement sustainability initiatives and enhance engagement, communication, and 
dissemination of information/knowledge with stakeholders. 
A key objective of LEC is to ensure a high level of redundancy and resiliency of the District 
Energy System. While the main objective of pursuing low carbon energy projects is to 
reduce LEC's greenhouse gas emissions, these new projects will also incorporate new 
fuel sources (waste heat and electricity), which will provide the system with increased 
redundancy and resiliency. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Discussed throughout the report. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

LEC works in constant cooperation with City departments. LEC is involved in the review 
of development and building permit applications of buildings with a floor area exceeding 
1,000 square meters. All LEC projects are reviewed by the Engineering, Parks and 
Environment department to ensure proper coordination between LEC and the City. The 
Finance Department is also. involved in the invoicing of all City charges recoverable from 
LEC. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY: 

REPORT: 2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Karsten Veng, P.Eng., PMP 
Chief Executive Officer, LEC 

PAGE 10 OF 10 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Statements of 
 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



 
 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Shareholders of Lonsdale Energy Corp. 
 
Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Lonsdale Energy Corp. (the “Entity”), which comprise the 
Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2021, and the Statements of Net and Comprehensive 
Income, Changes in Equity and Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Entity in accordance 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
  

DRAFT



 

 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  
 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Vancouver, British Columbia 
[Date of Board Approval] 

DRAFT



 

 1 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Note 2021 2020 
 
Assets 
 
Current Assets: 

Cash  $ 921,407 $ 1,349,238 
Accounts receivable 5 2,034,954 1,966,861 
Prepaid expenses  115,033 74,815 
   3,071,394 3,390,914 

 
Plant and equipment 6(a) 37,008,595 35,625,669 
Supplies for the distribution system and general 
 equipment 6(b) 372,657 553,332 
Software assets 7 576,055 557,746 
Debt Reserve Fund 8(c) 20,000 20,000 
   $ 41,048,701 $ 40,147,661 
 
Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity 
 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 951,997 $ 947,124 
Security deposits  555,059  405,059 
Due to the City of North Vancouver 8(a) 666,137 525,425 
Current portion of Loan from City of North   
   Vancouver 8(b) 642,021 512,021 
Current portion of loan from Green Municipal 

Investment Fund 8(c) 237,098 227,979 
Current portion of deferred contributions 9 655,380 669,309 
   3,707,692 3,286,917 

 
Loan from City of North Vancouver 8(b) 26,061,065 26,006,065 
Loan from Green Municipal Investment Fund 8(c) - 237,098 
Deferred contributions 9 6,666,713 6,670,879 
  36,435,470 36,200,959 
 
Shareholder’s equity: 

Share capital 10 2,000,010 2,000,010 
Contributed surplus  111,723 111,723 
Retained earnings  2,501,498 1,834,969 

  4,613,231 3,946,702 
Commitments and contingencies (note 14)   
 
   $ 41,048,701 $ 40,147,661 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
   Director     Director 



 

 2 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Statement of Net and Comprehensive Income 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Note 2021 2020 
 
Revenue 12 $ 7,538,894 $ 6,418,511 
 
Cost of sales  3,292,352 2,405,710 
   4,246,542 4,012,801 
 
 
Operating expenses: 

Plant operation and maintenance  382,831 382,410 
Depreciation  1,751,491 1,627,878 

General and administrative 13 1,435,982 895,126 
  3,570,304 2,905,414 

 
 
Contributions and financing costs: 

Contributions 9 & 12 655,380 669,309 
Finance income  82,709  94,106 
Finance costs 8(b) & 8(c) (714,798) (698,885) 
   23,291 64,530 

 
 
Net income and comprehensive income  $ 699,529 $ 1,171,917 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 



 

 3 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  Share Contributed Retained Shareholder’s 
  capital surplus earnings equity 
     
 
Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 2,000,010 $ 111,723 $ 697,052 $ 2,808,785 
 
Net income and 

comprehensive income - - 1,171,917 1,171,917 
 
Cash dividends  - - (34,000) (34,000) 
 
 
Balance, December 31, 2020 2,000,010 111,723 1,834,969 3,946,702 
 
Net income and 

comprehensive income - - 699,529 699,529 
 
Cash dividends (Note 10)  - - (33,000) (33,000) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 2,000,010 $ 111,723 $ 2,501,498 $ 4,613,231 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 



 

 4 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Cash provided by (used in) 
 
Operations: 

Net income  $ 699,529 $ 1,171,917 
Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 1,751,491 1,627,878 
Recognition of deferred contributions (655,380) (669,309) 
Net finance cost 632,089 604,779 

Change in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accounts receivable (68,093) (633,221) 
Prepaid expenses (40,218) (17,487) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  4,873 452,532 
Due to the City of North Vancouver  140,712 3,190 
Security deposits 150,000 75,000 

Net cash from operating activities 2,615,003 2,615,279 
 
Investing: 

Purchase of plant and equipment (including 
supplies for the distribution system put into use) (3,035,251) (2,836,175) 

Change in supplies for distribution system 180,675 (116,708) 
Purchase of software assets (117,475) (67,709) 
Interest received 82,709 94,106 
Net cash used in investing activities (2,889,342) (2,926,486) 

 
Financing: 

Contributions received 637,285 820,905 
Repayments of loans from the City of North Vancouver (850,000) (440,000) 
Proceeds from loans from the City of North Vancouver  1,035,000 1,335,000 
Dividends paid to the City of North Vancouver  (33,000) (34,000) 
Interest paid (714,798) (698,885) 
Principal payments on Green Municipal Investment Fund loan (227,979) (219,210) 
Net cash from financing activities (153,492) 763,810 

 
(Decrease) / Increase in cash (427,831) 452,603 
 
Cash, beginning of year 1,349,238 896,635 
 
Cash, end of year $ 921,407 $ 1,349,238 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 



 

 5 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

1. Reporting entity: 

Lonsdale Energy Corp. (the “Company”) is domiciled in Canada and was incorporated under 
the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on July 7, 2003 and commenced 
development activities thereafter and commercial operations on March 1, 2004. Since 
inception, the efforts of the Company have been devoted to the development and operation of 
a district energy system in the City of North Vancouver. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is Suite E, 15 Chesterfield Place, North Vancouver, British Columbia, V7M 
3K3.  

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
(the “City”), the parent organization. The full financial statements of the City are publicly 
available and produced by the City.  

Under Section 149(1)(d) of the Income Tax Act, the Company is exempt from income and 
capital taxes by virtue of the fact that it is a wholly owned subsidiary of the City. 

2. Basis of presentation: 

(a) Statement of compliance: 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on May 31, 2022. 

(b) Basis of measurement: 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost and a going concern basis. 
The going concern basis of presentation assumes the Company will continue in operation for 
the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and settle its liabilities and 
commitments in the normal course of business. 

Management believes that, based on its current cash flow forecasts and the continued and on-
going availability of financing, when and if required, to fund future capital requirements that the 
Company will be able to operate for the foreseeable future. 

(c) Presentation of financial statements: 

The Company uses a classified statement of financial position. The statement of financial 
position distinguishes between current and non-current assets and liabilities. Current assets 
and liabilities are those expected to be recovered or settled within twelve months from the 
reporting date and non-current assets and liabilities are those where the recovery or settlement 
is expected to occur more than twelve months from the reporting date. The Company classifies 
the statement of net and comprehensive income using the function of expense method, which 
classifies expenses according to their functions, such as costs of operation or administrative 
activities. 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 6 

2. Basis of presentation (continued): 

(d) Functional and presentation currency: 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. 

(e) Critical accounting judgements and estimates: 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in 
any future periods affected. 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of 
resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year are included in the 
following notes: 

Note 5 and 15 - valuation of accounts receivable 

Note 4(a)(iii), 4(g) and 6 - useful lives of plant and equipment and valuation of plant and 
equipment 

Note 4(b) and 7 - useful lives of software assets 

3. Adoption of new accounting standards: 

There are no new accounting standards, interpretations and/or amendments impacting the 
Company that have been adopted for the accounting year beginning on January 1, 2021 which 
have given rise to changes in the Company’s accounting policies or resulted in any material 
changes to the Company’s financial statements.  

4. Significant accounting policies: 

(a)  Plant and equipment, supplies for the distribution system: 

(i) Recognition and measurement: 

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The 
cost of self-constructed assets include the cost of materials and direct labour, any other 
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 
use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located, and borrowing costs on qualifying assets. 

 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 7 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(a)  Plant and equipment, supplies for the distribution system (continued): 

The supplies for the distribution system are capital items, not for resale, which have yet to 
be used in the construction of the distribution system infrastructure, and accordingly, are 
not amortized until installed and available for use. 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalized as part of that equipment. 

When significant parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by 
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, 
and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss. 

(ii) Subsequent costs: 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the 
part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant and 
equipment are recognized in statement of net and comprehensive income as incurred. 

 (iii)  Depreciation: 

Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset less 
its residual value. 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of each part of an item of plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the 
expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.  

Depreciation of the various components of the general equipment and sections of the 
distribution system starts once a component/section is available for use at the following 
rates on a straight line basis for the current and comparative periods: 
 
Asset  Rate 
 
Distribution system  2.5% 
Communication system  4% 
General equipment  5% 
Computer and office equipment  20% 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year 
end and adjusted if appropriate. 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 8 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b)  Software assets: 

The software assets are integral to the functionality of related equipment. Software assets are 
recognized at cost, net of accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. Software assets, less their estimated residual values, are amortized on a straight-line 
basis. Depreciation of the software assets starts once the software is available for use at the 
following rate on a straight line basis for the current and comparative periods: 
 
Asset  Rate 
 
Software  10% 
 

The estimated useful lives, amortization method, and residual value of each asset are 
evaluated annually or more frequently if required, and are adjusted, if appropriate. 

(c)  Revenue recognition: 

The Company recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a promised good or services, 
which constitutes a performance obligation under the contract, to a customer and where the 
Company is entitled to consideration as a result of completion of the performance obligation. 
Depending on the terms of the contract with the customer, revenue recognition can occur at a 
point in time or over time. When a performance obligation is satisfied, revenue is measured at 
the transaction price that is allocated to that performance obligation. Revenue is recognized 
over time generally using output as a measure or progress (i.e. kilowatt hours delivered) as the 
Company’s customers simultaneously receive and consume energy. Energy sales are based 
on fixed rates and meter readings and are billed on a cyclical basis. Revenue is accrued for 
energy delivered but not yet billed where collection of the relevant receivable is probable, 
persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists and the sales price is fixed or determinable and 
it is highly probable that a subsequent change in its estimate would result in a significant 
revenue reversal. 

Application fee revenues are based on a percentage of the value of a development. Revenue 
is earned and recognized annually on an accrual basis over the three year period services are 
provided. 

Connection fee revenues are determined based on the capacity requirements planned for a 
development and are initially deferred and recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis 
consistent with the depreciation of the asset. 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 9 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(d)  Government grants: 

Government grants are recognized initially as deferred contributions at fair value when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Company will comply with the 
conditions associated with the grant. Grants that compensate the Company for operating 
expenses incurred are initially deferred and recognized in statement of net and comprehensive 
income as other income in the same periods in which the expenses are recognized. Grants 
that compensate the Company for the cost of an asset are initially deferred and recognized in 
profit or loss on a systematic basis consistent with the depreciation of the of the asset, over the 
useful life of the asset when put into use. 

(e)  Finance income and finance costs: 

Finance income comprises of interest on funds invested. Interest income is recognized as it 
accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on 
provisions, and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. Borrowing costs that are not 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 (f)  Financial instruments: 

(i) Financial assets: 

The Company has the following financial assets: cash and accounts receivables. 

The Company initially recognizes cash and accounts receivable on the date on which they 
are originated. Cash and accounts receivable are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently classified and measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate 
method, because they meet the solely payments of principal and interest criterion and are 
held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows. The carrying amount is reduced through the use of a loss allowance 
and the amount of the related loss allowance is recognized in profit or loss (Note 5(c)). 
Subsequent recoveries of receivables and unbilled service revenue previously provisioned 
are credited to profit or loss. 

Due to its short term nature, the carrying amounts of accounts receivable and unbilled 
service revenue approximates their fair value.   

 (ii) Financial liabilities: 

The Company initially recognizes financial liabilities on the date that they are originated. 
All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 10 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(f)  Financial instruments (continued): 

(ii) Financial liabilities (continued): 

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expire. 

The Company has the following financial liabilities: accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, due to the City of North Vancouver, security deposits, loan from City of North 
Vancouver, and loan from the Green Municipal Investment Fund. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

(iii) Share capital: 

Common shares 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. 

(g)  Impairment of long lived assets: 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit, 
or CGU”). 

The Company’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an 
indication that a corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined 
for the CGU to which the corporate asset belongs. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 11 

4. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(h) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted: 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards have been published by the IASB but are not yet 
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Company. Management anticipates that all 
of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Company's accounting policies for the 
first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. There are currently no new 
standards, amendments, or interpretations that are expected to materially impact the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
5. Accounts receivable: 

 
  2021 2020 
 
Trade receivables     $ 1,834,818 $ 1,782,951 
Sales tax receivable   200,136 183,910 
 
     $ 2,034,954 $ 1,966,861 
 
The Company settles the receivables due from the City separate from its payment of the amounts 
due to the City. As a result, the outstanding receivables and payables due from/to the City are 
recorded on a gross basis. 

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was: 
 

  2021 2020 
 
(a) Utilities 

Current     $ 1,579,866 $ 778,010 
Past due 30-60 days   116,191 501,070 
Past due 60-90 days   2,024 55,347 
Past due greater than 90 days   22,087 41,914 

 
(b) Application fees 

Current     $ - $ - 
Past due 30-60 days   - 26,775 
Past due 60-90 days   - - 
Past due greater than 90 days   39,375 4,567 

 
(c) Other 

Current     $ 52,042 $ 148,507 
Past due 30-60 days   - - 
Past due 60-90 days   - - 
Past due greater than 90 days   23,233 226,761 
 

     $ 1,834,818 $ 1,782,951 
  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 12 

5. Accounts receivable (continued): 

(a) Utilities 

Included in utilities are trade receivables for the monthly provision of space heating, space 
cooling and domestic hot water services.  

(b) Application fees 

Included in application fees are trade receivables for 0.15% of the construction value of new 
developments connecting to the Company’s district energy system. These trade receivables 
cover multiple phases of development and the developers are offered the option of paying fees 
separately by phase. Phased payments can result in the potential for longer aging of trade 
receivables. These trade receivables are still expected to be collected within one year.  

(c) Other 

Included in other are trade receivables such as the connection fees from new customers or 
contributions from developers for extended distribution piping as part of the initial connection 
of a building to the system. 

The Company measures the loss allowance using the simplified method at an amount equal to 
the lifetime expected credit loss (ECL) for trade receivables. The ECL is an estimation of loss 
in the event of default of the trade receivable arising from default events occurring in the lifetime 
of the instrument. The lifetime ECL is estimated based on historical default rates and forward 
looking trends in the energy and real estate industry.  

No loss allowance has been made in relation to the collectability of accounts receivable as at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 as the impact is expected to be trivial. 

 
  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 13 

6. Plant and equipment: 
 

(a) The Company’s plant and equipment consists of the following: 
 
  Distribution General 
  system equipment Total 
 
Cost 
 
Balance as at 
 December 31, 2020 $ 28,012,777 $ 17,364,702 $ 45,377,479 
 
Additions 2,338,816 696,435 3,035,251 
 
Disposal - - - 
 
Balance as at 
 December 31, 2021 $ 30,351,593 $ 18,061,137 $ 48,412,730 
 
Accumulated depreciation 

 
Balance as at 
 December 31, 2020 $ 3,686,646 $ 6,065,164 $ 9,751,810 
  
Depreciation 771,106 881,219 1,652,325 
 
Disposal - - - 
 
Balance as at  
 December 31, 2021 $ 4,457,752 $ 6,946,383 $ 11,404,135 
 
Net book value 
At December 31, 2020 $ 24,326,131 $ 11,299,538 $ 35,625,669 
At December 31, 2021 25,893,841 11,114,754 37,008,595 
 

(b) Supplies for the distribution system and general equipment represent $372,657 (2020 - 
$553,332) in plant and equipment which have not been installed or used for the district energy 
system as at December 31, 2021. Consequently, they are not being amortized. 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 14 

7. Software assets: 
 
 
Cost 
 
Balance, at December 31, 2020 $ 896,282 
 
Additions 117,475 
 
Balance, at December 31, 2021 $ 1,013,757 
 
Accumulated Depreciation 
 
Balance, at December 31, 2020 $ 338,536 
 
Depreciation 99,166 
 
Balance, at December 31, 2021 $ 437,702 
 
Net book value 
 
At December 31, 2020 $ 557,746 
At December 31, 2021 $ 576,055 
 
In 2014, the Company initiated the replacement and upgrade of the central control system in the 
Lower Lonsdale service area as well as acquiring a new financial reporting system software. The 
new financial reporting system was put into service in March 2015 and is being amortized over its 
estimated useful life of 10 years. The control system was put into service in July 2016 and is being 
amortized over its estimated useful life of 10 years.  
 
In 2017, the Company undertook further controls upgrades for the Harbourside and Central 
Lonsdale service areas. The control system in Harbourside was put into service in September 2017, 
the Central Lonsdale system was completed and put into service in January 2019. New customers 
and customers in the new Moodyville service area have been substantially added to the control 
system as they have been connected to the district energy system.   

8. Due to the City of North Vancouver: 

(a)  Due to the City of North Vancouver: 

The amount due to the City of $666,137 (2020 - $525,425) arises from operating and financing 
expenses paid by the City on behalf of the Company. The amounts outstanding as at December 
31, 2021 are expected to be repaid as part of the ongoing operations of the Company. The 
amount due to the City is non-interest bearing, unsecured and due on demand. 

 
  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 15 

8. Due to the City of North Vancouver (continued): 

(b)  Loans from the City of North Vancouver: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Demand promissory note (i) $ 25,098,086 $ 25,173,086 
Demand promissory note (ii) 1,605,000 1,345,000 
 
  $ 26,703,086 $ 26,518,086 
 
(i) On August 1, 2018 a five-year demand term loan was issued by the City to borrow a 

maximum of $33,661,966. This Promissory Note replaced and nullified all previous 
Promissory Notes issued by the City to the Company. The loan matures on August 1, 2023 
and bears interest at 2.65% per annum. As at December 31, 2021 an amount of 
$25,098,086 remains due to the City. During the year, the Company drew $775,000 (2020 
- $690,000) from this promissory note. Additional funding available to the Company  under 
the terms of the agreement is $5,955,000, which the Company expects to draw on for future 
asset construction.  

(ii) On July 15, 2019 the City’s Council authorized the Company to borrow an additional 
$1,681,000. This Promissory Note carries the same terms as the Promissory Note in Note 
8.(b)(i). As at December 31, 2021 an amount of $1,605,000 remains due to the City. During 
the year, the Company drew $260,000 (2020 - $645,000) from this promissory note. 
Additional funding is available to the Company under the terms of the agreement to a 
maximum of $76,000. 

Although the term loans are due on demand, with the exception of an amount of $642,021 
(2020 – $512,021), the amounts have been classified as a non-current liability as the City has, 
as approved by council, committed to providing the Company with a twelve month notice period 
for any reimbursements of the loan requested in advance of the planned repayment schedule 
based on management’s forecast.  

In 2021, $850,000 (2020 - $440,000) was repaid to the City in payment of the principal of the 
loans from the City. The interest expense of $708,798 (2020 - $692,885) related to the Due to 
the City of North Vancouver is included in finance costs in the statement of net and 
comprehensive income. 

The loans are secured by an interest in all of the Company’s current and future property, 
including plant and equipment, supplies for the distribution system and other related assets.  

 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 16 

8. Due to the City of North Vancouver (continued): 

(c)  Loan from Green Municipal Investment Fund: 

On June 29, 2012, the City received a loan of $2,000,000 under the Green Municipal 
Investment Fund Project Loan through the Municipal Finance Authority (“MFA”) to finance 
eligible costs incurred related to the capital projects undertaken by the Company. The loan 
bears interest at the ten year Government of Canada bond yield rate in effect at the date of 
request of the disbursement less 1.5% (effective interest rate of 0.3%) and is payable semi- 
annually and matures on the tenth anniversary of the loan date. As a condition to receive the 
loan, the Company made a debt reserve deposit payment of $20,000 which is recorded on the 
statement of financial position. 

The annual principal payments to the MFA are held in a sinking fund deposit account which 
accrues interest income based on actuarial estimates. The total principal repayments made 
including the interest income earned on the sinking fund deposit will be used to retire the loan 
on June 29, 2022. The difference between the actuarial and actual interest income earned 
during the term will be paid by or reimbursed to the Company. 

The City assumed this loan on behalf of the Company. The City then loaned the proceeds of 
the loan to the Company with terms consistent with the MFA. The loan is subject to certain 
financial and non-financial covenants. As at December 31, 2021, the City and Company were 
in compliance with these covenants. 

Future principal repayments, including actuarial adjustments of $70,516 (2020 - $131,913), on 
this loan over the year is as follows: 
 
 
2022    $ 237,098 
 

        $ 237,098 
 
The interest expense of $6,000 (2020 - $6,000) is included in finance costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 17 

9. Deferred contributions: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
(a) Green Municipal Investment Fund Project Grant $ 820,052 $ 904,844 
(b) Gas Tax Agreement – Innovation Fund 724,447 748,845 
(c) Infrastructure Stimulus Fund Grant 75,478 77,561 
(d) Solar Water Installation 109,281 122,941 
(e) Contributions from developers and new customers 5,573,730 5,464,163 
(f) Contributions from utility company 19,105 21,834 
  7,322,093 7,340,188 

 
Current portion (655,380) (669,309) 
 
Non-current portion $ 6,666,713 $ 6,670,879 
 

(a) Green Municipal Investment Fund Project Grant: 

In 2005, the City and the Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) entered into an 
agreement whereby FCM provides a grant from the Green Municipal Investment Fund. The 
grant provides for 25% of the eligible costs, to a maximum of $2,000,000, related to the 
construction of the mini-plants, distribution system and project soft costs such as those related 
to intangible assets, development costs and pre-operating costs. The Company has received 
the maximum eligible grant of $2,000,000. 

The contribution is recognized over the useful life of the related assets. The portion of the grant 
that is not recognized as revenue is recorded as deferred contribution. 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution - FCM Grant, beginning of year $ 904,844 $ 986,662 
Revenue recognized from grant (84,792) (81,818) 
 
Deferred contribution - FCM Grant, end of year $ 820,052 $ 904,844 
 

(b) Gas Tax Agreement - Innovation Fund: 

In 2009, the City and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) entered into an 
agreement whereby UBCM provided a grant from the Gas Tax Innovation Fund. The grant 
provides for 100% of the eligible costs, to a maximum of $973,750 related to the construction 
of a section of the distribution system in Central Lonsdale. 

The contribution is recognized over the useful life of the distribution system at a rate of 2.5% 
per year from the date the section covered under the grant is available for use. The portion of 
the grant that is not recognized as revenue is recorded as deferred contribution. 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 18 

9. Deferred contributions (continued): 

(b) Gas Tax Agreement - Innovation Fund (continued): 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution - Gas Tax Grant, 

beginning of year $ 748,845 $ 773,243 
Revenue recognized from grant (24,398) (24,398) 
 
Deferred contribution - Gas Tax Grant, end of year $ 724,447 $ 748,845 
 

(c) Infrastructure Stimulus Fund Grant: 

In 2011, the City and the Province of British Columbia (Province) entered into agreement 
whereby the Province provides a grant from the Infrastructure Stimulus Fund. The grant 
provides for 66.66% of the eligible costs, to a maximum of $83,332 related to the construction 
of a section of the distribution system in Central Lonsdale. The maximum contribution of 
$83,332 was received in 2011. 

The contribution is recognized over the useful life of the distribution system at a rate of 2.5% 
per year from the date the section completed under the grant is available for use. Depreciation 
of this section of the distribution system started to be recognized as of November 1, 2017 
resulting in the commencement of revenue recognition. 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution - Infrastructure grant, 

beginning and end of year $ 77,561 $ 79,644 
Revenue recognized from grant (2,083) (2,083) 
 
Deferred contribution – Infrastructure Stimulus Fund 
Grant, end of year $ 75,478 $ 77,561 
 

(d) Solar Water Installation: 

In 2010, the City transferred the ownership of the Solar Panels to the Company which involved 
the transfer of all costs incurred and contributions received that were associated with the 
project. 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 19 

9. Deferred contributions (continued): 

(d)  Solar Water Installation (continued): 

The City had incurred a total of $347,150 in project costs and received two grant contributions 
from the Federal Government and the Province towards the project for a total of $273,202. The 
contributions are recognized over the useful life of the solar panels at rate of 5% per year. 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution - Solar Water Installation, 

beginning of year $ 122,941 $ 136,601 
Revenue from contributions recognized (13,660) (13,660) 
 
Deferred contribution - Solar Water Installation, end of year $ 109,281 $ 122,941 
 

(e) Contributions from developers and new customers: 

Prior to connection of a development, the Company receives contributions from developers, in 
the form of application fees, for engineering services rendered during the permitting process, 
as well as for a period of eighteen months after occupancy has been achieved to monitor the 
building system’s performance. This period is to ensure the in-building system performs in 
accordance with the Hydronic Heat Energy Bylaw (Bylaw No. 7575) and meets the Company’s 
district energy system requirements. The contributions are recognized over a three year period 
which includes eighteen months for services during the permitting process and eighteen 
months for performance monitoring and related activities.  

The Company also includes the connection fees received as part of the initial connection of a 
building to the system in the contributions from developers and new customers. These fees 
and general contributions (see below) are linked to the cost of the initial connection including 
installation of the building heat exchanger. The contributions are recognized over the useful life 
of the general equipment at a rate of 5% per year from the date of connection of the building. 
This amount includes compensation of $98,493 and $23,676 received in 2016 and 2017 
respectively, from the City for service connection rebates granted to rental buildings.  

The Company recognizes general contributions received as part of initial connection, such as 
the amounts reimbursed by developers to the Company for costs to construct or acquire 
property and equipment, in deferred contributions from developer and new customers. 
Revenue from the contribution is recognized over the useful life of the distribution system (at a 
rate of 2.5%) or equipment (at a rate of 4%) asset on an annual basis from the date the asset 
is put into use. 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 20 

9. Deferred contributions (continued): 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution from developers and new customers, 

beginning of year $ 5,464,163 $ 5,187,878 
Contributions 637,285 820,905 
Revenue recognized from contributions (527,718) (544,620) 
 
Deferred contribution, end of year $ 5,573,730 $ 5,464,163 
 

(f) Contribution from utility company: 

In 2009, the City received funding under the Efficient Boiler Program administered by Fortis 
Gas Inc. of $54,586. The contribution is recognized over the useful life of the boilers at a rate 
of 5% per year. 

The following table summarizes the amount recognized as of December 31: 
 
  2021 2020 
 
Deferred contribution from utility company, 

beginning of year $ 21,834 $ 24,564 
Revenue recognized from contributions (2,729) (2,730) 
 
Deferred contribution from utility company, 

end of year $ 19,105 $ 21,834 
 

10. Share capital: 

The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of voting common shares 
without par value. As of December 31, 2021, a total of $2,000,010 (2020 - $2,000,010) shares were 
issued and outstanding to the Company’s sole shareholder, the City. 

There were no changes in share capital during the year. 

Dividends issued amounted to $33,000, were approved by the board on December 7, 2021, and 
were paid to the City. 

11. Related parties: 

The City has incurred expenses, including sales taxes, on behalf of the Company in the year of 
approximately $1,802,693 (2020 - $1,190,533) by providing staff, purchasing material and installing 
and operating the distribution system for the Company's benefit. These expenses are included in 
Plant operation and maintenance, General and administrative, and additions to Plant and 
equipment. Of this amount $245,125 (2020 - $88,249) has been capitalized to Plant and 
equipment. Specifically, City staff has been involved in purchasing materials for and installing and  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 21 

11. Related parties (continued): 

operating components of the distribution system. The Company made $47,498 (2020 - $47,267) in 
rent payments to the City included in the General and administrative expenses for use of a portion 
of the building at Suite E, 15 Chesterfield Place in North Vancouver for office space.  These costs 
have been charged to the Company by the City on a cost recovery basis. Included in revenue for 
2021 is $250,740 (2020 - $242,346) for heating and cooling services rendered by the Company to 
the City. 

Included in the services provided to the Company by the City is key management personnel 
compensation, comprised of the chief executive officer; deputy director; manager – engineering; 
accountant; three project engineers; construction manager; automation and controls specialist; and 
accounting and office administrator.  

These key management personnel are directly employed by the City and contracted to the 
Company based on an allocation of their compensation. For the year ended December 31, 2021, 
key management personnel compensation of $578,593 (2020 - $390,322) was included in the costs 
charged to the Company by the City. This includes services by key management personnel 
necessary to bring assets to working condition. Costs for services to bring assets to working 
condition have been attributed to the acquisition cost of the asset. 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange 
amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. 

12. Revenue: 

 
 Note 2021 2020  

   
Revenue from contracts with customers    
   Energy sales 
Miscellaneous revenue 

 $7,537,365 
1,529 

$6,418,511 
-  

  $7,538,894 $6,418,511  
   

Current portion of contributions    
   Contributions from government 9(a)–(d) $124,933 $121,959                            
   Contributions from developers 9(e) 72,176 71,452 
   Connection fees 9(e) 207,783 193,747 
   Application fees 9(e) 247,759 279,421 
   Contributions from utility companies  9(f) 2,729 2,730 
Total current portion of contributions  $655,380 $669,309 
    
 
Total revenue and contributions 

 
$8,194,274                       $7,087,820 

  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 22 

13. General and administrative expenses: 

 
  2021 2020  

   
Administrative support   $35,198 $17,158 
Financial services  12,576 3,318 
Insurance  168,678 133,220 
IT Support  30,962 59,763 
Miscellaneous  56,212 19,745 
Professional services  57,199 90,405 
Rent   47,498 47,267 
Salaries   1,027,659 524,250 
    
 
Total general and administrative expenses 

 
$1,435,982 895,126 

 

14. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) As at December 31, 2021, the Company has approximately $806,536 (2020 - $402,786) in 
open purchase and work orders relating to Plant and equipment.  

(b) On October 5, 2017, the Company entered in an agreement with Greater Vancouver 
Sewerage and Drainage District for the purchase of thermal energy from the new North Shore 
wastewater treatment plant currently under construction. Under the agreement, the Company 
will be obligated to purchase minimal quantities of energy from the new plant at a mutually 
agreed upon date between both parties when thermal energy will be available. The initial term 
of the agreement expires on the first of the month following the twentieth anniversary date of 
the first energy delivery; the agreement may be renewed for up to a maximum of four renewal 
terms. The cost of this future energy is based on an agreed upon pricing model. 

 

 

 

 
  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 23 

15. Fair values: 

Financial Assets and Liabilities: 

The Company uses the following hierarchy to determine and disclose fair value of financial 
instruments: 

Level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly; and 

Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data, which are unobservable inputs. 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in 
the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement. 

The Company does not have any financial assets or liabilities that are carried at fair value. 

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, due to the 
City of North Vancouver, and security deposits approximate their carrying values due to their short 
term nature. 

The fair value of the loan from the City of North Vancouver is equal to its carrying amount as the 
loan is due on demand. 

The fair value of the loan from the Green Municipal Investment Fund at year end is $233,778 (2020 
- $456,747) and is classified as level 3. 

 

16. Financial risk management: 

Overview 

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• operational risk 
• credit risk 
• liquidity risk 
• market risk 

Risk management framework: 

Management has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. 

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced 
by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to 
limits. 

 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 24 

16. Financial risk management (continued): 

Operational risk: 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated 
with the Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors 
other than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory 
requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise 
from all of the Company’s operations. 

The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial 
losses and damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness. 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address 
operational risk is assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the 
development of overall Company standards for the management of operational risk in the following 
areas: 

• requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of 
transactions; 

• requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions; 

• compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements; 

• documentation of spending authority; 

• ethical and business standards; and 

• risk mitigation, including insurance when this is effective. 

Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s 
receivables from customers. 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Management has established a credit policy under which each new customer and 
developer must provide a security deposit that is held for 18 months following the issuance of a 
building occupancy permit. 

As at December 31, 2021, $84,695 (2020 - $273,242) of accounts receivable exceeded 90 days. 
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and material disruptions to businesses and the economy, 
the Company’s credit risk has increased as some customers, primarily commercial customers, may 
not be able to pay their district energy bills when due (note 18). Management has performed an 
assessment on the collectability of these amounts and determined these amounts are collectible. 
The Company continues to actively monitor its exposure to credit risk. 

 



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 25 

16. Financial risk management (continued): 

Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the 
realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company 
anticipates that its cash flows from operations and current grant agreements will be sufficient to 
satisfy its current obligations. The City provides financing to the Company through its formal related 
party loan which has a specified rate of interest and is repayable on demand with, as approved by 
council, a twelve-month notice period for any reimbursements of the loan requested in advance of 
the planned repayment schedule. 

As at December 31, 2021, all financial liabilities, except for the loan from City of North Vancouver, 
have been classified as current as they are contractually due within the next fiscal year.  
 
   Total   
  Carrying contractual  Less than 1 to 5 More than 
As at December 31, 2021 amount cash flows one year years 5 years 
 
Loan from Green Municipal 

Investment Fund $ 237,098 $ 237,098 $ 237,098 $ - $ - 
Loan from City of North 

Vancouver  26,703,086 26,703,086 642,021 26,061,065 - 
 
 
   Total   
  Carrying contractual  Less than 1 to 5 More than 
As at December 31, 2020 amount cash flows one year years 5 years 
 
Loan from Green Municipal 

Investment Fund $ 465,077 $ 474,077 $ 233,979 $ 240,098 $ - 
Loan from City of North 

Vancouver  26,518,086 26,518,086 512,021 26,006,065 - 

 
  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 26 

16. Financial risk management (continued): 

Market risk: 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as energy prices, interest rates and other 
rate risks, will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

• Interest rate risk: 

In respect of financial assets, the Company's policy is to invest cash at fixed rates of interest in 
order to maintain liquidity. The loan from the Green Municipal Investment Fund and the loan 
from City of North Vancouver bear a fixed rate of interest. The loan from City of North 
Vancouver is maturing on August 1, 2023 and the Company is cognizant that the interest rate 
may be adjusted in line with market pricing at that time. 

• Energy price risk: 

The Company is exposed to price risk associated with the purchase of natural gas. An increase 
of 10% of the cost of natural gas would generate a corresponding annualized increase to the 
Company’s expenses of $139,029 (2020 - $82,960). The risk of energy price fluctuations is 
mitigated by the Company’s policy of adjusting the commodity rates by an equal percentage of 
the energy price changes in accordance with the City’s Bylaw No. 7575. 

17. Capital management: 

The Company's objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's ability to continue 
as a going concern to sustain future development of the business, so that it can provide returns for 
the shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders. 

The Company considers the items included in shareholder's equity as capital. There were no 
changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 

18. COVID-19 uncertainty: 

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted economic activities in Canada and resulted in the Company 
adjusting some of its operations. Despite economic effects, revenues continue to grow significantly 
for the Company and it exceeded its principal payment obligations for the year. A large portion of 
the Company’s customer base is residential, for which demand has remained consistent. In addition 
to this, government support to Canadian citizens and small business allowed the Company's 
customers to continue making regular payments towards utilities. Development construction 
continued throughout the year despite the pandemic, although the Company only connected four 
buildings. This was the lowest number of connections in the past five years. Management predicted 
this temporary slowdown due to fewer development applications during the pandemic and is 
currently experiencing the market catching up to housing demand. The Company currently has ten 
connections scheduled for 2022 with numerous applications for 2023.  



LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2021 
 
 

 

 27 

18. COVID-19 Impact (continued): 

Given the dynamic nature of these circumstances, and uncertainty of the duration of disruption, the 
full related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. The Company will continue 
to monitor the impact of COVID-19 and focus on collecting receivables, managing expenditures, 
and, if necessary, leveraging existing reserves and investigate available credit facilities to ensure 
it is able to continue providing essential services to its customers.  

As the impact of COVID-19 continues, there could be further impact on the Company, its customers, 
employees, suppliers, the City of North Vancouver, and other third party business associates that 
could impact the timing and amounts realized on the Company’s assets and future ability to deliver 
services and projects.  



  ATTACHMENT 2 

UNANIMOUS CONSENT RESOLUTIONS OF THE SHAREHOLDER 

OF 

LONSDALE ENERGY CORP. 
(the "Company") 

in lieu of the annual general meeting 

The undersigned, being the sole shareholder of the Company entitled to vote at an annual 
general meeting, hereby consents to and adopts in writing the following resolutions: 

RESOLVED THAT: 

1. the financial statements of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2021, made 
up of statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and statement of cash flows as at the end of that period and the report 
of the auditors thereon are hereby received and filed; 

2. all lawful acts, contracts, proceedings, appointments and payments of money by the 
directors of the Company since the last annual reference date of the Company, and 
which have previously been disclosed to the shareholder, are hereby adopted, ratified 
and confirmed; 

3. the number of Directors of the Company is hereby fixed at 3; 

4. the following persons, each of whom has consented in writing to act as a director, are 
hereby elected as directors of the Company, to hold office until the next annual general 
meeting of the Company or unanimous resolutions consented to in lieu of holding an 
annual general meeting, or until their successors are appointed: 

Jessica McIlroy   Leanne McCarthy   Karsten Veng 

5. BDO Canada LLP be appointed as auditors of the Company until the next annual 
reference date of the Company or until a successor is appointed, at a remuneration to be 
fixed by the Directors; and 

6. June 15, 2022 be and is hereby selected as the annual reference date for the Company 
for its current annual reference period. 

DATED as of June 20, 2022. 
THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF 
NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
_______________________________ 

       Mayor Linda Buchanan 
 
_______________________________ 

       Karla Graham, Corporate Officer 



Lonsdale Energy Corp. ATTACHMENT 3

Income Statement line 
description 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Revenue 176,707$        409,108$        415,741$        630,088$        1,016,118$     1,158,110$     1,434,108$     1,562,007$     1,693,413$     2,038,134$     2,594,229$     2,647,001$     2,838,793$     3,900,077$     4,132,957$     5,297,998$     6,418,511$     7,538,894$     
Cost of Sales 66,777$          187,089$        245,839$        299,299$        479,519$        469,707$        722,351$        752,254$        747,330$        965,876$        1,261,027$     1,175,841$     1,196,282$     1,538,595$     1,678,140$     2,125,632$     2,405,710$     3,292,352$     
Gross profit 109,930$        222,019$        169,902$        330,789$        536,599$        688,403$        711,757$        809,753$        946,083$        1,072,258$     1,333,202$     1,471,160$     1,642,511$     2,361,482$     2,454,817$     3,172,366$     4,012,801$     4,246,542$     
Plant Operation and 
Maintenance 19,087$          91,585$          95,244$          98,149$          114,689$        138,289$        143,305$        191,350$        212,842$        289,346$        310,795$        289,127$        225,115$        134,380$        218,812$        335,474$        382,410$        382,831$        
Depreciation 68,531$          114,823$        127,777$        146,220$        212,246$        293,444$        273,586$        309,667$        430,542$        564,686$        693,517$        795,568$        886,925$        1,064,736$     1,206,818$     1,456,913$     1,627,878$     1,751,491$     
General and Administrative 98,268$          145,543$        172,968$        140,987$        173,957$        146,916$        185,574$        188,783$        309,926$        445,511$        361,409$        348,892$        497,248$        405,632$        587,399$        766,138$        895,126$        1,435,982$     
Total - Operating Expenses 185,886$        351,951$        395,989$        385,356$        500,892$        578,649$        602,465$        689,800$        953,310$        1,299,543$     1,365,721$     1,433,587$     1,609,288$     1,604,748$     2,013,029$     2,558,525$     2,905,414$     3,570,304$     
Income (loss) before other 
expenses (75,956)$         (129,932)$      (226,087)$      (54,567)$         35,707$        109,754$        109,292$        119,953$        (7,227)$           (227,285)$      (32,519)$         37,573$          33,223$          756,734$        441,788$        613,841$        1,107,387$     676,238$        
Contributions 60,136$          259,458$        38,804$          63,416$          117,389$        120,875$        146,532$        174,480$        211,010$        225,615$        232,648$        260,629$        357,676$        571,832$        688,149$        669,309$        655,380$        
Finance income 23,432$          22,037$          24,530$          17,321$          5,111$            11,171$          15,742$          25,121$          32,071$          34,429$          27,172$          27,691$          42,975$          65,426$          77,511$          94,106$          82,709$          
Finance costs (111,951)$      (207,481)$      (194,850)$      (34,141)$         (123,277)$      (125,421)$      (128,876)$      (131,322)$      (139,585)$      (157,986)$      (214,870)$      (253,282)$      (302,870)$      (357,790)$      (498,448)$      (654,777)$      (698,885)$      (714,798)$      
Subtotal (111,951)$      (123,913)$      86,645$          29,193$          (42,540)$         (2,921)$           3,170$            30,952$          60,016$          85,095$          45,174$          6,538$            (14,550)$         42,861$          138,810$        110,883$        64,530$          23,291$          
Income before non-recurring 
expenses (187,907)$      (253,845)$      (139,442)$      (25,374)$         (6,833)$           106,833$        112,462$        150,905$        52,789$          (142,190)$      12,655$          44,111$          18,673$          799,595$        580,598$        724,724$        1,171,917$     699,529$        
Non-recurring expenses (1,030,721)$   
Net Income and Comprehensive 
Income (187,907)$      (253,845)$      (139,442)$      (25,374)$         (6,833)$           106,833$        112,462$        150,905$        52,789$          (142,190)$      12,655$          (986,610)$      18,673$          799,595$        580,598$        724,724$        1,171,917$     699,529$        
Cash Dividends (30,100)$         (34,000)$         (33,000)$         
Retained Earnings (Net 
Accumulated Surplus/loss) (277,787)$      (531,632)$      (671,074)$      (696,448)$      (703,281)$      (596,449)$      (483,987)$      (333,082)$      (280,293)$      (422,483)$      (409,828)$      (1,396,438)$   (1,377,765)$   (578,170)$      2,428$            697,052$        1,834,969$     2,501,498$     
Sales (kW.hr) 1,176              3,630              4,981              6,828              11,063            14,121            18,738            22,847            23,946            27,922            31,254            32,402            37,787            49,503            53,626            60,157            69,488            76,641            

Historical Income Statements for Years of Operation - 2004 to 2021



  Lonsdale Energy Corp.  ATTACHMENT 4 

SUMMARY OF LEC KEY STATISTICS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 
CUSTOMER DATA 

 Customer accounts served by building type:   

o Residential Buildings  48 

o Mixed Residential / Commercial  26 

o Commercial  17 

o Institution  8 

o Cooling   6 

o Total  105 

 New customers connected in 2021  4 

 New residential suites connected in 2021  387 

 Total number of residential suites served  6,765 

 Square footage of new buildings connected in 2021  195,383  square feet 

 Total square footage of buildings served    7,671,248  square feet 

SYSTEM DATA 

 Trenched kilometers of distribution pipe added in 2021  0.6  kilometers 

 Total trenched kilometers of distribution pipe  14.0  kilometers 

 Heating: 

o Number of new boilers installed in 2021  2 

o Total number of boilers  32 

o Total heating energy capacity  30  MW 

o Kilowatt‐hours of heating energy delivered in 2021  74,783  MW.h 

 Cooling: 

o Number of new heat pump modules in 2021  0 

o Total number of heat pump modules  11 

o Total cooling energy capacity  1.2  MW 

o Kilowatt‐hours of cooling energy delivered in 2021  1,858  MW.h 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



Mi ~ Wl 
Deputy Director CAO 
Director 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
ENGINEERING, PARKS AND ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

To: Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

From: Derek Priestley, Section Manager, Park Operations 

SUBJECT: NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY BYLAW UPDATE 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 

I The following is a suggested recommendation only. Please refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution . 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Section Manager, Park Operations, dated June 
8, 2022 entitled "North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw update": 

THAT "North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011 , No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 
2022, No. 8920" (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) be considered. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Current Rates and Market Comparison (CD#2187703) 

2. Proposed Bylaw 8920 'Tracked Changes Version' (CD#2158162) 

3. "North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022 
No. 8920" (Fee Schedule and Memorial Regulations) (CD#2157680) 

PURPOSE 

This report seeks Council's endorsement of proposed amendments to North Vancouver 
Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109 (Attachment #3) to update the cemetery fees and the 
bylaw wording to increase clarity and maintain service delivery. 

BACKGROUND 

The North Vancouver Cemetery was established in 1893 and since 1907 has been 
operated by the City to serve the residents of both the City and District of North Vancouver 
without drawing from either municipalities' tax base. As a result, the cemetery is to be 
self-funded, relying on interment fee revenue to support the administration and 
maintenance, raise capital funds for future expansion, and to support the long term care 
of the site once cemetery operations have ceased . 

Document Number: 2139309-v3 



REPORT: North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update 
Date: June 8, 2022 

The bylaw includes a schedule for fees and a schedule with memorial regulations, which 
are the subject of the proposed amendments. 

A regular review of rates is necessary in order to ensure the operation of the site is self
funding and to ensure that sufficient funding is contributed to the cemetery's two 
dedicated reserves: the Cemetery Development Fund and the Cemetery Care Fund. 
Rates are set to ensure there is an appropriate budget to maintain the grounds, provide 
cemetery services, and to allocate 25% of the fees to the Cemetery Care Fund, which is 
a legally required reserve to ensure the long-term maintenance of the site. Revenue 
generated beyond the annual operating costs and the Cemetery Care Fund contribution 
is deposited in the Cemetery Development Fund, which is a dedicated reserve for capital 
improvements to the facility. 

Schedule A of the bylaw provides an itemized list of fees for services and products offered 
to provide clarity and direction to customers and staff on the options available. 

Schedule B provides details on cemetery marker regulations, columbaria niche door 
engraving and consolidated memorial information. These help clarify rules and 
regulations and provide specifications for both staff, customers, and the various 
companies that prepare the different types of markers. 

DISCUSSION 

Staff have completed a review of the cemetery services and finances and recommend 
minor increases to the fees in Schedule A of the Cemetery Bylaw to ensure that that the 
services rendered continue to provide sufficient revenue to cover the costs of providing 
services, while also building the Cemetery Care Fund and Cemetery Development Fund. 
The rates were last updated in 2019, and the proposed changes to the fee schedule (listed 
below) reflect inflationary increases in the costs of materials since that time and a minor 
increase to the non-resident right of interment to ensure an equitable percentage increase 
across single depth burials. The changes proposed will result in a cost increase to an 
adult single depth burial of $350 ($7,900 to $8,250) for residents, and $550 increase for 
a non-residents ($13,000 to $13,550). There are also a few minimal inflationary increases 
to 'other fees' shown under the 'Summary of proposed North Vancouver Cemetery fees 
changes' heading of this report. 

The proposed bylaw amendment also deletes "Part 10.2 Grave Gardens - Family Care 
and City Care" from the list of available services. Grave gardens are no longer popular, 
but also create maintenance challenges for staff when lot owners no longer care for the 
garden spaces on the interment site. Any gardens that have already been established will 
be permitted to remain in place. The goal is to simplify certain services, while evolving 
others over time. 

Minor amendments to Schedule Bare also proposed, which provide additional clarity for 
the public and marker companies choosing and installing markers in the cemetery. 

The proposed changes to the fee schedule (listed below) will enable the Cemetery Care 
Fund to generate sufficient interest to fund the majority of the ongoing cemetery 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update 
Date: June 8, 2022 

maintenance costs when the cemetery closes for burials in an estimated 40 years. After 
closure, interest revenue will continue to be supplemented by ongoing ash focused 
interment service and filming revenue. The City continues to explore innovative methods 
for interment that will provide options for North Shore families for the next few decades 
as space becomes more limited. 

Summary of proposed North Vancouver Cemetery fees changes: 

Resident 

Non
resident 

Other Fees 

Adult Casket-Single Depth 

Adult Casket-Single Depth 

Administration Fee 
Disinterment of Adult Casket; Single-depth 
City-poured concrete pad for upright 
markers 

Current Fees 

$7,900 

$13,000 

Current Fees 

$75 
$2,100 

$800 

Proposed 
Fees 

$8,250 

$13,550 

Proposed 
Fees 

$80 
$2 ,140 

$1,200 

As the North Vancouver Cemetery's primary purpose is to provide service to the residents 
of the City and the District, the schedule of services and fees continues to provide different 
prices for residents and non-residents. This is a common approach in public cemeteries 
and the fee structure is similar to that of the City of Vancouver's Mountain View Cemetery 
and West Vancouver's Cemetery. 

Given the cemetery's limited land base, the proposed price adjustments focus increases 
on the cost of services that require more space (traditional casket interments), with a 
smaller increase to services that required less space (cremated remains). Consistent with 
most municipal cemeteries, the fee structure continues to have lower fees for residents, 
with more significant increases to the non-resident rates. 

In 2020, staff began work on a Cemetery Master Plan. As part of the ongoing development 
of this new master plan, an updated financial plan was coordinated with the Finance 
Department to forecast the long-term operating costs of the cemetery. This work is critical 
to setting appropriate fees that not only support current operating costs but also provide 
the necessary contributions to the Cemetery Care Fund for the future maintenance of the 
site. 

The financial analysis also forecasted the capital costs for ongoing development and 
expansions of the cemetery lands to provide sites for future interments. This includes the 
costs of creating infill interment sites within the existing cemetery, as well as the 

Page 3 of 4 



REPORT: North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw Update 
Date: June 8, 2022 

anticipated costs of developing the infilled area to the east of the site. Based on current 
demand, staff anticipate that there is approximately 10-years of capacity in the existing 
cemetery by downsizing and removing roads, and infilling currently underutilised space. 
That should provide time for the City to confirm the future use of the potential eastern 
expansion area, including a review of the existing fill recycling operation, slope 
stabilization and site improvements. 

An updated draft of the Cemetery Master Plan is planned to be completed and presented 
to Council in 2023, and this draft will feature ideas for service expansion that include 
environmentally proactive burials and ash interments options. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The proposed fee increases are $350 for residents and $550 for non-residents, for an 
Adult Single-depth burial, and are due to inflationary cost impacts to materials and labour. 
This increase supports the principle of the North Vancouver Cemetery remaining self 
funded, providing service to City and District residents without relying on either 
municipality's tax base. The updated fees will also ensure that the Cemetery Care Fund 
continues to grow, providing sufficent funding for the long-term maintenance of the site 
and continuing to generate a surplus to help increase the Cemetery Development Fund. 
This rate increase is necessary in order to maintain existing infrastructure, plan for future 
development and expansion and have a healthy reserve for the long term sustainment of 
the site once cemetary operations have ceased. 

As of December 31, 2021, the Cemetery Development Fund had a balance of $1.5 million, 
the majority of which is the result of a 2004 contribution of $950,000 from Metro 
Vancouver provided as compensation for the expanded right-of-way from the construction 
of the Seymour water main. This reserve funds capital improvements such as road 
repaving , cemetery expansion constructing columbaria and other 'green' interment 
spaces, and the cemetery site staff office delivered February, 2022, which was part of the 
2020-2029 Capital Plan. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

These proposed fee increases have been reviewed with the City's Finance Department. 

STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLICATIONS 

The recommended amendments to the Bylaw are in alignment with the City's Official 
Community Plan, Chapter 8: Municipal Service and Infrastructure and the goals related 
to the provision and proactive maintenance of public infrastructure. 

The cemetery provides spaces and services that support several priorities such as 'A City 
for People' and 'A Vibrant City' from the Council's Strategic Plan. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: ~.....,...,:c,_,n....-..=------+-L-______ _ 
-~ 

Section Manager, Park Operations 

Page 4 of 4 



 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

 
 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 
 

“North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109” 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED FOR CONVENIENCE – DECEMBER 9, 2019 
 

Amendment Bylaw, 2012, No. 8263 Schedules A and B  
Amendment Bylaw, 2014, No. 8349 Schedules A and B 
Amendment Bylaw, 2015, No. 8446 Schedules A and B 
Amendment Bylaw, 2017, No. 8587 Schedules A and B 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 Schedules A and B 

 
  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8109 
 

A Bylaw for the operation of the North Vancouver Cemetery 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
A. Pursuant to the provisions of the Community Charter S.B.C. 2003, as amended, including but not 

limited to section 8(f) thereof, and subject to the provisions of the Crematorium, Interment and 
Funeral Services Act, S.B.C. 2004, c. 35 (the “CIFSA”), Council may, by bylaw, regulate and impose 
requirements in relation to cemeteries, crematoriums, columbariaums and mausoleums and the 
Interment or other disposition of the dead; 

 
B. The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver owns and operates the North Vancouver Cemetery 

and Council in this Bylaw establishes itself as a Board of Cemetery Trustees in accordance with 
section 37(2)(b) of the CIFSA; 

 
C. Pursuant to section 39(1) of the CIFSA, an operator of a cemetery must adopt bylaws for: 

a) the organization, operation and management of the cemetery; 
b) the rights, privileges and responsibilities of the operator, persons who visit the place of 

interment and suppliers in respect of the place of interment; 
c) the rights, privileges and responsibility of right holders in respect of the place of Interment; 

and 
d) the size, class and kind of memorials permitted in a cemetery and materials to be used for 

memorials. 
 
Council of the Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, lawfully assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
PART 1 – INTERPRETATION 
 
1.1 Name of Bylaw 

This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as the “North Vancouver Cemetery 
Bylaw, 2011, No.8109”. 

 
1.2 Table of Contents 
PART 1 – INTERPRETATION ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.1  NAME OF BYLAW ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.2  TABLE OF CONTENTS .................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.3  DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................................... 4 
1.4  SCHEDULES ................................................................................................................................................................. 6 

PART 2 – LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY ......................................................................... 6 

PART 3 – CEMETERY PLAN ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

PART 4 – CEMETERY OPERATION .................................................................................................................................. 7 
4.1  BOARD OF TRUSTEES .................................................................................................................................................... 7 
4.2  THE CITY: ................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

PART 5 – RIGHT OF INTERMENT .................................................................................................................................... 7 
5.1  ISSUANCE OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT ................................................................................................................................. 7 
5.2  TRANSFER OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT ................................................................................................................................ 7 
5.3  CANCELLATION OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT .......................................................................................................................... 7 
5.4  PROHIBITION ON ADVERTISING ....................................................................................................................................... 8 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

5.5  RECLAMATION OF UNUSED RIGHT OF INTERMENT .............................................................................................................. 8 

PART 6 – INTERMENTS .................................................................................................................................................. 8 
6.1  GENERAL INTERMENT INFORMATION ............................................................................................................................... 8 
6.2  INTERMENT HOURS ...................................................................................................................................................... 8 
6.3  IN‐GROUND INTERMENTS .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
6.4  COLUMBARIUM INTERMENTS ......................................................................................................................................... 9 
6.5  VETERAN SECTION ..................................................................................................................................................... 10 
6.6  HERITAGE SECTION .................................................................................................................................................... 10 

PART 7 – EXHUMATION AND DISINTERMENT .............................................................................................................. 10 

PART 8 – FINANCIAL MATTERS .................................................................................................................................... 10 
8.1  FEES AND PRICES ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 
8.2  PROOF OF RESIDENCY ................................................................................................................................................. 11 
8.3  CARE FUND .............................................................................................................................................................. 11 

PART 9 – DELETED [BYLAW 8587, DECEMBER 4, 2017] ................................................................................................. 11 

PART 10 – LOT ADORNMENT REGULATIONS ............................................................................................................... 11 
10.1  FLORAL TRIBUTE ........................................................................................................................................................ 11 
10.2   .............................................................................................................................................................................. 11 
DELETED (BYLAW 8920, XXXX X, 2022) ..................................................................................................................................... 12 
10.3  IN‐GROUND FLOWER VASES ......................................................................................................................................... 12 
10.4  ADORNMENT RESTRICTIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 12 
10.5  REMOVAL OF ADORNMENTS AND OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY .......................................................................................... 12 

PART 11 – CEMETERY REGULATIONS ........................................................................................................................... 13 
11.1  PUBLIC HOURS .......................................................................................................................................................... 13 
11.2  BEHAVIOUR IN CEMETERY ............................................................................................................................................ 13 
11.3  MOTOR VEHICLE REGULATIONS .................................................................................................................................... 13 
11.4  SOLICITATIONS AND ADVERTISEMENTS ........................................................................................................................... 13 
11.5  GENERAL PUBLIC USE OF CEMETERY .............................................................................................................................. 14 
11.6  ENFORCEMENT .......................................................................................................................................................... 14 

PART 12 – PENALTY FOR INFRACTIONS ....................................................................................................................... 14 

PART 13 – SEVERABILITY ............................................................................................................................................. 14 

PART 14 – REPEAL OF BYLAW ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

PART 15 – FORCE AND EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 15 

PART 1 – INTERPRETATION ........................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.1  NAME OF BYLAW ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.2  TABLE OF CONTENTS .................................................................................................................................................... 2 
1.3  DEFINITIONS ............................................................................................................................................................... 3 
1.4  SCHEDULES ................................................................................................................................................................. 5 

PART 2 – LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY ......................................................................... 6 

PART 3 – CEMETERY PLAN ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

PART 4 – CEMETERY OPERATION .................................................................................................................................. 6 
4.1  BOARD OF TRUSTEES .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
4.2  THE CITY: ................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

PART 5 – RIGHT OF INTERMENT .................................................................................................................................... 6 
5.1  ISSUANCE OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT ................................................................................................................................. 6 
5.2  TRANSFER OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT ................................................................................................................................ 6 
5.3  CANCELLATION OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT .......................................................................................................................... 6 
5.4  PROHIBITION ON ADVERTISING ....................................................................................................................................... 7 
5.5  RECLAMATION OF UNUSED RIGHT OF INTERMENT .............................................................................................................. 7 

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

PART 6 – INTERMENTS .................................................................................................................................................. 7 
6.1  GENERAL INTERMENT INFORMATION ............................................................................................................................... 7 
6.2  INTERMENT HOURS ...................................................................................................................................................... 7 
6.3  IN‐GROUND INTERMENTS .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
6.4  COLUMBARIUM INTERMENTS ......................................................................................................................................... 8 
6.5  VETERAN SECTION ....................................................................................................................................................... 9 
6.6  HERITAGE SECTION ...................................................................................................................................................... 9 

PART 7 – EXHUMATION AND DISINTERMENT ................................................................................................................ 9 

PART 8 – FINANCIAL MATTERS .................................................................................................................................... 10 
8.1  FEES AND PRICES ....................................................................................................................................................... 10 
8.2  PROOF OF RESIDENCY ................................................................................................................................................. 10 
8.3  CARE FUND .............................................................................................................................................................. 10 

PART 9 – DELETED [BYLAW 8587, DECEMBER 4, 2017] ................................................................................................. 10 

PART 10 – LOT ADORNMENT REGULATIONS ............................................................................................................... 10 
10.1  FLORAL TRIBUTE ........................................................................................................................................................ 10 
10.2  GRAVE GARDENS – FAMILY CARE AND CITY CARE ............................................................................................................ 10 
10.3  IN‐GROUND FLOWER VASES ..................................................................................................................................... 1011 
10.4  ADORNMENT RESTRICTIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 1011 
10.5  REMOVAL OF ADORNMENTS AND OTHER PERSONAL PROPERTY .......................................................................................... 11 

PART 11 – CEMETERY REGULATIONS ........................................................................................................................ 1112 
11.1  PUBLIC HOURS ...................................................................................................................................................... 1112 
11.2  BEHAVIOUR IN CEMETERY ........................................................................................................................................ 1112 
11.3  MOTOR VEHICLE REGULATIONS .................................................................................................................................... 12 
11.4  SOLICITATIONS AND ADVERTISEMENTS ........................................................................................................................... 12 
11.5  GENERAL PUBLIC USE OF CEMETERY .......................................................................................................................... 1213 
11.6  ENFORCEMENT ...................................................................................................................................................... 1213 

PART 12 – PENALTY FOR INFRACTIONS .................................................................................................................... 1213 

PART 13 – SEVERABILITY ............................................................................................................................................. 13 

PART 14 – REPEAL OF BYLAW ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

PART 15 – FORCE AND EFFECT .................................................................................................................................... 14 
 
SCHEDULE A – NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY FEES 
 
SCHEDULE B – NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY MEMORIALS 
 
1.3 Definitions 

In this Bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires: 
 
ADMINISTRATION FEE means fees levied to cover additional administration costs associated with 
the surrender or the transfer of a right of interment for an unoccupied grave space; 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY means the Business Practices and Consumer Protection Authority 
established under the Business Practices and Consumer Protection Authority Act; 
 
CARE FUND means a fund for the perpetual care and maintenance of the Cemetery as required by 
the CIFSA; 
 
CARETAKER means a person duly authorized to perform Interments and to care for and maintain the 
Cemetery; 
 

Formatted ... [1]
Formatted ... [2]
Formatted ... [3]
Formatted ... [4]
Formatted ... [5]
Formatted ... [6]
Formatted ... [7]
Formatted ... [8]
Formatted ... [9]
Formatted ... [10]
Formatted ... [11]
Formatted ... [12]
Formatted ... [13]
Formatted ... [14]
Formatted ... [15]
Formatted ... [16]
Formatted ... [17]
Formatted ... [18]
Formatted ... [19]
Formatted ... [20]
Formatted ... [21]
Formatted ... [22]
Formatted ... [23]
Formatted ... [24]
Formatted ... [25]
Formatted ... [26]
Formatted ... [27]
Formatted ... [28]
Formatted ... [29]
Formatted ... [30]
Formatted ... [31]
Formatted ... [32]
Formatted ... [33]
Formatted ... [34]
Formatted ... [35]
Formatted ... [36]
Formatted ... [37]
Formatted ... [38]
Formatted ... [39]
Formatted ... [40]
Formatted ... [41]
Formatted ... [42]
Formatted ... [43]
Formatted ... [44]
Formatted ... [45]
Formatted ... [46]
Formatted ... [47]
Formatted ... [48]
Formatted ... [49]
Formatted ... [50]



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

CASKET means a rigid container usually constructed of wood, metal, or similar materials, 
ornamented and lined with fabric, designed for the encasement of human remains; 
 
CEMETERY means “North Vancouver Cemetery”, being the civic lands set apart or used as a place 
of interment and memorialization, together with any incidental or ancillary buildings; 
 
CIFSA means the Cremation, Interment and Funeral Services Act, S.B.C. 2004 C.35 administered by 
the Administrative Authority, as may be amended or superseded from time to time and all regulations 
made there under;  
 
CITY means The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver; 
 
COLUMBARIUM means an above ground structure specifically designed to hold containers of 
cremated remains; 
 
COUNCIL means the Council of the City acting in its capacity as the Board of Cemetery Trustees 
established pursuant to Part 4.1 of this Bylaw; 
 
CREMATED REMAINS means human bone fragments that remain after cremation of a deceased 
human body; 
 
DEPENDENT means a son or daughter that can be natural, adopted, or step; 
 
DISINTERMENT means removal of cremated remains or human remains, along with the casket or 
any of the remaining casket holding the human remains, from the lot in which they had been interred; 
 
EXHUMATION means the exposure of interred human remains for viewing or for examination, 
whether in or removed from the lot in which the human remains had been interred; 
 
FAMILY MEMBER means a parent, step parent, grandparent, step grandparent, spouse, common 
law spouse, same sex spouse, or natural, adopted or step sibling, child, or grandchild; 
 
FEES means the amount to be paid to the City as specified in Schedule “A” of the North Vancouver 
Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109 as amended from time to time (resident and non-resident fees); 
 
FUNERAL PROVIDER means an individual licensed to arrange, conduct or direct funerals or the 
transfer or disposition of human remains, or to arrange burials; 
 
GRAVE GARDEN (Family Care & City Care) means a defined area excavated adjacent to the 
marker and on the top of the grave for the purpose of planting a garden; 
 
GRAVE LINER means a concrete vault in which a casket is placed for an in-ground interment, to 
provide reinforcement to the lot; 
 
HERITAGE SECTION refers to the portion of the Cemetery that lies west of Lillooet Lane with Blocks 
numbered  1 – 118, inclusive and Blocks A, B. C and D; 
 
HUMAN REMAINS means a dead human body in any stage of decomposition, but does not include 
cremated remains; 
 
INTERMENT means the burial of human remains or cremated remains in a grave or crypt, or the 
placing of cremated remains in a niche; [Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

INTERMENT AUTHORIZATION means a document completed at time of need that may include 
statistical, executor and next of kin information that authorizes Interment of the deceased by the 
representative; 
 
INTERMENT RIGHT CONTRACT means a contract that provides for a right of interment for human 
remains or cremated remains in a lot; 
 
LAWN CRYPT means interment space in the Cemetery which contains a pre-constructed and pre-
buried concrete vault capable of holding a casket; [Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 
 
LOT means a space used or intended to be used for the interment of human remains or cremated 
remains under a right of interment and includes a grave, crypt or niche; [Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 
 
MEMORIAL means all memorial work (monument, plaque, tablet, pillow, headstone or other marker) 
that is set on a lot and used to memorialize a deceased person; or a columbarium niche front 
engraving for the same purpose; 
 
NICHE means an individual compartment in a columbarium for placing an urn that contains cremated 
remains; 
 
NON-RESIDENT means a person who does not qualify as a resident; 
 
PREPARATION AND PLACEMENT means the process of completing an interment including, but not 
limited to, administrative, legal, labour and equipment resources provided to facilitate the opening of a 
lot, interment of human remains or cremated remains and the subsequent closing of a lot; 
 
REPRESENTATIVE means the person or agency as defined in Section 5 of the CIFSA who has the 
authority to control the disposition of the human remains or cremated remains; 
 
RESIDENT refers to the residency of the deceased person or person for whom the lot is being 
purchased. Proof of residence shall be produced to the satisfaction of the City at the time of purchase. 
Resident means a person who was: 

a) A registered owner of a property in the City or District of North Vancouver for a minimum of 
twelve (12) months immediately preceding the date of death; or 

b) A tenant or occupier of real property within the City or District of North Vancouver for a 
minimum of twelve (12) months immediately preceding the date of death. 

[Bylaw 8721, December 9, 2019] 
 
RIGHT HOLDER means a person to whom a right of interment has been issued; 
 
RIGHT OF INTERMENT means a right, for the interment of human remains or cremated remains, in a 
designated lot; 
 
URN means a receptacle for the encasement of cremated remains; 
 
URN VAULT means a receptacle to hold and protect an urn while buried in the ground. 
 
1.4 Schedules 

The attached schedules form part of this Bylaw. 
 
PART 2 – LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
 
The following lands have been set aside, operated, used or maintained as a Cemetery by the City: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

a) North Vancouver Cemetery, legally described as being District Lot 1620, Group 1, New 
Westminster District. 

PART 3 – CEMETERY PLAN 
 

a) All areas of the Cemetery shall be divided into blocks and lots or niches. 
b) A copy of the Cemetery Plan shall be filed with the Administrative Authority and copies 

shall be kept available for public inspection at North Vancouver City Hall. 
 
PART 4 – CEMETERY OPERATION 
 
4.1 Board of Trustees 

In accordance with the provisions of Part 8, Section 37(2) of the Cremation, Interment and 
Funeral Services Act, Council hereby establishes itself as a Board of Cemetery Trustees to 
own and operate the Cemetery. 

 
4.2 The City: 

a) is responsible for the general administration and enforcement of this Bylaw; 
b) has general care and custody of the Cemetery, and control and direction of all the workers 

employed therein; 
c) shall establish and maintain all records for the administration and management of the 

Cemetery as is required by the Administrative Authority under the CIFSA; 
d) may issue right of interments and memorial permits authorized by this Bylaw; 
e) shall enforce all rules and regulations relating to the Cemetery; 
f) may keep, or cause to be kept, the Cemetery well maintained, the grass cut, the graves 

well kept, and the roads in good condition; and prevent heavy loads from entering the 
Cemetery when the roads are in unfit condition. 

 
PART 5 – RIGHT OF INTERMENT 
 
5.1 Issuance of Right of Interment 

The City may, subject to payment of fees, grant to any person a right of interment for a vacant, 
unreserved lot.  A right of interment does not vest in the holder any title or interest in the land 
or lot but instead allows for the exclusive use of the lot designated in the interment right 
contract for the purpose only of interment.  All right of interments shall be subject to the 
provisions of this Bylaw and all Bylaws now or hereafter to be passed by the Council. 

 
5.2 Transfer of Right of Interment 

A right of interment for any unused lots may be transferred to a family member at the 
discretion of the City.  The right holder or executor must submit this request in writing and the 
original right of interment must be surrendered to the City.  An administration fee as specified 
in Schedule “A” may be applicable to cover the additional administrative costs associated with 
the transfer of a right of interment. 

 
5.3 Cancellation of Right of Interment  

The right holder must give written notice to the City for intent to cancel the right of interment for 
an unoccupied lot.  The person requesting the refund is required to produce the original 
license or right of interment and proof satisfactory to the City of their right to claim a refund.  A 
right of interment can only be surrendered back to the City.  It cannot be sold privately. 
 
If the purchaser cancels the right of interment within 30 days of entering into an interment right 
contract, they will be refunded the full amount paid less the cost of specially ordered goods or 
services rendered. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

 
After 30 days from the date of entering into an interment right contract no refund shall be made 
of any care fund contribution collected.  Fees associated with the removal of any memorial on 
the lot, must be paid before a refund is issued. 
 
The refund is calculated as follows: 
a) If the lot was purchased on or before June 18, 2006: 

The amount refunded will equal 75% of the fees set out in North Vancouver Cemetery 
Bylaw No. 7667 for the resident lot fee (lot license) and less the administration fee as 
specified in Schedule ‘A” of North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, as 
amended from time to time. 

b) If the lot was purchased on or after June 19, 2006: 
The amount refunded will equal the amount paid for the lot fee (lot license) less the 
administration fee as specified in Schedule “A” of North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, 
No. 8109, as amended from time to time. 

[Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 
 
5.4 Prohibition on Advertising 

A right holder or other person must not advertise or publicize that a lot is available for purchase. 
 

5.5 Reclamation of Unused Right of Interment 
With prior approval of the Administrative Authority, the City may reclaim a right of interment for 
a vacant lot for which a right of interment had previously been issued. 

 
PART 6 – INTERMENTS 
 
6.1 General Interment Information 

a) Only human remains, or cremated remains of a human body, shall be interred and 
memorialized in the Cemetery. 

b) An Interment may be made within the Cemetery after: 
i. the representative has completed and duly signed an interment authorization; 
ii. the required information as deemed necessary by the CIFSA has been provided to the 

City; and 
iii. all applicable fees have been paid as specified in Schedule “A”. 

c) All interments shall be subject to and comply with the provisions of this Bylaw and all 
Bylaws now or thereafter passed by the Council. 

d) The interment of cremated remains must be completed within 30 days of all fees being 
paid. 

e) All Interments shall: 
i. be performed within the Cemetery by the caretaker; and 
ii. be conducted in predefined lots approved by the City. 

f) The representative must apply to the City for permission to inter human remains or 
cremated remains at least two business days prior to the interment. 

 
6.2 Interment Hours 

Interments shall be scheduled within the following hours, or at other times approved by the 
City. 
a) In-ground casket burial shall be scheduled Monday to Friday from 9:30 am - 1:00 pm 
b) Interment of cremated remains shall be scheduled Monday to Friday from 9:00 am - 2:00 pm 

[Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 
 
6.3 In-Ground Interments 

a) The right of interment for an in-ground lot may be purchased when scheduling an interment 
in the lot.  At that time, the City may allow the purchase of the right of interment for a 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

second adjacent in-ground cremation or single depth casket lot.  To reserve a second 
single depth casket lot the interment in the originating lot must be a casket burial. [Bylaw 8587, 
December 4, 2017] 

b) If the interment of cremated remains in an adult size lot precedes the casket burial, 
disinterment and re-interment fees for the cremated remains may be applicable at the time 
of the casket interment.  An urn vault is required for each cremation interment in a full size 
lot that precedes the casket interment in the lot.  The urn vaults shall be purchased from 
the City. [Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 

c) An adult single depth lot may hold: 
i. one interment of adult human remains and a maximum of four interments of cremated 

remains; or 
ii. one interment of adult human remains and the human remains of a child less than two 

years of age and a maximum of two interment of cremated remains. 
d) An adult double depth lot may hold two interments of human remains and a maximum of 

four interments of cremated remains.  The first interment of human remains will be at the 
lower level. [Bylaw 8587, December 4, 2017] 

e) A cremation lot may hold a maximum of two interments of cremated remains. 
f) An infant/child lot may hold an infant/child casket and a maximum of two interments of 

cremated remains.  The right of interment for an infant/child lot may be purchased when 
scheduling an interment of a child twelve years and under. [Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 

g) The positioning of the cremated remains within the grave is subject to approval by the City. 
h) A casket is required for the interment of human remains. 
i) A precast concrete grave liner, which is supplied by the City, must be used for the 

interment of human remains in an adult size lot.  No grave liner is required for the 
interment of a child less than twelve years of age being interred in an infant/child lot. 

j) Each grave liner used in an adult single lot or adult double depth lot shall be made of 
reinforced concrete and shall consist of side walls, end walls, a base for each casket and a 
cover for each casket that is sufficient to bridge the caskets over their entire lengths. 

k) Families may request permission to witness the casket lowered to ground level subject to 
the following criteria: 
i. a request to witness the casket lowered to ground level must be communicated to the 

City when confirming Interment date and time; 
ii. a liability waiver must be signed by the representative; 
iii. all persons must stand back twenty five feet from the grave side while the casket is 

lowered to ground level; 
iv. the City will not be held liable for any injury to members of the public that are attending 

or witnessing the casket being lowered; 
v. all proceedings at the interment site shall be under the sole direction of the caretaker; 

and 
vi. the caretaker may request, within a reasonable time frame, that all persons vacate the 

interment area to allow for the completion of the interment. 
 
6.4 Columbarium Interments 

a) Subject to the requirements of this Bylaw, the City will grant a right of interment for up to 
four columbarium niches which may be used for the immediate interment of cremated 
remains or for future use providing that all applicable fees have been paid as specified in 
Schedule “A”. 

b) Each columbarium niche may hold a maximum of two interments of cremated remains. 
c) Cremated remains placed in a columbarium niche must be enclosed in a sealed container 

or urn constructed of permanent, durable material approved by the City. 
d) The right holder is responsible for ensuring that the urns used for interment in the 

columbarium will fit within the niche. [Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

6.5 Veteran Section 
a) The Veteran Section is an area in the Cemetery that Council set aside for the interment of 

members or ex-members of Her Majesty’s Naval, Military, or Air Forces, or Merchant 
Seamen who had served in the Merchant Navy during World Wars One or Two. 

b) The Veteran Section is described as Blocks 406 to 409 inclusive; 422 to 425 inclusive; 437 
to 441 inclusive; 447 to 457 inclusive; 648 to 651 inclusive; and Block 914, Lots 41 to 54 
inclusive. 

c) Council has set aside an area for the interment of dependents of veterans interred in the 
North Vancouver Cemetery.  The area is described as Blocks 405, 410, 421, 426, 436, and 
442. 

d) Lots in the Veteran Section may hold no more interments than: 
i. that of the initial member or veteran and the cremated remains of the legal spouse, 

and/or the dependents of the veteran; and 
ii. as permitted within the total interment limits set out in Part 6.3 of this Bylaw. 

[Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 
 
6.6 Heritage Section 

(Blocks numbered 1-118, inclusive and Blocks A, B, C and D) 
a) See Part 6.3 of this Bylaw for the number of allowable interments in these lots. 
b) Installation of concrete curbing shall only be allowed in the Heritage Section around the 

perimeter of family blocks.  All curbing is subject to the approval of the City and shall be 
installed to the satisfaction of the City.  Families will be responsible for all costs incurred. 

[Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 
 
PART 7 – EXHUMATION AND DISINTERMENT 
 
7.1 No exhumation or disinterment will occur until: 

a) the City receives a written request to do so from the representative of the deceased; 
b) the City receives approval from the Administrative Authority for an exhumations or 

disinterment requiring such approval; 
c) the City gives written notice to, and receives permission from, a Medical Health Officer for 

the area of the health region in which the Cemetery is located when the human remains 
are those of a person who, at the time of death, was known to have had an infectious or 
contagious disease or other disease dangerous to public health; and  

d) the applicable fees have been paid to the City as specified in Schedule “A”. 
 
7.2 The City shall exercise all due care and attention in making an exhumation or disinterment but 

is not responsible for damage to any casket, urn or other container sustained during 
exhumation or disinterment. 

 
7.3 The City’s responsibility with respect to exhumation or disinterment is limited to:  

a) excavation of sufficient quantities of soil to permit access to the human remains or 
cremated remains;  

b) removal of intact burial containers (integrity of such containers to be determined by City 
staff); and 

c) closure of the lot. 
 
7.4 A Funeral Provider employed at the expense of the right holder or their successors is required 

for the supervision of the disinterment or exhumation of human remains and handling of any 
human remains in the existing lot and/or any transfer of the remains to a new lot or location. 

 
PART 8 – FINANCIAL MATTERS 
 
8.1 Fees and Prices 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Any person who applies for issuance, disposition, surrender, or cancellation of a right of 
interment or memorial permit or who requests or orders any product or service under this 
Bylaw set out in Schedule “A”, must pay the fee or price set out in Schedule “A” in advance, 
and in accordance with any requirements set out in Schedule “A”. 

 
8.2 Proof of Residency 

For the purpose of defining resident and non-resident, proof of residence shall be produced to 
the satisfaction of the City at the time of purchase. [Bylaw 8721, December 9, 2019] 

 
8.3 Care Fund 

a) A care fund for the future maintenance and care of the Cemetery and the lots therein is 
hereby established, set aside and maintained. All monies in the care fund will be held and 
invested as trust funds by the City. 

b) The amount to be transferred to the care fund will be specified on all applicable receipts for 
right of interment and on the interment right contract as set out in Schedule “A”. 

c) The City may accept voluntary payments to the care fund from any person or organization. 
d) The principal sum of the care fund will not be reduced other than in accordance with an 

order from the Administrative Authority. 
e) After 30 days from the date of entering into a purchase agreement no refund shall be made 

of any care fund contribution collected as part of any purchase. 
 
PART 9 – DELETED [Bylaw 8587, December 4, 2017] 
 
PART 10 – LOT ADORNMENT REGULATIONS 
 
10.1 Floral Tribute 

a) On the day of interment and for fourteen days after the day of interment, a person may adorn 
a lot with any floral tribute.  The tribute may be removed by the City staff after 14 days. 

b) The following floral tributes may adorn a lot at any time and may be removed when their 
condition is considered to be detrimental to the appearance of the Cemetery.  Cemetery 
staff may remove these items at any time during maintenance operations. 
i. A maximum of two potted plants in a plastic or biodegradable container with a diameter 

measuring 8” or less will be allowed to sit on the surface of the memorial. 
ii. Fresh cut flowers may be placed in a City installed in-ground vase or may be placed on 

the surface of the memorial. 
iii. Artificial flowers may be placed in a City installed in-ground vase. [Bylaw 8263, October 22, 

2012] 
iv. Deleted [Bylaw 8587, December 4, 2017] 

 
10.2 Grave Gardens – Family Care and City Care 

a) Grave gardens shall be permitted on adult casket lots in designated areas of the 
Cemetery. 

b) Gardens are not permitted in the Veteran Section, Heritage Section, and Blocks 643 to 
647, Blocks 730 to 743 or on any cremation lots. 

c) Fees for grave gardens are specified in Schedule “A”. 
d) All grave gardens shall be installed by the caretaker.  Installation will include excavation for 

the garden, soil preparation and perimeter edging material. 
e) Family Care Grave Gardens shall be planted and maintained by the family and the 

maintenance must be to a standard acceptable to the City with all plants confined to the 
space within the edging. 
Family Care Grave Gardens: 
i. are 16” x 36”, 32” x 36” or 48” x 36”; and 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 12 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

ii. may be planted with annuals, ground cover and perennials with a maximum height of 
two feet; and 

iii. shall not have trees or invasive plants placed in them or any plant that matures to a 
height over two feet. 

f) City Care Grave Gardens shall be planted and maintained by the City.  Maintenance will 
include replacement of plants when required, weeding, pruning, watering and application of 
environmentally friendly fertilizer.  The annual maintenance fee as specified in Schedule 
“A” is due March 31 of each year. 
City Care Grave Gardens: 
i. are 16” x 36”; and 
ii. will be planted with a selection of plants available through the City which can be 

chosen by the family. 
g) The City reserves the right to remove a Family Care Grave Garden if there is neglect or 

abandonment.  It is the responsibility of the purchaser to ensure that their contact 
information is current with the Cemetery office for notification purposes. 

h) The City reserves the right to remove a City Care Grave Garden if there is a failure to pay 
the annual maintenance fee.” 

 [Bylaw 8587, December 4, 2017]Deleted (Bylaw 8920, xxxx x, 2022) 
 
10.3 In-ground Flower Vases 

a) All in-ground vases must be purchased from the City and fees paid as specified in 
Schedule “A”. 

b) In-ground vases shall be permitted in all areas of the Cemetery excluding the Veteran 
Section. 

c) A maximum of two in-ground vases shall be allowed and set in each lot. 
d) In-ground vases shall be installed flush to the ground by the caretaker. 
[Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 

 
10.4 Adornment Restrictions 

a) Items such as candles, lanterns, solar lamps, glass vases, picture frames, toys and glass, 
ceramic or metal objects of any kind shall not be left to adorn any lot in the Cemetery. 

b) The burning of incense, candles or other flammable products is strictly prohibited within the 
Cemetery grounds.  [Bylaw 8349, June 16, 2014] 

c) A person must not place, install, construct, or plant anything in or on a lot, alter a lot or 
remove anything from a lot, unless permitted in this Bylaw. 

d) No ground lot shall be defined by a fence, railing, coping, hedge, netting, loose rock or by 
any other marking except as permitted in the memorial provisions of this Bylaw. 

e) No person, other than the caretaker, shall plant, place, remove, cut down or destroy any 
tree, shrub, plant, flower, bulb, rocks or decorative feature within the Cemetery unless 
permitted in this Bylaw. 

f) No item shall be taped, glued or attached in any way to the columbaria.  Items will be 
removed by Cemetery staff immediately.  The columbaria remain the property of the City of 
North Vancouver and such actions will be considered vandalism of City property. [Bylaw 8587, 
December 4, 2017] 

g) Flowers or any other items shall not be placed on the top or at the base of columbaria. 
[Bylaw 8587, December 4, 2017] 

 
10.5 Removal of Adornments and Other Personal Property 

a) The City has no responsibility for any lot adornment or for maintenance or preservation of 
any adornment. 

b) The caretaker may remove from any lot or from the Cemetery any adornment or other 
personal property that is detrimental to the operation or maintenance of the Cemetery, 
constitutes a hazard to visitors, employees or machinery, is unsightly or abandoned, is 

Formatted: Font: 8 pt, Not Bold, Italic



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 13 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

inconsistent with the dignity of the Cemetery or general community standards or is placed 
in violation of this Bylaw. [Bylaw 8263, October 22, 2012] 

c) The caretaker has no obligation to give notice to any person that they have removed 
adornments or other personal property from the Cemetery, and the caretaker may destroy 
any perishable adornments or other personal property so removed.  

 
PART 11 – CEMETERY REGULATIONS 
 
11.1 Public Hours 

a) The Cemetery is open to the public daily.  A caretaker is onsite from 8 am – 4 pm daily 
excluding statutory holidays.  Visitors are welcome during the following hours: 
 September 7 to April 7 from 8 am – 4 pm 
 April 8 to September 6 from 8 am – 8 pm 

b) The Cemetery entrance gates are locked at closing times.  Visitors are responsible for 
removing their vehicles from the Cemetery before closing. 

c) Any person found in the Cemetery outside of visiting hours without the special permission 
from the City, shall be guilty of an infraction of this Bylaw and subject to the penalties. 

[Bylaw 8446, December 7, 2015] 
 
11.2 Behaviour in Cemetery 

a) Every person, including those in funeral processions, when entering and while within the 
Cemetery, shall obey the instructions of the caretaker.  Any person not behaving with 
proper decorum within the Cemetery or who disturbs the peace, quiet and good order of 
the Cemetery may be evicted by the caretaker, and in addition, shall be guilty of an 
infraction of this Bylaw. 

b) No person shall throw, deposit, or leave any rubbish, garbage, excrement, or other 
offensive matter. 

c) No person shall disturb the proceedings at a grave side service or gathering. [Bylaw 8587, 
December 4, 2017] 

d) No person shall discharge any firearm within the Cemetery, except at Military Funerals 
where the discharge of firearms is permitted only in regular volleys, under the command of 
the officer in charge, and only during the conduct of the burial service. 

e) No person shall damage, destroy or deface any lot, memorial, fence, vegetation, gate or 
any structure in the Cemetery or injure or destroy any Cemetery improvements. 

f) No person shall scatter or otherwise dispose of human remains or cremated remains within 
the boundaries of the Cemetery except in accordance with this Bylaw. [Bylaw 8587, December 4, 
2017] 

 
11.3 Motor Vehicle Regulations 

a) No person shall enter the Cemetery in a vehicle outside of Cemetery visiting hours, or 
drive a vehicle in the Cemetery at any time at a speed of more than 10 km per hour.  All 
operators of vehicles shall at all times obey the directions and orders of the caretaker. 

b) No automobile or vehicles, with the exception of cemetery operation and maintenance 
vehicles, shall operate anywhere but on roads or other areas designated for the use of 
motor vehicles; 

c) Owners of automobiles will be held responsible for any damage done by them or their 
servants or agents in violation of the provisions of this Bylaw. 

d) Vehicles left after hours in the Cemetery may be retrieved the following day. [Bylaw 8349, June 
16, 2014] 

 
11.4 Solicitations and Advertisements 

No person shall solicit orders for goods or services within the Cemetery or advertise within the 
Cemetery. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 14 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

11.5 General Public Use of Cemetery 
a) The public may walk throughout the Cemetery during visiting hours. 
b) Only dogs on leash will be admitted within the Cemetery. Dogs and horses must be kept 

on the roadway. They are not allowed on the turf areas of the Cemetery. [Bylaw 8721, December 
9, 2019] 

c) No person without first obtaining permission from the City shall make use of the Cemetery 
for any purpose other than that clearly established by this Bylaw. 

d) Any person receiving such permission shall, at all times, comply with the conditions 
thereby imposed, and the applicable provisions of this Bylaw; and shall be required to 
provide a Comprehensive General Liability Insurance Certificate which will indemnify and 
save the City harmless from and against any and all claims, demands, suits or 
compensations of whatsoever kind arising directly or indirectly out of the permission 
thereby granted. 

e) No person shall play at any game or sport within the Cemetery. 
 
11.6 Enforcement 

This Bylaw and its provisions shall be enforced by all persons designated as a Bylaw 
Enforcement Officer by the City of North Vancouver. 

 
PART 12 – PENALTY FOR INFRACTIONS 
 

a) An individual who violates any of the provisions of this Bylaw, or who consents, allows or 
permits any act or thing to be done or who neglects or omits to do anything required to be 
done pursuant to a provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offense and shall be liable on 
summary conviction to a fine of not less than One Hundred Dollars ($100.00) and not more 
than Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500.00).  A corporation that violates any 
provision of this Bylaw is liable to a fine of not more than One Hundred Thousand Dollars 
$100,000. 

 
PART 13 – SEVERABILITY 
 
If any Part, clause or phrase of this Bylaw is, for any reason, held to be invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, it will be deemed to be severed and the remainder of the Bylaw will remain valid and 
enforceable in accordance with its terms. 
 
PART 14 – REPEAL OF BYLAW 
 
“Cemetery Bylaw, 2005, No. 7667”, and all amendments thereto, are hereby repealed. 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 15 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

PART 15 – FORCE AND EFFECT 
 
This Bylaw is to come into force and take effect on the date of its enactment. 
 
 

READ a first time by the Council on the 4th day of 
April, 2011. 

READ a second time by the Council on the 4th day 
of April, 2011. 

READ a third time and passed by the Council on 
the 4th day of April, 2011. 

RECONSIDERED and finally adopted by the 
Council, signed by the Mayor and City Clerk and 
sealed with the Corporate Seal on the 9th day of 
May, 2011. 

“Darrell R. Mussatto” 
MAYOR 

“Robyn G. Anderson” 
CITY CLERK 

 



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule A – North Vancouver Cemetery Fees 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 16 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

In-ground Interments 
Resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total 

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($3,600 + $2,000) = $5,600 $1,600 $700 $7,900 

Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($4,400 + $2,000) = $6,400 $1,600  $8,000 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 1st Casket at Lower Level ($6,200 + $2,500) = $8,700 $1,600  $10,300 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,600  $2,400 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($1,040 + $1,000) = $2,040 $860  $2,900 

Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($2,000 + $950) = $2,950 $350  $3,300 

Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

In-ground Interments 
Resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total 

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($3,2506
00 

+ $2,000) = $5,250 $1,700 $950 $7,9008
,2
5Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($4,3006

50 
+ $2,000) = $6,300 $1,700  $8,0008

,3
5Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 

 1st Casket at Lower Level 
($6,100 + $2,500) = $8,600 $1,700  $10,300 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 2nd Casket at Upper Level 

  $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($1,040 + $1,000) = $2,040 $860  $2,900 

Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($2,000 + $950) = $2,950 $350  $3,300 

Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

 
In-ground Interments 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total 

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($6,700 + $4,000) = $10,700 $1,600 $700 $13,000 

Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($7,600 + $4,000) = $11,600 $1,600  $13,200 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 1st Casket at Lower Level ($11,600 + $5,000) = $16,600 $1,600  $18,200 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,600  $2,400 



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule A – North Vancouver Cemetery Fees 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 17 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($2,080 + $2,000) = $4,080 $860  $4,940 

Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($3,200 + $1,800) = $5,000 $350  $5,350 

Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

In-ground Interments 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total 

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($7,6506,
70
0

+ $4,000) = $11,65010
,700 

$1,700 $950 $14,300
1
3Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($8,8007,

85
0

+ $4,000) = $12,80011
,850 

$1,700  $14,500
1
3Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 

 1st Casket at Lower Level 
($13,300 + $5,000) = $18,300 $1,700  $20,000 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
 2nd Casket at Upper Level 

  $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($2,550 + $2,000) = $4,550 $900  $5,450 

Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($3,750 + $1,800) = $5,550 $350  $5,900 

Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

 
Columbarium Niche 
Resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

 Total 

Niche with 1st Interment (top 2 rows) ($2,200 + $1,000) = $3,200 $250  $3,450 

Niche with 1st Interment (mid 2 rows) ($1,600 + $1,000) = $2,600 $250  $2,850 

Niche with 1st Interment (bottom row) ($1,100 + $1,000) = $2,100 $250  $2,350 

2nd Interment in niche   $200   $250  $450 

 
Columbarium Niche 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation  
/ Placement 

 Total 

Niche with 1st Interment (top 2 rows) ($2,860 + $1,300) = $4,160 $250  $4,410 

Niche with 1st Interment (mid 2 rows) ($2,080 + $1,300) = $3,380 $250  $3,630 

Niche with 1st Interment (bottom row) ($1,430 + $1,300) = $2,730 $250  $2,980 

2nd Interment in niche   $200   $250  $450 



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule A – North Vancouver Cemetery Fees 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 18 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Columbarium Niche 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot  Care 
Fund 

 Right of 
Interment 

Preparation  
/ Placement 

 Total 

Niche with 1st Interment (top 2 rows) ($3,300 + $1,300) = $4,600 $250  $4,850 

Niche with 1st Interment (mid 2 rows) ($2,450 + $1,300) = $3,750 $250  $4,000 

Niche with 1st Interment (bottom row) ($1,750 + $1,300) = $3,050 $250  $3,300 

2nd Interment in niche   $200   $250  $450 

 
 

Memorial Fees   Care 
Fund 

 Permit   Total 

Memorial Permit   $100  $120   $220 

Memorial Resetting     $120   $120 

City Concrete Foundation        $800 

City Concrete Foundation        $1,200 

Memorial Tablet Levelling        $150 

 
 

Lot Adornment Fees Total 

Installation of Small Family Care Garden 36” x 16” $240 

Installation of Medium Family Care Garden 36” x 32” $360 

Installation of Large Family Care Garden 36” x 48” $480 

Installation of City Care Garden 36” x 16” $240 

Annual City Care Garden Planting & Maintenance $590 

In-ground Vase (includes installation) $90 

 
  



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule A – North Vancouver Cemetery Fees 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 19 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Disinterment & Exhumation Fees Total 

Adult Casket-Single Depth $2,100 

Adult Casket-Single Depth $2,140 

Adult Casket-Lower Level of Double Depth Lot $2,600 

Infant/Child Casket $1,200 

Cremated Remains (in-ground) $450 

Cremated Remains (in-ground) with re-interment $620 

Cremated Remains (niche) $220 

 
Additional Fees 
A surcharge is applicable for interments on weekends and after regular interment hours on weekdays.  See 
6.2 of this Bylaw. 

Total 

After Hours Surcharge for Adult Casket Burial $1,600 

After Hours Surcharge for Adult Casket Burial $1,6300
0 

After Hours Surcharge for Infant/child Casket Burial $520 

After Hours Surcharge for In-ground Cremation Interment $300 

After Hours Surcharge for Niche Interment $200 

Cremation Urn Vault – Single $100 

Administration Fee $75 

Administration Fee $80 

 
Lot Surrender Refund For Lots Purchased on or before June 18, 2006 
See ‘Cancellation of Right of Interment’ for complete details. 

Total 

Adult Single Depth Lot $1,163 

Adult Double Depth Lot $1,845 

Infant/Child Lot $608 

Formatted Table

Commented [DP1]: We are keeping this at $1600 and 
actually might replace it in future with costs are calculated 
based off services rendered 

Formatted Table



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule A – North Vancouver Cemetery Fees 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 20 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Cremation Lot $405 

Niche in Upper Two Rows $1,200 

Niche in Lower Two Rows $885 

RESIDENT refers to the residency of the deceased person or person for whom the lot is being 
purchased. Proof of residence shall be produced to the satisfaction of the City at the time of 
purchase.   
Resident means a person who was: 

a) A registered owner of a property in the City or District of North Vancouver for a minimum 
of twelve (12) months immediately preceding the date of death, or 

b) A tenant or occupier of real property within the City or District of North Vancouver for a 
minimum of twelve (12) months immediately preceding the date of death. 

 
NON-RESIDENT refers to a person who does not qualify as a resident. 
 
CANCELLATION OF RIGHT OF INTERMENT 
The right holder must give written notice to the City for intent to cancel the right of interment for 
an unoccupied lot.  The person requesting the refund is required to produce the original license 
or right of interment and proof satisfactory to the City of their right to claim a refund.  A right of 
interment can only be surrendered back to the City.  It cannot be sold privately.  No refund shall 
be made for the right of interment for a columbaria niche where the niche door has been 
engraved. 
 
If the purchaser cancels the right of interment within 30 days of entering into an interment right 
contract, they will be refunded the full amount paid less the cost of specially ordered goods or 
services rendered. 
 
After 30 days from the date of entering into an interment right contract no refund shall be made 
of any care fund contribution collected.  Fees associated with the removal of any memorial on 
the lot, must be paid before a refund is issued. 
 
The refund is calculated as follows: 

a) If the lot was purchased on or before June 18, 2006: 
The amount refunded will equal 75% of the fees set out in North Vancouver Cemetery 
Bylaw No. 7667 for the resident lot fee (lot license) and less the administration fee as 
specified in Schedule ‘A” of North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, as 
amended from time to time. 

b) If the lot was purchased on or after June 19, 2006: 
The amount refunded will equal the amount paid for the lot fee (lot license) less the 
administration fee as specified in Schedule “A” of North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 
2011, No. 8109, as amended from time to time. 

 
 
All fees shall be paid at the time of application and are subject to applicable taxes. 

 



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule B – North Vancouver Cemetery Memorials 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 21 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

General Memorial Information 
a) Memorials may only be installed, removed or modified in the Cemetery after a memorial 

permit has been issued by the City. The memorial permit fee as specified in Schedule 
‘A” must be paid before the permit is issued. 

b) Before obtaining a memorial permit, the right holder or authorized representative, or a 
person authorized by the City shall submit complete details of the proposed memorial 
and obtain approval from the City. 

c) All memorials shall conform to the specifications set out in Schedule “B”. The City may 
refuse to issue a memorial permit to the applicant if the applicant has failed to comply 
with the requirements of this Bylaw and Schedule “B”. 

d) A permit for a memorial marker to be placed on an in-ground lot for a deceased person, 
who is not to be interred in the Cemetery, will be issued with the understanding that the 
memorial must indicate ‘in memoriam’ within the inscription. In memoriam inscriptions 
placed on a memorial marker count towards the total number of allowable interments in 
such lot. See Part 6.3 of this Bylaw. 

e) The City reserves the right to reject any memorial marker which, in their opinion, is not in 
keeping with the dignity of the Cemetery. 

f) The name of the deceased on the memorial marker must be in the English alphabet to 
ensure accurate record keeping by the City. The name of the deceased may be 
duplicated in a second language within the inscription. 

g) The memorial shall be placed on a lot in the location designated by the City. 
h) All memorial markers shall be constructed of granite or bronze. The use of marble is 

prohibited. 
i) The design and lettering on granite memorials must be level with the surface of the 

marker. 
j) The design and lettering on bronze memorials may be raised to a maximum of 0.5” 

above the surface of the concrete or granite support. 
k) The City shall not be liable for any damage done to any memorial marker or tablet during 

the course of setting the same, or for damage resulting from any person, other than City 
staff, having interfered with the memorial marker or tablet after it has been installed. 

l) The City shall not be held liable for, or be obliged to repair, any breakage or damage to 
any memorial in the Cemetery, except as shall arise as the result of the negligence of 
the caretaker. 

m) All memorials are the property of the purchaser and required care or repair is the 
responsibility of the purchaser. 

n) Installation of memorials shall occur during the Cemetery’s hours of staff operation. 
 
Columbaria Niche Door Engraving 

a) Columbaria niche door inscriptions must be approved by the City with the engraving 
carried out by a company authorized by the City. To ensure readability and aesthetics, 
the City adheres to a professional engraving standard. 

b) Niche door engraving for a deceased person who is not to be interred in the niche shall 
count towards the total number of allowable interments in the lot.  The niche door 
inscription does not have to indicate ‘in memoriam’. 

 
  



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule B – North Vancouver Cemetery Memorials 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 22 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Memorial Definitions 
a) Tablet Memorial means a flat rectangular granite or bronze memorial. 
b) Pillow Memorial means a slightly sloping memorial with a low profile. These memorials 

sit above the ground and are installed on a foundation. 
c) Upright Memorial means a memorial that sits upright above the ground. These 

memorials are installed on a foundation. They do not include pillow or tablet markers. 
d) Die means the upper portion of an upright memorial usually placed above the base. 
e) Base means the lowest portion of a memorial set on a foundation. 
f) Foundation means a concrete or granite slab, set at grade to support a memorial. 
g) Height means the dimension as measured from the top to the bottom of the memorial, 

die, or base as applicable. 
h) Depth means the dimension as measured from the front edge to the back edge of the 

memorial, die, or base, as applicable. 
i) Width means the dimension as measured from the left edge to the right edge of the 

memorial, die, or base, as applicable. 
 
Memorials for Cremation Lots 
Upright memorials are not permitted in this section. 
All memorial tablets shall be set level and flush with the surface of the surrounding ground. 

a) Main tablet memorial - 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” where lot size allows 
b) Secondary tablet memorial - 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” where lot size allows 
c) Secondary tablet memorial shall not be larger than the main tablet memorial 

 
Memorials for Infant/Child Lots 
Upright memorials are not permitted in this section. 
All memorial tablets shall be set level and flush with the surface of the surrounding ground. 

a) Main tablet memorial - 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” 
b) Secondary tablet memorial – 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” 
c) Secondary tablet memorial shall not be larger than the main tablet memorial 

 
Memorials for Veteran Section 
Upright memorials are not permitted in this section. A lot in the Veteran Section may contain 
only one memorial for the member or veteran interred in the lot and it shall meet the 
requirements of the Commonwealth War Graves Commission or Veterans Affairs Canada. One 
additional 12” x 20” flat tablet memorial shall be allowed to commemorate all other interments in 
the lot. 
 
Memorials for Adult Size Lots in the Heritage Section 
Blocks 1 to 118 and Blocks A, B, C and D 
Permits for new upright memorials will not be issued for the Heritage Section. 
The replacement and/or restoration of existing damaged memorials in the Heritage Section shall 
be at the discretion of the City. 

a) Main memorial: 
i. Tablet memorial - 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” set flush to the ground or on a foundation 

which allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation; or 
ii. Pillow memorial - 12” x 20” x 6/4” or 16” x 28” x 6/4” set on a foundation which allows 

for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation; or 



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule B – North Vancouver Cemetery Memorials 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 23 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

iii. Tablet memorial – 18” x 30” centered between adjacent side by side lots set flush to 
the ground or on a foundation which allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed 
foundation; or 

iv. Pillow memorial - 18” x 30” x 6/4” centered between adjacent side by side lots and 
set on a foundation which allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation. 

b) Secondary memorial shall be a tablet memorial – 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” set flush 
to the ground and shall not be larger than the main memorial. 

 
Memorials for Adult Size Lots in Blocks 643 to 647 and Blocks 730 to 743747 
Upright memorials are not permitted in these areas. 
All memorial tablets shall be set level and flush with the surface of the surrounding ground. 

a) Main tablet memorial - 12” x 20” or 16” x 28”; or 
b) Main tablet memorial centered between adjacent side by side lots - 18” x 30”. 
c) Secondary tablet memorial – 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” and shall not be larger than 

the main tablet memorial. 
 
Memorials for Adult Size Lots (in areas not indicated above) 
Upright memorials are permitted as the main marker in these sections. 

a) Main memorial: 
i. Upright memorial to a maximum height of 36”; or 
ii. Tablet memorial - 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” set flush to the ground or on a foundation 

which allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation; or 
iii. Pillow memorial - 12” x 20” x 6/4” or 16” x 28” x 6/4” set on a foundation which 

allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation; or 
iv. Tablet memorial – 18” x 30” centered between adjacent side by side lots set flush 

to the ground or on a foundation which allows for a minimum 2” border of 
exposed foundation; or 

v. Pillow memorial - 18” x 30” x 6/4” centered between adjacent side by side lots 
and set on a foundation which allows for a minimum 2” border of exposed 
foundation. 

b) Secondary memorial shall be a tablet memorial – 8” x 12”, 12” x 20” or 16” x 28” set flush 
to the ground and shall not be larger than the main tablet memorial. 

 
Tablet Memorial Specifications 

a) Granite tablet memorials shall have a minimum thickness of 3”. 
b) All tablet memorials shall have sides and edges cut true and perpendicular with the top 

surface. 
c) The tablet shall not be pinned or affixed in any way to a foundation. 
d) All bronze plaques shall be securely affixed to a concrete or granite support of a uniform 

thickness between 3” and 5”. The bronze plaque shall not extend beyond the edges of 
the support. 

e) Bronze memorials with loose plates shall only be used on adult size lots for the main 
memorial and will require a foundation. This type of memorial shall only be installed in 
areas where foundations are permitted. 

f) No person shall attach any fixture or other thing to any memorial installed flush with the 
ground. 

 
  

Formatted: Not Highlight



NORTH VANCOUVER CEMETERY 
Schedule B – North Vancouver Cemetery Memorials 
North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2019, No. 8721 – Effective January 1, 2020 

City of North Vancouver 
141 West 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC V7M 1H9 

T 604 983 7351 
F 604 985 9417 
cemetery@cnv.org 

 
 

The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 24 
CONSOLIDATED Bylaw No. 8109  

Field Code Changed

Pillow Memorial Specifications 
a) The standard height of a granite pillow memorial is 6” at the back sloping to 4” at the 

front. 
b) These memorials sit above the ground and are installed on a foundation. 
c) The pillow shall not be pinned or affixed in any way to the foundation. 
d) No inscription or lettering shall be placed on the back or any side of a pillow marker. 

 
Upright Memorial Specifications 

a) The maximum total allowable height is 36”. 
b) All upright memorials shall be placed on a foundation as specified and shall allow for a 

minimum 2” border of exposed foundation. 
c) The casket interment must precede the placement of an upright memorial. 
d) Only one upright memorial is permitted on any lot or portion thereof, and it must be 

placed at the head of the lot as designated by the City. 
e) Upright memorials may include the addition of a granite vase or statue. These pieces 

shall be affixed to the granite base and not extend beyond the edges of the base. 
f) A Base: 

i. must be placed on a foundation; 
ii. shall have sides and edges cut true and perpendicular with the top surface; 
iii. must have rock pitch finished sides (excluding the top and bottom); 
iv. must have a height that is between 3” and 8”; and 
v. must allow for a minimum 2” border of exposed foundation. 

g) A Die: 
i. must have a minimum depth of 6” at the bottom; 
ii. must be of a single piece; 
iii. must not exceed the width and depth dimensions of the base; and 
iv. must be securely attached to a base or foundation to the satisfaction of the City. 

 
Memorial Foundation Specifications 

a) Shall support a maximum total memorial height of 36” 
b) Shall only be installed after the ground has had sufficient time to settle 
c) Shall have sides and edges cut true and perpendicular with the top surface 
d) Shall have a minimum 3” thickness 
e) A City Installed Concrete Foundation: 

i. shall be 28” x 48”; and 
ii. the location and elevation of the concrete foundation will be at the City’s discretion. 

f) A Granite Foundation: 
i. Shall be installed by the memorial company; 
ii. Shall have a maximum width of 48” and maximum depth of 28”; and 
iii. Shall be installed flush to the surrounding ground. 

g) A Pre-Cast Concrete Foundation: 
i. shall be installed by a memorial company; 
ii. shall support a maximum total memorial height of 20”; 
iii. depth shall be between 16” and 22”; 
iv. width shall be between 24” and 36”; 
v. shall be installed flush to the surrounding ground; and 
vi. shall not have a tablet marker or pillow marker pinned or affixed to it. 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8920 

A Bylaw to amend “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “North Vancouver Cemetery 

Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920” (Fee Schedule and 
Memorial Regulations). 

 
2. “North Vancouver Cemetery Bylaw, 2011, No. 8109” is amended as follows: 
 

A. By deleting Part 10.2 Grave Gardens – Family Care and City Care in its entirety. 
 
B. In Schedule A, by deleting the In-ground Interments Resident Fees table in its entirety 

and replacing with the following: 
 

In-ground Interments 
Resident Fees 

Lot Care
Fund 

Right of
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($3,600 + $2,000) = $5,600 $1,700 $950 $8,250 
Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($4,650 + $2,000) = $6,650 $1,700  $8,350 
Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 1st Casket at Lower Level ($6,100 + $2,500) = $8,600 $1,700  $10,300 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($1,040 + $1,000) = $2,040 $860  $2,900 
Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($2,000 + $950) = $2,950 $350  $3,300 
Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 

 
C. In Schedule A, by deleting the In-ground Interments Non-Resident Fees table in its 

entirety and replacing with the following: 
 
In-ground Interments 
Non-resident Fees 

Lot Care
Fund 

Right of
Interment 

Preparation 
/ Placement 

Liner Total

Adult Casket-Single Depth ($6,900 + $4,000) = $10,900 $1,700 $950 $13,550 
Adult Casket-Single Depth Crypt ($8,050 + $4,000) = $12,050 $1,700  $13,750 
Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 1st Casket at Lower Level ($13,300 + $5,000) = $18,300 $1,700  $20,000 

Adult Casket-Double Depth Crypt 
♦ 2nd Casket at Upper Level   $800   $1,700  $2,500 

Infant/Child Casket (0-12 years) ($2,550 + $2,000) = $4,550 $900  $5,450 
Cremation Lot with 1st Interment ($3,750 + $1,800) = $5,550 $350  $5,900 
Cremated Remains in Occupied Lot   $500   $350  $850 
 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

D. In Schedule A, by deleting the Columbarium Niche Non-Resident Fees table in its 
entirety and replacing with the following: 

 

 
 
E. In Schedule A, by deleting the Memorial Fees table in its entirety and replacing with 

the following: 
 

 
 
F.  In Schedule A, by deleting the Lot Adornment Fees table in its entirety and replacing 

with the following: 
 

 
 

G. In Schedule A, by deleting the Disinterment & Exhumation Fees table in its entirety 
and replacing with the following: 

 

 
 
H.  In Schedule A, by deleting the Additional Fees table in its entirety and replacing with 

the following: 
 

 

Memorial Fees
Care 
Fund

Permit Total

Memorial Permit $100 $120 $220
Memorial Resetting $120 $120
City Concrete Foundation $1,200
Memorial Tablet Levelling $150

Lot Adornment Fees Total
In-ground Vase (includes installation) $90

Disinterment & Exhumation Fees Total
Adult Casket-Single Depth Lot $2,140

$2,600
Infant/Child Casket $1,200
Cremated Remains (in-ground) $450

$620
Cremated Remains (niche) $220

Adult Casket-Lower Level of Double Depth Lot

Cremated Remains (in-ground) with re-interment

Additional Fees

$1,630
$520
$300
$200
$100
$80

After Hours Surcharge for In-ground Cremation Interment

After Hours Surcharge for Niche Interment

Cremation Urn Vault – Single

Administration Fee

TotalA surcharge is applicable for interments on weekends and after regular interment hours on weekdays.
See 6.2 of this Bylaw.

After Hours Surcharge for Adult Casket Burial

After Hours Surcharge for Infant/child Casket Burial



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8920 Document: 2157680-v1 

I. In Schedule B, by deleting the title “Memorials for Adult Size Lots in Blocks 643 to 
647 and Blocks 730 to 743” and replacing with “Memorials for Adult Size Lots in 
Blocks 643 to 647 and Blocks 730 to 747”. 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

-- Kt _/1_ 
Department CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
CITY CLERK'S DEPARTMENT 

REPORT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Subject: 

Christine Baird, Deputy Corporate Officer/ Deputy Chief Election Officer 

General Local Election 2022 - Bylaw Amendments 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 09-4200-20-0065/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Deputy Corporate Officer, dated June 8, 2022, 
entitled "General Local Election 2022 - Bylaw Amendments": 

THAT the following bylaws be considered: 

• "General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943"; 
• "Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944"; 

and 
• "Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8946". 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. General Local Election Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 (draft, red lined) (CityDocs 2186809) 

2. Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944 (draft) 
(CityDocs 2187946 and 2187962) 

3. Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 
8946 (draft, red lined) (CityDocs 2190177) 

DISCUSSION 

Staff propose a new, updated, General Local Election Bylaw, and amendments to the 
Election Sign Bylaw and Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and 
Procedure Bylaw, for Council consideration. Any proposed bylaw changes to be made 
effective in a municipality for the 2022 General Local Election are required to be 
adopted by July 4, 2022. The following information outlines updates to each bylaw. 

Document Number: 2186789 



REPORT: General Local Election 2022 - Bylaw Amendments 
Date: June 8, 2022 

General Local Election Bylaw 

Administrative Changes 
Changes to the Local Government Act in 2021 resulted in the re-numbering of several 
sections of the Act. In order for the City to remain compliant with these administrative 
changes, the bylaw needs to be updated. 

Mail Ballot Voting 
The opportunity to vote by mail ballot was established in the City in 2008 and eligibility 
requirements were limited to: 

• persons with a physical disability, illness or injury that affects their ability to vote 
at another voting opportunity; and 

• persons who expected to be absent from the City on general voting day and at 
the times of all advance voting opportunities. 

Effective June 17, 2021, under the provisions of Section 110 of the Local Government 
Act, all electors are now eligible to vote by mail ballot, where a bylaw provides for mail 
ballot voting. Mail ballot voting in an election is designed to allow electors to cast ballots 
without attending a voting place. As mail ballot voting increases the accessibility and 
convenience of voting, and the Chief Election Officer considers many administrative 
details to ensure that the mail ballot voting is conducted in accordance with the 
legislation, staff continue to support mail ballot voting in the City. 

Election Sign Bylaw 

The Election Sign Bylaw is applicable to local , provincial and federal election signage 
posted within the City's boundaries. 

As a result of a recent review of the Election Sign Bylaw three additional locations for 
placement of campaign signs in the City are recommended. The recommendation is 
based on the the review undertaken by Engineering and Bylaw staff to determine 
additional suitable locations; where election signs would not impede pedestrian or traffic 
safety. If the recommendation is approved, there would be a total of six locations 
throughout the City for placement of election signage during an election period for local, 
provincial and federal elections. 

Additional Bylaws 

The Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw is required 
to be updated to reflect a change with the City using a new vendor (Dominion Voting 
Systems) for the vote counting units, to provide more detailed procedures for mail ballot 
voting and to remove outdated reference to the Regional Health Board. Removal of 
reference to secrecy sleeves is also recommended to provide greater flexibility for 
planning and conducting elections during a pandemic. The use of secrecy sleeves can 
be implemented through existing administrative processes and without bylaw 
authorization. Other updates to the bylaw provide a greater clarity regarding voting 
procedures. Please refer to Attachment #5 for the proposed amendments. 



REPORT: General Local Election 2022 - Bylaw Amendments 
Date: June 8, 2022 

The Street and Traffic Bylaw includes reference to the Election Sign Bylaw, to allow for 
placement of election signs. At this time only administrative updates (i.e. section 
numbering) are required. 

STRATEGIC PLAN, OCP OR POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Administrative work for an election is linked to Council's Vision and Priority 'A City for 
People' - welcoming, inclusive, safe, accessible and supports the health and well-being 
of all. 

This report and the related bylaws have been reviewed by the Chief Election Officer and 
Corporate Officer. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Christine Baird 
Deputy Corporate Officer / 
Deputy Chief Election Officer 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8943 
 

A bylaw to provide for the determination of various procedures 
for the conduct of local government elections and other voting 

 
Under the Local Government Act, the Council may, by bylaw, determine various procedures and 
requirements to be applied in the conduct of local government elections and other voting. 
 
Council wishes to establish various procedures and requirements under that authority. 
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1. This bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “General Local Election Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8943”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw: 
 
 “Campaign financing disclosure statements” means the disclosure statements, 
supplementary reports and signed declarations required under sections 90 and 90.1 of the 
Local Government ActSection 46 of the Local Elections Campaign Financing Act.; 
 

“Elector” means a resident elector or property elector of the jurisdiction as defined under 
the Local Government Act; 

 
“Election” means an election for the number of persons required to fill a local government 
office; 

 
“Endorsement documents” means documents required under Section 93 of the Local 
Government Act;  

 
“General local election” means the elections held for the Mayor,  and all Councillors and 
School Trustees, if applicable, of the City of North Vancouverjurisdiction, which must be 
held every four years in the year= 1993 2014 and in every 3rd 4th year after that; 

 
“General voting day” means:,  

 
 (a) for a general General local Local Eelection, the 3rd Saturday of November 

October in the year of the election;, 
 

 (b) for a by-electionother elections, the date set under Section s 37 (5) or 38 (1) or 
(3)54  

  of the Local Government Act;, and 
 

 (c) for other voting, the date set under Section 170162 of the Local Government Act; 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

 
“Jurisdiction” means, in relation to an election, the boundaries of the City of North 
Vancouver for which it is held; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

 
“Local Government” means, in relation to the an election: 

 
(a) The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver; or 

 
(b) , the municipal Council of the City of North Vancouver.; 
 
 
“Nomination documents” means the documents required under section Section 72 87 of 
the Local Government Act;. 

 
“Other voting” means voting on a matter referred to underin Section 158 170 of the Local 
Government Act and includes voting on a referendum under Sections 83 or 85 of the 
Community Charter. 

 
USE OF PROVINCIAL LIST OF VOTERS AS THE REGISTER OF RESIDENT ELECTORS 
 
3. (a) As authorized under Section 59 76 of the Local Government Act, the most 

current available Provincial list of voters prepared under the Election Act, existing at the 
time an election or other voting is to be held, is deemed to be the register of resident 
electors for the City of North VancouverjJurisdiction.; 

 
4. (b) The Provincial list of voters becomes the register of resident electors by no later 

than 52 days before general General voting Voting Dday for each election Election or 
other Other Vvoting for the JjurisdictionCity of North Vancouver. 

 
REQUIRED ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
5.  (a) As provided under Section 97 107 of the Local Government Act, required 

advance  
  voting opportunities will be held for each electionElection, (or specified election), 
  (or Other Votingother voting,) as follows: 
 

  (ai) on the 10th day before General Voting Daygeneral voting day;, and 
 

 
(b)  
(ii) on the 3rd day before General Voting Daygeneral voting day. 

 
 (b)6.  Voting hours for these advance voting opportunities are must be from  
  8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
 
ADDITIONAL ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
7. (a) As authorized under Section 98 108 of the Local Government Act, the Council 

authorizes the Chief Election Officer to establish additional advance voting opportunities 
for each election Election to be held in advance of General Voting Daygeneral voting day 
and to designate the voting places, establish the date and the voting hours for these voting 
opportunities. 

 
6. SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

 
 
8.  
(a) As authorized under Section 99 109 of the Local Government Act, the Council authorizes 

the Chief Election Officer to establish special voting opportunities for each election 
Election in any or all of the hospitals in the Jjurisdiction and to designate the location, the 
date and the voting hours, within the limits set out in Section 96(2) of the Local 
Government Act, for the a special voting opportunity. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

9. The following restrictions apply to persons who may vote at the special voting opportunity: 
 

(ai) the only electors Electors who may vote are electors Electors who, on the date on 
which the special voting opportunity is held and before the end of the voting hours for 
that special voting opportunity, have been admitted to and are patients of a hospital 
on the date and during the voting hours for which the special voting opportunity is 
held designated as a location for a special voting opportunity. 

 
10. (c) The following procedures for voting and for conducting the voting proceedings 

apply to the special voting opportunity: 
 

(ia) where a poll special voting opportunity is established in a hospital, and a patient of 
the hospital who is a qualified voter is bedridden or unable to walk, the Presiding 
Election Officer may, in the presence of another election official, attend with the 
ballot box on to the a patient for the purpose of providing receiving their a ballot for 
voting.  In that case tThe voter shall will be instructed to mark the ballot at a as far 
enough distance from the election officials as possible in accordance with this 
Section in the so that privacy of the vote that can be reasonably arrangedmade. 

 
11.(d) Council authorizes the Chief Election Officer to limit the number of candidates 

rrepresentatives who may be present at the special voting opportunity. 
 
7. RESOLUTION OF TIE VOTES AFTER JUDICIAL RECOUNT 
 
12.  In the event of a tie vote after a judicial recount, the tie vote will be resolved determined 

by conducting a lot in accordance with Section 141 151 of the Local Government Act. 
 
8. MAIL BALLOT VOTING 
 
13. As authorized under section Section 11000 of the Local Government Act, voting and 

registration may be done by mail ballot and registration of Election may be done by mail in 
conjunction with mail ballot voting. for those electors who meet the criteria in paragraph (b) 
for each election or other voting. 

 
14. The Chief Election Officer may establish the time limits in relation to voting by mail. 
 
15. The Chief Election Officer will establish procedures for voting and registration, and must 

ensure that sufficient records are kept. 
16. A mail ballot must be received by the Chief Election Officer before the close of voting on 

General Voting Day in order to be counted for an Election. 
 

(a) The following electors are permitted to register to vote by mail and to vote by mail 
ballot:   
(i) those persons who have a physical disability, illness or injury that affects their 

ability to vote at another voting opportunity; 
(ii) persons who expect to be absent from the City of North Vancouver on 

general voting day and at the times of all advance voting opportunities. 
 

(b) The following procedures for voting and registration must apply: 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v4 

(i) Sufficient record will be kept by the chief election officer so that challenges of 
the elector’s right to vote may be made in accordance with the intent of 
section 116 of the Local Government Act; 

(ii) a person exercising the right to vote by mail under the provisions of section 
100 may be challenged in accordance with, and on the grounds specified in 
section 116 of the Local Government Act, until 4:30 pm two days before 
general voting day. 

 
(c) The time limits in relation to voting by mail ballot will be determined by the chief 

election officer. 
 

(d) As provided in the Local Government Act, a mail ballot must be received by the 
chief election officer before the close of voting on general voting day in order to be 
counted for an election.” 

 
9. Access to Documents 
 
ACCESS TO NOMINATION DOCUMENTS 
 
17. As authorized under Ssections 73 89 and 93 7 of the Local Government Act, public access 

to nomination and endorsement documents required under section Section 72 of the Local 
Government Act will be provided by making copies available to any person at City Hall 
during regular business hours, on request, of any person and by posting on the City’s 
website from the time of the delivery of any nomination documents to the Chief Election 
Officer until 30 days after the declaration of the election Election results. 

 
REPEAL 
 
18. “General Local Election Bylaw, 1993, No. 6442” and all amendments are repealed on 

adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944 Document: 2187946-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8944 

A Bylaw to amend “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 

8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” (Schedule A). 
 
2. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” is hereby amended by deleting “Schedule A” and 

replacing it with the updated “Schedule A” attached to this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Ha
m

ilto
n A

ve

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve
St

. A
nd

re
ws

 A
ve

Mah
on

 A
ve

St
. P

at
ric

ks
 A

ve Q
ue

en
sb

ur
y 

Av
e

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve

M
ah

on
 A

ve

R
uf

us
 A

ve

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

Av
e

Jo
ne

s 
Av

e

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

W

M
oo

dy
 A

ve

Be
w

ic
ke

 A
ve

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

E

Su
th

er
la

nd
 A

ve

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

R
id

ge
w

ay
 A

ve

Fo
rb

es
 A

ve

St
. D

av
id

s A
ve

W 1st St

La
rso

n Rd

E 4th St

W 19th St

W 20th St

W 21st St

Alden Lane

E 3rd St

W 19th St

W 20th St

Do
na

gh
y A

ve

M
ac

ka
y 

R
d W 3rd St

W 1st St

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 21st St

N
ei

ls
on

 A
ve

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

W
es

tv
ie

w
D

r

Rufus Dr

Harbourside Dr

E Keith
Rd

Heywood St

Tem pe
Cres

Br
oo

k s
ba

n k
Av

e

Ea
st

er
n 

Av
e

H
a n

es
Av

e

M
ackay Ave

G
rand

Blvd

Brand St

Wolfe
St

Cas
ano Dr

W

8th St

Marine Dr

E 28th St

E 7th St

Lyon Pl

E 24th St

E 10th St

E 9th St

E 27th St

E 21st St

W 26th St

W 22nd St

W 27th St

W 14th St

W 24th St

E 13th St

W 18th St

E 26th St

E 22nd St

W 15th St

W 13th St

E 19th St

E 20th St

E 12th St

E 23rd St

E 11th St

Fe
ll A

ve

G
os

tic
k 

Pl

Ad derley St

26
th Cres

E 8th St

Cotton Rd

W 23rd St

W 28th St

W Keith Rd

E Esplanade

E 2nd St

E 6th St
W 4th St

W 5th St

W 6th St

E 5th St

E 18th St

Cloverley S
t

M unda y
Pl

E 17th St
W 17th St

E 15th St

E 14th St

E 16th St

Alder St

E 29th St

Tobruck Ave

Cumberland C
re

s

W 16th St

E 1st St

Shavin
gton St

Te
mpe Kn

oll
Dr

AutomallDr

Low Level Rd

Keith Creek
Miss

ion
 C

re
ek

M
os

qu
ito

Cr
ee

k

W
ag

g
Cr

ee
k

Th
ai

n
C

re
ek

Lynn
Creek

M
ac

ka
y

C
re

ek

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
H

w
y

Lyn
n Valley R

d

City of North Vancouver

Schedule A
Election Sign Bylaw 

2018 No. 8643, 
Amendment Byaw 

2022 No. 8944 

PUB LISHED: M ay 0 2, 2 018  

PATH:  H: \CNV_ Ma ps\C le rks\
COORDINATE SYS TE M: NAD 8 3, UTM Zo ne 1 0

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 100 200
Meters

FIL E: 2 018 _Ele ct io n_S ig n_B yla w_ 864 3_1 1x17

Squamish
Nation

Legend

Permitted Election 
Signage

Document: 2187962



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8946 
 

Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw 
 
Under the WHEREAS pursuant to Section 1102 of the Local Government Act, the Council may, 
by bylaw,  of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver is empowered to provide, by bylaw, 
provide for the use of automated voting machines, voting recorders or other devices for voting in 
an election; [Bylaw 7948, July 7, 2008] 
 
NOW THEREFORE tThe Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver,. in open 
meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1.  
This bylaw may be cited as “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure 

Bylaw, 19962022, No. 68158946”. 
 
1. DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw, all definitions shall be in accordance with Part 33 of the Local Government 

Act, except for the following: [Bylaw 7948, July 7, 2008] 
 

“Acceptable Mark” - means a filled oval or oval marked with an “x” that the vote counting 
unit is able to identify, and a completed arrow which the vote counting unit is able to identify, 
which that has been made by an elector in the space provided on the ballot opposite the 
name of any candidate or opposite either “yes” or “no” on any referendum question, if 
applicable. 

 
“Automated Vote Counting System” -  means a system that counts and records votes 
and processes and stores election results which comprises: 

 
(a) a number of ballot scan vote counting units, each of which rests on a two compartment 

ballot box, one compartment of which is for: 
 

i. voted ballots; and 
ii. Returned Ballots which have been reinserted using the Ballot Return Over ride 

Procedure;, 
 

and the other for the temporary storing of voted ballots during such time as the vote 
counting unit is not functioning; and 

 
(b) a Portable Ballot Box into which voted mail ballots are deposited, to be counted after 

the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

“Ballot” -  means a single ballot card designed for use in an automated vote counting 
system, which shows: 

 
(a) the names of all of the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and 

School Trustee;, and Regional Health Board member, if applicable; and 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

 
(b) all of the choices on all of the referendum questions on which the opinion of, or consent 

from, the electors is sought. 
 

“Ballot Return Over-ride Procedure”  - means the use, by an election official, of a device 
on a vote counting unit, which causes the unit to accept a Returned Ballot. 

 
“Election Headquarters” -  means North Vancouver City Hall, 141 West 14th Street, North 
Vancouver, B.C. 

 
“Emergency Ballot Compartment” -  means a designated compartment in the b ' allot box 
under each vote counting unit into which voted ballots are temporarily deposited in the event 
that the unit ceases to function. 

 
“Memory Pack” - means a computer software cartridge which is inserted into the vote 
counting unit and into which is preprogrammed: 
 
a) the names of all of the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, 
School Trustee, and Regional Health Board member, if applicable; and 
 
b) the alternatives of “yes” and “no” for each referendum question, 
 
and a mechanism to record and retain information on the number of acceptable marks made 
for each. 

 
“Memory Card” – means a flash memory card that inserts into the vote counting unit and 
into which is programmed: 

 
(a) the names of all the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School 

Trustee, as applicable, and with written consent of the candidate, an elector 
organization endorsement for the candidate; and  

 
(b) the alternatives of “yes” and “no” for all of the choices on all of the referendum 

questions on which the opinion of, or consent from, the electors is sought, 
 

and a mechanism to record and retain information on the number of Acceptable Marks made 
for each.  

 
“Portable Ballot Box” -  means a ballot box which is used in the election where a vote 
counting unit is not being used at the time of voting. 

 
“Results Tape” -  means the printed record generated from a vote counting unit at the close 
of voting on general voting day, which shows the number of votes for each candidate for 
each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School Trustee, and Regional Health Board 
member, if applicable, and the number of votes for and against each referendum question, 
if applicable. 

 
“Returned Ballot” -  means a voted ballot which was inserted into the vote counting unit 
but which was not accepted, and which was returned with an explanation of the ballot 
marking error which caused the ballot not to be accepted. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

“Secrecy Sleeve” - means an open-ended folder or envelope used to cover ballots to 
conceal the choices made by each elector. 
 
“Vote Counting Unit” -  means the device into which voted ballots are inserted and which 
scans each ballot and counts and records the number of votes for each candidate and for 
and against each referendum question. 

 
AUTHORIZATION 
 
2.13. Authorization is hereby given for the conducting of the General Local and, School Board 

Election and Regional Health Board Election, using an aAutomated vVote cCounting 
sSystem. 

 
3. AUTOMATED VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
43.1 The presiding election official for each voting place and at each advance and special voting 

opportunity, shall may offer, and, or if requested, must ensure that a demonstration of how 
to vote using an Automated Vote Counting System is provided to an elector, as soon as 
such elector enters the voting place and before a Ballot is issued. 

 
43.2 Upon completion of any voting demonstration, the elector shall proceed as instructed to the 

election official responsible for issuing ballots, who: 
 

(a) shall ensure that the elector; 
 

i. is qualified to vote in the election; 
ii. completes the voting book as required by the Local Government Act; and[Bylaw 

7948, July 7, 2008] 
 

(b) upon fulfillment of the requirements of sub-section (a), shall then provide a Ballot to the 
elector, along with a secrecy sleeve if applicable, the Ballot marking pen, and any 
further instructions the elector requests. 

 
43.3 Upon being given provided a Ballot, the elector shall immediately proceed to a voting 

compartment to vote. 
 
43.4 The elector may vote only by making an Acceptable Mark on the Ballot: 
 

(a) beside the name of each candidate of choice, up to the maximum number of 
candidates to be elected for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor,  and School 
Trustee, and Regional Health Board member, if applicable; and 

 
(b) beside either “yes” or “no” in the case of each referendum question, if applicable. 

 
43.5 Once the elector has finished marking the Ballot, the elector must either: 
 

(a) place the Ballot into the secrecy sleeve, in the case of a two-sided Ballot or if one is 
otherwise provided; or 

 
(b) turn the Ballot upside down in the case of a single-sided Ballot, and proceed to the 

Vvote counting unit, and under the supervision of the election official in attendance, 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

insert the ballotBallot directly into the vote counting unit without the Acceptable Marks 
on the ballotBallot being exposed. 

 
3.6 If: 
 

(a) before inserting the ballot into the vote counting unit, an elector determines that a 
mistake has been made when marking the ballot, or 

 
(b) the ballot is inserted into the vote counting unit and returned, 

 
the elector may request a replacement ballot by advising the election official in attendance. 

 
3.7 Upon being advised of the replacement ballot request for a replacement ballot, the presiding 

election official shall issue a replacement ballot to the elector and mark the returned ballot 
“spoiled” and shall retain all such spoiled ballots separately from all other ballots and they 
shall not be counted in the election. 

 
43.68 If the elector declines the opportunity to obtain a replacement Ballot and has not damaged 

the Ballot to the extent that it cannot be reinserted into the vote counting unit, the election 
official shall, using the Ballot Return Over ride Procedure, reinsert the Returned Ballot into 
the vote counting unit to count any Acceptable Marks. 

 
43.78 If a Ballot is returned by the vote counting unit, the election official shall state the reason 

for the rejection as shown on the vote counting unit and give the elector the option of: 
 

(a) (a) completing a replacement Ballot; or 
 

(b) (b) reinserting the Returned Ballot into the vote counting unit using the Ballot return 
override procedure to count any marks that have been made correctly; 

 
and the election official shall proceed in accordance with the elector’s choice. 

 
4.83.9 Any Ballot accepted by the vote counting unit is valid and any Acceptable Marks contained 

on such Ballots will be counted in the election, subject to any determination made under a 
judicial recount. 

 
3.104.9 Once the Ballot has been inserted into the vote counting unit and the unit indicates 

that the Ballot has been accepted, the elector must immediately leave the voting place. 
 
3.114.10 During any period that a vote counting unit is not functioning, the election official 

supervising the unit shall direct electors to insert their Ballots into the Emergency Ballot 
Compartment, on the understanding that if the vote counting unit: 

 
(a) becomes operational; or 

 
(b) is replaced with another vote counting unit, 

 
the Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment shall, as soon as reasonably possible, be 
removed by an election official and, under the supervision of the presiding election official, 
shall be inserted into the vote counting unit to be counted. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

3.124.11 Any Ballots which that were temporally temporarily stored in the Emergency Ballot 
Compartment during a period when the vote counting unit was not functioning, which are 
returned by the vote counting unit when being counted, shall, through the use of the Ballot 
Return Over ride Procedure, and under the supervision of the presiding election official, be 
reinserted into the vote counting unit to ensure that any Acceptable Marks are counted. 

 
3.134.12 A sample Ballot that may be used in an election conducted under an Automated 

Vote Counting System is attached as Schedule “A” to this bylaw. 
 
4. ADVANCE AND, SPECIAL AND MAIL BALLOT VOTING OPPORTUNITY 

PROCEDURES 
 
54.1 Vote counting units shall be used at all advance and, special and mail ballot voting 

opportunities, and voting procedures at both the advance and, special and mail ballot voting 
opportunities shall follow as closely as possible, those described in section 43. 

 
54.2 At the close of voting at each advance and special voting opportunity, the presiding election 

official in each case shall ensure: 
 

(a)      that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted into 
the vote counting unit; 

 
(ba) that no additional Ballots are inserted into or withdrawn from either the vote counting 

unit or into or from the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(cb) that the Results Tapes in the vote counting units are not generated; and 
 

(d)     that the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal.. 

 
54.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at an advance or, special or mail 

ballot voting opportunity is not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 43.121 and 
43.132, so far as applicable, shall apply. 

 
54.4 The presiding election official shall, at the close of voting at both the final advance voting 

opportunity and the special voting opportunity: 
 

(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 
into the vote counting unit; 

 
(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 

and 
 

(c) deliver the vote counting unit, together with the memory pack cards and all other 
election materials, to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 

 
4.5 At the close of voting for the mail ballot voting opportunity the portable ballot box containing 

the secrecy envelopes must be opened by an election official as directed by the Chief 
Election Officer, and in the presence of one other person and any scrutineers present, the 
mail ballots contained therein must be inserted into the vote counting unit to be counted. 

 
5. MAIL BALLOT VOTING OPPORTUNITY PROCEDURES 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

 
65.1 Voting by mail Ballot and elector registration by mail in conjunction with mail Ballot voting 

are authorized under the Local Government Act. 
 

(a) Tthe Chief Election Officer is authorized to establish the application form, time limits 
in relation to mail Ballot voting, determine options for distributing the mail Ballot 
packages, request identification from electors as applicable, and designate the 
locations for the receipt of completed mail Ballot packages from electors. 

 
(b) An elector who wishes to vote by mail Ballot must submit a request to the Chief 

Election Officer using the application form and within the time limits established by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(c) Upon receipt of a completed application form and commencing as soon as practical 

after the final printed Ballots are available, the Chief Election Officer must make 
available to the elector a mail Ballot package that complies with sections 110(7) and 
(8) of the Local Government Act, immediately record, and upon request in person by 
a candidate, representative or elector, make available for inspection by any such 
person, the name and address of the person to whom the Chief Election Officer issued 
the mail Ballot package. 

 
(d) In order to vote using a mail Ballot, the elector must mark the Ballot in accordance with 

this bylaw and all instructions contained in the mail Ballot package provided by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(e) It is the elector’s responsibility to mail or deliver the completed mail Ballot package to 

a location designated by the Chief Election Officer such that the Chief Election Officer 
receives it no later than the close of voting on general voting day. 

 
(f) If an elector unintentionally spoils a mail Ballot before returning it to the Chief Election 

Officer, the elector may request a replacement mail Ballot package in accordance with 
section 65.1(b) of the bylaw, and the election official must make available replacement 
mail Ballot package as soon as practical in accordance with section 65.1 (c) of the 
bylaw. The first mail Ballot received by the Chief Election Officer will be counted, and 
any other mail Ballots issued to the same elector will be marked as “rejected”, the 
reason for rejection will be noted, and those Ballots will not be counted. 

 
(g) The Chief Election Officer, or designate, must process all mail Ballot packages 

returned by the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

(h) Upon receipt of a returned mail Ballot envelope, the Chief Election Officer, or 
designate, must immediately record the date of such receipt, open the return envelope 
and remove and examine the certification envelope and completed elector registration 
application, if applicable, and if satisfied as to the identity and entitlement to vote of 
the elector named in the certification, the completeness of the certification, and if the 
person is registering as a new elector, fulfilment of the requirements of section 65 or 
66 of the Local Government Act, mark the certification envelope as "accepted" and 
place it with other certification envelopes. 

 
(i) If the Chief Election Officer, or designate, is not satisfied as to the identity and 

entitlement to vote of the elector named in the certification, or the completeness of the 
certification; or is not satisfied that a person registering as a new elector has fulfilled 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

the requirements of section 65 or 66 of the Local Government Act; or receives the 
return mail Ballot envelope after the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief 
Election Officer, or designate, must not open the certification envelope and must mark 
the certification envelope as "rejected", note the reason for rejection, and not count 
the mail Ballot contained in the certification envelope in the election. 

 
 

(j) Each certification envelope returned with a mail Ballot package must be securely 
stored by the Chief Election Officer in the event of any challenge made in accordance 
with section 126 of the Local Government Act. 

 
65.2 Vote counting units shall be used at the mail Ballot voting opportunity and voting procedures 

shall follow as closely as possible, those described in section 43. 
 
65.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at a mail Ballot voting opportunity is 

not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 43.12 and 43.13, so far as applicable, shall 
apply. 

 
65.4 The Chief Election Officer is authorized to designate one or more locations, days and times 

for the counting of mail Ballots before general voting day. 
 
65.5 For the counting of mail Ballots at locations, days and times designated by the Chief Election 

Officer, the Chief Election Officer, or designate, in the presence of another election official, 
shall: 

 
(a) open certification envelopes accepted and maintained to date by the Chief Election 

Officer; and 
 

(b) insert the secrecy Ballot from each certification envelope into a vote counting unit 
designated for counting mail Ballots; 

 
(c) after the insertion of all mail Ballots, ensure that no additional Ballots are inserted into 

or withdrawn from either the vote counting unit or the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(d) ensure the Results Tapes in the vote counting unit are not generated; and 
 

(e) ensure the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal. 

 
65.6 The Chief Election Officer shall designate a location and an election official for the counting 

of mail Ballots on general voting day and the procedures in section 65.5  of this bylaw shall 
apply to the counting of such mail Ballots. After the close of voting on general voting day, 
the designated election official shall: 

 
(a) generate two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit designated for 

counting of mail Ballots; and 
 

(b) deliver one copy of the Results Tape, along with the Memory Card from vote counting 
unit used for counting mail Ballots, to the Chief Election Officer. 

 
 [Bylaw 7948, July 7, 2008] 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

65. PROCEDURES AFTER THE CLOSE OF VOTING ON GENERAL VOTING DAY 
 
765.1 After the close of voting on general voting day, each presiding election official, except 

those responsible for advance, special and mail Ballot voting opportunities, shall undertake 
all of the following, generally in the order stipulated:[Bylaw 7948, July 7, 2008] 

 
(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 

into the vote counting unit; 
 

(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 
 

(c) generate 2 two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit; 
 

(d) remove the memory pack card from the vote counting unit and deliver it, along with 
one copy of the Results Tape, to the Chief Election Off icer at Election Headquarters; 

 
(e) account for the unused, spoiled and voted Ballots, and place them, packaged and 

sealed separately, into the election materials transfer box; 
 

(f) complete the Ballot account and place the duplicate copy in the election materials 
transfer box; 

 
(g) seal the election materials transfer box; 

 
(h) place the voting books/list of electors, the original copy of the Ballot account, 1one 

copy of the Results Tape, completed registration a cards, keys and all completed 
administrative forms into the Chief Election Officer portfolio; and 

 
(i) deliver the sealed election materials transfer box, vote counting unit and the Chief 

Election Officer portfolio to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 
 
765.2 After the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief Election Officer shall direct an 

election official to proceed in accordance with clauses (c) to (i) inclusive of sub-section 55.1, 
for the advance and,  special and mail Ballot voting opportunities, so far as applicable.[Bylaw 
7948, July 7, 2008] 

 
765.3 Upon the fulfillment of the provisions of sub-sections 5.1 and 5.2 inclusive, the Chief 

Election Officer shall, to obtain the election results, direct an election official to place the 
results in a spread sheet, which may be used for display in the City Council Chamber, 
indicating the total election results. 

 
67. RECOUNT PROCEDURE 
 
876.1. If a recount is required, it shall be conducted under the direction of the Chief Election 

Officer using the Automated Vote Counting System, and generally in accordance with the 
with the provisions of Sections 148, 149 and 150 of the Local Government Actfollowing 
procedure: 
a) the memory packs cards of all vote counting units will be cleared; 
 
b) vote counting units will be designated for each voting place; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

c) all voted ballots will be removed from the sealed election materials transfer boxes, 
except spoiled ballots, and reinserted in the appropriate vote counting units under the 
supervision of the Chief Election Officer; 

 
d)  any ballots returned by the vote counting unit during the recount process shall, through 

the use of the ballot return over-ride procedure, be reinserted into the vote counting 
unit to ensure that any acceptable marks are counted; and 

 
e) to obtain the election results, the Chief or Deputy Election Officer shall place the results 

of each voting place on a spread sheet so as to tally the total election results. 
 
REPEAL 
 
9. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 1996, No. 6815” 

and all amendments are repealed on adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v3 

Schedule “A” 
Sample Ballot 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8943 
 

A bylaw to provide for the determination of various procedures 
for the conduct of local government elections and other voting 

 
Under the Local Government Act, the Council may, by bylaw, determine various procedures 
and requirements to be applied in the conduct of local government elections and other voting. 
 
Council wishes to establish various procedures and requirements under that authority. 
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1. This bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “General Local Election Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8943”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw: 
 

“Elector” means a resident elector or property elector of the jurisdiction as defined under 
the Local Government Act; 

 
“Election” means an election for the number of persons required to fill a local 
government office; 

 
“Endorsement documents” means documents required under Section 93 of the Local 
Government Act;  

 
“General local election” means the elections held for the Mayor, all Councillors and 
School Trustees, if applicable, of the jurisdiction, which must be held every four years; 

 
“General voting day” means:  

 
(a) for a General Local Election, the 3rd Saturday of October in the year of the election; 

 
(b) for a by-election, the date set under Section 54 of the Local Government Act; and 

 
(c) for other voting, the date set under Section 170 of the Local Government Act; 

 
“Jurisdiction” means, in relation to an election, the boundaries of the City of North 
Vancouver; 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

“Local Government” means, in relation to an election: 
 

(a) The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver; or 
 

(b) the municipal Council of the City of North Vancouver. 
 

“Nomination documents” means the documents required under Section 87 of the Local 
Government Act; 

 
“Other voting” means voting on a matter referred to under Section 170 of the Local 
Government Act and includes voting on a referendum under Sections 83 or 85 of the 
Community Charter. 

 
USE OF PROVINCIAL LIST OF VOTERS AS THE REGISTER OF RESIDENT ELECTORS 
 
3. As authorized under Section 76 of the Local Government Act, the most current available 

Provincial list of voters prepared under the Election Act, is deemed to be the register of 
resident electors for the Jurisdiction. 

 
4. The Provincial list of voters becomes the register of resident electors no later than 52 

days before General Voting Day for each Election or Other Voting for the Jurisdiction. 
 
REQUIRED ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
5. As provided under Section 107 of the Local Government Act, required advance voting 

opportunities will be held for each Election, or Other Voting, as follows: 
 

(a) on the 10th day before General Voting Day; and 
 

(b) on the 3rd day before General Voting Day. 
 
6. Voting hours for these advance voting opportunities must be from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. 
 
ADDITIONAL ADVANCE VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
7. As authorized under Section 108 of the Local Government Act, Council authorizes the 

Chief Election Officer to establish additional advance voting opportunities for each 
Election to be held in advance of General Voting Day and to designate the voting places, 
establish the date and the voting hours for these voting opportunities. 

 
SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITIES 
 
8. As authorized under Section 109 of the Local Government Act, Council authorizes the 

Chief Election Officer to establish special voting opportunities for each Election in any or 
all of the hospitals in the Jurisdiction and to designate the location, the date and the voting 
hours, within the limits set out in  the Local Government Act for a special voting 
opportunity. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

9. The following restrictions apply to persons who may vote at the special voting opportunity: 
 

(a) the only Electors who may vote are Electors who have been admitted to and are 
patients of a hospital on the date and during the voting hours for which the special 
voting opportunity is held. 

 
10. The following procedures for voting and for conducting the voting proceedings apply to the 

special voting opportunity: 
 

(a) where a special voting opportunity is established in a hospital, and a patient of the 
hospital who is a qualified voter is bedridden or unable to walk, the Presiding 
Election Officer may, in the presence of another election official, attend with the 
ballot box to a patient for the purpose of providing a ballot for voting. The voter will 
be instructed to mark the ballot at a far enough distance from the election officials so 
that privacy of the vote can be reasonably made. 

 
11. Council authorizes the Chief Election Officer to limit the number of candidate 

representatives who may be present at the special voting opportunity. 
 
RESOLUTION OF TIE VOTES AFTER JUDICIAL RECOUNT 
 
12. In the event of a tie vote after a judicial recount, the tie vote will be determined by lot in 

accordance with Section 151 of the Local Government Act. 
 
MAIL BALLOT VOTING 
 
13. As authorized under Section 110 of the Local Government Act, voting may be done by 

mail ballot and registration of Election may be done by mail in conjunction with mail ballot 
voting.  

 
14. The Chief Election Officer may establish the time limits in relation to voting by mail. 
 
15. The Chief Election Officer will establish procedures for voting and registration, and must 

ensure that sufficient records are kept. 
16. A mail ballot must be received by the Chief Election Officer before the close of voting on 

General Voting Day in order to be counted for an Election. 
 
ACCESS TO NOMINATION DOCUMENTS 
 
17. As authorized under Sections 89 and 93 of the Local Government Act, public access to 

nomination and endorsement documents will be provided by making copies available to 
any person at City Hall during regular business hours, on request, and by posting on the 
City’s website from the time of the delivery of documents to the Chief Election Officer until 
30 days after the declaration of the Election results. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8943 Document: 2186809-v5 

REPEAL 
 
18. “General Local Election Bylaw, 1993, No. 6442” and all amendments are repealed on 

adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944 Document: 2187946-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8944 

A Bylaw to amend “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 

8643, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8944” (Schedule A). 
 
2. “Election Sign Bylaw, 2018, No. 8643” is hereby amended by deleting “Schedule A” and 

replacing it with the updated “Schedule A” attached to this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Trans Canada Hwy

Ha
m

ilto
n A

ve

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve
St

. A
nd

re
ws

 A
ve

Mah
on

 A
ve

St
. P

at
ric

ks
 A

ve Q
ue

en
sb

ur
y 

Av
e

St
. G

eo
rg

es
 A

ve

M
ah

on
 A

ve

R
uf

us
 A

ve

St
. A

nd
re

w
s 

Av
e

Jo
ne

s 
Av

e

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

W

M
oo

dy
 A

ve

Be
w

ic
ke

 A
ve

G
ra

nd
 B

lv
d 

E

Su
th

er
la

nd
 A

ve

Lo
ns

da
le

 A
ve

R
id

ge
w

ay
 A

ve

Fo
rb

es
 A

ve

St
. D

av
id

s A
ve

W 1st St

La
rso

n Rd

E 4th St

W 19th St

W 20th St

W 21st St

Alden Lane

E 3rd St

W 19th St

W 20th St

Do
na

gh
y A

ve

M
ac

ka
y 

R
d W 3rd St

W 1st St

W 2nd St

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

W 21st St

N
ei

ls
on

 A
ve

C
he

st
er

fie
ld

 A
ve

W
es

tv
ie

w
D

r

Rufus Dr

Harbourside Dr

E Keith
Rd

Heywood St

Tem pe
Cres

Br
oo

k s
ba

n k
Av

e

Ea
st

er
n 

Av
e

H
a n

es
Av

e

M
ackay Ave

G
rand

Blvd

Brand St

Wolfe
St

Cas
ano Dr

W

8th St

Marine Dr

E 28th St

E 7th St

Lyon Pl

E 24th St

E 10th St

E 9th St

E 27th St

E 21st St

W 26th St

W 22nd St

W 27th St

W 14th St

W 24th St

E 13th St

W 18th St

E 26th St

E 22nd St

W 15th St

W 13th St

E 19th St

E 20th St

E 12th St

E 23rd St

E 11th St

Fe
ll A

ve

G
os

tic
k 

Pl

Ad derley St

26
th Cres

E 8th St

Cotton Rd

W 23rd St

W 28th St

W Keith Rd

E Esplanade

E 2nd St

E 6th St
W 4th St

W 5th St

W 6th St

E 5th St

E 18th St

Cloverley S
t

M unda y
Pl

E 17th St
W 17th St

E 15th St

E 14th St

E 16th St

Alder St

E 29th St

Tobruck Ave

Cumberland C
re

s

W 16th St

E 1st St

Shavin
gton St

Te
mpe Kn

oll
Dr

AutomallDr

Low Level Rd

Keith Creek
Miss

ion
 C

re
ek

M
os

qu
ito

Cr
ee

k

W
ag

g
Cr

ee
k

Th
ai

n
C

re
ek

Lynn
Creek

M
ac

ka
y

C
re

ek

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
H

w
y

Lyn
n Valley R

d

City of North Vancouver

Schedule A
Election Sign Bylaw 

2018 No. 8643, 
Amendment Byaw 

2022 No. 8944 

PUB LISHED: M ay 0 2, 2 018  

PATH:  H: \CNV_ Ma ps\C le rks\
COORDINATE SYS TE M: NAD 8 3, UTM Zo ne 1 0

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 100 200
Meters

FIL E: 2 018 _Ele ct io n_S ig n_B yla w_ 864 3_1 1x17

Squamish
Nation

Legend

Permitted Election 
Signage

Document: 2187962



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

BYLAW NO. 8946 
 

Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw 
 
Under the  Local Government Act, the Council may, by bylaw, provide for the use of automated 
voting machines, voting recorders or other devices for voting in an election;  
 
The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
CITATION 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited as “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and 

Procedure Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946”. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this bylaw, all definitions shall be in accordance with Part 3 of the Local Government Act, 

except for the following: 
 

“Acceptable Mark” means a filled oval or oval marked with an “x” that the vote counting 
unit is able to identify, and that has been made by an elector in the space provided on the 
ballot opposite the name of any candidate or opposite either “yes” or “no” on any referendum 
question, if applicable. 

 
“Automated Vote Counting System” means a system that counts and records votes and 
processes and stores election results which comprises: 

 
(a) a number of ballot scan vote counting units, each of which rests on a two compartment 

ballot box, one compartment of which is for: 
 

i. voted ballots; and 
ii. Returned Ballots which have been reinserted using the Ballot Return Over ride 

Procedure; 
 

and the other for the temporary storing of voted ballots during such time as the vote 
counting unit is not functioning; and 

 
(b) a Portable Ballot Box into which voted mail ballots are deposited, to be counted after 

the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

“Ballot” means a single ballot card designed for use in an automated vote counting system, 
which shows: 

 
(a) the names of all of the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor and 

School Trustee; and 
 

(b) all of the choices on all of the referendum questions on which the opinion of, or consent 
from, the electors is sought. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

“Ballot Return Over-ride Procedure” means the use, by an election official, of a device 
on a vote counting unit, which causes the unit to accept a Returned Ballot. 

 
“Election Headquarters” means North Vancouver City Hall, 141 West 14th Street, North 
Vancouver, B.C. 

 
“Emergency Ballot Compartment” means a designated compartment in the ballot box 
under each vote counting unit into which voted ballots are temporarily deposited in the event 
that the unit ceases to function. 

 
“Memory Card” means a flash memory card that inserts into the vote counting unit and into 
which is programmed: 

 
(a) the names of all the candidates for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School 

Trustee, as applicable, and with written consent of the candidate, an elector 
organization endorsement for the candidate; and  

 
(b) the alternatives of “yes” and “no” for all of the choices on all of the referendum 

questions on which the opinion of, or consent from, the electors is sought, 
 

and a mechanism to record and retain information on the number of Acceptable Marks made 
for each.  

 
“Portable Ballot Box” means a ballot box which is used in the election where a vote 
counting unit is not being used at the time of voting. 

 
“Results Tape” means the printed record generated from a vote counting unit at the close 
of voting on general voting day, which shows the number of votes for each candidate for 
each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor, and School Trustee, and the number of votes for 
and against each referendum question, if applicable. 

 
“Returned Ballot” means a voted ballot which was inserted into the vote counting unit but 
which was not accepted, and which was returned with an explanation of the ballot marking 
error which caused the ballot not to be accepted. 

 
“Vote Counting Unit” means the device into which voted ballots are inserted and which 
scans each ballot and counts and records the number of votes for each candidate and for 
and against each referendum question. 

 
AUTHORIZATION 
 
3. Authorization is hereby given for the conducting of the General Local and School Board 

Election, using an Automated Vote Counting System. 
 
AUTOMATED VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
4.1 The presiding election official for each voting place and at each advance and special voting 

opportunity, may offer, or if requested, must ensure that a demonstration of how to vote 
using an Automated Vote Counting System is provided to an elector, as soon as such elector 
enters the voting place and before a Ballot is issued. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

4.2 Upon completion of any voting demonstration, the elector shall proceed as instructed to the 
election official responsible for issuing ballots, who: 

 
(a) shall ensure that the elector; 

 
i. is qualified to vote in the election; 
ii. completes the voting book as required by the Local Government Act; and 

 
(b) upon fulfillment of the requirements of sub-section (a), shall then provide a Ballot to the 

elector the Ballot marking pen, and any further instructions the elector requests. 
 
4.3 Upon being provided a Ballot, the elector shall immediately proceed to a voting compartment 

to vote. 
 
4.4 The elector may vote only by making an Acceptable Mark on the Ballot: 
 

(a) beside the name of each candidate of choice, up to the maximum number of 
candidates to be elected for each of the offices of Mayor, Councillor and School 
Trustee, if applicable; and 

 
(b) beside either “yes” or “no” in the case of each referendum question, if applicable. 

 
4.5 Once the elector has finished marking the Ballot, the elector must either: 
 

(a) place the Ballot into the secrecy sleeve, in the case of a two-sided Ballot or if one is 
otherwise provided; or 

 
(b) turn the Ballot upside down in the case of a single-sided Ballot, and proceed to the vote 

counting unit, and under the supervision of the election official in attendance, insert 
the Ballot directly into the vote counting unit without the Acceptable Marks on the Ballot 
being exposed. 

 
4.6 If the elector declines the opportunity to obtain a replacement Ballot and has not damaged 

the Ballot to the extent that it cannot be reinserted into the vote counting unit, the election 
official shall, using the Ballot Return Over ride Procedure, reinsert the Returned Ballot into 
the vote counting unit to count any Acceptable Marks. 

 
4.7 If a Ballot is returned by the vote counting unit, the election official shall state the reason for 

the rejection as shown on the vote counting unit and give the elector the option of: 
 

(a) completing a replacement Ballot; or 
 

(b) reinserting the Returned Ballot into the vote counting unit using the Ballot return 
override procedure to count any marks that have been made correctly; 

 
and the election official shall proceed in accordance with the elector’s choice. 

 
4.8 Any Ballot accepted by the vote counting unit is valid and any Acceptable Marks contained 

on such Ballots will be counted in the election, subject to any determination made under a 
judicial recount. 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

4.9 Once the Ballot has been inserted into the vote counting unit and the unit indicates that the 
Ballot has been accepted, the elector must immediately leave the voting place. 

 
4.10 During any period that a vote counting unit is not functioning, the election official supervising 

the unit shall direct electors to insert their Ballots into the Emergency Ballot Compartment, 
on the understanding that if the vote counting unit: 

 
(a) becomes operational; or 

 
(b) is replaced with another vote counting unit, 

 
the Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment shall, as soon as reasonably possible, be 
removed by an election official and, under the supervision of the presiding election official, 
shall be inserted into the vote counting unit to be counted. 

 
4.11 Any Ballots that were temporarily stored in the Emergency Ballot Compartment during a 

period when the vote counting unit was not functioning, which are returned by the vote 
counting unit when being counted, shall, through the use of the Ballot Return Over ride 
Procedure, and under the supervision of the presiding election official, be reinserted into the 
vote counting unit to ensure that any Acceptable Marks are counted. 

 
4.12 A sample Ballot that may be used in an election conducted under an Automated Vote 

Counting System is attached as Schedule “A” to this bylaw. 
 
ADVANCE AND SPECIAL VOTING OPPORTUNITY PROCEDURES 
 
5.1 Vote counting units shall be used at all advance and special  voting opportunities, and voting 

procedures at the advance and special voting opportunities shall follow as closely as 
possible, those described in section 4. 

 
5.2 At the close of voting at each advance and special voting opportunity, the presiding election 

official in each case shall ensure: 
 

(a) that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted into the 
vote counting unit; 

 
(b) that no additional Ballots are inserted into or withdrawn from either the vote counting 

unit or into or from the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(c) that the Results Tapes in the vote counting units are not generated; and 
 

(d) that the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal. 

 
5.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at an advance or special voting 

opportunity is not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 4.12 and 4.13, so far as 
applicable, shall apply. 

 
5.4 The presiding election official shall, at the close of voting at both the final advance voting 

opportunity and the special voting opportunity: 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 
into the vote counting unit; 

 
(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 

and 
 

(c) deliver the vote counting unit, together with the memory cards and all other election 
materials, to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 

 
MAIL BALLOT VOTING OPPORTUNITY PROCEDURES 
 
6.1 Voting by mail Ballot and elector registration by mail in conjunction with mail Ballot voting 

are authorized under the Local Government Act. 
 

(a) The Chief Election Officer is authorized to establish the application form, time limits in 
relation to mail Ballot voting, determine options for distributing the mail Ballot 
packages, request identification from electors as applicable, and designate the 
locations for the receipt of completed mail Ballot packages from electors. 

 
(b) An elector who wishes to vote by mail Ballot must submit a request to the Chief 

Election Officer using the application form and within the time limits established by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(c) Upon receipt of a completed application form and commencing as soon as practical 

after the final printed Ballots are available, the Chief Election Officer must make 
available to the elector a mail Ballot package that complies with sections 110(7) and 
(8) of the Local Government Act, immediately record, and upon request in person by 
a candidate, representative or elector, make available for inspection by any such 
person, the name and address of the person to whom the Chief Election Officer issued 
the mail Ballot package. 

 
(d) In order to vote using a mail Ballot, the elector must mark the Ballot in accordance with 

this bylaw and all instructions contained in the mail Ballot package provided by the 
Chief Election Officer. 

 
(e) It is the elector’s responsibility to mail or deliver the completed mail Ballot package to 

a location designated by the Chief Election Officer such that the Chief Election Officer 
receives it no later than the close of voting on general voting day. 

 
(f) If an elector unintentionally spoils a mail Ballot before returning it to the Chief Election 

Officer, the elector may request a replacement mail Ballot package in accordance with 
section 6.1(b) of the bylaw, and the election official must make available replacement 
mail Ballot package as soon as practical in accordance with section 6.1 (c) of the 
bylaw. The first mail Ballot received by the Chief Election Officer will be counted, and 
any other mail Ballots issued to the same elector will be marked as “rejected”, the 
reason for rejection will be noted, and those Ballots will not be counted. 

 
(g) The Chief Election Officer, or designate, must process all mail Ballot packages 

returned by the close of voting on general voting day. 
 

(h) Upon receipt of a returned mail Ballot envelope, the Chief Election Officer, or 
designate, must immediately record the date of such receipt, open the return envelope 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

and remove and examine the certification envelope and completed elector registration 
application, if applicable, and if satisfied as to the identity and entitlement to vote of 
the elector named in the certification, the completeness of the certification, and if the 
person is registering as a new elector, fulfilment of the requirements of section 65 or 
66 of the Local Government Act, mark the certification envelope as "accepted" and 
place it with other certification envelopes. 

 
(i) If the Chief Election Officer, or designate, is not satisfied as to the identity and 

entitlement to vote of the elector named in the certification, or the completeness of the 
certification; or is not satisfied that a person registering as a new elector has fulfilled 
the requirements of section 65 or 66 of the Local Government Act; or receives the 
return mail Ballot envelope after the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief 
Election Officer, or designate, must not open the certification envelope and must mark 
the certification envelope as "rejected", note the reason for rejection, and not count 
the mail Ballot contained in the certification envelope in the election. 

 
(j) Each certification envelope returned with a mail Ballot package must be securely 

stored by the Chief Election Officer in the event of any challenge made in accordance 
with section 126 of the Local Government Act. 

 
6.2 Vote counting units shall be used at the mail Ballot voting opportunity and voting procedures 

shall follow as closely as possible, those described in section 4. 
 
6.3 During any period that a vote counting unit being used at a mail Ballot voting opportunity is 

not functioning, the provisions of sub-sections 4.12 and 4.13, so far as applicable, shall 
apply. 

 
6.4 The Chief Election Officer is authorized to designate one or more locations, days and times 

for the counting of mail Ballots before general voting day. 
 
6.5 For the counting of mail Ballots at locations, days and times designated by the Chief Election 

Officer, the Chief Election Officer, or designate, in the presence of another election official, 
shall: 

 
(a) open certification envelopes accepted and maintained to date by the Chief Election 

Officer; 
 

(b) insert the secrecy Ballot from each certification envelope into a vote counting unit 
designated for counting mail Ballots; 

 
(c) after the insertion of all mail Ballots, ensure that no additional Ballots are inserted into 

or withdrawn from either the vote counting unit or the Emergency Ballot Compartment; 
 

(d) ensure the Results Tapes in the vote counting unit are not generated; and 
 

(e) ensure the Memory Cards in the vote counting unit are secured and remain sealed in 
such a manner that they cannot be accessed without breaking the seal. 

 
6.6 The Chief Election Officer shall designate a location and an election official for the counting 

of mail Ballots on general voting day and the procedures in section 6.5 of this bylaw shall 
apply to the counting of such mail Ballots. After the close of voting on general voting day, 
the designated election official shall: 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

(a) generate two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit designated for 
counting of mail Ballots; and 

 
(b) deliver one copy of the Results Tape, along with the Memory Card from vote counting 

unit used for counting mail Ballots, to the Chief Election Officer. 
 
PROCEDURES AFTER THE CLOSE OF VOTING ON GENERAL VOTING DAY 
 
7.1 After the close of voting on general voting day, each presiding election official, except those 

responsible for advance, special and mail Ballot voting opportunities, shall undertake all of 
the following, generally in the order stipulated: 

 
(a) ensure that any remaining Ballots in the Emergency Ballot Compartment are inserted 

into the vote counting unit; 
 

(b) secure the vote counting unit so that no more Ballots can be inserted or withdrawn; 
 

(c) generate two copies of the Results Tape from the vote counting unit; 
 

(d) remove the memory card from the vote counting unit and deliver it, along with one 
copy of the Results Tape, to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters; 

 
(e) account for the unused, spoiled and voted Ballots, and place them, packaged and 

sealed separately, into the election materials transfer box; 
 

(f) complete the Ballot account and place the duplicate copy in the election materials 
transfer box; 

 
(g) seal the election materials transfer box; 

 
(h) place the voting books/list of electors, the original copy of the Ballot account, one copy 

of the Results Tape, completed registration cards, keys and all completed 
administrative forms into the Chief Election Officer portfolio; and 

 
(i) deliver the sealed election materials transfer box, vote counting unit and the Chief 

Election Officer portfolio to the Chief Election Officer at Election Headquarters. 
 
7.2 After the close of voting on general voting day, the Chief Election Officer shall direct an 

election official to proceed in accordance with clauses (c) to (i) inclusive of sub-section 5.1, 
for the advance and special Ballot voting opportunities, so far as applicable. 

 
7.3 Upon the fulfillment of the provisions of sub-sections 5.1 and 5.2 inclusive, the Chief Election 

Officer shall, to obtain the election results, direct an election official to place the results in a 
spreadsheet, which may be used for display in the City Council Chamber, indicating the total 
election results. 

 
RECOUNT PROCEDURE 
 
8. If a recount is required, it shall be conducted using the Automated Vote Counting System, 

and generally in accordance with the provisions of Sections 148, 149 and 150 of the Local 
Government Act: 

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

REPEAL 
 
9. “Automated Vote Counting System Authorization and Procedure Bylaw, 1996, No. 6815” 

and all amendments are repealed on adoption of this bylaw. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8946 Document: 2190177-v4 

Schedule “A” 
Sample Ballot 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

~ ~ ~ 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Bram van der Heijden, Planner 1 

REPORT 

Subject: DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT APPLICATION: 520 EAST 18T 

STREET (WALL NORTH VANCOUVER TOWNHOME LTD.) 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0085/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
"Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North 
Vancouver Townhome Ltd.)": 

THAT Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 (Wall North Vancouver 
Townhome Ltd., Inc. No. BC1138119) be considered for issuance under Section 
498 of the Local Government Act and the Public Meeting be waived; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the Mayor and Corporate Officer be authorized to sign the necessary 
documentation to give effect to this motion. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Project Statistics, dated May 17, 2022 (CityDocs #2170913) 
2. Site Plan, dated May 17, 2022 (CityDocs #2180891 ) 
3. Parkade Plan, dated May 17, 2022 (CityDocs #2180898) 
4. Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 - 520 East 1st Street and 

114-120 St. Davids Avenue (CityDocs #2178015) 

Document Number: 2178648 V2 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1st Street (Wall North Vancouver Townhori1e 
Ltd.) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

SUMMARY 

Wall North Vancouver Townhome Ltd. ("Wall") has applied for a Development Variance 
Permit (DVP) to vary the on-site parking requirement at 520 East 1st Street (the 
"Development") from 104 parking spaces to 74. The applicant's intention is to operate 
the stratified development as a rental building. As a condition of the DVP all residential 
strata units would be required to be held in single ownership and secured as rental units 
for 20 years. The requirement for single ownership will be secured by a Section 219 
covenant to be registered on title to the lands for a term of 20 years . 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: Wall North Vancouver Townhome Ltd. 
Official Community Plan Residential Level 4B 
Designation: 

Existing Zoning: CD-669 
Applicable Guidelines: Moodyville development permit area 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The Development is part of the Trails development which is a multi-phase development 
across multiple properties in the Moodyville area. The Development, also referred to as 
Phase 28 at 520 East 1st, was issued a Development Permit in 2018 for a 104 unit 
townhome development. Most of the surrounding parcels share the same CD-669 Zone. 
Phase 3 - 6 of the Trails development have not yet been issued a Development Permit. 
All phases are owned by Wall North Vancouver Townhome Ltd. 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the subject site are described in Table 
1 below. 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 
- Direction- --Address - --------- -- -Description--------- - ----- -- Zoning------

North 505-565 E 2nd St. Townhouse development (under CD-669 construction) - Phase 1 

South 519-609 E 1st St. Vacant lot - Phase 3 CD-669 

602-622 E 1st 
East St.,603- 609 E 2nd Vacant lot - Phase 2A CD-669 

St. 
West 109 St. Davids Ave Single family home CD-669 

Project Description 

• The applicant has obtained a development permit and a building permit to 
construct the Development which consists of 104 townhouse units. The project is 
currently under construction and is expected to be finalized in August 2022. 

Page 2 of 4 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 1s1 Street (Wall North Vancouver Townhome 
Ltd.) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

• Through the development permit process, the parking requirements of the Zoning 
Bylaw were achieved by providing 64 residential parking stalls, 10 car share 
stalls which count as 4 regular stalls each and cash in lieu contributions for 5 
additional stalls. 

• The applicant has been unable to secure car share vehicles for the development. 
Therefore, the development no longer meets the parking requirements of the 
Zoning Bylaw. 

On May 21, 2022, the applicant submitted a DVP application to vary the Zoning Bylaw 
parking requirement, including a proposal to provide all units in the development as 
rental units, secured through a section 219 rental covenant effectively creating a rental 
building with corresponding parking requirements. 

DISCUSSION 

The development that was approved through the DP process can no longer meet the 
parking requirements because the applicant has not been able to secure the required 
car share vehicles. The applicant has provided a letter of credit in the amount of 
$500,000 to the City as security to ensure provision of the required car share vehicles. 

Car Share Security 
Forfeiting the security amount would be a significant financial burden to the applicant. 
Also , the security amount would have limited benefit to mitigate the parking deficit 
because it must be allocated to new and existing off-street parking spaces, or 
transportation infrastructure that supports walking, bicycling , public transit or other 
alternative forms of transportation projects according to the Local Government Act. 
Since the site is part of the Trails development area (See Figure 1), most surrounding 
streets will see significant upgrades while the area is being fully redeveloped. For this 
reason it will be challenging to allocate the security amount within the immediate vicinity 
of the site to further improve upon any localized parking shortages. 

Figure 1. 'Trails ' Development Area, and Subject Site (Phase 2) 

' ---
t 
N 

~ CJ rNVA~=•o urr ~ 
r-7 OWNl.O IJYTKeCOIVOfl.ATIOPt OI' 
L.______J llU:CfTYM1"°"TH YAHC()U';IEJ'I 

CJ WAU.l'UWiGl.ALO'M«OlOT 

Page 3 of4 



REPORT: Development Variance Permit Application: 520 East 151 Street (Wall North Vancouver Townhome 
Ltd.) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Proposed Provision of Rental Housing 
The applicant has proposed proceeding with the project as a rental development, rather 
than strata. A Rental Apartment Residential Use has a lower parking requirement and 
the change would result in a decrease from 1.05 required stalls per unit to 0.6 stalls per 
unit. However, as the project has already been stratified, the site cannot meet the 
zoning bylaw definition of Rental Apartment Residential Use. 

To secure rental housing on the site and permit the typical rental housing parking ratio, 
two measures are proposed : 1) a rental covenant prohibiting the sale of the units; and, 
2) a parking variance to 0.71 spaces per unit. The parking variance combined with a 
rental covenant would ensure the property will function as a rental building for the next 
20 years while exceeding the parking requirement for Rental Apartment Residential Use 
of 0.6 stalls per unit. This proposal, if approved , would result in the building exceeding 
the parking requirements for Rental Apartment Residential Use by 10 stalls. 

At the end of the 20 year covenanted period (i.e. 2044), individual units could be sold as 
strata condos and the building would maintain the 0.7 space per unit parking ratio. It is 
expected that parking demand in 2044 will be significantly reduced owing to the greater 
availability of alternative transportation modes such as rapid transit, improved active 
transportation options, technological changes and compact urban development. 

Need for Family-Friendly Rental Housing 
The proposed DVP combined with the 20-year rental covenant would bring large family
friendly rental homes to the area. Townhome rental units are exceedingly rare in the city 
and would significantly contribute to meeting needs identified in the Housing Needs 
Report and advance a number of goals set out in the Housing Action Plan including: 

• Family-Friendly Housing; and 
• Diversity of Rental Suites. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The security for the 10 car share vehicles for the amount of $500,000 will be released if 
the DVP is issued. 

INTER-DEPARTMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

No inter-departmental implications are expected. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Bram van der Heijden 
Planner I 

Page 4 of 4 



thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



EAST 1 ST STREET 

SITE PLAN 
r,,-• 1'·0- 16' ~ 4' 0 

u 
i:: 

To""""" ($)4)29$370ll 
f-~Ool)29HOll1 ---""1--.... 

___ ....... _..__,, __ _ 
_ _,...,,_., ....,~, .. ,_ .. d,...,_,.., 

MOOOYVIW' 
THETRAILS - PH.ASE2B 
520EAST1STSTREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER ., 

WALL NORTH VANCOUVER 
TONN 1-KlME DEVELOPMENTS 

LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

~ay 17, 2022 

SITEPLAN 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



w 
=> z 
w 
~ 
Cf) 
0 

~ 
0 

i---..: 
Cf) 

L_ ____ __L_ 

M H ·! 
H H ·I 

H ·! 

L 
' 
' 

_ _l_ ___ _ 

LIVING LANE 

RESIDENT & VISITOR PARKING 

EAST 1ST STREET 

,, ·! !· 
I· ·! I· 
'- ·! ~; ,-
!· ·! !· 
!· ·! !· 

·! 
·I 
·! 
·! 
·! 

LEVEL P1 PLAN OVERALL 
16' ~ 4' 0 16' 

u 
i:: 

To"""""($)4)29$370ll 
f-~Ool)29HOll1 ---""1--.... 

___ ....... _..__,, __ _ 
_ _,...,,_., ....,~, .. ,_ .. d,...,_,.., 

MOOOYVIW' 
THETRAILS - PH.ASE2B 
520EAST1STSTREET 
NORTH VANCOUVER ., 

WALL NORTH VANCOUVER 
TONN 1-KlME DEVELOPMENTS 

LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 

~ay 17, 2022 

LEVELP1 Pl.AN(OVERALL) 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 Document: 2178015-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
 

DEVELOPMENT VARIANCE PERMIT 
 
 

 
Permit No. PLN2022-00013 File: 08-3400-20-0085/1 
 
Issued to owner(s): WALL NORTH VANCOUVER TOWNHOME LTD., INC. NO. 

BC1138119 
 
 
Respecting the lands located at 520 East 1st Street and 114-120 St. Davids Avenue, 
North Vancouver, BC, legally described as: 
 
LOT 1 DISTRICT LOT 273 PLAN EPP104606 PID: 031-245-781 
 
(the “Lands”) 
 
 
List of Attachments: 
 
Schedule “A”:  List of Plans 
 
 
Authority to Issue: 
 

1. This Development Variance Permit is issued pursuant to Section 498 of the Local 
Government Act. 

 
 
Bylaws Supplemented or Varied: 
 

2. The provisions of the City of North Vancouver “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 
are hereby varied as follows: 
 
A. Section 908(8) shall be varied to reduce the minimum number of Parking 

Spaces required to 74 spaces. 
 
 
Special Terms and Conditions of Use: 
 

3. The Buildings and Structures shall be developed in accordance with the plans 
dated and listed on the attached Schedule A “List of Plans” and filed in the offices 
of the City, and in compliance with the regulations and conditions listed hereunder: 
 
A. A Section 219 Covenant must be registered to title of the Lands to ensure: 

 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 Document: 2178015-v1 

a. All Strata units shall be held by one owner for 20 years, starting at the 
date permission to occupy the buildings has been granted by the City. 

 
b. All units shall be used as rental units for 20 years, starting at the date 

permission to occupy the buildings has been granted by the City. 
 

4. No variances other than those specifically set out in this permit are implied or to 
be construed. 

 
 
General Terms and Conditions: 
 

5. Pursuant to Section 504 of the Local Government Act, this Permit lapses if the 
work authorized herein is not commenced within 24 months following issuance of 
this Development Variance Permit. In the event the Owner is delayed or interrupted 
or prevented from commencing or continuing the construction on or about the 
subdivision by reason of any Act of God, labour unrest (including strike and 
lockouts), weather conditions or any similar cause reasonably beyond the control 
of the Owner, the time for the completion of the works shall be extended for a 
period equal to the duration of the contingency that occasioned the delay, 
interruption or prevention, provided that the commercial or financial circumstances 
of the Owner shall not be viewed as a cause beyond the control of the Owner. 

 
6. This Development Variance Permit shall not vary the permitted uses or densities 

of land use in the applicable zoning bylaw nor a flood plain specification designated 
under Section 524(3) of the Local Government Act. 

 
7. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve Land Owner/Developers obligation 

to ensure that the development proposal complies in every way with the statutes, 
regulations, requirements, covenants and licences applicable to the undertaking. 

 
8. Nothing in this Permit shall in any way relieve the Land Owner/Developers 

obligation to comply with all setback regulations for construction of structures or 
provision of on-site services pursuant to the Health Act, the Fire Services Act, the 
Electrical Energy Inspection Act, and any other provincial statutes. 

  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 Document: 2178015-v1 

 
 
 
Authorized by Council: ______________________ 
    Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Linda C. Buchanan, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Karla D. Graham, Corporate Officer 
 
Date Signed: __________________________ 
   Year / Month / Day 
 
 
 
Note: As required by Section 503 of the Local Government Act, the City of North 

Vancouver shall file a notice of this permit in the Land Title Office stating that the 
land described in this Permit is subject to Development Variance Permit No. 
PLN2022-00013. 

 
 Notice filed the ____________day of __________________, 20______. 
 
 
 

THIS IS NOT A BUILDING PERMIT 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Development Variance Permit No. PLN2022-00013 Document: 2178015-v1 

Schedule A 
List of Plans – 520 East 1st Street and 114-120 St. Davids Avenue 

 
 

Designer 
Project 
Name 

Sheet 
Description 

Sheet 
No. 

Sheet 
Date 

CityDocs 
File Number 

Butties Architecture 
Inc. 

520 East 1st 
Street Parkade plan A2.02 May 17, 2022 2180898 

Butties Architecture 
Inc. 

520 East 1st 
Street Site plan A 2.01 May 17, 2022 2178015 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

De&et A€ 
Director CAO 

Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Huy Dang, Planner 1 

REPORT 

Subject: REZONING AND HERITAGE DESIGNATION APPLICATION - 328 
WEST 14TH STREET (SCOTT MITCHELL/ METRIC ARCHITECTURE) 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0067/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 1, dated June 8, 2022, entitled 
"Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott 
Mitchell/ METRIC Architecture)": 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2021, No. 8935" 
(Scott Mitchell/ METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street, CD-756) be 
considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

THAT "Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932" (Scott Mitchell / METRIC 
Architecture, 328 West 14th Street) be considered and referred to the same 
Public Hearing; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus 
and Community Benefits" be secured, through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2183351 ) 

2. Architectural and Landscape Plans, dated May 19, 2022 (CityDocs 2187217) 

3. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2158295) 

4. Heritage Conservation Plan, dated October 1, 2021 (CityDocs 2152206) 

Document Number: 2181819 V3 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

5. Heritage Restoration Works Estimate, dated May 25, 2022 (CityDocs 2183898) 

6. Heritage Advisory Commission Resolution, dated May 2, 2022 (CityDocs 2184062) 
7. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935" (CityDocs 

2183358) 
8. "Heritage Designation Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932" (CityDocs 2184574) 

SUMMARY 

This report seeks Council approval for a heritage retention and stratification application 
to rehabilitate an existing one-unit heritage residence into a two-unit development, each 
with lock-off units, in addition to providing two infill units in the rear. The proposal 
includes a Heritage Designation Bylaw to protect the existing Heritage 'A' building on 
the site in perpetuity. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant & Architect: Scott Mitchell, METRIC Architecture 
Official Community Plan Designation: Residential Level 2 (R2) 
Existing Zoning: RS-1 
Applicable Guidelines: N/A 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context 

This 650.5 square metre (7,002 square feet) site is located along West 14th Street with a 
frontage of 15.2 metre (50.0 feet). The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the 
subject site are described in Table 1 below. 

(across the 327 West 15th Street 
lane) 
South 

327 West 14th Street 

West 330 West 14th Street 

East 
320-324 West 14th Street 

Heritage Designation 

Heritage Value and Character 

Single-detached home with 
RS-1 

suite 

Single-detached home RS-1 

Duplex and single-detached 
CD-641 

infill at the rear 

Single-detached home RT-1 

The heritage building on site is identified on the City's Heritage Register as the Knowles 
Residence. The building is listed with an 'A' ranking and has been recognized as having 
significant heritage value. See Figure 1 below. 

Page 2 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Figure 1: Heritage Register entry for Knowles Residence 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 West 14th Street 
Wi ll iam Knowles, Contractor (Assumed) 
1909 
REGl,STER RANKING: A 

L
ocal contractor William Knowles ( 1879-1947) built this striking house, but lived 
here only briefly before building a new home on Larson Road. It displays the 
influ_ences of the Arts and Crafts style, but its massing and proportion distinguish 

it from typical examples. The massive corner turret creates a distinct picturesque quality, 
providing the appearance of a grand manor house. The scale of the residence reflects 
the desire for grand homes of the people moving into North Vancouver prior to World 
War One, when the local housing market was booming and people were making small 
fortunes in speculative building. Its unusual style and imposing silhouette are unique in 
the neighbourhood. 

As part of this application, the ongoing protection of the Knowles Residence will be 
secured in perpetuity through a Heritage Designation Bylaw (Attachment 8). Any future 
alteration to the house will need to be authorized by a heritage alteration permit in 
accordance with the Heritage Conservation Plan (Attachment 4), which will be 
registered on title through a Heritage Conservation Covenant. 

Compatibility of Conservation with Area and Property 

The site is located within close proximity to various heritage buildings sited in the blocks 
directly north and south. The site is within a transition area between lower to higher 
density areas in Central Lonsdale, with a mixture of detached housing forms and multi
residential developments that surround the block. The Residential Level 2 (R2) 
designation by the Official Community Plan supports duplexes and row home-type 
developments, which this proposal complies with. 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Heritage Condition, Conservation and Additions 

The proposal seeks to replace portions of the rear/north side of the building with 
additional floor area to the main, upper, and basement floors with new elevated decks. 
The building will be shifted closer towards the front property line on a new foundation, 
as the existing foundation was determined to be in poor condition . The existing front 
staircase will be replaced with a boxed-stairwell that fits appropriately with the 
architectural 'Arts and Crafts' style of the Knowles Residence, and the front upper
storey window will be opened up to support a balcony area for one of the two units. This 
improved stairwell configuration provides a better interface between the street and 
building entrance, and the rear decks will serve as both heritage unit's semi-private 
outdoor spaces. 

Page 3 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

The applicant's Heritage Conservation Plan (Attachment 4), which includes a statement 
of significance, further outlines the condition of the building and proposed conservation 
strategy for the preservation, restoration, and rehabilitation of the architectural style of 
the Knowles Residence, which includes: 

• Preservation of rooflines and shingles, window assemblies and decorative 
leading, and cladding and siding throughout; 

• Restoration of fascia boards and soffits, and wood window elements and trims; 
• Rehabilitation of the roof and replica wood windows as needed . 

Staff have reviewed the works proposed and support the works as they do not result in 
a significant alteration to the existing exterior massing, and character-defining elements 
of the building's front face as outlined under Section 3.3 of the Heritage Conservation 
Plan. 

Infill Units and Economic Viability for Heritage Conservation 

To help offset the costs associated with the heritage conservation efforts and building 
upgrades, the proposal includes two detached infill units at the rear of the site with an 
attached carport. 

The detached infill buildings are designed to be compatible with the Knowles 
Residence, and the lower-profile and positioning of the buildings ensures that the 
heritage home remains as the focal point of the site. The infill buildings have been 
separated to reduce the overall massing, and the neutral colour pallet and modest 
exterior detailing presents a complimentary design that appears subordinate to the 
heritage home. 

Heritage Density Bonusing 

With the addition of the infill units, the site's proposed Gross Floor Area (GFA) will 
exceed the current density maximum of 0.5 FSR as per the property's Residential Level 
2 (R2) land use designation. Section 2.2.1 of the Official Community Plan indicates that 
Council may approve additional floor area for the purposes of heritage conservation 
based on the individual merits of an application. 

The applicant's Heritage Restoration Works Estimate (Attachment 5) provides an 
estimation of the construction costs of the proposed preservation, restoration, and 
rehabilitation works for the Knowles Residence, totaling $436,300. 

Staff are supportive of permitting the additional density on the basis that the proposed 
works will support the ongoing protection of the "A"-ranked heritage building, whilst 
introducing more diverse home ownership opportunities to the existing site. 

Vehicular and Bicycle Parking 

An attached 4-stall carport is proposed alongside the infill units, which meets the 
minimum parking requirements. The open-faced carport further helps with reducing the 

Page 4 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

massing of the infill structure as a whole. A variance will be required through the 
Comprehensive Development zone to exclude the carport floor area from GFA. 

Bicycle storage is attached to the heritage building along the shared pathway bounding 
the western edge of the site. The storage will only be accessible from the exterior, and 
the 8-spaces meet the minimum bicycle parking requirements for multi-family units. 

Tree Retention and Landscaping 

A large walnut tree at the southeastern corner of the site will be retained, along with 
several city street trees along West 14th Street. The other 5 existing trees on site will be 
removed and replaced with 11 new trees that will be distributed throughout the site. The 
landscaping plan, which includes the tree retention and replacement, will be secured as 
part of the development covenant. 

Various hedging and plantings are proposed throughout the site alongside pathways. 
The overall landscaping in the rear yard will help to separate the buildings and provide 
additional privacy and wayfinding between the individual units , which leads to the 
shared parking along the lane. 

Zoning Variances 

In addition to permitting additional density to incent the preservation of the heritage 
structure, Table 2 below outlines the other variances proposed for the Comprehensive 
Development 756 Zone to support this proposal. 

Table 2. Requested Changes to the Zoning Bylaw 

Current Proposed 
Designation/Regulation (RS- Designation/Regulation 

1) (CD-756) 

Principal Use Two-Unit Residential Use Four principal Dwelling Units; two 
units in heritage building, one unit 
per infill 

Principal One per lot Three per lot; one heritage building, 
Building two infill buildings 

Accessory - One Accessory Lock-Off Unit 
Lock-Off Units permitted for each heritage 

Dwelling Unit 

GFA Combined an in total shall not Combined and in total, shall not 
exceed the lesser of 0.3 times exceed 0.69 FSR 
the Lot Area plus 92.9 sq. m 
metres (1,000 sq. ft) or 0.5 Attached carport, bicycle storage 
times the Lot Area shed, and garbage and recycling 

storage shall be excluded 

Lot Coverage 40% (30% for Principal 48% 
Building) 

Page 5 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Current Proposed 
Designation/Regulation (RS- Designation/Regulation 

1) (CD-756) 

Siting Principal Buildings shall be Southernmost heritage building 
(Principal / sited not less than: shall be sited not less than: 
Infill - 4.6 m (15.0 ft) from the - 4.9 m (15.9 ft) from the Front 
Buildings) Front Lot Line; Lot Line; 

- 14.9 m (49.0 ft) from the - 23.8 m (78.1 ft) from the 
Rear Lot Line; Rear Lot Line; 

- 1.2 m (4.0 ft) from an - 3.0 m (9.9 ft) from the 
Interior Side Lot Line western Interior Lot Line; 

- 1.9 m (6.2 ft) from the 
eastern Interior Lot Line; 

Northernmost infill buildings shall 
be sited not less than : 

- 29.8 m (97.8 ft) from the 
Front Lot Line; 

- 3.0 m (10.0 ft) from the Rear 
Lot Line; 

- 1.2 m (4.0 ft) from an Interior 
Side Lot Line; 

- 2.4 m (8.0 ft) from another 
infill building 

Siting Accessory Buildings shall not Attached carport shall not be sited 
(Accessory be sited less than 1.2 m (4.0 ft) less than 0.6 m (2.0 ft) from the 
Buildings/ from the Rear Lot Line. Rear Lot Line. 
Carport) 

Heritage A Principal Building shall not Heritage building shall not exceed a 
Building exceed a maximum ridge maximum ridge height of 10.3 m 
Height height of 10.1 m (33.0 ft) (33.7 ft) (maximum geodetic height 
(southernmost of 260.5 ft), not including height 
building) exception for architectural spire at 

southwest corner of the building . 

Infill Building A Principal Building shall not Infill buildings shall not exceed a 
Heights exceed a maximum ridge maximum ridge height of 8.2 m 
(northernmost height of 10.1 m (33.0 ft) (27.0 ft) or maximum geodetic 
buildings) height of 253. 7 ft . 

Bicycle - 8 Bicycle Parking Spaces 
Parking 
Bicycle Bicycle parking space shall Bicycle parking space shall have an 
Storage have an overhead clearance of overhead clearance of no less than 
Height no less than 2.5 m (8.2 ft) 1.5 m (5.0 ft) 

Page 6 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 

According to the 2018 Density Bonusing and Community Benefits Policy, an equivalent 
development to permit this application's proposed density bonuses would include a 
suggested $299,820 in Community Amenity Contributions. 

The estimated value for heritage restoration works of $436,300 (Attachment 5) in 
combination with the legal protection of this heritage building is deemed to be a value 
in-kind greater or equal to the Community Benefit Contribution. 

Table 2. Estimated Value of Community Benefits through the 2018 Density Bonusing and 
Communit Benefits Po/ic 

Density Bonus from 0.5 FSR (325.2 sq . m / 3,500 sq. ft) to $248,900 
0.69 FSR (446.9 sq. m / 4,810 sq . ft)/ OCP Category B 
Bonus Densit $190 / s . ft 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

Heritage Advisory Commission (HAC) 

The proposal was presented to the Heritage Advisory Commission twice, first on 
January 11, 2022 and a second time on April 12, 2022 to address outstanding 
comments and clarifications from HAC. The Commission unanimously endorsed the 
project subject to the following recommendations: 

• Exploration for new deck and landscaping detailing to support cohesion and 
compatibility of the overall design of the project; and 

• Exploration of the proportions and materiality of the new windows on the west 
fa9ade to reflect the proportions of the existing heritage windows and their 
design. 

With the current submission, staff are satisfied that the applicant has adequately 
addressed the above recommendations. 

Advisory Design Panel (ADP) 

The proposal was presented to the Advisory Design Panel on March 16, 2022, and the 
panel unanimously endorsed the following resolution: 

• "THAT the Advisory Design Panel has reviewed the Heritage A Revitalization and 
Duplex Infill for 328 West 14th Street and recommends approval of the project; 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A virtual Developer's Information Session was held on March 10th , 2022. No one was in 
attendance, and to date there has been no further feedback received from the public in 
respect to the project. 

Page 7 of 8 



REPORT: Rezoning and Heritage Designation Application - 328 West 14th Street (Scott Mitchell/ METRIC 
Architecture) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

As the proposal involves a Heritage Designation Bylaw, the proposed development is 
required to be referred to a Public Hearing under the provisions of the Local 
Government Act. 

LEGAL DOCUMENTS 

Should Council approve the proposal, the following legal documents would be required 
to be completed prior to final adoption of the Bylaw: 

• Development Covenant; 
• Servicing Agreement; 
• Good Neighbour Agreement; 
• Flooding Covenant; and 
• Heritage Conservation Covenant (Section 219). 

CONCLUSION 

This application would facilitate the long term protection of an important heritage asset 
and contribute towards diversifying and increasing the housing stock within this 
neighbourhood. The proposal has been designed to be compatible with the 
neighbourhood context and staff consider the proposal to be supportable. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

Huy Dang 
Planner 1 

Page 8 of 8 



City of North Vancouver
328 West 14th 
Street

Ma
ho

n A
ve

W 15th St

W 14th St

2
5

8

3
3

6

3
3

4

3
1

7

1
4

5
0

3
2

2

3
1

0

1 4 2 5

3
4

5

3
5

9

3
3

1

3
4

8

3
1

9

2 5 1

1 4 1 7

3
1

1

1 4 5 3

3
6

2

1 4 4 53
3

3

3 5 7

3
5

1

3
2

7

1 3 4 4

1 3 4 4

3
3

7

3
4

6

3
2

8

3
3

0

3
2

2

3
3

9

3
2

7

1 4 3 4

3
2

8

1 4 0 5

3
3

2

3
4

9

1
4

0
4

3
4

2
3

4
0

1 5 1 6

3
4

3

3
2

3

3
0

4

3
5

2

1 5 0 4

3
1

8

1
3

4
9

3
0

7

3
5

3

1 4 1 33
5

8
3

5
8

3 5 7

1 4 3 1

3
5

2

3
6

2

PLOTT ED : 5/25/2022

COOR DIN ATE SYSTEM: NAD 83, U TM Zone 10

GIS Division, Information Technology, 
City of North Vancouver

This map was produced on the City of North 
Vancouver's Geographic Information System. 
Data provided herein is derived from sources 
with varying levels of accuracy and detail. 
The City of North Vancouver disclaims all 
responsibility for the accuracy or completeness 
of information contained herein.

DISCLAIMER

0 10 205
Meters

Legend
Subject Site
Legal_Parcels

1:1,000

SOUR CE: StaffMAP

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



328 W 14th Street KNOWLES RESIDENCE RENOVATION+ ADDITION 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, BC V?M 1 P6 REVIEW MEMO #1 RESPONSE - 2022 05 19 

iiii·di 
671bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E Wo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
20211001 REZONINGSUBMISSKlN 
2022012t CLIENTREVIEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

COVER 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AO 

o,n 
07/23121 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



328 W 14th Street 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, BC V7M 1P6 

N 

(!) 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE RENOVATION + ADDITION 

PROJECT DATA 

~ 328 WEST 14TH STREET, NORTH VANCOUVER, BC 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION LOT 19 BLOCK 47 DISTRICT LOT 271 PLAN : 1658 

~ OCP RESIDENTIAL LEVEL 2 
EXISTING ZONING: RS1 
PROPOSED REZON ING: CD 

LOT DIMENSIONS - 50 F x 140 F 

~ 7,000 SF / 650.3 m2 

~ 0.5 
RS-1 FSR AREA 3,501 SF 

HERITAGE BONUS (HB) ~=AREA) 989 SF 

TOTAL ESB ALLOWED 4,490 SF 
TOTAL ESB PROPOSED 4,472 SF 

SITE COVERAGE PERMITTED: 
EXISTING: 

35% .. 2,450SF 
16% .. 1,110SF 

EXISTING HEIGHT 
PROPOSED HEIGHT 

PROPOSED: 

RIDGE HEIGHT 
46.2% .. 3,246 SF (25.5% PRINCIPAL BUILDING + 18.8% INFILL + 1.9% ACCESSORY) 

33'-8' 

EXl§JJNG SETBACKS 

MAIN RIDGE HEIGHT 
INFILL RIDGE HEIGHT 

FRONT YARD 
REAR YARD 
SIDE YARD WEST 
SIDE YARD EAST 

33'-8' 
26'-10' 

35.9FT 
68.0FT 

9.3 FT 
7.6FT 

PROPOSED SETBACKS PRINCIPAL FRONT YARD 
PRINCIPAL REAR YARD 
PRINCIPAL SIDE YARD WEST 
PRINCIPAL SIDE YARD EAST 

INFILL SIDE YARD WEST 
INFILL SIDE YARD EAST 
INFILL REAR YARD 

15.9FT 
66.0 FT 

9.9FT 
6.2FT 

4.0FT 
4.0FT 

10.0FT 

PRINCIPAL TO INFILL@GRADE 20.7 FT 
PRINCIPAL TO INFILL@ MAIN LEV. 32.8 FT 

t!EEIII&2E Ii INFILL C!:WELLl!fQ !BEA· 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980 SF 1,11 1 SF 

LADDIDON 628 SF 226SF 
HER~!!3R~~fA9! 

1,608SF 1,337SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369 SF 375SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 

767SF 831 SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 

UPPER LEVEL ABOVE GRADE TOTAL AREA 
863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF 

403 SF 629SF 1257SF I 
LLSS 31 SF ~~ 31 SF ~~ 31 SF 

1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF 

597SF 972SF 1,341 SF 
472SF 928SF 1,326SF 

1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,304SF l..iliili1 6,847SF 

(EXCLUDED) PROPOSED FSR (0.64) 

CONSULTANTS 
CLIENT 

KEVIN LESKIW 

~ 

BASEMENT LEVEL 
UNIT 1 WEST 
UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 
UNIT 2 EAST 
UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 
UNIT 3WEST 
UNIT 4 EAST 

BY·LAW ALLOWABLE EXCLUSIONS· 

HERITAGE BASEMENT 
INFILL BASEMENT 
BIKE STORAGE 
CARPORT 
HERITAGE DECK 
GREEN MECH. ROOM (MAX. 100 SF) 
WASTE ENCLOSURE (MAX. 150 SF) 

TOTAL EXCLUSIONS 

ARCHITECTURE 

METRIC ARCHITECTURE 

41 SF 
766SF 

41 SF 
760 SF 
369 SF 
398SF 

2,375SF 

MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL 
683SF 

OSF 
654SF 

OSF 
375SF 
456SF 

2,168SF 

1,608 SF · ACCESSIBLE LOCK-Off SUITES 

767SF 

2,375SF 

110SF 
750SF 

31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

1,023SF 

3,398 SF (0.48 FSR) 

HERITAGE CONSULTANT 

633SF 
OSF 

602SF 
OSF 

597SF 
472SF 

2,304 SF 

LANDSCAPE 

CUMMER HERITAGE CONSULTING DURANTE KREUK 
UPWARD CONSTRUCTION 
101-1305 WELCH ST, 

SCOTT C. MITCHELL ARCHITECT AIBC KATIE CUMMER REYHANEH SOBHANI 

NORTH VANCOUVER, BC V7P 1B3 
TEL: na.403.3976 
kevin@upwardconstruction.com 

671b MARKET HILL 
VANCOUVER B.C. VSZ 4B5 
TEL: 604.785.4315 
info@metricarchitects.com 

639 MOSS STREET 102 • 1637 W 5TH AVENUE 
VICTORIA, BC, vav 4N8 VANCOUVER BC V6J 1N5 
TEL: na.678.1913 TEL: 604.684.4611 

reyhaneh@dkJ.bc.ca 

TOTAL AREA 
1,357SF 

766SF 
1,297SF 

760SF 
1,341 SF 
1,326SF 
6,847SF 

ARBORIST 

DAVEY RESOURCE GROUP 
MARC LAVERDIERE 
#200, 8208 SWENSON WAY 
DELTA, BC V4G 1J6 
TEL: 604.499.6568 
marc.lavel"Oere@davey.com 

UNIT TOTAL 
2,123SF 

2,057SF 

1,341 SF 
1,326SF 

REVIEW MEMO #1 RESPONSE - 2022 05 19 

DRAWING LIST 

AO COVER 
AO-Ol STATS 
A0-02 EXISTING SITE PLAN (SURVEY) 
AO-OJ SITE PLAN 
A0-04 CHARACTER-DEFINING ELEMENTS 
AO-OS EXISTING FLOOR PLANS 
A0-06 DEMO PLANS 
A0-07 NEW CONSTRUCTION PLANS 

• AO-OS RETENTION AXONOMETRICS 
Al-00 BASEMENT PLAN· HERITAGE 
Al-01 MAIN LEVEL PLAN· HERITAGE 
Al-02 UPPER LEVEL PLAN· HERITAGE 
A2-00 BASEMENT PLANS • INFILL 
A2-01 MAIN LEVEL PLANS· INFILL 
A2-02 UPPER LEVEL PLANS· INFILL 
A2-03 
AJ-01 
AJ-02 
A3-03 
A3-04 
AJ-05 
A3-06 
AJ-07 
A4-01 

ROOF PLAN 
ELEVATIONS PROPOSED HERITAGE & EXISTING 
ELEVATIONS PROPOSED HERITAGE & EXISTING 
ELEVATIONS PROPOSED HERITAGE & EXISTING 
ELEVATIONS PROPOSED HERITAGE & EXISTING 
ELEVATIONS INFILL 
ELEVATIONS INFILL 
ELEVATIONS· HERITAGE & INFILL+ REFLECTED WINDOWS 
HERITAGE SECTIONS 

A4-02 HERITAGE SECTIONS 
A4-03 INFILL SECTIONS 
A-4-04 INFILL SECTIONS 

• A4-05 COURTYARD SECTIONS 
AS-01 LEVEL 2 ADAPTABLE GUIDELINES · LOCK-OFF SUITES 
A6-01 AREA PLANS 
A6-02 SITE COVERAGE 
A6-03 SITE PLAN • SHARED ACCESS 
A6-04 WASTE ENCLOSURE DETAILS 
A6-05 SHADOW STUDIES 
A7-01 HERITAGE EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES 
A7-02 COURTYARD PERSPECTIVES 
A7-03 INFILL EXTERIOR PERSPECTIVES 
A7-04 AXONOMETRIC VIEW· SOUTH-WEST 
A7-05 AXONOMETRIC VIEW · NORTH-WEST 
AS-01 SPATIAL SEPARATION HERITAGE 
AS-02 SPATIAL SEPARATION HERITAGE & INFILL 
AS-03 SPATIAL SEPARATION - INFILL 
A9-01 EXISTING PHOTOS 
A9-02 EXISTING PHOTOS 
A 10-00A BASEMENT AREA PLAN • HERITAGE 
A10-01A MAIN LEVEL AREA PLAN· HERITAGE 
A10-02A UPPER LEVEL AREA PLAN· HERITAGE 
A20-00A BASEMENT AREA PLANS • INFILL 
A20-01A MAIN LEVEL AREA PLANS - INFILL 
A20-02A UPPER LEVEL AREA PLANS • INFILL 

SURVEYOR CODE CONSULTANT 

HOBBS WINTER & MACDONALD SURVEYS 
DAN MACHON 
828 HARBOURSIDE DR, 
NORTH VANCOUVER, BC V7P 3R9 
TEL: 604.986.1371 
admin@hwmsurveys.com 

CELERITY ENGINEERING LIMITED 
STEFAN GERMANN 
100-535 WEST 10TH AVENUE 
VANCOUVER, BC VSZ 1K9 
TEL: 604.375.0437 x 212 
sge<mann@celerity.ca 

iiii·di 
671 b Marke! Hil 

=:s.z8;B5 
T 604.785.4315 
E Wo@~.oom 

/,,,,, I 

~=0723=:. APPOAAFT 
2021 0827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201 ~ CLIENT REVlEW 
202202 23 REZONING REV. 1 
20220519 REV!EW MEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

STATS 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A0-01 

o,n 
07/20/21 



I . : 
I 

~ 
! 

;g 
"' 

~ t~ ii 
. ~h ~r 

z 

C
) 

H
 

t~!~ 
./ 

'
17/ 

l ,d
d

 

~* 
. """ 

I 

~~~~ 

I ~1. 
!~~ 
•6~ 

IR
O

N
~

 
PO

ST
 

16°39' 
o.1i 8

1c1i 
~ ~ 

i ~ 

I ih
ii 

• 
L

 
•
•
•
•
•
 

W
O

O
D

 FE
N

C
E

 
90° 59' 38" 

E
D

G
E

 O
F B

LA
C

K
TO

P
 

1 ----
----1 

1; 
I 

!, 
I 

,. 
I 

-
I ~ 

Iii 
JI 

.0
4 DIA 

'-
. J ~~ 

D
tC

IDUOUS 
. .. 

! 
I 

o 

I 
.I 
(L~7 

•
o

 
I 

'i 
L

_
 
-
-
-


!: :g 

50.00 

7002 S
q

.ft. 

O
IR

O
O

 
PO

ST
 

1
.4

0
1

A
 

C
O

N
IFE

R
 Ill 11 

_
_

_
_

_
_

 J.Jl.~ 
§ 

IDECI 
Cr 

a: 

I I ·1 
,
~

 
I i' 

! §j 
I ii 

g 
I 

-• 
I 

I 
1.lg 

-
7

 
J 

L
 _

_
_

_
_

_
 I

_ 

J ~Ii 
,i g! g; I 

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

 
) 

-.---::i. 
,
.

331.

""'' 
1

29.0 

,
-
-
-
-
-
_

J
 

I I I :, lffi a 

1 _0
3.0 

s 

;ig ·P .11..& 

I L
 _

_
 

-
-
7

 

q ~
I 

4.0 

~i g! ~~ I ,. ,,.,, 'I i; 1· ~loo 
0 

"
' 

;g 
~
 

-
0 0 

0 
1

A
D

IA
 

DECIDUOUS 

D
 

I 

11 
·1!1 1~~1~ 

!1 
111· 

. ~ 
r! 

i• 
li 

jl 

Ii!~ ii. 
m

 ,11111 

ii~ I 
~1n 
' 

~ 

!Ii 
--------

I!, 
'-. .~ ~u 

,.,,. 
""" r"!lr 
ii 

,--
I 

~, ii i• 
~~ 

/ 

;II 
ii~ 
;~. 

--~
-J--' 

O
' 

-
/ 

'\
: 

5_()._
, 

I 

r-
'i; 
!,, 
... L__ 

olc?
~

 

----
O

o
. 6

D
IA

 
DECID

UOUS 
( . 

'00° 59' 27" y
· ' 

I C
! O

0.6
D

1A1 
1 

.
1.0D

IA
 

~
-

\ 
r-

DECID
UOUS 

I 
DECID

IJO
/, 

W
ITN

E
S

S
 

: \ 
: 

i
0 

!
IR

O
N

 P
O

S
T 

, _
_

 '---..._
_

,.-_
_

_
 , 

d '\ ', 
~I 

0 
•
•
 

, 
I 

l
LEA

D
 

-......... 

IR
O

N
 

P
O

ST
 

----
~

.,. PLU
G

 
C

O
N

C
R

E
TE

 S
ID

E
W

A
LK

 
..........._ 

-
_

. 

-
1

 iT
-"'J m

 
iT

-"'7 m
 

lg: 
!. ----+~1~ 

C
O

N
C

R
E

TE
 

A
P

R
O

N
 

C
O

N
C

R
E

TE
 

C
U

R
B

 

U
R

B
 

• 
\ \ I 

I 
/ 

/ BENCHM
ARK 

LE
A

D
 P

LU
G

 IN
 SID

E
W

A
LK

 
E

L
E

V
A

T
IO

N
 226

.7
4 F

E
E

T
 

9~
 

<
o

 

8~ 
u

~
 

~al 

ffi~ 
I~ :fl ~ ~ z I 

C
\I 

0 I 
0 <

( 



>w 
w 
a: 
ti 
I 

~ 

.,,--- .... 

,,_L ,) ~-STREETTREE 
ro-

NEWSEEWAIJ(fO 
Cff'/Slf.NOAAD 

• 

VEHICLE PARKING & BIKE STORAGE 

EACH CAR STALL TO PROVIDE LEVEL 
2 EV CHARGING 

EACH BIKE LOCKER TO PROVIDE 
CHARGING 

GN 

SITE PLAN 

GREEN MECH. ROOM 

CONTAINS A GREEN BUILDING 
SYSTEM AS DEFINED BY BYLAW 
N0.6700 

MINIMUM HEADROOM CLEARANCE 
OF 2 METRES (6.6 FT) 

w 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnfo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

SITE PLAN 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A0-03 

o,n 
20210611 



!CHARACTER-DEFINING ELEMENTS! 

THE CHARACTER-DEFINING ELEMENTS OF TME KNOWLES RESIDENCE INCLUDE: 

A) IRREGULAR PICTURESQUE FORM, MASSIVE SCALE AND ASYMMETRICAL MASSING 

B) ELEMENTS OF THE ARTS AND CRAFTS STYLE INCLUDING PICTURESQUE MASSING 
AND THE USE OF NATURAL MATERIALS 

C) FRONT GABLE ROOF WITH OPEN EAVES AND EXPOSED PURLINS 

D) FRONT CORNER TOWER WITH BELLCAST PYRAMID ROOF 

E) INSET ROUND ARCHED ENTRY 

F) ARCHED INSET BALCONY AT UPPER LEVEL 

G) CEDAR SHINGLES 

H) HALF-TIMBERING IN GABLE ENDS AND ON TOWER 

LAPPED WOODEN SIDING AT FOUNDATION LEVEL 

J) DOUBLE-HUNG WOODEN-SASH WINDOWS: MULTIPLE ASSEMBLY CASEMENT 
WINDOWS IN TOWER WITH DECORATIVE LEADING 

C&H 

D&J E 

A&B 

r- - - -- - - - - -- - - - - -- - 7 

: HE] 

' ' ' ' ' ' ' -+ ---~~ 
' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' : --~~~w-~ 
' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' 
' ' ' -+ --__M_l.tl_ig~ 

' ' ' 

_____ !,_l/S~a-4 

iiii·di 
671bMarkel l-lil 
v-,ec 
GanadaVSZ • B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnfo@~ .oom 

~=01~=:EVlEW 
5 20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
6 20220519 REVIEWMEM:11 RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14thST, 
CfTY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BC V7M 1Pe 

CHARACTER-DEFINING 
ELEMENTS 

----~~.w ~--- --------

EXISTING WEST ELEVATION 

=-----

A0-04 

o,n 
07/20/21 



I 
I 
I 
I 

~ -~/: 
Ill WJNLE\1£L 

•- I 
I 

I 
I 

I L ____ __J 

LIVING 

•, 
I 
I 

,-
1 

I 
I 

KITCHEN 

-7 
I 
I 
I 
I 

BEDROOM 

@ BASEMENT LEVEL · EXISTING 
"3--01 $CALE: IW • 1'-0" 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

L_7 
I 
I 
I 
I 

DINING 
ROOM 

___ J 

LIVING f 
ROOM 

MAIN LEVEL· EXISTING 
~ SCALE:1/4"• 1'-0" 

,--
1 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

N 

C) 

863 SF 

@ UPPER LEVEL · EXISTING 
M-<l-1 SCALE: 11•· • 1'-0" 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnfo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMB.t:)1RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

EXISTING FLOOR PLANS 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A0-05 

o,n 
0711 4121 



:, I 

r-- LIVING BEDROOM I i 

I ( i 
: I 

I I 
: II ( 
I 11 J i --------- = ----- --------- ,) 
: :,, " 1 I I I I I I ~•==~ L ______________ J,, I I I I I I J, ~£:r::'."= 

~~:S::.-"'rf T 17'9 ~___, ·~·~ 

i' I I I 1\ J I I I I I 
i' 1111 \ ~ UP 

~ == ~ ~~~~~ 

@ BASEMENT LEVEL · DEMO 
A0-"°6 SCALE: 11•· • 1'-0" 

DINING 
ROOM 

LIVING 
ROOM 

I 
~ I I I I I I I I I I 

L_,oL LU I LL LL 

N 

C) 

\ [fl' .... 
, __ J~ CL 

0 

@ MAIN LEVEL · DEMO 
~ SCALE: IW • t '-0" 

@ UPPER LEVEL · DEMO 
N)-06 SCALE: 114' • 1'-0" 

WALL STYLE LEGEND 

II ii·di 
''' H I T E CTUR E -~ ,ac ~~ _,, 

'"" 
~ .coo, 

T604.7 ,_, 

.... 

... , 

" ., Dale ~on 

' , 
' ' ' 

20210723 REZONNGAPPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 O 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REVlEWMB.t:)1RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

DEMO PLANS 

A0-06 



EXISTING & PROPOSED AREA LEGEND 
N 

C) 

- : 
·,:"' \ 

-
:~N~ONSTRUCTION 

A0-07 



@ N-E CORNER - DEMO 
M--00 SCALE: 

@ N·E CORNER · PROPOSED 
A0-<16 SCALE: 

@ S-W CORNER - DEMO 
~ SCALE: 

@ S-W CORNER · PROPOSED 
AO-«I SCALE: 

RETENTION LEGEND 

66666666< EXISTING - TO BE REMOVED 

~ 75% 0F TI-l E STRUCTURE ABOVE THE FOUNDATION 
ISTOBE REMOV'EDAN™JR REPI.ACED 

~ NEW - TO BE CONSTRUCTED 

~ 50% 0FTI-lE TOTALFINISHEDSTRUCTUREISTO 
CONSIST OF NEW STRUCTURAL COMPONENTS 

iiii·di 
671bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0519=~1RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

RETENTION 
AXONOMETRICS 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A0-08 

o,n 
07/21/21 



GN 

W.Pl 

E.Pl 

Ai-W sc.-i.E: 114•.f-O" EVEL • PROPOSED @ BASEMENTL 

iiii·di 
6;b~H~ TE CTUR E 

v-,ec 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~ .oom 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

BASEMENT PLAN _ 

HERITAGE 

~---=;'~--= 
=--:i:=-=-----

.. ~ 
11•·- 1·-tr 

A1-00 



• 

• 

" _J .. 
;;: 
w 
0 
cii 

/ 

S.Pl 

f----~~-t--1~-n ---

1/,// V 
/ 

V 
I/ 

/ . 
I ' 

I 

( 
I 
\ 

S.Pl 

---

-

-- --

r 
l-+-+-t-t-+-t7r 

-

-
" I I 

I 
I I 

l 

. • II 

• 
' •il l \.,{ 

\ I PATIO L__+--~lr-c=--J---i,i BELOW 

I 

KITCHEN 

OQj a 

o o oo 

l 

'yJ 

15" · 01Q" 

r 
'l ( .J 

,. •• ~ I 

O D : 

=IVING : c~:;= 

I '. 
I 
I 
I 
I 

,., $" · $1/T 

'! i 

I 

: -
=====ii y-LINEOf'UPPER 

:✓ f·--
1 , I 
I ' 

DECK 
224SF 

5" •7= 

'l 

PATIO 
BELOW 

J 

GN 

W. Pl 

I 
" I 

=====': 
= ~ ~9 I 

<" · 0- L ~ T I 

2'61JBAT~~ __ c...o· : 
MECH. ! ~[\ DP 
BELow l "":v'"""~'\'.,,,,l) ·~ 

,_ ) sAT~_d[ Cl 
.• ~ GI I ~ 

I 

l .l. L 

DECK 
179SF 

PATIO 
BELOW 

, 11111 

I 1111 

, _ , 

I" 

11 I 

PATIO 
BELOW 

~ EJ EJM 
' U \/ l J I l r< V 

--E.Pl 

$" · $1/T 5" •7= J_ ______________ _.,•c,•<c__ ______________ +--=~____,~~-~(1\1=: MAIN LEVEL · PROPOSED 

~SCALE:11•· • 1'-0" 

I iii·di 
'' C H I T E CTUR E 

~71b -~ -,ac 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.7 85.4315 
lnlo@~.oom ' 

..... 

..... 

" 

-, 
·,:"' \ 

., Dale ~on 

' , 
' . 
' ' 

20210723 REZONNGAPPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 O 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
CfTYOFNORTH VANCOUVER, 
BCV7M1Pe 

MAIN LEVEL PLAN -
HERITAGE 

=~ ..... 
.. ~ 
11•·- 1·-tr 

A1-01 

o,n 
07/20/21 



~ ~ ~ 
T I I - W.PL -_''·i'' ______________ ! ____________ ~-------------------------1--W.Pl 

-
I'\ j . 

I 

- I/ - :: -. . 
• 

I • ' 

------
-

• l 1 --= 

E.PL- l----~~------i1•~--~•=•~;~/~•~•::.~•=·~•:..;~;J/~~;==•==•=:J±•~=~~=~~':':.~,c•=q':~;;:.~.:;.;,;:::~;=l:=;•=;•=•~=~~=~~=;:~_••:_.,:~=~-•=;•=;•=;•_•;_~t-~6:::\.,~-U•P•PE•A•L:E.:V.E•L•·:P:AO:P:OSED 
~ l ' "" - · , _,, 

GN iiii·di 
ARC H I T E CTUR E 

671bMarkel l-lil 
v-,ec 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.785.4315 

, _____ _ 

.,.,. 

-: ' 

·,:"' \ 
·,, 

'""""'~- ~ 
~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
2 :: ~~~ ~~1:'1~ssKJN 3 

202201 ~ CLIENTREVlEW 
( 202202 23 REZONINGREV. 1 
~ 20220519 REV!EW MEM:11 RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

~WJ~~ VANCOUVER, 
BCV7M1Pe 

--UPPER LEV EL PLAN -
HERITAGE 

=--:i:=-=---·--=.._~:= 
.. ~ 
11•·- 1·-tr 

A1-02 

o,n 
20210611 ·-· 



N.Pl 

W.PL.--l---------------------------------- 1------------....---,W.PL 
,: :, 

II I ~ 

I ltttt'I I 

CL 

,: :, ,: 

~ ,-
" I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
L_ 

E.PL - +-------------- - -------------------+- -----------+--- E.PL 
N.Pl 

@ BASEMENT PLANS · INFILL 
A2-00 SCALE:114" • 1'-0" 

GN iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

BASEMENT PLANS -
INFILL 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A2-00 

o,n 
07/23121 



GN 

CPL 

=~:LES RESIDENCE 

~WJ~~ VANCOUVER, 
BCV7M 1Pe 

:::oLEVEL PLANS 
INFILL 

A2-01 



t N.Pl 

W.PL----1------------------------------------------------ ----'W.Pl 
II I 

Fl 
Pl'A= --..._ .,,,.. \ 

I J I I i COVERED 
w ,, . .,~ w, CAR PORT 

~ •~)~.:Jf~~ ~ I ,;·· ~ 
r- !i~~: KJHT UNIT4 ~ -~ ~ I =~ 2'" 
I •~·" ·'"' ~ •1 G _ oo~ ~ 

BALCONY lo ~ -- I Q lo 

?S~F ~ ! BATH -- I BED2 ~ 

I e- r t-.!ASTER BED ~ LJ I 1(1' - r 

: l ,- ~ -, "' - == i, ~ ---::J•• 

II 
~ 

ROOF II 

E.PL+---- - -------------------------- - -------- - -i- ---- !---IE.PL 
N.Pl 

UPPER LEVEL PLANS · INFILL 

GN iiii·di 
671bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~ .oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
CfTYOF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BCV7M1Pe 

UPPER LEV EL PLANS -
INFILL 

~ .. - -=-=---= 
;:...-;i: .... -----

=-=------

A2-02 

o,n 
07/23121 



I 

I I 

I / IIEWSNWWCTO 
CHVSTANDAAO 

r 
;,; .. 

I I 
i 

' 

:Ji,,: 

>-w 
w "' a: _J 

>- « 
(/) ;;: 
I w 

[ II I f~-:af II I PATIO I 

I~ ----x ~,-i'=" I 
~f / 1'\ ' , ' 

1~ 
, ' 
: . : ' , 
\ / r, I 

1~ ',, I/ ~\;! 1~ D __ ___ .... 

& 
,------j 

>- 0 

" iii 
;;: 

::J;,) 

----- -

"""'· -
------ I', 

' 
,// ----- - 1~ 

I' 

1~ / I '-
/ \ I 

I \ I \ 
I 

•'----~"mm~ iz 
I J J_j IW, I I 

I I ' I 
PATIO 

!" T0'1EWJN 

\ ,. ~ ' 
I ' \ 

, 
, 

\ \ 
, 

I 

'- / ,, 
I "" ------ • .___ -- I -

I 

E¥: 
I I 

~ 
11111 11111 

P:TIO \_ PATIO 

-
E 

~ 

PATIO 
DECK BELOW -

I I I 

ii I 
I I~ 4/ ~00 I MECH. 

BELOW I 

I ~ 

Li I 
~ 

I 
I 

~ 
PATIO 

~ DECK I 
I PATIO PATIO 
I BELOW 

I 

11111 I I ~I 

00 00 ~ 
140 FT 

• 

I 

( \-f::J 
I UGHTWEUBELOW IY/ 

y 

1:12 

.. 'i 11 

lr-wm,=71 d i 
1:12 

I 

~ 

GN 

_./0:,. ~ 
~ ) ~ 

I '- ;, '---.__Y 

I 

~ 

"a s 
COVERED 
CAR PORT 

25().3 

~ GARBAGE 00 ROOM 
ROOF 

@ ROOF PLAN 
;;;;SCAIJ;: 3/Hl" • l '.Q" 

I 

z 

t:: 
0 

"' 

; 

w z 
« 
_J 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 
v-,ec 
canadaVSZ •B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

-, 
·,:"' \ 

~=01~=:EVlEW 
5 20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
6 20220519 REV!EW MEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
CfTYOF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BC V7M 1Pe 

ROOF PLAN 

~ .. ---------
;:...-;i: ... ----

=-=------
.. ~ 
3116" • 1'-0" 

A2-03 



MATERIAL SCHEDULE· HERITAGE 

Cl. CLADDING: 
C2. CLADDING: 
C1N. CLADDING: 
C2N. CLADDING: 
C3N. FOUNDATION: 
CH1. CHIMNEY: 
Dl. DCX>RS: 
D2. DCX>RS: 
D3. DCX>RS: 
Sl. STAIRS: 
S2. STAIRS: 
Wl. WINDOWS: 
W2. WINDOWS: 
Rl. ROOF: 
RA 1. RAILING: 
PR1. PURLINS: 
PR2. PURLINS: 
Fl . FASCIA: 
Tl . TRIM: 
T2. TRIM: 
FE1. FENCE: 
B1 . BIKE LOCKER: 

restored cedar shingles 
restored cedar planks 
new cedar shingles to match exist. 
new cedar planks to match exist. 
new concrete wall 
existing brick· restored as needed 
new solid entry door 
new sl iding door with glass panel 
new3-panelfoldingdoor 
new painted wood stair 
newCIPconcretestair 
new wood replacement to match exist. 
new painted wood replacment 
new asphalt shingle 
new painted wood railing 
Pf8S8fVed wood • restored as needed 
new wood to match existing 
new painted aluminum 
Pf8S8fVed existing wood restored as need 
new painted wood 
new cedar fence 
new aluminum partition 

HEIGHT ENVELOPE CALCULATION 

1) FRONT ANO REAR PROPERTY GRADES 
fB2l!I 
SJE CORNER: 226.1 FRONT ., 226.1 + 224.4 / 2 ., 225.25 
S/W CORNER : 224.4 

~ 

~ ~::EE~\f;.58 REAR ., 227.8 + 230.5 / 2 ., 229.15 

2) REFERENCE GRADE 
REFERENCE ., 225.25 + (229.15 - 225.25) X 0.4 ., 226.81 

3) MAX. TOP PLATE ANO ROOF RIDGE 
MAX. TOP PLATE ., 226.81 + 26.2 .. 253.01 
MAX. ROOF RIDGE ., 226.81 + 33.0 .. 259.81 

r-., 
I I DENTOES SCOPE OF PROPOSED ADDITION .. _ .. 

~~ ~ -· - , ' 
~ 

~ 
rn~~ 

~ [Bl~ 
~ 

EXISTING SOUTH ELEVATION IMAGE 

~ 
~~ 
~[ill] 
~ 

~ ~ 
~~ 
~ 

iiii·di 
671bMarke! Hil 
v-, ec 
canadaVSZ • B5 

T ll(),l.785.-4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

No.Date ~on 
1 2021 07 23 REZONINGAPPOAAFT 

20210827 CLENTREV!EW 
202110 01 REZONING SUBMISSKlN 
202201~ CLENTREV!EW 
20220223 REZONING REV. 1 
2022 05 19 REVIEWMEM:1 1 RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
CfTYOF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BC V7M 1Pe 

ELEVATIONS -
PROPOSED HERITAGE & 

EXISTING 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-01 

o,n 
071111121 



EXISTING HERITAGE WINDOW SCHEDULE 

ELEVATION TAG SIZE CONSERVATION OBJECTIVE 

0 ,,,. Preserved and restored 

SOUTH 0 ,,,. Preserved and restored 

0 ,,,. Preserved and restored 

0 ,,,. Tobe removed 

0 "" Tobe removed 

0 "'' Preserved and restored 

0 ""' Tobe removed 

WEST 0 ,.,. Preserved and restored 

0 ,,,. Preserved and restored 

e ,.,. Preserved and restored 

0 ,.,. Preserved and restored 

0 ,.,. Tobe removed 

0 ,.,. Tobe removed 

0 "" Preserved • relocated to east facade 

@i "" Tobe removed 

NORTH e "" Preserved • relocated to east facade 

0 ''"' Tobe removed 

e ,,,. Tobe removed 

e ,,,. Tobe removed 

e ,,,. Tobe removed 

e ,.,. Preserved and restored 

® ,.,. Preserved • relocated Ofl east facade 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

EAST e ,.,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Preserved and restored 

e ,.,. Preserved and restored 

r-., 
I I DENTOES SCOPE OF PROPOSED ADDITION .. _ .. 

MATERIAL SCHEDULE - HERITAG E 

Cl. CLADDING: 
C2. CLADDING: 
ClN. CLADDING: 
C2N. CLADDING: 
C3N. FOUNDATION: 
CH1 . CHIMNEY: 
Dl. DCX>RS: 
D2. DCX>RS: 
03. DCX>RS: 
51. STAIRS: 
52. STAIRS: 
Wl . WINDOWS: 
W2. WINDOWS: 
Al. ROOF: 
RA1 . RAILING: 
PR1 . PU RUNS: 
PR2. PURLINS: 
Fl . FASCIA: 
Tl . TRIM: 
T2. TRIM: 
FEl. FENCE: 
Bl . BIKE LOCKER: 

restored cedar shingles 
restored cedar planks 
newcedarshinglestomatchexist. 
new cedar planks to match exist. 
new concrete wall 
existing brick· restored as needed 
new solid entry door 
new sliding door with glass panel 
new3-panel foldingdoor 
new painted wood stair 
newCIPconcretestair 
new wood replacement to match exist. 
new painted wood replacment 
new asphalt shingle 
new painted wood railing 
J)feserved wood • restored as needed 
new wood to match existing 
new painted aluminum 
J)feserved existing wood• restored as need 
new painted wood 
new cedar fence 
new aluminum partition 

EXISTING WEST ELEVATION 

~~ 
,: ______ ,T • T -------

iiii·di 
671bMarke!Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPOAAFT 
20210827 CLENTREV1EW 
20211001 REZONINGSUBMISSKlN 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REV1EWME001RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

ELEVATIONS -
PROPOSED HERITAGE & 

EXISTING 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-02 

o,n 
11/30/21 



EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION IMAGE 

r-~ 
I I DENTOES SCOPE OF PROPOSED ADDITION 

"-~ 

MATERIAL SCHEDULE · HERITAGE 

Cl. CLADDING : 
C2. CLADDING : 
C1 N. CLADDING: 
C2N. CLADDING : 
C3N. FOUNDATION: 
CH1. CHIMNEY: 
D1 . DOORS: 
D2. DOORS: 
D3. DOORS: 
S1. STAIRS: 
S2. STAIRS: 
W1. WINDOWS: 
W2. WINDOWS: 
Al . ROOF: 
RA 1. RAILING: 
PR1. PURLINS : 
PR2. PURLINS : 
F1. FASCIA: 
T1. TRIM: 
T2. TRIM: 
FE1. FENCE: 
81 . BIKE LOCKER: 

restored cedar shingles 
restored cedar planks 
new cedar shingles to match exist. 
new cedar planks to match exist. 
new concrete wall 
existing brick • restored as needed 
new sol id 8fltry door 
new sliding dOOf with glass panel 
new 3-panel folding door 
new painted wood stair 
newCIPconcretestair 
new wood replacement to match exist. 
new painted wood replacment 
newasphattshingle 
new painted wood railing 
preserved wood • restOfed as needed 
new wood to match existing 
new painted aluminum 
preserved existing wood restored as need 
new painted wood 
new cedar fence 
new aluminum partition 

W.Pl 

____ ROOFR~i'-4 

EXISTING NORTH ELEVATION A3-03 SCALE: 1W • 1'--0" 
EXSITING - NORTH ELEVATION 

PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION NORTH ELEVATION 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz9;B5 
T604.785.431 5 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPOAAFT 
20210827 CLIENT REVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENT REVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

ELEVATIONS -
PROPOSED HERITAGE & 

EXISTING 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-03 

o,n 
071111/21 



EXISTING HERITAGE WINDOW SCHEDULE 

ELEVATION TAG SIZE CONSERVATION OBJECTIVE 

0 ,,,. 
Prese<Vedand restOfed 

SOUTH 0 373~ Prese<Vedand restOfed 

0 ,,,. 
Prese<Vedand restOfed 

0 4'3' Tobe removed 

0 "" Tobe removed 

© "'' Prese<Vedand restOfed 

0 ,050 Tobe removed 

WEST © ,.,. Prese<Ved and restOfed 

© ,.,. Prese<Ved and restOfed 

e 5'3' Prese<Vedand restOfed 

0 ,,,. 
Prese<Vedand restOfed 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

0 "" Prese<Ved - relocated to east facade 

® "" Tobe removed 

NORTH ® "" Prese<Ved - relocated to east facade 

0 4050 Tobe removed 

® ,,,. Tobe removed 

® ,,,. Tobe removed 

® ,,,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Prese<Ved and restOfed 

® ,.,. Prese<Ved - relocated on east facade 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

EAST e ,.,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Tobe removed 

® ,.,. Prese<Ved and restOfed 

® 5'3' Prese<Ved and restOfed 

r-~ 
I I DENTOES SCOPE OF PROPOSED ADDITION 
L-J 

MATERIAL SCHEDULE · HERITAGE 

Cl. CLADDING : 
C2. CLADDING : 
C1N. CLADDING : 
C2N. CLADDING : 
C3N. FOUNDATION: 
CH1. CHIMNEY: 
D1 . DOORS: 
D2. DOORS: 
D3. DOORS: 
S1. STAIRS: 
S2. STAIRS: 
W1. WINDOWS: 
W2. WINDOWS: 
Al. ROOF : 
RA 1. RAILING: 
PR1. PURLINS: 
PR2. PURLINS: 
F1. FASCIA: 
T1. TRIM: 
T2. TRIM: 
FE1. FENCE : 
81. BIKE LOCKER: 

restOfedcedarshingles 
restOfedcedarplanks 
new cedar shingles to match exist. 
new cedar planks to match exist. 
new concrete wal 
existing brick - restored as needed 
new sol id eotry door 
new sliding door with glass panel 
new 3-panel folding door 
new painted wood stair 
new CIP cooetete stair 
new wood replacement to match exist. 
new painted wood replacment 
new asphalt shingle 
new painted wood rai ling 
preserved wood - restored as needed 
new wood to match existing 
new painted aluminum 
preserved existing wood restored as need 
new painted wood 
new cedar fence 
new aluminum partitioo 

EXISTING EAST ELEVATION 

r:::::-="-+-_-_-_-_-_-_-_~"~·•~·~~_-_-_-_-_-_-q;r-+ 

PROPOSED EAST ELEVATION 

------~ 

EXISTING · EAST ELEVATION 

______ .BQQF~~ 

UPPERLEVEL -- 2,q.,,. 

BASEMENT LEVEL ----~ ,..,-

iiii·di 
671bMarke!Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.431 5 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENT REVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENT REVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

ELEVATIONS -
PROPOSED HERITAGE & 

EXISTING 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-04 

o,n 
11/30/21 



NPL 

HEIGKT ENVELOPE CALCULATION 

1) FRONT ANO REAR PROPERTY GRADES 
FRONT 
S/E CORNER: 226.1 FRONT .. 226.1 + 224.4 / 2 .. 225.25 
S/W CORNER: 224.4 

~ 
N/W CORNER: 227.8 
NIE CORNER: 230.5 

2) REFERENCE GRADE 

REAR .. 227.8.;. 230.5 / 2 .. 229.15 

REFERENCE .. 225.25 + (229.15 • 225.25) X 0.4 .. 226.81 

3) MAX. TOP PLATE ANO ROOF RIDGE 
MAX. TOP PLATE .. 226.81 + 26.2 .. 253.01 
MAX. ROOF RIDGE .. 226.81 + 33.0 .. 259.81 

MATERIAL SCHEDULE - INFILL 

C3N. FOUNDATION : 
C4. CLADDING: 
D4. DOORS: 
D5. DOORS: 
S2. STAIRS: 
S3. STAIRS: 
W3. WINDOWS: 
R2. ROOF: 
RA2. RAILING: 
F1. FASCIA: 
FE1 . FENCE: 
FE2. FENCE: 
P1. PARAPET: 
CS1. CARPORT: 

new concrete wall 
new vinyl clapboard siding 
new solid entry door 
new sliding door with glass panel 
newCIPconcretestair 
new wood stair 
new high perlormance vinyl 
new low slope torch on 
new painted wood railing 
new painted aluminum 
new cedar fence 
new metal fence 
new painted aluminum 
new wood structure 

N.Pl 

NFlU. - UJSROOF --- - ~ 

REF. GRADE --ffl"9 

INFlU.-BASEMENT ----~~* 
EAST ELEVATION - INFILL UNIT 4 

INFl.l.-BASEMENT 
LEVEL ---2-2 

WEST ELEVATION - INFILL UNIT 3 

W.Pl 

E.Pl 

E.Pl 

3 SOUTH ELEVATION • INFILL UNIT 3 & 4 
A3--05 SCALE:11•· • 1"-0"" 

W.Pl 

I·"="'"'%~ 

IIIRU.-BASEMENT 
LEVEL ---::ii', -

iiii·di 
671bMarke!Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

:-'°"=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHYANCOUVER, 

EL EVATIONS - INFILL 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-05 

o,n 
071111/21 



MATERIAL SCHEDULE · INFILL 

C3N. FOUNDATION: 
C4. CLADDING : 
D4. DOORS: 
D5. DOORS: 
S2. STAIRS: 
S3. STAIRS: 
W3. WINDOWS: 
R2. ROOF: 
RA2. RAILING: 
F1. FASCIA: 
FE1. FENCE: 
FE2. FENCE: 
P1 . PARAPET: 
CS1. CARPORT: 

new concrete wall 
new vinyl clapboard siding 
new solid entry door 
newslidingdoofwithglasspanel 
new GIP concrete stair 
new wood stair 
new high pe<fom1ance vinyl 
new lowslopetorchon 
new painted wood railing 
new painted aluminum 
new cedar fence 
new metal feoce 
new painted aluminum 
new wood structure 

N.PL 

" ,_ 

N.PL 

l ____ ltifl.L-.W~~ ~ 

I 

I- --""'1L~: 

Ir-I'll - UPPER LEVEL ------ ----n,"6 

IIIFILL-UAIIILEVEL 
---- ~ ,"6 

IIIFU- BASEMENT 

----1.fli .. 9"" 

EAST ELEVATION • INFILL UNIT 3 

INTERNAL SECTION PATH 

WEST ELEVATION INFILL UNIT 4 

INTERNAL SECTION PATH 

iiii·di 
671 b Markell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.431 5 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APP OAAFT 
202108 27 CLIENT REVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENT REVlEW 
202202 23 REZONING REV.1 
20220519 REVlEW MEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328 W14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

ELEVATIONS - INFILL 

~-----------
=--===:-

A3-06 



N.Pl 

I 
I 

~~'"-'--"""-I
~~--:-

I 

______ __&f~tt 

!l!!;;;;;;;;;;:;=::i::ili:::::Jii!E.;~-~-~-=--_jl~~ 

N.PL 

I 
t-

WEST SITE ELEVATION 

l ____ ,.,., __ _m_,~ : -----~-~~ 

___Jt,IEllJ....:...1,1,1,~~ ==-'-'-....... --
. 

IIIFILL-BASEMENT 

----~~ 

EAST SITE ELEVA TIO N 

-

' ' 

I iii·di 
' RCH I TECTURE -~ -,ac 

~71b 

canadaVSZ•B5 

' ' 

' 

6(),1.785.-4315 
lnlo@~.oom 

__ .:,_ 

,:< \ 

., Dale ~on 

' , 
' . 
' ' 

20210723 REZONNGAPPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV. 1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
CfTYOF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BCV7M1Pe 

ELEVATIONS - HERITAGE 
& INFILL • REFLECTED 
WINDOWS 

~-----------
=.:::r.::::.:::_ 

.. ~ 
311i;-. 1·-0-

A3-07 



WPL 

S.PL 

~ ' 

' 

loiirn<l. 
i"""JC 

E.PL 

1-

I-

BQJ_f~{~ 

- ~ 

UPPERLEVEL -- ---m.r, 

"'"""' --~q 

UPPER LEVEL -- 2,q;-;,• 

LONGITUDINAL SECTION 

iiii·di 
ARC H I TECTURE 

671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

HERITAGE SECTIONS 

~-----------
=--===:-

A4-01 

___ _ _fl 

..,,,,, 



W.PL E.PL 

, _ -- "'---."%--4 
I 

I 
I 

( -""'"1;,'iw 

u..---- __ _ftE'.f~ J--$-

2 CROSS-SECTION 3 
M-(12 $CALE: 1W • 1"-<1" 

WPL 

II ~ 

E.PL- --~ ~ 

l __ _,QQLJi~ 
I 
I 

I 
I 

1---"'--~# 
I 
I I--"'""'.!>'lt+ 

I 
I 

I :---',!~~ 

JL---lk.===~=======1!c==c=!c!!cc==c=!~======?l-----1--_::11~~~~ 

CROSS-SECTION 2 

iiii·di 
671bMarke!Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

__ .:,_ 

-,";< \ 

~=0519=~1RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

HERITAGE SECTIONS 

~-----------
=--===:-

A4-02 

o,n 
0111 1/22 



Ill 111111 

,r 

J:--_-___ _J_ !U_ +_ -_ -rrr=---=---=---=---=--=--,~//,,/"" 

N.PL 

I 
I 

1-"£!U"'-'~ 
I 
I 

l_,,,~, .... 1.~ ~====~~ 

III Fli•BASEMENT 
____ ___I.~~ --$" 

UNIT 3 CROSS-SECTION 
M-03 SCALE: 11•· • 1"-0" 

N.PL 

1-=•-,t<w 
I 
I 

1 -~~ ~~7 

i~~-7 ~~~~~~ I : 

llllll,~111111 :'.:~~~-~~~~~7]~=~~-::::::::::::~=j i' ___:::::..:~~ill!:'':::"=J_=~"L=_ =1 ..... -_= __ : __ .,"_"----_·,~,-,"-~:.,.~•.':,'~~ '.· j ~~ 1- Rlili _ _ i ',F? =J 
~ ~ _"-C..J 

2 UNIT 4 CROSS-SECTION 
M-03 SCALE: 11•· • 1"-0" 

Ill i·di ARC H I T E CTUR E 

671bMarke! Hil 
v-,ec 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.785.4315 ,_, 

..... 

__ .:,_ 

·,:"' \ 

.,.,. 

" ., "" . -~ ',., 107 23 REZONNGAPPDAAFT , 
' . 
' ' 

,., l0827 CLIENTREVIEW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201 ~ CLIENTREVlEW 
202202 23 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMEM:11RESP. 

PROJECT 

K NOWLES RESIDENCE 

"' ,c 

-I NFILL SECTIONS 

:!'='?E-"=;'.;;::==-
;:;...-;i::.=-----

.. ~ 
11•·- 1·-tr 

A4-03 



WPL 

' ' 

WPL 

E.Pl 

: _llifll.:..I/Q~~ 

l ~~____:___l,!_P!'IB!-F,~ 
I 

IIIFllL•BASEMENT ____ ___l~* 

LONGITUDINAL SECTION 2 

E.Pl 

l~.u~-~ 
I 

1 - --~~ 

INFU - BASEMENT 

-----~~ 

LONGITUDINAL SECTION 1 

llllldl 
ARCH I TECTUR E 

671bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

~=0519=~1RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

INFILL SECTIONS 

~-----------
=--===:-

A4-04 



BUL T·UPINSULATKJNTO 
SLOPE MIN. 2% TO DR.Ul 

DECK MEMBRANE 

S'8" PLYWOOD SHEATHING 

IIATTINSULATION 

WOOD & ALUMINUM RALING 
PAlITTEO "5 PER COLOUR SCHEME 

- - - - - ~1~'}$-

DECKTRM 

BUILDINGWRAPTO 
LAPOVERFl.ASHJIIG 

_]1:;,l'-JU!ll!--- - 2X6 WOOD BLOCKIIIG 

PREFINISHEDFLASHING 

EXTERIOROCX>RTRIM 

BACK.ER ROD & CAULKING 

;

d/4/~ 

1/:f i1c-'-_r_r __ -_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-_-~--NF.!!b..:_',4_A1!!_~~ 

~ / :· 

~
05 

£~~A~-~.~D SECTION UNIT 1 & 3 

11 I 

INFIJ ... :J,!.>,!til~~!t--$-

@ ££l~AJY_~.io SECTION • UNIT 2 & 4 

iiii·di 
ARC H I TECTURE 

671bMarkell-lil 
v-,ec 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnfo@~.oom 

.. ...,...._ ____ _ 
No.Date ~on 
6 20220519 REVlEWMB.t:)lRESP. 

PROJECT;------

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

------
COURTYARD SECTIONS 

:~~---·-_ · 
PROJECTNO 

A4-05 



LEVEL 1 

DESIGN ELEMENTS 

=:1:!;:':.:::=c!sooourocntrasconnou,goleacilstaif 
IJnobslructede,c,::esslOm..-,buiklroertranoes lromstreetlsidewal<s 
c.nop,,,,,.,malnbuildlnCl...,,,ances(3'0<915n'm)andenterl)l>one 
Di$;11)ilty P~p;oyi,:ledislloCCQfdance wil!l Zl)ningbylawF,gure9-4asallael>ed 
R.,sl,h'esl>oldsh'ougho,.ltthebuildinCl(maximuml',"o, 13mm "9iQllt) 
Ac<:esd:ilebuiklingenterphone,cdboAl:onsand.""""-pro,,ldecl,suledoorbels' 

FIXTU RES AND FlNSIHES 

Easy 10readbuldrigad<i'essrumbers{mln. 4"0f100mmhighrlconlnlstingcolours) 
Lightinglevelsl0aminlm.lfnol100'1x(N..(Sideandrlsidemalnbuildlngem1esands<h"'11ies 
Nop,:,lished lrishonbuildlngentrvlloomg(prOYide lloomgsamples) 
E><Oe!?ClolPOcl<eto:loots, sidlnadoors,OfdooltllQl.,lppedwch0!)'1119!'S,IIIY91doolhardesare 
l'«ll,li'edon eldoors(provldenotationondoolscl>9<:Uel ~~=:h==-~=~•~as1ed cdoon 

SIJlrNistantfloomCI 
Cob.ircomastinge.ddoors 

Wil!linsulesad.,ple,OUllells/llQl.ll<'«lwittll'l8"or200lrmof alele!)l>onejacl<. 
WO'lnglo,vlsualalannsyst911'1 1nlw,groomandmlnm.omonebeclroom,romectedl0Nrealann 

••= 

LEVEL 2 

FIXTURES AND FINISHES 

EasytorNdbuildlnged:ltessno.mbers(mi'l.4" or1 00n'mhighlncomastngcolovrs) 
LightingleY91stoaminmlmof 100 ._..0UISldeendlnsidemai'lbuildlng~andsohentries 
NoPOlistl9dftnis/lonbuildinaenll'Vlloomg(provldeftoolina~) 
El<cei:,t loo'POCl<etdoors,slidingdoor1.,o,doorsequipped'Mlhopeners,...,..doolhardesate~ond 
doors(P<(IYldenotalionondoorsct>«Ue) 

~~=:"l9dar:.r:s~,;orcr-)19dcob.Q 

51(,resil;tantlloolina 
Cdoo,rcorc,astngel<ildoors 

BULDING ME~G / AMENITY ROOMS 

Ad;Jslatiledoolcloser$tor«luceforoetoOP9"doortomaunum22No,5t,s 
Ooorl\¥deatW0<1000mmatx,,,elhelloof,wilhdMcb::>ltsplace,:l..........:klel)laboveOfbelow 

Non-sliplloomgln~andm......,monebelh<oom{prooldelloomgsam(lles) 
Highdensily,lowleY8'1k>oJ,csrpe1endundellaymaxm.om1,2· 0f13mm"91gtc 

PATIOS AND BALCONES 

=•~~tatsandthe"Oh9stbr..,.,1he"-"'6panel, 10ti.lnstallednol,lghelthan46"o, 

EleclricalO<ldeUl,cableOUl!ets, ~lacks~io--than18"0f450nmabovelOOt 
W..,,.,S<liles adi.c,lt,.(N..(lel isrEIQJlled wllhi'l 8"0t200mmolalele!)horielacl-; 
=~•ms,stemlnwlngroomandmlnimumonebedroom,,::,:,me,:tedtohala<ms)'Slem 

Task lighlingrJatl9ast 1001.i•levelals,nk,stot,e andworkareas lned:H:ionlOoeneraJ-'>ead lghli'lg 
Pul-out"'Oll<toardlnlldditiontoaOJ'derydr_.atza· ora10nYn~· 
~~fauc91SandC8biriechardes-.michcaribe~usedwilhanopenhandeg. ·o · 0t ·J · C8biriec 

~tabl& stiet,nlnalC...-

MIN. ONE BATli ROOM 

==,~=~~srowerandtoilel-.,andbelwid10wefbers" 

Pn,,,isionln wa1ers<W11andcnlnlOellow !ora •·(100nYn) dropln¥anllyhe!Qht{ollseeplombing) 
Prooisionlor Yarrtysiri<,.,,_af 
"4,,stabl&heightsi--er head or hand-held stiow.r head on ar:t,stabl& br'ar::lolC" 

• -..s1ralions a¥ailablef09l2006J 

is"=~~~=i:,--------------------=====i----.. -

-------+----=" 
PATIO -------------

DESIGN ELEMENTS 

~~.,;:'a':~"d!~corfl'fflonr,::,singoleacllsta~ 

====buildlngentranoeslromSl>ffUskl9walks 

lrGmpa,Wncl...,elsCQl'Uinlngaccessl:>leparking(5'or1520mmcorndors;2'0t610nmcieat wal 
SPeOtar::fia,cerlllOdoorlaldll " 

garb9Qeand,9C)'Cling,..:eptar::tesandslor8Q91ockers 
nostai<swil!>lnbuildlngclrcula1ionlnclidolgooni:lors on,esidantiaflevets 
accesslbleSIOr&Cllllockerslorear::hunil 

Garo::>Pllo,,ermulbuildl~ -ances(3'u 915mm)and9<118'phone 
Pl'ovidea1J10ma'kdoorgpene,loratla8Slonebuildl~e,v,ydoora1oro,.n:f...,elas.,..asdoors1Nding i-fo 
thebuildrioonNChunde,groundparkadelevel""""'9disabiMYP8rkirolsP'Ovlded 
Oiubilly Pa,l<ln,gpro,,ldedlnaccon:llilnce wilhZl)flingbylawFieµe9-4asallaehed 
:ru915mmbuildlngandsuleeru,ydoors 
FlJsll ltnlsl'iolds 1'Youal>oulthe b,ldng (maximum W or 1~ height) 
Acoessl:>lebuildlngentel))hone,celbullonsand,""'9«1pro,,lded,S'"'9doorbells' 

Corrldorsmlnimum • ·or1220mmwlde(ex08(llforserviceaccessar.as)" 
Pl'ovide5"0l1520n'mtvmlngradluslnsideandoutsidethee,V1ycomdoroleechdwellngunlt " 

Pl'ovide..tt,gforanallOmalicdooropene,lorthest.ile...-,Ydoor 
Pl'ovide'Z0t610nvncl98'walst)ll,Ce~ll0doorlalCl>98""""9doorswiros10wan:1user(pocl<eldoors 
a,:,:eptablelorbel:fvoomsandbed"oomsl" 

Mlnmumonebelhroom,mlnmumonebed"oomandstor8Q9roomdoors 2'-10"or860Tm c1Nr openlng" 

PATIOS AND BALCONIES 

Mlnmumonedoor'Z - 10"ull60mmdeao"doorgpenlng 
Mlni"numonePatioubalconl'doorsilwilh,,....lmum W or13'Mllh<eshold'" 
Mlnmum 5' u 1520,-mltvmlngradi.>sonpario l belcony 

MN. ONE BATl-lROOM 

Toileelocated~acenctowal (mln3' or915mmlengtl) ' 
l'l'o¥idetvn'W'l!lradluswilfw1bathroom(ma1res,.,. ll'omr8fflOYafolYa nllycal:nle)" 
:ru915mmdrNrancealong\ollangtholU, • 
TlbCQl'll"Ol¥ahleplacedalouteredgeollltl, wchlltlSpov1r811'111i<w'iglncen1tafpositon• 
Acoessl:>leSIOl'IIOII " 

· 11us1ralions a¥ailable(/J9l2006J 
""Optionscor.klered [, .. - ----------~ 

Hop,:,lol'o,d -on ---
---------------¼-a+----°"" __ _ 

LIVING 

~ -
c---------------tl+t-----------~ 

I 

ttl/~~,;1aa/ii,,==-~ h -,-"'.'_'.·_._·,--,-,).,..-I n•=o=~ ::~ 
BATH l__g 

/ I \ I 
\ 

' ' -
~---------------~ 

l _.,.,_......,.,.., .... (_3"0t 91Smn......-,I -------..--o1o1,...,.o,,,~,,u 
3"0t915mn-oiof'ofl.l~ol..., §;:;;~;:::::.-_~:::"" 
==-~"":t.::.<1•"'-""••·(•00mo>l<>"Wi., •...,_~fOIIHIIII~) ....,_hOigl< __ "' ___ ._.,,,...,.__ 

_/Q[] 
~ ~ -----------~ 

H<:w,.<iiplk>,,lng il> -andR __ _ --·""'~ .. ----· maxm,,nw-0t1:,0.,,~ 

I I I I 

I 

---+-t-+--+--+---+-----, 

\ 
IHTltfllOIIDOORS ----------~ 

~~~~50' @ ADAPTABLE lJNIJ 1 (UNIT 2 SIMILAR) 
-'S-<!1 SCALE: lfr • 1'-0" 

iiii·di 
871bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
16()4.785.-4315 
EWo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REVlEWMB.t:)1RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

LEVEL 2 ADAPTABLE 
GUIDELINES - LOCK-OFF 
SUITES 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AS-01 



HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 

HER~!!3!1~A9! 
1,608SF 1,337SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 

767SF 831 SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 

(EXCLUDED) 

S.Pl 

UPPER LEVEL 
A&-<11 SCALE: t" • 10'-0" 

-----7 
I 
I 

• I 

I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

• I 

I 
I 

~l=j '1'f7FFc=~ - _J 

3 MAIN LEVEl 
A&-<11 SCALE: t" • 10'-0" 

N.PL WPLr-- --- -- --- -- ---~:~--- -- -------------------+-IW.PL 

~ 

~ 
EPLL-------------------· ___ _j_,PL 

S.PL BASEMENT LEVEL N.PL ... , SCALE: t" • 10'-0" 

UNIT AREAS 

UPPER LEVEL ABOVE G RADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL 
863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 

403 SF 629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 
IElS 31SF ~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF UNIT2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 

1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 

UNIT 3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 

597SF 972SF 1,341 SF UNIT 4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 

472SF 928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 

1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,304 SF I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 

1,357SF 2,123SF 
766SF 

1,297SF 2,057SF 
760SF 

1,341 SF 1,341 SF 

1,326SF 1,326SF 
6,847SF 

EXCLUSIONS 

BASEMENT 

BIKE STORAGE 
CARPORT 
HERITAGE DECK 
GREEN MECH. ROOM 

WASTE ENCLOSURE 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 

750SF 
31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E Wo@~.oom 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLIENTREV!EW 
2021 1 0 01 REZONING SUBl,ISSKlN 
202201~ CLIENTREVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REV!EWMEM:11RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

AREA PLANS 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AG-01 

o,n 
07/20/21 



S.PL 

,,--- .... 

/ 
I 

I 
\ 

\ EPL-+--~ --- -- -/--
\ S.PL / 

\ I 

/ 
/ 

PRINCIPAL BUILDING 
LOT COVERAGE: 
1,789 SF (25.5%) 

I 

r - - J 

INFILL UNIT 3 
LOT COVERAGE: 

674 SF (9.6%) 

INFILL UNIT 4 
LOT COVERAGE: 

647 SF (9.2%) 

GN 

N.PL 

--- ® -------®----® --
•= 

E~~RE IM 
--- -- ~ E.PL 

"Lot Coverage" means the horizontal area within the vertical projection of the 
outennost walls of Principal, Accessory Buildings and Accessory Coach House 
Buildings on a Lal, expressed as a percentage of the Loi Area , but excluding: 

(1) Exterior wan thickness in excess ofi 0.165 metres (6.5 inches) provided: 

(a) A maximum exduslon of 0.25 metres (9.8 indies): and 
(bl The excluded wall thickness is utilized for the provision of insulating 

materials and/or for the protection against wind, water and vapour: 
(9r'lllr~, Ma,,l0, 20111J 

(2) Accessory Structures to shelter Off.Street Parking Uses or enclose swimmlng 
pools; 

(3) Underground Structures; 

(4) Bay Windows; (Sfl-1135.J-, a . 19991 

(5) For One Unit Residential Use and Two Unit Residential Use Lot Coverage shall 
include: /f!~iuia, .u,e 15, 20151 

(a) Decks; 
(b) Porches; and , 
(c) Balconies greater than 1.0 metres (3.28 feet) above grade; 
but shall exclude Accessory Buildings subject to Section 514(1)(b). 

City ol N«lh V-ouwr 
O!vislonl: Admlnlstrstlon 

Zo,ilng sy,,w. 1995, Ho. 15700 

N.PL 

@ SITE COVERAGE 
A&-<12 SCALE: l'W•HI" 

PRINCIPAL BUILDING COVERAGE: 

INFILL COVERAGE: 

1,789 SF (25.5%) 

1,321 SF (18.8%) 

ACCESSORY STRUCTURES: 136 SF (1 .9%) 
(BIKE STORAGE & WASTE ENCLOSURE) 

TOTAL SITE COVERAGE: 

SITE AREA: 

3,246 SF (46.2%) 

7,000 SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E Wo@~.oom 

No.=01~=:EVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REVIEWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

SITE COVERAGE 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AG-02 



S.PL 

W.Pl 

I 

I 
I 

\ EPL--+-- _Q_ __ 
\ 

\ 

L__ 
UNIT1 

--:,,==-_j ,-L'f~ 
&~OW I 

/) 

I 

I I 

1 

GN 

• DENTOES LOC ATION OF SHARED ACCESS 

N.PL 

A&-03 ~~~ ~~~-~ SHARED ACCESS 

UJ 
z 
:5 

E.PL 

iiii·di 
6;b~H~T E CTUR E 

v-,ec 
canadaVSZ•B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

PROJECT 

-, 
·,:"' \ 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

o,n 
____ , .. ~, . .,, ·-· 

AG-03 



E.PL 

FN:;S;Of'INFI..I. 
OWEU.JNOUNIT• 

PARl<NlSTALI. 
IN•11TX 19·..,-

FACEOf'NFI..I. 

~ ~'§~======= 

NORTH ELEVATION WASTE ENCLOSURE 
-'641 SCALE: 112'" • 1"-0" 

N.PL 

,,,. , 

WASTE ENCLOSURE PLAN CALLOUT 
Ao--04 SCALE: 112'" • 1'-0" 

E.PL 

II 

SOUTH ELEVATION WASTE ENCLOSURE 
A641 SCALE: 1/2'" • \ '-0" 

E.PL 

11' · • 112" 

----------
,. 

I 
I 

= -
~ 

= -
! 

r----... • . 
' 

= , 
' IV"' I\ 

11' · 10112" 

~ 
WASTE ENCLOSURE SECTION 

I! 

WESTELEVATION WASTE ENCLOSURE 
"6-04 SCALE:112" • 1"-0" 

EAST ELEVATION WASTE ENCLOSURE 
A6-04 SCALE:112" • 1'-0" 

iiii·di 
671bMarke!Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T 604.7SS.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

No.=01~=:EVl EW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REVIEW MEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

WASTE ENCLOSU RE 
DETAILS 

~-----------
=--===:-

AG-04 



DECEMBER 21 ST@ 1 o:oo am MARCH 21 ST@ 1 o:oo am JUNE21 sT@1O 00 am 

DECEMBER 21 ST@ 12:00 pm MARCH 21 ST@ 12:00 pm JUNE21 sT@12 00 pm 

DECEMBER 21 ST@ 2 00 pm MARCH 21 sT@ 2 00 pm JUNE 21 sT@ 200 pm 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-ll 

~~5ZllfB5 
T604.765.431 5 
Elnfo@metrican:hil:ects.com 

~=0723=:.APPDAAFT 
20210827 CLENTREV!EW 
20211001 REZONINGSUBMISSKlN 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
20220519 REV1EWME001RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

SHADOW STUDIES 

~-----------
=--===:-

AG-05 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 
v-,ec 
canadaVSZ •B5 

T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

- --J 
,':< \ 

~=01~~EV!EW 
5 20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BCV7Mll'tl 

HERITAGE EXTERIOR 
PERSPECTIVES 

=-=-----
.. ~ 
11•·- 1·~ 

A7-01 

o,n 
01/25122 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

- --J 
,':< \ 

~=01~~EV!EW 
5 20220223 REZONINGREV.1 
6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

PROJECT 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
BCV7Mll'tl 

COURTYARD 
PERSPECTIVES 

=~:= 

A7-02 

o,n ,,,,.,, 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

---J 
,':< \ 

202201~~EV!EW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

INFILL EXTERIOR 
PERSPECTIVES 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

A7-03 

o,n 
01/25122 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
Elnlo@~.oom 

-, 
,:< \ 

No.=01~~EV!EW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

AXONO METRIC VIEW -
SOUTH-WEST 

~-----------
=~:-

A7-04 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

-, 
,:< \ 

No.=01~~EV!EW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTHVANCOUVER, 

AXONO METRIC VIEW -
NORTH-WEST 

~-----------
=~:-

A7-05 

o,n 
01/25122 



SPATIAL SEPARATION· EAST ELEVATION HERITAGE 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 6.2 FT (1.9 M) 

llli!il 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE : 608.5 SF (56 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 118 SF (10.9 SM)· 19.-4 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 97.26 SF (9.0 SM)· 15.9 % 

UNIT 2 LOCK OFF 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 408.5 SF (38 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 85 SF (7.9 SM)· 20.8 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 33.0 SF (3.0 SM) • 8.0 % 

BCBC 9. 10. 14.4. •A 

SPATIAL SEPARATION· WEST ELEVATION HERITAGE 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

1lli!I..1 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 

9.9FT (3.0M) 

670 SF (62.25 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 236 SF (21 .9 SM)· 35.2 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 128.5 SF (11.9 SM) · 19.2 % 

UNIT l LOCK OFF 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 405 SF (37.6 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 174 SF (16.2 SM)· 42.9 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 45 SF (4.1 SM) • 11.1 % 

BCBC 9. 10. 14.4.-A 

Maximum 
TotalAre• 

Table 9.10.14.4.-A 
Maximum Aggregate Area of Unprotected Openings In Exterior wa11sc11 

Forming Part of Sentence 9.10.14.4.(1) 

Maximum Aggregate Area of IJnprotecled Openings, 
"lo ofExposingBuildingFsceArn 

Occu~ncy 
Classification of 

Building Ex;,:mg t--c-~-~-~-~--.LJ_m•_·,_,o_;,_1"_"_•m~-~-~--~-~--; 
Building 
Fae&, m2 

LH, 

Residential. 
business and 
pe,sona/ 
services. and 
low-hazard 
induslria/ 

30 

40 

50 

100 

Over100 

lhan1.2 
1.2 2,0 ,.o 6.0 

12 39 88 

11 32 69 

10 28 57 

18 34 

12 19 

1.0 10.0 12.0 16.0 20.0 25.0 

100 

100 

100 

56 84 100 

28 40 55 92 100 

179 SF 

429.5 SF 

,--7 
I I 
I I 
I I 

408.5SF ~ 
L':J 

I I 
I I 
I 

152SF 

I 

~ ~ ~ 51 8SF 

~ 
405 SF ~ 

Notes tolable 9.10.14.4.-A: 

~ 
,--7 
I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 

I 

... , 

UNIT2 

UNIT2 
LOCK OFF 

EAST ELEVATION · UNPROTECTED OPENINGS 

UNIT1 

~ 

[J UNIT 1 
LOCK OFF 

WEST ELEVATION UNPROTECTED OPENINGS 
SCALE: 1W • 1"-0" 

(1) See also Sentences (6) arid (7) to caloJate the maximum pernl!led area of rJrVO!ecmd op1;1nings in sprnklered build'ngs er where wired glass or glass blocks ere use{!. 

6) T he ma>:imum :igi;:rcgatc ar<.":I ,;,f 1t1,p,vt,rlM •]'(11mp,h.11l be nt,t mon: tl,.nn Nice the HC~ dctl.'rmincd 

acoon.ling lO Semenec (1). whc~ the lfnprnlrrtrd open;"!,; arc gl.ll';..-.:1 with 

:>) ,...;n...J111:ls~ins1edfrJmcs,a< d,;scn bc.,Jin ,\n',,;k: 'U 0.IJ.5.,11r 

b) gbssblock~,,s dC!'cribi..-din Article9. l0.!3.7. 

7) \Vh~ the /,r,i/t/ilf/!, i~ pri11kkml, d,c m:mmwn aggregate un o f 11•prole.trd npt,,iny ,hall b.: nor more than 

1wic;: lh~ :in.~1 dc11:nninnl 3CCOrtl ing I<> Scrm:ncc (l),provid~-d :111 rnom.s, inc!udingd•OS<.:l~ and baclm.>Olll ~, 1h~1 :in: 

ad jac~"fl t l() the t.\-,»Jill~ /11tJ!di11!,fJ,T:llld th.1t h l\"C t,11pro!r;.1llf ~i»_~I :m: ,pri11J:JmJ, n(>N.·i th~t:uu:!ing ~ny c~c'fflption.< in 

tl,~ spnnkkr ~tnnd:rnls n:fcrcnu-d in ArticlcJ.25.12 

iiii·di 
671bMarke! Hil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

No.=01~=:EVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

SPATIAL SEPARATION· 

HERITAGE 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AS-01 



SPATIAL SEPARATION · NORTH ELEVATION HERITAGE 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 16.4FT (5.0M) 

UNIT2 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 328.3 SF (30.5 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS : 328.3 SF (30.5 SM) - 100 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS : 83 SF (7.7 SM) - 25.3 % 

LIMITING DISTANCE : 13.2 FT ( 4.0 M) 

UNIT 2 · LOCK OFF 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 89 SF (8.3 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS : 70 SF (6.5 SM) 78.6 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS : 42 SF (3.9 SM) 39.0% 

BCBC 9. 10.14.4.•A 

UNIT2 

UNIT2 
LOCK OFF 

88SF 

""' 63SF 

~ 
L:'J 
328.3 SF 

,,,,. 
42SF 

SPATIAL SEPARATION · SOUTH ELEVATION INFILL 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 13.2 FT (4.0 M) 

~ 
L:J 

~ 381 SF 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 381 SF (35.4 SM) 
,--7 
I I 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 269 SF (25 SM) - 70.5 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 112.0 SF (10.4 SM) - 29.3 % I I 

I I 
BCBC 9. 10. 14.4.-A I I 

I I 
L __ _J 

UNIT3 

Ta ble 9.1 0.14.4.-A 
Maximum Aggregate Area of Unprotected Openings In Exterior wa11sc11 

Forming Part of Sentence 9.10.14.4.(1) 

Maximum Maximum Aggregate Area of Unprotecled Openings, 

Occu~m;y 
TotalAre• "lo ofExposingBuilding FaceArea 

Classification of 
., 

LimitingDist1nce, m 

~ 
LJ 

337 SF 

""' 63SF 

.. ,. 
42SF 

90 SF 

UNIT 1 

UNIT 1 
LOCK OFF 

@ NORTH ELEVATION · UNPROJECTED OPENINGS 
"8--02 SCALE: 1/4' • 1'-0" 

,-- 7 

I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 
I I 
L __ _J 

400.4SF 

~ 
L:J 

UNIT 4 

SOUTH ELEVATIONS INFILL · UNPROTECTED 
2 OPENINGS 

"8--02 SCALE: 1/4' • 1'-0" 

Building 
Exposin11 Notes tol able 9.10.14.4.-A: 

SPATIAL SEPARATION · NORTH ELEVATION HERITAGE 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

.u..t::!.!ll 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 

16.4 FT (5.0M) 

337 SF (31 .3 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 337 SF (31 .3 SM) - 100 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 75 SF (6.9 SM) - 22.3 % 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 13.2FT ( 4.0M) 

IJNII 1 · LOCK OFF 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 90 SF (8.4 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 70.2 SF (6.5 SM) - 78.0 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 42 SF (3.9 SM) - 38.8% 

BCBC 9. t0. 14.4.•A 

SPATIAL SEPARATION · SOUTH ELEVATION INFILL 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 13.2 FT (4.0 M) 

INFILL - UNIT4 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 400.4 SF (37.2 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 271.2 SF (25.2 SM) - 67.7 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 112.0 SF (10.4 SM) - 28.0% 

BCBC 9. 10. 14.4.·A 

Building LH, 
fae&, m2 lhan 1.2 

1.2 2.0 •-• •-• •-• 10.0 12.0 16.0 20.0 25.0 (1) See also Sentence, (6) arid (7) to calWa~ the maximum peml!led area of 1,11fTO/ecmd op1;1nings in sprnklered t,uil d:ngs er where wired glass or glass blocks are used. 

Residential. 
30 12 39 88 

business and 40 11 32 69 
pe,sonal 

50 10 28 57 services. and 
low-hazard 100 18 34 
indus1n·a1 

Over100 12 19 

100 

100 

100 

56 84 100 

28 40 55 92 100 

6) T he ma>:imum ~ rcgate ar<.":I Qf 1tnp,vt,r/M •J!(1rnt_t/sh.11l be n(>t mon:: tlllln Nice the He~ den..'rmin~d 

;icoon.lin g lO Semenec (1). whc~ the lfnprnlrrtrd open;lfl.S arc gl.ll';,.-.:1 wi th 

=>) u.·in.-.:1111:l,~ in ~1ed frame,, a< d<;!<Cnbc.,J in Anick: 'U 0.13.5.,"' 

b) ¢us block~,,. dC!'cribr,d in Article 9. l0 .!3.7. 

7) Where the /,r,ikli1fg i~ pn11kkml, the m aDmwn aggregate arn o f uprr,lf<trd npt~iny ,hall be nor more than 
1wi~ lhc an.·~ dc1cnnincd 3ccon!ini,; 1u St111cncc (1) ,provid~-d :111 rnom.~, includingd,OS<.:1~ a.nJ baclm.>Olll ~, 1lr.u ~rt: 

idjac~"fl l l() the ,.,-,»Jifl~ l,1ti/1fifl,!./J(f :llld th.1t h l\"C ltflJ"1ilt'i.1llf r,pm;,w ;m: ,prid,JmJ, n(>t,,:i th~t:uu:!ing ~ny C~<.'ffl ption.< in 

t.hc spnnkkr ~tnnd:rnls n: fcrcno:tl in Article J .25.12 

iiii·di 
671bMarkel l--lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

No.=01~=:EVlEW 
20220223 REZONING REV. 1 

6 20220519 REV1EW MEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328 W14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

SPATIAL SEPARATION · 
HERITAGE & INFILL 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AS-02 



SPATIAL SEPARATION · WEST ELEVATION INFILL {SIDE YARD) 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

INFILL WEST ELEVATION UNIT 3 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE : 

4.0FT (1.2M) 

691 SF (64 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 97 SF (9.0 SM) · 14 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 76.5 SF (7.1 SM) • 11.1 % 

BCBC 9. 10. 14.4.•A 

657SF 

I 

19 
LJ 

691 SF 

UNIT3 
SIDE YARD 

WEST ELEVATION · UNIT 3 UNPROTECTED 
4 OPENINGS 

M43 SCALE: 1W • HI" 

653SF 

UNIT4 
SIDE YARD 

SPATIAL SEPARATION· EAST ELEVATION INFILL (INTERNAL LANE) SPATIAL SEPARATION · WEST ELEVATION INFILL (INTERNAL LANE) 

Occu~ncy 
Classification of 

Building 

Residential. 
business and 
pe,sona/ 
services. and 
low-hazard 
industrial 

Maximum 
TotalArtl 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

INFILL EAST ELEVATION UNIT 3 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE : 

4.0FT (1.2M) 

657 SF (61 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPEN INGS: 92 SF (8.5 SM) -14 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 20 SF (1.8 SM)· 3 % 

UNIT3 
INTERNAL 

ELEVATION 

BCBC 9. 10.14.4.•A 

Ta ble 9.10.14.4.-A 
Maximum Aggregate Area of Unprotectod Openings In Exterior wansc11 

Forming Part of Sentence 9.10.14.4.(1) 

Maximum Aggregate Area of IJnprotecled Openings, 
"lo ofExposingBuildingFsceArea 

@ EAST ELEVATION • UNIT 3 UNPROTECTED 
1 OPENINGS 

M43 SCALE: 1w - Hr 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

INFILL WEST ELEVATION UNIT 4 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE: 

4.0 FT (1.2M) 

627 SF (58 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 88 SF (8.2 SM) -14 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 43.6 SF (4.0 SM) • 6.9 % 

BCBC 9.10. 14.4.•A 

Ex;,:mri t-,--~-~-~-~-~-LJm_•_·,,_D,;,_1"_"_•m~-~-~-~--~--1 
Building 
Fae&, m2 

LH, 
Notes to l able 9.10.14.4.-A: 

lhan 1.2 
1.2 2.0 ,.o 6.0 

30 12 39 88 

40 11 32 69 

50 10 28 57 

100 18 34 

Over100 12 19 

1.0 10.0 12.0 16.0 

100 

100 

100 

56 B4 100 

28 40 55 92 

20.0 25.0 

100 

(1) See also Sentence~ (6) arid(7)tocal0Jlatelhe maximum pernl!led areaof~ecmdolJl'nings in sprnklered build;ngs er where wired glassorglass blocksere uffll. 

6) The ma>:imum ~ rcgate ar<.":I Qf 1tnp,vt,rlM •J!(1rutpsh.1ll be n(>t mo:n: than Nice the ue~ dcn..'rmincd 
;icoon.ling lO Semenec (!), where dx: 11npmlrrttd open;"!,; arc gl'1l'.-...:i with 

=i) u.·in...:I 111:i,s in s1ed frJffll!>, a< d<;Senbc.,J in ,\niclc '>.1 0.1 3-5., ,or 

b) gbnblocl:~,,s d '-'!'cribL-dinArticle'>.l0.13.7. 

7) Where the hr,iltli"!, i~ ;pn,,kkml, the ma:nmwn aggregate arn o f ""prol-.trd npt,iiny ,hall b.: nor more than 
1wi~ lhc an.·~ dcu:nnincd 3ccortl ing 1u Scrm:nc1; (!) , provid~-.11111 rnoms, includingd•"'<:I~ and b~1hn.>01ll~, 1h~1 ~rt: 

mjac~Tlt l() the ,.,7»1i,r.J_ l11d11i11if"t"f =>l.ld th.11 hl\"C '"'J'T1ilt>.1M ~;,w :ire ,;,ri11l:lmd, n(>N,·ith~t:uu:!ing ~ny C~<.'fflption.< in 

the sponkkr ~tnnd:rnls n: fcrcno:d in ArtidcJ.25. 12 

SPATIAL SEPARATION· EAST ELEVATION INFILL (SIDE YARD) 

LIMITING DISTANCE: 

INFILL EAST ELEVATION UNIT 4 

AREA OF EXPOSING BUILDING FACE : 

4.0FT (1.2M) 

653 SF (60.7 SM) 

ALLOWABLE AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 91.4 SF (8.5 SM) · 14 % 
PROPOSED AREA OF UNPROTECTED OPENINGS: 36 SF (3.3 SM)· 5.5 % 

BCBC 9. t0.14.4.-A 

l 

EAST ELEVATION · UNIT 4 UNPROTECTED 
3 OPENINGS 

A843 SCALE: 1/4' • 1'-0" 

627SF 

UNIT4 
INTERNAL 

ELEVATION 

@ WEST ELEVATION • UNIT 4 UNPROTECTED 
2 OPENINGS 

A843 SCALE: 1/4' • 1'-0" 

iiii·di 
671bMarkel l-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.7SS.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

No.=01~=:EVlEW 
20220223 REZONINGREV.1 

6 20220519 REV1EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER , 

SPATIAL SEPARATION · 
INFILL 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

AS-03 

o,n 
1CV13121 



iiii·di 
671bMarkell-ll 

~~5ZllfB5 
T604.765.4315 
Elnfo@metrican:hil:ects.com 

- --J 
,':< \ 

~ =0223 =:,REV.1 
6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

EXISTING PHOTOS 

=~:-

A9-01 

o,n 
07/21/21 



·~ 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-ll 

~~5ZllfB5 
T604.765.4315 
E lnfo@metrican:hil:ects.com 

- --J 
•.'< \ : 

,,;···· .. ,;o. 

ISSUED =_,,._,, 

5 20220223=:,REV.1 
6 20220519 REV!EWMEM:11 RESP. 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

EXISTING PHOTOS 

=~:-

A9-02 

o,n 
07/21/21 



GN 

S.PL 

W.PL- ---.-------------------------------------------------------------,t---W.PL 
$(1' •$= 

$(1' •$= 

BIKl'.STORAOE 

11051' -I I I 

H i,-y "''1 "'H 
I I I I 

- ------7 _r, .., j.. .. j.. .. 
I • I ,,(:, ~--

I 
: :ffifi15 __J 

A w {I 
- 0 

~ D L _______ -------- - • I 

...1 • . 
1Q1 

.__l_ 
f Q____ 

·- ~m= 
*V ~ 

I / ~~ ~ - ~-~ 
,-

\r~I , - , 7/b- l I\ 
i '-.../ 

~~ ' i 
i \ 

/ ' 'QL • lQJ /', 
0V 7 ' ~ rr ) cjJ iEXCL) , \ I I 

\ :~ ~ - i\ '" - \ \J[J I\ ' I<' 
I ~ 

,_ 

___ _J 

1Q1 ! 
I 

§ 
---------c I r> re: ~ D 

I 
~ I 

! ~1- ~~-~~~ ------ 1- -_J • 
' [2 ) ~ Jl I, , o-o I I II 117 

-

I ,se- . ,-

E.PL--,.------------------------------------------------------------,t---E.PL 
S.PL BASEMENT LEVEL AREA PLAN · HERITAGE 

HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA UNIT AREAS EXCLUSIONS 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL ABOVE G RADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 1,357SF 2,123SF BASEMENT 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 403 SF 629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 766SF BIKE STORAGE 

HER~~!1~A9! LLSS 31 SF ~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF 

1,608SF 1,337SF 1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF 
UNIT 2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 1,297SF 2,057SF CARPORT 
UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 760SF HERITAGE DECK 
UNIT 3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 1,341 SF 1,341 SF GREEN MECH. ROOM 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 597SF 972SF 1,341 SF UNIT 4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 1,326SF 1,326SF WASTE ENCLOSURE 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 472SF 928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 6,847SF 

767SF 831 SF 1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 2,304 SF I..!:£@ 6,847 SF 

(EXCLUDED) PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 
750SF 
31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~ .oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

BASEMENT AREA PLAN -
HERITAGE 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

o,n 
12110/21 

A10-00A 



GN 

S.PL 

W.PL- ----j,-------- --------- --------- --------- --------- ---- - - ------- ----1----IW.Pl 
., .. ,,,a-

!1' ·$ 112" 1T •3" 15" · 01a-

11111 11111 

I ~ 

j 1q::p1 : ,-----7 0 =====a 

. ' ~---~ t L~=~--r==~=t~11__ ~ ~~ - •w 
1 111SF 

! 

f'\_~ 
====3 . I oo ,v ~G ; I ~ 

' 
' 

_, lo ?G ~ - •Y 
~~ 

--------- O D -
~ .. y 

I I oo 
,--------- ~ 

I 

V 
I 

II I I I 
~ 

mY 

QJ 1: 

I I 1 
-----------r - -1 --

' 
' ~-?¾·r: ,-----':'T T 

11111 11111 ~ 
~ 

v V v V 
13" ·!1'" ..... ,,. 

E.PL- ---lo-------------------------- ------------------------------- ----1----E.Pl 
S.PL MAIN LEVEL AREA PLAN · HERITAGE 

HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA UNIT AREAS EXCLUSIONS 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL ABOVE GRADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 1,357SF 2,123SF BASEMENT 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 403 SF 629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF 0SF 0SF 766SF BIKE STORAGE 

HER~~!1~A9! LLSS 31 SF ~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF 

1,608SF 1,337SF 1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF 
UNIT2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 1,297SF 2,057SF CARPORT 
UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF 0SF 0SF 760SF HERITAGE DECK 
UNIT3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 1,341 SF 1,341 SF GREEN MECH. ROOM 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 597SF 972SF 1,341 SF UNIT4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 1,326SF 1,326SF WASTE ENCLOSURE 

INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 472SF 928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 6,847SF 

767SF 831 SF 1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 2,304 SF I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

(EXCLUDED) PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 

750SF 
31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T 604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

MAIN LEVEL AREA PLAN 
- HERITAGE 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

o,n 
12110/21 

A10-01A 



HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA 

BASEMENT LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 
ADDmON 628SF 

HER~~!1~A9! 
1,608SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 

767SF 

2,375SF 

(EXCLUDED) 

S.PL 

W.PL- ---,-- -----------------------------------------------------,----W.Pl 

1 H rt 

! 
' 

-
C3 L ---,L.. .... 

OD ::') __ ~ 
1-1""""_,.- I 

' ' 
~I 

'7 1 I I 
I 

a ~:"f C ' 
~ 

1 I 
I 

• . I ll. ' 
I I 

I I I 

l I 

E.PL- +- ------ - -------- - -------------------------- - -------- - -,----E.Pl 

S.PL 

MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL ABOVE G RADE TOTAL AREA 
1,111 SF 863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF 

226SF 403 SF 629SF 1,257SF 
IElS 31SF ~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF 

1,337SF 1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF 

375SF 597SF 972SF 1,341 SF 

456SF 472SF 928SF 1,326SF 
831 SF 1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,168 SF 2,304 SF I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

@ UPPER LEVEL AREA PL.AN · HERITAGE 
t SCALE: 1W • 1'--0" 

UNIT AREAS 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL 
UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 
UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 
UNIT2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 
UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 
UNIT3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 
UNIT4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 

2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 

TOTAL AREA 

1,357SF 
766SF 

1,297SF 
760SF 

1,341 SF 
1,326SF 
6,847SF 

UNIT TOTAL 

2,123SF 

2,057SF 

1,341 SF 
1,326SF 

BASEMENT 

BIKE STORAGE 
CARPORT 
HERITAGE DECK 
GREEN MECH. ROOM 

WASTE ENCLOSURE 

GN 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 
750SF 
31 S F 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T 604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14th ST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

UPPER LEV EL AREA 
PLAN - HERITAGE 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

o,n 
12110/21 

A10-02A 



HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 863 SF 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 403 SF 

HER~~!1~A9! IElS 31SF 

1,608SF 1,337SF 1,235 SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 597SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 472SF 

767SF 831 SF 1,069SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 2,304 SF 

(EXCLUDED) 

N.PL 

W.PL--+-----------------------------------------------,f---'W.PL 

E.PL-----,-------------------------------------------------1---E.Pl 
N.PL 

BASEMENT LEVEL AREA PLANS· INFILL 

UNIT AREAS EXCLUSIONS 

ABOVE GRADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 
1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 1,357SF 2,123SF BASEMENT 

629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 766SF BIKE STORAGE 
~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF UNIT2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 1,297SF 2,057SF CARPORT 

2,572SF 4,180SF UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 760SF HERITAGE DECK 
UNIT3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 1,341 SF 1,341 SF GREEN MECH. ROOM 

972SF 1,341 SF UNIT4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 1,326SF 1,326SF WASTE ENCLOSURE 

928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 6,847SF 

1,900SF 2,667SF 

I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

GN 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 
750SF 
31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

BASEMENT AREA PLANS 
- INFILL 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

o,n 
12113121 

A20-00A 



HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 

HER~~!1~A9! 
1,608SF 1,337SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 

767SF 831 SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 

(EXCLUDED) 

N.PL 

W.PL-- -- - +------- - --------,-:_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_~':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_':_-,_--------- - - --- -1 --W.PL 

· ..... ~gg.oc3 .. 

---------------, 

"E3EJ--
WAST'EENCLOSI.IFIE. 

~" 
"'"' 

.• •~b•. 

D 

D 

I 
I 
I 
I 

E.PL-- -- - +------------------------------------------- ------1--CPL 
N.PL 

MAIN LEVEL AREA PLANS • INFILL 

UNIT AREAS 

UPPER LEVEL ABOVE G RADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 

863 SF 1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 1,357SF 2,123SF BASEMENT 
403 SF 629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 766SF BIKE STORAGE 

LLSS 31 SF ~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF UNIT 2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 1,297SF 2,057SF CARPORT 
1,235 SF 2,572SF 4,180SF UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 760SF HERITAGE DECK 

UNIT 3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 1,341 SF 1,341 SF GREEN MECH. ROOM 

597SF 972SF 1,341 SF UNIT 4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 1,326SF 1,326SF WASTE ENCLOSURE 

472SF 928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 6,847SF 

1,069SF 1,900SF 2,667SF 

2,304 SF I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

GN iiii·di 
671 b Markell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T 604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

MAIN LEVEL AREA 
PLANS - INFILL 

TOTAL ~ .. - _..,_, ___ _ 

2,375SF 
110SF 
750SF 
31 S F 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

=~:-
o,n 

12113121 

A20-01A 



HERITAGE & INFILL DWELLING AREA 

BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL 

EXIST. HERITAGE 980SF 1,111 SF 863 SF 
ADDmON 628SF 226SF 403 SF 

HER~~!1~A9! LLSS 31 SF 

1,608SF 1,337SF 1,235 SF 

INFILL WEST · UNIT 3 369SF 375SF 597SF 
INFILL EAST · UNIT 4 398SF 456SF 472SF 

767SF 831 SF 1,069SF 

2,375SF 2,168 SF 2,304 SF 

(EXCLUDED) 

N.Pl 

E.PL-----1------------------------------------------------,f----E.Pl 
N.Pl 

UPPER LEVEL AREA PLANS · INFILL 

UNIT AREAS EXCLUSIONS 

ABOVE GRADE TOTAL AREA BASEMENT LEVEL MAIN LEVEL UPPER LEVEL TOTAL AREA UNIT TOTAL 
1,974SF 2,954SF UNIT1 WEST 41 SF 683 SF 633 SF 1,357SF 2,123SF BASEMENT 

629SF 1,257SF UNIT 1 LOCK-OFF 766 SF OSF OSF 766SF BIKE STORAGE 
~" 31 SF ~~ 31 SF UNIT2 EAST 41 SF 654 SF 602SF 1,297SF 2,057SF CARPORT 

2,572SF 4,180SF UNIT 2 LOCK-OFF 760 SF OSF OSF 760SF HERITAGE DECK 
UNIT3 WEST 369SF 375SF 597SF 1,341 SF 1,341 SF GREEN MECH. ROOM 

972SF 1,341 SF UNIT4 EAST 398SF 456 SF 472SF 1,326SF 1,326SF WASTE ENCLOSURE 

928SF 1,326SF 2,375SF 2,168SF 2,304 SF 6,847SF 

1,900SF 2,667SF 

I..!:£@ 6,847SF 

PROPOSED FSR {0.64) 

GN 

TOTAL 

2,375SF 
110SF 
750SF 
31 SF 
65SF 
67SF 

3,398SF 

iiii·di 
671bMarkell-lil 

=:sz8;B5 
T604.785.4315 
E lnlo@~.oom 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 

328W 14thST, 
~~~RTH VANCOUVER, 

UPPER LEV EL AREA 
PLANS - INFILL 

~ .. ---------
=~:-

o,n 
12113121 

A20-02A 



I 

.... 

.... 

Drawing List 
L-1.1 Cover and Landscape Materials Pion 
L-1.2 Grading and Drainage Pion 
L-1.3 Planting Pion 
L-2.1 Landscape Sections 
L-3.2 Landscape Details 

5'0" 10'0" 

n 

30'0" 

Scale: 3/16"=1' 
Scale: 3/16"=1' 
Scole:3/16"=1' 
Scole:3/16"=1' 
Scale: 1"=1' 

I 

50'0" 

I 

~ I RetoiringwolMdfe~. T 

D 
~ 
<E9 
~ -D 
D 
~ 

~ 

• 
0 

0 

. 

I 

DECK 
FFE 234.3' 

I I 

PATIO ! 
JW1.o· ~ 

~-t 
BELLOYM 

S2 

PATIO 

m\~,~ 

I 
l u 
l ·-

PATIO 
FFE 226.0 
~ 

~ 1111111 1111 ltH.f 
~ l;Jd,:, {. 

MATERIALS LEGEND 

OFF-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Natural Colour Light 6'oom Finish to City Standards 

ON-SITE. CIP Concrete paving. Notvrol Colovr. Sand Blasl Finish wi th control joints 

INTE~LOCKING PAVING STONES. California & California II. Size12" x 6" x 3-1/8". Colour. Notvrol. Classic Standard 
Serles by Abbotsford Concrete Products. 
Note: Povers used ot the car shore parking oreo must be tolerant of vehicular movement. 

DRAIN STRIP ALONG BUILDING FACE 

HEDGE PLANTING. Privacy screening 

Pt.ANTING 

OFF-SITE/ON-SITE SOD LAWN. Non-netted sand based turf 

IRRIGATION DRAWING KEY 
IRRIGATION STUB OUT. 
SO PSl@SOGf'M -••-

PROPERTY LINE 

----- EXTENT OF EXCAVATION PER ARCHITECTURE 

. 
~ 
~ 

PATIO 

M2Ri 

L/ 

~ I 

PATIO 

F~~ ~2?·~• 

I HB 
i . 

LIGHTING LEGEND --- LINE OF ARCHITECTURAL CANOPY ABOVE PER ARCHITECTURE 

NICHEUGHT. ® ··· 4' HIGH WOOD PRIVACY FENCE 
L-36 BY MP LIGHTING 

® ··· 6' HIGH WOOD PRIVACY FENCE 
BOLLARD LIGHT. 

' 

• 

L-900 BY MP LIGHTING -·-·- EXISTING TREE PROTECTION FENCE PER ARBORIST REPORT AND EXISTING 

WALLLUM!NAIRE. TREE MANAGEMENT PLAN 

L-16MP LIGHTING --- EXISTING TREE CRITICAL ROOT ZONE 

Recessed cemng lighting 

0 EXISTING TREE TO BE RETAINED. 
- See Architectural Note: Any work constrvction work wi!Nn the critical root zone arid tree 

Spotlight protection fence to be supervised by the orborist . Refer lo orborisl 

- See Architectural report ond existing tree management pion for more information. 

I 

I 

..... 
J 1¥ I 

I I 

LANDSCAPE NOTES 
All work shall meet or exceed the requirements as ovlfined in the Cwent Edition of 
the Canadian Landscape Stor'ldord. 

2. Refer to Afc,._tecturol pocl:oge for overall pion. survey information and dimensioned 
site pion. 

3. For hard landscape details a ttached to the bvilding - REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL. 
4. For parking loyovl and number of spaces - REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL. 
5. For hard landscape grading information - REFER TO ARCHITECTURAL. 
6. For drainage information - REFER TO MECHANICAL. 
7. ALL STREET TREES lnstoll 8' x 18" Deep Root Bonier centred on each tree between tree 

pit ond sidewall: (side of tree adjacent to sidewall:). Refer to Specification. 
8. ALL STREET TREES lo be instol~ to City Standards. 
9. Althovgh not always shown. all pion ting areas adjacent to the bvilding face to be 

separated by a min. 8" wide gavel strip, seporoled by o pressure treated wood 
assembly as shown in the details. 

10. Soil depths to meet or exceed the Canadian Landscape Standard, os described in 
Landscape Specifications. 

11. All ground level polios to be provided with o hose bib at each unit. 
12. All invasive pion! material to be removed before the start of construction. This 

includes, bvl is not fimiled to, Japanese Knolweed, Himalayan Blackberry, Scotch 
Broom. Giant cow porsrip, horsetail... etc. All pion! ports, including root systems ore 
to be eradicated sufficientty so to J)fevent any reappeaonce ofter removal. All 
work lo comply with oppficoble enWonmentol lows and local by-lows and any 
material removed is to be disposed of off site. 

IRRIGATION NOTES 
.-rigotion lo be provided for all 'Soft Landscape Afeos' shown on the drawing. All 
irrigation to be to IIABC Stondcrds. 

2. .-rigoled areas to be installed as o design build rrlgotion system from the stub outs 
PfOvided. Provide submillols of design to consultant at least one weel: prior to 
installation and as-built drawing within one month of subslontiol perlormonce. 

3. The irrigation system design and instolotion shol be in accordance with the .-rlgotion 
Industry of BC Slondcrds and Guidelines. 

4. Planters and Pion! pots lo be irrigated with a high efficiency rrlgotion system. 
5. Seporote zone and requi'ed sleeves lo be PfOvided for spray irrigation of the 

boulevard. 
6. All irrigation valve boxes to be equipped with quick covplers. 
7. .-rigotion valve boxes to be integoled into buildng design or base of planter. 

I 

""""" sp0Hight 
-See ARCH 

""'""'' onwosle --See ARCH 

3 Jun()6.2022 b.wedforADPComrnents 
2 FeblS-2021 11.wedforOPR-..bmis:lion 
I Oet0.2021 b.wedforOP 

no.: I dole: I ~em: 

~ I'"""'"""''"· 102 - 1637West5lhA\1<1flll8 

-c VanoouvGrBCV6J1N5 
1: 6046644611 
f: 60468405TT 
-.,:Id.be.a 

Project; 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 W 14th ST, 
NORTH VANCOUVER, 

Orownby; RSS 

Che<:kedby; PK 

3/16"• 1'0" 

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT 
AND MATERIALS PLAN 

ProjectNo,; 

21069 

L-1.1 



Me'WSIJEWAU(IO 
CNVSWSurv&y ,,.,,,, 

[68.<IOm] 

~~ r~-~-:.r 1r°m'1_L_ _ _L_ _ _j_ __ fP11jc:::::::~:::~::_1_,J-,:c=;:~~iL~+-_1_ _ _1 _ _1 _ _j_jJ 
[68.on] 

.,.,,., 
~:~fm] f------,-~--tbl:!-trntt:ltiHi-H--

.,.,,., 
"'"' 

'T .,.,,., 
"'"' [69,13ml 

5'0" 10'0" 

---

30'0 " 

_,a" 
/ 

/ 

I 

I 
I 

I 

50'0" 

.,.,,., 
"'·"' [69,16ml 

•=, 
1~~$~~~~~~•~ ~f9ml 

.,.,,., 
"'·"' [69.7-4m l 

""""" 
+-~¥.!!i'!--J-_G- Lj.j_--U ~~&y:CH 

jj='if=rr"""-..,,,L__IT _ _j_'c==~77±c.=~ r=l=-=~=c~l-~~cj_+-i 169
.8Crn l 

• 

3 Jun()(,.2022 b.wedforADPComrnents 
2 FeblS-2021 11.wedforOPR-..bmis:lion 
I Oet0.2021 11.wedforOP 

no.: I dole: I ~em: 

~ 102 - 1637West5lhA\1<1flll8 
11o....,111 I , . .,., .... , .. 

-c VanoouverBCV6J1N5 
1: 6046644611 
f: 60466405TT 
-.,:Id.be.a 

Project: 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 W 14th ST, 
NORTH VANCOUVER, 

Drown by; RSS 

Cheeked by: Pt::: 

3/16"• 1'0" 

GRADING AND DRAINAGE 
PLAN 

ProjectNo.; 

21069 

L-1.1 



PLANTING LIST 
JRll!E$ 

SYMIOL QTY 

0 
0 

BotonlcolName 

Mognor10 Stellato 

Ace<potmotvm 

Common Nome 

stormognolio 

Japanese maple 

Size/ Comments 

Scmf2")Cot 

Scmf2")Co1. 

SH RUIS / PUll!NNIALS / GRA$$1!$ / GROIJNDCOVl!:RS 

SYMIOL QTY 

A 36 
Pm SI 
1 225 

' 8 
RO 12 
p 114 

5'0" 10'0" 

BotanlcolName 

Azalea 'Gumpo White' 
Polystichum mvnitvm 
Tovxvs media 'Hillii' 
Rhododendron 'Blve Diamond' 
Rhododendron 'P\Kple Lace' 
Pachysandra terminoris 

Common Nome She/ Comments 

Gumpo White moleo #2 Pol. 24" O.C. 
westemswordfem #2Pol.18"0.C. 
Hill's yew 4' HI. RB to RB 
Blve Diamond rhododendron #3 Pol. 24" O.C. 
Purple Loce rhododendron #3 Pol. 36" O.C. 
Joponesespurge #1 Pol.24"0.C. 

30'0" 50'0" 

ACER PALMATUM ACER PALMATUM FAlL COlOR 

""""" sp0Hight 
-See ARCH 

3 Jun()6.2022 b.wedforADPComrnents 
2 FeblS-2021 11.wedforOPR-..bmis:lion 
I Oet0.2021 b.wedforOP 

no.: I dole: I ~em: 

~ I'"""'"""'"· 102 - 1637West5lhA\1<1flll8 

-c VanoouvGrBCV6J1N5 
1: 6046644611 
f: 60468405TT 
-.,:Id.be.a 

Project; 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 W 14th ST, 
NORTH VANCOUVER, 

Orownby; RSS 

Che<:kedby: Pt::: 

SCole: 3/16"• 1'0" 

Or(JWW'lg fllie: 

LANDSCAPE LAYOUT 
AND MATERIALS PLAN 

ProjectNo,; 

21069 

L-1.1 



L-1 .1 

L-1 ,1 

' ' 
I l'roP9ffY Une 

SECTION THROUGH ONSITE PATHWAY AND PRIVATE PATIOS AT UNIT 1 AND 2 

SCALE = 1:64(3/16''=1'0'') 

' I 
I l'roP9ffY' Une 

"' "''T 

UNrT1 

LOCK Off 

SECTION THROUGH EXISTING OFFSITE STREETSCAPE AT W14TH AVE AND FRONT PATIO LANDSCAPE 

SCALE = 1:64(3/16''=1'0'') 

SECTION THROUGH STREET SCAPE AT W14TH AVE 

SCALE = 1:64(3/16''=1'0'') 

' ' 
I l'roP9ff}' Une 

' ' 
l'roP9ff}' Une I 

L-1.1 

SECTION THROUGH ONSITE PATHWAY AND PLANTING AT UNIT 1 

SCALE = 1:64(3/16''=1'0'') 

SECTION THROUGH PRIVATE PATIOS AT UNIT 2 AND 4 

SCALE= l:64(3/16"=1'0'') 

3 Jun()6.2022 b.wedforADPComrnents 
2 FeblS-2021 11.wedforOPR-..bmis:lion 
I Oet0.2021 b.wedforOP 

no.: I dole: I ~em: 

~ I'"""'"""'"· 102 - 1637West5lhA\1<1flll8 
VanoouvGrBCV6J 1N5 

...,.. 1: 6046844611 
.., f: 60466405TT 

-.,:Id.be.a 

Project; 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 W 14th ST, 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 

Orownby; RSS 

Che<:kedby: Pt::: 

3/16"• 1'0" 

LANDSCAPE SECTIONS 

ProjectNo,; 

21069 

L-2.1 



L-1 ,1 

""'""_ ... __ __ ,.,,._,._ .... 

1fr::l-~=
~~--~ 

_,,,_..,..,.,_ .. __,,. II - -

,_., ____ """""""_ . .._., .. _........., _______ _ . ..,._,..,..,..,._,... ___ ,,, __ 
:--__ -:-·::...-=-";..-~"'=i'~ ~-=-----
:=-"--==-=-::.:-=_;,;,-s-1:EE=-=~:;::::= 

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER STANDARD DETAILS 

SCALE = 1:12(1"= 1'0'') 

CIP Concrete slob with 
25mm (l ") deep sowcul control joints {CJ) and 
Sloinless steel eiq)Onsion joints (EJ) on 
Mirimum 102mm (4") Compacted Bose Moteriol on 
FiterClothon 
Compacted Subgrade lo 85'J. MPO moximum 

CIP CONCRETE - ON GRADE (PEDESTRIAN AREAS ONLY) 

SCALE = 1:12(1"= 1'0'') 

19mm (3/4") dear crush (droin rocl:) 

102mm (4") o l 25-51 mm (1 "-Z') 0 Decorative River 
Rock 

DRAIN STil:IP AT BUILDING FACE 

SCALE = 1:12(1"= 1'0'') 

@ 

L-1 ,1 

@ 

General Notes: 
1. Do not cvt Tree Leader. 
2. Protect tree from domoge during planting. Ensure roolboll protected from Sun. ffost or Desiccation. 
3. EnSVJe tree loco l ion does not conflict with Underground Services. "Coll before digging''. 

Typical Tree Stal:e. ---~ ~----- 25mm (l") wide Transmission Type Fobrlc Belling in "Figure 8'' pattern. Attach lo stol:e with 
Refer to Nole 4 
obove 

Finished Grode at 
he 

Screened Growing 
Medium 

shingle nails typ, NOTE: Bell placed at height no greater !hon that which will support tree. 

Roolboll 

150mm (6") Topsoil Saucer. Refer to Specificol ions. 

NOTE: Ensure lop o f rootba11 is ot or slightly obove Finished Grode.Remove lop 1 /3 of 
bvr1op from roo lboll and twine from base of l rvnl:, fond/or wire bask.el i ifting loops" ond 
top row of bosl:el ). Remove ony soil on top of "original'' rootboll. 

Scarify tree pit sides ond bottom. Do not "compacr, 

Vcries with depth of Roolboll ~--- Bollom of pit. Compact subgrode under rootboll or,ty to prevent settlement - min, 95% S,P.D. 

TYPICAL Tll:EE PLANTING 

SCALE =l:12(1 " = l'O''J 

Poverson 
Minimum 25mm (1 ") Sond laying bed on 
Filter Cloth on 
Minimum 76mm (3'') Bird's Eye Grovel on 
ARCHITECTURAL BUILDUP 

PAVER ON GRADE (PEDESTil:IAN AREAS ONLY) 

SCALE =l:12(1 " = l'O''J 

NOT!!:: Sod other than !hot with a sond base and/or with mesh 
will be re jected, ond the Specified sod re - ins l olled ot 
contractor's expense. 

Sond Bosed Sod on 
254mm (10'') Type II Growing Medium. 

Scorified and graded svb-gode 

Slope to Drain -------,. 

SOD LAWN ON GRADE 

SCALE =l:12(1 " = l'O''J 

L-1 .1 

102mm {4") Thiel: o f 12mm (1/Z') rounded droin rocl: on 
150mm crushed grovel 19mm (3/4") minvs on 
on compocted svbgrode 

GRAVEL PAVING ON GRADE 

SCALE =l:12(1 " = l'O'l 

51mmx152mm{2"x6") 
pressure trea ted on edge 

51mm (Z') Wei Composted Mulch on 
Minimum 457mm {18'') Type Ill Growing 
Medium on 
Compacted Subgrode to 85% MPO 
maximum 

SHRUB PLANTING - ON GRADE 

SCALE =l:12(1 " = l'O'l 

3 Jun 06-2022 b.wed forADPComrnents 
2 FeblS-2021 1!.wed forOPR-..bmis:lion 
I Oet 0.2021 1!.wed forOP 

no.: I dole: I ~em: 

~ I'"""'"""'"· 102 - 1637West5lhA\1<1flll8 
VanoouverBCV6J 1N5 

...,.. 1: 6046844611 
.., f: 60468405TT 

-.,:Id.be.a 

Project: 

KNOWLES RESIDENCE 
328 W 14th ST, 
CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 

Drown by; RSS 

Cheeked by: Pt::: 

LANDSCAPE DETAIL 

ProjectNo,; 

21069 

L-3,1 



101-1305 Welch St.   |   North Vancouver, B.C., V7P 1B3   |   778-340-1355  |   info@upwardconstruction.ca

Public Consultation Summary - 328 W 14th St 

The purpose of this Public Consultation Summary is to outline for the opportunities for public input, 

detail the public interest received and provide a brief overview of the DIS (Developer Information 

Session) held on Thursday, March 10th, 2022, for the proposed development at 328 W 14th St, 

North Vancouver.  

Public Notifications 

The following public notification requirements were fulfilled in alignment with city requirements as 

follows:  

• Signage- Leah Karlberg, City Planner provided a pdf for the site signage; Upward

Construction printed the 4’x3’ sign and placed it on the subject property 10 days prior to the

DIS. Photos of the sign were sent to Leah Karlberg.

• Mail-Outs - City approved mail-outs were hand delivered to properties within a 40-meter

radius on February 25th, 2022, thus fulfilling the 10-day notification requirement. Leah

Karlberg, City Planner was notified when this was complete.

• Newspaper Ads - The news ads were published on March 2nd, 2022, and March 9th,2022

respectively in the North Shore News. Copies of the ads and screenshots were provided to

Leah Karlberg, City Planner.

Public Engagement – Interest Received 

Despite the above opportunities for public input, none of our team members received any inquiries 

or interest through any of the available channel's (I.e phone, email or web forms) 

DIS Overview 

The DIS was held via Zoom on March 10th, 2022, at 7 pm. There were zero participants and a total 
of five attendees on behalf of the applicant team and City: Kevin Leskiw, Owner of Upward

Construction and owners representative, Scott Mitchel, Principal of Metric Architecture, Leah 

Karlberg, City Planner, Brandon Todd, Modeler from Metric Architecture and Carla Mugleston from 

Upward Construction. As mentioned above, we had no registrations or inquiries about the 

proposed development or the DIS. All attendees waited 15 minutes on the Zoom call ready to 

answer questions and to ensure that there were no day-of registrations.  

mailto:info@upwardconstruction.ca
thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



Cummer Heritage Consulting 

Written by Katie Cummer, PhD CAHP – Cummer Heritage Consulting (CHC) 

1 

Heritage Conservation Plan 
Knowles Residence, 328 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 
October 1, 2021 

Fig. 1: Front view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC, 2020. (Source: Spotzl)

Attachment 4



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

2 

Contents 
1.0 Introduction ......................................................................................................................................... 3 
2.0 Historic Context .................................................................................................................................... 4 
3.0 Statement of Significance .................................................................................................................... 7 

3.1 Description of Historic Place ............................................................................................................. 7 

3.2 Heritage Value of Historic Place ........................................................................................................ 7 

3.3 Character-Defining Elements ............................................................................................................ 7 

4.0 Research Findings ................................................................................................................................. 8 
5.0 Archival Photographs ......................................................................................................................... 11 
6.0 Current Photographs .......................................................................................................................... 12 
7.0 Conservation Objectives .................................................................................................................... 13 
8.0 Building Description ........................................................................................................................... 14 
9.0 Condition Assessment ........................................................................................................................ 14 

9.1 Structure and Foundations ............................................................................................................. 14 

9.2 Wood Elements ............................................................................................................................... 14 

9.3 Roofing and Waterworks ................................................................................................................ 15 

9.4 Chimney .......................................................................................................................................... 15 

9.5 Windows and Doors ........................................................................................................................ 16 

9.6 Cladding and Trimwork ................................................................................................................... 17 

9.7 Finishes ........................................................................................................................................... 17 

9.8 Landscaping .................................................................................................................................... 17 

10.0 Recommended Conservation Procedures........................................................................................ 18 
10.1 Structure and Foundations – Preservation and Rehabilitation .................................................... 18 

10.2 Wood Elements – Preservation and Restoration ......................................................................... 18 

10.3 Roofing and Waterworks – Rehabilitation.................................................................................... 18 

10.4 Chimney – Preservation and Restored ......................................................................................... 18 

10.5 Windows and Doors – Preservation and Restoration .................................................................. 18 

10.6 Cladding and Trimwork – Preservation and Restoration .............................................................. 19 

10.7 Finishes – Preservation ................................................................................................................. 20 

10.8 Landscaping .................................................................................................................................. 20 

11.0 Proposed Alterations and Future Changes ...................................................................................... 20 
11.1 Proposed Alterations .................................................................................................................... 20 

11.2 Future Changes ............................................................................................................................. 22 

12.0 Maintenance Plan ............................................................................................................................ 22 
12.1 Maintenance Checklist .................................................................................................................. 22 

13.0 References ........................................................................................................................................ 24 
 
  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

3 

1.0 Introduction 
 
The subject house, Knowles Residence, is a two-storey wood-frame construction with concrete 
foundation located at 328 W 14th Street in North Vancouver (Fig. 2). It is located in the Central Lonsdale 
neighbourhood of the City of North Vancouver.  
 

 
Fig. 2: Map of the area surrounding 328 W 14th Street, outlined in red. (Source: City of North Vancouver Map Viewer, 
CityMAP) 
 

 
Fig. 3: Aerial view of 328 W 14th Street, outlined in red. (Source: Google, 2021)  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

4 

2.0 Historic Context 
 
Although situated on the land of the Tsleil-Waututh, Squamish and Musqueam First Nations, the colonial 
history of the City of North Vancouver dates back to 1862 when contractors came to build a sawmill (Davis 
1997, p. 124). The broader area was incorporated in 1891 as the District of North Vancouver and the City 
of North Vancouver (previously labelled a townsite) decided to incorporate in 1907 (Blair 1997, p. 122). 
“When the 1,012-hectare North Vancouver City was carved out of the surrounding district, it had almost 
2,000 residents and possessed 53 businesses, a bank, two hotels and a school…By 1910 there were 5,000 
residents, a board of trade, a high school – and land prices had soared” (Ibid.). The captioned house at 
328 W 14th Street is part of this very early development of the City of North Vancouver. As was typical at 
the time, the area was developed in a grid pattern overlooking the Burrard Inlet (Figs. 4a and 4b). The 
development and growth of this area is discernible in comparing an 1890s map of the area to a 1930s Fire 
Insurance Plan (Fig. 5).  
 

 

 
Figs. 4a and 4b: Fig. 4a (above) shows the wider context of the “Plan of the Townsite of North Vancouver,” from the 
1890s. In Fig. 4a (above), the immediate neighbourhood of 328 W 14th Street is outlined in red, shown in detail in 
Fig. 4b (below), where its lot (19) is outlined in bolded red. (Source: City of Vancouver Archives, AM1594-MAP 621) 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

5 

 
Fig. 5: Detail view of a Fire Insurance Plan of North Vancouver from 1930, showing the immediate neighbourhood of 
328 W 14th Street, the lot of which is outlined in red. (Source: MONOVA MP 123 – Sheet 2025) 
 
The house at 328 W 14th Street has been an eye-catching fixture of the neighbourhood since its 
development in 1909. It was first recognized in 1995 as having heritage significance and added to the City 
of North Vancouver’s Heritage Register, being photographed and described as follows (Fig. 6). It was also 
illustrated and celebrated in an early 1990s newspaper article outlining its various unique features (Fig. 
7). These elements have persisted and directly influence the site’s Statement of Significance, outlined in 
the following section (Section 3.0).  
 

 
Fig. 6: Heritage inventory photograph and description of 328 W 14th Street. (Source: City of North Vancouver 2013, 
p. 111) 
 
 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

6 

 
Fig. 7: Newspaper article by Dorothy Foster on 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver. Although the article is undated 
in the archives, it is likely from the early 1990s, as the author (Dorothy Foster) was active with the North Shore 
Newspaper from 1991 to 1994. (Source: North Shore News, n.d.) 
 
For ease of reading, the relevant excerpts of the above newspaper are transcribed here:  
 

This home is unusual for its style of architecture and the date in which it was built. 
Other homes at that time in the area were being built in the Edwardian builder style, 

in the Craftsman style, or in a combination of both.  
This home is very different. It is a combination of elements of a picturesque European 

manor house and the Craftsman design.  
The house has a bellcast pyramidal roof on the tower, and perched on top of the 

tower is an eye-catching weather vane.  
Borrowed from the Craftsman style are the exposed purlin ends, and the set round 

arched entry.  
Other design elements of note are the half-timbering on the gable ends and on the 

tower, and the decorative lead treatment of the windows.  
(Foster n.d.) 

  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

7 

3.0 Statement of Significance 
 
The following is the Statement of Significance of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, as 
articulated when it was formally recognized on the Canadian Register of Historic Places, based on the 
Heritage Planning Files of the City of North Vancouver (Canada’s Historic Places, 2005).  
 
3.1 Description of Historic Place 
 
The Knowles Residence is a two-storey plus basement wood-frame residence that combines picturesque 
European manor house elements with an Arts and Crafts influence. Its distinctive features include a tall 
corner tower with a bellcast hip roof.  
 
3.2 Heritage Value of Historic Place 
 
Built in 1909, this house is valued for its unique architecture. Designed with strong influences from the 
Arts and Crafts style, its massing and unusual detailing distinguish it from other Arts and Crafts houses 
built in North Vancouver before World War 1. The massive corner turret creates a distinct picturesque 
quality, and its unique style and imposing silhouette contribute to its prominence in the neighbourhood. 
William Knowles, a contractor, was the first owner and resident. A recent emigrant from England, Knowles 
(1879-1947) lived only briefly in this house but remained in North Vancouver, working as a carpenter and 
builder until his death. 
 
The house reflects the desire for grand and personalized homes of the people moving into North 
Vancouver prior to the First World War. This was a time of faith in continued prosperity, based on 
speculative growth, and the scale of house construction reflected this sense of unlimited optimism. The 
boom period was short-lived, and housing after the end of World War One was often built at a much 
smaller scale, demonstrating the strictures of the postwar economy and resultant social changes such as 
the move away from domestic servants. One of the earliest houses in this neighbourhood, the Knowles 
Residence is also one of the largest. 
 
3.3 Character-Defining Elements 
 
Key elements that define the heritage character of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street include 
its: 
 

• Irregular picturesque form, massive scale and asymmetrical massing. 
• Elements of the Arts and Crafts style including picturesque massing and the use of natural 

materials. 
• Front gable roof with open eaves and exposed purlins. 
• Front corner tower with bellcast pyramidal roof. 
• Inset round arched entry with arched inset balcony* above. 
• Variety of cladding including cedar shingles, half-timbering in gable ends and on tower, and lapped 

wooden siding at foundation level. 
• Double-hung wooden-sash windows; multiple-assembly casement windows in tower with 

decorative leading. 
 
*CHC Note: Please note that, since the time this Statement of Significance was written in 2005, the “arched 
inset balcony” has been closed in, however, as part of the proposed work on the building, this character-
defining element (CDE) will be restored. 
  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

8 

4.0 Research Findings 
 
Neighbourhood: Central Lonsdale  
Address & Postal Code: 328 W 14th Street, V7M 1P6 
Parcel Roll Number & PID: 047020.000 & 014-493-004 
Legal Description: Lot 19; Block 47; DL 271; Plan 1658 
Zoning: RS-1 
Builder: William Knowles  
Date of completion: 1909 
 
The following tables are a consolidated summary of the residents of 328 W 14th Street in North 
Vancouver, as determined from the available city directories, as well as a list of the construction dates of 
the surrounding properties, illustrating the range of ages to this section of the street (visualized in Fig. 8 
and with a comparative aerial view in Fig. 9. 
 
Table 1: Consolidated list of the known occupants of 328 W 14th Street from the available city directories (Source: 
Vancouver Public Library, 1909 to 1955) 

Year(s) Name(s) Occupation (if listed) 
1910 Knowles, William Carpenter 

1911 to 1924 Data not available 
1925 David M. Moore Principal, Capilano School 
1930 Vacant 

1935, 1940 Allan Wheeler (Jessie T.) Warehouseman, Home Oil 
1945 Eric H. Church (Marion L.) booman, Horne Brothers 
1950 Henry F. Redmile (Lily) 

Frederick H. Redmile (Emma E) 
Baker, Old Country Bakery 

Retired 
1955 Mrs. Betty J. Boak  

Thomas V. Dixon 
Teller, Canadian Bank of Canada;  

Driver, Palm Dairies 
 
Table 2: Consolidated list of the construction dates for the properties surrounding 328 W 14th Street, North 
Vancouver, BC. (Source: BC Assessment) 

Address Year Built Configuration 
1413 Mahon Ave. 2016 4 Bedrooms, 5 Baths 
1417 Mahon Ave. 2016 4 Bedrooms, 5 Baths 

1425, 1427 Mahon Ave. (Duplex) 1997 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 
3 Baths 

1431, 1433 Mahon Ave. (Duplex) 1980 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 
3 Baths 

1445, 1447 Mahon Ave. (Duplex) 2004 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 
3 Baths 

1453 Mahon Ave. 1950 4 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
303 14th St. W; 1349-1, 1349-2 

Mahon Ave. 
2002 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths 
307, 309 14th St. W (Duplex) 2000 5 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 5 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths 
308 14th St. W; 1405 Mahon Ave. 

(Duplex) 
2000 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths 
310, 312 14th St. W (Duplex) 2009 3 Bedrooms, 4 Baths 

311 14th St. W 1910 4 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
319, 321, 323 14th St. W 

(Townhouse) 
2018 4 Bedrooms, 4 Baths; 4 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths; 4 Bedrooms, 4 Baths 
322 14th St. W 1953 2 Bedrooms, 1 Bath 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

9 

Address Year Built Configuration 
327 14th St. W 1952 6 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
328 14th St. W 1909 5 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 

330 14th St. W (Townhouse, 1 – 3) 2015 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 4 Bedrooms, 
4 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 4 Baths 

331, 333, 335 14th St. W 
(Townhouse) 

2006 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 
3 Baths; 2 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 

332 14th St. W 1970 6 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
339, 341, 343  14th St. W 

(Townhouse) 
2005 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths 
340 – 342 14th St. W (Duplex) 2001 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 4 Bedrooms, 

3 Baths 
345 14th St. W 1953 2 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 

346 – 348 14th St. W (Duplex) 1994 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths; 3 Bedrooms, 
3 Baths 

352 14th St. W 1946 5 Bedrooms, unknown baths 
351 14th St. W 1927 3 Bedrooms, 1 Bath 
357 14th St. W 1913 4 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
358 14th St. W 1940 6 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 

362 14th St. W (Duplex, 1 - 2) 1994 5 Bedrooms, 4 Baths; 5 Bedrooms, 
4 Baths 

317 15th St. W 1923 3 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
323 15th St. W 1948 4 Bedrooms, 2 Baths 
327 15th St. W 2014 7 Bedrooms, 6 Baths 
333 15th St. W 2008 6 Bedrooms, 6 Baths 
337 15th St. W 1910 3 Bedrooms, 1 Bath 
343 15th St. W 2002 4 Bedrooms, 5 Baths 
349 15th St. W 1949 3 Bedrooms, 3 Baths 
353 15th St. W 2017 7 Bedrooms, 6 Baths 
359 15th St. W 2013 5 Bedrooms, 5 Baths 

1415 Jones Ave 1907 4 Bedrooms, 3 Baths 
 
In summary, there are 37 residential structures along this section of 14th and 15th Streets West, between 
Mahon Ave and Jones Avenue. As a point of reference for understanding the surrounding neighbourhood 
and streetscape, their time periods breakdown as follows:  
 

 
 

1900s
5% 1910s

8%
1920s

5%

1940s
11%

1950s
11%

1970s
3%1980s

3%
1990s

8%

2000s
27%

2010s
19%

Current Domestic Structures by Decade 
of Construction

Decade Houses 
1900s 2 
1910s 3 
1920s 2 
1930s 0 
1940s 4 
1950s 4 
1960s 0 
1970s 1 
1980s 1 
1990s 3 
2000s 10 
2010s 7 
2020s 0 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

10 

 

 
Fig. 8: Map of the area surrounding 328 W 14th Street in North Vancouver, outlined in red, with the construction 
years listed for the buildings in the immediate vicinity of the study site. Note the range of years. (Source: BC 
Assessment) 
 

 
Fig. 9: Map of the area surrounding 328 W 14th Street West in North Vancouver, outlined in red. (Source: Google 
Maps) 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

11 

5.0 Archival Photographs 
 
Unfortunately, no historical photographs of the property were available beyond the drawing from the 
early 1990s newspaper article (Fig. 7 above) and an undated archival photograph (Fig. 10). Without 
additional archival images it is difficult to know changes to the property over time. 
 

 
Fig. 10: Undated archival image of 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC. (Source: MONOVA) 
  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

12 

6.0 Current Photographs 
 

 
Fig. 11: Southwest corner view of the front of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021. (Source: Leskiw) 
 

 
Fig. 12: Back view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021. (Source: Leskiw) 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

13 

7.0 Conservation Objectives 
 
The Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street will be preserved, with heritage bonus areas granted and 
distributed over a stratified extension to the back of the house as well as an added infill laneway house, 
to help increase the density on the lot and provide additional housing to the neighbourhood. The interior 
has undergone various changes and renovations over the years and does not appear to be of great 
heritage significance. The interior elements, therefore, do not require conservation.  
 
The proposed changes do not affect the heritage values nor the character-defining elements of this 
historic place. If anything, in fact, the proposed increased density connects to the house’s historical legacy 
of being “one of the largest” houses on the street (Canada’s Historic Places) and “of providing the 
appearance of a grand manor house. The scale of the residence reflects the desire for grand homes of the 
people moving into North Vancouver prior to World War One, when the local housing market was 
booming” (City of North Vancouver 2013, p. 111). Over 100 years later, there is a different booming 
housing market and an increased need for more available housing, which is attainable, adaptive, family- 
and ground-oriented. As outlined in the City’s Housing Action Plan, this is “to ensure there are diverse and 
appropriate housing options for current and future residents of all ages, incomes, and abilities” (City of 
North Vancouver 2016, p. 6). The proposed redevelopment of this site helps to provide such additional 
needed housing, while protecting the heritage asset; adding a new layer to the history and story of this 
heritage place. 
 
Preservation, Restoration and Rehabilitation are the conservation objectives for the building. As defined 
by the Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada (2nd edition):  
 

Preservation: The action or process of protecting, maintaining and/or stabilizing the existing 
materials, form and integrity of an historic place or of an individual component, while protecting 
its heritage value. 
 
Restoration: The action or process of accurately revealing, recovering or representing the state of a 
historic place or of an individual component, as it appeared at a particular period in its history, 
while protecting its heritage value. 
 
Rehabilitation: The action or process of making possible a continuing or compatible contemporary 
use of an historic place or of an individual component, through repair, alterations, and/or additions, 
while protecting its heritage value. 

(Canada’s Historic Places 2010, p. 255) 
 
The conservation of the Knowles Residence is focused on the preservation of the heritage house exterior, 
including its various character-defining elements; restoration of its front arched balcony and other wood 
elements, as needed; and rehabilitation of the foundation, roof and front staircase. The following table 
summarizes the specific elements of the Knowles Residence to be preserved, restored and rehabilitated.  
 
Table 3: List of the Knowles Residence elements that are to be preserved, restored and rehabilitated. 

Preserved Restored Rehabilitated 
Overall structure, including its 

irregular picturesque form, scale 
and massing, along with its arts 
and crafts detailing, including its 

inset round arched entry way 

Arched inset balcony (above 
the front entry) 

New foundation in a new 
location on the lot, with a new, 

more grand front staircase 

Front corner tower with bellcast 
pyramidal roof 

Masonry chimney elements, as 
needed (following the house 

relocation) 
 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

14 

Table 3 (continued). 
Preserved Restored Rehabilitated 

Rooflines, including its front gable 
roof with open eaves and exposed 

purlins 

Fascia boards and soffits, as 
needed New roof 

All double-hung wooden-sash 
windows; multiple-assembly 

casement windows in tower with 
decorative leading 

Wood window elements, such 
as trims and sills, as needed 

New replica wood windows, if 
and as needed 

Variety of cladding including cedar 
shingles, half-timbering in gable 
ends and on tower, and lapped 

wooden siding at foundation level 

  

 
8.0 Building Description 
 
The Knowles Residence is a two-storey plus basement wood-frame residence that combines picturesque 
European manor house elements with an Arts and Crafts influence, as well as with elements from the 
Queen Anne Revival style (particularly its asymmetry and corner tower) and the Tudor Revival style (with 
its half-timbering in his front gable and leaded diamond-patterned windows). Its distinctive features 
include a tall corner tower with a bellcast hip roof. It has a mix of horizontal wood siding on the house, 
particularly along the lower levels with cedar shingles on most of the front of the house and areas of the 
sides and back gable. It also has two dormers in the middle of its roof, with one on each side of the house. 
The house is a prominent landmark along W 14th Street, between Mahon Avenue and Jones Avenue in 
the Central Lonsdale neighbourhood. It is one of the few early 20th century houses remaining in the 
neighbourhood. 
 
9.0 Condition Assessment 
 
The exterior of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street appears to be in good condition, overall, 
based on the available exterior photographs. As outlined below there are a few areas in need of attention.  
 
9.1 Structure and Foundations 
 
Overall, the condition of the walls and building envelope of the residence, appears to be good and having 
aged well. However, sections of the foundation appear to be in poor condition. In particular, at the front, 
“the house has settled 3 to 6 inches in the front room and entry area” (Leskiw personal correspondence, 
2021). This issue will be resolved when the house is moved and put on a new foundation and lower-level 
walls.  
 
9.2 Wood Elements 
 
The visible, exterior wood elements, such as the doors, door frames, roof fascia and windows are, for the 
most part, in good condition. Any signs of deterioration are largely cosmetic, as illustrated and discussed 
further in the relevant sections below. Please note an internal inspection was not conducted to inspect 
the internal timber elements.   



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

15 

9.3 Roofing and Waterworks 
 
The roof is in fair to poor condition and in need of replacement. It appears to be a decades-old roof, with 
signs of deterioration and shingles missing in places (Fig. 13). It is difficult to determine the condition of 
the waterworks system from photographs, however, it is recommended that these be cleaned and 
replaced, as needed, when the roof is being redone. Going forward, they should be checked regularly to 
ensure their continued efficient functioning. 
 

 
Fig. 13: Front view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021. Note the missing shingles and signs of 
deterioration, pinpointed with red arrows. (Source: Leskiw) 
 
9.4 Chimney 
 
There is a chimney on the house, with intact chimney caps, that it is in fair condition (Fig. 14). It is worth 
noting that there are some signs of deterioration (loss of mortar) and possible efflorescence (white 
deposits). This should be checked by a chimney sweep, prior to relocation.  
 

 
Fig. 14: Close up view of the Knowles Residence chimney, from the back of the property. (Source: Leskiw) 
 
  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

16 

9.5 Windows and Doors 
 
Most of the windows on the house are original and in largely good condition, considering the age of the 
building (Fig. 15). The six windows visible below, on either side of the tower and along the western side 
of the house are all original, featuring leaded diamond patterned panes in the upper lites of the windows. 
There is one upper-level window whose trim appears to be in need of maintenance, pinpointed below. 
The window in the arched trim above the arched entryway is a later addition, which is why it is a different 
and simpler window design. There is a range of window sizes and styles on the back of the house (Fig. 16), 
possibly suggesting a range of time periods. The condition of these windows is, for the most part, good.  
 

 
Fig. 15: Southwest corner view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021, illustrating the largely good 
condition of its original windows, with leaded diamond patterned panes in the upper lites of the windows. (Source: 
Leskiw) 
 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

17 

 
Fig. 16: Back view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021, illustrating the range of sizes and styles of 
windows, which are largely in good condition. (Source: Leskiw) 
 
The front door of the property is not visible in the available photographs.  
 
9.6 Cladding and Trimwork 
 
There is a mix of horizontal wood siding on the house, particularly the lower levels of the house with cedar 
shingles on most of the front of the house and areas of the sides and back gable. These are, for the most 
part, in good condition with some areas in need of cleaning, particularly at the back (see Fig. 16 above). 
As for the trimwork, as mentioned above, there is one trim at the front requiring attention (visible in Fig. 
15 above), however, the remaining appears to be in good condition throughout, at least as discernible 
from the available photographs.   
 
9.7 Finishes 
 
The finishes of the house are in good condition, overall, with just minor touch-ups required in places.  
 
9.8 Landscaping 
 
The landscaping on site is good, overall, although there are some areas where the landscaping is growing 
possibly too near to the structure. This is an issue that will be addressed when the house is moved.   
 
Despite these minor issues and concerns stated above, the overall condition of the property is good.  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

18 

 
10.0 Recommended Conservation Procedures 
 
10.1 Structure and Foundations – Preservation and Rehabilitation 
 

• The main one and a half storey structure will be preserved.  
• The foundation will be rehabilitated with a new foundation laid when the house is moved. 

 
10.2 Wood Elements – Preservation and Restoration 
 

• As addressed in greater detail in the relevant sections below, the wood elements will be 
preserved, as much as possible and restored, as needed. 

 
10.3 Roofing and Waterworks – Rehabilitation 
 

• The roofing and waterworks should be rehabilitated, with a new roof and cleaned/replaced 
waterworks, as needed. 

• Once a new roof is installed, it should be regularly monitored and maintained to ensure and 
extend its ongoing good condition.  

 
10.4 Chimney – Preservation and Restored 
 

• The chimney should be preserved, and restored, if needed. Prior to relocation, the chimney 
should be checked by a chimney sweep. 

• It may not survive the relocation process. If that is the case, it should be dismantled to the roofline, 
the bricks should be cleaned and then re-used to rebuild the chimney with its original bricks, as 
much as possible. 

• Following relocation (and rebuilding, if needed), the chimney should be regularly monitored and 
repointed by certified professionals, as needed, to avoid it needing to be rebuilt again. 
 

10.5 Windows and Doors – Preservation and Restoration 
 

• The arched front entryway should be preserved. 
• All remaining original wood windows should be preserved and restored, as needed. 
• With some of the proposed changes to the building (such as the back extension), the current 

placement of the windows are impacted. These windows will be installed elsewhere on the 
building (as opposed to installing new windows throughout). This allows for these original 
elements to be repurposed and preserved on their original building (as opposed to being 
salvaged/recycled for another project/building or, worse, ending up in a landfill). The following 
figures outline the proposed location and placement of the repurposed and preserved windows 
(Figs. 17a and 17b). 

• If there are concerns with regards to the performance of the original windows, an immediate 
measure to allow for better protection of them (while address heating and sound issues), is to 
install exterior wood storm windows on them. This would be the best conservation approach for 
their long-term preservation, if so desired, however, this is not a requirement. 

• If this route is taken, the proposed storm windows should be traditional wood storm windows: 
Single pane, single light and of similar sash dimension to the window sash itself, to minimise the 
visual impact on the building and to allow the windows to continue to be visible on the exterior. 
They should be painted the same colour as the current.  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

19 

• This is a reversible measure that would immediately benefit the building, providing greater 
protection to the house and improving its performance in relation to temperature control, energy 
efficiency and also from a noise perspective.  

 

 

 
Figs. 17a and 17b: Top (Fig. 17a) shows the western side view of the Knowles Residence at 328 W 14th Street, 2021, 
and the bottom (Fig. 17b) shows the eastern side view. Note that the brown windows with the thicker casings are 
the heritage windows that will be preserved either in-situ (as is the case with those illustrated in 17a), or with those 
repurposed from the back elevation to along the eastern side (as is the case with some of the windows illustrated in 
17b). Any new windows introduced on the building are distinguishable as new, but are compatible in design being 
the inverse of the heritage windows. (Source: METRIC Architecture) 
 
10.6 Cladding and Trimwork – Preservation and Restoration 
 

• The horizontal wood siding and cedar shingles should be preserved.  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

20 

• The trims should be preserved and restored, as needed. 
 
10.7 Finishes – Preservation  
 

• Although the house is described as having Arts and Crafts features, it does also have elements of 
the Queen Anne Revival style (its asymmetry and turret in particular) and the Tudor Revival style 
as well (particularly with its half-timbering and leaded diamond-patterned windows). The current 
finish is in keeping with Tudor Revival colouring, with “earth tone body with dark trim & dark 
sash” (Halfnight and Luxton 2001, p. 4).  

• The current finish and colour scheme will be preserved, with touching up in the areas requiring 
attention. 

• If a full repainting is desired, for any re-painting, follow Master’s Painters’ Institute, Repainting 
Manual procedures, including removing loose paint down to next sound layer, clean surface with 
mild TSP solution with gentlest means possible and rinse with clean water; do not use power-
washing.  

 
10.8 Landscaping 
 

• Any additional landscaping being put in should have a minimum 2-ft clearance between the 
vegetation and the building face. This is preferable to ensure there is sufficient space from the 
structure and to remove any threat to the foundation or the building’s finishes over time. 

 
11.0 Proposed Alterations and Future Changes 
 
11.1 Proposed Alterations 
 
The major proposed alterations to the property are as follows and illustrated in Figs. 18 to 20 below: 
 

1) Moving the heritage house forward on the lot onto a new foundation, better aligning with the 
neighbouring properties and allowing the heritage house to be more prominent and visible in the 
streetscape; 

2) Adding a more grand, front-facing set of stairs to the main entrance of the building; 
3) Building an extension to the back of the house to provide more livable space; 
4) Building a subordinate and distinguishable infill duplex laneway house at the back of the lot; and 
5) Stratifying the property. 

 

 
Fig. 18: Western elevation view of the proposed alterations to 328 W 14th Street, 2021, including its back extension 
as well as the infill development at the back of the lot. (Source: METRIC Architecture) 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

21 

 
Fig. 19: Eastern elevation view of the proposed alterations to 328 W 14th Street, 2021, including its back extension 
as well as the infill development at the back of the lot. (Source: METRIC Architecture) 
 

 
Fig. 20: 3D render, from the southwest corner of the property, illustrating the proposed alterations to 328 W 14th 
Street, 2021. (Source: METRIC Architecture) 
 
Without any historical photographs of the property to refer to, it is difficult to know what the original 
front staircase looked like. However, considering the Arts and Crafts inspiration and the age of the building 
a more grand, front-facing staircase seems appropriate, particularly considering that “Architect Samuel 
Maclure’s grand mansion of the Edwardian era are the best representatives of the Arts & Crafts Style in 
British Columbia” (VHF, n.d.) and how often his buildings had a front-facing main set of stairs (Segger 1986 
and Gamble 2016), as opposed to the current set of front stairs that seem more like a set one would see 
off the back deck of a house. 
 
The proposed alterations for 328 W 14th Street are considered reasonable interventions given generally 
accepted conservation standards, site conditions and housing needs. These proposed changes do not 
affect the heritage values nor the character-defining elements of the building and are in keeping with the 



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

22 

Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada (Second Edition), particularly 
Standard 11 with regards to new additions:  
 

11. Conserve the heritage value and character-defining elements when creating any new 
additions to an historic place or any related new construction. Make the new work physically 
and visually compatible with, subordinate to and distinguishable from the historic place.  
 

(Canada’s Historic Places 2010, p. 23, with author bolding) 
 
11.2 Future Changes 
 
Any future changes to the building should be carefully considered for minimal effect on the heritage values 
as embodied in the character-defining elements (CDEs) listed in the building’s Statement of Significance. 
 
12.0 Maintenance Plan 
 
Following completion of the outlined conservation work, the owner must maintain the building and land 
in good repair and in accordance with generally accepted maintenance standards. All work should follow 
the Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada (2nd Edition). As general 
upkeep is frequently overlooked and will lead to the deterioration of heritage resources, maintenance 
standards warrant special attention to help to extend the physical life of a heritage asset. Any building 
should be kept in a reasonable condition so that it continues to function properly without incurring major 
expenses to repair deterioration due to neglect. The most frequent source of deterioration problems is 
from poorly maintained roofs, rainwater works and destructive pests. It is important to establish a 
maintenance plan using the information below:  
 
12.1 Maintenance Checklist  
 

a. Site 
• Ensure site runoff drainage is directed away from the building.  
• Maintain a minimum 2-ft clearance between vegetation and building face and a 12-inch-wide 

gravel strip against the foundation in planted areas, if possible. 
• Do not permit vegetation (such as vines) to attach to the building.  

 
b. Foundation 
• Review exterior and interior foundations, where visible, for signs of undue settlement, 

deformation or cracking.  
• If encountered, seek advice from a professional Engineer, immediately.  
• Ensure perimeter drainage piping is functional.  
• Arrange a professional drainage inspection every three to five years.  

 
c. Wood Elements 
• Maintaining integrity of the exterior wood elements is critical in preventing water ingress into 

the building. Annual inspection of all wood elements should be conducted.  
• Closely inspect highly exposed wood elements for deterioration. Anticipate replacement in kind 

of these elements every 10 to 15 years.  
• Any signs of deterioration should be identified and corrective repair/replacement action carried 

out. Signs to look for include:  
o Wood in contact with ground or plantings;  
o Excessive cupping, loose knots, cracks or splits;  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

23 

o Open wood-to-wood joints or loose/missing fasteners;  
o Attack from biological growth (such as moss or moulds) or infestations (such as 

carpenter ants); 
o Animal damage or accumulations (such as chewed holes, nesting, or bird/rodent 

droppings). These should be approached using Hazardous Materials procedures; and 
o Signs of water ingress (such as rot, staining or mould). 

• Paint finishes should be inspected every three to five years and expect a full repainting every 
seven to ten years. Signs to look for include:  

o Bubbling, cracks, crazing, wrinkles, flaking, peeling or powdering; and 
o Excessive fading of colours, especially dark tones.  

• Note all repainting should be as per the recommended historic colours in section 10.7 above.  
 

d. Windows and Doors 
• Replace cracked or broken glass as it occurs.  
• Check satisfactory operation of windows and doors. Poor operation can be a sign of building 

settlement distorting the frame or sashes or doors may be warped.  
• Check condition and operation of hardware for rust or breakage. Lubricate annually.  
• Inspect weather stripping for excessive wear and integrity.  

 
e. Roofing and Rainwater Works 
• Inspect roof condition every five years, in particular looking for:  

o Loose, split or missing shingles, especially at edges, ridges and hips;  
o Excessive moss growth and/or accumulation of debris from adjacent trees; and 
o Flashings functioning properly to shed water down slope, especially at the chimney.  

• Remove roof debris and moss with gentle sweeping and low-pressure hose.  
• Plan for roof replacement at around 18 to 22 years.  
• Annually inspect and clean gutters and flush out downspouts. Ensure gutters positively slope to 

downspouts to ensure there are no leaks or water splashing onto the building.  
• Ensure gutter hangers and rainwater system elements are intact and secure.  
• Ensure downspouts are inserted into collection piping stub-outs at grade and/or directed away 

from the building onto concrete splash pads.  
 

f. General Cleaning 
• The building exterior should be regularly cleaned depending on build up of atmospheric soot, 

biological growth and/or dirt up-splash from the ground.  
• Cleaning prevents build up of deleterious materials, which can lead to premature and avoidable 

maintenance problems.  
• Windows, doors and rainwater works should be cleaned annually.  
• When cleaning always use the gentlest means possible, such as soft bristle brush and low-

pressure hose. Use mild cleaner if necessary, such as diluted TSP or Simple Green ©.  
• Do not use high-pressure washing as it will lead to excessive damage to finishes, seals, caulking 

and wood elements and it will drive water in wall assemblies and lead to larger problems.  
  



 
Heritage Conservation Plan: Knowles Residence, 328 W 14th Street, North Vancouver, BC 

24 

13.0 References 
 
BC Assessment. “BC Assessment.” Accessed March 1, 2021. Online resource: 

https://www.bcassessment.ca//Property/Info/QTAwMDAyN1AyUQ==.  
 
Blair, Hilary. “North Vancouver City.” In The Greater Vancouver Book, edited by Chuck Davis, 122-123. 

Surrey, BC: Linkman Press, 1997. 
 
Canada’s Historic Places. Standards and Guidelines for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada 

(Second Edition). 2010. Online resource: https://www.historicplaces.ca/media/18072/81468-
parks-s+g-eng-web2.pdf. 

 
________. “Knowles Residence.” Statement of Significance, 1995. Online resource: 

https://www.historicplaces.ca/en/rep-reg/place-lieu.aspx?id=2463.  
 
City of North Vancouver Map Viewer. “CityMAP.” Online resource:  

http://gisext2.cnv.org/citymap/.  
 
City of North Vancouver. “Heritage Register 2013.” Online resource: https://www.cnv.org/-/media/city-

of-north-vancouver/documents/heritage/2013-heritage-register.PDF.  
 
Davis, Chuck. “District of North Vancouver.” In The Greater Vancouver Book, edited by Chuck Davis, 124-

125. Surrey, BC: Linkman Press, 1997. 
 
Gamble, Adrian. “Cityscape: Canada’s West Coast Arts and Crafts Movement.” Skyrise Vancouver, May 18, 

2016. https://vancouver.skyrisecities.com/news/2016/05/cityscape-canadas-west-coast-arts-and-
crafts-movement.  

 
Halfnight, S. and D. Luxton. Your Old House: True Colours: Authentic Heritage Colour & Placement. Victoria, 

BC: Victoria Heritage Foundation in partnership with the Vancouver Heritage Foundation and 
Heritage BC, 2001.  

 
Segger, Martin. The Buildings of Samuel Maclure: In Search of Appropriate Form. Victoria, BC: Sono Nis 

Press, 1986.  
 
Vancouver Heritage Foundation (VHF). “House Styles: Arts and Crafts.” n.d. Online resource: 

https://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/house-styles/arts-and-crafts/. 
 
________. “House Styles: Queen Anne Revival.” n.d. Online resource: 

https://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/house-styles/queen-anne-revival/. 
 
________. “House Styles: Tudor Revival.” n.d. Online resource: 

https://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/house-styles/tudor-revival/. 
 
________. “True Colours Palette.” 2012. Online resource: 

http://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/TrueColoursPalette.pdf.  
 
Vancouver Public Library (VPL). “British Columbia City Directories.” 1909 to 1955. Online database: 

http://bccd.vpl.ca/. 
 

https://www.bcassessment.ca/Property/Info/QTAwMDAyN1AyUQ==
https://www.historicplaces.ca/media/18072/81468-parks-s+g-eng-web2.pdf
https://www.historicplaces.ca/media/18072/81468-parks-s+g-eng-web2.pdf
https://www.historicplaces.ca/en/rep-reg/place-lieu.aspx?id=2463
https://vancouver.skyrisecities.com/news/2016/05/cityscape-canadas-west-coast-arts-and-crafts-movement
https://vancouver.skyrisecities.com/news/2016/05/cityscape-canadas-west-coast-arts-and-crafts-movement
https://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/house-styles/arts-and-crafts/
https://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/house-styles/queen-anne-revival/
http://www.vancouverheritagefoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/TrueColoursPalette.pdf
http://bccd.vpl.ca/


Cummer Heritage Consulting 

Katie Cummer, PhD CAHP 
639 Moss Street 

Victoria, BC, V8V 4N8 
(778) 678 1913

May 25, 2022 
City of North Vancouver  
Planning & Development 
141 W 14th Street 
North Vancouver, BC, V7M 1H9 

RE: 328 W 14th Street Restoration Valuation Estimation 

This letter provides my professional perspective on the proposed revitalisation of the Knowles 
Residence at 328 W 14th Street in the City of North Vancouver. The estimated value of the 
proposed preservation, restoration and rehabilitation work, as outlined in the project’s 
Heritage Conservation Plan (Cummer 2021), breaks down as follows: 

Proposed Work Estimated Cost 
Moving the house and making it level $25,000 + $85,000 = $110,000 
New foundation $75,000 
New front staircase $22,000 
New front path $8,500 
New roof $12,500 
New wood windows $48,500 
Restoration of the arched inset balcony $12,500 
Restoration of the chimney (after moving the house) $6,800 
Restoration of the fascia boards and soffits, as needed $35,000 
Restoration of the siding (cedar shingles), as needed $64,000 
Restoration of the wood window elements, as needed $24,000 
Repainting $17,500

Total estimated amount for the proposed 
preservation, restoration and rehabilitation work 

$436,300 

I hope this helps to provide the necessary reference information for the estimated cost of the 
proposed conservation work for 328 W 14th Street in the City of North Vancouver. If you 
have any further questions or would like me to clarify anything, please feel free to contact me 
by email at kcummer@gmail.com or by phone at (778) 678 1913.  

Thank you for your time.  

Sincerely, 

Katie Cummer, PhD CAHP 
Principal, Cummer Heritage Consulting (CHC) 

Attachment 5



 

Document Number: 2174980-v1 

May 2, 2022 
 
VIA EMAIL: scott@metricarchitects.com  
 
Scott Mitchell, Metric Architects 
671b Market Hill 
Vancouver, BC V5Z 4B5 
 
Dear Mr. Mitchell: 
 
Re: 328 West 14th Street – Knowles Residence (Heritage Revitalization Agreement) 
 
At their regularly scheduled meeting on April 12, 2022, the Heritage Advisory 
Commission received a presentation regarding the above. Following review and 
discussion, the following motion was made: 

 
“THAT the Heritage Advisory Commission, having reviewed the presentation from 
Metric Architecture for the property located at 328 West 14th Street, supports the 
project and encourages the applicant to further explore the following with the input 
of City Staff: 
 

 Exploration for new deck and landscaping detailing to support cohesion and 
compatibility of the overall design of the project; and 

 
 Exploration of the proportions and materiality of the new windows on the 

west façade to reflect the proportions of the existing heritage windows and 
their design; 

 
AND THAT the Heritage Advisory Commission thanks the applicant for their 
presentation.” 

 
The recommendations of the Heritage Advisory Commission do not, in any way, 
represent Council and/or staff approval or rejection of this proposal. 

 
Yours truly, 
 

 
T. Huckell 
Committee Clerk-Secretary 
 
Cc: E. Chow, Planner 2, Planning and Development 
 H. Dang, Planner 1, Planning and Development 
 K. Cummer, Heritage Consultant 
 K. Leskiw, Owner 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935 Document: 2183358-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8935 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 
14th Street, CD-756). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-756 (Comprehensive Development 756 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 19 47 271 1658 from RS-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-755 
Comprehensive Development 755 Zone”: 

 
“CD-756 Comprehensive Development 756 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-755 Comprehensive 

Development 755 Zone”: 
 

“CD-756 Comprehensive Development 756 Zone” 
 

In the CD-756 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RT-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) Three Principal Buildings shall be permitted on one Lot; 

 
(2) The permitted Principal Use on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Two Principal Dwelling Units in the southernmost heritage building; 
 

(i) One Accessory Lock-Off Unit is permitted for each Dwelling Unit; 
 
(b) Two Principal Dwelling Units in the two northernmost infill buildings; 

 
(3) The Principal Buildings shall not exceed a combined Gross Floor Area of 0.69 

times the Lot Area. For the purposes of CD-756 the following areas shall be 
excluded from Gross Floor Area calculations:  

 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935 Document: 2183358-v1 

(a) The attached carport area connected to the northernmost infill buildings; 
 
(b) Bicycle parking storage; 
 
(c) Garbage and recycling enclosure area; 

 
(4) The Principal Buildings shall not exceed a combined Lot Coverage of 48 percent; 
 
(5) The Principal Buildings shall be sited as follows: 
 

(a) The southernmost Principal Building (heritage home) shall be not less than: 
 

(i) 4.9 metres (15.9 feet) from the Front Lot Line; 
 

(ii) 23.8 metres (78.1 feet) from the Rear Lot Line; 
 

(iii) 3.0 metres (9.9 feet) from the western Interior Lot Line; 
 

(iv) 1.9 metres (6.2 feet) from the eastern Interior Lot Line; 
 

(b) The northernmost Principal Buildings (infill buildings) shall be not less than: 
 

(i) 29.8 metres (97.8 feet) from the Front Lot Line; 
 

(ii) 3.0 metres (10.0 feet) from the Rear Lot Line; 
 
(iii) 1.2 metres (4.0 feet) from the Interior Lot Line; 
 
(iv) 2.4 metres (8.0 feet) from another infill building; 

 
(6) The attached carport shall be sited not less than 0.6 metres (2.0 feet) from the 

Rear Lot Line 
 
(7) The southernmost Principal Building (heritage home) shall not exceed a Height 

of 10.3 metres (33.7 feet) (maximum geodetic height of 260.5 feet) 
 
(8) The northernmost Principal Buildings (infill buildings) shall not exceed a Height 

of 8.2 metres (27.0 feet) (maximum geodetic height of 253.7 feet) 
 
(9) Each Dwelling Unit shall have access to 2 secure Bicycle Parking Spaces and a 

total of 8 shall be provided; 
 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8935 Document: 2183358-v1 

(10) Section 10A02(1)(c) shall be varied to permit Bicycle Parking Space overhead 
clearance height of no less than 1.5 metres (5.0 feet). 

 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8932 Document: 2184574-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8932 

A Bylaw to Designate a Municipal Heritage Site 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Heritage Designation Bylaw, 

2022, No. 8932” (Scott Mitchell / METRIC Architecture, 328 West 14th Street). 
 
2.  Pursuant to the Local Government Act, the following lands, buildings and structures are, in 

their entirety, designated as a protected heritage property: 
 

Street Address: 328 West 14th Street, North Vancouver 
 

Common Name / Description: Knowles Residence 
 

Legal Description: LOT 19, BLOCK 47, DISTRICT LOT 271, PLAN 
1658 PID 014-493-004 

 
3. Pursuant to the Local Government Act, this bylaw requires adherence to the City of North 

Vancouver’s “Heritage Conservation Procedures Bylaw, 2013, No. 8292”. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



To: 

From: 

~ ~ ?tr 
Department Director CAO 
Manager 

The Corporation of THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Mayor Linda Buchanan and Members of Council 

Emma Chow, Planner 2 

REPORT 

Subject: ZONING BYLAW AMENDMENT FOR 144 WEST 21 5T STREET 
(CONFIDE ENTERPRISES/ ANKENMAN MARCHAND ARCHITECTS) 

Date: June 8, 2022 File No: 08-3400-20-0079/1 

The following is a suggested recommendation only. Refer to Council Minutes for adopted resolution. 

RECOMMENDATION 

PURSUANT to the report of the Planner 2, dated June 8, 2022, entitled "Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21 st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman 
Marchand Architects)": 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939" 
(Confide Enterprises Inc./ Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21 st 

Street, CD-758) be considered and no Public Hearing be held, in accordance 
with the Local Government Act; 

THAT "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940" (Confide Enterprises Inc. / 
Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21 st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered; 

THAT notification be circulated in accordance with the Local Government Act; 

AND THAT the community benefits listed in the report section "Density Bonus 
and Comn:,unity Benefits" be secured through agreements at the applicant's 
expense and to the satisfaction of staff. 

Document Number: 2182678 V1 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. Context Map (CityDocs 2182683) 
2. Architectural Plans, dated May 2022 (CityDocs 2186389) 

3. Landscape Plans, dated May 2022 (CityDocs 2186390) 

4. Public Consultation Summary (CityDocs 2188181 ) 
5. Sustainability Checklist (CityDocs 2186392) 

6. "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939" (CityDocs 
2186866) 

7. "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940" (CityDocs 2186871 ) 

PURPOSE 

This report presents, for Council's consideration, details of a rezoning application for 
144 West 21 st Street to permit a 5-storey rental apartment building consisting of 73 
units, seven of which are mid-market rental units. 

BACKGROUND 

Applicant: Daisen Gee Wing, Confide Enterprises Inc. 
Architect: Timothy Ankenman, Ankenman Marchand Architects 
Official Community Plan Residential Level 5 
Designation: 
Existing Zoning : RM-1 (Apartment Residential) 
Applicable Guidelines: N/A 

A previous application for this property had been brought to Council earlier this year. At 
the February 7th , 2022 meeting, Council rejected the previous proposal based on 
discussion regarding height and siting as they related to impacts on neighbours. On 
February 28th , 2022, a new application was received by the City for a proposal similar to 
the previous one, but with a reduction of one storey and a shifting of building site by 
approximately 2.1 m (7 ft) to the south (away from rear neighbours) in response to 
comments received from Council. This new application is the subject of this report. 

DISCUSSION 

Site Context and Surrounding Use 

The subject site is located in the Central Lonsdale neighbourhood, on the north side of 
West 21 st St between Chesterfield and Lonsdale avenues. The site fronts on the 
designated Green Necklace urban greenway route and is within close proximity of the 
shops, services and public transit of the Lonsdale corridor. 

The buildings and uses immediately surrounding the site are described in Table 1 
below. 

Page 2 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Table 1. Surrounding Uses 
Direction Address Description Zoning 

North 119-159 W 22nd St 5-storey apartment residential CD-578 

West 
156 W 21 st St 3-storey apartment residential CD-017 

South 135 W 21 st St 3-storey apartment residential RM-1 

East 
128 W 21 st St 4-storey apartment residential CD-368 

Policy Context 

The site and surrounding area have Official Community Plan (OCP) land use 
designation of Residential Level 5 (R5) for mid-rise apartment development. The intent 
of this designation is to provide quality multi-family housing with a mix of unit sizes, and 
a focus on creating attractive and active streets. The R5 designation allows for a 
maximum density of 2.6 FSR (including 1.0 FSR bonus density) and a maximum height 
of 6 storeys. 

Project Description 

The site currently contains a 3-storey rental apartment building with 35 units. Built in 
1978, the building is in need of significant maintenance. The site is approximately 53.4 
m (188.27 ft) wide and 36.6 m (120.03 ft) deep, and slopes down significantly from 
northeast to southwest by approximately 5 m (17 ft). The site is located mid-block and 
not serviced by a lane. The rear of the site faces a public non-vehicular greenway. 

The proposal replaces the existing building with a 5-storey rental apartment containing 
73 units. The proposed mix of unit types is as follows: 

Table 2. Proposed Unit Breakdown 
Unit Type Number of Units Size 
One-bedroom 54 543 - 602 sqft 
Two-bedroom 11 738 - 961 sqft 
Three-bed room 8 859 - 870 sqft 

Seven of the units (10%) are proposed as mid-market units that would be secured 
through a Housing Agreement for the life of the building. Fifty of the units (68%) are 
proposed to meet Level 2 of the Adaptable Design guidelines. 

The proposal includes generous front and rear setbacks, as well as thoughtful 
landscape design to integrate the development with adjacent greenways. A public 
walkway along the east lot line is proposed to serve as a mid-block pedestrian 
connection between West 21 st Street and the rear greenway. 

Page 3 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

The top floor is further setback (approximately 2.6 m (8.5 ft) from front and 3.3 m (11 ft) 
from rear) to help reduce massing and mitigate impacts on views and shading. About 
100 sqm (1 ,090 sqft) of indoor amenity space is provided on Level 1, as well as a 
children play area and outdoor gardening plots in the front yard. 

Proposed vehicle access and main residential entry are both off West 21 st Street. The 
proposed parking is provided within a level that is mostly below grade, with access 
located at the southwest of the site allowing it to be at-grade due to the natural slope of 
the site. 

To facilitate the proposal, the proposed bylaw would vary the RM-1 zone FSR, lot 
coverage, height, side setback and building length requirements. 

Table 3. Summary of Proposed Zoning Changes 
BASE RM-1 ZONE PROPOSEDCD~45ZONE 

Permitted Various Residential Uses Rental Apartment Residential Use 
Principal Uses 
Density 1.6 FSR 2.3 FSR 
Maximum 
Lot Coverage 50 percent 94 percent 
Maximum 
Height 13 m 15 m 
Maximum 
Setbacks Front/Rear/Exterior Side: 6.096 m Front/Rear: 6.31 m (20.7 ft) 

(20 ft) Side (east): 4.58 m (15.0 ft) 
Interior Side: 4.57 m (15 ft) Side (west): 4.00 m (13.1 ft) 

Building Width Maximum 30.48 m (100 ft) above (waived) 
& Length third storey 

PLANNING ANALYSIS 

Policy Alignment 
The proposal is consistent with the OCP land use designation and below OCP height 
and density limits for the site. Located within a block of the Lonsdale commercial 
corridor, the proposal is in alignment with a number of OCP goals and objectives to 
have higher density rental housing that is within the Lonsdale Regional City Centre and 
close to shops, services, public transit and employment opportunities. 

The proposed mix of unit types meets key actions of the Housing Action Plan for mid
market rental units and a minimum of 10% three-bedroom units to support families. 
Also, the proposed 100% secured rental housing of 85 units meets a priority of the 
Council Strategic Plan to protect and expand rental housing stock. 

The proposal exceeds the Zoning Bylaw minimum requirement for 25% of units to meet 
Level 2 Adaptable Design . The proposal addresses some Active Design Guidelines 
through provision of indoor and outdoor amenity spaces. 

Page 4 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street {Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

Building Setbacks 
Setbacks in the proposal are generally more than required except from the west side lot 
line, where it is slightly reduced from 4.57 m (15 ft) to 4.00 m (13.1 ft). The setback 
along the frontage provides ample space for outdoor amenity, including garden plots 
and children play area, as well as landscaping integration with the adjacent Green 
Necklace greenway. 

Lot Coverage 
Lot coverage is significantly increased in the proposal due to the natural slope of the 
site, which results in a large portion of the underground parking level to protrude more 
than 0.9 m (3 ft) above grade and be considered part of lot coverage. The proposed 
amount of lot coverage is acceptable due to the ample proposed landscaping and 
adequate building setbacks. 

Parking 
Vehicle and bicycle parking exceed the minimum provision required under the Zoning 
Bylaw by approximately 16% and 2%, respectively. Given the high demand of on-street 
parking in the area, staff support the proposed amount of off-street parking. 

Infrastructure and Servicing 
The proposed pedestrian walkway will require a statutory right-of-way placed on title . 
Currently, the site contains a covenant and right-of-way for stormwater management of 
previous development, which are no longer needed. Staff recommend that both 
covenant and right-of-way be discharged from title. 

The proposal will require new utility and communications service connections, 
stormwater management features, upgrading of the northern greenway, as well as 
improvements along frontage that meet City standards for road works, streetscaping 
and the Green Necklace. These requirements will be secured through a Servicing 
Agreement with the City. 

Density Bonus and Community Benefits 

The City's Density Bonus and Community Benefits Policy, in conjunction with the OCP, 
allows for density bonuses beyond 1.6 FSR in the Residential Level 5 designation, up to 
a maximum of 2.6 FSR. 

The policy provides a number of community benefits options for projects seeking 
additional density and seeks to ensure the City receives value for additional density 
granted . However, sites with existing rental housing, such as the subject site, may only 
seek density bonus through provision of secured rental housing. The community benefit 
offered by this proposal is an increase of the City's rental housing stock by 38 units (73 
units total), seven of which will be mid-market rental units, secured for the life of the 
building through a Housing Agreement with the City. 

Page 5 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

The value of the density bonus (0.7 FSR = 15,820 sqft) may be estimated at $3,005,644 
based on the standard rate for the Lonsdale City Centre ($190/sqft) . 

In addition to secured market and mid-market rental units, staff is seeking Council 
direction to secure the following items as conditions of this rezoning : 

• Statutory right-of-way for mid-block pedestrian connection between West 21st 
Street and the greenway to the north of site; 

• Upgrades to greenway north of site; 
• Streetscape and public realm improvements for Green Necklace along frontage; 
• Sanitary and water line upgrades from Chesterfield Avenue to site. 

Legal Agreements 

Should Council support this rezoning, the following legal agreements should be 
prepared prior to final adoption: 

• Development Covenant 
• Housing Agreement 
• Servicing Agreement 
• Pedestrian Statutory Right-of-Way 
• Community Good Neighbour Agreement 
• Shoring, Crane Swing, and Staging License Agreement 
• Flooding Covenant 
• Community Energy Agreement 

RESIDENTIAL TENANT RELOCATION 

The applicant has prepared a Tenant Relocation Plan that meets the requirements of 
the current Residential Tenant Displacement Policy, including financial compensation 
and relocation assistance. 

A Tenant Relocation Coordinator has been communicating with tenants and providing 
information on available units in the general rental market, as well as resources for 
government housing programs. 

At time of writing this report, 19 of the 35 existing units were occupied. 

ADVISORY BODY INPUT 

The application was reviewed by the Advisory Design Panel (ADP) on May 18, 2022. 
The Panel unanimously endorsed the proposal with no concerns to be addressed. 

Page 6 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

A Developer Information Session was held on June 7, 2022 via the Zoom online 
platform. One person attended and one comment form was submitted. 

The one attendee had concerns around impacts of the proposal to on-street parking, 
views and crime prevention. The one comment form received expressed support for the 
project, citing the need for renewal of the site and also wanted to see some residential 
strata options included. 

SUSTAINABILITY COMMENTS 

The proposal addresses the OCP's Sustainable City Framework through natural 
systems, physical structure/infrastructure, local economy, human potential, social 
connections and cultural diversity. The proposed landscaping will be primarily native 
species using rainwater collection and water efficient irrigation system. Building 
construction will meet Energy Step Code 3 and provide indirect economic benefits. The 
following are included in the proposal to promote social interaction, inclusion and 
community building: 

• Amenity spaces for shared office use, gardening, children play area, informal 
and formal gatherings 

• Significant portion of units are proposed to meet Level 2 Adaptable Design 
• Fully landscaped frontage to contribute to public realm and user experience 

PROCESS WHEN NO PUBLIC HEARING HELD 

The Local Government Act assumes no Public Hearing is held for proposed zoning 
bylaw amendments if the bylaw is consistent with the OCP. A local government must 
pass a resolution if it wishes to hold a public hearing. 

Given the proposal's consistency with the OCP, and minimal feedback from the public 
during the consultation period, staff recommend that no public hearing be held for this 
application. 

Should Council wish to refer the application to a Public Hearing, the first two active 
clauses in the resolution should be amended to read: 

THAT "Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939" 
(Confide Enterprises Inc./ Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21 st 

Street, CD-758) be considered and referred to a Public Hearing; 

THAT "Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940" (Confide Enterprises Inc./ 
Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21 st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing 
Commitments) be considered and referred to the same Public Hearing; 

Page 7 of 8 



REPORT: Zoning Bylaw Amendment for 144 West 21st Street (Confide Enterprises/ Ankenman Marchand 
Architects) 
Date: June 8, 2022 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no financial cost implications for the City relating to the development project. 
The development would provide secured rental housing, at least 10% of which would be 
mid-market rental units. The approximate value of this Community Benefit Contribution 
is $3.0 million. 

CONCLUSION 

This proposal is in alignment with goals and objectives of the OCP and Council 
Strategic Plan to intensify residential development within the Lonsdale Regional City 
Centre and increase rental and mid-market units in the City while contributing to 
important active transportation infrastructure, such as the Green Necklace. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 4:C::-------------
Planner 2 

Page 8 of 8 



W 21st St

Lo
ns

da
le 

Av
e

Lo
ns

da
le 

Av
e

Ch
es

ter
fie

ld 
Av

e
Ch

es
ter

fie
ld 

Av
e

2 0 52

2 0 44

1 0 8

1 0 8

2 0 57

1 4 41 5 6

1
2

1
2 0 35

1 3 5

1
2

82 1 17

2 1 45

2 0 36

2 0 4
1 1 6

1 0 8

1 0 8

2 0 59 2 0 35

2
1

511 1 9

2 1 30

2 1 37

Context Map: 144 West 21st Street Subject Site

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 1�



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

Confide Enterprises Ltd. c/o
BDK Development Corporation
B100 - 750 Pacific Boulevard
Vancouver, BC V6B 5E7
Contact: Daisen Gee-Wing
Email: bdk@plazaofnations.com
Tel: 604.682.0777  

Ankenman Marchand Architects
1645 West 5th Avenue
Vancouver, BC   V6J 1N5
Contact: Timothy Ankenman
Email: tim@amarchitects.com
Tel: 604.872.2595 x28  Fax: 604.872.2505

Bennett Land Surveying Ltd.
201-275 Fell Avenue
North Vancouver, B.C. V7P 3R5
Contact: Tyson Cotnam
Email: tyson@bennettsurveys.com
Tel: 604.980.4868 x209  Fax: 604.980.5856

Van Der Zalm & Associates
102-355 Kingsway
Vancouver, BC V5T 3J7
Contact: Dave Jerke
Email: davidj@vdz.ca
Tel: 604.882.0024 Cell: 604.546.0921

R.F. Binnie & Associates Ltd.
300-4940 Canada Way
Burnaby, B.C. V5G 4M5
Contact: Russell Warren
Email: rwarren@binnie.com
Tel: 604.420.1721 x6049   Fax: 604.420.4743

Forma Design Inc.
209-828 Harbourside Drive
North Vancouver, B.C. V7P 3R9
Contact: Bill Harrison
Email: bill@formadesign.ca
Tel: 604.986.9193   Fax: 604.986.7320

No.  Date  Description

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 2�



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description
3 2022-05-31 Revision per City comments



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description
3 2022-05-31 Revision per City comments



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

2

2

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

5

5

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description
3 2022-05-31 Revision per City comments



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

A B C D E F G H I L MJ K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

245678 13

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2 4 5 6 7 81 3

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

ABCDEFGHILM JK

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

A B C D E F G H I L MJ K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2 4 5 6 7 81 3

341.50'LEVEL 1
(104.09 m)

361.50'LEVEL 3
(110.19 m)

351.50'LEVEL 2
(107.14 m)

371.50'LEVEL 4
(113.23 m)

381.50'LEVEL 5
(116.28 m)

391.50'ROOF LEVEL
(119.33 m)

331.50'LEVEL P1
(101.04 m)

2 4 5 6 7 81 3

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description
3 2022-05-31 Revision per City comments



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-05-31  Response to PTC
2022-02-28 Reissued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

E

E

F

F

G

G

H

H

I

I

L

L

M

M

22

44

55

66

77

88

11

33

J

J

K

K

2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-03-03  Response to PTC
2021-10-25  Response to PTC

2019-05-30 Issued for Rezoning

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-10-25  Response to PTC
2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning

2021-03-03 Response to PTC

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-10-25  Response to PTC
2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning

2021-03-03 Response to PTC

No.  Date  Description



2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning
2022-05-31  Response to PTC

2021-10-25  Response to PTC
2022-02-28  Reissued for Rezoning

2021-03-03 Response to PTC

No.  Date  Description



144 West 21 Street 
Issued for Rezoning/Development Permit 

Contact Info rmation 
VDZ+A 
P,ojectl.endscapeArdlitectu"' 

FortlangleyStudio 
102-9181Chulci1Street 
Fort La~ley. Bril,Sh Collfflbia , V1M 2R8 

Mount Pleasant Stud io 
102..J535K~ ""ay 
Vancouver, Brrtish Columbia, V5T l.17 

Pr'ma ryp,ojectcontact 
Micole Wu 
micole@vdz.ca 
6045460926{8cl:107) 

Allerna1111contacts{incase-ay): 
Markvander Za lm 
Plin4Jallandsc:al)eAICMect 
ma'1<@vdz.ca 
o.6045460920 

Other Key Contacts: 
Confide Enterprises Ltd. c/o 
~~ ~!~opment C.Orporation 

B100-750PacitcBolAevwd 
Vaicouver, BCV6B5E7 
Tel: 604.682.0TT7 

Ankenman Marchand Architect 
Projed:BuiklingArcirtectUi.! 

1645West5thAvenue 
Vancouver, BCV6J1N5 
Tel: 604.872.2595x28 

Legal Address and Descri ption: 
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY OF LOT A OF LOT 10, BLOCK 206, 
DISTRICT LOT 545, G1 , N\r\O, 
PLAN17051 

(Dc-,~-~IT~~,,.:,.LA~N=O~V~ER~V~IE~W~----------------------------

Sheet List Table 
I~ 

L-01 COVER SHEET 

L-02 TREE PROTECTION AND REMOVAL PLAN 

L-03 LANDSCAPE PLAN 

L-04A PLANTING PLAN · WEST 

L-04B PLANTING PLAN. EAST 

L-05 GRADING PLAN 

L-06 LIGHTING PLAN 

LS-01 SECTIONS 

LS-02 SECTIONS 

LS-03 SECTIONS 

LD-01 DETAILS 

LD-02 DETAILS 

LD-03 DETAILS 

~ LOCATION MAP 

'c) "" 

VDZ+A 

REVISK)NS TABLE FOR DRAWINGS 

o===-====.:=-rw:=~ 

DY 
WI 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

OriginalSheetSize: 

24"x36" 

1-w 
w 
I 
(f) 

0::: 
w ~> ; o 

! u 

~ 
N ORTtl 

co 
co 

~ I 

~ o 
f N No 
~ N 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 3�



I 
I 
! 

I 
! 

I~ ,1 t\___ 

West 2 1st Street 

LINE OF BUILDING OVERHANG 

EDGE OF SL.AB 

PROPERTY LINE 

LEGEND 

u ® • CR 
Existing Tree to Existing Tree to be Tree Protection 
be Retained Removed Fencing 

Note: 

1. Contact Project Arborist for inspection 72 hrs prior to any grading or 
excavation within the tree protection zone. (typ) If during excavation it is 

found that it cannot be oompleted without severing roots that are critical 

to the trees health or stability it may be necessary to remove additional 

trees. 
2. Read this plan together with the arborist report 

3. An additional 1 m setback is shown for all hand-plotted trees to be 
retained 

4.lf Stump Grinding is to occur in close proximity to trees which are to be 

retained then it is requested sb.Jmps to be removed under Arborist 
supervision. 
5. It is the responsibility of the client or his/her representative to contact 
the project arborist for the purpose ct: 
"Locatirg TPZ Fencirg 

"locatirg Work Zone and Machine access corridors where requi red 

*Reviewing the Report with the project foreman or site supervisor. 

6. lnstall a tree protection barrier around any retained tree or group of 

retained trees at the drip line ct the outermost tree, the outside boundary 

of the critical root zone of the outermost tree, or 5 metres from the stem 

ofthe outmosttree, whichever is greatest. 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<.IC 

""""' ·"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-o0l' 

oc_,_,, ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Olechd: 

CHECKED 

Sta~ : 

OriginalShee!Size: 

24"x36" 

z 
::i 
a.. 
_J 

~ 
0 
~ 
w 
0::: 
0 
z 
<( 

z 
0 
i= u 
w 
lo 
0::: 
a.. 

~w ~w 
f 0::: 
~ I-

N 
0 

I 
_J 



Intercom Garbage Staging Area Existing Sign 

West 21st Street 

Play House, Hopsootch, 
Stepping Stump, Wood Log 

Proposed District Energy SIC, 
refer to Civil's drawings 

Edge of Parkade Slab Property Line 

, : 100 6 lm 

HARDSCAPE MATERIALS 

KEY REF. DESCRIPTION 

CONCRETE SLAB ==-

SOFTSCAPE MATERIALS 

KEY REF. DESCRIPTION 

0 
EXISTING TREE 

f~ @ PROPOSED TREE 

'€;'?\ 
~ D 

SOD 
s.ndo,own, non-netled; 
Alleasl 70% olwed{by~ 
lo beTal T .... J.l'll)eFeso.,e 

CJ ® 
SHRUB Pl.ANTING 

D 

SITE FURNISHINGS/LIGHTING 

KEY REF. DESCRIPTION 

It @ - @ 
@ 

@ 

,b 

VDZ+A 

REVISK)NS TABLE FOR DRAWINGS 

~E"::1:=::.:.::...~; 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location· 
144 West 21st Street 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

Original Sheet Size: 

24"x36" 

1' 
NORTtt 



0 0 TREE SC HEDULE 

BOTANICAL/ COMMON NAME CONT 

Amelaroc:hie(aln;lolia/SeMCeben'y B&B:6cmcal, 2.0mStd 

Uq.,ldambarsty~ua 'Sleod« Silhouen e· /Coh,m1ar s-, GU1'1 B&B: 6cm cal, 2.0m Std 

Pk:eaOITIOOka/Sert,jaoSj),'uce 

Sy~nga le!icuata "lwry Silk" 1I-.«y Silk JIii)-. Tree Lilac B&B: 6cm cal, 2.0m Sid 

PLANT SC HEDULE 

SI-IRIJBS ,.,,------
" "' G, 

~~ 
" ,. 
" " " "' TI 
Th 

" ~ 

" ,. 
PERENNIALS -,.--
" ,. 

BOTANICAL /COMMON N.Q.ME 
Altuus<nll<lo'Compac:ta' /DwarfSltawbe:TyTn,e 
Choo1yelerf\Q/M~O,.-,ge 
Comus88ricea'Bucf1 Yellow"/YellowT'M9Dog,.ood 
Gauheliuhalk;Jn/Salal 
Hebephi,.,ilolia"Suhwlaodir /PagejHeoe 
MahonilNefwsa/0.eg,,nG<ape 

~ 

~ 
~ 

Pnn.Jt lltolanU/~la.nl 1.2mht 

:: ..::t,-:'~~~=· IW.m Flowering 0...-....t : 

Rlbus'l)edabilil/Salmonbe«y #2 
Sp,-doog1Ni /v.<eslem$pi"e;i 
Sy!ll)ho!lcarposalbus/Corrmon'M',leSoo,,be,'ry 

i:::=~~~ngEnglilhY.,.,. 
Vacciniu'l1ovaUTI'ThLrdelt>i"d'/Ev~-,Hud<labe:Ty 
V.:cinilffl"W~ "KOllllle' /Lingorbeffy 

~ 

~ 
~ 

"""' " ~ 
BOTANICAL /COMMON NAME CONT 
BlechruTispicMIIDe«Fem #1 
Polysktunm<.nUn/WestemSwordFem #2 

BOTANICAL /COMMON NAME CONT 
Mt• a.t,Jpicatus I Dougln Asa ~ 

~==,1:!,•:,~==FkwJI :: 
MLJ<<:letQiron;; ·c,i<r9on F.,.· 1enm,on F.,. M~nill #1 

SPACING 
~ 
0.75m 
0.75m 
o.•5m 

'"" ,.,. 
,. 
0.75m 
0.75m ,.,. 
0.75m 

'"" 0.75m ,.,. 

SPACING 
o.•Sm 

'"" 
SPACING 
~ 
o.•Sm ,,,. ,,. 

Locally Natiw 10 

QTY REMARK S 
7 ~Tole-ant 

fs O.,;,oq,t Tole-ant 

" ., . 
" ' . 
" " " " " . 
' 

Near-Native 
Naive .... 
"' Nai ve 
Naive 

QTY REMARKS 
~ Naive 
19 Na•ve 

QTY REMARKS 
~ ~ . 
" " 

VINES BOTANICAL /COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY REMARKS 
~ Partheooci-..1 rlcUS!)klala/Bos10n lvy ~ ~ 2 ~ 

~ BOTANICAL /CQMUQN NAME 

PLANTING NOTES: 

1. PLANTS IN THIS PLANT LIST ARE SPECIFIED ACCORDING TO THE CANADIAN NURSERY LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATIOl',i 
CANADIAN STANDARDS FOR NURSERY STOCK AND SECTION 12. CONTAINER GROWN PLANTS OF THE BC LANDSCAPE 
STANOo\RD. CURRENT EDITIOO. 

2. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL MEET OR EXCEED STANDARDS REQUIRED BY BCLNAOR BCSLAGUIDELINES.PLANT 
MATERIAL TO BE APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO DELIVERY TO SITE. 

3. TOPSOIL SUPPLIED SHALL BE FROM A REPUTABLE SOURCE. A FULL ANALYSIS OF THE TOPSOIL WILL BE REQUIRED AT THE 
CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE. SUBMIT TO LANDSCAPE CONSUL TANT FOR APPROVAL. 

4. AMEND TOPSOIL PER SOIL ANALYSIS RECOMMENDATIONS PRIOR TO SPREADING ON SITE. REJECTED TOPSOIL SHALL BE 
REMOVED OFF SITE IMMEDIATELY AT THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE. 

5. TOPSOIL DEPTHS FOR PLANTING AS FOLLOWS: 
A SHRUBS: 450MM 
B. SOD: 150MM 
C. TREE PITS: 1000MM 'MTH 300MM (BELOW ROOT BALL) 

6 . 'Z' MINUS COMPOST MULCH TO BE INSTALLED IN ALL SHRUB PLANTING AREAS. 

7 . INSTALL 900MM CONTINUOUS SOIL TRENCH IN BOULEVARDS WHERE STREET TREES ARE PROPOSED. 

8 . AREA BETWEEN BACK OF SIDEWALK AND PL TO RECEIVE OOOMM SOIL AND 300MM DEPTH OF "TURF-BLEND" SOIL. 

9 . SCARIFY TOP 50MM OF SU BG RADE PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF GRO'MNG MEDIUM. 

IRRIGATION NOTE: 

1. ALL AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED. IRRIGATIOl',i SYSTEM TO MEET OR EXCEED IIABC STANDARDS. LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO 
REVIEW IRRIGATION PLANS. 

1: 100 16 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT L.lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl(IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<.IC 

""""' ·"'1z-co 60'-3Sl-o0l' 

oc_,_,, ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

OriginalSheetSize: 

2, -x313• 

I
C/) 
w 
s 
z 
<( 
_J 

a.. 
(9 
z 
i= z 
<( 
_J 

a.. 

<( 
-q-
0 

I 
_J 



1:100 

TREE SC HEDULE 

BOTANICAL /COMMON NA.ME 

& klar cirtinat...,/VineMaple B&B, 2.0mHLfflU"-Rem Localy Native 10 

hnelardlie' alnifolial s..,,icebefry B&B; 6cm ca~ 2.0m Std. Loca ly Native 2 

0 Liqud..-i>• lty,acitua "Slandet S.lhouette" I ea..,,,... Sweet Gu,, B&B; 6cm ca~ 2.0m Std. 

Piceaomorika/Se:t,;a,Spruce a 
0 SyrirQa/WaJata"lvorySlk"llvoryS.lk Ja_T....,l.,jjac B&B; 6cmca~2.0m Std. 

PLANT SC HEDULE 

SHRUBS -.,------
c, 
c, 
G, 

: 
" ,. . 
" " s, 
TI 
Th 

" "' 
FERNS ,,------
"" 
PERENNIALS -.. --

"' "" "' 

BOTANICAL/COMMON NAME 
Nbu!us ..nedo "Compac1a· I Dwwf St awbeo'ry Tree 
Choosya lemala I t.tex!Ca'l o..,ge ;:;::i!%~: .. 1ow· 1ve1ow T.,,;g Dog,,ood 

Het,epinguiful;a "~a-,di" / P. Het,e 
MllhonlaNetvou/Ol'egonG<ape 
P......,.~/Por\uge,IL~ =:=r7::=n·=· 1'Mlite Flowe.1ng0-mlnl 
Rlb.lt ll!>OCi.blit /S~e,,y 
Spi,audoug'rallO/WelllemSpru 
Symphor~t abus/Comm:,nWliteSnowbeffy 
TaxusbaccalaRei:,aodeo1 /Sil(eadingEng1;llhYft 
Tarusxmodia "J-id<tW /1-id<t Y,r,; 
VacdniuTiovat\.fflTl'ulderojrd"/E-ore«o~IY 
Vaa:ini...,.,;h.;dau"KDle"/1..irQont>en-y 

BOTANICAL/COMMON NAME CONT 
Ble<:truntp<;Sl\/0..,,Fem #1 
Pot,,9tict'uTim.nl\."'1/WeSlems..ordFem #2 

SPACING QTY 
~ 7 
0.75m 8 
0.75m 15 
0.45m 55 
OOm 
0.65m 
0.75m 70 

''" ' 0.75m 8 
0.75m 19 
0.65m 20 
0.75m 25 
0.6m 12 
0.15m eo 
0.65m 8 
0.45m 8 

-· =htToletln 

~ 

Near-Nati,e -· -· -· -· '" ..... -· SPACING QTY REMARKS 
~ 15 Nw<e 
0.5m 19 Nati,e 

SPACING QTY REMARKS 

~ " Nw<e 
0.45m 8 
0.45m 51 
0.3m 15 

Vll'ES BOTANICAL/COMMON NAME CONT SPACING QTY REMARKS 
~ Pnen:x:i,-ltioJspidala/ Boslonllly ~ ~ 2 Slaked 

GROUND COVERS BOTANICAL/COMMON NAME 

E1trru1 moUi1 /MlericaoD.negraas 

PLANTING NOTES: 

1. PLANTS IN THIS PLANT LIST ARE SPECIFIED ACCORDING TO THE CANADIAN NURSERY LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATION 
CANADIAN STANIY<.RDS FOR NURSERY STOCK AND SECTION 12. CONTAINER GROWN PLANTS OF THE BC LANDSCAPE 
STANDARD. CURRENT EDITION. 

2 . ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL MEET OR EXCEED STANDARDS REQUIRED BY BCLJ\L.6.. OR BCSLA GUIDELINES.PLANT 
MATERIAL TO BE APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO DELIVERY TO SITE. 

3. TOPSOIL SUPPLIED SHALL BE FROM A REPUTABLE SOURCE. A FULL ANALYSIS OF THE TOPSOIL 'MLL BE REQUIREDATTHE 
CONTRACTOR'S EXPENSE. SUBMIT TO LANDSCAPE CONSUL TANT FOR APPROVAL. 

4. AMEND TOPSOIL PER SOIL ANALYSIS RECOMMENDATIONS PRIOR TO SPREADING ON SITE. REJECTED TOPSOIL SHALL BE 
REMOVED OFF SITE IMMEDIATELY AT THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTORS EXPENSE. 

5. TOPSOIL DEPTHS FOR PLANTING AS FOLLOW'$: 
A SHRUBS: 450MM 
B. SOD: 150MM 
C. TREE PITS: 1000MM WITH 300MM (BELOW ROOT BALL) 

6. 2" MINUS COMPOST MULCH TO BE INSTALLED IN ALL SHRUB PLANTING AREAS. 

7. INSTALL 900MM CONTINUOUS SOIL TRENCH IN BOULEVARDS WHERE STREET TREES ARE PROPOSED. 

6. AREA BElWEEN BACK OF SIDEWALK AND PL TO RECEIVE 600MM SOIL AND 300MM DEPTH OF "TURF-BLEM::>" SOIL. 

9. SCARIFY TOP 50MM OF SU BG RADE PRIOR TO PLACEMENT OF GRO'MNG MEDIUM. 

IRRIGATION NOTE: 

1. ALL AREAS TO BE IRRIGATED. IRRIGATION SYSTEM TO MEET OR EXCEED IIABC STANDARDS. LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT TO 
REVIEW IRRIGATION PLANS. 

0 

West 21st Street 

Property Line 

Buik:ling Overharg 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT L.lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.ID IO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl(IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<.IC 

""""' -"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-o0l' 

Location: 
144 West 21s t Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

OriginalSheetSize: 

24"x36" 

1--
(f) 
<( 
w 

z 
<( 
_J 

a.. 
(9 
z 
i= z 
<( 
_J 

a.. 

OJ 
-q-
0 

I 
_J 



uoo 6 lrn ,b 

VDZ+A 

REVISK)NS TABLE FOR DRAWINGS oc_,_ ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._.,., === .. _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

Original Sheet Size: 

24"x36" 

z 
<( 
_J 

a.. 
CJ 
z 
0 

~ 
CJ 



I [ 
I 

u 

West 21st Street 

+ 0 

uoo 6 lrn 

Uplight 

Recessed Wall / Step Light 

.. , 

...- '::;,1. 

Bollard Light 

LEGEND 

KEY 

.. 
... 
() 

NOTES· 

REF DESCRIPTION 

RECESSEDWALUSTEPLIGHT 
byElectical 

1 LANDSCAPE LIGHTING Pl.AN PROVIDES LIGHT LOCATION 
ANDREFERENCEIW.GETO COORDW.TEWlnl 
ELECTRICAL ONLY. FOR FINAL FIXlllRE, QUANTITY, 
COLOUR TEMPERAlURE, BULB AND CONDUIT 
INFORMATION, REFER TO ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS 

,b 

VDZ+A 

REVISK)NS TABLE FOR DRAWINGS ~C--.--... --M ... .,_,., === .. _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location· 
144 West 21st Street 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

Original Sheet Size: 

24"x36" 

z 
::S 
a.. 
(9 
z 
I
I 
(9 
::::i 

co 
co 

~ I 

~o 
f N No 
~ N 



el 
I 
I 
I 
I 

L m,o.o, 

Architectural slab 

I 
l 
I 

Concrete planting wall ~ ---------t 
TVI/: 104.59 1 

Concrete pathway 

Guardrail b~ Arch -,~ 

Concrete planting wall In 
TW: 104.59 ; I 

I 

Architectural slab 

Patio 
FG: 104.09 

Bench on top of the 
concrete planting wall 

TW: 104.66 

L_Off-site,---~~
1
- ~Pathway j__Pati;-- ~ ------Building------.l---SeatingArea 

Raised planter 

SECTION 1 

PL 

I Off~ite__J 

\Raised planter 

'----~ff-site------'----'-1-----~Pati~--------'-----Building-------'----Buildingentry __________ _.J ________ -o,r_.sit~-------__J 

\ Raised planter 

2 >-'~'-'Ec-~"-:,""10e,Nce2~------------------------------------------------------------------------

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<,IC 

""""' ·"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-(l(IJ.' 

oc_,_ ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._.,., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

OriginalSheetSize: 

24"x36" 

Cl) 
z 
0 
i'.= 

! o 
f W 
~ Cl) 

T""" 

0 
I 

Cl) 
_J 



I 
k 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

Patio 
FG: 104.09 

Building overhang 

I 

Jc 
I 
I 

~------~ - Bench with storage of 
garden tools 

-------+- Guardrail 

~ --------otr-site-e------~~ ~1--------PPatiio-----~- - -,,uildino-- - ----Patio---~l ,~---~ ---~1.___,~-- , --~l -------~Off-site-------~ 

\ Raised planter I I I \ Pocket plaza 
Raised planter Raised planter 

Seating Area 

SECTION 3 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<,IC 

""""' ·"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-(l(IJ.' 

oc_,_ ... TNo _OIJ __ M.,..._.,., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

Origina l Sheet Size: 

24"x36" 

Cl) 
z 
0 
i'.= 
0 
w 
Cl) 

N 
0 

I 
Cl) 
_J 



SECTION 4 
S<::ale 1:50 

Turf and planting bed 
behind 

l"L 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 
I 

EX. 100.76 

SECTION 4 

Planting bed 

Turf and planting bed 
behind 

Concrete retaining wall 
TVI/: 106.16 

PL ~=:::=•=========:t====j 

-lo<R~ F.i,:W, 20Zl 

• uo,dlo< R_,,.r$'D' Jon 26, 2021 

N,o 81' Oo1,clip0:ion °" 
REVISK)NS TABLE FO R DRAWINGS 

o===-====.:=-rw:=~ 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

Original Sheet Size: 

24"x36" 

Cl) 
z 
0 
i'.= 

! o 
f W 
~ Cl) 



SECTION 

NOTES: 

1. Aleomponentsasspeeifiedorapprovedaltemate. 
2. Contrador to provide cut sheets of aN components for Landscape Archlted approval. 
3. Bladljadl Screwjadl or OneStep system depending on depth to slab. 
4. Aluminum ledge to be secured to walVcurb with eonaete screws. 

G)~ H~Y~DR~A~P~R~E~S~S~ED=SLA=B~S~O~N~S~LA=B ______ _ 

~---2Srrmchamfer 

2-15M@top, eont. 

,.._ _____ ,SM rebarreinforeement 

Notes: 
1. Vertical Control Joints EvefY 300Clmm on center. 
2. WaNheightsvary. RefertoGradingPlan. 

50rrmfromtop 
50rrmfrom side 
Vertical@ 45Clmm O.C. 
Horizontal @450mm O.C. 

Frenchdrain, useofclean 
19rrmminusrock 

Perforated PVC pipe 
10Clmm0 

15Clmmaggregatebase 

3. Perforated pipe to drain to day~ghl or to tie into storm system. To be coordinated with 
CivW. 

4. EnsureSOmmeoncreteeov«overallrebar. 
5. Wallsov«1200rrminheighltobestrudurallyengineered. 

® CONCRETE PLANTER ON GRADE 
S<:ale 1:10 

Plant«.parapetorbuildir'Qwall----
Slopet/Niayfromsidewalk 

~=~~:~~:a:~nsfyp 

Asphaltnr~regnatedfiberboard \ alonganyvertIcal strlacetobe1nstalledbelowtop 
of coocrete pathway wrth removable plastic mo~d 
stnp Result1ng,omttobesealedwrthgray,oint 
filler/sealer 

Promenade dedl drain wrth7 
perforated stainless steel 

extension 

6gauge 4"x4"wiremeshchairedand 
centeredinslab. Consultanttoinsped 
meshandformworl<priortopouring. 
1oomm min of 95% MPD compacted 
aggregatebaseeourMuridereonerete 
slabfyp 
NilexWD-15drainmat, orasspeeified 
byArchlted 

~---Rigid insulalionbyArehiteet 
~----Waterproofmembranewlthprotedion 

~-----Struduralslabbyothers 

Notes: 
1. Contractortoprovideexpansionjointswherecoocretemeetsallverticalstructures. 
2. Horizontal seorelines at 150Clmm o.c. both ways unless shown otherwise. Ref« to 

plans. 
3. Allcomponents as speeifiedorapprovedaltemate. 
4. Concretetoslopetodrain. 
5. Expansionjoinl~eJY3000rrmo.e.bothways. 

0 CONCRETE PAVING ON SLAB 
Scale1 :10 

Taclilep«BC 
Building Code. to be 

coordinated with Arch 

T 
! 

1 

Doweland expansionjointif 
concrete walkway. 15Clmm dowel 
length@30Clmmo.e. spacing, 
2Clmmfibrousexpansionjoint 
fillerbetweencoocrete slabs 

15ClmmAggregate--flG'e;,;;;il!;! 
Base 19mmMinus 

Compacted to95% 
MPD 

10Mrebar@40Clmmo.c. 

10Mnosingrebar, 5Clmmelearalsides-----~-

10M rebar reinforcement, 50 mm dear from bottom 

Notes: 

Slope 1/Niay from sidewalk 

20rrmroundededgetyp 

Ugh! broom finish with minimum 1% 
crossslopewilhtrowelededge 

r
125mmoooc,~o,Ob 
instal asper speeificationsfyp 

Asphaltimpreg.nated.fiberboard. l alonganyvertiealsurfacetobeinstalled 
belowtopofcoocretepl:llhwaywith 
removable plastic mould strip. Resulting 
ointtobesealedwithgrayjoint 
filler/seal«. 

~ 

Compaded sub grade 95% MPD 

1. Contrador to provide expansion joints wh«e eoncrete meets al vertical structures. 
2. Horizontal seorelines at 1500rrm o.e. both ways uriless shown otherwise. Ref« to 

plans. 
3. Alcomponentsasspeeifiedorapprovedaltemate. 
4. Concretetoslopetodrain. 
5. Expansion joint ~efY 3000mm o.c. both ways. 
6. ContractortoeontactLandseapeArchileetforseorelineapprovalpriortocutting. 

G)>-~C~O~N~C~R~ET~E~P~A~V~IN~G=O~N~G~RA=DE~-------

Notes: 
1. Steps to have medium broom fin ish. 
2. Refertolighlingplaneleetricaldrawingsforsteplighllocations 
3. Numberoftreadsandtreaddepthvaries. refer to per plan. 
4. Heighlofriserstobeequalalongstairease. 
5. Heighlofrisers maydifferbetween staireases. ref«togradingplanfor 

grading information. 
6. Expansionjointsrequiredat sideof steps 'M'leneonstruetedadjacentto 

walls. Seal expansion joints with a eompatible joint sealing compound to 
prevent moisture infiltration. 

~ -----Skatestop, 25~1Clmmthick 
curvedsteel. weldedtohandrail. 

~ :~d: ~~~s~:~lt~~r BC 
drawingtolandseapearchrtectfor 
approval. Strlacemourit. 

l 
~ 

12.Smmchamfef 

@ 1--c~c.cOc-~c",~~R~ET~E~S~T~A~IR~S~------------------------------

~-----Growing medium to Canadian 
Landscape Standard Latest 
Edition. 

Water proof membrane up 
wall to 15Clmmbelowtopof ... 
25mmchamf« 

Plant«areadrain. WADE 
3200-PAorapprovedaltemate 

NOTES: 
1. Coordinate wan tie in to slab with Archlted and Structural Engineer. 
2. Allwallsov« 1.2minheighlwiN needtobeStructurallyEngine«ed. 
3. AllplanterstobeeomeetedtoSlabdrainage system. 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918! Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""• V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<,IC 

........ . ,;dz.co 60'-3Sl-(l(l.2' 

0,_~C~O~N~C~R~ET~E~P~L~A~N~T~ER=O~N~S~LA~B~------->-~~----~----1 

Promenade deck drain with 
perforated stainless steel 
extension 

1i
Goot"'i• · '"m,paoobad< 
atdrainandatallvertical 

~"-
60rrmcoocreteunilpavers 
25rrmbeddingsand 

Nilex_ W0-15.drain mat, or as 
specified by Architect 
water proof membrane by 
Architect 

~ 

NOTES: 
1. Albedding sandtomeetASTMC33orCSAA23.1 FA1 . 
2. Al jointsandtomeetASTMC144orCSAA179. 
3. Aleompooentsas specifiedorapprovedaltemate. 
4. Contractortoprovidecutshoots ofaNcomponentsforLandseapeArchiteetapproval. 
5. Contractortoensurenovisiblepoolir'Qoceurs onpaversurface. 
6. Aljointstobelighlfit. 
7. Alpav«cutstobeminimum 1/3Paver. 

01-~;~!c-~cc~~c'-°O~N~S~LA~B~------------

oc_,_,, ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vaneo11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

OriginalSheetSize: 

24"x36" 

(f) 
_J 

~ w 
0 

...... 
0 

0 
_J 



Notes: 

Donotdamageorcutleader 

50mm wide woven nylon 
binding 
attachedtostakewrthshil'Qle 
nails 

2xPressuretreatedround 
wood stakes 
50 mm - 75mm in diameter 
2minlength 

Crownofrootbal 
sha~ bear same relation to 
finishedgrade 

75 mm decomposed bark 

~"' 
CreatesaucerarOU1dtree 

Cut&removetopiofbl.Wlap 
from root ball 

B&Brootball 

Compacted top soil wrth 
pedestal 
to Canadian Landscape 
Standard: "Wel groomed"soil 

~----Scarify pit bottom 
rrinimum of (150mm) 

~-----MinimlMTIOf(15Clmm) 
onansidesofrootball 

1. Do not damage main roots or destroy root ball when installing tree stake. 
2. Water thoroughly after installation 
3. RemoV'l!I tree rings and stakes two yea l'9 after installations 
4. Provide drainage for planting p~ in impermeable soil 

50mm wide woven polyweb banding 
attachedtostakewithshinglenails. 

2pressu-etreated05CHZl75rrmroundwood 
stakes 2mlengths. Stakesshouldbe 
aligned parallel to sidewalk/road 

'Arborgard+' treetrookprotector -AG-9-4or 
'nds'-tree tn.mkprotector - tp126nds 

=clbr _j_-vf~;,-1,"kii;;e__ !~almfi~':8:;~c;:~~~ni~to~~~~ 
II- bar11mulch 

11= 

Notes: 

300mm rrinilTl.lm of topsoil arou,d root ban 
compacted to 85% MPD 

Pedestal 

Stakestonotpenetraterootball. Stakes to 
penetratenalive80il by300mm 

1. Sadlinglbl.Wtaptobeloosenedanddropped tothebottomoftheplantinghole. all string 
twine. etc.to be removed. 

2. Alwirebasketsshallhavethe top 1/3of lhewireremovedpriortoplanting. 
3. Altreesshallbesinglestem 
4. RefertoMechanicalforplanterdrainlocations. 

NOTE: 
Refer to struc:tlM"aldeta~ for 
reinforcementandslabliein 
requirements 

Starter curb by strucb..Jral 

~-----Structural slab, refer to Architects 
drawings 

~-----Water proofing, drainage and protection 
layer by others 

NOTES: 

Prooeplanttoremovedead 
orbrokenbrandles 

450mm deep Gentty Col'fl)acted Top so~ 
Mixtl.l"8toCanadianlandscapeStandard: 
"Well Groomed" soil 

Col'fl)actedsubbase 

1. Remove al l siring. twine. pots. t~ from plant. 
2. Al sow. mulch and plant material to meet latest Canadian Landscape 

Standard. 
3. Topsoil sauces diameter to be 1.SX diameter of plant eontainer. 
4. O.C. spacingperplantingplan. 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGlEV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASA.NTSTI.IDIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""•V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<.IC 

""""' ·"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-o0l' 

G) CONIFEROUS TREE PLANTING 
Scale1:25 0 DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING 

Scale1 :25 
G),_~T~R~E~E~A~N~D~S~H~RU~B~PLA=N~T~IN~G~-------- 0,_~S~H~R~U~B~P~LA~N~T~IN~G~O~N=G~R~AD~E~ ________ 1-~~----~-----l 

I 
I 
! 
! 

i 
I 

NOTES: 

Roof/planter edge. per plans 

PNneplanttoremOV'l!ldead 
or broken branches 

Nilex NuDrain PD-20 drain mat to extend 
alongallinteriorplanterstrlaces. 

~----Struc:turalSlabandwaterproofing 
byArchltect 

1. Removeanstring.lwine.pots. tags fromplant. 
2. Al so w. mulch and plant material to meet latest Canadian Landscape 

Standard. 
3. Top80W sauces diameter to be 1.SX diameter of plant container. 
4. O.C. spacingperplantingplan. 

lndicativeplaycomponant. Refer to 
anufacturer'sinstallationguidelinesand 

speeifieplayequipmentmou,t 

Note: 

manufacturersinstNdions.sizing 
andreinforcingofhousekeeping 
slabandspeefficalionsforeach 
play equipment type requiring 
surface mounting. 

Slabdrain refertoMech. 

~---Fabricseparator.anddrainagelayerbyolhers 

~----water proof membrane with protection by others 

~------Struc:turalslabrefertoArchitect's 
drawings 

1. Refer to Ar<:hiteet's drawings for floor assemblies. 
2.Refer tomanufact l.l"8r'sguides tooonfinnhousekeeping 
slabsizeandplaytoyinstallat ionrequirementspriorto 
Nbberinstallation. 
3. Refertomanufacturer'sinstallationinstNctionsforpoured 
Nbberinstallation. 

PLAY HOUSE 
Model.36)59 
Size: 4"-2'"x8' 
Metenal.-.:lColorTBD 
MoootMace 
Mln<J~ GIIM l1me D< • WoW<l l!q!J81 

www.;amotine.oan I @r-c!c-';:,c_~cc;l,c-B~P~LA~N~T~IN~G~O~N~G~R~AD~ E~________ @ ~~~
0
ER SURFACE (jJ ~~TURAL PLAY @ 1:r';AY HOUSE 

-~-------------------------------~ 

oc_,_,, ... TNo_OIJ __ M.,..._., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~ : 

OriginalSheetSize: 

24"x36" 

(f) 
_J 

~ w 
0 

N 
0 

0 
_J 



I 
I 
! 
! 

i 
I 

CLUSTER SEATING 
-#2100.USTERSEATING 
Sla:lclngti:70"(177.&;m) 

Wid:tt66.5"(168.9ttn) 
Hei,t,t29.5'(7•.9ttnJ 
Se1t l-wgt1:17.5'(44.San) 
Heiit,t llelowG,.,.: 16'(-45.7<:m) =a1~;.,o1i::ir: Povide«:oal:edGJrM&talcol0<18"1CWoodgrai1te~ret,;gt,denlity polyeti)'I-

MaroJla<::IIJrer....,_1n F\ffi\Jre 0t , W')'o'tdeq.,tl 

~~ 

G)~C~LU~S~T~E~R~S~EA=Tl~N~G ___________ _ 

WASTE & COMPOST CONTAINER 
- #: 150 SERES LASER OJT AND FORMED STEEL 

~f~~~L~ 16 GALLON LINER CAPACnY (GALLONS) 

S.ze:l.qtll: 35"(68.9:m) 
Heigt1:37"(9,4.0cm) 

Male!ial~~i46
~tedGJl1Metalcob.K --MnJla<::IIJrerl,lfgllnF\HTii ...-.o,lll'l"(Hedequal 

::; 

BENCH 
Moda#:10'.lSERIESBACKEDWITH,V,OENDARMS 
Site:l.el'lgti:7(Y'(177.8<:m) 

He;gt,t30'(76.2cm) 
~ h:Y/'(76.2<:m) 
SeatHeiit,t16°(40.8<:m) =~;:;;;,.aoc Po.vde<a.tedGuiM<ttalcoleu<andVlbodgn,i~ t...t,.retigh<llr19'1ypolyelh)'lone 

Marn/a::tu«<cMaglnF....,;ueo,aW(OYflde(Jial 

~~; 

@1--~B~E~N~C~H ______________ _ 

Manufacturer: CedarCraft or approved equal 
Manufacturer website: hltps:llcedarcraft.oom 
Product name: 39" L ~ 22" W ~ 36" H Cedar Foldir"Q PottirQ Table 

TABLE SET 
- #: 1700 SERES FAROTABLEANDC~ft W ARMREST 

=~~.,~~St==:i Gvt,Metalcob.K 
M!mfacOJ«!(:Magl;nFumM:...-.o,lll'l"(Hedeqyal =~ 

G)1-~T~A~B~LE~S~E~T _____________ _ 

Manufacturer: AccessibleGardensorapprovedequal 
Manufacturer website: http:l.i-.w.w.accessiblegardens.coml 
Productname: 48"X32"AccessiblePlanter 

BIKE RACK 
Mo::lel#:R~39W• vell«e~ 
S.ze:H36"~W39" 
Mal-l..-dColacf'ow<IM0:111iedsteol,ArodozedS.!ve<cob.K 
McuntFlarqed ,Surle:e 
MnJla<::IIJrerReHar,:;,eFoord"yo,eW(OYfldequal 

~/.~~:rd<y,can 

0 ~~E RACK SUPPLIER SPECS 

I /c\ WASTE AND COMPOST CONTAINER ® POTTING TABLE ~ GARDEN PLANTER ® CUSTOM CURVED BENCH 
~ NTS 6 NTS 0 NTS 8 NTS 

!~-------------------------------~ 

VDZ+A 
FO!IT l..lrHGI.EV STI.IDIOI MOUNT P1.EASANTSTI.IOIO 

!Ol-918!Ctu<hStiOl-lliKl<'IJ""•V 
FortL.lit:}~~~t<.IC 

""""' ·"'1>-co 60'-3Sl-o0l' 

oc_,_,, .. ___ OII __ M.,..._., -... -......... _ .. _,.. ___ , 

"" DY 

Project: 
144 West 21 Street 

Location: 
144 West 21st Street, 
North Vanco11Ver, B.C. 

Sta~: 

OriginalShee!Size: 

24"x36" 

(f) 
_J 

~ w 
0 

C") 
0 

0 
_J 



144 West 21ST Street Rezoning Application 

Development Information Session Summary Report 

Event Date: 
Time:   
Location: 
Attendance: 
Comments: 

June 7, 2022 
  6:00pm – 8:00pm 

Virtual DIS (Zoom meeting) 
3 members of the public signed up. 1 member 
attended. 1 comment sheets and 0 e‐mails were 
submitted. 

Meeting Purpose: 
• To present development application materials to neighbours
• To provide an opportunity for the public to ask questions about the development
• To provide an opportunity for neighbours to comment on the proposal.

Notification: 
In accordance with City of North Vancouver policies: 
Invitation Brochures 
Invitations were delivered to 1,367 addresses within a 40m radius from the site, meeting City 
requirements. Appendix A includes a copy of the invitation. 

Newspaper and Online Ad 
A newspaper and online ad were placed in the North Shore News on Wednesday, June 1st, 2022. A copy 
of the ad is included in Appendix A. 

Site signage 
Site signage erected at the proposed development location. A copy of the photo is included in Appendix 
A. 

Attendance: 
3 members of the public signed up for the meeting. A copy of the sign‐in sheets is included in Appendix B. 

The following City staff and project team members were in attendance: 

City of North Vancouver: 
• Emma Chow, Planner

Project Team presenters included:
• Francois Marchand, Ankenman Marchand Architects, Principal
• Dimitar Bojadziev, Ankenman Marchand Architects, Project Manager
• Mahshid Taki, Ankenman Marchand Architects, Intern Architect
• Daisen Gee Wing, Developer (absent)

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 4�



Overview: 

The meeting was held in a virtual format. Meeting participants could follow an online presentation 
and engage with the project team and the municipal planner directly. The presenters listened for 
questions and comments and noted them and respond. 

The participants were invited to submit written comments to the project team or to the municipal 
planner. 
One comment sheet and no emails were submitted. 
The key themes of the evening included: 

• the perceived lack of parking in the area
• building height, and worry that it would block the view for neighbours across the street to the

mountains
• reflection from the glazing to neighbouring buildings
• prevention from animal accessing the amenity garden area
• crime prevention for the people walking along 21st Street
• prevention from people being able to sleep on street
• parking for the workers during the construction

Public Dialogue: 
(Q = Question, A = Answer, and the number is to track the dialogue) 

Q1 There are proposed 73 apartment units and 53 parking stalls. Will there be enough parking? Are there 
be any changes into parking regulations? 
A1 The answer of the Applicant was that the project is complying with the bylaw regulations and is 
proposing 10% over the requested parking stalls by the City’s bylaw. The subject site is well connected to 
the public transit, and it is expected that not all the renters will own vehicles. The CNV representative 
stated that the City is not foreseeing any changes to the parking regulations but is open for suggestions. 

Q2 Concerns about the building height. The proposed building is 5 storeys high. The buildings across the 
21st Street are 3‐4 storey in height. Their views to the mountains will be obstructed by the new building 
and will devalue the properties? 
A2 The Applicant replied that the design in the previous proposal was 6 storeys in height and taking in 
consideration the previous concerns the new design proposal resulted with 5 storey building. The CNV 
representative added a clarification, that according the current OPC plan in this area the building limit 
height for the new developments is 6 storeys. There are already newer buildings to the north of the 
property that are 5 and 6 storeys high, and the proposed design is complying with height requirements. 

Q3 Concerns about the reflections cast to the neighbouring building from the glazing of the building? 
A3 The proposed project doesn’t have unusual glazing and in the Applicant’s opinion the building have 
relatively average glazing percentage. 

Q4 Concerns about the amenity garden. How will it prevent animals (racoons, bears, rats, etc.) and 
homeless people to access the area? 
A4 The Applicant answered that the proposed amenity area is supposed to be for a private use of the 
building residents, for gardening, seating, and child play area without offering solution for prevention of 
access to wild animals and homeless people. (The concern is noted and will be seeking for possible design 
improvements.) 



Q5 Concerns raised regarding the proposed the public note offering opportunity to seat and rest in the 
pocket plaza area. There are benches proposed next to sidewalk, between the landscaped areas. This can 
be potential treat to the people walking by. There are already a lot of homeless people, next to the 
neighbouring McDonalds that are sleeping on the streets. How will you prevent them sleeping on the 
proposed benches? 
A5 The answer of the Applicant was that the landscaping will be carefully designed not to obstruct the 
visions and the area will be lighted. The design of the benches can be done with few armrests in the 
seating part that will prevent the possibility of someone sleeping on it. 

Q6 Where the construction workers will park their vehicles during the construction? 
A6 The Applicant apologize that cannot answer the questions as the Developer was absent on the 
meeting. It will be up to the future contractor how to deal with the parking issue during the construction. 

Q7 What are the next steps in the application process? 
A7 The CNV representative provide the answer with the timeline of the scheduled upcoming Council 
meeting 1st reading and public hearing. 

Comment Sheet and Email Summary 

Participants were invited to submit comments by submitting the Comments form by email after the 
meeting. One comment sheet was submitted by a person registered for the information session but did 
not attend. 

The respondent explicitly expressed support for the proposal with a note that hopes there will be enough 
visitor, resident, and EV parking stalls.  
A copy of the Comment sheet is included in Appendix B. 

No emails with comments arrived by the time of finishing the report. 

Conclusion 

The purpose of this development information session was to present to neighbours the proposed 
rezoning application and the mid‐rise rental development concept, and to provide them with an 
opportunity to ask clarifying questions and comment on the proposal.  
The newspaper ads notified the community of the meeting, and a sign was posted on the property. 1,367 
invitations were distributed by mail to the surrounding community.  
3 community members signed in, and one participated at the meeting. One comment form and zero 
emails were submitted. One respondent expressed explicit support for the proposal. 
The public could participate in this process in three ways: 

• following the online presentation
• talking to the project team and City Planner
• submitting written comments.

The meeting length and format was sufficient to provide all participants an opportunity to learn more, 
ask questions and make the comments they wished to provide that evening. Participants asked the 
development team and City planner a variety of specific questions, mostly related to need for additional 
parking in the area, building height and form and crime prevention. 
The community was given ample opportunity to express their views of the proposal. 



Included Comments

1 Private Trees Y The existing trees within the site cannot be retained due to the location and size of 

the underground parking, but the project will be retaining the existing street trees 

along West 21st, and will be adding trees around the site, resulting in a net 

positive number of planted trees on site.

2 Green Roof / Wall N The project will not include green roofs / walls.

3 Majority Native Species Landscaping Y The project will be landscaped with primarily native, native-like and drought 

resistant plants. 

4 Habitat Restoration Y Because the project will be using primarily native species, it will provide habitat to 

local flora and fauna.

5 Community Gardens Y The project will include urban agriculture plots in the rear yard to be used and 

accessed by all residents. 

6 50% or More Edible Landscaping for Common Space N The project will not include 50% or more edible landscaping, though will include 

some native plants with edible fruits or berries.

7 Water Efficient Irrigation System (drip hose, low-flow nozzles) Y The project will coordinate with mechanical teams during next phases to include 

low-flow and efficient irrigation systems for all landscaping.

8 Rainwater Collection Y The project will provide a rainbarrel in proximity to the community gardens, to 

reduce the amount of potable water required for irrigating garden plots.

9 Reuse of Wastewater N The project will not include wastewater reuse on this site. 

Included Comments

1 Permeable Paving for Hardscape N The project will not include permeable paving as part of the site design due to the 

size of the underground parking structure.

2 40%+ Open Site Space (see Zoning Bylaw Definition) Y The project achieves over 40% open site space.

Included Comments

1 Durable Building (modular / deconstructable) N The project will not include modular / deconstructable elements. 

2 Recycled Content Y The project will include recycled and recyclable materials to the greatest extent 

possible.

3 Majority Use of Environmentally Friendly Materials (non-toxic, wood) Y The project is primarily of wood-frame construction, and will be local and non-toxic.

4 Certified by a Third Party Green Building Rating System N The project will not certify with a green building rating system, but will follow green 

built industry standards.

Included Comments

1 Energy Performance Y This project will adhere to the required level of the Energy Step Code, which will 

ensure it is performing with optimal energy performance.

2 Superior Insulation TBC Through the energy modeling process required by the Energy Step Code, the 

project will include the necessary insulation levels to ensure the overall energy 

performance targets are met.

3 Airtightness Y The project will perform air tightness testing to meet the Energy Step Code 

requirements.

4 High-performance Windows Y The project will include thermally broken windows.

5 District Energy TBC The project will undergo a review to confirm whether ther eis an opportunity to 

connect to the LEC. Should it be deemed viable, the project will respond 

mechaically though the selection of hydronic mechanical systems which utilize the 

energy available through the LEC connect.

6 Building Heating System TBC Through the energy modeling process required by the Energy Step Code, the 

project will select a heating system that efficiently heats the building while ensuring 

the overall energy performance targets are met.

7 Heat Recovery Ventilator TBC Through the energy modeling process required by the Energy Step Code, the 

project will assess the need for HRVs in achieving the overall energy performance 

target.

8 LED Lighting (whole building) Y The project will include energy efficient lighting throughout all common and private 

spaces. 

9 Energy-Star Appliances Y Energy-Star Appliances will be used throughout the project to contribute to the 

project's overall energy performance targets.

10 Suite Metering N Unless otherwise specified by LEC or BC Hydro, the project will not be providing 

suite-level metering. 

11 Water Efficient Fixtures Y They project will include low-flow fixtures throughout all suites and common areas.

12 Greywater Reuse N The project will not address grey water reuse. 

13 Livability/Human Well Being Y The building has been designed to maximize passive architectural performance 

and environmental response.  This process has produced not only reduction in 

energy requirements but high levels of daylighting and views for the occupants 

along with enhanced natural ventilation utilizing cross ventilation schemes. 

Sustainability Statement

Natural Systems - Landscape

Natural Systems - Hardscape

Physical Structure - High Performance Construction

Physical Structure - Energy Efficiency and Healthy Buildings

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 5�



Included Comments

1 End of Trip Bicycle Facilities N/A

2 Car-Share Program N The project will not include any car-share programs.

3 Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment: 20% of all residential parking 

spaces

Y The project will include 20% of purchased residential stalls as electric vehicle 

charging stalls. 

4 Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment: Adequate space in electrical 

room for remaining 80% of parking spaces

Y As required, the project will ensure adequate electrical capacity. 

5 Close proximity to frequent Public Transportation Y The project is located in close proximity to frequent public transportation along 

Lonsdale Avenue. A short 180m walk brings to you bus stops running both north 

and south, with 6 distinct bus routes that bring you around North Vancouver, and 

connect to other transportation hubs such as the Sea Bus station and bus loop 

exchanges to connect you to the rest of Metro Vancouver. This is extremely 

beneficial to the rental community.

Included Comments

1 Direct Employment Y This project does not include commercial space, but will include the need to 

employ a full-time Building Manager.

2 Commercial Floor Space (net increase, indicate area) N/A This project does not include commercial space.

3 Neighbourhood Scale Commercial N/A This project does not include commercial space.

4 Non-Market / Lower-End of Market Commercial N/A This project does not include commercial space.

5 Commercial Relocation Strategy N/A This project does not include commercial space.

6 Indirect Economic Benefits Y During the course of construction, there will be full-time jobs generated during each 

year of the development. This benefit will also extend to local suppliers of various 

construction materials, furnishings and fixtures.

Included Comments

1 Market Rental Housing Y This project will be 100% market rental housing.

2 Non-Market / Lower-End of Market Rental Housing Y This project will abide by the 10-10-10 requirement. (10% of units in new market 

rental projects to be rented at 10% below average rents, as indicated by Canada 

Mortgage and Housing Corporation, for a minimum period of 10 years.).

3 10%+ Three+ Bedroom Units Y The project will provide 8, 3-bedroom unit apartments (over 10%) in the project. 

4 Micro-Units ~400 sq.ft. N The project does not include micro-units, as it aims to focus on liveability and 

providing spaces that can accommodate multiple occupants and families.

5 Childcare Facilities N The project will not include childcare facilities, but will include a children's outdoor 

playspace.

6 Community Space for Food Preparation, Storage and Processing N The project does not include food preparation or storage facilities.

7 Green Building Educational / Interpretive Features N The project does not address this item.

8 Primary and Secondary Stair Design N The project does not include a feature stair design as to maximize space for 

creating rental units. 

9 Outdoor Circulation N The residential units are not accessed through exterior corridors, but the ground 

floor units facing the rear yard are able to be access from an outdoor walkway. The 

project also includes a publicly accessible walkway along the east edge of the site 

that connects West 21st to the public walking path in the lane at the rear of the 

building. Outdoor walkability is still a feature in the overall project design. 

10 Storage space for residents in storage rooms N The project does not include storage units separate from the closets provided in 

the residential units.

12 Amenity & Commercial connections Y To promote social interaction between residents and the commercial users, the 

project will provide a business room available to for residents to utilize, rather than 

purchasing a suite with an extra room designated as a workspace. This provides 

an ideal "work from home" amenity. 

Economic Considerations

Human Potential

Physical Infrastructure - Transportation



Included Comments

1 Design Features for People with Disabilities Y The project goes above the 25% requirement for adaptable units by providing 61% 

of units meeting Level 2 from the Adaptable Design Guidelines. The outdoor space 

in the rear yard also includes accessible picnic tables to increase inclusion and 

resident connections. 

2 Communal Cooking Amenities N The project will not include community cooking facilities.

3 Indoor Amenity Y To promote social interaction between residents and the commercial users, the 

project will provide a business room available to for residents to utilize, rather than 

purchasing a suite with an extra room designated as a workspace. This provides 

an ideal "work from home" amenity. 

4 Outdoor Recreation Y The provision of community gardens provides residents with ample space for 

outdoor gardening activities, encouraging residents to get outside, be physically 

active and grow their own healthy produce. It also includes the children's play area 

with seating for parents and guardians to gather and overlook.

5 Amenities for Senior Users Y A number of the garden plots will be at heights easily accessible to senior users. 

Benches and tables around the site will give places for seniors to gather. Tables 

will include spaces for games like checkers/chess. 

6 Crime Prevention through Environmental Design Y The project will strictly adhere to the Crime Prevention design guidelines, to reduce 

any opportunity for crime 

Included Comments

1 Formal and Informal Gathering Spaces Y The business room available to be rented for residents also serves as a formal 

gathering space. Occupants can gather together for any occasion or celebration. 

Informal gathering spaces will be incorporated into the landscape design of the 

plaza, encouraging interaction and activity between residents and visitors. 

2 Retention of Heritage Building N/A N/A

3 Public Art Reflecting Local Culture Y The landscaping to the south of the building (along West 21st) will be fully 

landscaped, and will be a significant contribution to the public realm and human 

experience in the neighbourhood. Also provided is the publicly accessible walkway 

along the east edge of the site that connects West 21st to the public walking path 

in 2400 sf of public space and is our proposed public contribution.

4 Streetscape Improvements Y The landscaped area to the south of the building will be fully landscaped, designed 

to incorporate planted areas with seating areas, bringing humans and nature closer 

together.

Social Connections

Cultural Diversity



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939 Document: 2186866-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8939 

A Bylaw to amend “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” 

The Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open meeting assembled, 
enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 

Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand 
Architects, 144 West 21st Street, CD-758). 

 
2. Division VI: Zoning Map of Document “A” of “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby 

amended by reclassifying the following lots as henceforth being transferred, added to and 
forming part of CD-758 (Comprehensive Development 758 Zone): 

 
 Lots Block D.L. Plan 
 
 A of 10 206 545 17051 from RM-1 
 
3. Part 11 of Division V:  Comprehensive Development Regulations of Document “A” of “Zoning 

Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700” is hereby amended by: 
 

A. Adding the following section to Section 1100, thereof, after the designation “CD-757 
Comprehensive Development 757 Zone”: 

 
“CD-758 Comprehensive Development 758 Zone” 

 
B. Adding the following to Section 1101, thereof, after the “CD-757 Comprehensive 

Development 757 Zone”: 
 

“CD-758 Comprehensive Development 758 Zone” 
 

In the CD-758 Zone, permitted Uses, regulations for permitted Uses, regulations for 
the size, shape and siting of Buildings and Structures and required Off-Street Parking 
shall be as in the RM-1 Zone, except that: 

 
(1) One Principal Buildings shall be permitted on one Lot; 

 
(2) The permitted Principal Uses on the Lot shall be limited to: 

 
(a) Rental Apartment Residential Use: 

i. Accessory Home Occupation Use, subject to Sections 507(6), (7) and 
(8) of this Bylaw; 

ii. Accessory Off-Street Parking Use; 
iii. Accessory Home Office Use; 

 
(3) Gross Floor Area: 

 
(a) Combined and in total, shall not exceed 1.6 times the Lot Area; 

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 6�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939 Document: 2186866-v1 

(b) Maximum Gross Floor Area may be further increased to a maximum of 2.6 
times the Lot Area, upon entering into a Housing Agreement with the City: 

 
BASE DENSITY 

OCP Schedule ‘A’ 1.6 FSR 

ADDITIONAL (BONUS) DENSITY 

ADDITIONAL 
DENSITY 

CATEGORY 
DESCRIPTION 

ADDITIONAL 
(BONUS) 
DENSITY 

POLICY 
REFERENCE 

Secured Rental 
Housing 

100% rental 
housing; 10% 
mid-market 
rental units 

0.7 FSR OCP section 
2.2 

 

TOTAL DENSITY 2.3 FSR 

 
(4) Lot Coverage of Principal Building shall not exceed a maximum of 94 percent; 

 
(5) Height of Principal Building shall not exceed five storeys and 16 metres (52.5 

feet) as measured from average Building Grade of north Lot Line; 
 

(6) Siting: 
 

(a) Principal Building shall be sited a minimum: 
i. 6.32 metres (20.7 feet) from Front and Rear Lot Line; 
ii. 4.58 metres (15.0 feet) from east Side Lot Line; 
iii. 4.00 metres (13.1 feet) from west Side Lot Line; 

 
(b) Section 410(3) “Siting Exceptions” is varied to permit: 

i. Canopies to project up to 1.14 metres (3.8 feet) from Front (south) 
Lot Line; 

ii. Unenclosed balconies to project up to 4.42 metres (14.5 feet) from 
Front and Rear Lot Lines; 

iii. Stairwell to project up to 2.50 metres (8.2 feet) from west Side Lot 
Line; 

iv. Portions of Cellar that are above grade, including outdoor structures 
directly above the Cellar, to be setback 0 metres from a Lot Line; 

 
(7) Section 510(2) “Unit Separation” be waived; 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939 Document: 2186866-v1 

(8) Section 510(3) “Building Width and Length” be waived. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 1 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER 

BYLAW NO. 8940 

A Bylaw to enter into a Housing Agreement (144 West 21st Street) 

WHEREAS Section 483 of the Local Government Act R.S.B.C. 2015 c.1 permits a local 
government to enter into a housing agreement for rental housing. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver, in open 
meeting assembled enacts as follows: 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and cited for all purposes as “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, 

No. 8940” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 West 21st 
Street, CD-758, Rental Housing Commitments). 

 
2. The Council hereby authorizes the agreement substantially in the form attached to this bylaw 

between The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver and Confide Enterprises Inc. with 
respect to the lands referenced as 144 West 21st Street, “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, 
Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand 
Architects, 144 West 21st Street, CD-758). 

 
3. The Mayor and Corporate Officer are authorized to execute any documents required to give 

effect to the Housing Agreement. 
 
 

READ a first time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

READ a second time on the <> day of <>, 
2022. 

READ a third time on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

ADOPTED on the <> day of <>, 2022. 

 
MAYOR 

 
CORPORATE OFFICER  

thuckell
FreeText
Attachment 7�



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 2 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

PART 2 – TERMS OF INSTRUMENT 
 

RENTAL HOUSING AGREEMENT AND SECTION 219 COVENANT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the _______ day of ________________, 20____. 

BETWEEN: 

CONFIDE ENTERPRISES LTD., 
517 - 1177 Hastings Street West, 
Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V6E 2K3 
 
(the “Owner”) 

AND: 

THE CORPORATION OF THE CITY OF NORTH VANCOUVER, 
a municipal corporation pursuant to the Local Government Act and 
having its offices at 141 West 14th Street, North Vancouver, 
British Columbia, V7M 1H9 
 
(the “City”) 

WHEREAS: 

A. The Owner is the registered owner of the Lands. 
 
B. The City is a municipal corporation incorporated pursuant to the Community Charter, SBC 

2003, c. 26.  

C. Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 permits registration of a covenant 
in favour of a municipality in respect of the use of land or the use of a building on or to be 
erected on land, that land is or is not to be built on except in accordance with the covenant 
and that land is not to be subdivided except in accordance with the covenant;. 

D. Section 483 of the Act permits a local government to, by bylaw, enter into a housing 
agreement that may include terms and conditions regarding the occupancy of the housing 
units identified in the agreement, including respecting the form of tenure of the housing 
units, the availability of the housing units to classes of persons, the administration and 
management of the housing units and the rents and lease, sale or share prices that may 
be charged. 

E. The City has enacted a bylaw authorizing this Agreement. 

F. The Owner and the City wish to enter into this Agreement pursuant to Section 219 of the 
Land Title Act and section 483 of the Act. 

 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) now paid by the City to 
the Owner and for other good and valuable consideration (the receipt and sufficiency of which the 
Owner hereby acknowledges), the Owner and the City covenant each with the other as follows: 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 3 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

1. DEFINITIONS 
 

(a) “Act” means the Local Government Act, RSBC. 2015 c.1 as amended from time 
to time; 

 
(b) “Affordable Rent" means with respect to each Mid-Market Rental Unit a rent 

payment amount equal to 10% below the “Private Apartment Average Rents” for 
the corresponding bedroom type in the City of North Vancouver as established by 
CMHC’s Housing Market Information Portal for the year the tenancy is entered 
into; 

 
(c) “Agreement” means this agreement as amended from time to time; 
 
(d) “Commencement Date” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein; 
 
(e) “Council” means the municipal council for the City of North Vancouver; 
 
(f) “CMHC” means Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation; 
 
(g) “Director of Planning” means the chief administrator of the Department of 

Planning of the City and his or her successors in function and their respective 
nominees; 

 
(h) “Dwelling Unit” means a dwelling unit as defined in the City of North Vancouver’s 

“Zoning Bylaw 1995, No. 6700” as amended from time to time; 
 
(i) “Lands” means those lands and premises legally described as: 

 
Parcel Identifier: 004-343-638 
Lot A-10 
Block 206 
District Lot 545 
Plan 17051; 

 
(j) “Mid-Market Rental Units” means the 7 Dwelling Units in the Residential Building 

to be constructed on the Lands that are rented to tenants for Affordable Rent; 
 
(k) “Market Rental Units” means all Dwelling Units in the Residential Building other 

than the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 

(l) “Maximum Household Income” means an annual gross household income 
determined by multiplying Affordable Rent by 12 to yield the households’ annual 
housing costs, and divided by 30% (0.30) to meet the standard definition of 
affordability. 

 
(m) “Rental Purposes” means an occupancy or intended occupancy which is or would 

be governed by a tenancy agreement as defined in Section 1 of the Residential 
Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78 as amended from time to time between the Owner 
and the tenant; 

 
(n) “Rental Units” means the Market Rental Units and the Mid-Market Rental Units; 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 4 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

(o) “Residential Building” means the five-storey building to be constructed on the 
Lands to be used for Rental Purposes with 73 Dwelling Units; 

 
(p) “RT Act” means the Residential Tenancy Act, SBC 2002 c. 78; 

 
(q) “Rezoning Bylaw” means the rezoning bylaw applicable to the Lands described 

as “Zoning Bylaw, 1995, No. 6700, Amendment Bylaw, 2022, No. 8939”;  
 
(r) “Section 219 Covenant” means a covenant pursuant to Section 219 of the Land 

Title Act;  
 
(s) “Tenancy Agreement” means an agreement, whether written or oral, express or 

implied, between the Owner and a tenant respecting possession or occupancy of 
a Rental Unit; and 

 
(t) “Term” has the meaning set out in section 2.1 herein. 

 
2. TERM 
 
2.1 This Agreement will commence upon adoption by the City’s Council of “Housing Agreement 

Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940” (Confide Enterprises Inc. / Ankenman Marchand Architects, 144 
West 21st Street, CD-758, Rental Housing Commitments) (the “Commencement Date”) 
and will continue until the date this Agreement is terminated in accordance with sections 2.2 
or 8.3(c) (the “Term”). 

 
2.2 This Agreement will terminate immediately upon the removal or destruction of the Residential 

Building provided the Residential Building is not repaired or rebuilt following the destruction 
thereof. 

 
2.3 Subject to section 7.3, upon termination of this Agreement, this Agreement will be at an end 

and of no further force and effect. 
 
3. SECTION 219 COVENANT  
 
3.1 The Owner covenants and agrees with the City as a covenant in favour of the City pursuant 

to Section 219 of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 that during the Term of this 
Agreement, it being the intention and agreement of the Owner that the provisions in this 
Agreement be annexed to, and run with and be a charge upon the Lands, that 
notwithstanding the Rezoning Bylaw, the Lands shall be used and built on only in strict 
compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that:  
(a) the Lands shall not be subdivided or stratified; 
(b) the Rental Units in the Residential Building shall be used for Rental Purposes only; 

and 
(c) no Rental Unit in the Residential Building shall be occupied for any purpose except 

for Rental Purposes pursuant to a Tenancy Agreement. 

3.2 The Owner further covenants and agrees with the City that the Lands and any buildings 
or structures constructed thereon including the Residential Building shall be developed, 
built, and maintained in accordance with all City bylaws, regulations and guidelines as 
amended from time to time. 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 5 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

3.3 Pursuant to section 219(6) of the Land Title Act, RSBC 1996, c. 250 except for the 
negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will indemnify and 
save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, actions, loss, damage, costs 
and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for or suffer or incur or be put to 
by reason of or arising out of: 
(a) any act or omission, negligent or otherwise, by the Owner, or its officers, directors, 

employees, agents, contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is 
responsible; 

(b) the Owner’s default under this Agreement; and 
(c) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 
4. TENANCY RESTRICTIONS 
 
4.1 The unit mix for Rental Units in the Residential Building shall be no fewer than 8 units of three 

or more bedrooms, 11 two-bedroom units and 54 one-bedroom units, or as otherwise 
approved in writing by the Director of Planning in his or her discretion. 

 
4.2 The 7 Mid-Market Rental Units shall be provided in the following unit mix: 5 one-bedroom 

units, 1 two-bedroom unit, and 1 three-bedroom unit. The Owner may only change this mix 
with the approval in writing by the Director of Planning with such approval to be granted in 
his or her discretion. The Owner shall be entitled to determine the locations of the 7 Mid-
Market Rental Units within the Residential Building. 

 
4.3 The Owner shall enter into a minimum 1 year Tenancy Agreement for each of the Mid-Market 

Rental Units which will convert to a month to month tenancy at the end of the 1 year term. If 
such a tenancy is ended prior to the end of the Term, the Owner must rent the Mid-Market 
Rental Unit at Affordable Rent.  For greater certainty, at the end of each tenancy, the Mid-
Market Rental Unit will continue to be rented as a Mid-Market Rental Unit at Affordable 
Rent, which obligation will be ongoing at all times during the Term. 

5. OWNER’S OBLIGATIONS 
 
5.1 Without limiting section 3.1 of this Agreement: 
 

(a) Management and administration: the management, administration, and associated 
costs with the management and administration of the Rental Units, including the 
Mid-Market Rental Units, will be borne by the Owner or its designated rental agent, 
unless otherwise approved by the City in writing; 

 
(b) Advertisement: when the Mid-Market Rental Units first become available, the 

Owner will advertise such units for a minimum of one month on at least two 
common rental property search platforms that allow potential tenants to view 
available properties for rent in North Vancouver without payment of a fee or 
requirement for registration, and the Owner will feature the tenure restrictions set 
out in this Agreement prominently in all advertising of Mid-Market Rental Units; 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 6 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

 
(c) Tenant Selection: the Owner will make the Mid-Market Rental Units available in 

the following order of priority: 
 

(i) Tenants from the existing rental building on the Lands will be provided first 
right of refusal in the Mid-Market Rental Units, regardless of income, and 
have first priority, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this 
category for one unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents 
will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are 
equal in this regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-
first-served basis;  

 
(ii) The Owner will then make any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not 

rented by tenants from the existing building on the Lands available to 
tenants with an annual household income at or below that the Maximum 
Household Income who are either current residents of the City of North 
Vancouver or who work in the City of North Vancouver and have done so 
for at least six months, provided that if there are multiple applicants in this 
category for one unit, then applicant families with one or more dependents 
will have priority for units with two or more bedrooms and if applicants are 
equal in this regard, then applications will be considered on a first come-
first-served basis;  

 
(iii) If there are any remaining Mid-Market Rental Units not rented by tenants 

who meet the criteria in Sections 5.1(d)(i) or (ii) after the expiry of the one-
month advertising period, then the Owner will make such units available to 
tenants who meet the Maximum Household Income requirement; and 

 
(iv) In determining whether a tenant meets the Maximum Household Income 

requirements, the Owner or its rental agent, so long as it acts honestly and 
in good faith, is entitled to rely on all information provided by the prospective 
tenant and the Owner will have no liability if the prospective tenant 
intentionally or unintentionally provides any incorrect information. The 
Owner is under no obligation to monitor or update the financial 
circumstances of the tenant once the lease is signed.  

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 7 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

(d) Rent Amount and Permitted Increases: Affordable Rent for Mid-Market Rental 
Units is to be determined at the time of tenancy. Rent amounts may be 
subsequently increased by the permitted annual rent increase then set under the 
RT Act.  
 

(e) Compliance with applicable laws: without restricting the foregoing, the Owner will 
comply with all applicable provisions of the RT Act and any other provincial or 
municipal enactments imposing obligations on landlords in relation to residential 
tenancies; 
 

(f) Performance: the Owner will perform its obligations under this Agreement diligently 
and in good faith; and 
 

(g) Evidence of compliance: provided that the same can be done without breaching 
the Personal Information Protection Act (as amended from time to time) the Owner 
will, at Business License renewal on an annual basis, supply to the City copies of 
any documentation in possession of the Owner necessary to establish compliance 
with the Owner’s obligations under this Agreement. 

 
6. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 
6.1 The City may, acting reasonably, give to the Owner a written notice (in this section 6.1, the 

“Notice”) requiring the Owner to cure a default under this Agreement within 30 days of receipt 
of the Notice. The Notice must specify the nature of the default. The Owner must act with 
diligence to correct the default within the time specified. 

 
6.2 If the default is not corrected within the time specified, the Owner will pay to the City on 

demand by the City 200 percent of the difference between current market rent, as determined 
by a third-party appraiser, and Affordable Rent for each Mid-Market Rental Unit in default for 
the default year to the end of the Term of the Agreement. The monies collected from default 
will be deposited to the City’s Affordable Housing Reserve Fund.  

 
6.3 The Owner will pay to the City on demand by the City all the City's costs of exercising its 

rights or remedies under this Agreement, on a full indemnity basis. 
 
6.4 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that in case of a breach of this Agreement which is 

not fully remediable by the mere payment of money and promptly so remedied, the harm 
sustained by the City and to the public interest will be irreparable and not susceptible of 
adequate monetary compensation. 

 
6.5 Each party to this Agreement, in addition to its rights under this Agreement or at law, will be 

entitled to all equitable remedies including specific performance, injunction and declaratory 
relief, or any of them, to enforce its rights under this Agreement. 

 
6.6 The Owner acknowledges and agrees that it is entering into this Agreement to benefit the 

public interest in providing housing for Rental Purposes, and that the City's rights and 
remedies under this Agreement are necessary to ensure that this purpose is carried out and 
that the City's rights and remedies under this Agreement are fair and reasonable and ought 
not to be construed as a penalty or forfeiture. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 8 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

6.7 No reference to nor exercise of any specific right or remedy under this Agreement or at law 
or at equity by any party will prejudice, limit or preclude that party from exercising any other 
right or remedy.  No right or remedy will be exclusive or dependent upon any other right or 
remedy, but any party, from time to time, may exercise any one or more of such rights or 
remedies independently, successively, or in combination.  The Owner acknowledges that 
specific performance, injunctive relief (mandatory or otherwise) or other equitable relief may 
be the only adequate remedy of a default by the Owner under this Agreement. 

 
7. LIABILITY 
 
7.1 Except for the negligence of the City or its employees, agents or contractors, the Owner will 

indemnify and save harmless each of the City and its elected officials, board members, 
officers, directors, employees, and agents, and their heirs, executors, administrators, 
personal representatives, successors and assigns, from and against all claims, demands, 
actions, loss, damage, costs and liabilities, which all or any of them will or may be liable for 
or suffer or incur or be put to by reason of or arising out of: 
(a) any act or omission by the Owner, or its officers, directors, employees, agents, 

contractors, or other persons for whom at law the Owner is responsible; and 
(b) the Owner's ownership, operation, management or financing of the Lands for the 

provision of housing for Rental Purposes. 
 

7.2 Except to the extent such advice or direction is given negligently, the Owner hereby releases 
and forever discharges the City, its elected officials, board members, officers, directors, 
employees and agents, and its and their heirs, executors, administrators, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns from and against all claims, demands, damages, 
actions or causes of action by reason of or arising out of advice or direction respecting the 
ownership, operation or management of the Lands for the provision of housing for Rental 
Purposes which has been or hereafter may be given to the Owner by all or any of them. 

 
7.3 The covenants of the Owner set out in sections 7.1 and 7.2 of this Agreement will survive the 

expiration or the earlier termination of this Agreement and will continue to apply to any breach 
of the Agreement and to any claims arising under this Agreement during the ownership by 
the Owner of the Lands. 

 
8. GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
8.1 The Owner agrees to reimburse the City for all legal costs reasonably incurred by the City for 

the preparation, execution and registration of this Agreement.  The Owner will bear their own 
costs, legal or otherwise, connected with the preparation, execution or registration of this 
Agreement. 

 
8.2 Nothing in this Agreement: 

(a) affects or limits any discretion, rights, powers, duties or obligations of the City under 
any enactment or at common law, including in relation to the use or subdivision of 
land; 

(b) affects or limits any enactment relating to the use of the Lands or any condition 
contained in any approval including any development permit concerning the 
development of the Lands; or 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 9 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

(c) relieves the Owner from complying with any enactment, including the City's bylaws 
in relation to the use of the Lands. 

 
8.3 The Owner and the City agree that: 

(a) this Agreement is entered into only for the benefit of the City; 
(b) this Agreement is not intended to protect the interests of the Owner, occupier or user 

of the Lands or any portion of it including the Rental Units and the Limited Common 
Property; and 

(c) without limiting part 2 of this Agreement, the City may at any time execute a release 
and discharge of this Agreement in respect of the Lands, without liability to anyone 
for doing so. 

 
8.4 This Agreement burdens and runs with the Lands and any part into which any of them may 

be subdivided or consolidated, by strata plan or otherwise.  All of the covenants and 
agreements contained in this Agreement are made by the Owner for itself, its successors 
and assigns, and all persons who acquire an interest in the Lands after the date of this 
Agreement.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Owner will not be liable for 
any breach of any covenant, promise or agreement herein in respect of any portion of the 
Lands sold, assigned, considered or otherwise disposed of, occurring after the Owner has 
ceased to be the owner of the Lands. 

 
8.5 The covenants and agreements on the part of the Owner in this Agreement have been made 

by the Owner as contractual obligations as well as being made pursuant to section 483 of 
the Act and as such will be binding on the Owner. 

 
8.6 The Owner will, at its expense, do or cause to be done all acts reasonably necessary to 

ensure this Agreement is registered against the title to the Lands, including any amendments 
to this Agreement as may be required by the Land Title Office or the City to effect such 
registration. 

 
8.7 The City and the Owner each intend by execution and delivery of this Agreement to create 

both a contract and a deed under seal. 
 
8.8 An alleged waiver by a party of any breach by another party of its obligations under this 

Agreement will be effective only if it is an express waiver of the breach in writing.  No waiver 
of a breach of this Agreement is deemed or construed to be a consent or waiver of any other 
breach of this Agreement. 

 
8.9 If a Court of competent jurisdiction finds that any part of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or 

unenforceable, that part is to be considered to have been severed from the rest of this 
Agreement and the rest of this Agreement remains in force unaffected by that holding or by 
the severance of that part. 

 
8.10 Every obligation of a party which is set out in this Agreement will extend throughout the Term 

and, to the extent that any obligation ought to have been observed or performed prior to or 
upon the expiry or earlier termination of the Term, such obligation will survive the expiry or 
earlier termination of the Term until it has been observed or performed. 

 
  



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 10 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

8.11 All notices, demands, or requests of any kind, which a party may be required or permitted to 
serve on another in connection with this Agreement, must be in writing and may be served 
on the other parties by registered mail, by facsimile or e-mail transmission, or by personal 
service, to the following address for each party: 

 
 City:  The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver 
   141 West 14th Street 
   North Vancouver, British Columbia 
   V7M 1H9 
   Attention: Director, Planning 
   Facsimile: 604.985.0576 
 

The Owner: Confide Enterprises Ltd., 
517 - 1177 Hastings Street West, 
Vancouver, British Columbia,  
V6E 2K3 

 
Service of any such notice, demand, or request will be deemed complete, if made by 
registered mail, 72 hours after the date and hour of mailing, except where there is a postal 
service disruption during such period, in which case service will be deemed to be complete 
only upon actual delivery of the notice, demand or request; if made by facsimile or e-mail 
transmission, on the first business day after the date when the facsimile or e-mail 
transmission was transmitted; and if made by personal service, upon personal service being 
effected.  Any party, from time to time, by notice in writing served upon the other parties, may 
designate a different address or different or additional persons to which all notices, demands, 
or requests are to be addressed. 
 

8.12 Upon request by the City, the Owner will promptly do such acts and execute such documents 
as may be reasonably necessary, in the opinion of the City, to give effect to this Agreement. 

 
8.13 This Agreement will enure to the benefit of and be binding upon each of the parties and their 

successors and permitted assigns. 
 
9. INTERPRETATION 
 
9.1 Gender specific terms include both genders and include corporations.  Words in the singular 

include the plural, and words in the plural include the singular. 
 
9.2 The division of this Agreement into sections and the use of headings are for convenience of 

reference only and are not intended to govern, limit or aid in the construction of any provision.  
In all cases, the language in this Agreement is to be construed simply according to its fair 
meaning, and not strictly for or against either party. 

 
9.3 The word "including" when following any general statement or term is not to be construed to 

limit the general statement or term to the specific items which immediately follow the general 
statement or term to similar items whether or not words such as "without limitation" or "but 
not limited to" are used, but rather the general statement or term is to be construed to refer 
to all other items that could reasonably fall within the broadest possible scope of the general 
statement or term. 

 
9.4 The words "must" and "will" are to be construed as imperative. 
 



The Corporation of the City of North Vancouver Page 11 
Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940 Document: 2186871-v1 

9.5 Any reference in this Agreement to any statute or bylaw includes any subsequent 
amendment, re-enactment, or replacement of that statute or bylaw. 

 
9.6 This is the entire agreement between the City and the Owner concerning its subject, and 

there are no warranties, representations, conditions or collateral agreements relating to the 
subject matter of this Agreement, except as included in this Agreement.  This Agreement 
may be amended only by a document executed by the parties to this Agreement and by 
bylaw, such amendment to be effective only upon adoption by City Council of an amending 
bylaw to “Housing Agreement Bylaw, 2022, No. 8940”. 

 
9.7 This Agreement is to be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the 

laws of British Columbia. 
 
9.8 This Agreement can be signed in counterpart. 

IN WITNESS OF THIS AGREEMENT the City and the Owner have executed this Agreement by 
signing the “Form C – General Instrument – Part 1” or “Form D – Executions Continued” attached 
hereto. 



NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
31. Pet-friendly Communities and Homes – File: 08-3400-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver Council vision is to be the healthiest 
small city with five key priorities, including a City for People; 
 
WHEREAS a City for People is welcoming and inclusive of all families; 
 
WHEREAS pets are considered family by their owners, and provide great 
companionship to people of all ages, abilities and backgrounds; 
 
WHEREAS engagement on the City’s forthcoming Dog Friendly City: Phase 1 
Actions has received record-breaking levels of feedback from the community; 
 
WHEREAS, over the course of the pandemic, pet ownership has spiked 
dramatically; 
 
WHEREAS approximately 80% of City residents live in multi-family buildings 
and about 50% of residents are renters; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the tools available to work with applicants early in the redevelopment process to 
ensure the homes being delivered will be pet-friendly; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to consult with 
community-based pet advocacy groups, such as the BC SPCA, on how cities 
can adopt more pet-friendly housing policies; 
 
AND BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED THAT Mayor Buchanan, on behalf of Council, 
write to the Honourable David Eby, BC Government Minister of Housing, 
advocating for changes to the Residential Tenancy Act to end pet restriction in 
purpose-built rental buildings. 

 
 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



NOTICE OF MOTION 
 
32. Culturally Accessible Cemeteries – File: 09-4100-01-0001/2022 
 
 Submitted by Mayor Buchanan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is committed to being a people-
oriented community that is safe, welcoming, accessible, inclusive and equitable; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver is an ethnically diverse community and 
home to people from many faiths and cultures; 
 
WHEREAS many faiths and cultures adhere to specific burial practices upon 
the passing of a loved one; 
 
WHEREAS the City of North Vancouver maintains a public cemetery; 
 
AND WHEREAS the BC Human Rights Code protects against discrimination in 
access to services, facilities and accommodations in BC; 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT staff be directed to report to Council on 
the feasibility for faith-based communities to have a dedicated section within the 
City cemetery based on religious and cultural practice, so that this public space 
be more accessible to the people within our community. 

 
 
 


	1 Agenda
	2 Special Minutes June 8 2022�
	3 Minutes June 13 2022�
	Proc - National Indigenous Peoples Day�
	*4 Bylaw 8873
	*5 Bylaw 8928
	*6 Bylaw 8931
	*7 Bylaw 8933
	PH - 231 East 15th St (continued from June 13 2022)
	Report - 231 East 15th St
	1-Map
	2-Plans

	Staff Presentation
	Applicant Presentation - June 13, 2022
	Applicant Presentation - June 20, 2022
	Submissions
	Notice

	8 Bylaw 8930�
	9 DVP PLN2021-00016�
	No PH - 1357 Jones Ave
	Report - 1357 Jones Ave
	1-Map
	2-Site Plan
	3-Consultation

	Notice

	10 Bylaw 8912�
	11 DVP PLN2021-00005�
	12 Bylaw 8884�
	Pres - Dog Friendly City�
	13 Dog Friendly City�
	13-1 Phase 1 Actions�
	13-2 Dog Licenses Issued 2021�
	13-3 Infographic - What We Heard�

	14 2021 Annual Municipal Report�
	14-1 2021 AMR�
	Notice

	15 2022 Appropriations 2�
	15-1 Project Descriptions and Funding Allocations�
	15-2 IR New Traffic Signals�
	15-3 IR HUB Redevelopment Site�
	15-4 IR Upper Level Greenway�

	16 Bylaw 8941�
	17 Bylaw 8942�
	18 Funding and Contract Award for HJCRC�
	19 LEC 2022 AGM�
	19-1 Financial Statements�
	19-2 Unanimous Consent Resolutions�
	19-3 Historical Data�
	19-4 Summary of LEC Statistics�

	20 Cemetery Bylaw Update�
	20-1 Market Comparison�
	20-2 Bylaw 8109 with Tracked Changes

	21 Bylaw 8920�
	22 General Local Election Bylaw Amendments�
	22-1 Draft Bylaw 8943
	22-2 Draft Bylaw 8944
	22-3 Draft Bylaw 8946

	23 Bylaw 8943�
	24 Bylaw 8944
	25 Bylaw 8946�
	26 520 East 1st St
	26-1 Project Statistics
	26-2 Site Plan
	26-3 Parkade Plan
	26-4 DVP PLN2022-00013�

	27 328 West 14th St�
	27-1 Map�
	27-2 Plans
	27-3 Consultation�
	27-4 Conservation Plan
	27-5 Restoration Estimate
	27-6 HAC Resolution

	28 Bylaw 8935�
	29 Bylaw 8932�
	30 144 West 21st St�
	30-1 Map�
	30-2 Architectural Plans
	30-3 Landscape Plans
	30-4 Consultation
	30-5 Sustainability Checklist�
	30-6 Bylaw 8939�
	30-7 Bylaw 8940�

	31 Pet-friendly Communities and Homes
	32 Culturally Accessible Cemeteries



